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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL.

;e

. : DeparTMENT OF COMMERCE,
# . T B ; ' : OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY,
: S , : Washington, November 29, 1915.
Sik: I beg respectfully to transmit to you the following docu-
ments concerning the inquiry made by the officers of this depart-
ment into the facts surrounding the disaster to the steamer Eastlond :
1. Transcript of the testimony taken in the case.
2. Copy of the statement made by the board of inquiry at ad-
journment. ' ) ' : :
- 8. Copy of my communication to the President of the United
States in respect to the matter, dated August 10, 1915. A
Yours, very truly, A o
WiLiam C. ReprieLp,
R . Secretary.
The Seeaxer oF 111 House oF REPRESENTATIVES,
" Washington, D. C.
' 5
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LETTER FROM THE SECRETARY OF COMMERCE.

Prrrsrierp, Mass., August 10, 1915.
The PresmENT, ’
The White House, Washington, D. C.

Sir: The news of the disaster to the steamship Eastland reached
me at Syracuse, N. Y., on the afternoon of Saturday, Ju‘l% 24. Hon.
Edwin F. Sweet was in charﬁ; of the department in Washington.
George Uhler, Supervising pector General of the Steamboat-
Inspection Service, had gone to the Pacific coast, and Mr. D. N.
Hoover, jr., debﬂxty supervisin%éns tor general, was in charge of
the service. . Sweet left Washington for éyracusa Saturday
evening and conferred with me on Sunday, 25th. Mr. Hoover was
immediately ordered to Chicago and arrived:there Monday morn-
ing, 26th. Mr, Sweet returned to Washington Sunday night, 25th,
and on the 26th sent Mr. A. L. Thurman, solicitor of the depart.
ment, to Chicago, whither I proceeded myself on the 26th, both
arriving on the morning of Tuesday, 27th. You were advised by
telegram of my departure. I think it proper to make it a portion
of this record that the above action was taken of my own initiative
end without direction or instruetion of any kind. = ,

The Revised Statutes of the United States require that every
steamboat accident causing loss of life or property shall be investi-
wated by a local board of inspectors and gives to such Jocal board
ﬁne powers of a United States court for summonini witnesses and
administering oaths. This is a procedure which takes place auto-
matically under the law; no one calls for the investigation; no one
orders it. It is a {)rocedure which is taking place frequently all
over the country. In this case, because of the gravity of the occa- -
sion, I deemed it proper that it should be conducted under the
supervision. of the solicitor of the department and myself. I m=y
add for the sake of the record that the solicitor is an officer of the
Department of Justice, assigned as legal adviser of the Department
of Commerce. '

On arrival at Chicago we found that the vessel had been officially
inspected and reinspected by the local board at Grand Haven,
Mich., and that examination had been several times made of her
life-saving equipment during the current year by the local inspec-
tors at Chicago. Under these circumstances, it seemed wise to call
upon the local board at Milwaukee to conduct the inquiry required
by law, since they had had no part in any inspection of the vessel of
any nature. In order that the inquiry might be distinguished as far
as practicable under the law from a purely departmental proceed-
. ing, 1 ventured to ask the assistance of Mr. Marvin B. Pool, &

7
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- 8 ACCIDENT TO THE STEAMER EASTLAND,

»WélLkilOW-ti merchant bf Chicago. an&w%&f’ Mr. Harry- A, 'Wh len,
a bapker’pf that city, to act as -{lnoﬁicial membersrgf a boal?s %r.
inquiry. To them I desired to add a well-known labor leader, but |
was embarrassed in securing-such by the fact that some, if not most,

.of thosé immediately concerned had expressed their views publicl

. in advance of the hearing. I did not think it fit to call as an unoﬁlyl '

7 L of 1nquiry anyone whose opinion had been
expressed ,beforehand. _Recelv?n a suggestion ~fr<?m Lieu:. 5G%e; .
Barratt. O’Hara, respecting the desirability of the presence on the |

cial member of the board of

- hoard of inquiry of some representative of organized labor. in whi
. I fully concurred, I asked the lieutenant govg-nor himself ’tona?cel}‘):g

which he very -kindly did, and -continued to act throughout the:

inquiry save for one day’s absence on official business, on which

‘ cccasion he sent his father to take his place. Mr. Philip B, Fouke,
~._from St. Louis, chairman of the commiIt)tee ‘on the steam at-ins;])ef?-’ ‘
Llon-service of the Chamber of Commerce of the United States, also -

kindly:accepted aw invitation to be present and act as one
{ s of th
unofficial. members of the board. On Wednesday, the 28th instanti

Supervising Inspector General George Uhler arrived in Chicago

_Arom:San Francisco, and; Mr. Hoover returned to Washi
take ‘_glxna_rge of the s‘ervigé there. At a later period of then mﬁlg
‘Naval"Constructor James L. Ackerson, United States Navy, was
kindly sent by Secretary Daniels to assist me, and also acted as an

~unofficial member of the board of inquiry, as did Mr. E. C. Gillette

«-8uperintendent of marine construction, United States Lighthousé

rvice, who came to Chicago at my request. ‘The professional

. knowledge of both was of great service in the inquiry, and hoth were -

'. )rﬁe;lnt' during the consideration. of the final statement made by the

. 'The first hearing of the board of iﬁqﬁ'iry took place upon Thursday, ’

July 29, in the court room of Judge Kohlsaat, which wag ki ’
) _ ] § s kindly put
at-our disposal. At its very outset an invitation was extended. %lipalil

who had any knowledge that would throw light upon the subject of .

‘the inquiry to make such facts known to.the board No one ace

this Invitation. ' The proceedings of the board were public, an-ggzﬁ%
State’s attorney, the office of the corporation couansel, the public
_ ;admlmst;rator, the Congressman from the district chiefly concerned
Judge Sabath, and others were invited to take part in the questioning’
. ‘of witnesses, and availed themselves freely 0%) this privilege. As a

‘matter of fact, therefore, the witnesses were examined not only by
representatives of the Department of Commerce and the Department
of J ustice, but by officers representing the State of Illinois, and the
city of Chicago, and Cook County, as well as by Congressman Sabath
and others. This may be illustrated by the case of ‘Inspector Reid
the only one of the inspectors conducting the official inspection of
the vessel who came before us. He was examined first by myself, then
by Mr. Thum}an. He was_then cross-examined by Mr. Sullivan
assistant State’s attorney; by J udge O'Hara, who for that day took
the place of his son, the lieutenant governer; by Congressman
.Sabath; by Mr. Stebbins, representing the corporation counsel; and
by Mr. James L. Bishop, the public administrator. He was, in addi-
tion, questioned by others upon the board of inquiry. The record
will show, therefore, that this inspector was examined by an officer

of the Department of Commerce, one of the Department of Justice, -
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to some extent by-others.

and wag cross-examined searchingly by five persons 'and'questionéd
- It is proper to.state that only the most cordial - relations. existed

-from beginning to end between Mr. Thurman and myself upon. the

one hand and the State’s attorney, Mr. Hoyne;.the Federal district
attorney, Mr. Clyne; his honor, Judge Landis, of the Federal district

~ court;; the office of the corporation counsel; of the public adminis-

trator; and all other State, county, city, and Federal officers, In
particular, the collector of the port was most courteous and helpful
throughout, dnd our consultation with the officers of the Department
of Justice in.the office of the Federal district attorney was constant

and pleasant. : - . ‘ S :

A complete stenographic record of the proceedings was kept on
behalf o}) the boarg of inquiry itself, and another was taken on
behalf of the office of the State’s attorney.. I sppeared with Mr.
Thurman snd Supervising Inspector General Uhler before the cor-
oner’s jury, and Gen. Uhler and myself appeared before the State

grand jury. - . . '
~ On my arrival at Chicago I announced through the press that the
officers of the Department-of Commerce would aid in every possible
way to throw light upon the cause of the disaster and upon its own

gervice, and that it would welcome the assistance of others and would

. cooperate with ‘any authorized authority to a like end. For this

purpose Local Inspectors Reid and E¢kliff, who this year made the
official inspection of the Fastland, were by my order summoned from
Grand Haven, Mich., te-Chicigo. They were, upon their arrival,
promptly arrested by the lccal authorities, who, however, extended
4o them all possible consideration until they were released on a writ
of habeas corpus by Justice Landis. It is proper, however, to add
-that on one occasion, being called for as witnesses, they were brought
in irons into our public hearing, a proceeding which seemed unneces-
sarily harsh with officers of the United States who had as yet been
granted no hearing, against whom no indictment existed, and over
whose acts, performed in ancther State and upon a vessel navigating
the navigable waters of the United States, the jurisdiction of the
officers of the State of Illinois was open to question. R
-~ At my direction, the supervising inspector located at Cleveland
QOhio, Capt. Nils B. Nelson, was ordered to Chicago, because he had
had the Zastland under his supervision for six years. He appeared
before the board of inquiry and was summoned as a witness before
the Federal grand jury also. ‘ . '
Upon the issuance by Justice Landis of the order directing that
witnesses subpenaed to appear before the Federal grand jury should
rot be examined in any other proceeding, and upon the issuance of
subpeenas to a very large number of witnesses, including the captain,
chief engineer, and other officers of the Eastland, it became evident
that it would be impracticable for the board of inquiry to determine
finally the question of the conduct of the licensed officers of the vessel
or the inspectors of the department until after the grand jury should
have concluded its labors, and that the result would be necessarily
affected by whatever the action of the grand jury might be. 1t
seemed, however, important that the board of inquiry should con-
tinue its study as far as was practicable in order that it might, if
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- possible, suggest such remedial changes in the law as would tend to |

prevent a recurrence of similar accidents hereafter. With this in

view, and with the concurrence of Justice Landis, the hearing was

- continued until August 5, upon which date the board unaniinously

concurred in the statement which has already been- furnished to yon

and of which the original is on file in the Department of Commerce, |

A Icé)py of same is attached. - -
. Ab.s proper to add that the following-named persons assisted
" Ppreparing this statement and unanimo%sly concgrredfili!‘;'sé;hedbllll(‘;
their names for obvious reasons were not signed thereto: ’
’éames_lﬁlﬁckerson, naval constructor, United States Navy.
A‘;;?ngz‘Servgzé .Super\nsmg\ Inspector Gengral Steamboat:glspec-
A. L. Thurman, solicitor Department of Commerce
James F. Bishop, public administrator, Cook -Coun'ty.
~ E. C. Gillette, superintendent ma
States Lighthouse Service. ~ - - .
: AWllha,n; ?h R:dﬁeld, Secretary of C"ommeyce.
copy of the testimony taken at the‘inquiry, togeth ith t
statement of the board, will be transmittedqto zéél?gle-loﬁgev:’)?hcg?
gress at the opening of the coming session, and the substance of this
report to you and of the statement of the board of inquiry will be
made a portion of my forthc;ommg annual report, although occur-
ring after the close of the fiscal year to which that report refers. I

\

propose also to include in my estimate for the forthcoming fiscal .

- year-an amount sufficient to provide for the function
statement recommends should be exercised by the De;azﬁzgttgg
-Commerce, Instructions were given on the 6th instant to the Steam-
boat-Inspecthn_ Service to take the necessary steps to carry into
effect the additional rules and regulations suggested by the board of
inquiry. Instructions have also been given to the Steamboat-Inspec-
tion Service to call together a special committee consisting of super-
vising inspectors selected from the Atlantic, Pacific, and Gulf coasts,
who shall, with the supervising inspectors upon the Lakes promptly
consider what can be done within the present lawful sc(;pe of the
_ Steam;)‘?:t;nspectwm‘Servxt%e, go improve its effectiveness. '
ive given assurance that as soon as practicable i
searching inquiry will be made into the wh(?le admfmistr]g,ﬂ:it(})}]:n3 (f?%hz
- Steamboat-Inspection Service under the supervision of representa-
&ves of the Navy Department and of the public, so that there shall
no question of its impartial character. Steps tozﬁrisfmd have
‘already been taken, and I shall in due time confer with you as to the
membership of a board to be selected for that purpose.
I beg to remain, yours, very truly,

WiLtan C. Reorierp,
Secretary

rine construction, United

©
% . T

A
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INVESTIGATION OF ACCIDENT T0 THE STEAMER “ EASTLAND."

. Transcript of proceedings had and evidence adduced in the matter
of the inquisition into the accident to the steamer Eastland at Chi-
cago, IlL., July 24, 1915, before- Mr. Frank W. Van Patten and Mr.
William A. Collins, with the Hon. William C. Redfield, Albert Thur-
man, George Uhler, Harry A. Wheeler, and Marvin D. Pool acting as
an advisory board, and Hon. Barrett O’Hara, lieutenant governor
of Illinois, and Mr. P. B. Fouke, of St. Louis, chairman of committee

.on steamboat-inspection service of United States Chamber of Com-
_meree, sitting unofficially with the advisory board.

Hearing held in room 603, Federal Building, Chicago, ‘IIL, com-

“mencing at 10 o’clock a. m., Thursday, July 29, 1915, and continuing

as noted in this record.

Cicaco, ILL., July 28, 1915—10 a. m.
The hearing was called to order by Secretary Redfield, and the fol-

lowing proceedings were had: .
Secretary Reprieo. This hearing is one preliminary to the hearing

-required by section 4450 of the Revised Statutes of the United States,

which I will read as a portion of the record : - :

The local boards of inspectors shall investigate all acts of incompetency or
misconduet committed by any licensed officer while acting under the authority

" of his license, and shall have power to summon before them any witnesses within
‘their respective districts, and compel their attendance by a similar process as In

the United States circuit or district courts; and they may administer all neces-
sary oaths to any witnesses thus summoned before them; and after rensonnble
notice in writing, given to the alleged delinquent, of the time and place of such
investigation such witnesses shall be examined, under oath, touching the per-
formance of his duties by any such licensed officer; and if the board shall be
satisfied that such licensed officer is incompetent, or has been guilty of misbe-
havior, negligence, or unshdilfulness, or has endangered life, or willfully violated
any provision of this title, they shall immediately suspend or revoke his license,

. Under this clause the proceedings may include as licensed officers
those officers of the Steamboat-Inspection Service itself who have
had to do with the subject under review. :
The hearing will be strictly confined to the conduet of such licensed
officers, including those of the service itself, and will nct include any
other muatters whatever. By that I mean the conduct of the said
officers exclusively in relation to the accident to the steamer Fastland.
This inquiry has not been ordered by anybody; it has not been
instituted at anybody’s request; it talkes place automatically under
the provision of the United States law ; it takes place on this oecasion
not otherwise than as it does in the cise of other accidents of less
moment. But for the reason of the gravity of the occasion, through

11
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~the courtesy of the Tocal board in whese hands this power is put by A

— " Taw, the solicitor of the department, Mr. A. L. Thurman, has been

asked by me to be present, and I have come myself. TFor the same
reason and that we may have the benefit of all possible adviee in the
matter there are present at my request, as individuals and unofficially
and without any definite appointment, my honored friend, Lieut,
Gov. O’Hara, of the State of Illinois; my friend Mr’ Marvin B.
Pool, of Chicago; my friend Mr. Harry A, Wheeler, of Chicago; and
Mr. P. B. Fouke, of St. Louis, the chairman of the committee of the
Chamber of Commerce of the United States of America upon the

Steamboat-Inspecticn Service.

I have wired to the Secretary of the Navty stating that I should -
(}

be glad, if it were possible, for him to detail r my assistance in thig
inquiry another friend, Admiral D.W. Taylor, the Chief Constructor
of the United States Navy. I have also wired the chief marine con.
structor of the United States Lighthouse Service, Mr. Gillette, say-
ing that his presence is desired also. ; o
.1 now invite all persons present, or all to whom notice of this
“inquiry shall come, without regard to situation or occupation, and
wherever they may be located, who have definite knowledge of actual
facts bearing upon the accident to the steamer Eastland or bearin
directly upon the conduct of the licensed officers of that vessel or o
the officers of the United States Steamboat-Inspection Service in con-
nection therewith, to inform me, or to inform any other gentleman
present and interested, of these facts, that they may be heard. I
desire that that shall be interpreted as broadly as possible, but that
they be facts and not opinions in advance of facts; that they be defi-
nite and not vague and uncertain. This inquiry will take no account
of sweeping generalizations in the absence of definite facts upon
which the same are based. It will take accourit of all facts submitted
to it within th# scope of its inquii-y. And, again, T desire that that
be intepreted as broadly as possible. o ‘ .

Roperr H. McCreary, called as a witness by the board, being first
duly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as follows: -
‘Examined by Secretary Reprierp: ,

Secretary Reprierp. T am going to ask, Mr. McCreary, that you
speak as clearly as pessible, in order that all of the gentlemen of the
press may-hear, and the stenographers, of course, will hear also.

I should add, in further statement: This is an inquiry and not a
trial, and is informal in its procedure, not hound by the légal rules of
evidence, but seeking information wherever it may be found, and
altering its program, if necessary to do so. +

Myr. McCreary, state your name, age, and occupation.—A. Rob-
ert H. McCreary, age 47, residence Chicago, Ill.; occupation, deputy
collector of customs in charge of the mnrine department and the
navigation inspector. '

Q. Who are the navigation inspectors, and what do they do?—A.
Do you want the names of all of them ?

No; I mean what are they?—A. There are six navigation in-
spectors in the Department of Commerce and detailed to the col-
lector of customs and placed in my charge, and I have charge of all
the marine business, and their business is to count the passengers on
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ursion boats in Chicago; that includes what we call the cross-
:llxle-'elﬁ(l:{e boats, like the Griorﬁ'ic_h Line, the Graham & Morton, Sozﬁh
Haven, Eastland, Michigan City, and. others that occaswnally(»it1 ﬁ
excursion parties; and also at Lincoln Park, Jackson Park, Randolph
Street, Van Buren Street, and boats such as the United Shores:
running between the parks; we keep a man on them when neqessgrx, i
and other places, wherever it happens to be necessary. Their busi-
ness is to enforce the motor-beat r:gul&xt(xlons atng‘ 23‘?01;1:1511: the motor
rry their proper equipment and do not ov .

boaQt.s %andgr whal? blg'eauqofpthe Department of Commerce do the
navigation inspectors serve #—A. The Commissioner of Navxgatxol;}—

avigation Bureau. ] .
Nfgfg%tﬁgg are not part of the Steamboat-Inspection Service LA,
No, sir; they have no connection with that that I know of. 1 .

Q. Is the Steamboat-Inspection Service empowered, to your knotv: -
edge, to give any instructions to the navigation inspectors?—A. They
give no instruction to navigation inspectors, but they assist me when-
ever necessary; I mean I call on them for whatever assistance I ma}i
need: in case I have need for an extra man, in emergency, I cal
upon them, which I have done. o o

Q. ¥s or is not the work of the navigation inspector entirely sepa-

* rate service from the work of the Steamboat-Inspection Service?—A.

solutely. )
AI:QQ 'Wil{you state, as briefly and vet as fully as you can. what in-
siructions you gave to the navigation inspectors respecting the count-
ing of passengers upon the steamer Kastland on the morning of July
24, if any?—A. Well, to begin at the beginning, they have been here
gt the docks all the time, and they are instructed to keep in touch
with the steamboat lines and find out if the schedule is at any time
changed, or any unusually large crowds are expected, or any excur-
sions; when they get a charter they get more than they usually carry,
and the inspector informed me two weeks ahead that this line would

cairy the Western Electric.

- What inspector informed you?—A. Mr. Lay; Mr. Robert Lay.
8. When vgu say ‘“inspector” do you mean navigation in-
spector #—A. T mean the navigation inspector; yes, sir. I will make

“it that way. And as I am at the dock every day, Mr. Greenebaum

also informed me that on the 24th he would carry the Western
ilectric. ' :
MI%E:'. Trorstan, Who is Mr. Greenebaum ? o .

A. Mr. Walter K. Greenebaum is manager of the Michigan City
Line, which is the Indiana Transportation Co., and I get a schedule
from ‘him as to the time and the names of the boats, and also the
name of the boats that will use two gangplanks, so that if there was
a congestion they could use two gangplanks. The Fastland was'one
that was going to use two gangplanks, and the Roosevelt was the
other. The Eestland was the first boat to leave; she was to be fol-
lowed by the Petoskey—followed by the Petosley on that side of the
river; and the foosevelt would be the next boat to leave. and she
was to be followed by the ZZacine. and there was also the Rochester.
I detailed men, four men, to count these passengers. .

Q. Who were they?-——A. Mr. Oaklev—Ilet's see; T will get the’
right name here. "L. A. Lobdell and H. G. Oakley, and the other two
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right or not.
vessel ? - : : :

‘A. Yes. Mr. Lobdell and Mr. Oakley were to count the passengers
on the Fostland. , :

Q. Yes; that is the important point; we are only cohcerned with
the Fastland. What did you instruct Mr. Lobdell and Mr. Oakley
to do?—A. To count the passengers going on board the steamer
Eastltand, and the boat was supposed to sail—to commence loading at

7.0’clock, and I instructed them to be there at half past 6 so that there -

would be no doubt about being on time. .

Q. What did you do yourself %—A. Do you want me to state about
the night before cr anything of the kind? v

Q. You just answer my question. What did you do yourself?—A.
At that time, before the boat loaded ? '

Yes, sir.—A. I did not do anything except instruct them-—the
men I had on the boat.

Q. Then what was the next thing that you did relating to the
Fastland?—A. Why, I was at the Fastland on Friday morning when
she was about to take her morning trip out to St. Joe, and Mr. Lob-
dell asked me if it was all right for him to sleep on board ; he lives
pretty far out and he would not have to get up so early, and he had
the moonlight excursion that night ; he was detailed to take the moon-
light excursion, and there was something over 1,100 passengers on
that. And I spoke to the purser and I said I did not want to ask
any favors of him, and I do not want to ask you to put yourself to
any expense or trouble, but if you have got a bunk that is not work-
ing I would like to have Mr. Lobdell sleep aboard so he would be
here in the morning to count your passengers. * ’

Q. Sleep on board the Feastland?—A. To sleep on board the East--

land. He said he had no staterooms on the boat, but he thought pos-
sibly he could put him in with some of the crew; sometimes they
were changing and being fired, and so Mr. Lobdell slept on board.

Q. Now, what did you do on Saturday morning?%—A. On Satur-
day morning I got up before 6 and dressed, and without having any
- breakfast went to the boat, to the Fastland, and was there about a
quarter to 7. _

Q. Just a moment, Mr. McCreary. Are you an officer of the De-
partment of Commerce?—=A. No, sir; I am deputy collector of cus-
tom?. and tl‘%ey made me an officer, a navigation inspector, just re-
cently.

Q. By what department is your salary paid?—A. Paid by the
Treasury Department. :

Q. Then you go on. I think I have been guilty of an unconscious
discourtesy. 1 ought to have said in my preliminary statement that
this investigation is being carried on by the Milwaukee Board of
-Local Inspectors, Whose members, Mr. Collins, Capt. Collins, and
Capt. Van Patten, are here and actually in charge, and by whose
courtesy I am asking these questions. ’

Q. Now, will you proceed and say what took place on Saturday
morning as you saw it yeurself?—A. Well, when I got to the boat
- I found the inspectors, both of them on dutv and both counting with
the counting machines.
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‘ - wére R. A, Lay and R. A. Bray; I don’t know whether that “ A.” is

Secretary ReprieLp. Were these men ayssig'ned to any pm‘lﬂ.ieulai'"i
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Q. What is the counting machines? o ‘ '

(Witm;ss produced counting machine and hands it to Secretary.
Redfield.) = ; o .

Q. You have handed me one. Is that a sample of what they .
use?—A. Let me have one of those. This is one that was just sent
on. We will get a facsimile. ‘

“ Q. Is this one?—A. This is identically the same. .

Q. Is this the one that was actually used?—A. No, sir; the one-
that was used is sealed up. . .

Q. Did you see Mr. Oakley and Mr. Lgbdell using these ma-
chines?—A. T did. : ) .

Q. Did you take any part in the counting yourself?—A. T stood
there with them watching count and getting it every few minutes,
and I netified them that when we got up toward 2,000 I would.look
at the count, and then I notified them when we got to 2,400 to let me
know, and they did; I said let me know at 2,450, and at 2,450 Mr..
Oakley notified me and we all moved up the gangplank and we
commenced to shut the crowd off, because sometimes it is hard to
shut them off just at that time, and we all moved up the ﬁangplank,

Mr. TuurmMan. Which way, you mean toward the decck? ,

The Wirness. Yes; toward the dock; they were standing on the.
boat, by the gangplank, counting. And we moved up the gangplank, -
the three of us, which practically closed the gangplank, so they came
in closer, and Mr. Greenebaum called to me and said, “I am going to’

| send this crowd over to the Pefoskey just as soon as you shut them
| off. Can you get a man over there to count the passengers on the -
| Potoskey”? And a little later I notified Mr. Oakley.

Mr. THourmax, Mr. Greenebaum was there, was he?

The Wrrness. Mr. Greenebaum was there. :

Q. Do you know how long he had been there?—A. He had been
there several times keeping tab on the count, and asking me the
count. ’ ‘

Q. Do you know whether hie was on the boat?—A. I don’t think
he was on the boat, he came to the head of the gangway and would
speak to me there, ) , '

Mr. WueeLer, How is this counting done? Do they have one
machine cr two? ’

The Wirness. Each man had his own machine.

Q. Two machines at each gangplank?—A. Two machines at each
gangplank. .

Q. Two at each gangplank?—A."Yes, sir; we sent them there to
use two gangplanks, but they did not; they used only one ,fi ngplank,
and there was not a gungplank, not any other gangplank, open; I
looked at the gangway myself; they were closed upj that 1s, the
lower part, the top part was open.

Secretavy Reprierp, There was no access to the vessel except this
one?

The Wrrness. Absolutely none; I looked at it and watched it so
that nobody could even have climbed over.

Q. You are quite certain that nobody got on board that vessel by
any other way than through that entrance?—A. I am, I watched it
carefully, and watched when the gangplank was ordered pulled in,
I watched the other gangway to see that ncbady tried to get on there.
and nobody got on. "




. 2 450 on board as I undesstand it-—A.
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Q. Now, you have testified as to what took place when there was

Yes, sir.
¢ Q. What took place then?—A. Why, a httle later Mr. Greene~

‘ banm told me that he wonld send the people to the Petoskey, which

was lying just astern of this vessel ; you have to go up the stairway,
acrcss the street, and down to the Petoskes y, and he wanted an
inspector there to count them. In order to have an inspector there

 when the crowd came I sent Mr. Oakley, and I told him I wouid

take his count, and I counted one, two, three, four, five, and then
Mr. Lobdell told me, according to the usual instructions. I alwayg
tell them to give me the count before they get 25, and we WOll{d
shut down, practically shut down, so there would be no mistake; and
he said 25 more, Mr. McCreary. Then Mr. Lobdell, with his
checker, counted the 25 more, and the ticket checker counted them
out loud until we got the last five, and Mr. Liobdell says, “ that is all.”
Then he says, “ There is just five more,” and there were two women
and a little %{ﬂ about that high [indicating].

Secretary Reorirrp. Indicating a child.

The Wrrness. Yes, sir; I was afraid that maybe she was back of
this woman and Mr. Lobdell had not seen her, and I said, *“ Mnr,
Lobdell, is this little girl counted?” and he said “Yes, Mr. Me-
Crearv, she is counted.” That pade the 2,500. Then I ordered the
gangp]ank pulled in.

Q. Did you see it pulled in?—A. Yes, sir; I saw it pulled in and
stood there until it was pulled in, and Mr. Lobdell was standing
in the gangway.

- Q. Are you perscnally certain, Mr. McCreary, that ncbodv got
on that beat through that gangway or from that side after the 2,500
was 1ct;unted ?—A. Absolutely; I never was as certain of anything in

‘my life.

‘Mr. TaorMan. In making this count, Mr. McCreary, how did you
count children and babes?

*The Wirxess. Why, we counted them as we always count them;
we have for years.

Secretary Reprirro. -How is that?

The Wirxess. That is, we count children and babes in arms——

" Q. As what?—A. A baby two weeks old will count just as much
as the Secretary.

Q. You mean every baby and . infant child is counted as one per-
‘son?—A. As one.

Mr. Tourman. And that is done in conformity with the regula-
tion issued to the inspectors by the Department of Commerce?

The Wirxess. It is done in conforinity to that regulation; I have
a copy of it here in my pocket. >

Secretary REDFIELD. Wnll you hand me that copy?

The WiTxess. That is the first thing I was instructed to do, count
everybody, including children in arms. There is the one under
which we are working, that is the simplest.

Secretary Repwirwp. I read into the record from a circular letter

. dated April 29, 1913. T will put the entire circular into the recod,

but for the purpose of the particular point at which we now stand
I will read the portion that relates thereto; the heading is:

To United States supervising and local
Service, masters, owners,
interested,

inspertors, Steamboat-Inspection
and agents of passenger steamers, and others

s

L
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Then the entire clrcular follows. Tt goes mto the record. The por-
tion we are concerned with at the moment is this: -

The attention of ail concerned is called to the fact' that every person on
poard, other than the crew, whether adult or child ip arms, shall be considered
a8 o passenger in the count.

Then signed by George Uhler, Supervmmg Ins tor General
( Tl;e circular from whlch the above is quoted in full is as fol-
lows:

[Clrcular letter. 57323.]

DFPARTMENT OF COMMERCE,
STEAMBOAT-INSPECTION SERVICE,
) Washington, April 29, 1918..

United States supervising end local inspéctors, Steambéat-Inspection’ Servioc,

master, owners, or agents of passenger steamers, and others interested.

GENTLEMEN : As the season approaches when large humbers of people will
probably be carried on paksenger and excursion steamers, inspectors of this
gervice are advised that it ‘will be necessary to supervise very carefully the -
embarking of passengers where large numbers may be expected, particularly
upon Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, and @ccurately chéck the number of
passengers golng on board, In order that the steamer’s nllowance may not be
exceeded, and overcrowding and possible dizaster be avoided. .

Upon steamers where the number of passengers on special occasions may bs

. unusually large the count will be taken simultaneously by two officers of the

Government detalled for thi= duty by the Customs Service and the Steamboat-
Inspection Service, or by elther where the force permits, in order that there
may be no doubt as to the accuracy of the count if it is contested by any-
party in interest. To Insure the accurncy of this count, the checking must be
done by two officers at the same polnt, that is to say, over the same gangway,
and In such enses only one gangway must be used for loading passengers,

Where It may become necessary to verlfy a count inspectors may reguire that =

passengers shall be disembarked or landed over oné gangway.

The attention of all concerned is called to the fgct that every person on
board other than the crew, whether adult or child in nrms, shall be con-
gidered as & passenger In the count.

Local inspectors wlll see that n copy of this circular is personnny delivered
to the master, owner, or agent of every steamer within their ‘district carrying.
passengers, and where such personal service is not possible, receipt by mall
service must be acknowledged by such master, owner, or agent.

Local Inspectors will, therefore, consult as usual with the chief officer of
the customs at thelr respective ports, and arrange as formerly for such detall
of inspectors as will most effectually fulﬂll and accomplish the purpose ef-
thig circular.

Respectfully,
: Geo. UHLER,
Superviging Inspector Gencral.
-Secreta Rmrmm. I also read from a circular dated September

1, 1910, which is signed by D. N. Hoover, j ]r Acting Supervising
Inspector General, and addressed:

United Stalca aupcn,isfng, locel, and assistant mspcctors, Steamboal-Inspec-
tion Service.

GeNTLEMEN ; The following are coples and excerpts from letters written by
this office during the month of August, 1910, wherein rulings have been
handed down, relative to the Interpretatlon of certain of the Revised Statutes,
and also sections of the rules and regulations relating to this service, all of
which are submlted for your Information and guidance.

The matter of the authority of local inspectors to specify the distance that
must exist between the back and ends of bollers and the bulkheads on towing
stenmers having been under conslderation, {t may be stated that the last para-

graph of sectlon 29, Rule 1I, General Rules and Regulations, provides that “All:

bollers shall have a clear space at back and ends.”
22350—16—2

When !ocnted in close prox-
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fmity to-wooden bylkheads the space between boiler or beilers and bulkheads
lslmt}l_ l;le not less than 2 feet; with iron or steel bulkheads; not less than 1§
nches.” : : i : i

“This rule was made for the purpose of providing sufficlent space for a"perso;?» '

to puss:between the boller and bulkhead, and has nathing whatever to do. with:
section 4490, Revised Statutes, or section 34, Rule III, General Rules and: Regu«:
lations, relating to bulkheads on steamers carrying passengers. While towing
. steamers are not required to have bulkheads, if they do have them the bulkhead
next to the back and end of the boller must be so located as to comply with the
requirements of the last paragraph of section 29, Rule II, General Rules and
Regulatious. S T

The matter of whether the operator of a motor boat is required to be a citizen
of the United States having been under consideratlion, this office has held that
“no person unless a native or a fully naturalized citizen of the United States
can hold a marine license of any kind.” :

The question having arisen as to the jurisdiction of local inspectors over
licensed ofticers acting under licenses not covering the waters of their district,
you are advised that in g letter dated August 22, 1910, to the supervising in-
spector of the second district, New York, N. Y., this office stated “that the
local inspectors of a district have jurisdiction over a licenseu officer when’
acting under his license in their district, whether said licensed officer holds a
license covering the waters of their district or not.” ] '

The matter of whether infants in arms or small children are passengers
within the meaning of the act of Congress approved June 9, 1910, having been

_ufder consideration, this office stated in a letter dated August 27, 1910, to the’
United States local inspectors at Philadelphia, Pa., * that on all motor boats
carrying passengers for hire one life preserver of the sort prescribed by the
Board of Supervising Inspectors must be provided for every passenger carried,
and that Infants In arms or small children arg considered as passengers.”

+The supervising inspector of the eighth district having requested a ruling as

to whether the examination referred to in department decision No, §756, March .

29, 1888, page 32, Manual 1899, relating to renewal of officers’ licenses that are
not presented within 12 months of the date of expiration, should be wrltten or
oral, or either, in the discretion of the inspectors, this offic. stated in a letter
dated August 27, 1910, that it “is of the opinion that in order that there may
Pea c‘omplete record of all transactions of this kind the examination should be
n writing.” ) ) .
“ The supervising inspector of the second district, New York, N. Y., having.
requested instructions ag to the proper procedure in cases where persons
- holding masters’ or first or seécond class pilots’ licenses or chief or assistant
engineers’ licenses, apply for operators’ licenses, this office stated in a letter
dated August 29, 1910, ¢ that the law requires that no motor boat while carrying
passengers for hire shall be operated or navigated except in charge of a person
duly 'licensed for such service by the local board of inspectors.’
~“In order to obtain the operator’s license referred to, for which no examina-
tion is required, it would not be proper or fair to require a persen holding
a master’s or first or second class pilot’s license or chief or assistant engineer’s
- license to surrender the same, but the practicable way out of the situatlon
vvpuld be to issue an operator’s llcense to such persons, permitting them to
retain their master’s, or first .or second class pilot’s license, or chief or assistant
engineer’s license. .

“ Of course, if the owner of a motor boat wishes to have a licensed engincer
in charge of the engine, this serviee has no objection, but Inspectors can not
réquire more than the licensed operator referred to in the law.”

‘A definition having been requested of the word “ passenger”
menning of section 4465, Revised Statutes, and with particular reference as
to whether or not a child of, say, 1 year 90ld, is a passenger within the mean-
ing of said section, the department, under date of August 25, 1910, addressed

Zendy

the_following letter to the collector of customs at Grand Haven, Mich,:

N L . . Aveust 25, 1910,
CorrecTOoR OF CUSTOMS,

Grand Haven, Mich.

Sie: The department is in recelpt of your letters of the 9th and 11th Instants,
requesting definition of the word “ passengers™ within the meaning of sectlon-
4465, Reyised Stntutes, and with particular referénce as to whether or not
a child of, say, 1 year old, is a passenger within the meaning of sald sectlon.

within the -
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: ; y lated sum for
. , you are advised that every person who pays a stipu i
mgl;np;esgallsi;eyor, is on hoard, even free of charge, and has neither interest in

1

. h by nfag
nes to the ship's crew, is a passenger Wlthiq the meaning
me&iﬁ n&r&;)el ae%fsed Statutes, from  which ‘it follows that:every pem;l;
gzcounmd 'bom:dlng & vesgel as pnssenger, whether it be an aduit or & ba »

in arms.

Respectfully, BeNT. S. CABLE,

Acting Secretary.

‘ ¥ duty as clerk -
8, 1910, Mr. Michael Harris took oath and assul_ned
(iﬂe‘%lxﬁ% States local inspectors of steamn vessels at Providence, R. I_.. 1?;2
o August 27, 1910, Mr. Henry Lindsay took oath and assumed d?typas [
ggthe United States local inspectors of steam vessels at Pittsburgh, Pa.

Respectfully,

“

D. N. Hooveg, Jr.,
Acting Supervising Inspector General.

b ) " it to ask
tarv Reprierp. Now proceed, Mr. McCreary. I wan
bﬁegx:wt:r:{s I understand it, you have reached the point where 1f:he‘
ghngways' were closed and you stopped further access to the vessel.
TENESS. Y es, SiX. ] .
rg}l.va(Yw,’'di(lj’ou have trouble in keeping anyone off of that ve;e:I ,
gel after the limit was reached —A. Why, yes; there was seve};’ed
punderd on the dock there, and theg ttnﬁil é(‘) gettgx;, 325(:3 '{ )}:x:(ti 1;111{5 ied
from the gangway and told them: A ] 3
g;maﬁz;Zd her, and %eveml people said their family v_wafs“oizv ‘there;
ind their friends, and they would like to get on, and I“sald, ou g;ag
riot do it.” One man was very persistent; he says, Oh, be a g d,
fellow and let me on, all my people are on there; one more 1s I %
going to hurt.” I said, «If you get on, I will hold that boat an
9 ut.” . .
Woa.t\ﬁngel«'li%ohg do?—A. He kept begging, and I didn’t pay any
ttention to. him. o o
m?f glown iﬁq a matter of fact, didn’t you let him on?—A. Abso;
lntely not a person went over that gangplank over the 2,500, and n(()l v
a single person went over that gangplank who was not counted,
ex(ésp%‘;)lrll; ggg‘gﬁ? o on?—A. She is a member of the crew, Wor%s in
the toilet room, and is kno*géldpersonally to our inspectors. one
: t on or gnyboay. .
ofé}.xe])«:;'e;’lfv '(:}ant us to_understand now that you ere ersonally
certain that you let nobody on that boat after the lmit v;-"asé
reached —A. ‘Absolutely certain there was no one went on t a
boat after she reached the 2,500. I stood right there, and was very
careful to see there was nobody taken on after that. &
Q. Now, Mr. McCreary, haven’t yeou ieeilt%'stl;ttemerit lfh‘s}: he:;.s
; 0 people on board that boat¢—A. ink so. a .
El?rﬁii}(l}g o? Ztgtements since I have been connected with the marine
t. , i
degl,r%l;cclnanybody other than the officers of the vessel ask {(op how
many persons there were on board at that time?—A. Well, bxt was
not long, of course, before some of the newspaper men asked a out it
Q. That was after the accident?—A. After the accident; yes. "
Q. T mean at the time that we have been s_penkmg of, before the
aceident, did anybody, no matter whom, inquire of you, before arﬁy—
thing hx,xppened, how many people there were on that boat other
than the officers of the boat?—A. No, sir.
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Qs Well, now, who was it that knew how many people there wers
on that boat?. How many persons knew how many was on it #-—A,
Why, there was none who knew except one or two men, and they wery
the two ticket checkers. Mr. Greenebaum knew; he asked me; and I

ave him the count several times. ,
- Q. Mr. Greenebaum knew how many there were?—A. Yes, sir.
. Q.-Did Mr. -Floto?—A. One of the checkers was right near him
. and Mr. Lobdell was between me and the checker. ‘
Q. He knew?—A. Yes, sir.
" '@. And you knew I—A. Yes, sir. :
Q. And Mr. Lobdell knew?—A. Yes, sir. ‘
Q. And Mr. Oakley had gone when the thing was over#—A. When
the thing was over; yes, sir. i
- Q. He went before the accident?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. So that there were four persons who knew how many people
there were on that boat?—A. Yes, sir. ’ :

Q. Two of the boat officers and yourself and Mr. Lobdell #—A. Mr, |

Lobdell and the men who were checking tickets, I mean.
+ Q. How many is that?—A. That is four. ’
* Q. Four persons, anyhow %—A. Yes, sir.

- Q. Were you there all the time until the accident happened after

the count closed?—A. No; when the count closed and the gangplank
was pulled in and I saw Mr. Lobdell at the gangway so that nobody
else could get on, then I went over to the Pefoskey to see that my
man was there and on duty and counting passengers, and I found
him on duty and came immediately back. -
Q. Came back?—A. Yes, sir..

- Q. Well, had anything happened while you were gone!—A. Nath-
ing at all. The boat was getting underway.

Q. Now, one moment. After the gangways were closed you left
Mr. Lobdell-—A. Yes, sir— '

Q. In charge?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. And, if T understand you correctly, went to Pefoskey?—A.
Petoskey. '
Q. To Petoskey and saw how matters were going there, Mr. Oakley
being there?—A. Yes, sir. ' :
- Q. And returned to the Fastland?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is that so?%—A. Ves, sir.
Q. How long did that take you?—A. Oh, not over two or three
minutes. \
Q. And the Petoskey was immediately alongsidei—A. Just at the
stern, across the. street,
Q. When -vou got back to the Fastland had there been as yet any
ign of the accident?—A. She was listing badly.
Q. Which way?—A. To port. ' .
Q. To port?—A. Away from the dock.
Q. When you got back you found her in that condition?—A. Yes,

sir. .

Q. Did you see Mr. Lobdell at that time?—A. Mr. Lobdell was
 standing in the gangway.
~ Q. On the vessel?—A. On the vessel.
Q. Did you speak to him?—A. Well, I talked to him and I told
him I decided to send Oakley to Michigan City with him to count
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‘the passengers. He would go over on the Petoskey on the return
8 Were your i i to take the trip on the
0. Were your instructions to Mr. Lobdell to take the trip on the
Eaétlaizd?—zA. In order to count.ths passengers. He was going
over there on official duty to count the passengers on the rﬁtun{
trip. We have two men over there, but I was sending an extra man;
at the last moment I decided to send an extra man, and that was
. Oakley. : ) .
Ml(:;z.ogo i?was your instructions that he should take the trip on the
d?—A. It was. . ; L
Eaét.l?nd he was on board there for that purposef—A. Yes, sir.
Q. What was the next thing you know $—A. Why, I said good-
by to Lobdell and saw the boat list badly, but I thought she would
right every minute. ‘I thou ht she would come up, and I walked then

*

| toward the other end—the farther end of the hoat—the forward end

boat, I should say—and when I got to the gangway. there
gvfast };zme fz,llows‘there tgrowing their suit cases over, getting re
to jump off, and T started to say something to them, and just ‘gét
started to say something to them the boat commenced to go so fast
he was gone. B . S
thg.IAh:%Zts'time«d%oI get the impression correctly of what _}éou
saw that it was, gt first, as you saw 1if, it was a gradual process {—
. Yes, sir. : . , » '
AQ. eA,ndl later became accelerated I—A. Yes. o
Q. That is your best recollection §—A. Yes, sir. She was listing
gradually at first, but with a cm}tlsriual list, and toward the end she
vo and went very fast. ) o o
corﬁl:el'i?ii%ntﬁfn{ At this timg this continual list, this gradual list
{o port, did you notice at any moment any movement of the passen-
gers on the deck of that vessel to either side there?,: . .
The Wrrness. I noticed none whatever. I don’t think there was;
because when I was talking to Lobdell at the gangw::iy, the gangway
on the starboard side toward the deck, it was crowded—— .
Q. Yes—A. And so was the deck above ‘on that side, and when
I got to the forward gsugwuyhﬂf the same side it was crowded,
were coming out over there. ,
amclz.ﬂ{%gm there at any time as far as you know a rush of the pas-
sengers or a movement of the passengers tovgard the port side of
that boat?—A. Not that I know of, and I don’t believe it 1s possible
that they.could all get over there. If you had 1,000 people on, it
sible. ‘
WO&dA,bsefg?‘Sas you know, Mr. McCreary, how were these passengers
distributed over the decks of that vessel before she began to listt—
A. Well, T just took a casual glance at them there on the deck. -
Q. I only want what you saw.—A. Oh, I could see they were dis-
tributed as they usually are abo_ard a boat: Of course, t.h'e m-.nrf
deck was full, and they were trying to get them off the main deck
up on the other decks so that they could check the baggage, etc. j
Q. How were they A. O%the ugpet; d%cks (tihe_t'é; was plenty o
upper decks and on the starboard side. :
peoQ?l%’g?e tt};x(:‘ev ﬁgt practically equally distributed between the two
sides of the vessels?—A. I should say they were. :
Secretary Reprierp. Let me ask you, Mr. McCreary, whether I
inderstand you correctly as saying that there were a considerable
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- number of people—I don’t know how many, and I take it you dg
" . mot—on’ the lower deck’ of that boat, and than an effort’ was being
- made to get-them to ‘asecend higher? A
. The Wirngss. Yes. - e :
* Q. You saw that?—A. Yes. - =
Q. Do you want me to understand from that that the upper deck
was not at that time full?—A. No; simply that they could not get
on the bodt. If they all stayed down there by the gangway they
eould not get on the boat.
Q. So that you don’t want us to draw the inference as to the
" mumber on the upper deck that way from what you have said ¢—A,

Oh, no. No; simply to allow the people to get on the boat and
check their baggage, etc. B

- Q. All you wish us to understand is—tell me if I am Vrightf;-‘

that there still were many people on the lower deck at this time%.<
A: At the time the boat went over? - o ' R
Q. -At the time you are speaking of, when you saw the effort
made?—A. Oh, yes. Yes. : B
Q. Was the lower deck fairly full at that time?—A. T should say
g0; because at:the gangway there were many people, many people
at thé gangway, which, under ordinary circumstances, could not get
there. From the dock I could not judge all of it.
Q. Now, both that deck to which the passengers were at that time
- ascending and the one above—was there still another deck on which
the boats and thi rafts were p}aced, anather deck above?—A. Well,
there is the majf,deck and the cabin deck and an open deck and then
the boats are oif the other deck. :
Q. Up above?—A. Yes. : ‘
Q. The boats were on the top deck above everything elze?—A,
They were on the top decl; ves. ’
Q. Were there any passengers up there?—A. I couldn’t say. I
“didn’t see any. ‘ : :
Q. Do you know, as a matter of fact, whether there is nccess to
that topmost deck for passengers?—A. No. T couldn't state that.

Q. You don’t know that?—A. No. That is required by the boat, |§

snd the steambont inspectors; they require that.
Q. Now, what did you do, if anythin
with life preservers on the boat?

Mr. Taunmaxn. Let me ask him something here which comes to my
mind. ‘

Secretary Reprrerp. Go ahead.
Mr. Trorman. Mr. McCreary, at any time this morning did you
have any conversation—on the morning in question, did you have

any conversation with the captain or engineer or any of the officers
of the Fastland?

The Wirness. I didn’t see any of them at all.

Q. You didn'’t see any of them at all?—A. Before the accident.

Q. That is all.—A. I may have passed them, but I had no con-
versation with them.

Q. You had no conversation with any of the officers in charge
of the vessel?—A, None whatever, except Mr. Greenebaum. He is
connected with the company.

Secretary Reorrero. What, if anything, did you do respecting life
preservers that morning?

z, ot this time in connection

ACCIDENT TO THE STEAMER EASTLAND. 23

» Virngss. Why, I took a walk around the bost on the: gecond
:'deg‘l?—?—t‘lgt is, the fc'alglin: deck—and at thatut_xmaglv-=found t./hefhf.e ptrg
gervers well distributed. They were hanging .overhead “and in the
cabins, the main cabin, that is, the one big cabin; they have a s«_a?t ru}r:-
ning around like this, running around the cabin, M‘l‘d':[ looked for t e
Jife preservers there. These seats were marked ¢ Life preservers.

In plain view,so there would be no trouble finding out where the life

| preservers were. 1. looked there; I took these different seats and

©ened them, because I have found sometimes on boat, even though
8}?:; igre care:ful', if theﬁ are put into a place like that, the wood)gll%
swell on account of the dampness, and I raised themlup, ’I?l:l 1
“opened up a number of them, and they opened very easl ﬁ._ 'belt:e'd
went aft and I saw that the life preservers there were 1str}b1u >
well overhend, and there seemed to be as many as was possibie t:.
put there. The fire hose was connected up. I saw several axes, ?:ed

Q. What did you do all that for?—A. Well, I have been Acon!lllqc

with boats so long that whenever I go around T look at thesevt }fngs,
“and then I have charge, you might say exclusive charge, of -enfore-
ing the motor-boat regulation, and T always do that when I'goona
"motor boat; I see that the life preservers are distributed. . o
. Q. Now, Mr. McCreary, isn't 1t a fact that you thought there;;vaﬁ
some special danger there and that because of that reason you did a
this?—A. Not at all. I never dreamed of any special dunger‘.)
always do it when I am on official duty; when I go out to take a boat
every time I don’t fail to go over the boat to look forglt,. . o
Q. Is it your duty to look after the life prase.rvers.—‘-,—A. It is not;
ot on the steamers. Thev have a certificate of inspection. l‘i’f

Mr, Trormax. Mr. McCreary, in_the distribution of these life
preservers, there were o number attached to the roof?

The Wirness, Yes. o :

Q. Above the decl, were they not?—.—A..]fes.

Q. How were they fasteg
ACTOSS. )

Q. That is, strips g
aming nil of the
‘were strings holdg
make me think §

By strings running

g, I didn't ex- -
we. and there
nothing to

Q. Coul dsp d gotten
these 2—A..

lQ- They s Qh yes;
within reach

Q. When
conversation
regard to the
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the connt. ey
Q. Did you 4 him at

that time?—A.




. yeaf. -\
;. Q. Well;haw long have you been connected with it; that is, down
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condition of the boat'and the boat itself was not mentioned.

Mr. Poor.. Mr. McCreary, do passengers leave the.boat while they
are going on? . A
~ A. No. Noj; they do not.

Q. Very little traffic the other way—A. None whatever. There

was not & man came off the boat.
Q. How do you check them?—A. My men are instructed to count
these people thatget off. If they insist on letting these people off,

- if any man _wants to go ashore for something or other, he is counted. . §

Of course, in an emergency where the men know a man and can ses
-him about the dock, and he comes back, he would make an excep.

-tion, but the men have explicit instructions that people getting off §

these boats that way are to be counted. There is nothing else done,
and when they come back they are counted a ain,

Mr. Carrorr. I would like to ask one question, please,

Secretary Reoriern. All right. T

CarroLr. How long have you been supervising the loading of
beats qut of Chicago? - - :

" The WirxEss, Well, I have only had exclusive charée of it this

aboard the boats, seeing thenr go out and counting the passengers?—
A. Well, T have been aboard the boats enforcing navigation regula-
tions, motor-boat regulations, and steamboat-inspection regulations,
ete., for over 20 years, but the counting of the passengers has heen
done in previous years with one or two exceptions by what we call
. the inspectors’ division of the customhouse, under the Treasury De-

partment, and they were under Mr. Griffin, the deputy collector or
inspector. When I would have charge of the marine department,

of course, when I went down there, they were courteous to me, but I

had to look after other things, and I was not in charge, and T didn’
look after the counting, and I made no reports on any of that,
Q. I would like to ask you, how do you navigation inspectors
ow how many passengers the different boats are allowed ; how do

they arrive at that figure?—A. They are instructed to go by the

certificate of inspection. aboard the vessel on the special permit
" which is granted and which hangs alongside of the certificate of
inspection, and we all carry in our pockets at all times the number of
passengers allowed under the certificate of inspection, and as soon as.
there is a change in the permit it is reported, and we make a change
on our memorandum, but in addition to that, to be extra careful, we

go by the certificate of inspection and the special permit on the boat, -

-and in the case of the Eastland it yas working on this permit—the

men worked by that—and that wad hanging to_your right, just aft

of the port gangway. I looked at it every morning when I go down,
and our inspectors looked at it.

Ow ‘many passengers was the Fastland allowed?—A. Two
thousand five hundred at the time of the disaster.

Is it customary here in Chicago for the stenmboat companies

to take any measures to count the passengers, to know how man
they have aboard?—A. Well, T believe that they go by the chec
_ of the Government inspector. ‘

Q. Nothing in regard to the condition of the boat?—A. No. The

© know what the tickets would

6
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-~.'D‘d ou ever see then,i' have any of their own men there{—A.
N(f;z I h;vey not. I have heard some time that they did, but I have not

‘paid any attention to that. They.get a count after the beat goes,

of course. When the boat gets under way they get a count from the

tickets, etc., and they keep a record.

. Do you know how your inspectors’ count gorrespond, how it

tallies \gigx the steamboat count after the purser has checked up¥—

. No; I do not. =
AQl.\('.})’id tge man who sells the ‘tickets—how does that count corre- -

"spond with the count of the man who sells the tickets?—A. No; I

know. , - . ;
dotioglow close do you think a person could come to making an
estimate of a crowd aboard a boat at that time?—A. There is no
man on earth that could make any estimate at all. I have been at it
for 20 years and the steamboat inspectors have been here a great
many years, and our men at the barge office see every boat that goes
out of the river, they stand at the door and see that, and they have
not the slightest ides how many are aboard. I had one the other
day whengi got the count on the Zoosevelt and also on another
Morton boat when I asked our men how many they thought were
there, They didn't know. They didn’t come within 35 or 40 per
cent of the right number. I have complaints of men who have come
up to this office and who say that boats were overcrowded and they
didn’t have two-thirds of their capacity. Sometimes when they had -
one-half there were complaints. Of course it is a well-known fact
that when the boats go out of the river, if all the passengers are
out on deck, you would naturally say they are overloaded, “isn’t she

- erowded,” and there would not be a soul in the cabins.

Do you know of any other means or any other persons by
w}fizr-ch t?leynumb_er of people aboard the boats would be known other
than the count of your navigation inspectors or the Government in-
spectors that count the passengersi—A. None whatever. I don’t

Bt therelA. Oh, no;

Q. But I mean any off
nobody knows an¥ythig
. Mr, Carrorr. Thg
Secretary Rep
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‘ ; Secretary REBHEL:;; I would like to have General Uhler take »thé |
' . -cath at this point. . .. = S T
'~ Mr. O’Hara. Mr. M¥Creary, that count of the passengers is ma

with this instrument ?
- A. Yes, sir. o v IR

Q. After the accident happened, were the instruments given you—

~ there were two in use when the passengers were being loaded on
the Fastland last Saturday morning?—A. Two in use. - .

- Q. Each inspector had an instrument$—A. Yes, sir.. ... =~ .

. Q. And these checkers, have you the checkers with the counts as

"they stood at that time?—A. No; not as they stood at that time; no.

They were usually—the othér man took his over to the Petoskey and .
used it on 120 passengers over there, and the other man used his on

another one, S v o .
~ Q. Now, Mr. McCreary, when a passenger goes on the boat how
does he know that he has been clocked *—A. How does the passenger

" knowit? - .

© Q. Yes, sir; how does the passenger know it?—A. He does not
Jnown anything about it— : : ,

“ Q. Is it possible to make an instrument that will have a bell
attached to 1t similar to the instrument you see in street cars? For
‘instance, by checking that way, pressing a button, a bell will ring?—
A. I should say that—of course, that is only my opinion, but I should

.say it-is possible to make such an instrument; yes. - - :
"~ Q. Now, Mr. McCreary, is it possible—I am asking you this, not
‘intimating anything, but merely for information—but 1s it possible
“for an inspector or a checker to partiallg'push the button, as I am
Rus?)i}r:g it now, and there is no check, there is no register there?—
A. Oh, yes. : n : /
Q. That is possible to do that%—A. Why, if you don’t push it you

do(li’t %et a check. If you do push it you do.

check. , : ' ,
-~ Q. If you push it you get a check?—A. If you push it you get a
~check. When two men are counting.together the machines do not
-make. the same mistake at the same time. '

Q. There are two checkers?—A. There are two checkers. Tf one.

- checker there makes a mistake the other would catch it. I might say
there is a possibility of every man making a mistake, but two men
.'do not make it at the same time, and two checkers do not make the
same mistake gt the same time. '
Q. Was it your duty, part of your duty, to inspect these checkers
“that are inspectinF or counting?—A. Oh, yes; yes, indeed. We go
over them carefully ‘ ,
Q. You go over the checkers, the little instruments, that is what T
mean —A. Oh, yes, indeed. - We go over them curefuhy and see that
they are all right. There were eight of them sent to the department
this year to be rej%aired, and they were put in good condition and
sent back here. The best ones were given to our navigation in-
srectors, the newest ones, the ones that seemed to look the newest and
the best. We picked out those. They were all good, and all perfect,
so far as I know. .These men took them and used them, but as soon
as they felt any catch or anything wrong, anything of that kind,
they turned them in and got another one. I also have several extra

“case that is proven of a vessel being loaded

‘the deemrtment for the violation of her capacity.
Q.

here is no check on the checker —A. If you push it you get a

: Mmyi 1914, respecting the possi

I
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.ohes over at 'what they call the barge office. ‘That is the most central

point we have, and we have those extra ones there so that they can

. yun over ‘and: get one if they have trovble with the one they have.
‘Also, every man is instructed to carry a piece of paper and pencil in

his pocket at the same time so that if anything happens to these

things they can keep the count with pencil and paper.
o M%?O’ ArA. Thank you, sir. \

Secretary ReprreLp. Now, we will ask General Uhler a question.-
(Witness excused temporarily.) | \

" General Georce UnLER, called as a witness by the board, being
- duly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as follows:

- Examined by Secretary Reprrerp:

" Q. Do the records of the‘Steamboat-Ins;ﬁc'tion Service show any

eyond. the legal limit?—
A. They do not, sir, te any great extent. "We sometimes get, in the
consideration of a fine case, where there is a discrepancy between the

-count of the checker and that of the "shi%’s officers, perhaps 4 or §

people—a difference of that much; mgybe 10. The count of the
Governiment inspectors -is always su ed, and the collector of
customs has no discretion in the matter except to report the vessel to

Vhat is the penalty for overcrowding?—A. $50 ' '
Q. I mean, for loading beyond the legal limit?—A. $500 flat fine

"in the first place for violation of the.provisions of lier certificate and

forfeiture of the passenger money and $10 for each passenger car-

‘ried beyond the limit allowed by her certificate.

- Q. Upon whonmi is the fine imposed 2—A. Upon the vessel. .
Q. Who is the responsible officer of the vessel for permitting load-
ing beyond the legnl limit%—A. The master,always, sir..
. Is it or is it not a fact, within the experience of the service, that

- there are occasions on which there are strong demands made to over-

load the vessels beyond the legal limit 2—A. Quite frequently.
Q. Do you remember my gwin% an order prior to the 30th day of
ble cr"owdin% of vessels beyond the

legal limit on that day?—A. I have a recollection of the order. I

- don’t just remember the date, but it is— : ,

Q. Can you say how many persons were turned away from vessels
pursuant o that order on the following holiday in the city of De-
troit?—A. I think in the neighborhood of 5,000, 1f my memory serves
me right. :
"~ Q. Can you say how many were turned away on the same day in
the city of Baltimore?—A. AsT remember, about 1,560 were reported
as having been turned away. i
. Secretary Reprierp. Thank you. That is all for the moment,
General. o :

(Witness excused.)

Roperr H. McCreary, recalled as a witness, and testified as fol-

lows: ' o
Examined by Secretary ReprieLp: :

Q. Now, Mr. McCreary, I want to ack you if the system of count-

ing passengers which you have described is a new system #—A. You
mean with checkers? :
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Q. I mean by the navigation inspectors with the conical coun-
- terst—A. No. The only thing new about it is that we have men,
~ special navigation inspectors, who do- this work, and we- do it.not

,ong Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, but every day and night, etc.

2. In other words, it is new in this respect, is it not, that the force -
‘which does it is a new force, and that the doing of it every day in the.

Xfel{r, instead of on Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, is new ¢—
, Q. That is true, is it not?—A. ‘Yes, : N
Q. So it is a fact, is it not, that the Bureau of Navigation is now
?‘r Yt_he first time using its own force of.navigation inspectors?—
es. . . C o e
Q. That is true, is it not?#—A. Yes. =~ . | o
And they never had them before?—A. Well, they had—no;
they never had navigation inspectors before. We put these on, and
they were to_go on, first, on Decoration Day, and the appointment
was supposed to run until Labor Day. There was a special appro-
priation by Congress, a special appropriation for that purpose. °
Q. A new anroprlation?—A.'Yes,‘ si e
Q. So that this force was a.new force?—A. Yes. = = .
A‘Qi’And--you never had a force to work with until this year?—

Q. This force?—A. Yes. There was an examination held in March.
and there were over 50 as good men as T ever saw take an examing-
. - 1 .

tion took it, and I looked at them— - S : \

Q. Mr. McCreary, I want_you to answer my ‘question, please, I
will try to cover that part. Xf I don’t, somebody will prompt me in
it. Did you ever have navigation inspectors such as you had in the
JPpresent year?—A. In 1913 we had 6 men appointed, but who they
werg paid by I don’t know; but they were calll)ed navigation inspec-
tors, and it was their duty to do this work. In 1914 we had the same
thing, but the appropriation_did not pass Congress and we didn’t

put them on until August. ‘Now, whether you would call these men -

navigation inspectors or not, I don’t know. .
o you know how these men-—by whom were they appointed —

A. The whole thing was handled by the commission on navigation

: unger I%be Sécriatar'y_of h(L‘o‘mmerce.
."Do you know whether they are civil-service appointees or
not!—A. I do know that they are civil-service appointegs{)
Q. Do they or do they not passan examination for this particular
work?—A. They pass the hardest examination that we hold.
Q. Were you asked by anyone other than the people on the dock to

overload the vessel or to permit her to be overloaded ?—A. Nobody
asked me that. ' '

overload that vessel 2—A. No such thing was spoken of.
. Q. Either the owner, or the charterer, their agent or representa-
_ tive, or any officer of the vessel—did any of them ask you to permit
.more passengers than the limit?—A. Never at any time. The ques-
- tion 'was never brought up. : o
General UnLer., Mr. Secretary, in order to make things perfectly
clear, T would like to ask Mr. McCreary a question regarding the
appomntment of inspectors for this purpose, and I will put my ques-
tion in this way: R

-Q. Were youn asked by anybody, on the dock or on the boat, to -

. A. It was, as near as I can judge, about—I dca v
‘about half past 7. It may have been 7.30 or 7.20, or something l}_k%-

25 1,600
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Q. Is it not a fact, Mr. Mc,Créary, that for éeveral years previous-
to the appointment of the na:eigation inspectors that additional cus-
toms inspectors were appointed for temporary service and detailed

. to the counting of passengers?—A. Additional customs inspectors
~ were used for that purpose. '

Q. That is what I want to get at.—A. Yes. ’

Secretary Reprrewp. That 1s a matter of record and is very ez!a,sily
gotten at. Anything else? ; SR

Mr. SvLrivan: May 1 ask a question, Mr. Secretary?
- Secretary Reprrerp, Yes. 4

Mr. Sorrivan. At what time, Mr. McCreary, that morning did the
passengers begin to go aboard? o ' ‘

The Wirness. Well, the man that was counting could answer that
question more accurately than I can; but I will state that I got there
at a quarter to 7 and there were only a very small number on board
at-that time. ’ . '

Q. There were some on board when you got there?—A. I under-
stand from him that they commenced—what time did I say? = -

Q. 6.40—A, 6.40 that morning he was instructed to be there_to
count passengers, and to get there at 6.30—— . :

Q.. Well, what time was it when the last passengers wers aboard —

t know ; but it was

that. ~She went over at 7.35, the way we estimate it.
Q. What time was that—A. Well, that was after 7 o’clock—— -
"~ Q. What time was it when you first saw Mr. Greenebaum at or
about that boat?—A. The first time I-saw him I gave him the count-
Q: What time was that%—A. That was after 7. . -
Q. That is your best recollection. You can not give us a fixed
time. ‘That is your best recollection?—A. Oh, yes; yes.
Q. When did you next see him¥%—A. The next time he asked me

it was—1I think he asked me at 2,000, and I am sure he asked me-

at about 2,400. I gave him the count from the gangway there. He
was at the head of the gangway and I was at the bottom, and I
stepped up to about midway and I gave him the count at 2,400.

Q. You say you didn’t talk with any of the officers, but did you
talk with any of the crew about the crowd or about the listing of
the boat?—A. No. No; I didn’t talk with anybody or anything
like that. I was very busy.

Q. Do you know, or did you ask any of the crew, why the boat
remained at the dock so long after the gangplank was pulled up?—
A. Well, I don’t think that she did remain at the dock so very long.
She was getting underway, and sometimes it takes a little time——

Secretary Reprrerp. Wait a minute, Mr. McCreary. Your answer
is not quite re Ish:Fonsive to Mr. Sullivan’s question. Strike his answer
out, please. He asked you a question which could be answered by
yes or no, as I understand it. ? :

The Wrirness. No.

Mr. SuLLivan. You say you didn’t ask anybody? .

The Wrrness. No. : ' :

Q. Have you fixed any time, the length of time she did remain—
No—
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Secretary REDFIELD Strlke that question .out. Do you want thatA
question struck out, Mr. Sullivan? . ;

~

Mr. SuLLivan. Yes; and L.will put. this queﬁtmn

Q. Can you give us | the time, the number of mmufes, that elapsed !

between the pulling in of the-gangplank, and the tipping over of
. the bpat?—A. No, sir; not exactly.
Secretary Reorrerp. Excuse e, Mr, Sulhvan, but do you mean
~when she had fully tipped or when she began to tip? v
" Mr. SULLIVAN. {’Vhen she had fully tipped.
The Wrrness.. I would say between 5 and 10 minutes. .
Q. Do you know how: many- children in arms, about how many
children in arms, you saw. go aboard ¢—A. No;.but I know this,
there were very few.

Do you know .about how many children between the ages of 5.,
and 12 years that went aboardi—A. There were very few children. '

-Mr. Sorrivan. That is all
(Witness excused.)

- LioMaN A. LopprLy, called as a witness by the board, nemg first

.duly sworn by Secretary Redfleld, testified as follows:
. Examined by Secretax'y ‘Renrrern:
Q. Give your name, address, and occupation to the stenugrapher-——

A.LumanA.. Lobdell, jr., 545 West Sixty-sixth Street, navigation

msgector, Department of Commerce

Under what service are you em tployed in the Department of

Commerce?—A. Under the Bureau of Navigation.

Q. Who is chief of that . bureuu?—*A I. don’ know. - Mr Me-

Creary has charge of that.

Q. Are. you under the mstfuctwns of the Steamboat Inspectmn

Servme?——A No, sir.

- Q. Did you sleep on beard the. Eastlami the mght before the acei- .

dent %A, Yes, sir.

Q. Why i—A. ’Wny, I Wanted to be there at 6.30 in case they
started to load at that time. They were to—the previous m%)et they
had told me that they might commence loading anywhere between
6.30 and 7 a. m., and I wanted to be there and be on the job, so I
sle t on the boat.
< . Had you been on the boat at Work the previous evenmg"‘-——A

es, sir. -

Q. What was the occasmn?——A An excursion given by the East
Gate Lodge, A. F. and A. M.

Q. What time did you get up that Saturday morning ?—-A Ap-
proximately at 6 o’clock. %hey called me at 6 o’clock.

Q. Now, state what you did as fully and yet as briefly as you'

can—A. After 6 a. m.?

Q Yes—A. I got up and the steward told me to go into the din-
ing room and - get something to-eat. I went in there and I didn’t
feel much like eating, so I had a cup of coffee. I then went down to
the main gangplank at 6.30. Mr. Flato and Mr. \iunger on the boat
were there.

Q. What is Mr. Flato’s position on- the boat?—A. He is not on
the boat. He is connected with the steamsh.p company.

Q. He is not an officer of the vessel ?—A. No, sir,

_ “the-passengers. -
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Q. Heis a representatlve of the ownerL—A He iga representa-
t1ve of the owner. .

MQ Who is. Mr. —. What did you say has name was?--A. Mr.
unger;

Q. Who is he?—A. He was the purser.

Q. He was the purser?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, you spoke to both these ment—A. I greeted them both,
of course, and then I spoke to Mr. Flato aud asked him if they
would logd both gangways and he told me they would load but one.

- At that tiie, 20 minutes of 7, they started loading thé gangway.

.Q. How do you know that time so accurately I—A. Why, it just
happens that I took out my- watch and looked at it, and if was ex- -
actly 20 minutes to 7.

‘Q. The first passenger came aboard at 20 minutes to 7 ?-—-A
Twen% minutes to 7; yes, sir..

ho was there representing the Bureau of Nav1gatlon besndes

| yourself?—-A Inspector Qakley—Inspector of Navigation Oakley.

Q. So that you both were there?—A. Yes. .
Q. Mr. Thurman asks what was the position that you ‘and Mr, -

‘Oakley took. Did you Iet ‘these passengers, as they came aboard,
.. pass between you?—A. N.

sir; we both stayed on the same side.
Q. Close together?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. How wide is the gangplank?—A. The gangplank, 1 should
say; aDDroX ately, is 5 feet. :
Where did you stand—at the end or on the plank —A. At the

end uKon the boat.

t the end upon the boat?—A. Yes, sir.
Q Now, state what you did after 6.40.—A. Well, I counted alIA
At 7 o’clock I looked at my watch and also at my
counter, and I noticed there were 1,026 people on board. '

Q. Speak up louder. At 7o clock, you say, there were 1,026 per-
gons on board ¢—A. At 7 o’clock there were 1,026 persons on board.

Q. And you spoke to Mr. Oakley at that tlme?-&-A And I spoke
to Mr. Oakley at that time. ~

). Now, go on.—A. And I mentioned the: fact that they were
coming over 50 a minute. Just previous to that Mr. McCreary had
been there and stated when they arrived at 2,400 to notify him.

At 2400 I walked up the gangplank where Mr. McCreary was
standmg and told him that there were 2,400 on the boat. I also had
instructions to notify him-at 2,450 and 2475 which 1 did. At 2475
1 walked up on top of the gangplank and stood there, and Mr.
Flato counted the passengers over out loud, one at a time. -

Mr. Tuurman, When you saw the- count had reached that far,
:md you speak of gomg to the top of the gangplank do you mean the
end. toward the dock?

The Wirness. Yes.

" Secretary ReprreLp. Just a minute there
terests me. Why do you call it the top?

The Wirness. Well, because the. ?n‘g})lank slanted.

Q. Which way was the slant?— hy, the slant was down..

% From the top?—A. From the top; yes, sir. -

The top of the vessel on- Whmh vou stood was below the
dock?—A. That was below the dock.

[

. That word “top” in--
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~ plank was. : ‘
Mr. Poor. About how many feet below ? '
Secretary ReorieLp. Mr. Pool asks about how many feet below.
The Wirxess. Well, I couldn’t say exactly just how many feet.
Q. Approximately ?—A. Well, about a foot and a half.
- Q. About a foot and a half?—A. Yes, sir.. - .
Q. Now, proceed.—A. At 2,495; that is all. I held my arms out
and says, “That is all.”- Then I told Mr. Flato I would allow five
more Bas,sengers to come aboard, making the total 2,500. ;
- Q: Did you see the gangway closed when the 2,500 were on

drawn in.’ .
~.Q. Did you see anybo

‘board —A.. The gangways were not closed; the gangplank was -

dy g‘et'v on béard after that_2,50'0'?;—-A. No,

sir. : .
Q. Are you able to say, of your own knowledge, whether anQIIbody' :

else got on board or not?—A. Not on the gangplank where
standing. . '

Q. Wrilo was with you at the time the count closed —A. Why, I

was

was on the boat by myself. ‘Mr. McCreary was-at the top of the -

gangplank on the dock.
'Q. On the dock?—A. Yes. - - 2N
Q. He was at one end of the gangplank on the dock and you were

at the other end/on the boat?—A. I was at the same end when they .
ﬁlllusixedthe count, but I walked down as far as that at the end of .
the boat. :

Q. Why did you go down on the boat 1—A. T was going to Michi-
gan City. ' "

‘o

" load them on when they were coming back, to see that they
overload. - " ‘ o

- Q. What ﬁolitical influence got you your position with the depart-

~ment?—A. No political influence.
Q. Hotw did you get your job?—A. Through civil-service exami-
nation.. S ' -
Q. How many took that examination?—A. I should judge there
were about 40, - , ' . '
Q. Here in Chicago?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. How many were appointed out of those that took it?—A.

There were six appointed.
Q. Do you know where you stood on the list?—A. I stood sixth.
. Q. When did this examination take place?—A. March 29, this
year. o —_— ' .
Q. When did you receive your appointment?—A. I don’t exactly
remember. , ~ : '
T Q. Well, ahout when?—A. About the 30th of May.
Q. You stated that you went back on the boat. Now, what hap-
ned ut that time? Tell us just as clearly as you can; give us your
st description of what happened.—A. I noticed that the boat
" was listing and I stood there watching that list. I hadn’t paid any
attention to it for several reasons—— ‘
- Q Just & moment. You noticed-the bost was listing?—A. Yes,

sir. ;
Q. Which way?—A. To port.

Q. It was below the level of the dock?—A. Yes, sir; the gang

* after 7.

Q. Why did you do that?—A. I was to count the passengers, to’
;ls‘& "
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Q. To port?—A. Yes, sir. - N /
Q. Away from the dock?—A. Awa,{1 from-the doclz”

'Q. Had you seen her at any time list toward the docki—A. At
a quarter after 7 the gangway—the boat—no—let me see—I can
not express that properly, but the gangplank moved up so high
that the people could not get on the boat. The boat was listed to
starboard.. We had to keep them from coming on—about a quarter

Q. Do I understand you correctly that about a quarter after 7 the
boat listed so far to starboard, toward the dock——A. Yes, sir. .
Q. That the people could not %fb on board because of the lack of

space between the deck and overhead !—A. There was about 3 feet

~ of space between the ganiplank and the top of the gangway.

Q. What was decne
righted itself. .
Mr. TaurMan. How many people were on the boat at that time—

at that particular moment?$ o
The Wirness. I couldn’t say. They were coming on at the rate of
50 every minute. That is the way they were coming on until 2,500

of on. :
& Secretary Reprmerp, Can you say how many were on; any figure
at all; 100 or 500 or —— ‘ ,

The Wrrness. About 1,700. : )

Q. Then you want us to understand that at the time the boat
listed to starboard, or toward the dock——A. Yes, sir. .

Q. She had on board 1,700 personsf—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, give us a few more details. Where were these gieople §—
A. I do not know. I was counting the passengers and I didn’t see
wher~ they went after they went inside.

Q. Well, can you say from your own knowledge whether any of
them were on that lower deck?—A. They were. y Were moving
up stairs a$ fast as they could go up. _ .

Q. What understanding would you like us to have of the sxact fact
at that moment when she was listing toward the.dock and there were
about 1,700 passengers on board as to the condition of the lower deck,
whether there were many or few persons there?—A. There were
quite a few. , , ‘

Q. Was there an effort being made to your knowledge to have them
go up on the uimr deck?—A. Why, not to my knowledge; no, sir.

Q. Now, think carefully about that a moment and tell me whether
the list of the vessel to starboard was slow or rapid; a slow or rapid
movement ?—A. It was a slow movement.

Q. And the recovery from that list, was that slow or rapid¥—A.
Slow, just about the same time to turn one way as to turn back; it
took just about the same time both ways. o

Q. And do I understand you to say that they stopped loading

assengers at that moment and waited until the vessel had swung

ack again?—A. Yes, sir. ‘

Q. Now, then, what occurred ?—A. They kept on loading them
then until the boat was full. :

Q. Now, when she was full I understand you to say the gang-

lank was drawn in and you remained on the boat. Now, state what

appened.—A. Well, then I noticed the boat was listing to port.

- 22350—16——3

Why, they kept them off until the boat
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' - Mr. Tuorman. Q. Now, Mr. Lobdell, I want to ask you right -
" .. there—after that gangplank was drawn in, hauled in—did thgt bqat'

_ list to starboard before she went to E:rt? L o
. - The WrrNEss. No, sir; not to my knowledge. WAlidn’t see it at all.
I didn’t notice it at all. - ' : '
Q. She didn’t swing to starboard ?—A. No, sir. o
- Q. Go over to the dock and then swing back?—A: No, sir; not to
- my knowledge. - F-don’t believe it did. Mr. Flato was sthé;ling on’
the dock there at the breast line after the gangplank wastaken in.”
The boat was listing théh, and he says, “ Take in the breast line,”
and he had them take in the breast line, and as soon as that was done
it didn’t take long for the boat to go over. .

Secretary Reprierp. Now, describe in your own way the motion of
the vessel in turning to port. I mean, tell us as to whether it was
slow or fast or jer‘l}rvy or even; tell us all about it. . )

The Wrrness. Well, I was on the boat until it was about at an
angle of 45°. Of course, up until then I didn’t believe it was %oing to
turn over. It had just been a slow movement, very gradually done,
and then I jumped in the water, and the next I saw of the boat it was
laying on its side. . ’ ’ :

Q. You jumped into the Water from the starbohrd side?—A. From -

the starboard side; yes, sir. -
Mr. Poor. I was going to ask if any thought came into your mind
- at the time the boat listed to starboard as to the occasion of the listing-
or the reason for the listing. Did you have anything in your mind
as to why that was? 7
A. No, sir; nothing whatever. o S
Q. Was that a customary thing, for the listing of the boat while
loading?—A. Why, I have noticed many of the boats do that. The
reason of it is, when another boat is passing it makes it do that. I
could not say whether there was another boat passing or not.
Q. It is a common occurrence during the loading to have the boats
list either way ?—A. 'Yes, sir. -~ -
Secretary Reprrerp. Te)l us what you know, or do you know any-
(tihilil{gl. about the number of lines that were holding the vessel to the
ac :

The- Wirness. To “my knowledge—before or after the gangplank ,7/ i

was drawn up? !
Mr. Trurman. Both.
Secretary Reorierp. At any time; tell us the whole of it.

- The Wrrness. Well, they had three lines out at first, but I didn’t
notice when they were taken in, -except the breast line. That was
tialken ih at the last: That was just before the boat moved away from
the :

< No, sir. A
knowledge they were.
Q. Did you see any line from the vessel to the dock?—A. No, sir.
Q. Can you say whether the vessel settled in the water, to your
ékélowledge,. as the .passengers came aboard %—A. Not to my knowl-
; Do, sir. v :
%e.,Wiil you tell us, if you, can, whether when the first passenger
‘came aboard the slant of the gangplank was the same as it was at

|

~ Did you hear the engine bell\s(soynded to start the enginesf—

Q. Were all the lines off when she finally turned over?—A. Tomy

s
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the end, when they were all on3—A. Why, there couldn’t have been .

" much difference. It was just about the same. - ‘

~Mr. O’Hara. Mr. Lobdell, you use an instrument similar to this?
The Wrrness. Yes, sir. ' » ,
Q. In counting?—A. Yes, sir. ' ,
Q. When the Zastland had turned over and you had jumped into

" the water, what did you do with your counter!—A. Why, I left it

in my pocket. . .

Q. And when you reached land did you turn the counter over to
some one?—A. Why, I counted another boat between then and the
time I turned my counter over. )

' .Q. When you first looked at your counter after getting out of the

water what was the register I—A. Nothing. .
Q. Why?—A. I moved it back as soon as the passengers had got

" gboard the boat.

Q. Now, before moving the counter back, or the register back, did
you show the counter with the register to a superior officer or a
superior inspectar ¢—A. No, sir; it is not necessary.

Q. You look%t it yourself and turned it back?—A. Yes.

" Q-Now, during the time you are counting does any one other

‘ Ehan yourself see the register{—A. Only those connected with the
- . boat. .

Q. The owners?—A. The officers and thé owners.
Q.- The owners of the boat—A. Yes, sir. -
Q. And no other person?—A. Unless it would be some Govern-

ment inspector of steamboats,

. Q. But that does not often happen?—A. No; that does not often
appen. ' :

Q. Now, Mr. Lobdell, if you desired, you could—te a certain extent,
you could—to any extent, permit the count to go over 2,500 or wfder
2,500, the legal limit ¢—A. I could permit it to go over or back. '

Q. You would be the only person who would know that?—A.
Unless I had shown it to somebody else. - o

Q. And you say the re%ster is only shown to the officers or the .
owners of the boat?—A. Yes,

Secretary Reprrerp. Is there not another inspector there?

A. There wags at this time. - ‘ ’

Q. Are there not usually twoi—A. No, sir. 2

Q. Not ususlly two%—A. No, sir; usually one.

Q. But on this occasion there were two present —A. There were
two; yes, sir. . ‘ .

Q. Do you know, as a matter of fact, whether your register agreed
with the other?—A. At 2,400, Mr. Oakley’s register was 7 ahead of
mine. I moved mine up 7 and continued counting.

Mr. TrurMan. Mr. Lobdell, you and the other inspectors take an
oath to conscientiously perform your duty, do you not?

A. Yes, sir. . ,

Secretary Reprrerp. And you were acting under your oath as an
officer of .the Government at this moment?

A, Yes. : -

Mr. O’Hara. You secured your position, Mr. Lobdell, through a
civil-service examination? ,

A. Yes, sir,
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" Q. You had not been interested in politios’ priorto that time!—

No, sir. ) : I T
"Q..ﬁOt to any extent except as a veteri—A. Well, I had been -

deing a little work sending-out literature and something like that. -

.- Q. But as far as you know political influence was not in any de-

gree responsible for your appointment —A. No, sir. ;

. Q. Before taking this examination in what line of occupation
' were %ou engaged !-—A. Jr the drug business. o

Q. In the drug busiméss?—A. Yes, sir. '

Q. Under the civil-service requirement were you required to sub-

mit some kind of proof as to your character for a number of years

._or for a period of time before the time of examination?—A. had

*.to, I believe. I believe there was three witnesses I had to have to

. :gwear to certain vouchers. ‘

Q. Those vouchers were given to whom#—A. Were sent to Wash-
ington. . - :
6. To the Civil Service Commission ¢—A. Yes, sir.
Mr. O’Hara. Mr. Secretary, may I be permitted to make this ex-
slanation, that in none of these questions do I desire to reflect on
- Mr. Lobdell in the slightest degree. - : :
. 'The Secrerary. You want the truth. = -

Mr. O’Hara. It would, seem to me that if thie count of these pas-
sengers largely is reposed in one inspector, and that inspector is not
vouched for by anyone specifically, certainiy by no political position,
that it would seem well within the scope of this inquiry to have those
vouchers sent here by the civil-service committee, in order that this
committee may find out the procedure gone through with with the
insllglelctors to whom largely the count is given.

e Secrerary. No objection in the world. The proceduré is that

. provided by the United States statute for civil-service employees |

“from the highest to the lowest, which is that required by law.
~ Mr. O’Hara. Mr. Secretary, if this young man had been appointed
through political pull, the cry wonld be made that the politicians
- .were responsible. Now, Mr. Secretary, if the politicians would be
suspected, may not the Civil Service lgommission be submitted to at
.least'a reasonable inquiry ¢ . : ’ ‘
The Secrerary. There is no objection in the world, Take this
upon the record. At the request of Lieut. Gov. O'Hara the Civil
Service Commission will be requested to place upon the record the

civil-service examination vouchers required by law of Mr: Lobdell .

.and Mr. Oakley. | ) ' - -
Mr. Carrorr.’ I would like to ask Mr. Lobdell that if any disinter-

ested party on the dock had come to you and asked you how many

people had yeu got aboard would you show them the ticker?
The Wrrness. No. ]

Q. You would not?—A. No, sir.

The Seceerary. Why not? /

‘The Wrrxess, The information,as we inderstand, is for the owners
of vessels only, so no men from the other'boats may come over and find
out how many passengers are being carried. =

The Secrerary. Did you ses or have any talk with the captain of
the vessel before the accident?

The Wirness. No, sir.
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Q. Did you have sny talls with any officer of the vessel itself, and,
if so, what?—A. Only what I have stated before. I was speaking to

Mr. Flatow in regard to.the floating of one or two of the gangplanks.
"Q. Now, Mr. bdell, were the passengers chiefly men or

 women &—A. There were more men than there were women; not a

great majority. _ ‘
Q. You think theré were rather more men than women?—A.
Rather more men than women. . o » -
Q. Did you hear the testimony of Mr. McCreary to the effect that
there were but few infants?—A. I did. " :
Q. Is that so?—A. Well, I judge there were about 15—about 15,
approximately, in arms. ’ IR ‘
Q. Can you say sbout how many children, say, from 5 years to
12 there were?—A. No; I could not; I did not pay much attention
to how many children there were, although I knew there were less—
than they generally carry on excursions. .
Q. Now, Mr. Lobdell, have you told all that you know of this
whole matter ?—A. I believe I have; yes, sir. . o ,
Mr. Carrorr. I would like to ask you, Mr. Lobdell, did you say
that you stood in the gangway? / ‘
-The Wirness. Yes, sir. ' )
Q. As these people were going aboard —A. Yes, sir. .
Q. Naturally, in the course of your duties, you looked across the
ship and noticed how the gangways were on the port side?—A. T
was standing, looking up at the side of the boat until I heard some
screaming inside. I turned around and assured them that everything
was all right. A girl hollered back “The water is coming mn.” 1
could not see on account of the people between mygelf and the other
gangway, I could not see through there. - o
Q. Do you know if the gangway was open on the opposite side?—
A. T stepped on the starboard gangway and brought myself up so
I could see over the heads and the port gangway was open and the
water was coming in about 2 feet. o
Q. Do you know how this gangway is; is it one whole gangway,

~ or is it in halves?—A. It is in four sections.

Q. Four sections?—A. Four deors.

Q. They were open, all of them?—A. All of them.

Q. All four?—A. Yes, sir. ,

Q. Was there a wire screen over the lower portion?—A. Why,
1 do not recollect of them having any wire screen at alt? -

The Secrerary. Now, why did you stand up in order to look
over th?g heads of the pecple there; why did you not look between the -
people :

A. They were too crowded. ) )

- Q. Do you want us to get the impression, then, that at the time she
was turning over so that she was taking water from the port side
gangway, that there was such a crowd on the lower deck that you
could only see the other side of the ship by looking over their
heads?—A. Yes, sir. ' ' .

Q. Now, think very carefully, Mr. Lobdell, about that, because iit
has an important bearing as to where the weights on that ship
were.—A. €Vell, that was when the boat was listed. I believe myself

 the people were afraid te go up; that is what I think.
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Q. And
by the fact, that when she was thus listed to-port, so that. : 8 you

 Qescribe- it, about two feet of water wag comirll)g through- 121‘12 &fn
gangway, there were so many geople on the lower deck that the only

- way you could see across was by

sir.

Q. That is a fact, is it?—A. That is a fact.

Q. And how long after that was it before you jumped into the
water{—A. Well, I turned right around; theyywerg alﬁumping iroi

an& I }um‘ped. - :

Q. You heard Mr. Sullivan’s question, I presume, to Mr. McC

as to the length of time, as I take it, t,haitl;?.this"ﬂtu’rnin oveg t?:ﬁ:
port from the time she started until she, so to speak, plunged, what
18 your impression of that?—A. From the time the last breast line

was thrown off until the boat was on its side, ieve it to-
s thic _ on its side, I beheye it tobe five

% F(i}ve minut;s?«—A. Yes, sir. -
r. UArroLL. 1 would like to ask you what your custom i
regard to counting children, did you. allow two c)l'lildren or bagi%: ::
arms for one person ? . '
aheo Wé'rémss. No, sir. - ‘ ~
. Q. Or did you count them as an individual passengeri—A.
infant or child was counted as an individual Igassen;;t.‘ Ff‘/rery
Q. How did you come by that, how did you come to count them
that way?—A. Those ‘were our instructions, '
Q. Who gave you those instructionsf—A. Mr. McCreary.

_ Mr. Poor. Mr. Lobdell, how many times have you checked the

@E’a’f‘ilangv out? I

e Wirness. I had the Eastland every morning for bet

two and three weeks; I don’t just remember how manygda;; it W;v:en
Q. Were there any large loads approaching the one of last Satur-

day?#—A. No, sir; the largest load I had was the night previous,

when tl;(&y had 1,123 on board. ,

Q. Did you ever observe any of these peculiar listing conditions
existing on previous loads?—A. I had—well, I had noticed a slight
listing. but not listing as much as it did Saturday morning.

Q. That is not to the extent of tipping over!—A. N 0, Sir.

Q. When you left Grand Haven the day before, did you notice
any listing?—A. I did not ride on the boat; I was at the dock: I
checked them on, then reported to the Federal Building in the morn-

m%.{r .(
. WHeELER. May T ask, Mr. Secretary, if in his checki
the Eastland he always checked from the sg’r,ne dock; tha}}‘,?(i:s ?fg tgg
company had, the boat checked always from that same berth? :
A. No, sir; T had always checked it from Rush Street—the Rush
Street Docl, the same as Saturday morning.
Q. And never before from this particular dock?—A. No, sir.
Capt. Van"Parren. How did your account stand when you had
2,000 .{mssengers aboard to the tofal counters registered ? -
A. T do not remember; we had tallied them at 2,400 and Mr.
Oakley was 7 ahead of me and I rhn mine up to equal his.

Q. Diggyou compare registers once in awhile i—A. Yes, sir. Asa

rule we only. have one man counting on board,

you -want'u"s‘tg understand, and to judge of the conditions

looking over their heads?—A. Yes, -
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+Q.. You had twe here?—A. Whea Mr. Oakley came on I asked
to take the count so we could verify it. Sl T
Q. How many decks. has the . Zostland?—A. They have three
proper decks and one deck for the boats for life-saving apparatus. -
Q. Wera there any. passengers on the boat deckt—A. I would not
be able to say, although there was space for passengers. " o
The Secrerary. Mr. Sullivan, any questions? -
" Mr. Surrivan. Yes, sif. '
Q. You say the lines were cast off this boat—all of them{-—A. All
of them~-to my knowledge they were, v - ( .
Q. You say to your knowledge; you say that because the fact is*
that you want us to understand——A. I saw them cast off one—one
breast line, . ,
Q. And by breast line you mean a line about midships?—A. No;
the one nearest to midships. . , :
Q. That is the only one you saw cast off —A. Yes, sir; the others
had been cast off before that. v
Q. Then you know of your own knowledge that every line hold-

- ing that boat to the dock was cast off-—A. I would not say as to the
..stern line. : '

Q. But every line from the bow down to the center of the boat?— "
A. Yes, sir. o

Q. How many lines were aft of the center of the boat originally $—
A. They had three lines, ' ’
Q.?You do not know whether any of those were cast off ¢—A. What
time ‘ : .
" Q. At the time in question that you say you observed the lines; at
the time the lines on the  other part of the boat were cast off—A.
There was only one there when I noticed it; that was after the gang-

- plank pulled in.

© Q. To make it clear, after the gangplank was pulled in you ob-
irvizd the lines and there was but one holding the boat tc the docks?—
/es, Sir. )
Q. A’nd that was a line about in the center of the boat #-—A. Yes,sir.
Q. When you say you had on about 1,700 passengers, the boat
listed toward the dock?—A. Yes, sir. - ;
Q. So much so that passengers could not enter the gangway i—A.
There was only about 3 feet of space between the top of the gang-
plank—the gangplank and the top of the gangway.
Q. And how Jong did you have to suspend taking on passengers?—
A. Why, I should say about 15 seconds. - -
Q. And then she righted herself; is that right?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. When you first began to take on passengers, what time was
it?—A. 6.40.
Q. And when you finished, what time *—A. 7.30.
Q. And except for the incident you have mentioned passengers
came on steadily all that time?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you see Mr. Greenebaum around there; if so, how many
times?—A. T did not. - '
Q. Do you know him ?—A. I do.
Q. How long have you known him?—A. Since I have been work-
ing for the Government. ‘
. You did not see him there at all that morning ¥—A. I did not.
* Q. Did you talk with the chief engineer or captain?—A. No, sir. -
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“@Q. When the boat listed to the dock to the extent you have men-
tioned, did you talk to any of the crew about it?--A. No, sir. '

Q. Have you -ever seen her list to that extent before {—A. Well,
this was & different dock; I could not-gay whether I had or not.

Q. At any dock?—A. I could not tell; I went by the listing of the

" gangplank; if the dock would be higher or lower, there would be a
difference in the list. :

Q. Did you receive notice at any time before Saturday mornin

- that this was to be a record-breaking number of passengers{—A.
understood there were to be about 7,000 to go across in all on the five
. boats about a week before.
Q. When you first began to take on passengers, was the gangplank
on an incline toward the boat?—A. A slight incline.
‘Q. Just a slight incline?—A. Yes, sir. '
Q. And as the passengers went on that incline increased 1—A. No;
. the incline did not increase.

Q. Remained about stationary until she listed?—A. Remained
about stationary; yes sir; until about a quarter after 7 it became a
little more even. '

XheS'SE?CRmARY. Mr. Lobdell, have you been arrested

. Sir :
Have you been arrested?-—A. No, sir.
Any charge been made against you for any misdoing of any
kind #—A. Not that I know of.
" Thee Secrerary. Strike that out; that is a mistnke.
Q. Any questions, gentlemen?
+ (No response.) A ,

The Srceerary. Thank you, Mr. Labdell.

Curris J. OaxLey, a witness, having been first duly sworn by the
Sécretary of Commerce, testified ns follows:

Examination by the Secrerary or Comuerce:

Q. Give your full name and address to the stenographer.—A.
Curtis J. Oakley. , i

Q. State your age—A. Twenty. 6326 Woodlawn Avenue.

‘Q. That is Chicago?—A. Chicago; yes, sir.

Q. What is your occupation, Mr. Ounkley?—A. Novigation in-

ector.

Q. When did you become a navigation inspector?—A. June 26.
- Q). June 26%—A. Yes, sir.

Q). This year?—A. This year.
_Q. Are you a student at the North-Western University I—A. Yes,
sir.
Q. In what class?®—A. I will be & junior next year; I was sopho-
more last year. ,

Q. You are in your junior year at the North-Western Uni-
versity —A. Yes, sir. :
e H

ow did you obtain the appointiment as navigation inspector I—
A. By taking a competitive civil-service examination on March 27.
Q. Where did you take that?—A. In this building.

Q. In this building?—A. On the third floor.
The Secrerary. Mr. Fleming, I wish you would ask the Civil
Service Commission, at your earliest convenience, if they happen
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to have here the records of the voucher of these two gentlemen, if

leage. - . SRR o : :
yng.pDid you furnish the three vouchers required by law as to your
character¥—A. Yes, sir. ‘

Q. Now, state in your own language as clearly as you can what
took place, as far as you personally knew it, in connection with the
gteamer KFastland on the morning of July 24.—A. I arrived at thé

bout 6.30. . :

dog(. 2épeak louder.—A. It was 6.30 when I arrived at the docks
Saturday morning and I found Mr. Lobdell already there. He was
at the aft gangway; I had been detailed to count the forwdrd gang-
way; they only used the one gangway—the rear gangway, and I
took my stand beside Mr. Lobdell and 26 people had come on board
by his counter, and I started counting with him. I set my counter
to 26 and counted along with him, and from time to time we com-
})ared our counters. I noticed I usually ran a little ahead of him—a
i

little ahead of him. Mr. McCreary arrived there‘vabout 8 quarter

q—
mQ. Speak a little louder—A. Mr. McCreary got down there about
a quarter to 7, and stood beside us and left us and came back in a
very little while, and when I reached 2,400 I was 7 ahead of Mr.
Lobdell—that is, my counter was—he told him we_ had taken my
count. Mr. Mcd‘reﬂry asked me to tell him when I reached 2450
and T did so. A few minutes after he told me to go and count the
steamer Petoskey; she was ready to load and the Eastland almost
had her capacity. At 2470 I left the Faatland. 1 saw Mr. Greene-
baum standing on the dock, there, and he asked me if I was ready
to count the passengers on the Petoskey. I said Yes” He said
«T will send them right over.” I went down there #hd got on the
gangway board, the port side; stood at the end of the gangway of
the boat and took on about 120 and the people slackened up and I
stepped out to the end of the gangway to see what the reason was
and I noticed the Kastland listing over, and I slipped down toward
the bow of the Petoskey to get a better view. Her list increased.
She got maybe 30 or 40 degrees; then she started to go; her speed
accelernted—— :

Q. Until she finally——A. Until she finally rested on the bottom
on her side.

Q. Now, let us get the situaticn as clearly as we can. You left the
FEastland, if 1 understand you correctly——A. Yes, sir. )

Q. Before she listed, or had she hegun to list prior to your leaving
her?—A. I had neticed that list, Mr. Lobdell spoke about it.

Q. You noticed the list toward the gtarboard side—A. Yes, sir.

Q). How would you describe yourself the extent of that list—A.
Well, she went down until the water was about a foot and one-half
from that entrance of the gangway, the gangplank had risen due to
the boat tipping over to the side until the people could not get on,
maybe 4 féet between the top of the gangplank, the gangplank.

). Now, describe that list.—A. It was slow, it went over slow,
righted herself slowly; two or thres minutes I should say.

Q. Do I understand that you left her and went to the Petoskey
before she began to list to porti—A. T had not noticed the list.

Q. Now, the Petoskey was immediately in the rear, on the same
gide of the river, is that right?—A. Yes, sic.
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Q. And I understood you to say that a8 soon as your attention e

~ called to the condition of affairs on the Eastland you went to the Liow

of the Petoskey—A. 1 stepgd down 20 to 25 feet from the gangway, |

-about midship of the Petoskey at the dock when she went over.

Q. Did you stand there upon the bow of the Pefoskey and observe |

the Eastland go over?—A. On the dock. : o .

Q. You were on the dock near the bow, is that it?—A. About mid-
ship of the Petoskey when I saw her go over.

& Did you have a clear unobstructed view of her?—A. T should
say that I had. ) ’

Q. Was there nothing between you and the Eastland to conceal
what wpened from yout—A. No, sir. '

. at courses do you take in college?—A. I have been taking
liberal arts. - : '
Q. What are your courses of the last year?—A. I have physics.

Q. Physics?—A. And trigonometry and analytical geometry.

Q. Trigonometry, analytical geometry, go on.—A. And French.
Q. Yes—A. And history. ’

Q. What branch of physics have you studied?—A. General

physics, physics A. _ :

é.- Was it your mathematical training that made you state a few
minutes ago of the number of degrees to which the ship listed ¢—

A. T do not know, it may have been.

Q. T ask that simply to know-—what I am trying to fintl out, is the
reliance that you may place as the result of your education upon your
observation, that is all.—A. It was about thirty or forty degrees, I
should say.

- Q. Now, describe in your own way the motion with which the
Eastland turned over.—A. When I saw her she was listed just abput
that much [indicating]; she started slow.

Q. (Indicating.) How would you say in degrees?—A. About 10°
when I first saw her. :

Q. 1t is vour judgment she was listed to port about 10° when you
first saw her?—A. Yes, sir. .

- Q. Now describe it in your own way.—A. She went slowlv up to
about 40°; by that time I saw people scramble over the side and
slide down in the water; when she reached 45° she went with a rush;
I should say it took about three or four minutes from the time T first
saw her. ‘

. Q. Inasmuch as you had an unobstructed view, tell us if vou saw
_any such movement on the part of the passengers of the FEastlond
as would account for the sudden acceleration in her movements which
you have described.—A. T do not know any; in the start T conld see
the passengers to the stern and along the starhoard side; that isall I
could see.

Q. Could you see the topmost or boat deck on the Fastlond?—

Yes. sir. )

Q. Were there passengers on that?—A. There were several to the
stern, on the rear part. : ‘

Q. Several%—A. The lifeboats on the side; none outside the life-
boats: there may have been some inside next to the funnel; I did not
see them; it was impossible to see them from my position.

Q. Were there any passengers on the lower deck of the Fastland P—
A. Do you mean the main deck—the deck they boarded?t
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. Yes—A. I presume there were.: R
8: But did ymll) fiee————‘A. The gangway was crowded, and that
i I could see—the: ay.. . .o Co
lsal.l The gangwa of the myiain deck was crowded—A. That is
inclosed in the hull—the main deck. oo

Q. Let us see if we get your observation right. Do the local board
understand you as meaning that on the main deck there were some
people—the gangway, as you describe it, being crowded?—A. Yes,

r. N
“ Q. That on the deck above that there were still other peoplef—

. Yes, sir.

A Q. And on the deck above that, or the boat deck, there were a few
pecplei—A. Yes, sir; on the stern; that is all I seen.

Q. Now, you are studying to be a naval architect, are you not?—

. Yes, sir. ‘ L .
AQ. Now tell us what you saw as to the distribution of weights at
that time?—A. Well, I should suy it was pretty evenly distributed.

Q. Do you mean by that——A. I couldn’t see the outer side of
the boat at all; I couldn’t see how many were on there.

- Q. We understand you are speaking now only of the rear part of
the vessel, the stern.—A. Yes, sir. -

'Q. And on that do I understand you correctly to say that you
think the weights were pretty evenly distributed between the three
decks?—A. Yes, sir. %

Q. Well, now, would I understand you correctly?—A. Well, I
ghould say there were more people underneath the boat deck and the
deck immediately below the boat deck than there were on the top
deck, considerably more.

Q. And do you still wish us to understand that there were also
gome people on the lower or main deck$—A. T imagine there were.
I couldn’t see over the gangway into the hull, and that was crowded.

Q. You could only see the gangway#—A. Yes. .

Q. And that was crowded on the lower deck #—A- Yes, sir.

Q. So that it would be an incorrect statement of what you saw
to say that the weight was in any one place, would it?—A. I think
it would. ‘ o

Q. Now, have you made in the course of your studies any calcu-

- lations as to the distribution of weights on board ships?—A. I have

not so far. I haven’t reached that stage. .

Q. Have you made for your own use any estimate of what 2,500
passengers would weigh?—A. No, sir.

Q. I beg your pardonf—A. No, sir.

Q. You have not. Had you ever been though the Eastland your-
gelf to examine her?—A. I have never been below the main deck. I

‘have walked over, and T have never been on the boat deck.

Secretary Reorrerp. Any questionst . :

id: SU?;.IVAN. Did youymake a record in writing of the number
of passengers that went aboard, say, every 15 minutes, or 10 minutes,
or 20 minutes? . :

The Wrrness. No, sir. o )

Q. The only record you have is what is recorded on this ma-
chinet—A. Yes, sir. ; .

lQ. Do you ::,call now how many went abeard the first 15, minutes,
wo will say, or any given time?—A. There was 1,026 by T o’clock.
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VQ., You were then takiﬁg on passengers about 20 ‘minutesi-=A,
Yes, sir. : : I

Q. Then, by 7.15 I am told there were 1,700 on' board?—A. I

didn’t notice my counter then. ;
Q. You don’t know that?—A. I couldn’t swear how many there
were. .

Q. And at 7.20 you don’t know how many there were on board §—
A. No, sir. . ¥ :

Q. Do you recall the condition of the lines of this boat, as to
whether they were off or on at any particular time?—A. I néted
one line when she was keeling over, «nd that was attached to the
stern. It is called the—— :

Q. Keep your voice up.—A. It is a line attached to the stern and

it comes up toward amidships. That is the only line I noted on |

the boat. That is called the breast line. ,
Q. That is the only one you noted?—A. Yes, sir. :

.. Q. You and Mr. Lobdell have talked over that question about the
_~lines, have you, yourselves, before now ¢—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You both agreed that there was just one line on the boat$—A. :

Yes, sir.

Q. How long have you known Mr. Greenebaum?—A. Since
June 26. ‘ -

Q. When did he first appear on the dock?—A. Do you mean

Saturday. morning?
® . Q. Yes.—A. Well, I conldn’t say as to that; the firit time I——
o 7 A). How—A. T couldn’t say what time. ‘ . , :
+7 " Q. What time did you see him, about ?—A. About 7.30, when I left
the boat to count on the Petoskey.

NQ. Did you talk to him about the number of people aboard?—A.

o, sir. :

é. Did you know before this morning that this was to be the
largest crowd the boat could carry?—A. We had had word from
Mr. Greenebaum abont two weeks previons.

Q. What did he say to you?—A. The information came throneh
‘Mr. Lahey—Inspector Lahey—that he was to carry a crowd of West-
ern Electric people to Michigan City in five boats.

Q. Did he say how many, how large a erowd ?—A\. Somewhere in
the neighborhood of six or seven thousand.

Q. Did you make any note mentally of the probable number of
children under 12 years of age?—A. I should say there were some-
where around 90.

Q. Did anybody ask you to make any note of that?—A. No, sir.

Q. Then, why did you make that estimate? —A. Because of the
fact that there were 2,408 tickets counted by Mr. ( rreenebaum, and
then, from 2,500, that would lenve 92 children under the age of 12.

Q. You don’t know the number of tickets counted until some time
after the accident?—A. No, sir. .

Q. You have learned that since, and since then you make that esti-
mate?—A. Yes, sir. ©

Q. Two children under 12 were admitted for one adult ticket; is
that right?—A. No, sir. .

Q. Is that right?—A. No, sir.

Q. How do you know?—A. We count one child as——
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Mr. TaurMAN. You ar; confused between the tickets and his
co‘]l&il:.e réULLIVAN. I mean the regul;ar boat ticket sold-in the tickét
(,)mé::éreta Reprierp. Did you know that, Mr. Oakley? Have you
any knowledge of what the rules were as regards the number of
ticTﬁt:%’Vrmnss. I do not, not only v;lhat I have heard thaﬁ two chil-

‘dren between—— -

Q. Well, do you know of your own knowledge whether two
children were counted as one adult, as regards the tickets or not¥—
A. Between the ages of 5 and 12 they have to pay half fare.

Q. You know that%—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. But you didn’t count them as——A. No, sir.

Q. As others and separate persons, did you?—A. Separate
persons. - )

Secretary Repriep. All right. )

Mr. Svurivan. You say you know there were ninety-two, because
there were 2,408 regular ticlkets? '

A. There must have been—I don’t know— there must have been.

Q. There must have been?—A. I know there were 2,500 on board.

Q. You resson there were 2,500 on board solely from the number
of passenger tickets, or from your own record?—A. From my own
count.

Q. From what?—A. From Mr. Lobdell’s count. ~ I counted 2,470
when I left. . , .

Q. Did you talk to Mr. Greenebaum snd his concern about tlps
event—your testimony?—A. No, sir; I have talked to Mr. Loftis,
who is connected with them, with him, you know.

Q. In the employ of these people?——A. The Indiana Transporta-
tion Co. v

Q. You went over your testimony with him8—A. No, sir; he told
me_about there being 2,408 tickets, of the counted tickets.

Q. So from his say so you estimate the number of children under
121-—A. Yes, sir. .

Secretary Reprierp. No, sir; excuse me, that is an assertion, and
not & question. Alter your question.

Mr. Survivan. Is that a fact, Mr. Witness? ]

A. What is it? -

Q. That you estimate the number of children on board from what
you were told by Mr. Loftis?—A. T estimate my statement from the
fact that I knew from Mr. Loftis that they counted 2,408 tickets, the
tickets taken at the gangway of the Eastland, and I knew that there
were 2,500 on board. It is a mere subtraction, will give you 92.

Q. A little mental arithmetic?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And from that you figure the number of children?—A. Yes;
there didn’t appear to be many getting aboard ; I noticed that.

Mr. Tourman. When did you have this conversation with Mr.
Loftist? ) )

A. It was yesterday morning, I think. I believe Mr. McCreary
sent me down to find out about the tickets. ‘

Q. Mr. McCreary sent you to Mr. Loftis to find out about the
tickets?—A. He sent me down to the Indiana Transportation Co.
to see Mr. Greenebaum, but Mr. Greenebaum wasn’t in. ‘
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Q. What specific instructions did Mr. McCreary give you?—A, |

He told me to find out. if all the tickets sold were good on any bosat?
I found out that they weve. - . - Ce T e

Q. Did you ask for this informatioh in regard to the number of
- adult tickets sold? Did you ask Mr. Loftis that or did he volunteer:

that?—A. I asked him for the number of tickets taken on the Kast:

land gangway. : .
Q. And he told you how many —A. 2,408, T i
Q. Did you have any specific conversation with him ig regard to'
babies or children?—A. No, sir. '
Secretary ReprieLp. Mr. McCreary ? ) :
Mr. McCreary. Yes, sir. - » - L
L %e_cr;etary Reprirern. Why did you send Mr. Oakley to see Mr.
oftis? . ! ‘ i '
Mr. McCreary. To see who!?
Secretary ReprieLp, Mr. Loftis, wasn’t it ?
The Wrrxess. He sent me, sir.

Mr, McCreasry. Wllcly, I saw these statements in the paper about
r.

the State attorney, Hoyne, finding a lot of tickets, and the
newspaper asked me where he got them, and I called up—I asked

Oalkley if those tickets were used on the Petoskey, and if the same |

tickets: were used on the Petoskey that were good on the Fastland,
and he told me that they were, and T saw the crowd going over to
the Petoskey, and T knew myself that they were passed right along,

and that those tickets were good on the Petoskey, and he.said he -

understood that they were good on any boat, so I said, “ You go’
down and ask about those tickets and see if those tickets that were
used and issued for the Fastland could be used on any boat,” as there
were several thousand of them sold. S '

, Secretary Reprierp. Is that a correct statement, Mr. Oakley ?
The WrrxEss. Yes. ' S

Secretary ReprieLp. Any further questions?

Mr., SuLLivan. Mr. Loftis told Jyou there were 2,408 tickets sold?
The W ITNESS. Yes, sir; he didn't say they were sold, he said there
“were 2,408 tickets at the gangway of the Fastland, '

tions?

Mr. SaBaTH. What is your age?

The Wirness. Twenty.

Q. Sir?—A. Twenty years.

Q. Twenty years?—A. Twenty; yes.

en did. you take this examination?—A. March 27,

Q. This year?—A. This year. '

Q. Who called your attention to the fact that an examination
would be held for that position?—A. Why, no one. I noticed an
examination poster in University Hall. That is one of the buildings
at Northwestern University.

Secretary Reormero. I will tell you, Mr. Sabath. I am very glad
you asked the (}uestion, though if any objection is made, I won’t put
1t in, because I am not yet under oath myself; but we caused to
be circulated among all the universities of the United States special
notice of this new force of inspectors about to be appointed, be-
cause we desired to get university-trained men, and we were for-
tunate in getting one-third of tha entire force in that way.

RN

Secretary ReprieLo, Mr. Sabath, do you wish to ask any ques- '
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Mr: SapatH. T asked that question in view of some other ques-

" tions that have been asked. -

. ou obliged to make report each and every day as to the'
nu?nbzg ?fe yassenge%s carried on each and every boat?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. To wﬁom did you make that report?—A. Do you mean the
ort ¢ ‘ )
Eaéﬂ‘gg?ﬁ% The report of the passengers carried on the East-
zmal.?The number of passengers carried on the boat to which you
were assigned?—A. I made the report out on a card, Thada special
card on which a report is made, and it is turned in to Mr. Me-
in this building. . . » :
Crg‘r{s it signed by you %—A. And signed by myself. ’ ;
Secretary %EDFIELD. We keep, Mr. Sabath, a complete record o
every trip of every boat, and we will be very glad at any time to in-
form you or others just how many passengers each vessel had on each

trip. . ..
. SaaTH. Mr. Secretary, why I asked that question is because
I gﬂl %age the request in 5?914 for ({he report of the number of
assengers of all the lake steamers, and I have received such report;
ll))ut I have not received the report on this vessel.
Secretary Reprrern. We will be very glad to furnish anything you

" wish.

ATH. Yes; and I wanted to know how these reports are
cog;ilgitn:nd by Wh’om, because I noticed in some of the reports that
these reports are made by the navigation companies that reached me,
and I wanted to know whether the department keeps the record.

Q. "Have you made a report of the number of people on t}us un-
fortunate vessel last Saturday?—A. Yes, sir; I haye turned xt: in to

" Mr. McCreary. '

, ’ would you make that report and send the report in—
ev&‘&%g;'v (s)go__n A. Every day we go uE, to the office on the fourth
floor, after the morning boat, and make out these reports. It is

- usually about half past 10 that we get there.

Q. What are your. duties there; merely to check the number df'
?—A. Principally; yes.” = ’ 7 .
paaS.e nAgz;s other dxﬁtiesg——g.,% don’t believe there are. I couldn’t-
say that there are any other duties. I don’t know of any.
Q. You belong to that department only *—A. Yes, sir.
Q. You are sent down there to keep——A. Qheck on the pas-
kw&el’f"o keep check on the number of passengers boarding a boat?—
A. Yes, sir. ‘ ' for the
Repriewn. Now, Mr. McCreary, please tell us for the
regi'c({extvaﬁ‘gt, y(ﬁlr custom is as to keeping a record of the number of
passengers carried on the trips of vessels, how you do it, where it is, ‘
bout it. _ ‘
nngfﬁuﬁcgl:miny. The Department of Commerce furnishes us with
cards which contain the number of passengers, the name of the boat,
and date and time, etc., number of passengers allowed, whether
‘counted on or off the dock, and when our inspectors make the count
they fill out these cards, and they are made out—the department in- “
structs them, through me, to make them out in duplicate. They are

sent to the commissioner of navigation in duplicate, but the in-
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spectors are instructed to make them out in triplicate, to keep one jn

my office and send two to the commissioner of navigation ; that is, of
the vessels' whose number of passengers is regulated by a certificate
of inspection. } : , . , e
. _Segcretary Reorierp. So that you have a complete record of every
rip A

Mr. McCreary. Absolutel{. , o

‘Secretary Reorierp. I will state upon the record that it is my
- personal habit in' visiting different waters to conduct surprise tests
of overcrowded vessels, those which seem to be crowded, by calling
unexpectedly for the record of that trip, in different parts of the
country at different times. On the Delaware River récently I ob-
served a vessel of the Wilmington Line, which seemed to be over-
crowded. Upon calling immediately for the record of that trip,
which at the time I observed it was incomplete—I mean the trip was

incomplete—I found that my observation was so poor that I wag §
something like 600 off—the vessel was somiething like 600 inside of

her limit. :

Any further q}‘u{estions of Mr. Oakley? ‘ ,

Mr. O’Hara. How many on your register or your counter; how
many did you actually register last Saturday on the Fastland ’

A. Twenty-four hundred and seventy: that is, when I left.

Q. Twenty-four hundred and seventy ?—A. That is, when T left.
PQ. I:&nd then you left?—A. To count the passengers going on the

etosleey. ; .

Q. Then’ {ou left the Eastland before the boat had been fully and
completely loaded ?—A. Yes, sir. :

Q. When you left did you turn your register or counter over to
some one else ; some other mspectorf—A. No, sir; I kept the counter.

Q. What inspector did you leave behind¢—A. Inspector L. A.
Lobdell. - , o

Q. Then, after you had counted twenty-four hundred and sev-

enty, Mr. Lobdell was the only inspector there, so far as you know!—

A. And Mr. McCreary was there.
" Q. Did Mr. McCreary have a register or a counter?—A. I couldn't
-swear as to that. ‘
Q. I beg your pardon?-—A. I couldn’t swear as to that.
Secretary ReprreLp. That is in the testimony.
* Mr. O’Hara. That he was there? - -

Secretary Reprierp, Yes; it is in the record that he was right

there. You had one, didn’t you?  [Addressing Mr. McCreary.]
Mr. McCreary. I always carry one.
Mr. O’Hara. What did you do with vour counter when you left
the boat? You took it with you to the Pefoskey? o
A. I took it with me; yes, sir.
. Q: Now your counter is similar to this? [Indicating.]—A. Yes,
sir. S ‘
Q. It has no register for the thousands?—A. It goed up to nine
. hundred and ninety-nine, and then turns to zero, all of the numbers.
" Q. And the thousands you keep——A. Track of.
Q. Mental arithmetic of?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Then if you, being a sole counter of a boat, were to forget a
thousand or two, that number of extra passengers could get on the
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boat?—A. It would be possible, but it is not likely that anyone
would forget. ' ) : T
..Q. But 1t would be possible? You took the civil-service examina-
tion?—A. Yes, sir. ‘ '
Q. As far as you know, no political influence was used in getting
your appointment?—A. No, sir. As far as I know, no political in-
fluence was used. : .

-Q. What is the age requirement under the civil-service rules?—

-A. Well, I believe it is from 20 to 40 for this particular examination.

- Q. From 20 to 40. Now do you recall what examination is given
by the Civil Service Commission under the head of experiencei—
A. None at all.

Q. Do you recall—I presume you do—do you recall what weight
was given by the Civil Service Commissioners to your college edu-
cation —A. I don’t believe that any weight was given to it.

Q. Now, as a matter of fact, may I ask, did you find this summer

in this position that your college education sided you?—A. I don’t
believe that it really has. A : :

Q. Did your duty consist of any other than checking just as the
passengers passed by you! Did iVlrou have any other duties?—A.
Well, we have the supervising of the motor boats over 65 feet. We
have to board them and see that they have everything required by -
special motor-boat law. The steainboat inspectors have control of
the boats greater than 65 feet. . .

Q. But the question that I would like to ask you is this: Have you
found in this position that any other requirements were necessary
gther than honesty and common sense?—A. I don’t believe that I

ave.

Mr. O’Hara. Thank %ou, sir. That is all.

Secretary Reprierp. That is all, Mr. Oakley.

(Witness excused.)

. Roy L. Pecg, called as a’ witness herein, having been first duly

| - sworn, testified as follows:

Examination by Secretary Reprrerp: _

Q. Will you give your full name and address?—A. Roy L. Peck.
My residence is 324 North Cuyler Avenue, Oak Park.

Q. Mr. Peck, what is your present occupation?—A. Chief mechan-
ical engineer of the Great Lakes Dredge & Dock Co. )
Q. Now, will you kindly begin at your work in life and tell us
your working histery—what your first job was; I don’t want to go
into too much detail—and where you started, and what you did up
to the present time. We needn’t count days or weeks or months, but

in general.—A. Well, that is a pretty long history.

Q. It doesn’t look it, Mr. Peck.—A. I am 52 years old.

Q. Well, I want to get your experience on the record—A. Well, I
siarted in in the early eighties on ships running out ¢f the port of
New York, between New York and Habana, Mexico, New Orleans,
working in the engine department. Finally worked my way up to
holding a license as engineer. From assistant engineer to chief
engineer. . And in 1888 I came up on the Great Lakes—chief engineer

. of the steamer Owego, and ran her a couple of years—and then I
T 22850—16—4 ~
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accepted a position ashore in a large flour mill in Milwaukee. ;]
remained there several years. | . . S
Q. As engineer?—A. As engineer. I had considerable to do with
rebuilding of the engine at that time—remodeling it so as to make it
" more economical and more satisfactory in its work. Then I after.
- wards went steamboating again on the Great Lakes. 1 was with the
Lehigh Valley Line on one of their steamers for a while, and then
~ the Minnesota Line. Afterwards this line became the Steel Trust
Line, and I was several years in their ships. ' o
Q. As engineer?—A. As chief engineer. Finally I came to Chi-
cago, in 1895, as chief engineer of the Leopold & Austrian Line, and
ran their steamer M anitou during the season of navigation as a pas-
senger steamer to Mackinaw Island, which was about three months
every Isiear. B ’ . . T
Q. How long did you remain as chief engineer of the Manitouf—
A. T was nine years on the Manitou. In 1903 I took the examination
and was appointed local inspector of boilers in this district, Chicago.
Q. In tﬁe Steamboat-Inspection Service?—A. In the Steamboat:
Inspfction Service, and I remained in that service for 10 years, very
mearly. - :
Q. YHere in Chicago?—A.. Here in Chicago.
Q. Then what?—A. When I left the service I accepted my present
position with the Great Lakes Dredge & Dock Co.
Secretary Reprierp. We will now adjourn to convene at 2 o’clock

~ p.- m., and the examination of Mr. Peck will be continued at that time. |

(Thereupon a recess was taken (at 12.50 p. m.) until 2 o’clock p. .
of the same day.) ' :

AFTER RECESS.

Parties met pursuant to adjoumment.
Present, same as before.

_ Rov L. Peck resumed the stand for further examination and testi-
fied further, as follows: : .

Examined by Secretary Reprierp:

Q. Mr. Peck, I understood you to testify that you entered the
boat-inspection service by taking a civil service examination. Now,
, is that quite the whole of it? Isn’t there a little more detail that
should be given?—A. Yes; perhaps I had better detail it a little more.

Q. Tell the whole detail—A. T received g temporary appointment
as local inspector of boilers on the 30th of April; as I understand the
situation, at that time there was no eligible list, there was no boiler
inspectors on the eligible list for appointment in this districi, and I
. received a temporary appointment, and while under temporary ap-
pointment I took the examination and later was permanently ap-
pointed as a result of that examination. - - '

Q. Do you understand that that is the ordinary and usual course
whe‘g there are no eligible names on the list?--A. So I have under-
stood. ‘ .

Q. Now, I wish you would state, as fully as you can and as nearly
as you can, what your personal contact has been with the steamer
Eastland. I am not at the moment asking what you did in connec-
tion with her, but simply for the moment trying to learn how familiar

Cd
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you are with the vessel—A. Well, I was Jocal inspector of boilers
when the steamer first came here in 1903. She received her first in-
‘spection, of course, at Port Huron. . . )
Q. Pardon my interrupting you, but when you suggest somethin
to me it is your fault and not mine. Why do you say “of course”
You said, as I understand, she received her first inspection, of course,
at Port Huron. Now, what do you mean by “ of course ”¢—A. Well,
because she was built there. : i
Q. Well, what does that mean?—A. Well, a steamer must be in-
spected before she goes out at all. S
Q. By what service?—A. By this service, this Steamboat-Inspec-
tion Service. . )
Q. That is what these gentlemen want to know. You mean to

' imply by that that it is a rule and custom that before she leaves the

yard where she is l%;ilt she receives an inspection.—A. She must be
mspected—boilers, hulls, and equipment. . ’

. Go on—A. We inspected the ship while I was inspector three
times, I believe, in 1904, in 1905, and in 1906, and I went across the
lake on her a great many times in those three or four years.

Q. Now, try and think, because we are very anxious to be just as
clear and specific as possible. When you say “a great many times”
you know that may mean many hundreds or many thousands. What
were a great many times?—A. Well, I would venture to say that I
crossed the lake on the Eestland pmﬁably 12 or 15 times in the four
or five years that she was here.

Q. From 12.to 15 times?—A. Yes, sir. -

- Q. Let me ask was that all in smooth weather?—A. In all kinds
of weather, just whatever it happened to be. Of course, in the sum-
mer we generally have pretty good weather, but occasionally toward
the end of the season you will have a little blow.

Q. T do not want to interrupt you, but does it happen to be a fact
that on any of these occasions when you were crossing the lake .on
her there was rough weather?—A. Yes; { remember of crossing the
Inke on her when it was rough. ,

Q. So you can speak from knowledge of the behavior of the ship in
sen weather, can you?—A. Yes, sir. \

Q. Now, go on.—A. Well, in the number of times that I crossed
the lake on her I have only one recollection of her ever having listed
in the manner which I thought was peculiar or strange, and that was
the first time I ever went on her, the first Sunday that she ever went
across. When we got to the dock at South Haven and the crowd
began to go off she listed toward the dock, and that is the first time I

' evg e;cyperienced.anything of that sort on a ship of her class.

ow, you saw that, did you?—A. Yes, sir. It did not alarm
me any, but it struck me as being rather peculiar.

Q. Did you happen to know why that happened 2—A. Well, I be-
lieved it was because she did not carry any water ballast at the time;
the water ballast was all out of her, they said.

Q. Who said that?—A. The engineer-and the captain, because the
water was quite shallow at the entrance to the dock. ,

Q. Let me ask you and see if I get you correctly. She was in shoal
water then in the harbor was she 5—-—1&. Yes, sir.

Q. And the engineer and the captain of the Fastland told you that
they let the water out of her ballast tanks, and you personally know
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that undei' that condition, so described, she listed to starboard #—A.
She listed to starboard at that time; yes. o C

Q. Now, as an engineer of long practice on the lakes,. is it your be:

lief that that was a true explanation?—A. Oh, yes; I have no.doubt
. of it, because I know that it has been necessary, it was necessary af.' ’

terwards to carry that water ballast, if she had a big load of passen-
gers on to keep her straight. v "y

Q. Can you speak from knowledge as to just the largest number
of passengers you ever knew the Easéiland to have?--A. The Hast-
land to have? Well, when I rode across the lake on her she liad in
the neighborhood of 3,000 people. I could not exactly remember,
2,900 or maybe 2,800 to 3,000 people. '

Q. You were on her crossing the lake whén she had over’ 2,800

- people on her?—A. Yes, sir. - : .
Q. How did, she behave?—A. I never saw anything out of i
ordinary with her on any trip that I was on her excepting the first
-, time. : : Co o
».. Q. I want you to be very careful. Did she list when she had 2,800
eople on her?—A. Noj; I never saw her list excepting there would
e a strong wind on one side or the other, then she did lean over a
little bit with the wind. = .
Q. Now, do I understand you correctly, as a matter of fact the
‘only listing you ever saw on her was in the harbor you speak of#-—
"A. All T have ever seen was at the harbor.

Q. And do T understand correctly that when she listed in the -

. harbor she had a less load on her than she had when you afterward
traveled on her without listing?—A. Yes; T think 1 understand
you. : A

Q.- So, as an engineer, it has been your experience as to the vessel
that she listed with a less load than you have personally seen her
carry !—A. Yes. \ ' '

Q. WitKout listing1—A. Yes.

Q. Now, how do you account for that?—A. The only way I have
ever been able to account for her listing was because of the fact they
would not have a water ballast in her. ' . .

Q. You account for the fact that the Eaeastland listed with a smaller
. load than you have seen her carry without listing because she did

not have water ballast?—A. Yes, sir.

Secretary Reprrerp. I think at this time I will ask Capt. Westcott
to take the oath. Is Capt. Westcott here?

A Voice. Yes, sir.

(Witness excused temporarily.)

Capt. Cusries H. Westcorr, called as a witness by the board,

being first duly sworn by Secretary-Redfield, testified as follows:
- Examined by Secretary Rengierp:

Q. Captain, will: you be kind enough to give your full name, ad-
dress, and age to the stenographer.—A. Charles H. Westcott; resi-
d'((mce address, St. Clair, Mich.; office address, Detroit, Mich.; age,
67 years. g

- Q. What is your occupatnon,w Capt. Westcotti—A. United States
supervising inspector of steam vessels.

" -Q. And your office is where?—A. At Detroit, Mich.

“A. By President Harrison. .

President McKin

* Q. All freighters?-—A. Yes, sir.

L
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Q. What area is within your jurisdiction?—A. _All of the waters
north and west of Lake Erie, on the Great Lakes. : ) .
Q. Including’T®ke Huron, Lake Michigan, and Lake Superiorf—
A. And all the connecting waters; yes, sir. L -

Q. By whom were you first appointed supervising inspector ¢—
Q. You were removed under President Cleveland, were you not [
A. Yes, sir; for about three years. . o

Q. By whom, were you reappointed ¢—A. President McKinley.

Q. And have you been continuously in the service ever since

{;y reappointed you?—A. Yes, sir. ’ V

Q. Were any charges made against you of any character !—A. No,
sir. :

Q. Now, while we are on this subject, I wish you would start as
Mr. Peck did, at your young manhood, and tell your experience.
Where did you begin and what did you do?—A. I was a boy on a
farm. My parents were very poor. I don’t suppose that is necessary,
however. - o o

Q. Speak up loud so all of these gentlemen can hear. Mr. Sulli-
van is very much interested—A. I began sailing very young, I think
about 12 or 13 years of age. v . .

Q. You began on the water at 12 or 137—A. Yes, sir; the first

osition I had was carrying foed to-the deck on a steamer running

tween Detroit and Saginuw, and I worked alo_ng in different
capacities during that tinie. My father was a shipbuilder afterwards
and built ships for Capt. E. B. Ward. ] ,, )

Q. Your father was a shipbuilder#—A. Yes, sir; and when Idid
not feel particularly tired or did not want a particularly easy job I
worked in the yards; whenever I got tired I went to sailing.
worked along, and in 1873 I got my first license as a master. )

Q. What kind of a master’s license did you geti—A. Covering
the northwestern lake district. ) o .

Q. I beg your -pardon.—A. I think the first one was limited a
little bit, but I think in 1872 T got one covering the whole north-.
western lakes as a first-class master; then I was sailing from St.
Clair. ' : ' i o . o

Q. What do you mean? How did you get that license? Wait just
a moment.—A. I got it from the local inspectors. .

Q. Did they give it to you for the asking?—A. No; they gave it
to me after an examination. . . ' '

Q. Now, what did you do when you got your license?—A. What
work . '

Q. Yes, sir—A. I took command of a steamer called the S¢. Clair,
running from Lake Erie to Lake Superior ports. -

Q. Ifow long did you stay on her?—A. Two years, I think.

Q. What did you do next?—A. I followed up, in line, and sailed
» vessel called the George H. Ward, one called the Alice H. Richards,
the Lowell, and was sailing a sailing steamer called the AZpine when
this position was offered to me. ‘

Q. Now tell us about these vessels. Were they tugs?—A. No, sir;
they were all freighters, general freighters.

e,
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Q. How big were theyt—A. Well, commencing in' 1873 the ves-
sels yunning were not of very large tonnage, from 300 to 500 tons;
that is the rigistered tonnage I refer to. ,

Q. Yes—A. And coming along up to 1873 we had vessels on the
lake havin]g about a 2,000-ton capacity, but I never sailed one of
those vessels. :

. Q. Now, did you take a cheap job in that Alpina position t—A. No,
sir; I was getting $1,800 a year on that and the Lowell, which I
think was as great as any salary at that time on the Lakes.

Q. How did you come to appointed inspector{—A. Well, I
was in Bay City with my tow; I harF o tow of three steamers behind
this, and I received a letter from Detroit that Capt. Joseph Cook
had died, supervising inspector, and if T wanted the position eome
to Detroit and take it. .

Q. Who wrote you that letter 7—A. Tt was written by my brother,
who was a general marine man in Detroit, but he had been told so
lﬁ' ople . that were connected with—I think with Senator Me-

illan’s office. :

Q. Did you go to Detroit?—A. So I did not even know Senator
‘McMillan or any of his family. No, sir; T went on down the lake,
and got another letter that they wanted me to answer it 20 miles
below there, but I didn’t do that; I was not even courteous, I had
no thought of a political job, and when I got to Cleveland T told
the vessel owners and some of my friends about it, and they advised
me to come back and to take it, and I went back to Detroit and took
it, and T have never sailed since.

. Q. How many times can you say, with safety, that you have seen

- the steamer Eastland?—A. 1 don't know that I ever saw the steamer
Eostland excepting in Chicago Creek or River.

- Q. How many times did you see her there?—A. Oh, in the round
of the lakes that I make frequently I look over boats, and I might
explain further back, however, in former years the supervising in-
spector had a semimonthly report to make naming the vessels via-
ited, and it was one of my duties to do that, and when I would get
to Chicago T would go down on the docks and look over the hoats,
and I remember of being on the Faatland several times; T wonld not
want to say whether 6 or 12. :

Q. Well, wag it six?—A. Well, certainly as much as six.

Q. And perhaps not over 12%—A. Oh, it is a good while ago, and
T have no records, the records have all been burned up.

Q. But you think it was six?—A. I think unquestionably.

Q. So you think yon could say that you saw the Fastland six

times?»—-l. Oh, T think so; always on the dock. ‘

Q. It was not §0ur duty as supervising inspector to inspect ves-

- gels, was it*—A. No, sir; absolutely not.

Q. Now, did you ever receive a complaint about the Eastland ?—

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How many?—A. I am very positive that T never received but
the one complaint; I did not know that I had received that until I
-went through my files, and had my clerk in Detroit do so, and we
found out that I had one under file. It was from a man by the
name of Schmitt.

é
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Q. Suppose I read you a letter written to you ““,‘.i., ask g)u if y.m{
can identify that as the complaint that you received —A. Yes, sir; .
have & file with me covering that. . .

Q. That is a photograph of the original t—A. Yes, sir; I have a

A . . )
file in my package here covering that same case. .

Q. T will read the letter, which will be made a portion of the
gord: Cricaco, August 6, 1906,
o the Hon. L. M. Suaw,

Sceretary of the United States Treasury,
emetery of Waahington, D. O. tient
Lake Michigan
g Sme: On Sunday, August 5, 1808, I tn‘ok n trip across
onl')trl:;‘e- gteamship FHestland, running betwees Chlcago and South Haven, Mich,,
end going over the steamer was more than overcrowded, and it is no exaggera-
tion to state that the people were packed llke H?:l"lnmi and 1t was neceasary to
¢ on the promenade deck so as to get fresh alr, ,
ng{:t";(: ﬁ‘mrmml tlr:nt there 18 n United Stutes Inw which only allows & certain
amount of people to be carrled on excurslon boats, If 8o, no attention is paid to
j enforced. N
ga!;;e‘:l‘nm only this steamer, hut all other excursion boats leaving Chicago on
# have the same overcrowded condltions,
sul(:?ﬁue of @ fire or anything to create n panie, the calamity would be aomei
thing terrible; and the responsihility would he placed to your department ; as
orstnnd that it comes under your jurisdiction. .
unihlmvlzr always heen under the impression that the Um'tﬂ'l Staten laws vam .
gtrictly enforced, especially when pertaining to the public's welfare and '?lti etty'.
put this law might us well be repealed, and trust to luck that no acciden
will occur. .

Reapectfully, yours, Gronox J. SCHMITT.

Q. Now, this letter is marked * Received Sbenmbnnblnsp(,a,ction
Service, August 9, 1906, Department of Commerce and Labor ;x;g
as nnswered on the 15th of August of that same year. Tt is mar
a5 being in the office of the supervising inspector at Detroit on Augugtf:
10, the day following its receipt in Washington. Now I ask you 1?
this is a photograph of your letter in response to that complaint
[Passing letter to witness.] —A. That is my signature, sir. . 1. o

Q. That is a photograph of your signature $—A. Absolutely, sir.

Secretary Reorieo. 1 read this letter, which will form a portion
of the record, the reply. It is dated at the office of the supervllsm
ingpector, eighth district, Detroit, Mich., Aumxst 10, 1906. f.tie
that on the record it be noted that the reply is dated four days after
the receipt of the letter in Washington, and dated seven days after
the date of the original letter in Chicago, I think. -

: qupravisINg InsrEcToR, EIGHTH DIATRICT,
ARG T SN Delroit, Mich., Augua? 13, 1908,
Mon. Georoe Uiiem,
Supervising Inspector fIeneral,
WMMW: wr X (; fice, with one from
: o letter of the Oth Instant, from your ofiice,
Mfl?};‘r::g-ﬂg:-[ﬁﬂtt;. r';f f:h'lr]-ngn. inclosed, Telative to overloading of the steamer
Kantland nnd other passenger steamers running out of Chicago, I beg to report
as follows: That I proceeded to €hicago on tha 10th Instant and m’.d(: ? verg
thorough Investigation of the ruhlect: I called upon the customs ogf n;‘:t;n
loenl inspectors nnd was agsured by both that at no time during the e
had any of the steamers to thelr knowledge carrled more passengers than a m'nd
hy their fnspection certiflcates and excurslon permits; that on Saturdays a
Sundays officers were detalled from the customs department to count the pas-
sengers on all steamers of any § rtance; that on Sunday, August 5, the d:d,!
that Mr. Schmitt complalns of, two customs inspectors, F. B. O. Gallagher nm
Charles H. Harding, were detailed to and dld count the passengers ‘on
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steamer Fastland ; and that the number of passengers carried out of Chleago on
the Eastlend on that date was 2630, which fact is certified to by those officers

- at the bottom of the enclosed report of passengers carried out of Chlcago by
soveral steamers on August 4 and 5 made by Mr, M. J. Griffin to the Hon
John O. Ames, collector, and dated August 6.

1 also inclose letter.from the local inspectors, showing that the Faatland ia
allowed by her certificate and excurslon permit 3,000 passergerd; also an affl-
davit from Mr. Cochrane, trulfie manager, showing that on the 5th, the Eastland
carried from Chicago to South Haven 2,492 and brought hack 2,763 passengers;
also a letter from the loeal Inspectors at Grand Haven, stating thot on August
5, at South Haven, the passengers were counted on the Faatland by Local In
gpector Pardee; that she carrled out of South Haven 2,994 all of which goes to
show conclusively that at no thue upon the date (Aug. 5) that Mr, Schmit
complaing of was the steamer Fastiand carrylng In excess of, or even up to, the
capacity allowed by the local Inspectors, As to the diserepaney In the count
between the inspectors and the owners, would say that I am Informed by the
tnspectors and customs officers that they eount children, while the owners only

- count the persons that are of an nge to require a ticket. I am Infonned by
Inspector Mansfleld that he has rldden on the Kustlapnd when earrylog her
limit, and that in his opinlon she was not overcrowdedl; I, however, directid
Inspector Peck to take the trip from Chieago to South Haven amd return on
Sunday, the 12th instant, for the purpose of examinlng the sltuation; [ also
directed the lnspectors to remeasure all the excursion stenmers running out of

~ Chicago, and If they find In thelr opinion any of them are allowsd too many to
reduce the number to what they énn carry with safety and prudence

In conclusion I would say that unquestionably there are at times places on a
gtenmer carrylng a large load of axcurslonisis that would e crowded when
everybody wanted to get In the cablps out of the raln or colid, or on one alde
of the vessel out of the sun or on the upper deck to escupe the heat, when
undler ordinary clreumstances there would be sulllelent room for all,

Respectfully,
C. K. WeaTcorT,
Supervining [napeclor,
P. 8.—1 also Inclose Mr. Schmitt's letter us directsd,

*Secretary Reoriern. There is attached to this the following letter,
which is also a portion of the record:
) Uxiren Statea CustoMs Mervice, '4

Port af Chicago, August 6, [906,
Hon, Joun C. Amgea, Collector.

Sie; Herewlth pleaze find statement of number of ;r....-.én,-,.-r.. enrrled Satur
day nfterncon, August 4, amd Sunduy mornlng, Augunst 5, 1906, on excursion
veasels leaving this port:

BATURDAY, . M., AUG. 4

\
Numter of | Nugaler of

Vemal. [uvr.rrn|]nrnrvﬂ

carriad. | allowed,

Theodore Roossvelt. . 1, 400
Eastland. ........... 3000
City of Bentan Harbor 7,830

i
AUNDAY, A. M., AUG. 6.

.’_9’,‘1’. 3, )

7,63 | 3,000

1,049 7,830

Christopher Columbus. 2, K0 4,000
Oity of Benton Harbox ... .. . B RS . 1,504 | 7,10
) T L TP B4l 1,200

Respectfuily submitted,
(Blzned) M. J. Grirmix,

Deputy Collector.
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Secretary ReorreLn. And upo:l that we have this: -

) I'orT oF CHICAGO, August 11, 1906.
we Lereby certify hat the steawmship Fasttand, on leaving the port of
Chlengo, Sunday a. m., August 5, 1008, carrled 2530 passengers, of which 350
bourded the stenmer ot one gangway, and 2,180 at the other gangway.
F. B, 0. GALLAGHER,
Inspector of Cusgtoms.

Secretary Reoriern. There is also the following document in-
closed ; these are photographs of the originals in our possession:.

County oF Cook. Klate of Hlinots, ax:

On thla 11th day of August, 1808, A. D., personally appeared before me,
Harry I3 Lockwood, a notary publie lu and for the County of Cook, and State
of Illinols, Mr. W. H. Coclirane, who, belng duly sworn, deposes and says that
he s trailte manager of the Chleago-South Haven Line, opernting the slegmm-

* ghip Kustland, and that on the Gth day of August, 1004, the sald vessel carried

g total of 2402 passengers on the trip from Chlengo to Bouth Haven and
 total of 2763 passengers on he trip relurning from South Iaven Lo Chleago
on Lhe sald Oth day of Angust, TU0EG.

Deponent further siates that the passengers were counted golng on the sald
steamer Eaatland both at Chicago and at South Haven by United States
(jovernment cunloms inspectors.

W. H. Cocanang, Trafflc Manager,

Subseribed and sworn to before me, this 11th day of August, 1804,

ITansy B. Lockwoon, Notary Public.

Secretary Revriern. The following documents, also photographs
of documents of the files of the department:

Orvice or Local Ineprctors, Chicago, I, August 11, 1906.

Hon. 11. €. WFRCOTT,
Supervising Inapector, Deltroit, Mich
Him: In reply (o your Inguiry s o the number of passengera allowed the
stenmer Bastland, would say that sbe |s allowed 517 by her cerlificate of in-
spection, and has an excuralon permit allowing her to carry 2483 persons, a
total of 3,000 perronm. ’
Very respectfully,
ITea 15, MANBFIELD,
Itoy L. I'eck,
Local Imapectors.

Secretary Reperein. Ts that your name, Roy L. Peck?

A. Yen, sir. .

Q. TIs that a photograph of your signature?—A. Yes, sir.

Secretary Renrrein. And also the following, dated August 11,
1906 -

AvausTt 11, 1908.
Hon. C. I1. WescoTT,
Nuperviaing Inapector, Detrodt, Mich,

Sim: In replylng to your telegram of this date, In reference to counting
passengers on slenner Hattland on August 5, 1908, will say they were counted
by Inspector Pardee, and there were counted on board 2004, as the register
atill shows, and the stenmer wna compelled ta leave 10 minutea ahead of her
regular thne.  Excursion permit allows 3,000,

Respectfully, ¢
Grorge W, DPARDEER,
Cuanrza C, ForLFy,
Local Imapectars.
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Secretary Reprrero. And the following letter under date of Au-
gust 11, 1906
CHIcAco, Awuguat 11, 1508.
Mr. W. F. CATCHILL,
Chief Clerk Department of Commerce and Labor.
- Washington, D. C.

Dear 8ir: Replying to your letter of the 9th Instant, I herewlth attach an
editorial from the Chicago Dully News, August 10, 1804, and which conflrms
what I wrote on the 6th Instant, relutive to the overerowding of passenger
boats leaving Chlengo. '

Yours, truly.

(iopoE J. SCHMITT.

: Roy L. Peck, recalled for further examination, testified as fol-
ows: -

Secretary Reorierp. Is it a fact that at any time the Festland
had & passenger limit under the law of 3,0001

A. Yes o

Q. That is a fact? —A. Yes.

Q. Is it not a fact that she had that passenger linit at a time

- when she was still carrying her staterooms on her upper deck i—A.

Yes. .

Q. Is it not a fact that the staterooms have since been entirely
‘removed?—A. T believe they were while she was away. I heard a
number of them had, and I afterwards learned, when she went to
Cleveland, that they all had.

Secretary Renrizrn. Capt. Westcott, can you sav whether it is a
fact that these staterooms have been entirely removed ?

Capt. Westcorr. Not from my personal observation.

C. H. Westcorr, recalled for further examiration, testified as
follows:

Secretary Revrienn. Captain, you do not know that of your own
knowledge?

The Wirnesa. I have figures here taken from the Department of
Inspection Service; the figures show that she had 85 statercoms
originally, and 49 were tuken off ire the winter of 1904 and 1905 at
Chicago, and the balance—the other 39—were taken off after she
went to Cleveland; so they have all been taken off now.

Q. The records of the service show that all these staterooms have
since been removed ¥—A. Yes, sir. .

Rovy L. Peck, reealled for further examination, testified as followa:

Secretary Reoriern. Mr. Peck, as the chief engineer of the com-
pany that you have named, is it your opinion that the removal of
these staterooms rendered the vessel more or less able to carry a load?

The Wrrness. More abla.

Q. More able?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. So that if T understand you correctly the fact is this, that
whereas the steamer Fastland had, in fact, carried 2,994 persons
and had a passenger allowance of 3,000, her record last week was
that of being allowed to carry only 2,500 persons, while in the mean-
time she ha§ been made safer by the removal of the upper weights;
is that so?—A. Yes, sir; that would be my opinion.
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Capt. C. H. Wesroort, recalled for further examination, testified
as foﬁnws: , .

Secretary Repriern. Capt. Westcott, have you ever had any other
complaint about the steamer FKastland?

The Wrrness. No, sir. '

Q. Do you know of any of your officers that ever have received any
complaint about hert—A. Not from my personal knowledge, sir,
1 do not. . i

Q. Have any of them told you they had a complaint about her ¥
A. No, sir. .

Q. Is i not a fact that the only complaint you ever received about

the Fustland was the one which had solely to do with the question

of whether she had more or less passengers than the legal number of
;assengers allowed her by law {—A. The only complaint that I ever
Lud was that Schmitt complaint, and that complaint was that the
boat was overcrowded. I do not know that he said she had more t‘:ha'n
she was allowed by law ; he said she was overcrowded; and that might
have been his estimation of what a crowd was.

(). So that you have never received from any source, to your knowl-
edge, nny complaint that the vessel was unsafe?—A. No, sir; never.

Q. Or even a crank {—A. No, sir.

Q. Or in any way defectivef—A. No, sir. .

Q. Had you, from anything which anyboedy has ever written you
or any of your subordinates, any reason whatever to suppose that
the Fastland was unsafe to carry the reduced capacity after her
weights had been altered—A. Cetainly not, sir. .

Secretary Reorrewn. Now, Gen. Uhler, I will ask you to examine
Mr. Peck, and we will excuse Capt. Westcott for the present and call
him later. Let me ask you to examine Mr. Peck on the subject of
water ballast, but before you do so I want to ask Mr. Peck a question
that occurs to me while I am speaking of it.

(Witness excused.) ‘

Roy L. Peck, recalled as a witness, further testified as follows:

Secretary Reoriern. Mr. Peck, how much do 2,500 passengers
weigh if you estimate the average weight at 160 pounds per person?
1 will ask you to just take that table and figure it out.

A. Two hundred tons. )

Q. So that 2,500 passengers at 160 pounds average weight would
amount to how much—A. Two hundred tons.

Q. Two hundred tonsi—A. Or 400,000 pounds.

Q. Or 400,000 pounds, equaling 200 tons?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you happen to know what, the displacement of the tastland
wasi—A. No; 1 gg not; excepting that her gross tonnage was nine-
teen hundred and some odd.

Q. Her gross tonnage was nineteen hundred and some oddi—A.
Yes, sir.

Q. You do not recall what her displacement was?—A. No, sir. _

Q. Do you know about her draft1—A. The best of my recollection
is that she was drawing about 13 or 14 feet aft and 10 to 14 feet
forward.

Q. Was that loaded7—A. Yes; loaded.
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Q. Loaded. Now, is this not a fact, that a vessel of that form when
she is loaded goes down by the bow, but draws about the same at the
stern?—A. Well, I think she would probably go down more forward
than she would aft on account of her shape—very thin forward.

" Q. Now, is it not a fact to your knowledge that the limit of pas-
sengers for the Eastland was reduced from 3,000 to 2,500 as a result
of action in the local board in Chicago in which you took part?—A,
Yes, sir; that is my recollection ; that is a matter of 10 years ago, and
I have been out of the service nearly threb years, so I have not
been able to examine documents or anything of that sort, but it is my
recollection of an event that occurred shortly after this letter was
written. ;

Q. So that, although she had to your personal knowledge carried
3,000 persons at a time when she still had 88 staterooms, which she
does nct now have, there was an act of your board which reduced
her from 3,000 to 2,500 carrying capacity ¢—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that since that time, as you understand it, she has had
these weights,removed ¢—A. Yes, sir.

Secretary Revriero. Now you may examine, Gen. Uhler.

Examination by Gen. Unven:

Q. Mr. Peck, you were speaking about being chief engineer of the
steamship Chemung or the Owego. She was a new vessel, as I
understand it, owned by the Erie Railroad Co.—A. It was a steamer

_owned by the Erie Railroad Co. -
Q. Of what construction was she, Mr. Peck?—A. Well, she was
built a great deal like an ocean steamer.
’ Q. And of whnt material %—A. Steel steamer.
YQi( Steel?—A. Yes, sir; designed by George Mallory, of New
ork. '

Q. Was she a single-deck or double-deck steamer?—A. She was ]

what they called a double-deck stenmer.
Q. That is, a main deck and a hurricane decki—A. A main deck
and a hurricane deck,

that?

Q. Was she. engaged exclusively in the carrying of cargoest—
A. Yes; she was a freight steamer.

Q. Packet straight steamer, I takeit?—AN\. Packetstraight steamer.
/ Q. Did yon have ballast tanks in that steamer, Mr. Peck?—A.
Yes, sir. _ '

Q. And what was the capacity of the ballast tanks, as you remem-
ber it?—A. I think the Owego’s ballast tanks carritd about 1,000
tons. ’

Q. How were the tanks subdivided ?—A. They were divided fore
and aft and aforeships; I think she had about G tanks on‘a side, as
I remember it; that would be about 12 compartments.

Q. Divided up into one bulkhead ?—A. Yes.

(). Were these tanks automatically connected—that is, from one
gide to the other—or was it necessary to fill them with the operation
of valves from one side to the other ?—A. There wa$ a manifold in
the engine room with a series of valves which gofinected them, a
* separate valve for each compartment. i .

Q. Engaged exclusively in the carrying of cargoest—A. How ia

Q. About a thousand tons of water?—.\. That is as T remember it ninety-five feet IO“F‘
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Q. And in order to fill all the tanks at once all of the valves lead-
ing to the compartments opened from the main cock or from the
manifold #—A. All the valves would have to be opened. .
- Q. Did you ever, at any time, Mr. Peck, during your service on
the Owego, go up or down the lake light?—A. Quite frequently.

Q. Quite frequently?—A. Yes; her up cargoes were generally
very light—westbound cargces. .

. And at that time frou regulated the trim of the ship and her
stability by the manifolds of the water ballast?—A. Yes, sir. If
we got into bad weather, we let some water into the water-ballast
tank. ‘ ’

Q. Under whose direction was the water ballast manipulated —
A. How is that? : ‘

Q. Under whose direction were they manipulated—by the orders _

 of the captain or by the chief engineer ?—A. Generally by the orders

of the captain; that is, the captain, if he thought the weather was
threatening and the ship pounding on the sea, he would send down

~word to fill up some of the compartments.

Q. Did you ever find the necessity, Mr. Peck, of using water ballast
to maintain stability of the ship?—A. Not on her nor any other
ship that I have ever been on. g

(5. Then the water ballast was used to maintain the proper trim
of the ship?—A. Yes.

Q. And to properly steady her?—A. Steady her in bad weather.

Q. Do I understand you to say that you have seen the water bal-
last used quite frequently on the Owegof—A. Well, we used it con-
siderably in the fall of the year, but not much in the summer time.
The most frequent use of water ballast; of taking it in and taking it
out, that I ever had was on a-passenger steamer running to Mack-
inaw. »

Q. May I ask Mr. Peck, if I remember correctly, if you were not
chief engineer of the Manitouf—A. Chief engineer of the Marisko.

Q. Chief engineer of the Marisko?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. It is, as I remember it, exclusively cargo ship?—A. Exclu-
gsively cargo. »

Q. And carries no passengers?—A. Carried no passengers.

Q). Doublg-deck ship ?—A. Double deck.

. Q. Did they have water ballast?—A. Water ballast in each one.

Q. And how much capacity?—A. Well, a considerably greater
capacity than there was in the Owego. I can not say exactly what
it was—anywhere from 1,000 to 1,500 tons of water.

Q. From 1,000 to 1,500 tons capacity *—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. And the Manitou was about how long?—A. Two hundred and

Q. A 20-foot hold, as I remember it?—A. Yes; I think it was
about 20 feet deep. I can not remember that exactly.

Q. AsT remember it, it was exclusively a passenger ship?—A. Ex-
clusively a passenger ship.

Q. And carried no cargo at all?—A. Carried no cargo at all.

Q. You used water ballast in the Manitouf—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And what was the Munitou’s capacity?—A. She carried about
850 tons. |

Mr. Reorrrrn. Of water?
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‘The Wrrness. Of water) - TN
- Gen., Unrer. And where located ¢ - R ;
© The WirNess. In her bottom—double bottom. ‘

Q. About what portion of the ship?—A. The whole length of the -
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Reprrerp. Will you please produce it - e
(S_):cr:ta EBTCO’I'I‘ED . It was sg;xt bg '3 cou%le of inspectors afterwards,
Mr. Redfield. ST o

- Gen, Unier. You are familiar, Mr. Peck, with the dry-dock
ship. ‘ ' facilities of the Great Lakes? L N :
(s. The whole length of the ship?—A. Yes, sir. Mr. Prew. I am pretty well acquainted with };hem.f he ship under
Q. Subdivided, of course?—A. Subdivided fore and aft and afore. ' . Q. Suppose it were necessary in the qavlgat;on_o the ship Lu:k .
, ships. o : . the conditions that are met in the nz_zvxg;xtmn of the Great thes’
Sy ‘ (5 What was the passenger allowance of the Manitou, Mr. Peck ?— where a ship* on one of her voyages. is full of cargo ang gle o eé
== A. About 500 passengers, _ - - light, necessitating on the light voyaﬁe the use of dead i‘l ‘Sﬁ’. an ¢
Q-~About 500 passgngers?—A. First-class Ppassengers; she did not- that it might not be discharged—when once put into the s ngkl
carry any excursionists. - : was fixed—do you know of any of the dry docks on the Great d.es‘
Q. Dir{ you evéﬁnﬁlﬁ it necessary during your service on the Mani- that would not be able to take the ship unless her ballast was uls-
tou to use water ballast?—A. Yes, — .~ — charged —A. No; I do not recollect any. There are some sxr(xia g ’
Q. For what purpese?—A. For the purpose-of making the ship ones, perhaps, that might not be able to take her, but the,dé'y k:dc
more comfortable in sea weather, so that the people would not get - at Chicago, or Cleveland, or Buffalo, I think, she could be docke -1;
seasick. : ’ , T I think any passenger ship could be docked. A freight shxg mig
.. Q. Did you ever have occasion to use your water ballast to regulate - @ be-in a position that she could not be docked—draw too muc h:ater.
-, .or to change the trim of the ship?-—A. No, sir; she was a good, stable - Q. Are-theresny of the dry docks that will take ships t! t are
© ship. o : - full draft?—A. Are what? V that will
’ (3 You have spoken in your testimony, Mr.. Peck, and in brder to Q. Are there any of the-dry docks on the G’reat Lakes that wld
make it plain I want to ask you if you did not testify that the use of take ships that are full draft!—A.-No; I"don’t think they would,

- . convenient ballast is not only a practice but that it is o, custom —A, not with a cargo or ballasted. e -
~ I don’t think there is any ships plying on the Lakes to-day that do Q. So that in order to meet the needs of navigation, and in order
not have water ballast—passenger or reight. .

| 1o make a convenience of transportation it is quite necessary that bal-
Q. They all carry water ballast?—A. Yes, sir. ‘ %ast be not fixed, and that it be convenient ballast, and that the only
Q. Now, isn’t it a fact that in the passenger allowance ‘and in the convenient ballast is water ballast; am I right in that supposition,
~ calculation of the stability of the ship herself her ballast is taken frem your experience?—A. That has been my experience, and I
into account?—A. It certainly is, and was by this board in the _ think that is the case. . T e L
Eastland. ) . : " Q. Mr. Peck, I remember you as a young man, as & junior engineer
Q. Would it have been possible, Mr. Peck, in any of these ships on on a Southern i’aciﬁc’ ‘Co. boat from New Yoz:lg to New Orleans.—fA.
which we have spoken not to have used that ballast ¢—A. Well, Yes, sir. :

hardly in the case of the Eastland, because it was necessary to dis- Q. Do you remember the conditions of the water ballast on those

charge that ballast to get her into port at some places where she went. ships?—A. Well, the old ships, I believe, had no water ballast; they
Q. Doesn’t the same condition maintain in: the case of the other were without water ballast. oo L
ships?—A. ‘Yes, in a great many cases, at least. S Q. How is that?—A. T think the old ships had no water bauast——I-
Secretary Reoriero. How much difference in her draft, Mr. Peck, . the old ships of the Morgan Line—they had no water ballast that
would. the filling of the Eastland’s tank make, from empty to full? remember. :

- A. T could Irlﬁ; say, because I never made any observation of it, - Q. Did you ever have any trouble with the manhole plates in the
Q. Well, can/ you say, as one familiar with the vessel or with the deep hole?—A.. I don’t know.

circumstances of the navigation, whether it would be 6 inches, a foot, Q. And the old Morgan Line ships.—A. No; not that I remem?e:té
or 2 feet?—A. Well, I should judge it might raise her about a foot. of; not any that I have sailed on; that is a good many years ago; i

Q. That would make a difference of a foot?—A. That would is possible that I have not got a recollection of those ships that I
make a’difference of & foot in her mean draft. ) ' ’

_ment.

, ought to have. | - .
Q. Did I'understand you to say in answer to a question from - It is a good while to ask you to go back, but I.did ggg know b;‘{&
Gen. Uhler that as between the licensed officers of the ship, captain perhaps you might remember it—A. It might have been over |
upon the one hand and chief engineer upon the other, the regulation . years ago. NN ;
‘of the ballast tank rested with the captain?—A. Well, the captain - Q: Thid passenger allowance it may be safely assumed wa?b??.?‘
is in charge of the ship and the engineer is supposed to obey any mated to determine upon the stability of the ship, and the sta? 1 lAY.
orders he receives. . of the ship depended to a great extent upon the use of ballast?—
s hlSefcretary Rmfml':lpn.ECapt. ;Vestcﬁtt, have you any letter from the [ Yes, sir;f tltz ballast. - The ballast of the Eastland was a most im-
. chief engineer of the Fastland on the subject of the ballast tanks? | rtant factor. Lo P :
Capt. Wesrcorr. There is one of theni with the local inspectors [ .poThe Secrerary. That is not a question, Gen, Uhler, that is a state-
‘here that he has written since the disaster, . ,

.
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uLer, May I ask if you did dépénd upon the use of ballast}

Eastland, for her carrying capacity it was certainly very essential to
be properly looked after. ' : “
Q. ‘Were there any changes in the arrangement of the ballast tanks
or their capacity, Mr. Peck, from the time you first knew the Easi-
land until she left Chicago?—A. No; I do not know of any change
in her water ballast or in the arrangement; I do not recollect it any
If there was any it was te increase it. It seems to me that

there were some additional ballast tanks put into her bottom, but I
am not certain of that. . :

Q. Isn't it a fact, Mr. Peck, that ships on the Great Lakes, cargoi

ships particularly, at times carry not only their taflks full of water,
but also put water in the lower hold and the tank tops?—A. Yes, sir;
I have done it myself on the steamer Kearsage. .

- Q. I want to know at this time, and I ask the question, how many
tons of water have you seen-carried on the tank tops outside of the
capacity of the tanks—A. I remember one trip we made with the
steamer Kearsage on Lake Superior we had 500 tons of water.

Q. Five hundred tons of water in the tank tops in addition to the

water in the tanks?—A. Yes, sir. -
Q. You did that in order to maintain A. That was in order
to maintain headway with her against a strong gale of wind.
Q. And to maintain a draft that would keep the wheels at work —
A. Keep the wheels in the water. o :
Gen. Unrer. I have nothing further, Mr. Secretary. ‘
Mr. Westcorr. Mr. Secretary, there is the original letter. I hﬁd

* some copies made (handing paper to Secretary). .

Gen. Unrer. Mr. Secretary, may I ask Mr. Peck a question?
The SecreTary. Go on. ‘

Gen. Unrer. Do you remember the steimer Louisiana?

- The Wirness. Very well; she is one of the first ships I ever

“served on.

Q. Am T correct in my recollection that she had fixed baﬂaét —
A. She had. : - :

- Q. No ta- ks?—A. No tanks. _ '
Q. I think probably during your incambency in the office or, prob-

_"ably later, the Louisiana capsized at the levee in New Orleans?—

A. T have heard that she did; I was so informed by the local inspec-
tors in New Orleans. Loy :

Q. Did they give you the reason or the cause for that capsizing ?—
A. T think they did, but it is 4 matter that has passed from my recol-
lection now. i o

Q. Dou you suppose that had the Louisiana been fitted with ballast
tanks that might have been manipulated at the convenience for the
ship’s loading and discharge, that it would have avoided that acci-
dent?—A. I think it would have helped. . ' '
. The Secrerary. I read for the record at this time a letter; the
original is in the hands of Mr. Thurman. “T will read the copy.

Mr. Westcorr. The copy was made by Mr. Nichols. 1.do not
think it has been verified or read over. It is presumably all right;
there might be some slip in it. . - .

b

Y

; rrNess. Both Capt. Mansfield and myself, while we were in.
spectors, depended a great deal upon the water ballast—even on the
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', (Secretary Redfield - here .read. the above-mentioned letter. as
follows:) . © Y Carcaeq; Tin., July 5, 1915,
Uﬁmsn StaTES Locar InspEcToRs, Chicaga, m. ‘

) X Eastland
n: I hereby beg to report the accident on steamer
mﬁ-ﬁ?;;;E(:;EJuly 24 whiga taking on passengers at Clark Street Bridge in thls»

The ballast tanks

' , re P8 ly 24

very morning in this port, and as the passengers came oL Jul
be:rnni(}xogn%h% slilip starte%l to Mst a little to starboard side; about 6.48 31.1 m. .
&nter was run in No. 2 port tank; about two or fhree minutes then the va ;?s
‘were shut off, as the ship was about on even keel; at 6.53 a, m. the ship

/ gtarted to list a little to port; valve to No. 2 starboard tank and the sea cock

ven keel
rere for ebout four or five minutes, and she was on about even kee
1‘1\;;51 opgfllllgdpasséhgers were ‘éoming on board fast, and from the facts that slﬁe
r,mrt(;d to get a port list the passengers must nearly nl}_ have gone to t ‘e
upper decks toward the port gide. About 7.05 a. m. the main engines wgﬁg
gtarted to warm them up; the starboard engine, which was nearest to b
dock, was worked astern, and the port engine was worked ahead. ':?khe' sl e%
remdined with a lttle port list o 7.16 a. m., when No. 2 and No 3 tan ‘ai‘(vi
on the starboard side were opened, and the,sea cock, located on the port sme,
“was opened. At 7.17 a. m. I went in the top engine room on theéstarbourd side,
when Mr. R. Davis came and ‘asked me if we were to straighten the ship up(i
I said we had the valves on tanks No 2 and No. 3, starboard side, opened, an
1 asked Mr. Davis to see the first mate and see to it that the ship dld_not hang
on the dock. The ship had the same list to to port as she had at 7.16-a. mé
At 7.18 a. m. she straightened up some and remained with a little list to por
to ul')out 790 a. m. We stopped both eugines and kept the water going in the
gtarboard tanks No. 2 and No. 8 all the time. At 7.23 a. m. she listed to port
uite heavy. I sent the first assistant engineer forward to tell the passengers
‘110 go over to the starboard side, and I told the passengers and the purser to
have all the people on the main ‘deck aft of the engine room to go over on the
side. : ‘
SmAr:;) ?Zagg a. m. the captain rang “stand by.” We answered at vnce. The shj&[;
straightened up some for a minute, still having o heavy list to port §1de. o
797 a. m. she listed over to port side more than ever, say about 25° or . 0°.
s.he sfayed there for a minute, perhaps two minutes; then she started over,
gow at first, and kept on going over faster, till she rested on the bottom with
tie port side, leaving the starboard shle about 6 or 7 feet out of the water.
I remained in the engine room all the time, and till about a minute or two.}
perhaps longer, after she rested on her port side, and did everything withiﬁ
my power at all times to hold the sbip on even keel.  Then I managed to reac
the steering cable under the deck on the starboard side, and by standing on the
air duct under deck starboard side reached the portbole, where the watchman,
Mr. Brooks, pulled me through. None of the boilers or the ma‘in steam pipes
Iet'go as pear as I could ascertain. After changing some dry - clothing about
§.40 2. n., which I managed to get in my reom on the starboard side by going
through the porthole, the captain and both mates and myself and the first
issistant engineer were placed under arrest by the chier:;of police.
Yours, teuly: JauEs ERICKSON,
Chief Engineer Steamer Eastland.
The Secrerary. Mr. Peck, I ask your opinion as an expert engi-
“neer, was the Eastland a safe vessel with her ballast tan}ss empty ¢
"The Wirness., With a load of passengers on?® o
Q. Yes-—A. I would not think'so; not at the dock. e
Q. Not at the dock?—A. Outside, 1 think, she weuld be all right.
Q. Would you say that if she had a load pf passengers and her
tanks were empty sﬁe would be safer in motion?—A. Yes, sir. .
Q. At sea?—A. Yes, sir. ) .
Q. Than she would be light at the dock, motionless?—A. That
is my idea. ‘ ,
T 292850—16——5
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. Q. Was the Eastland, in your judgment, a safe vessel for 4
' passenger load with her ballast tanks full i—A. I think she was. i
low long a time do you regard it as requiring in active ser.
ice to tell whether a vessel is a safe vessel or not?—A. I think '} -
should be able to determine that in less then a-year after she started
running. : /

Q. Suppose you take from w'hét.you know to be the.experieﬂce of .

.men, careful men, upon the Lakes and add to it enough to satisfy

what your judgment would call their competency, how long a tims

in active service should you think it ought to take to show whether
a vessel was a safe vessel or not%—A. Well, if the ship started on
her career in the spring, I think that it would be perfectly safe to
make an assertion that she was a safe or unsafe vessel by the time
the end of the year had come.
Q. Would you regard it as correct that a careful man might say.
that a vessel after 10 years’ use to be perfectly satisfactory, unless
some unexpected contingency occurred, that she was a safe vessel{-—:
Why, most assuredly. .- , s :
Q. And that notwithstanding the fact—this is a question——that
notwithstanding the fact that she might be considered what is known\-
as a cranky ship?—A. Yes, sir; if she had gone 10 years, even
though she wis called a cranky ship, and safely carried her load, she
ought to be considered a safe ship. o
Q. Now, then, I want to sum up a series of circumstances which
I will try to state correctly. Let is be assumed that a vessel has had
active service over 10 years; that she has been granted a passenger
capacity of 3,000 passengers and has actually carried that capacity
in service; that at the time when she carried 8,000 passengers ghe
had in her 88 statercoms, which were later removed ; that after these
upper weights were thus removed her capacity was reduced to 2,500,

. and that she operated thereafter some years without accident; that
afterwards when lying at the dock with a load of 2,500 passengers
on board she overset in the way deseribed by her chief engineer in

the letter that was just read. I ask you whether under those circum-
stances it would be dvour judgment that some unusaal condition other
than the mere load of passengers must have been present to have
occasioned the accidenti—A. Ign my opinion some unusual condition

Q. And that the unusual condition was something other than the
load the vessel carried; is that so?—A. Yes, sir; something different
from a load of passengers had to do with it.

Q. In other words, that having carried more passengers than this

- with safety, that the danger which now arose must have been due to
some element not present when she carried the heavier loads?—A.
Certainly. © - '

Q. You say, “ Certainly ”?—A. Yes, sir. _

Q. Can you, from your experience on the Lakes as a chief engineer
familiar with handling ships with water ballast, say that the circum-
stances were such as would in your judgment cause what happened ?—
A. It is my opinion’that the water ballast was not put in the right
place, or there was not any put in at all; some mismanagement of
the valves; pérhaps something stopped up the sea cock that did not -
get water ; but judging from the action of the boat continually listing

.\
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to the pord, it is my opinion that the water went in on the port side
instead of on the starboard side; helped: to tip her over. ’

Q. Mr. Pool asks me to ask you, Mr. Peck, whether, if the vessel

- were grounded, there would be a tendency to foul the sea cock?—A.

If she was grounded to any extent sufficient to foul the sea cock I do

. pot think she would roll over, because she would have-—~the sea cock

js pretty well up on the side; that is, on the bottom; she has consid-
erable dead rise; necessarily she would not have been on the ground
to a great extent to get any dirt or mud in the sea cock to stop it up.
1 do not think the ship was grounded there; I think there was plenty
of water underneath her. h :

Mr. Surwivan. Mr. Peck, you are now connected with the Great
Lakes Dredging Co. of this city ¢

. A. Yes, éir.

Q. You have been aboard this boat since she went over?—A. Yes,

. 8. i .
. Q. Taking up the question of the weight of the passengers, did

ou see the dead children and dead women that were taken oﬁ’ this
at?—A. I saw a number of the passengers that were recovertd

from the hull and river; no children.

Q. Did any of those weigh anywhere near 160 pounds?—A. No.

Q. In fact, the average was nearer to 100 than 160?—A. One hun-
dred and sixty pounds was Mr. Redfield’s proposition, not mine; in
makixég calculations on passengers I generally take them on an aver-
age of 150.

gQ. Did you know what Eercentage of women and males were
drowned on this boat?—A. I believe there were more women than
men, but T saw more men’s bodies recovered than I did women
I was there. , .

Q. Now, on the question of ballast, did you ever work on g boat
that had stationary ballast?—A. Yes, sir. ;
. Q. What kind; how was it secured in the boat?—A. Why, it was

while

iron. -

pl%) Tied or roped in some way to hold it in one place?—A. Pig

iron lnid in the bottom. . : , . =
Q. Laid in loose?—A. It did not roll around much; pig iron, when

- you stick it in—pig iron don’t roll around much when you stick it in.

Q. They did not secure it in any way —A. No; there was not any-
thing done to secure it. The wooden floor on fop of it would hold it

_in & way.

Q. Now, you saw that?—A.
side up it would not stay there.
Q. (Continuing.) With the water ballast system that is the better
of the two?—A. It is so considered by engineers.
Q. And the fact that this boat ran 10 years.caused it to have a repu-
tation for stability and safety unquestioned? -
. The Secrerary. Excuse me. ILet him answer the question.
The Wrrness. My statement, I believe, was that with water bal-
asi, she was a stable boat. ' ,
The Secrerary. I want to say for

(Continuing.) If she turned bottom

the record that the statement

‘made by Mr. Sullivan is not in the record, was not asked by me, and
.was not stated by the witness.

Mr. SuLLivan. Let me put it in this way to keep well within the

\ecord. This vessel with the water-ballast system s};xe had, assuming




68 " ACCIDENT TO THE STEAMER EASTLAND,
. * °

: ?iilxle (}?d‘ an ordinary system, was in no danger if the tanks were
e ) . K . . . 4 .
A. If the water ballast was properly handled. ~
~ Q. Properly handled #—A. 1 think i1t was all right. © -
Q. So that by allowing a boat such as the Fastland, to carry pas
gengers out of any port on these lakes, you had to rely in a largs
measure at least upon the water ballast?-—A. And the human ele.
ment in connection with it. T '
Q. T am just.coming to that. -
" The Secrerary. Your answer was, as I understood it: “And the
human element in connection with it % ' ) v
A. Yes, sir., o ‘ o
Mr. SouLuivan. You had to rely on that water ballast apd in addi-
tion to that the character of the men that handled the vessel %—A,

Exactg, : v
Q. And if these men were incompetent, then it did not make any
difference how the boat was ballasted or what kind of a ballast sys-
tem you had, did it?—A. If you put incompetent men in charge
there is sure to be trouble sometime or other. ~
Q. Whose fault is it if incompetent men are in charge?—A. Well,
. that would be the fault of the people who gave those men licenses;
it would ‘be the fault of the people who higeg them. :
- Q. Wouldn’t it be the fault also of the people into whose district
they ran in and out?—A. I could not say so. The man who ex-
“amined the men and gave them the licenses, would be the man who
might be called liable for that.

. We will assume that the board of inspectors of whatever dis
trict we are in examined Harry Pedersen and Joseph Erickson;
Pedersen is licensed as a captain and among his qualifications was
the fact that for several years he was the mate of a freight boat;
among Erickson’s qualifications we have several years that he was
second or third assistant engineer on a grain beat, they examined
him and gave him a license to run a vessel. Is there no way under
your rules here that limits those same men to a captaincy and chief

engineership on the same character of boat to her, that they had |

liberty to go on the best passenger steamers on the lake with that
license ?—A. The rules permit the inspectors to grant to the men any
kind of license they find him qualified- for. :

Q. But is the license you gave him—take this case of these two
men-—does it authorize them to take or have charge of a passenger
boat carrying probably the greatest number of people of any boat
on the lake? \ , .

The Secrerary. Mr. Sullivan, you have that wrong, it is issued
by the inspector and the license contains the service for which they
are qualified, they can limit it to a tug boat or a boat of the line,

Mr. Svruivay., Why did they not (ﬁ) it in this case? Or were
-they satisfied that these two men were competent under their licenses
to handle a big passenger boat? i

The Secrerary. That would depend, I imagine, upon the the result
of their examination papers. _ '

- The Wirness. Yes, sir; I should say so. Mr. Sullivan, I do not
know either one of the gentlemen, either Capt. Pedersen or the engi-
neer, and I do not know where they got their licenses, but wheréver
they got them there will be the examination on file which shows
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what their qualifications are; it will also show their experience—that
they qualified for examination,q i P

. Q. What I am trying to_get at is, Is that system right when it

permits a man who is promoted, say, from first mate to a captain, -
that-it does not limit him to some boat such as the kind he has been

used to working in, say, a freight boat? Suppose, in other words,

4 man never worked on a passenger boat in_his life; that he got a

license by the terms of which he could under your rules take a posi-

tion as master on a passenger boat. - ‘

The Secrerary. You are supposing a thing, Mr. Sullivan, very
much like supposing that the sun suddenly turned green, a state oi
affairs which does not exist. I would suggest that your questions,
which are highly proper, and concerning which there is no objection
in the world to having them in the record, should be addresced to
some of the officers who are in the service and are able to answer.

Mr. SurLivan. Mr. Peck, whom I have known'a great many years,
was in the service here, and was put on as an expert, I assume.

The Secrerary. In part, yes. Go on. It was in the interest of
saving time. ’ :

The Wirness. Mr. Sullivan, I do not see that it makes any dif-
ference whether a man is going to be a captain of a passenger ship
or a captain of a freight ship, 1f he has had the necessary experience
in his duties as a mate and [l)ws worked up from the lowest rung of
the ladder, from wheelman, or, perhaps, watchman, and qualified
himself by his experience of years on a freight ship or passenger
ship; I do not see that it makes a particle of difference; 1 think he
is just as well qualified. : ‘

Mr. SurLvan. You think an engineer or captain does not have
to exercise any greater judgment whether running an ore beat or a
heavily laden passenger boatt g - .

A. T think the man of the ore boat ought to exercise greater judg-
ment than the captain of a passenger boat; at times his ship is nearer
the bottom than the passenger ship is. A ship runs down this lake,
for instance, at right angles to the course of most of our passenger
ships and might sink one of them to the bottom quicker than a wink
if he struck it with a load of ore. I think he has got to exercise
exceedingly good judgment for both. ; : .

Q. That is your answer to that question?—A. I believe a man is
just as well qualified to be the master of s passenger ship if his
experience has been on o freight ship and vice versa.

Q. If these men did not fill the tanks on that steamer last Satur-
day morning—this chief engineer, would you call him a competent
man ?—A. I should say that he was highly incompetent.

Q. How do you explain his getting a license; 1f he was incompe-
tent last Saturday he was incompetent the day he got his’license,
wasn’t he? .

The Secrerary. Mr. Sullivan, T would like to make a suggestion.
I want to offer this suggestion, if you care to follow it, that you fail
to distinguish between incompetency on the one hand and inexcusable
negligence on the other. , .

The Wrrness. That would be the only way to 1t. ’ _

Mr. SurLivan. Would you say the man who failed to fill the tanks
of a boat like the Eastland last Saturday, with 2,500 men on board,
was inexcusably negligent or incompetent? '

-
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“The Wirness. Mr. Sullivan, T do not know whether the tanks wers

filled or not; I say if they were not filled that was probably the causs -

of the tipping over. Mr. Erickson may have thought those tanks wers

being filled ; he probably operied the valves or caused the valves to be

opened by an assistant or subordinate or perhaps an ciler, and it is
quité possible that the subordinate may have opened the wrong valve,
or there may have been some obstruction to letting the water flow in,
It seems to me if I had been the chief engineer and the ship I
noticed was continually listing to port, after I had been trying to
let the water in on the starboard side; I should have investigated and

found out whether there was any water going in on the starboard -

side, and I should have had those tanks sounded. I would have the
tanks on either side sounded to see if it was going there where I
wanted it to.

Q. When a boat is allowed to navigate the Lakes and carry pas-
sengers—should there be any. doubt about the machinery going right
or wrong—isn't it the duty of the inspectors, in other words. to see
that she has shipped the proper kind of machinery, so that if the
water is expected to go in on the right side of the ship it won’t go
in on the left-hand si%e? '

Mr. Sourrivan. I have been up against that game. When you open

. the valve, there is a pressure on the valve and the water goes into
. the manifold, it runs to the top of the valve and it pulls open from

the bottom, and the water goes out and it lists, or the valve may not
“have been open. o :

Q. The engineer says that he had five tanks on cach side of the
boat, he used Nos. 2 and 3 on the port and starboard sides, is that
good seamanship ¢—A. If his No. 3 tank

Q. The hest seamanship with 2,500 people ort board ?—A. His No,
3 tank probably held nine-tenths of the water that he <hipped. 1t
was in the largest part of the bottom. The No. 2 and No. 1 and No.
5 were in the small part of the ship forward and aft.

Q. Would not safety require in putting in ballast tanks that you
would so arrange the machinery that you can take in ballast and
%ut out ballast simultanecusly —A. I do not know but what the

astland was arranged that way.

Q. The engineer says not. :

The Secrerary. There will be more testimony than this.

The Wrrness. I think you will find there will be testimony that

she was arranged that way. T am not able to state, because as I say -

it was nine or ten years ago since I had anything to do with that

ship.

. Isn’t it within the province of the United States inspectors to .

have the safest kind of machinery or safe machinery put into these
boats in reference to ballast%—A. Most assuredly.

Q. Is it safe machinery when you can not transfer ballast
quickly #—A., T did not say that she did not or could not transfer
ballast quickly; that is my impression that she could transfer her
ballast very rapidly. I have seen her when she was standing at
the'glock or bridge; I have seen her list and straighten up very
rapialy. )

. IYIOW do {ou explain this failure to get on an even keel !—A. I
explained her ballast was put in the wrong place, that is my theory.

£

p
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 The SecreTarY. Let me ask—if you don’t mind, when you come
'it-»'{a:k the witness whose duty it was to give orders to use the ballast.

Mr. SuLrvan. Will you answer that question, Mr. Peck? it
The Wirness. I presume it was the captain’s duty to give orders, 1

~any orders were necessary. I do not think in this case orders were

essary. I think the engineers were well enough a uainted with
;.I]?:;L(:S}?arﬁv;:ter of this ship tgo know when to put in and take out ballast.

(). You say that when the 88 staterooms were taken off this ,bo_m;z
do you say the carrying-passenger capacity was decreased or 1n:
creased ¥—A. That de}:rpltllsed the c;u'r ng capacity.

equest of the ownerst—A. INO. — .

L(% %Vththf——tﬁg For this reason. You heard the letter read whych
this gentlemen named Smith wrote to the department. The super-
vising inspector came over here to look over this ship and'remeasuﬁ
them and see what their deck space wos, so that if n.nythmg.s'hou
ever happen to any ship at any time they would be in a position ll;o
justify themselves for the stand they had taken in giving them the

f passengers. :
nu(‘.?.l )?Srooyoll)x redlf;ucd her from 3,000 to 2,5001—A. We reduced a}l
the ships at that time, not only the FEastland but the City of South
ven and the Roosevell.
H%lj.e The Fastland was further reduced to 2,5008—A. I could not
say as to that. ) . .

Q. It was not in your time?—A. It was not in my time.

(). Sometimes the companies ask that the carrying capacity should
be reduced, do they not?—A. Never to my knowledge. o

Q. How do you account for the fact that_t.hc carrying capacity
Cleveland of this snme boat was limited to 5631 ) :

The Secrerary. The supervising 1;1;;pectur of Cleveland is present

will answer that question himself.
anl(\lﬁr. Svrrvan. Do ;.,]rnu know why that was, Mr. Peck?
The Wrrness. I do not know why, arnd I do not know that that was
n5e. R . .
thi)f.} l;fo the duties of inspectors require them to keep in touch with
the ballast tanks in the various boats to see how they are working #—
A. The duties of the inspector, everything in the shape of apparatus
on a ship, pumps as well as all the other machinery.

Q. What is the size of the tanks ordinarily in passenger boats on
the lake?—A. Those that were constructed about the time the Kast-
land, about 4 feet deep. Those that were constructed later I think

de somewhat deeper. )
thev. 1;}::“1 say that, in y([mr opinion as an expert, that the turm_mi
over of this boat was due to a failure to have proper ballast—the chie
factor?—A. The failure to have it or the improper distribution of it.

Q). You found your opinion solely on the allast?—A. I think
that was the only reason she tipped over. . o

Q. Do you know when this boat was last examined by the inspectors
to ascertain the water-ballast system *—A. No; I have not heen con-
nected with the service for nearly three years. . & .+,

Q. Would a boat that takes in water by what youcall the sea dock—
the sea cock is on the left-hand side of the boat—takes in water only -
from that point, is that a safely construgted boat, as far as ballast is
concerned i—A. It depends upon the size of the sea cock; there may
have been a 6-inch valve or awlﬁ-mch valve.

[
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Q. Is it safer to have a separate intake or sea cock on each side, the

starboard as well as the port tank?—A. Let me say this, that when
the Eastland was built, 12 years ago, that was the common made of
construction for the ballast arrangement for all ships, freight and

passenger. - Since that time there have been some different arrange--.

ments; there has been arrangements made so that ballast can be taken
in on either side or discharged from either side at the same time,
The manifold is divided in the center with a valve that closes up and
divides it in half, the sea cock on each side. or made on each side,
connected with this manifold and permits of its heing taken from
one side or the other. : S

Q. In other words, you can transfér from the port to the star-
board?—A. You can take it out of the port and put it on the star-
board or you can take it out of the starboard and put it into port.

Q. Do you think” the safety element would have required the in.
stallation of that system in a boat, even though she was 10 years -
old?—A. Well, she would get along all right the way she was or

had been for a good many years.

Q. Do you know what the reputation of this baat was for in-
stability and crankiness?—A. Well, sir, T sav T never saw her list
while I was on her; I have seen her list when T was off of her, but 1
never saw her list when T was on her biit once. T think she had the
reputation of boing cranky. _ ,

Q. A boat with that reputation should require a great deal of
watching, shonld it not?—A. She required great watchfulness and
care in the manipulation of her water bhallast.

Q. Have you got in vour records the total deck space of the Fust-
land. of the various decks?—A. Tn company with the nssistanc boiler
inspector, in 1906, T measured the deck space of the Kastlund and all

. of the pastenger and excursion steamers in this port, and at that time
had a record of it:--A sketch of the decks showed the space measured.
Since T have left the cervice I have not got that record, and T really
can not tell what T did with its. I do not know whether T left it in

_ the office when I left there, or what-did become of it. 1 am sure
there is.such a record in the office, or shonld be. . .

Q. Can vou recall about what your total mensweements were? —\.

To the best of my recollections we allowed O square feet for every

person. . .
Mr. Surrivan. Nine square feet to the person?

- A. T figure that she had capacity for between 1800 and 1,900

persons. .

Q. Capacity for what?—A. Between 1,800 and 1,900. Now. it isa
mattér of multiplication ; you ean se2 what deck space she had.

Q. Now, you say that in coming into port it is gead seamanchip to
discharge all the water in the tanks of a stenmer like the Fastlond ?—
A. T don’t see any necessity for it in Chicngo. There is plenty of
water in the river. °

Q. Assuming that it is good seamanship; it is bad seamanship,
isn’ it, to take on 2,500 people without having your tanks filled pro-
portionately —A. Yes; I think it was.

"~ Q. Do you know whether the discharging of all the water from the

_tanks, coming in and going out of the Chicago River, is due <olely to
the desire to save coal?—A. I don’t think so. It takes a certain
amount of coal to pump that ballast out.
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" Q. This Louisiana that you spoke of upsetting, do you know

whether that was due to the character of the ballast or to some other -

. cause?—A. I answered that, that I have no repollection of what the
causes were stated to be. The local inspector In New Orleans was a .

iend of mine, and on a visit heye in Chicago one time he told*me
zfx]i)lr;rxt the thin,g,’lmowing that Zequ formerly in the ship, and
theught T might be interested in knowing that that was the end of it.

Secretary Reprierp. Is that all?

Mr. Surrivan. That is all. : ‘

Secretary Reprierp. Mr. Peck, have you never heard of a vessel
sinking because the seacock was inadvertently left open?

A. Yes, sir. , . o

Q. There have been more than one such case within your knowl-
edwe?—A. Lots of them. o

(). Lots of them?—A. Yes, sir. ) o

Q). Now, when you multiply seacocks you multiply the liability of
accidents of that character, do you not?—A. Yes, sir.

(). For instead of having one seacock you have two, you havergot
just twice as great a chance of accident of that character?—A. The
more holes there are in the ship’s bottom of that nature, the more
chanece there is for her to be sunk.

Q. If I overstated to you the weight of the passengers as 160
pounds each, which I purposely did, s it not the fact that by so much
as they were lighter than that the vessel wns safer #—A. Certainly.

Q. go that if the avernge weight was about 100 pounds per pas-
senger, instead of having to carry a load of 200 tons she had to carry
2 load of about 125 tons, isn't that so?—A. Yes; it would be that

uch lower. ‘

" (). And therefore it ought to be much more stable?—A. There-
fore it ought to be that much more stable. :

Q. Isn’t it the fact that the general practice, so far as your knowl-

“edge goes, of the United States Navy is to use water ballast on all

new ships?—A. All the ships that are constructed nowadays are
built with water ballast. ) .
Q. All the ships that are constructed nowadays are built with
water ballast 2—A. I haven't heard of any being built any other way.
Q. Yes. And isn't it n fact that a battleship is built not only for
ctability but for stoadiness as n gun platform?—A. Most certainly.
Q. That is so, isn't it?—A. Yes, sir.
). And that they use water ballast for that express purpose - —A.

““Funderstand so.

Q. Yes; and that all the great liners that carry passengers across
the Atlantic Ocean are water ballasted 2—A. Yes, sir.

0. And that upon the use of that water ballast judiciously and
well by the officers of the vessels the safety of the ship not only does
but must depend ; isn’t that sof—A. That is so. They burn an awful
lot of coal in going across the ocean, and they must replace that
weight with something for stability, and they use water. - )

Q. Isn’t it a fact that the statements yon have just made in re-
sponse to ényAqu$tinnIs r}:r:ekt}gﬁ ;:qma]‘on knowledge ‘Qf every seu-

roing man ?—A. Yes; I think that ig the case. ~ .
E Q,gls there anything new about that, Mr. Peck {—A:- Nothing

new. )
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. Q. Very widely known to be so, are they not?—A. Ships have

been known to carry water ballast for 30 yegrs, to my knowifdggye

Q. Yes; and the best ships that are now constructed are con-
-structed on that principle?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And can you imagine a naval architect so much behind date
to-day as to design a ship, a modern ship, without water ballast for
all the ordinary uses of life!—A. I haven’t known of any ships

_.being built that way. There was a passenger ship built here in
Chicago a number of years ago, a small steamer, not very large. She
was a freight and passenger steamer combined, and that might ac-
count for this. But she had no water-ballast tanks. But she is the
only one that I know of around here. She was a freight and passen-
ger combined, however. She carried freight, which, of course, takes
the place of water ballast. «

: Q. Do you know who licensed these two officers?—A. T don’t

. know. :

Q. Do you know what examination they had to pass?—A. Well,

I can imagine what each one had to pass if it is anything like what
I used to submit the candidates to.in mv office. ' 2

Q. Isn’t the only record that is valuable upon that mattef the
official record of the examination itself2—A. Yes, gir. o

Q. Isn’t anything else a pure matter of surmise?—A. Entirely so,

Q. Yes. About which nobody knows anything whatever, and can
know nothig wnhatever, isn’t that so?—A. Certainly.

Q. And all deductions based npon anythine else but the actual
documents are wind, are they not 2—A. T should say s0. )

Mr. Surravan. May I ask one more question, please?

Secretary Reoriern. Certainly. '

Mr. SuLrivan. The question of wind doesn't enter so much in the
“case, does it, Mr. Peck, when you take into consideration that more
than a thousand women and children were killed by the mishandlin g
of 'Iii;:ls ggut? n ’ )

e Wirness. Well, Mr. Sullivan. I think T have said wh
thonght about that thing pretty plainly. S0 e X

Mr. SuLtivan. Very well. :

Seecretary Reprierp. T understood you, Mr. Peck, to say that it was
water. e

The WITNESB., I say that the water was not m the ri ght place, or it
was put in the wrong way. , .

Mr. SuLLvan. It was either wind or water. ’

The Wirnrss. Now, it is possible when this hull is raised and the
thing looked into that'the man may be found entirely innocent of
doing anything wrong. You may find the water there. nnd then my
opinion will not be worth anything. And veu may not find the water
there, and you may find why the water isn’t in, and it may be some-
thing entirely bevond the man’s control, and then he would be o com-
petent man, wouldn’t he? )

Secretary Reprrerp. Mr: Peck, the question of wind that I ad-
dl:essed to you was a avestion s to wind in this room, and not as to
wind anywhere else. The difficulty, as I understand it from you, was
thcilabsésmce of wnt% where it was needed. ’

r. SULLIVAN. We both understood each other abou i
and the water. tco. Mav I ask one more question | t that wind,

Secretary. Reorrern. Certainly.

}

. there are a certain number of that crew who must be licensed
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Mr. Svrnivan. Doesn’t the law place the duty upon these boards
to see that a crew of deck hands, oiﬁars, patrol men, etc., competent to
perform their duties, should also be employed .

The Wirness. A duty placed on whom, Mr. Sullivan?

Q. On the inspectors, to see that a competent crew outside of the -
licensed officers must also be provided ?—A. The law states that the
inspectors shall nominate the crew or name the crew necessary to
navigate the ship for the business in which she is engaged, axﬁd
the
captain and the engineers and mates—and, of course, it is up to some
inspector to cee that those men are qualified by reason of their
examination. I don’t think that the law calls upon them to see
that there is a competent oiler, or a competent water tender, or a
competent fireman, or a competent deckhand, or a ‘competent waiter,
or a competent cook on board. . _

Q. So that it is up to the captain and engineer to put aboard
that boat, except in a licensed position. if thev see fit, 50 or 60

~men who were never on & boat at all before in their lives to wield

a broom and shovel coal, ete.%—A. I think that the owners of the
ship, in connection with the captain and the engineer, should see that
they have competent men.

Q. But it is left entirely to their discretion, isn’t it?—A. The
number of men is not. They are required to have a certain number
of men in each station.

Q. Getting back to the weight of such passengers.. The lower the
weight the less danger there would be in case the passengers would
rush to one side or throng to one purticular side of the boat; isn’t
that true?—A. Tt would be the wav that I look at it.

Mr. Fourr. May I ack a question? .

Secretary ReprieLp. Yes.

Mr. FFouxe. In regard to the construction of this boat, Mr. Peck,
that Mr. Sullivan speaks of, is there n board that passes on the con-
struction of boats that ply the Lakes and the ocean, with regard
to their safety and seaworthiness before they are inspected by the
Steamboat-Inspection Service? o

A. Is there a plan, you say?

Q). Yes; is there a general inspection?

Secretary Reprizrp. A board. - - .

Mr. Fouxe. A naval board or some board of architects, naval
architects, that inspect ?

A. Well, T believe that nearly all the ships that are built—in fact,
all the passenger ships are inspected by the Bureau of Veritas or
some other bureau of shipbuilding in this country. My recollection
is that the Fastland had a certificate from the Bureau of Veritas
hanging up n her cabin, right alongside of her certificate of inspec-
tion. '

Q). So that the seaworthiness of the boat is not left entirely to the
Steamboat-Inspection Service?—A. Certainly not. That being the
case—

Secretary Revriern. May I follow that up, Mr. Fouke, a little bit.

Mr. Fouxe. Yes; I would like to know about that. '

Secretary Reprierp. Mr. Peck, isn’t it the fact that before the
Steamboat Inspection Service gets at a vessel she has had at least
two scientific examinations by trained men, the first being that of
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the architect that desfgnefd her, the builder' that constructed he;,

- and the result of her own trial trip?%—A. Yes.

_ Q.‘ The second being that of one of the four great bureaus ihn}.
classify vessels, namely, Lloyd’s, the Bureau Veritas, the American’

Bureau of Shipping, or the Great Lakes Register —A. Yes, sir.

ich alone she can ob.

Q. Whose surveyors, traip€d men for the Eurpose, examine that

vessel critically aad give the certificate on w
tain insurance?—A. Yeg, sir. -~
Q. Isn’t that the fact3 A That is th fact. :
Q. So that every vessel before the rst examination, after her
completion, is. made, has alréady two highly trained,. technical ex.
aminations made of her?—A/ Yes, sir.” ' o
Q: So that if it is to be assumed that the Eastland was faulty
“in design, and as such was approved by the Steamboat Inspection
~ Service, then it must follow
naval architect and builder, and those who observed her on her
trial trip, and the surveyor of the Great Lakes Register, in which
- she was classified, must have preceded that mistake by one like it,
~ isn’t that so?—A. It would occur that way to me.

Q. Now, as a matter of fact this vessel was classified in the Great.

Lakes Register, was she not?—A. Either in that or the Bureau of
Veritas. ’

Q. And that meant that she had beer. careﬁﬂly surveyéd by the -

surveyor of that service, isn’t that so?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know of any law which authorizes the Government to
make that kind of a survey of p ship?—A. 4417 is the only statute
that I have in mind that would -authorize the inspectors to conduct
such an examination if they saw’ fit. o

Secretary Renrrerp. Capt. Wescott, have you got that?

“" v~ Capt. Wescorr. I have 1ot that.

Mr. Fouke. May T ask cne more question ?

Secretary Reprrerp. Yes;, Mr. Fouke. ;

Mr. Fouke. Is it customary, Mr. Peck, to release the water ballast
when the boat comes into the port? _

A. Why, it is in some places. Now, it depends on the draft of
water that the ship has to get into. Tt might be at South Haven
that the bed of the river would be so shoal that she would strike
the bottom, and they would have to pump the ballast out to get her

in over the bar. - :

.. Q. Now; if that ballast was pumped out of the Eastland, and she
didn’t have enough water ballast, would it be the dutv of the cap-

tain or the ship’s officers to seé that that boat had sufficient ballast

before it left port, and would it require any unusual expert knowl-
edge to know whether the boat had enough ballast or not —A. Ttis
a very simple matter to ascertain what amount of ballast is in one of
those boats. There are sounding pives that go from the tank up to
the main deck, and it is 2 matter of dropping a rod down into that
pipe, with a line attached to it, and you can see just how many inches
-of water you have there. _ ’ ‘

Q. Into the ballast?—A. Into the ballast tank. Every tank is
provided with these sounding pipes. . : ‘

Q. It doesn’t require any great expert knowledge, does it1—A.
Why, no. Any man that knows how to drop a red down a pipe
could do that. : . -

as a matter, of course, that both the
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- Q. So it would not have been very difficult to ascertain whether
it had enough ballast, would it?—A. A very simple matter to find
it-out. : 0 . :
* Q‘1 Sirf—A. A.very simple matter to find it out. The thing that
has surprised me, and I haven’t heard about it in the Eastland affair,
was whether water was coming into the tanks, or whether anybody
knows that there was or net. ‘

Q. So it would -have been the captain’s duty or the ship’s.officers’

duty in charge of that detail of work to see that the ship had suffi-

_ cient ballast!—A. The way that thing was always conducted on
" ships where I rode around as an engineer, the engineer opened the
- valves that let the water into the tanks, and the captain, or some af

~ his subordinates had those tanks sounded, and they would report to

the engineer what amount of water there was, and there was a black-"
board where they would mark it down—so many inches in the tink
of water—so the engineer could see it. -
Q. The steamboat inspector then would have no supervision over
that immediately #—A. Oh, no. ; . .
Q. That boat leaving, it would not be part of his business to see

-whether the tanks would be properly ballasted or not, would it—or
. wouldn’t it?—A. Noj that provision of that blackboard, and that
" “rod and line to sound the tanks was just as common as the necessity

for a cleck in the kitchen so the cook would know when to get
breakfast. - :

Q. So it was a detail for the ship’s officers to follow; that is, to see
whether they had encugh ballast as it was to see that they had .
enough water in the boilers—just as necessary ¢—A. Exactly.

Mr. Svrrivan. May I ask a question, Secretary Redfield
- Secretary RepriELD. Yes. ) R )

Mr, Surrivan. With reference to inspection of boats, Captain, do
your boards, or any of them, go into the question of stability, under
your rules? c
* The Wrrness. Thelng—-l d

. Yes or no, please?—A. I never saw it done.
i %r. SULLIVA),LP You never saw it done. .That is all.

Secretary ReprfeLp. Quite right. : N

Q. Mr. Peck, you are not able to speak: of the present conditions
in the service, are you?—A. No. ) . : »

Secretary ReprieLp. Any further questions of Mr. Peck? If not,
Mr. Peck, you will be excused. We may ask the privilege of re-
calling you later, but we are very much obliged to you, sir. ‘

(Witness excused.)

- Cuarres H, 'WESTéOTT, recalled as a witness by the board, testified
as follows: .

Examination by Secretary Reprrerp:
- Q. Capt. Wescott, do you know of any law which empowers you
ic survey vessels to determine their metacentric height#—A. No, sir;
! (6125. n]g:) you know of any officer provided by law, or authorized by
law in the Government service for the purpose of determining the
metacentric height of vessels?—A. I do not, sir.
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Qﬂ? If you were to

A. I wouldn’t know under what section to get my authority.

Q. You wouldn’t know where to find ‘authority-¢—A. No, si,r;: I{‘;

'would be doing something without authority.

- Q. Is it not your understanding of the law of the Government

service that it is only able to do that for which it -has specific au.

~ thority ?—A. The steamboat inspectors work clearly and rl))grely un-
der the statutes, and under no other authority. -~

Q. And that, in so far as they may pass beyond the authorized

- work into that which, however necessary, is not authorized, they com-

mit a breach of the law?—A. T think so; yes, sir; and would be held
. res IiSlble for it{! " o ) " .

- Is 1t not a fact that these three processes are required in order

to undertake work under the Gover.rlzment; first, ar(1l authorization

- that the work shall be done; second, an authorization that a man

shall be employed to do that specific work; and third, an appropria-

tion for that specific work? Isn’t that the fact?—A. That is true, sir.

Q. I call your attention to this placard and ask you if you have

ever seén them before.—A. Yes, sir.

Q. What is that placard%—A. That is a placard iésued by the de-ﬁ
; imrtment for the local m@‘?étors», to see that the officers of the ships

ave one to put up in the engine room and one in the pilot house.

Q. And were they furnished to your office for the purpose ¥—A, So
far as I know they have been furnished in every office. I have every
reason to believe that they have been, sir. ,

‘Q. Do you know wl_neﬁ er one of those placards was posted in the
- engine room and the pilot house of the Fastland?—A. 1 do not, sir.
ecretary Reorrewp. I think we will excuse you for the moment
and ask Capt. Nelson to come to the stand. 4
* Mr. Syrrivan. Is this witness to be recalled, Mr. Secretary ?

~Secretary RepFIELD, Ohf yes; we will give you every opportunity -

- to examine him. Mr. Sullivan, let me say for the record. that if
- should tbe desired lts;lter ai:; 1aainy ’timeh to ask any further qﬁest?onls (:g
any witness, even thou e may have been apparently finally ex-
< cused, he will be recalleﬁ for that.ypurposem PP v , ny e
 Mr. SuLrvan, Thank you, sir.
(Witness excused.)

Nus B. Nersow, called as & witness by the board, having been

first duly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as follows:
’ Examination by Secretary Reorrern: :
Q. Will you kindly. give, Capt. Nelson, your full name and

address and occupation to the stenographer?—A. Nils B. Nelson; )

su&erwsmg mspector ninth district; Cleveland, Ohio.
. Capt. Nelson, what has been your experience in seafaring
matterst—A. I went to sea when I was 14 years old. .

Q. Fourteen?—A. Yes. S

Q. Go on; tell us the story.—A. I sailed on salt water #ill T was -

past 17, and I came up in the Great Lakes and sailed up till 1903,
when I was appointed local inspector of hulls.

Q. Where were you appointed local inspector of hulls?—A. At
Cleveland. o : :

}mt an inspector at the work of determining ihe
'vessels, would you not be breaking the law 3z

_one request for an additional force

s
&
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Q. How did you happen to get the job, Captain?—A. Civil-service
esamination. : S . .

Q. You took the civil-service examination?—A. Yes, sir. -
. Q. Where did you take it?—A. At Cleveland., e

Q. And how long did you serve as local inspector of hulls?—A.
From June, 1905, till January, 1912. ) :

Q. And what happened to you then?—A.'I was appointed super-

-._vising inspector.

Q. By whom?—A. By Taft.

-+ Q By President Taft. And do you know why?—A. Why, the -

supervising inspector died, and -I was promoted to that.
Q. Did you apply for the job?—A, No, sir.
Q. You were appointed without your request, were you?!—A.

- Yes, sir.

Q. By President Taft?—A. Yes. I applied in & way—1I.sent in“ j

“an application, : o
" Q. You sen$ in an anllcatlon ?—A. The usual form."

Q. Yes, the usual form. Now, you have been supervising in-
gpector of-—what district is that?—A . Ninth. o

Q. And what area do you cover—A. From Toledo, Ohio, to Bur-
lington, Vt. - ) /

Q. Captain, do you ever run short of men in your district?—A./
I don’t,,f‘l‘()now what you mean. : : I
Q. Tell the whole story, Captain; tell the whole of it. Don’t keep
anything back.—A. Run short of men? o ,

Q. Yes—A. Several times.

Q. Now, isn’t it a fact—1let us get the record straight—that in order
to keep up with your work in the lake ports men are called from
New York, Philadelphia, Baltimore, and Norfolk?—A. Not Balti-
more. ,

Q. Well, they have been called from Baltimore, haven't they?—
A. Philadelphia—yes; that is right. - Lo

Q. They have been called from those cities for what reason?—
A. To help us out as inspectors, .

Q. Is it a fact that your men have an eight-hour day, Captain?—

A. No, sir.

Q. How long do they work ?—A. As many hours as we can put in.
* Q. Isn’t it the fact that they sometimes work from before 7 o'clock
in the morning until after 10 o’clock at night continuously?—A.
Well, we often take the train at half past 7 in the morning.

. Q. Isn’t it a fact that at your request there have been yfore than
v for your district ¢—A. Kes, sir.
Q. That the estimates of the deﬂg;rtment have called ypon Con-
gress to supply you a larger force; isn’t that so?—A. Yes| sir.

Q. And have you received ghe" men ?—A. No, sir. There have
heen men detailed at various tinfes for a short time. - | |

Q. Fzrom other districts?-=A. From other districts; yes, sir.

Q. And do you happen to know whether the situation begime such
that I told the New York Maritime Association that, eithet far lucl
of men or because of overworked men, it was certain that/ something
serious would happen unless we were provided the added men .
needed ?—A. I recall reading it.

Q. Now, Capt. Nelson, the Eastland was located within your juris-

- diction for some time, was she not?—A. 1907, 1908, 1909, 1910, 1911,
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1 pelieve on the 4th day of June the steamer Eastlund gave an ex-

%u?(seion to the newsboys; that is the first crowd of passengers she
Q. You have them with you?—A. Yes, sir. o took out of Cleveland, and naturally I wanted to watch her. o

" Q. Those records are put in the custody of the Federal district Q. Why naturally?—A. The first time she had been in the dis-
ettorney, but anybody authorized msy have access to them. - Did trict, and I wanted to see for myself. . :

you ever see the Kastland yourself —A. A number of times. ¥ Q. Why, that implied that you were trying to look after the ves-

.1912, and in the spring of 1913. Mr. Secretary, this statement is sub-,f-"”f
ject to the records I have with me, of course. -

e

Q- How many?—A. Oh, I couldn’t tell. S sel, Captain?—A. Well, that is not any self praise, by any means.
wQ. Well, was it twice, three times, or thirty times?—A. Oh, at least Q. No; 1 am simply trying to get your habits. I am not disposed .

{0 assume it was bad, but was it your custom to go, when new vessels
' came into your district, and look at them ?—A. Yes, sir.

A

Q. How many —A. About 46 or 45, the ﬁrs@ season she was there,

Q. Now, Captain, has anybody discussed the subject of what you W =~ Q. Was'it your custom?—A. Yes, sir. .
should testify with you, Captain?—A. No, sir. 4o . . Q. And your duty also?—A. Yes; my duty also. .
Q. Have I had the privilege of meeting you before since you en- =~ (. Well, did the law_require you to do that?—A. If I had time,
" tered the city —A. Not since I came here; no, sir. the law requires us to supervise it. ‘ '
.+ Q. You see, there is a little atmosphere of doubt, you know. I- @ =~ Q. Anyhow, youdid it?—A. I did it. ; L
- wish you would tell my friead Mr. Sullivan, yonder, and the local § Q. What happened —A. They gave an excursion to newshoys,
inspectors from Milwaukee here, and this distinguished group of [ and I think my record shows that I tallied two thousand three hun-
newspsper gentlemen all that you know about the Fastland, good, dred and seventy-five or eighty or ninety newsboys. Now, I will
~ bad, and indifferent; tell it all.—A. Well, as I stated before, this is - nalify that by saying that may be a cou le of hundred got away
subject to correction from my records. . B from me, because they crowded on very quic and the newsboys hadn't
‘Q. Have you any other records which relate to the Fastland?—A. B been on board very long before they climbed all on the upper deck;
Yes; lots of them. a B that is, not all of them but a good many of them, and I wanted to
. Q. Lots of them.. Have you them here?—A. Up at the inspector’s - goe. whether the boat listed or not. I had heard so p1uch about the
office. R ' ~ B poat—the Eastlond—being cranky, and I was eatisfied she could
Q. Well, of what nature?—A. Of inspection and reinspections, ‘@ carry the load. o )
the number of passengers carried, the number of excursion permits Q. You became satisfied she could carry the load ¥—A. Yes, sir.
issued, the number of passengers allowed. L B - Q. Now, let s see if we get those facts correctly. These 2,600—
- Q. Would you be able from those records to give us a fairly com- A, No: two thousand three hundred somet_hm%.‘ o
lete history of how she was dealt with in the service?—A. I think 1. Q. Two thousand three hundred something —A. This is all sub-
gcou.ld give it without the records, I am so familiar with the ship. ject to my record. . )
. Q. Very good,.then you may state the case as you know it, with 7 Q. Yes; that is understood. These 2,300—if the record is ques-
the understanding ghat ycu are speaking from memory, and subject " tioned we will produce thé documents—these 2,300 or so newsboys,
to correction by th§ actual records which you have. Now I am going you say, all got up to the upper deck —A. Most all of them.
to ask you to be very specific, to keep nothing back, tell'all you know, - Q. And you got up there?—A. No; 1 stayed on the dock and then
and tell it as plainly as you can, so that nobody misunderstands you. " on the bridge and watched her. going out, .
And you will have all day to-morrow, if you need it, to tell it in.— Q. And vou say she didn’t list with the boys?—A. She listed a
A: In 1907, I believe, in the month of May, the Fastland arrived at " little bit. Nothing very slarming. ‘ S - :
Cleveland, Ohio. She was inspected by the Grand Haven-Board, . Q. You say you became satisfied she could carry the load?—A. -
and had a certificate, I believe, of five hundred and some passengers . Perfectly satisfied; yes. - - : ) . .
and an excursion permit which I have no record of, as we did not Q. How much water did she draw?—A. I didn’t notice. I might
. take up the permits and certificates in those days like we do now, have noticed it at the time but made no memorandum. .
but to the best of my belief, a total of 2,700 or 2,800 passehgers, that Q. What is her displacement—tonnage?—A. Why, 1 believe it is
is with the excursion permit and the total number of passengers. | one thousand nine hundred something. I have forgotten. Thatisa s
The first time I went aboard the Eastland she was lying up at [  matter of record in the book that you can easily find out.
No. 2 dry dock, and there were two inspectors detailed from Mil- M Q. Well, what next did you do%—A. Why, then we tallied pas-
waukee—that is, one from Milwaiikee and one from Detroit. That . gengers from time to time on the steamer Eastland. - ‘
is the time in 1907 when they shifted the assistant inspector from one Q. Where did she runf-—A. Between Cedar Point and Cleveland,
. district to another, and I sent Mr. Swift and Mr. Miller up to the just up from Sandusky, and gave moonlight excursions. :
o dr{ldock to give her a little reinspection. - : Q. %ver have any complaint of the Eastland P—A. Why, com-
. Mr. Swift presented his book, and in that book is a memorandum plaint in a way. , .
of three thousand and some life preservers under a certificate of (. What way?—A. There scemed to be.stories circulated that the
inspection, but he said he could only find two thousand and some Fastland was a cranky boat. :

hundred, and I went up there and found a number of life preservers

~ stowed away in some little locker that Swift had overlooked. Aad | 22859—16—8




* the Eastlend, and is she safe?” : ,
“ - Q. You had people come and tell you that?!—A. Yes; come an f§ O all boats except some of the paddle-wheel boats; they haven’t got
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Q. You say there scemed to be? Dé you not mean thét thers Q. And you found it so?—A. Yes, sir. -
were{—A. Why, different le woul «F i ), What was that water bottom used for%—A. Ballast. .
. PeoR s Would come up and say, 1 rodeog | % Is that an ordinary practice?—A. It is an ordinary practice
tell me that—ask us the question. water ballast; some of the old types.

i

Q. Ask you the question? Did you hav : ‘8- Q. Now, the big freighters that run out of you"r district to Duluth,
plaint!—A. No definite complaint. . ¢ *Y definite com W' Z oy water bullasted —A. Yes, sir. ]
Q. Were you ever asked to mike any special or unusual investi. Q. These vessels that carry 10,000 to 11,000 tons of freight, are

gagmi ~intohthe Eastland?—A. No, sir. W they vaatgrll{%(l)%sléed?m—A. Some of them have water ballast for
- In what classification service was sh istered —A. “Why. 10,000 and 11 ons. )
that I have no recollection of, whether isi: Sva(:‘, :}‘ieg%glx"zgu V%z:it‘s;‘:ah gx" Q. What is that?—A. Some of them have water ballast of 10,000
Llayd’s. - : N ‘ y and 11,000 tons. 1 a that ballasttA. Yes s

. You_think it?ns Lloyd’s or the B £ 1 - @. You mean as much as that ballast?—A. Yes, sir.
a matter of-fact, is it bommgn for vesse}s}tlt;eg}l:aggy f:;fﬁsgneffa‘;éiﬁ ‘ Q. You mean there are vessels that carry 10,000, to 11,000 tons
cation to anﬁtl}er?L—A, Why, it might have been the Great Lakes i Water ballast?—A. Yes, sir; side tanks.
- classification. I hove forgotten. Q. Side tanks?—aA. Yes, sir.

. Q. The Great Lakes classification service i ; , Q. And that is a universal practice in your district, is it?—A. Yes.
is it not*—A. Yes; centered in Clevjﬁxrnd(.:e 18 centered in Cles eland,j I.don’t believe a ship without a water ballast could handle it.
Q. But, in any ‘event, you know she had been classified?—A il Q. So you examined the Eastland to see whether the water-ballast
_ knew she had been classified. : , " @ tanks were in good order?—A. Yes, sir. '
Q. Then, what else about her?—A. Then, in 1908 we inspected her Q. And for that purpose you went into her tanks yourself?—A.

for the first time. , , oo Yes, sir.
. Q. That was the first year?—A. That was-the first year; our first Q. And you found them so? A. Yes,

hlzegf‘iﬁm. _ Q. Did you eves do that nbs%gonii»tigw ??AANI(\)I. i i ;
. . Lhat was your annual inspection?%—A. Qur ual i 't Q. Did you ever have anybody else do it —A. Not that I know of.
Q. Now, I wiysh you would £11 the gentlemen ’;’}ﬁsﬁ}‘t”",,sf:?;?ﬁ; . Q. Now, the method that you have deseribed of inspection, is that

mean when you say you inspected her. What did do? Didy " g personal affair of your own?—A. No, sir. .
g0 on board in a dress suit and look about 2 \-A. ‘:Vh);:‘éheorecomli(si V);(:l'? Q. And that is what happens in other districts?—A. Why, 1
show what I did. suppose so; I don’t know.

Q. What records do you mean ?—A. The records that I have. Q. But as far as you know, in working with those fellows——A.
Q. Why, you keep a record of each inspection !—A. Yes, sir. In as far as I know. - ..
. Q. And does that record show just what was done at exch inspec- i  Q —‘—-—_,Workin§ 'with your fellow supervisors, is that the rule of
tion ?—A. Tt doesn’t show all that was done. It shows the principal the service#—A. Yes, sir. .
parts that was done. ; " Q. Do you know, or do you not, whether this habit of keeping a
Q. What form is that record in?—A. In a book form. - record of every inspection in a separate book so that reference to it .
Q. How big a book ?—A. I think it is 43 by 7. : at any time can be made, whether that is usual in the service?—A. .
Q. A handbook?—A. A handbook. = ~° o It is compulsory. ~
‘Q. And is there a separate book of this kind for each inspection ¢— Q. It"is compulsory, is it, indeed —A. Yes.
A. Each inspection ; yes. Q. Who compels it%—A. The head of the bureaun.
.. Q- And does the person that makes that inspection, after filling out | - Q. The head of the service?—A. Yes. :
that book, sign that book and file it i——A. Yes, sir. v Q. Now, is it a fact, then, Capt. Nelson, that I can take at mndom
. Q. He does. "So that you have an actual signed record of every [ any vessel in your district, anywhere between Burlington, Vt.. and
msgectxon made by every officer of that hoat1—A. Yeg, sir. " R Toledo, Ohio, any number of years back—10 or 12 or 15—and ask
. And ycii have them here?—A. Yes, sir. Mr. Secretary, I would you to bring the record of inspection here and show us what was

like to qualify by stating that we had e lot of work to do that spring, W done, and who did it, and how it was done?—A. Yes, sir.

and both I and the assistant hull inspector inspected that boat. We B Q. You can produce all that, can you?—A. Yes, sir. :
- :’f:dlfo dgo down there and do things whenever we had time, I testel l Q. Do you know whether that is the case in all the districts?—A.
€ ny

rostatic pressure of the boilers; I measured u%(:,he bulkheads, It is in all of mine. :

made a memorandum of it, went through her water bottom. Secretary Reprierp. Now, Mr, Nockels, can you do that?
Q. Did you go through the water bottom {—A. Yes, Mr. Nockrrs. Yes, sir. )
Q. You found she had one, then, did you, Captain—A. Yes, sir, Secretary Reorierp. Capt. Carroll, can you do that?

. Q. And you went into it?—A. Yes. Capt. CARROLL. Yes, 8ir.. : ,

Q. What did you do that forf—A. To satisfy myself that every- ~ Secretary ReprreLn, Capt. Westcott, can yOl‘l‘ do that?
tlugg was alk right. - ,

-
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Capt. Westcorr. That is done in ‘my- district.  When I was ik

P

“spector that was done in our districts, and I can produce record of

. any vessel you wish.

Secretary Repriero. I suggest that ‘ybﬁfﬁ,ﬁtiﬁg to us here and lo
us see what it is; bring us from your office a Detroit book, let us hav

a Duluth book, a Milwaukee book, and g Chitago book, and pick"

out half a dozen parts, and see how quick you can get them.
Capt. Wesrcorr. There will be two books, Mr. Secretary..
Secretary Reprirrp. Yes; I know that; one fcr hills and one for

boilers. Let us see how quick you can lay. your hands on the book.

Capt. Wesrcorr. I can only get the books for Chicago. T can
give you now the books of the last two inspections. -

Secretary ReorieLp, Yes; T know that; but'just get some of théma

books. I would like to show them fo these gentlemen. ; :
Q. Now, Capt. Nelcon, what else do you know -about the Fast

land?—A. Why, I have to examine all the life preservers; testing

the fire hose, life belts, etc. R P

Q. What do you mean by examining the l\ifg;’:hreseﬁ;c-m?»wm‘“

Why, we examine every life preserver as to its’ general condition,

Q. What do you do with it?%—A. We stamp it, if-it. is all right, and
reject it if it is not. ' L

Q. Was this boat equipped with life preservers made in Cleve
land?—A. Some in Cleveland and some in Pittshurgh.
strong Cork Co., of Pittsburgh, makes more than anybody in the
“United States. , :

Q. Do you ever reject any%—A. A number of them.
Q. The Upson Walton Co., of Cleveland—tliey make some, do they
not ?—A. They make very few.

'Q. T might make it a matter of record and you say if it is true,
that on Tuesday, the 27th instant, I examined personally six life
preservers on the Fastland. I cut them all open, both those which
were in the water and those which had not been used, and they were
 not selected by me, but were brought to me by the police force

- Each of them bore the mark of inspection during each vear of its
life since it had been purchased. They were all made, either by the
Armstrong Cork Co., of Pittsburgh, or by the Upson Walton Co,
of Cleveland, and they were all in perfect condition, and each of
them showed in the presence of the assembled throng, perfect con-
dition. Would that be true?—A. If stamped they would. The Up-
son Walton Co., however, re-cover a good many of them, put new
covers on several hundred of the life preservers that were on the
Eostland.

‘Q. Now, go on and tell us what else you know about the Faat-
land—A. After she passed inspection, we issued her a certificate in
1908 and, I think, we gave her 1,500 passengers,

Q. Why didn’t you give her any more?—A. Then we issued an
excursion permit. :

Q. And how many did you give on that?—A. T think the first
excursion permit we issued allowed n total of 2,200.

Q. Your first excursion permit sllowed her a total of 2,200 passen-
gers?—A. Then, after we saw the boat could take care of 2,200, after
observing the boat and how she acted with 2,200, then we increased
her to 2,400. ’

-pot¥—A." Yes, sir, . L
7. Q. And is'not all your-action, as regards the number of Eassengers.
f

~tanks ¢—A.

The Arm--@ on her before I increased it,

1
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o Q. Yoﬁ'sng;.(hftér'obserﬁng the boat and how she acted with 2,200,
| you increase o

ed her to 2,4009—A. Yes, sir. .
Q.- Now, captain, would you have given her & license for 1,800,
except upon ‘the supposition that she was ‘going to use her ballast
tanks$—A. No,sir. . "o ' _
Q. Isn’t your undersfanding of the ballast tanks such that they
gre there-to be used 8--A. Yes, siv.. s
“Q. And they are not put in there for funt—A. No, sir. o
Q. They are supposed to be placed there for service, are they

y &%

she shall carry, based upon the supposed intelligent use of her ballast
e, gir. - Tt . = .

) Q. And is nqt’ this so upon ‘every vessel that is licensed #—A. Yes,
Q. Both on the lakes and on the ocean t—A. Yes, sir.

@. And when the ballast tanks are not used intelligently an ele-

"ment is intorduced over.which you can have no control?—A. No.
- Q. Isw’t that so¥-—A. Yes; certainly.

Q: Well; go:on Captain—A. Well, Mr. Secretary, when I made
that statement that I issued a permit for a total of 2,200 for her and
{hen issued one for 2,400, I don’t want you to infer that I saw 2,400

Q. Now, what did you say when you increased her caph;:ity to

9,400 after obsevving her; what did you mean, rather, by observing

her; explain on what basis you made that increase.—A. After ob-
gerving her, seeing her leave the dock, making[ several trips on her
out of the dock and on the lake; that 18 what I meant by observing

Q. Why do you use the words “leaving the dock ”f—A. Wh 7y 8

- number of people were always on one side; more on one side than
- on the other, and the boat will list more at the dock than it will out

in the lake, for you know people always will get on the side of the
boat next to the dock.

Q. Isn’t it a fact that there are possible conditions of danger at
the dock more than at the sea?—A, I always considered the Fast-
land more dangerous alongside of the dock than out in the lake.

Q. You don’t say that because you heard Mr. Peck say the same
thing?—A. I didn’t hear Peck say so. If he said it, I didn’t hear

Q. Running?—A. Yes; he said running. - (

Q. Go ahead, Captain.—A. She went through the season of 1908,
and in 1909 we inspected her again and gave her about 1,500 passen-
gers and increased the excursion rate; gave her an excursion permit,
if she needed it, up to 2,200. That is the highest. She remained at
2200 up until 1912. T was appointed supervisor inspector at that
time and Capt. Gould was assistant, and he gave her 2,000.

Q. Why did he do that?—A. Well, that was his judgment. I
don’t know. .

Q. You say it was his judgment—A. Yes, )

Q. Is it your understanding of the law that your local inspector
Emder you had the right to use his judgment?—A. In that case he
a8,




. 85 ACOIDENT TO THE STEAMEE EASTLAND,

Q. Is it your understanding of the law that it is his duty to’
his judgment?—A. Yes, sir. g ' e m‘_
Q. Is there any responsibility in that matter placed by law upon
the supervising inspectorf—A. I understand there was no appeal
in the case of the number of passengers from a local supervisor,
a loca] inspector to a supervisor inspector. '

Q. You understand that the law of the United States places tha
entire responsibility——A. On the local inspector.
Q. ——for determining the number of passengers on the local
inspector ¢—A., Yes, sir. Now I will qualify that by saying that

Capt. Gould and I talked the matter over before he reduced her to |

12,000. -

- Q. Then what happened?—A. Capt. Gould took the view that if
‘he gave her 2,000 you would not have to depend so much on the §

water ballast.

Q. But ‘he gave the reason for reducing her i}? this ca(;;e asdyoﬁ !
not have to depend so |

have stated?—A. Yes; so that you woul
much on the water ballast. R

Q. If she had 2,000 passengers she would not have to depend so,
much on the water ballast as she would if she carried 2,400%—
A. Yes, sir; and that is the reason I reduced her from 2,400 to 2,200,
lessening the element of danger in depending on her water ballasi,

Q. Because she had 2,400 or more, did you or did you not feel that
she was dependent on her water ballast?—A. Very much dependent’
on her water ballast, :

Q. Did you ever talk with the captain of the ship about that?—A,

2" A number of times.

Q. You did?—A. And to the engineer, too. :
.. Q. What did the captain say about it?—A. When we talked abount
it we told him to be careful and tend to the water ballast and see that
they were always under control. . S
: -Congregsman Sasara. I didn’t get that Mr. Secretary.

Secretary Reprierp. Read it, please. :

Answer read.) :
. Why did you tell the captain that?®—A. Why, a boat like the

Eastland relies on the water ballast.
Q. She relies upon her water ballast?—A. A good deal. :
Q. Well, is that what it is put there for, to be her reliance?—A.
Well, it is put there to use for that particular purpose—for stability.
Q. She is not-meant to be used without it, is she, Captain ?A,{
What is that? =~ '

Q. She is not meant to be used witliout it, is she?—A. No, sir.

Q. Any more than she is meant to be used without her boilers?—A.

Well, that is a pretty hard question to answer.
Q. Sheis supposed to use both of them, isn't she?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. She is supposed to.use her water ballast just as much as she is
her engines?—A. You could get along withonut the water ballast for
a very few people, but you couldn’t get along without the boiler or

engine.
5. That is very true. That is quite different.—A. Yes, sir.
Q. What did the captain say? Did he object to being told that?—
A, No, sir. ‘ : :
Q. Did he seem to think it was true?—A. Yes, sir.
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Q. What captain was that?—A. We had one, two, three—we had
four captains on her, in all, the time she was domng this work.

Q. And you had a number of different chief engineers?—A. Just
two. Dave Donaldson and Walter Brown, and his brother, Grant
Denaldson, remained in the service. o .

Q. Do you know where Mr. Donaldson can be found?—A. Yes,

gir; both of them. : C

Q. I wish you would send to Mr. Donaldson, and ask him if he
would come here and appear before this investigating committee.—

| - A. By the way, Mr. Secretary, one of the men from the Department

of Justice saw me, and I gave him all their addresses.

Secretary Reprrerp. Mr. Thurman, have you subpenaed Mr. Don-
aldson, the former engineer? o - '

Mr. Traurman, No, sir; we haven’t subpenaed him.

Secretary Reprierp. You have his namef .

Mr. Toorman. Yes. We will have to telepragh for him, Mr.
Secretary. T understand he is in Cleveland. I couldn’t send a sub-
pena down there. It would take a day to go down there and a day
and a half to get back. . .

Secretary Reorrewn. I will ask you to telegraph to-night to Mr.
Donaldson, and ask him to appear here at his earliest convenience,
His expenses will be paid. :

Q. Did you say you talked with the chief engineer about the use
of the water ballast?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did the chief engineer make any objection to that?—A. No,

. sir. They were all very attentive to the water ballast.

Q. How do you know they were?—A. Well, I watched that boat
o good many times. ¥ was on the dock a good many times while the
Eastland was there. ,

Q. Why was that #—A. Well, people talked so much about it and
there was so much controversy in the newspapers about the Eastland
that 1 wanted to satisfy myself that everything was all right. ;

Q. Well, what else, Captain?—A. That iz all that I know. She
never lost a life or injured a passenger all the time she was in con-
tinuous service.

Q. Was she in continuous use?—A. No; her season was probably
about 70 days. She made daily trips to Cedar Point by moonlight
every night.

Q). Was she doing the same class of business as she was doing in
Lake Michigan !—A. The same. A

Q. Substantially the same?—A. Yes; but her route was not so far.

Q. Now, isn’t Lake Erie considered fo be the roughest one of the
lakes?—A. It raises a very heavy sea in a short time. I have ridden

" on her in 8 choppy sea many times when there was a sea on, and I

went along just to see her condition.

Q. You went along on the Eastland in-e choppy sea just to see how
ghe acted #—A. Yes, sir; just to see how she acted.

Q. And how did she act?—A. Fine. She was a fine sea boat.

Q. A fine ses boat?—A. Yes, gir. o :

Q. Captain, you are an old seaman%—A. Yes, sir. ,

Q. Now, look back and think of the time when you were not a
mere government official; think of the time when you were just a
man and remember when you were a seaman whose judgment was




.

- 88 . ACCIDENT TO THE STEAMER EASTLAND,
. good, and then tell me, based upon your judgment as a man before yoy
ost out and became a Government official, tell me whether you reall
~ think as a seaman that the Eastlond was a good sea boat?—A. ]

- could only tell as a seaman that she was a good sea boat.

Q. And as a seaman you say so, do you?—A. As a seamgn I say so,

Q. How many years at sea have you?—A. Since I was 14 years

old. . I am 60 now. - - :

Q. From 14 to 60?—A. Yes, sir. o

"~ Q. How long a time do you think it takes 2 man to know a good

sea boat when he sees one, Captain?—A. Well, that depends on

your ability to judge of things. Mr. Secretary, I would like to
qualify that by saying that a good sea boat—what we call & good
gea boat—is the kind of & boat that-people on shore may say 1s an
awful boat, which they said about the Zasfland because she rolled,
but-she rolled easy and she rolled even, like any good, clean ship
.~ would roll. She would come back again. The people on shore would
- saz that she was an awful roller. Now, a sailor don’t care how much

a boat rolls, as long as she rolls eagy. It is the ship that jerks you
off your feet that is a bad sea boat. . ,

ij Captain, isn’t a vessel which stands up stiff in a heavy sea apt
to be a dangerous ship #-—A. A ship that ro{)ls gradually, as she rolls
and comes back again before she has lost her ability to come back—
before she increases her roll too much—has stability.

. Q. And, as she rolls, her submerged area becomes greateri-——A,
Yes, sir. :

i, Q. Now, did you ever travel on a torpedo-boat destroyer, Cap-
tain?-—A. No, sir. .

'Q. Well, don’t you do it.—A. T would like to.

Q. Have you looked at the Eaatlond here?—A. No, sir. L

. Q. Have you ever seen her drawings?—A. I saw her in the dock

at Cleveland one time, and I admired the beautiful lines of the
Eastland. :

Q. There has something been discovered about her which T want
to call your attention to; some genius has discovered that she had no
ll:ee{. . What about that?—A. None of our boats up here have any

eel. o .

Q. What %-—A. None of our boats up here have any keel.

Q. Explain yourself, Captain. What do g:m mean by saying that
none of our boats have any keel?—A. Maybe some of them do; but
sur freight boats, for instance, have no standing keel. They have
just a flat bottom—a flat keel. o :

Q. Is that safe?—A. Why, they seem to get along.

Q. You mean to say that these Great Lﬂﬁs freighters that have
- 10,000 tons of .cargo get along without keels?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And they are
their good money into them knowing they have no keels; is that so1—
A. None of our freight boats, even vessels, don'’t have any keel.

Q. This is astonishing. You astonish me very much! I knew it -

was true, but I thought these people knew it.—A. I can give a rea-
son, for that, Mr. Secretary. In the early days we were limited to
a shallow draft of water in going up through the Lakes, and if
we had two or three inches on a keel it took just that much off our
cartying capacity ; so we built the boats just as flat as we could.

 tiful,

eliberately built by thoughtful men, who put-
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Q. In a very large ship what would the difference in carrying ca-
pacity be for every inch of drafti—A. Why, the large ships that
carry all the way from 50 to 70 tons an inen, large smps currying
about 70 tons to the inch— L T ‘

Q. Well, if you had a 4-inch keel projecting at bottom of a large
boat, it might mean a loss in carrying capacity of 280 tons; is that
truef—A. Why, we figure that on the largest ship we carry 70 tons
to the inch. That would be about right. ‘ o

Q. Now, as an old sailor, Captain, 1 want to call your attention to
something else which has been discovered, at least it was said to
have been discovered, and that is that this vessel has a flat bottom. .
She has not, but it does not matter. Isn’t it a fact that your Great
Lakes freighters all have flat bottoms{—A. Why, the flatter they are
on the bottom the more stable they are. o ,

Q. Isn’t it o fact that all the battleships of the United States
Navy all have flat bottoms$—A. Our regular freighters on the lakes
are built as flat as this floor. We have very little dead: space.

Q. They are purposely built so?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you say that the Eaatland had beautiful lines?—A. Beau-

Q. Do you regard her, from your experience as a seaman, as a safe
véssel, if her water ballast was used ?—A. If she is properly handled
ghe is perfectly safe. o

Q. Now, must I draw the inference from what you say that, if she
was unsafe, she was improperly handled ¥—A. Yes, sir.

Q. That is your sober judgment?—A. That is ml)l' sober judgment.
0; course, there is a limit, Mr. Secretary, to what you may call
pafety. . - .

Q.yGo on, Captain, go on.—A. I considered the Eastland was per-
fectly safe while she was in Cleveland, under the conditions in Cleve-
land. I don’t know what her condition was here, but in Cleveland
1 considered the EKastland perfectly safe for 2,500 people.

Q. In Cleveland you considered the Eastlond perfectly safe for
2,500 people?—A. Yes, sir; I considered her perfectly safe for 2,500
pm{:le, because that is what we gave her;.2,400 passengers and 100
m the crew. : . . )

Q. When you mention these limits“you mean that these were in
addition to her crew }—A. Yes, sir. We gave her 100 crew.

Q. So that, when g'ou said you had a limit of 2,400, you meant in
addition to a crew of 100%—A. Yes, sir; 100. ‘

Q. Two thousand five hundred lpc'rsons in all?%—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, captain, I want to tell you very frankly——A. Pardon
me. This is subject to correction from my records.

Q. Yes; I understand. I want to tell yon very frankly that there
is- very properly and very naturally very deep feeling aroused be-
<ause of the terrible sadness which has fallen on this community.—
A. I realize it. Nobody realizes it more than I do. )
_ Q. And I want you to speak with soberness, as a thoughtful max;
and in view of the fact that it has hapg)ened’—_a ship lying yonder
on her side in the water—I want to tell you again—I want to ask
you whether it is true that jyou think this vessel, properly handled
and with her ballast in proper use, was safe for 2,500 people?—A. I
rot only think so, but I know so.
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. Q. You think 08~—A. I know so, _

Q. On what do you base that opinion?—A.. On past observntlom\ .

Q. Well, observation of the vessel continued over how many
‘years 1—A. From 1907 to 1912. She left in the spring: of 1913 but

~ she had no passengers.

Q. Did you happcn to know that you Were@commended to me fow

the post, retention in your post, by the mayor of the mty of Lleve- '

land ¢—A. No, sir. -
Q. You didn't know that?%—A. No, sir.
Q. Is there anythmg more that you can tell about the Eastland,

captam?—A T can not think -of anything just now. Muybe some- -

thing might come out if I am asked questions.

tions?
Mr. O’HARA Yes; thank you
Q. You had been acquamted with conditions on the Lakes how

‘many years?—A. I left the ccean on the 2nd day of June, I be- /

lieve, and came up on the Great Lakes

Q. What year?—A. 1873, :

Q. In that year, Captain, what was the largest numiber of passen-
gers or human beings carried b
that time?—A. I have no idea. I was just a sailor before the mast.
I had no use for a passenger boat in those days.

Q. Well, how many years, Captain, has the present or modern

steamboat as we have it on the lake of to-day, the passenger steam:
boat, been developmg?-——A Why, gradually from year to year.

When I first went into the service we had the City of Buffalo and E

the City of Erie, which carried 2,000 people.
Q. How many years ago was that, Captain?—A. 1905 and 1906,
That is subject to my records, of course.
Q. In 1905 those were the largest boats on the lakes in carrj,mg
capacltv ?—A. I didn’t say on the lakes, but in my district.
Q. Of your knowledge!—A. In my district.
Q. In your district?—A. Yes.
Q. And they carried 2,000 passengers?——A That is what we al»
lowed on the gzt y of Evrie and the City of Buffalo.
Q. In 1906 was there constructed a boat carrying more pawen
gers?—A. Why, we had two_.ships called the Americana and the
- Canadione down in Buffalo that I believe had 3,000 or over 3,000,
. and they ran between Buffalo and Crystal Beach.
every day.
Q. Now, Captain, as this industry developed, was there any kind
of competition between boat lines—among boat lines?!—A. Why,

there has never been any competition in Cleveland that I know of. .

Q. In other words, what I am getting at—A. I would like to

qualify that by saying that the boats that run between Cleveland

and Detroit make one line, between Cleveland and Buffalo is an-
other line, and between Cleveland and Put-in-Bay is part of the
C. & B. line. The Eastland ran from Cleveland to Ceday Point.
She had no competition. The boats that ran between Buffalo and
Crystal Beach had no competition to speak of. Once in awhile
some might come in, but not very much.

Q. Captain, was it any advantage to the owners or the proprietors
of the boat to advertise its carrvmg the largest number of passen-

Secretary REDFIELD Gov. O’Hara, do you want to ask any ques-

any boat on.the Great Lakes at.

They ran out .

: tho(aiy would get 1,600 tickets sold.
0!
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gors, was there any commercial advantage in that whlch yo R Zb—
sorved A,  Why, I can answer that from hearsay, not from: Ty
ersonal knowlec g :

Q. Yes—A. From hearsay - 1 used to understand that they liked

to go out and advertise and say that this boat would carry 2,500 or
3,000, with the view that they might sell 2,000 tickets; if they ad-
vertised 3,000, they would get 2,000, and if they advertised 2,000
Of course that is what I heard.
n't know anythmg about it, because I have never been in the
passenger business,

Q. Then from the conversations you have heard from the people
and from popular interest in the various steamers running out of
ports in your district popular interest was aroused in their carrying
capacity t—A. They all liked to carry as many as they could.

Q. Now, Captsin, did you ever hear of any case wherein a boat
owner or any person interested in a boat line in your district en-

* deavored undulv to influence the action of the Government offi-

"

- cials?—A. No; sir.

Q. Then, Captain, when the carrying capacity of the Eaatland
was raised from 2,200 to 2,400, who made the request?—A. Nobody.

They asked, I believe—I can not say as I have no record for that, but !
., Mr. Thnmpson was the manager then and he said he would like to

have 2,500,
0. N ow, he said that in writing or orally ?-—A Oh, no; ); just orally
- Q. Orally?—A. Yes.
- Q. And there is absolutely no record of that request t—A, No, sxr
Q. In your office%—A. No, sir.

Q. In every such case, Captain, coming under your knowledge, o

were those requests made orally or in writing?—A. They used to be

oral, but now, in late years, an application is made out by the man "

that requests an excurgion permlt They have a regular form for
that.

Q. Well, Captain, going back a number. of years that have pased

since the Fastland had’ her carrying capacity raised from 2,000 to

2,400, there is no scrap of paper, there is no evidence in wntmg any-
where that can be brought before this body showing exactly who
made the request that the capacity be raised to 2,4009—A. Oh, yes.
The request was made. It would not have been ramed from 2,200 to
2,400 unless the request was made.

Q. T know, but who made the request?_-—A I presume the man-

ager, the general manager.
Q. Who was he do you know?—A. Why, I do know.
Q. What was his name, Captain?—A. M. H. Thompson.
Q. He made the request of you?—A. Yes, sir:
Q. You were the proper official to receive the requesti—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, when the request had been made to you, Captain, what
was the next step taken by you, or the first step taken by you?-—A.
To consider if she could carry 2,400 safely, and -then see if she had
the proper number of life preservérs, -
Q. Well, how did you come to consider that matter—A.

ell, I
had obser\ed her.

T believe I issued an excursion permit June 12

" with a total of 2,200, and before the Fourth of July, of course; they

wanted all they "could get on, and ¥ think it was the 2nd day of

V July, but all this will be subject to my records.
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ow. |, . : :
- Q. Yeg; but do I understand, Captain—I think I must misunder’
- stand, bit do I understand that your system in considering whether
a boat could carry more than 2,200 passengers was.to put on 2,400
for one trip?—A, Oh, no; that permit was geod until September
sometime. . oo o T ‘ ‘
.. 'Q. Yes; but i]ust how did you go about it? Is there a mathema-
- tical way of telling, any method by which you are familiar in telling
'hozy that is arrived at?—A. Only by judgment and personal obser-
vation, . : - ) / g
Q. By judgment and personal observation and testing with human
freight —A. Yes, sir. ‘
Q. Now, Captain, what year was the carrying capacity or the
licensed carrying capacity raised from 2,200 to 2,4002—A. In 1908
Q. And at that time were the people of Cleveland, to your knowl-
edge, talking about the crankiness of the Eastland?—A. Yes, sir.
6. It-was popular talk?—A. Yes, sir; popular talk and a' good
'deal of newspaper controversy.

€

Q. And without any mathematical test qﬂqelcarry'éxg capacity was |
¢

raised from 2,200 to 2400%-—A. Sure. I had confidence in doing
what I did. I thought I was right in my jndgment. I passed judg-
ment that way, and I would do it againy I would raise it to 2500,
- provided the water ballast was properl{z7 andled. LR

Q. Now, Captain, I am going to ask you a question that is per-
haps a little without the scope of this inq iry, but as an old lake man

you, of course, have talked with sailors‘and captains of experience- "..T.
on the Lakes—it so happened, Captain, that my own father spent *

his boyhood sailing on the Lakes, and part 5f my life has been spent
among lake men—in your experiénce and ‘conversation have you
many times, or at any time, heard old lake mien ‘express the theory
that the modern system of permitting 2,000 jor 3,000 passengers on
any lake boat was unsafe and might ead to(s disaster?—A. I have
not heard that remark. e ’ .
Q. Not among old lake men{—A. No; not among old lake men.
Q. That is not the general talk%—A. Oh, no;j\not among men who
know what they are talking about. If it is perjissible, I will state
" the facts of a case down in Buffalo when the |Americana and the
Canadiana came down here. . T
Q. All right.—A. We had never had any real good passenger boats
down in Buffalo, and they got these fine, beautiful ﬂoats that will
- stand up under any condition as well as any ever built for them,
and lots of people said they would roll over, that“they have heen
- there a (s;ood many years and they have not rolled over yet, and you

- can go down there and see them to-day. They would list but a very
few inches. ' ’

:Q. Who were the owners of the Eastland, Captain, in 1908, at the
time the request was made for the raising of the carrying capacity,
from 2,200 to 2,400?—A. Why, I have a record of that in my her

/ Mr. Doty, I think, was the secretary. Mr. Doty was the sefretary,)
and Mr. M. H. Thompson was the manager for two years{ Then
Mr. Mulhauser was the manager, and after that Mr. Mulholland.
There were three managers. ’ :
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Q. Captain, during the period that you were, as the Secretary
gays, & man before you had become a servant of the Government——
A. All right, if that is the way you feal about it.

Q. Were you ever associated in a business way with any of the
gentlemen who were interested in the ownership of the Eastland in
1908?—A. I didn’t know any of them, but just had a speaking ac-
quaintance with them. C

Q. None of them had ever asked any favor of you and you had

* never asked a favor of them?—A. No, sir.

Q. None had been granted ?-A. No, sir. ) ‘
Q. And the decision to raise the carrying capacity of the Fastland
from 2,200 to 2,400 was exclusively with you?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. That is, you consulted no one?--A. No, sir.

Q. You did that of your own volition?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And if any mistake was made at that time, Captain, it was your
own mistake and the mistake of no one else?—A. It was a mistake
in my judgment. . -

Q. Now, Captain, at that time you were convinced that the Fasi-
land, if the water ballast were not adjusted properly, was an unsafe
eraft for 2,400 people?-—A. Yes, sir. S

Q. Did you so notify the owners of the Fastland?—A. T don’t be-
lieve I notified the owners of the Eastland, but I took that matter
up with the captain and engineer more than anyone else, and told

» them to be careful about the water ballast.

Q. What is the form, Captain, of giving permission to increase

. the carrying capacity; is there a usunl form?%—A. There is now.

Q. At that time was there?—A. Why, if there had been a man
come up and say he would like to get an excursion permit increased, .
and couldewe increase it to 2,000 or 2,200 or 2,400, I would say no
or yes. = . . w . i

Q. If you granted permission you would sign your namef—A.

sJes, sir. : . i
\*Q,, On the record or on the copyv of the request he would make
out?—A. Yes, sir. I say it is a form printed and we fill in the
prover passengers, the number that we wanted to carry, the number
of life preservers, the boats, and rafts. ,

Q. Now, Captain, on the certificate or permission granted the own-
ers of the Fastlond in 1908 J}carry" 2.400 passengers, did you put a
noetmtion something in this” form: “ Permission granted to corry -
2,400 passengers provided the water ballast is properly adjusted ¥ *—

No, sir. -

Q. And yet you knew at that time, Captain,. that the boat would
be unsafe unless the water ballast was properly adjusted #-<A. There
would be a number of things. You may as well tell a man: “ We
will grant you 2,000 passengers provided you have water in vour
boilers.” or “Provided yon keep your side lights lit at night,” or
“Provided you have a2 good wheelsman on duty.”

Q. The presumption is that it is their duty to take care of the bal-
last?—A. That is up to the master and the engineer to take care of it.
It is a part of the master’s duty as much as anything else.

Q. Captain, in a boat like the Fastland licensed to carrv 2.400 pas-
sengers and the water ballast is properly adjusted, should the 2,400
people by a common thought go on one side or one portion of the
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. Year offerin
proof that the Fastland was not a safe boat?—A.

-

~

.. boat, would the boat. be safe, or must the passengers be scattered %-— v

A, won -

o %ﬁf:@??.f,ﬁ“f&%f&?%ﬁ%ﬁﬁfé’ in your distiet—A. Yes
o Ofliag o rowars Gy o7l nowepaper thu
r at tl can not recall
newspuper reculing the Bt oy Lo, gihe dny ﬁfﬁ;is?ﬁfuéﬁzé
but I saw it the other day. ‘ A 1 don

Q. Now, Captain, perhaps that did a i it di

) ppear and perh t )
but we haven’t any ]?)roof of it—A. Oh, itpappearedp;ll r%glsltl, Idldln o
because there was g copy from the newspaper.

't remember now,

what vear it was.

sir. -
Q. And was her passené‘er capacity again increased2—A. No. sir:
1t was reduced then to 2,000 by Capt. Gould. I didn’t have 7an;t,h§i§g’

. Q. In 1910 was the Fagtland under your jurisdiction?—A. Yes, :

to do with her then.-

Q. Oh, yes. Now, Captain, a question was asked IYI? some time
w

ago if the men under you.worked eight hours a day. is that —.
A. Why, we have no fixed number of hours. 'T{Te have to dﬁ the

- work as it comes along, accommodating the public as best we can. I -

left the office last night with Capt. Gould and the two stenogra- -

- phers at 9 o’clock, getting these records ready to come up here.

. on my

Q. It might be possible for a man to work 24 hours at a stretch

under your system?—A. We have never asked them to do that.

owever, in our district sometimes the boys would come home off
of a trip Saturday night and would have to come down and tally
passengers Sunday morning. :
- Q. This has nothing to do with this inauiry, but the matter was
brought out, and I will ask you this: Will you say as a general
practice that & man who does this work of increasing the carrying
capacity of a boat from 2,200 to 2,400—would you say as a general
practice that he would be more likely to be capable and efficient in
giving that judgment and that decision if his hours were restricted
to eight a day?—A. Why, he would not give that decision from one

- observation or two observations, but a number of observations. I

want to answer the question, Governor, as I understand it.
. Q. Yes; and permit me to say to you that I appreciate the spirit |
in whigh you are answering my auestions, and there is no intention
o0 embarrass you in the slightest degree.—A. All right.
Q. Now, Captain, in your official capacity vou come in contact
often with the owners of these Lake boats?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you ever consult with the representatives of the men whe
are manning the boats¥—A. A number of times, as to improvements
and additional equipments.
Q. And at all times may a representative of any organization of
the men on the boats come to you?—A. At any time. :
Q. And receive the same treatment ss the owners!—A. Yes, sir.

guess,

Q. That was 1910, according to the neWspaperé.—A, I don’t know ’_

.
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". Q. Now, Captain, during the time that the Eastland was in your
juricdiction did any of the men then working on the Eastlond come
to you to make a complaint?—A. Never. I never heard a complaint

- from the Eastland by any of the men that was on her.

%"Q. Did anyone representing any men on the Eastland?—A. No,
gir. : :

Q. Did anyone representing any organization of seamen?—A.
Why, I would not—I don't know whether they represented any or-
ganization of seamen or not, but a number of peopie used to come
up and ask: “Do you think the E'estland is a safe boat?”’ And I
would say “Yes.” Sometimes we would have ladies come u}) and
say: “ Do you think the Eastland is a safe boat?” And I would say
“Yes™ They would say: “ Well, I don’t see how you can say that.

| 1was on her last summer and she rolled something awful.” I would .

say: “That don't make any difference how much a ship rolls, that

* don't make her unsafe.”

- Q. Did people come up to you, Captain, inquiring about other
boats as well as the Fastland?—A. At one time I tallied Pasengers '
on the City of Buffalo on an excursion late at night, and I had been
on duty the whole day when I was local inspector and they tele-
phoned down that they had tc take an excursion out, and I went
down at 7 o’clock and the boat left at 8, and a lady came-up and
says: “Is this boat safe? Aren’t you allowing too many people on
her?” I says: “No. If you had a statercom that is all you need to
care about.” , ’

Mr. O'Hara. Yhat is all, Captain. Much obliged to you.

Secretary Reprrerp. Capt. Nelson, is it the habit of all the super-

vising inspectors to come to Washington in January every year?

A. Yes, sir. _

Q. What for?—A. For a meeting of the Board of Supervisors
and inspectors. . '

Q. What do they do?—A. Formulate rules and regulations.

Q. Where do they get the things they talk about?—A. Well,
from the number of meetings that are held and people that appear
before them, and the things that come up in the service.

Q. And the ideas you get, that you bring there every year in
January, come from all over the country?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. The various ideas that have been su%‘gested to you by different
persons and parties of all kinds throughout the year, you bring
them there and discuss them to see——A. Whether they are practical
or not.

Q. Yes; to see whether they are practical or not.—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And various devices for saving life, these are brought there
-and discussed?—A. A number of them.

Q. And is it or is it not the habit to actually put these devices for
saving life to trial%—A. What is that? ~

Q. And is it or is it not the habit to actually put these devices for
saving life to actual trial 7—A. Actual test; yes.

Q. How long do you stay down there?—A. Oh, a couple of
months, or three months, We have got to stay there until-the busi-
ness of the board is done. N ‘

Q. And when you get through, what is doneé—A. Why, there is
a book printed of our proceedings and any changes are recorded.
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coming year ?—A. The rules and regulations,
Q. For the coming year?—A. Yes, sir. :

Q. Is it not true that every year witnesses a revision of the rulég '

of the service?—A. Yes, sir. »

.Q. And the adjusting of these rules to alter conditions?—A. Yes,

sir. 4 :
-+ Q. So that the rules of this year are not the rules of last year$«

A. Few changes this year from last year. - -
Q. And the rules of last year are not the rules of the year be.
fore?—A. A number, of changes. '

Q. And every year the rules are altered by study, are they not%—
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Studies arising fyrom experience?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Who approves tﬁ
Secretary of Commerece.

Q. They don’t become laws until they are spproved ?—A. Until

.- he stgns his name to them.

Q. And then they are printed and given to every captain. all over

" “the land?—A. Every steamboat recelves, a copy of the rules and

regulations, , : ,
» % Every steamboat receives a copy of the rules and regulations —
* A. ¥es; freight or passenger. , .
Yes. ﬁow, aptain, has it ever been suggested to jou in
your experience that you should survey ships?-—-i. No, sir.
Q. What do you understand me to mean, when I siiy “survey
ships ”%—A. Well, to survey ships, we do, to a certain extent sur.

- vey ships as to what damage she has received; what is necessary in

the way of repairs; but in the way of classification, like a classifi-
cation society, that kind of survey we are nat called upen to do.

Q. Why not?—A. There is nothing in the rules that compels ug
to do it, and we don’t have the time.

Q. Suppose that Congress should impose upon your service the

extra duty of fixing the metacentric height of vessels and the per-
formin

could do that work?—A. I can’t tell, sir.
without studying up a little bit. , :

Q. Would you not have, with your present force, to leave undone
your present work in order to do that work?—A. We would have
to. That takes a long while, to tell the metacentric height.

AQ]ST In gther words, you have neither the men nor the money?—
. Nor the time. -

Q. Nor the authority %—A. Nor the authority. -
Q. Has it ever been suggested to you, in your long experience,

that the work was the function of the United States Government ?—
A. Well, it should be. :

Q. You think it should be?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why do you think so?—A. It is the function of the board of
trade in England.

Q. In Great Britain?—A. In Great Britain. - -

Q. You mean the Lloyd’s classification?—A. The Lloyd’s classifi-
cation. - ‘ :

Q. That is a branch of the English board of trade?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And under their survey ?—A. Yes, sir.

I couldn’t do it myself

Q. And*tbése, procéediiigs,‘as’ yoﬁ call them; are the rules for the

ese rules before they go to press?—A. The I

of any kind of measurement. Have you anv men who §
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:Q. How about the Buresu of Verités?!—A. That is a French

society. . B} . v ‘
. Is that in any sense official?—A. Yes, sir. o
%. {Iow about t}lyle American Bureau of Shipping?—A. That is".
lassification society. o
als(%.a]t?es; but that has n}:)' official standing.—A. I believe it has to P
tent, Mr. Secretary. . p
sma?gio; the American byureau is owned by the Marine Insuranc?/
Co—A. Yes; that gives it a standing. P A\

Q. You don’t understand me. When I say “official” I mean in\
relation to the Government.—A. No relation to the Government what-
evg: Now, isn't it a fact that every vessel in the world over 100 feet
long, in every civilized land, is surveyed and is registered and gets
a certificate from one of these four services?—A. Why, Mr. Secre-
tary, I couldn’t answer that question by saying yes or no, because I

’t know. :
doa‘t Well, answer it as you can—A. Well, I know that vessels over
in England receive a certificate from Lloyd’s.

Q. The entire English merchant marine is so measured ar,ld sur-
veyed %—A. Yes, sir; and in Germany it is the German Lloyd’s.

Q. And the German merchant marine is so surveyed ¢—A. Yes;
and in Norway, France, and all other countries they are surveyed.
If you don’t get that survey, you can not get any insurance.

Q). Before a vessel can get insurange she'mpst have been surveyed
as to stability, strength, as to all characteristics of service by one of
these surveys#—A. She has no standing unless she has that.

Q. That takes place before you make your examination of the new
ship?—A. Yes, sir.

5. So that before you examine any new vessel that thorough
scientific study of the ship-has been made?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, there is still another, is there not, in the case of the super-
vision by the naval arciiitects and all the engineers of the shipbuild-
ing company. who not only watch the vessel throughout her design -
and construction, but give her a trial trip to determine whether she
meets the calculations they have made?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. That is true?—A. Yes, sir. i o L

Q. So that what happens is this: She is under scientific design
and supervision from the inception of the plans to the trial trip,
and after that she comes into the hands of your service to determine
her condition, her physical condition ?—A. She can not have a chance
until she has qualified and has a certificate. She can not get her
clearance. : .

Q. She can not get a clearance from any board in the country —A.
No, sir.

(’Q. Or from any customhouse ?—A. No, sir. )

Q. Now, it is quite important to be right about that. That is the
history of every vessel %—A. An offhand history; yes.

Q. And that is correct #—A. Yes, sir. _

Gen. Unvrer. That is the history of every vessel that wants insur-

ance.

22359—16——7
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 cation would hardl; %(x)x
Q. Is that so, Captain *—A. She couldn’t get any cargo insumnce, )
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hadn’t been throth this scientific survey and received her classifi.
y be able to get a cargo.

either.

Q. Consequently she couldn’t do any business 1—A. No, sir.
Q. So that it is not possible, even though they tried it, for a vessel

to escape this survey at the hands of this scientific staff?—A. No.

She couldn’t get any rating and she must have a rating.

. Q. And when they say a vessel is ratnd A-1 they must have gone
through a survey by one of these classification societies which have
made a scientific study of the shi » going into small details, and after
which they issue a certificate ¢ assifying her as she deserves?—A.
A 1lwithastar, A 1, B 1, B 2, and so on. o :

Q. And each of these mean a different quality of ship?—A. Yes;

and an advantage, also.
Q. Yes.. Now, that is the universal custom, is it not ?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, did the Kastland escape that experience !—A. Why, she
couldn’t have got any insurance iF she had. - .
Q. So that the Eastland was studied pretty carefully by a scien-

tific staff before you had anything to do with her?—A. She was |

classified by a classification society.
Q. That is true, is it not?—A. Yes, sir.

Secretary ReprieLp. Do you want to ask any questvions, Judge
Sabath ¢ '

Mr. Sapata. T want to ask one or two,

Q. T have been present at the investigation conducted here before v

the coroner and heard some of the gentlemen make their statements;
I have also heard yon, and I can not understand how it is possible
that that boat should lie there in the coedition that it isin, a first-class
boat, navigable and safe, and also in the hands of 1 safe captain, and
some of the gentlemen have stated that the captain has been carefully
examined before a permit was granted, and if the boat has been exam-
ined by you and is safe and capable of carrying 2,400 people or
s0, I don’t understand how it ig ossible that within 8 feet of itg
own dock she should turn over. Can you give a reason for it?—A.

Why, there must be a reason. I can not tell the reason, That will °

probably be brought out some time or other. I have no rea son.
an you give me an opinion?—A. My opinion is that it s due

* to the water ballast not being properly handled. That is my opin-

ion. T have not seen the boat. I have not gone into any details.
Q. Do you know the draft of this boat’—A. Why, I have seen
ﬂfle draft a number of times, but I have never made a memorandum
of it.
Q. Now, if this boat would draw from 12 to 13 feet of water and
the soundings that have been made right now where she is lying

show 17 feet § inches and 17 feet 9 inches, would it be possible, or

would you say that she grounded?—A. Why, there might he 16 or
17 feet of water right under her bilge, right along the dock, and T
remember that dock down there, and there might be a possibility
that her bilge might have rested up on that, -but I don’t know.
I have not seen the boat or examined any of the details, so that

whatever I say now is purely an opinion. " My opinion now is that

- Secretary Reprrewo. Gen. Uhler also suggests that a vessel which

sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as follows:

‘D, \‘{"-
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the water ballast was not properly handled. From past experience

' how that boat would capsize if her water ballast was
Ir?)!})l:a:ll;thfgdlgd. For a number of years I saw her in Cleveland

_gnd handled her, and that is what I base my assertion on.

. Q. While she was in Cleveland she had five tanks on each side?—

A‘QI. ]%e\;(laget;?e.y all in use at that time? . Were they ready for use

“or in position to be used if necessary?—A. I believe that the prac-

tice there was to have one part of that water bottom full before they :
) ssengers.

wg t(’i‘(r)lri:aosﬁuftrgngr?t ha§ been made that only two of those tanks
have been in use Intely—A. I don’t know anything about that.

T am just speaking about what was done in Cleveland.

is i i been
' duty is it to ascertain whether all the tanks had
use%, gl?&sl?er sh}; is in a safe condition ?—A. During the time she
i assengers? . .
wa& ta\Vlﬂe?li (l)orfla ore sh% received the right to sail each season.—A. T
su; [;ose the inspectors would look over that part of it.
& Of this district?%—A. Wherever she is.
Mr. SaBaTH. Thgt is all. ;
itne; cused. -
gg:-t;tl:i;eﬁnm*mgn. T have just learned that Inspector Reid, of
Grand Haven, has a very important en%agement_ with the sheriff
and is willing to take the stand at once. I would like to put him on )
at once. We will excuse Capt. Nelson now. Judgg Sabath, you
and Mr. Sullivan will be given an opportunity lateg on to examine
Capt. Nelson. o ,

Roserr Rem, called as a witness by theboard, being first ‘duly

Examined by Secretary Reprierp: - :
i ' : he stenog-
. Will you state your full name, address, and age to t
1‘&?!'(10}',‘?7143. Robert Reid; Grand Haven, Mich.; born February 18,
r(.. . ‘ : . .
IBOQ,{ What is your occupation, Capt. Reid?—A. At the present time
n working for the Government. ] ,
! g.l K(s)rwl}?zﬁ ?—A. As a local steamboat inspector.
Q. A local inspector of w{]{ﬂtl'imA. Steamboats.
ilers or hulls?—A. Hulls, 7 , '
% %?;ﬂeéieo; nﬁamber of the local board located at Grand Haven.
Mich. 2—A., Yes%, Si{. -
at so?—A. Yes, sir. . '
% ICsagtlthe%d, it is mfr duty to say to you that under ordinary
circ;lmstances you would be obliged to answer any inquiries that

~ this local board, or myself acting for them, requested of you, in pur-

' J e United States law and of the rights of the local board
;u:n?i%i‘bt(l)xfu?}i;x\tﬂl You have, however, come voluntarily and on you;
own motion and consent, though at my request, for the purpoze ;))’
affording the public information, but as you have been ﬂ'rreSts‘:Et d‘}
the authorities of the State of Illinois, and are now in tl}}ellr cg b0 y.
it is therefore right that I should say to you that you wi ' nnl _edre—
quired to answer any guestion which, in your own personal judg-

ment, you may think likely either to inconvenience or incriminate
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'you or to affect in any degree whatsoever, in your judgment, the

defense which you may make before the courts of the State of -

Tllinois, and that you will be fuliy protected by the Government de-
partment in declining to answer any of these questions for the rea-
sons stated, for if you do answer you do so on your own motion,
" because you are quite willing to do so, and with the understanding
that the representative of the State’s attorney here may properly
use any evidence you now give against you in a later hearing.
- And this further statement that in order to avoid entrapping you
with the possibility of a failing memory of your testimony here, a
copy of your testimony, if any, will be supplied you for your own
use. Under those circumstdnces I ask you if you wish to testify.
What is your answer, Captain?—A. I will testify.
< @ You will testify?—A. Yes, sir.. .~
Q. Thank you, very much; that is what I expected of youn, Cap-
taip. - . e o : : ’

Mr. Soruivan. May I make a suggestion: In order to guard the

rights zealously of the individual we will see that every privilege
and opportunity is exercised for Mr:Reid; but I wish you would
ask him-if he has employed counsel or hag consulted with counsel.
Secretary Repriern. Have you employed-counsel %—A. No, sir.
Q. Have you consulted counsel at all®—A. No, sir. .
Congressman Sasara. Mr. Secretary, if you will pardon me, I am
as intensely degirous of seeing that everyone who has been guilt
of ne'gliigenc% crime is punished, a great many of my people suf-
fered, my district suﬂere(l), and the general public suffered; never-

theless I am of the opinion that every man should have his interests
guarded. I believe this man should be informed without all of us

being present here by someone in whom he has confidence, of his
actual rights and {)rivileges that he has; and I think he should be
permitted to consult a lawyer who will advise him whéther it would
be right for him to testify.

Secretary REDFIELD, Cagt. Reid will have privilege of counsel and
" his entire Iocal community, where he has.

is happy in the support o
lived through his life.

Q. Capt. Reid, I understand from the vigilant sa fc-p:lmrci and
- vigilant watchman of the press that you have been guilty of a crime =
which I myself have committed, in fact any of us have, namely, that

of having a son-in-law.—A. I have.
Q. You have a son-in-law, have you?—A. Two of them,
- Q. Is that son-in-law the chief engineer of the steamer £astland f—
A. One of them, Mr. Joseph Erickson.
Q. Is your son-in-law %—A. One of them.
Q. Did you make that arrangement for him to become your son-in-
law ?—A. No, sir. ;
Q. Was that a matter you fixed up *—A. No, sir.
Q. Did you prepare a scheme whereby he should become your
son-in-law and then get that job on that boat so that you might in-
erease the rating of the passengers in that boat #—A. No, sir.
Q. When did you issue the passenger allowance for the Fast-
land ?—A. This year, you mean ¢
Q. Yes; the last one%—A. The first one was issued June 7, 1915,
Q. This year?—A. Yes, sir. '

" ments the request was renewed and it was
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Q. And the second one was when?—A. There was an amendment
issued on J \Jll{l 2. -
Q. Now, why was there an amendment #—A. Because the steamer
had equipped herself with additional life boats and- raftage and pro-

vided for the extra number of passengers asked for.

Q. Asked for! Did I understand that she asked for the full num-
ber at the fitst time and was refused that because she dl_d not have
boatage sufficient?—A. That was the talk we had, but it is not in
writing, but the correspondence will show that we had that talk.

Q. You mean to say that at the first inspection they asked for
2,5008—A. Yes, sir. . ,

Q. And it was refused them?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Because their boatage and life raftage was not up to the re-
quired legal quantity; is that sof—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. And that then, after they brought it up to the legal require- -
granted #—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do T understand that it would have been granted in the first
instance had they complied with the law in respect to the boats and

?—A. It would. ‘ : ) )
mg? Why ?%—A. Because in my judgment I think she is capable of
carrying 2,500 people when she is properly equipped? :

Q. On what do you base that judgment?—A. On past experience

ith the steamer. ]
ngl. You say past experience with the steamer; tell us what it was.—
A. Along about 1906, during the month of July and the month of
August and the early part of September, she was carrying 3,000
persons, besides here crew; I often was down to the steamer as an
assistant local inspector of hulls to see that her equipment was in
good condition; I got this vessel mostly on Sundays, and I often saw
her leaving dock at Rush Street Bridge with a full complement of
3 RSSENZETS. ~

¥

ow, let me get tlmi perfectly clear; you saw her leaving her

" dock in Grand Haven?—A. In Chicago.

. Chicago?—A. Yes, sir. )

‘ % Leavi%g her dock in Chicago with 3,000-passengers on board ¥—
. Yes, sir. o '
AQ.’ els”’lus her crew 2—A. I should have said that I was located in

Chicago in this building at that time. )

Q. %ou were assistant inspector here?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. At that time?—A. Yes, sir. ) ' )

Q). And you saw her more than once, did you say 2—A. Yes, sir.

Q). Leave her dock in Chicago with 3,000 people on board plus
her crew 2—A. Yes, sir. _

Q. How many were in the crew?—A. Approsimately 73 or 75

ersons—1L could not say. )
P Q. So that you personally knew that she had repeatedly carried.
from Chicago in excess of 3,073 persons?—A. Yes, sir. )

Q. You had seen that done, I\;Ilr. _Reld,thnd you ;?\ Yes, sir; I
had seen the crowd stopped by the inspectors myselt.

aQ. When they got 3,0002—A. When they got the limit; T had no
personal knowledge of the count because 1 did not make the count.

Q. You had been present when the inspectors stopped them %omg
on board because there were 3,000 on board besides the crew —A.
That was my understanding. ,
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- Q. So youwere informed #—A. Yes, sir.
Q. An(I/SfLLou\W saw that more than once?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, how many times have you seen the Eastland; I mean m
- your official capacity%—A. I saw her during that year, "1906. .
Q. Often?—A. And during 1907, I saw her once.in 1907; I would
not be sure about that, and in 1914 and the present year.
Q. Have you been on board the shxp?m—A Yes, sir. '
Q. You said you were inspector of hulls, didn’t’ you?—A. Yes, sir,
Q. Do the ballast tanks come into your department?—A. "The
book does not indicate that they come into my department but we
make an inspection of them just the same.
“ Q.- You do make an inspection?—A. Yes, sir. |
Q. When you refer to the book yon mean one of these books
[exhibits book to witness] #—A. Yes, sir.
Q. And this book carried printed items that you are supposed to
look up, does it not?—A. Yes, sir.

And you are asked in an mspectwn a_question fm every one

of thgse printed items; is it not so?—A. That is my understand.
ing of it.
. Has that been your habit?—A. Tt has been my. Thabit.

Q. And the item of water ballast tanks does not appear m the
‘boek?—A. No, sir. .

Q). But nevertheless it has been ° “your (nstnm to emmmo ghom?——
A. Yes, sir.

Q. What do you mean when you say examine them?—A. Why,
going into the tanks, where it is possible to do so.

C%{ How do you got in?—A. Generally throngh a manhole in the
tan

Q. And have you personally been msulo water ballast tanks of the
Fastlandf—A. T have personally been inside twice.

Q. Twice?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. How recently7——-—A The last tuno T was in was \L\y 9) this
year.

Q. 19152—A. Yes, sir.

Q. May 25, 1915, yon were inside the ballast tanks of the FEast- 1

land?—A. On May 25; yes, sir.

Q. And does your book at that time show that yon saw them?—
A. No, sir.

Q. Tt is not mentioned in your book ?—A. No, sir.

Q. Who was with you’—A. There was no one with me when T was
in the tank.

Q. Who was with you in your inspection?—A. Mr. Fekliff.

Q. Mr. Eckliff was with you at that time?—A. Y f- sir.

Q. Did he see you go into the tanks?—A. No, sir: T don’t think he
did; he was busy about the boilers and engines while T was in there.

Q What did yeu find inside of the t: anksf—A, 1 immtl thev were
all clean and newly painted.

Q. Did yon examine the connections?- I did nat. sir.

Q. The connections are outside of the tanks: T refer to the piping
outside of the tanks?—A. There is a boiler inspector who attends
to the piping, I believe.

. I see; and you are a hull inspector?—A. Yes, sir,
Q The piping does not come within veur seope?—A. No, sir,
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Q. Mr. Reid, was any consideration given you for advancmg the

rating of the Eastland to 2,500%—A. No, gir; not & penny.

gHas any favor been asked of you by the owners of the E'aat-
laml p—A. Never.
. Q. Tell me your personal relations in detail with anybody Who
has’any- -eénnection with the ownership of the Fastland.—A. T am
acquainted with the president of the company, Mr. George T. Arnold,
of Mackinac—no; I refer to Saugatuck. He was a resident of Saug-
atuck at that time, and that would go back a great many years. I
could not say how many, but I have known him ever since. My re-
lations to Mr. Arnold has always been fr 1endly T have never asked
nor received a favm neither have I ever visited him in his home. I
think T have been in Mackinac Tsland within a block of his home on
numerous times. T only know him in a business way.

Q. Has he used his personal influence with you to advance the
rating of the Kastland?—A. Mr. Arnold personally has never men-
tioned the subject of the EKastland or the passenger allowance of the
Eastland to me whatever:

Q. Has your son-in-law ever asked any favors of you on behalf
of the steamer?—A. Never.

Q. Have you ever discussed with your son-in: :law the necessity for

using ballast tanks?—A. No, sir.

Q. Have you ever discussed with the ¢ captain of the vessel the neces-
sity for using ballast tanks?—A\. No, sir.
Q. Has the subject of the ballast ever been taken up between

‘you?—A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know whether it is a fact or not in order to get into
her dock at St. Joseph, isn't it?—A. St. Joseph
Q. She had to lighten her ballast ?—A.
there is plenty of water there,

Q. You know of no necessity of emptying her t'mks in ‘order to
get into the docks?—A. No, sir.

3. Could she enter Gmnd Haven wnth her water tanks filled ?u—A
She could.

Q. Do you know of any reason why she should run with her tanks
empty #—A. I do not; they are there for the purpose of being used .

behe\re not. I believe

if necessary; it is up to the captain to say if he sees fit. We have

no control over that part.

Q. You say that your service has no control over the use of the
tanks?—A. As far as the captain is concerned and instructing him
to use them; no.

Q. Have gfou ever given the captain any mstructlons about how
to use them?—A. T have not.

Q. Did you know that the Eastland had been allowed to carry
3,000 passengers?—A. T did.

Q). "And du] vou know that since that tlmo she had 88 staterooms
removed from her upper deck?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And did it influence your judgment in the matter in giving
her a 2,500 rating when you knew that she had carried a larger
number of passengers when she was less stable?—A. T based my
judgment on those facts entirely.

Q. Now, was there any unit rule or formula through which ou
went in caleulating the 2,500 was just the right number?-—A.

/
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sir; there is no rule that I know of; the common custom has been to
allow-a deck space of 7, 8, or 9 square feet to each person. 4
 _ Q. Did you use that rule?—A. I did not on the present time, but
I was here in Chicago when she was measured for the 3,000. ‘
Q. You were. present at the time?—A. I was present and helped
hold the tape line with Mr. William Nicholas. .
Q. This 1s Mr. Nicholas [indicating] ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Let me see if I understand you correctly. I understand K&n ‘

to say that you were present with the other inspectors—A.
Peck and Mr. Nicholas and myself.’

Q. You were present when Mr. Peck and Mr. Nicholas in the

- Government service with you went to the Eastland and measured 8

her for the 8,000 capacity that was given her?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And at that time you assisted in holding the tapeline in the |
measurement, is that so¥—A. Mr. Nicholas and I ran the tapeline, |

“and Mr. Peck took the figures. .

: Q. Had you _heard that the Fastlond was a crank boat?—A. I
have heard it, but I never saw it in my experience.
" Q. Did you ever cross the lake upon her?—A. I have.

Q. How many times?—A. Twice, to the best of my recollection.

Q. Twice you have crossed upon her?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you ever discussed with the chief engineer the question of
her stability ?—A. I have not. :

Q. Has he ever raised it with you?—A. He has not.
NQ. Has he ever expressed himself asin doubt of the vessel?—A.

o, 8ir. .

Q.' Have you ever regarded your daughter as in danger of losing
her husband because of his employment on that.vessel —A. No, sir;

I have not. If I had any doubt I wonld not have given her the
9 :

Q..Did you feel that under the express authority of the United

States statutes you were not only empowered but charged to exercise
your judgment in that matter¢—A. 1 so understood the matter.

Q. Had you been so advised?—A. Yes, sir.

Q- That was your interpretation of the law?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you know that the Attorney General of the United States
had so interpreted the law ?—A. I did not.

Secretary Reprmern. I would like very well to have Judge Sabath
ask you some questions, and I would like to have Mr. Collins and
Mr. ?hm Patten do so if you like.

Examination by Congressman A. J. Saparin:

Q. Do you know the deck space or measurement of this boat, Mr.
Reid #—A. No, sir; I do not at the present time.

Q. Did you measure it before you rendered this last license to
her?—A. No, sir. - :

Q. You did not know then her capacity nor her deck space by
mesasurement —A. Her deck space would be increased on account of
removing the 88 statercoms that she had previously.

Q- Do you know the reason that she had been reduced from 3,000
to 2,000 carrying capacity #—A. No, sir.

Q. She did have at one time a right to carry 3,000?7—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And it had been reduced to 2,000?—A. I do not know for sure.
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You stated that you knew what the measurement was. Were
yogpresent when the measurements were taken for 8,0009—A. Yes,
SlrQ. That was one reason why you a%feed to give the license for
9.5003-—A. That was the reason that I based my conclusion on, that
she could carry 2,500, on account of being present when she was’

ured. . o ‘
me&‘.; \%’hy didn’t you issue it originally for 2,500 when you knew
the measurement?—A. I have stated before that the boat was not
equipped when we began the first inspection for 2,500. ‘
Q. l;(ouyis:sued the first license June 7, did you not?—A. June 7;

' sir.” .
yaa. Of this year*—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, what license did she have up to that time, do you know {—
A. I could not give the exact figures; it was something like 2253;
the records show. ) )
thﬁ. Did you not increase it by the license of June 7%—A. We in-
creased it by the amendment to the certificate June 7.
Q. And you again increased it on July 7¢ . ,
Secretary Revriero. No, Judge Sabath, that is not my understand-
ing. July 2d was the amendment of which ]}e speak_s. )
Congressman Sasari, There were three licences issued this year,

“were there not?

A. No, sir. \ )
Q. Was there only one issued June 7?2—A. Yes, sir. .
(). Was that here first trip that she had made, did she pake any
trips before June 7%—A. Not this year; no, sir. _
Q. Well, how much did she carry last year?—A. My recollection
of last year was 2,045. - ‘
Q. Two thousand and forty-five?—A. Yes, sir. 3
Q. And on June 7 you had issued a license from 2,045 to how
many ?—A. As I have stated, to the best of my recollection, 2,253.
- Q. To 2253%—A. Yes, sir. 7 ) ’
Q. And on July 2, about three weeks later, you issued another
license increasing 1t to 2,500; is that correct!—A. It is; yes, sir.
Secretary Repeieco. Now, Judge Sabath, ask, will you please,
why she had the smaller rating last year.
Congressman SapatH. Yes. - )
The Wirness. Her smaller rating lnst year was governed entirely
by her equipment ; she only had the equipment for the persons that
she was allowed to carry and they did not buy the boats and rafts
and equipment necessary until this year. )
Secretary Reprierp. You mean by that, Captain
Congressman Sapati. What improvements were made upon the
boat from last year so that you would increase her carrying capacity
from 2,045 to 2,253 ’ _ |
K. Why. the additon of lifeboats and life rafts and life preservers
for the additional persons.
Q. Well, they were added since June, were they not?
Secretary ReprreLp. Some, but not all. ) ‘
Congressman Saparm. The life rafts, four life rafts have been
added since June of this year, haven't they?,
A. Yes, sir. 1
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Q. And that was the reason why you increased ‘it from 2.200 ¢
~ 2,500?—A. That was the reason; yes, sir; she had the life rafts and
the lifeboats as required by law to carry 2,500 persons, and she had |

life preservers for that number. , -
Q. Mr. Reid, how long atre you in the service?—A. I entered the
service June, 1906. - -
Q. 1906?—A. Yes, sir. o
* Secretary RevrieLp. How did you enter it, Mr. Reid ¢
v A. By a civil service examination.
Q. Where did you take it?—A. At Grand Rapids, Mich.
Q. And as what did you enter%—A. As an assistant hull inspector.
. Q. And you have, therefore, been promoted inthe service?—A. I
have; from assistant to local.
- Secretary ReprieLp. Now, may
question correctly, Judge Sabath?
Congressman Saparir. All right.
Secretary Reprierp, Last year she had a rating of what?
A. Two thousand and forty-five passengers.
Q. Two thousand and forty-five passengers, and do I understand

you to mean that it was given her because of the boat and raft equip-..

ment and preserver equipment she added, that-is that she added
enough lifeboats and life raftage and life preservers to care far
2,500 as the law provides, and it was for that reason you granted
the increase ?—A. That was the reason.

Q. So that last year if she had had the necessary lifeboats and
life rafts and the necessary life preservers to coffiply with the law
she could last year have had 2,500%—Yes, sir; she could. '

Q. Did they ask for 2,500 last year?—A. I don’t remember.

Q. This-year, as T. understand it, when the season apened, your
first inspecti(m‘f}vas made; then they added some life rafts and boats
‘and-more presefvers and brought her up to the point where you felt,

in your judgment, that you could allow her to carry 2,2537—A. Yes,

sir; she got two boats off the Fugene Hart and some lifeboats off
the Hart-and brought the equipment up as high as she conld. They
- got the rafts as soon as she could—they were ordered immediately.

- Q. So that temporarily you give her a permit for 22537 —A. %&ﬂ,
sir. ‘ S

gave her a 2,500 permit?—A. Yes, sir. o
-~ Q. Now, is that the whole story ?—A. That is the whole story.

Congressman Sasatir. So that the story is they have done every-
thing possible to give you the right to issue to them a permit to carry
2,500 passengers on the boat?—A. When they equipped the boat for
2,6003 yes, sir.

Q. After vou had issued this license to carry 2500 passengers on
this boat, did you call the captain’s attenticn that that was the
limit2—A. No, sir.

Q. Did you talk with him at all?—A. No_ siv: T did not.

Q. Did you talk to your son-in-law, the engineer, ahout it7—A.
No, sir. s

Secretary Reprierp. What does the law require in such circum-
stances, Captain Reid —A. That the boat shall be fully equipped
with life boatage and raftage and life preservers for each person
carried.

I just see if T understand your .

Q. So when the additional rafts which had been ordered came you -

o

w Q. Well, excuse me.

Jpacity. -
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Q. But I mean, as regards notice to people, what does the law
require!—A. I do not just understand you. - )

Does it require that you give a certain form
of license, which is to be posted up in a certain order?—A. I under-

‘stand you. Yes, sir; it does.

Q. Well, what is the requirement ?—A. That the origina] certifi-
cate shall be amended by an amendment, stating the additional
equipment that is on the boat. ‘ '
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Q. Yes, sir; then what did you do with that vcertiﬁcate,?-—A. Thatis -

" to be framed under glass and posted in a conspicuous place on the

boat.

sir. s : \ _
Q. And did you do that?—A. We did; I did or helped them. =~ .

Q. And is the law to which you refer [reading from book], “ The
original certificate of inspection delivered to the master or owner of
a steam vessel shall be placed by such master or owner in a con-

spicuous place in the vessel where it will be most likely to be ob- -
* gerved by passengers and others, and there kept at all times, framed
~under glass, as evidence of the authority thereby conferred.” Is that -

the law?—A. Yes, sir. _ ’

Congressman Sasari. Did you known, Mr. Reid, about the cost
of these improvements that they had placed upon this boat that en-
abled vou and them to increase the number of people or carrying ca-
pacity ?—A. T did not know the cost of these rafts; no, sir.

Q. There were four rafts, were there not?—A. Yes, sir.

Secretary Reoriern.. Judge Sabath, he has testified that they had
procured two boats and some rafts from another steamer.

The Wrrnzss. He is speaking of the last ones.

Q. Does the law specifically instruct that you do that?—QA. Yes, ‘

Secretary Revrixrp. And that they ordered four more which had -

- not come, and when they did come they gave the increased number

" so the only purchase, ns T understand it, is that of the four rafts; '

am I right about that?
The Wrr~ness. You are right; yes. sir.
Congressman Saparn. Have you seen these rafts, Mr. Reid?
A. T have; yes, sir,
Q. What is the size of these rafts?—A. Twenty-five persons ca-

I

Q. Sir?%—A. Twenty-five person capacity each.

Q. They are four new rafts?—A. Yes, sir.

Q: That would be one hundred passengers for the four?—A.
Yes, sir.

Q. And what other improvements have they made?—A. That is
all they are required to have for carrying 2,500; they had the life
preservers aboard. -

Q). Well, they had 2253 and four rafts carrying one hundred,
that would be 2,353%-—A. On her first visit she had 2,570 life pre-
servers and she took out rafts and hoatage for 2,253 she could not
carry the 2,570 passengers hecause she dad not have the boatage for
them; she had to be governed by the minimum number of her equip-
ment. ’ -

Secretary Repriep. Judge Sabath. they carried 30 per cent of
life rafts and boats.
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~ Congressman SaBatH. You say that they had on it a life boat
or life preservers or rafts for each and every passenger? ‘ :

A. Yes, sir. -

Q. How many life preservers does this boat carry?—A. Two
thousand five hundred and seventy. . =

" Q. How many boats did it carry?—A. It carried 11 life boats and
1 working boat.

‘Q. And how many passengers or people would each of these life
boats carry ?—A. I could not tell you that by memory, the records
will show. o o

Q. There were 11 life boats and there was another boat. and how
many rafts?—A. There was 87 rafts. ‘

Q. What was the size of the rafts, all alike?—A. No; some run
from 6 persons, 8 persons, 10 persons, 15 persons, 20 persons, and
25 persons, and 29 persons; different sizes. ’

- Q. Do you know how many people would be taken care of by
these rafts?—A. 'Thirty per cent of the number allowed or 771.
. Q. You allowed 2,500, that would be about 833%—A. No, sir; 771,

‘that is 30 per cent. ‘ _

Q. Thirty per cent?—A. Yes, sir; 30 per cent of the passengers

and crew. = ' . . , o ,
Q. Mr. Reid, how many tanks did you'leok in when you made your

inspection of the tanks?—A. To the best of my recollection there was

- five tanks on the side. '

Q. How many did you actually inspect?—A. All of them.

Q. Did_you open all of them?—A. Yes, sir. '

Q. Isn’t.»’-?tlﬁﬁ rather hard to open some of them?—A. The tanks
were open already for the inspection; I did not open them.’ ;

Q. Oh, they opened them for you, expecting you to inspect the tanks
and they were open then at the time you called —A. Yes, sir. -

Q. Did you see them close the tanks?—A. I did not.

Q. Isn’t it your duty to inspect not only these tanks to see whether
the tanks are in good order, but see also if the openings were in good
order to see whether they could be opened and closed speedily ?—A. I
never so considered it; I considered if the manholes were there and in
good shape and the tanks were in good shape and everything as it
should be, that was all that was required. \

Q. It has been stated only two of these tanks had been used on each
side?—A. I know nothing about that. \ ;

Secretary ReprieLp. These connections to the tanks are the boiler
inspector’s work ?

Mr. Corrins. T think Judge Sabath has got a misunderstanding of
these tanks, from his questions I gather that he infers there are only
two tanls could be used. stand you can fill any one of these
tanks at any time or you can fill all of them at once, just at the
pleasure of the man operating-the valve. They could use the whole
valve, or they could use any part of the tanks they wanted to.

) Cof?gressmau Sasari, Could they fill the both sides at the same
time?-

Mr. Corrins. Yes, sir; that is the general type.

Congressman Sapars. I mean about this boat, could they leave the
water out of one side and just put it on one?

Secretary Reprierp. Inspector Eckliff will tell you about it.

B
L
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Congressman Sasatn. You do not know{ )
The Wirness. I do not go into those particulars, no, sir. =
Q. Yopdo not know the system they use in filling or emptying the .
ks?—A.. No, sir. A ) ‘
tal(lz. Or how tl;ey made up their ballast at all?—A. OQutside of know- -
ing that they have a big ballast capacity, and the size of it, and the

~ capacity, I do not know.

Secretary Reprierp. What is the size of it and the capacity?

A. I believe the size of the bottom is 12 by 18 stroke. )

Q. What is the water cylinder?—A. The water cylinder is 16
inches. : .

Q. Twelve by sixteen by twenty stroke?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Single acting pump?—A. I could not say. ) )

Congressman SasatH. You do not know whether it was a single
acting pump or whether it was a double pump or whether they could
pump in two sid:s at the same time?

A. No, sir; T donot, |

Q. You do not know?—A. No, sir.

Q. Isn’t that in your department? - )

Secretary Repriero. It is not in his work, he has nothing to do’
with the machinery, Judge Sabath. The hull is his work. .

Lieut. Gov. O'Hara. Captain, you said that you entered the service
in 1906 2—A. Yes, sir. : o

Q. By a civil service examination?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You gave the names of three gentlemen vouching for youl—
A. I believe that was the custom. ) )

'Q. Won'’t you please give the'names of the gentlemen vouching for
you when you entcred the service?—A. I could not, I do not remember
them. . .

Q. Captain, did you happen to be of the same political faith as
the administration then in power?—A. I have always been a Re-
publican all my lifetime, and I believe it was a Republican adminis-
tration then, I would not say. , e

Mr. O’'Hara. T am very much obliged to you.

(Whereupon a recess was taken until 10 o’clock July 30, 1915.)

, JoLy 30, 1915—9.80 a. .
Parties met pursuant to adjournment. : )

Present, same as before, except Hon. Thomas (’Hara was sitting
in place of Lieut. Gov. Barrett O'Hara. :

Roserr Rep resumed the stand for further examination and testi-
fied further as follows . ,

Examination by Mr. Tuurman,

Q. Mr. Reid, I was not here yesterday afternoon when you were
examined. and T have not had an opportunity of reading over care-
fully the testimony you gave at that time, therefore, I will probably
have to cover some of the matters that you covered vesterdayy that is
my reason for doing so. How long have you been in the Steamboat
Inspection Service?—A. Since 19006, June,

Q. Since 1906 in June?—A. Yes, sir.
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Q. In what capacity in the Steamboat Inspection Service have you .

served #—A. First as assistant hull inspector, afterwards as a local
* hull inspector of steamboats. i

Q. You were appointed hull inspector in 1906 2—A. Assistant hull.

. inspector.
Q. Assigtant hull inspector in 19062—A. Yes, sir.
Q. At what point or place?—A. Appointed at Milwaukee and de-
tailed to Chicago. ’ :
Q. Then you caine to Chicago in 1906 as assistant hull inspector ?—
A. Yes, sir,
* Q. How long did you serve in Chicago as assistant hull inspec-
tor?—A. I think until February 4. 1908. .
Q. Then what happened?—A. Then I was appointed local inspec-
tor of steamboats and transterred to Grand Haven, Mich. _
Q. You went to Grand Haven then in 1908 2—A. Yes, sir.
Q. As assistant hull inspector ?—A. As local.”
Q. As local inspector?—A. Yes, sir.— = '
Q. Have you been a local inspector of hulls at Grind Haven since
that time?—A. Yes;sir. :
@ You are acquainted with the steamer Fastlgnd7—A. Yes, sir.
Q. When did you first see that steamer, Captain Reid, if you re-
member?—A. As near as 1 can recollect in June 1906, or July or
August. '
: . Where?—A. In Chicago River. .
Q. At that time did you, as assistant hull inspector, did you or did
» you nct have any official duties in connection with that steamer?—A.
- Why, I was sent to inspect her equipment every Sunday morning, and
at one other time I helped to measure it. s
Q. Did you ever make any, or did you at that time or about that
time make a regular inspection of her *—A: No, sir,
Q. Wasit or was it not your duty as one of the assistant hull inspec-
. tors to make such an inspection?—A. It was if I was detailed to do
such work. o '
Q. Did you make any inspection of that vessel while you were in
Chicago?—A. No, sir. ‘ :
Q. You never did?—No. sir.
Q. Did you during the time of your service in Chicago, did you or

did you not assist the loeal inspectors in making an inspeetion of the

" steamer Zastland?—A. I do not recollect.

Q. You do not know whether vou did or not?—A. No, sir.
Q. Do you know from your own knowledge or from records with
which you are familiar the number of passengers the steamer Kast-
land was allowed to carvy in 1906?—A. Yes, sir, 3,000.

Q. How many?—A. 3,000, ars

Q. Where did vou get that information, Captain Reid 2—A. Frow
her certificate of inspection. - A ‘

Q. Where did you see that certificate of inspection?—A. To the
best of my recollection T saw it in the office in the Federal Duilding
in Chieago; also posted on the steamer.

Q. Do you know how long the inspection or the certificate allowing
the Feastland to carry 3,000 people was in effect7—N\. T think it only
governs that season. thev gave an execursion permit for the extra
crowd.
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Q. Then according to your best recollection the license of the

. seamer Eastland to carry 3,000 people was in effect during the season

of 1906?2—A. Yes sir. : .
Q. At the Port of Chicago?—A. Yes,sir. .
Q. Have you made any inspections or did you in the course of your

duties as a local inspector at Grand Haven make any inspections of

the steamer Eastland, axd if so, how many *—A. Two.

Q. When was the first one made ?—A. June 10, 1914.

Q. Who made the application for that inspection?—A. I do not
recollect. . ' A . ' ' :

Q. 1910 you say it was?-—A. No, sir; 1914.

Q. 19147—A. Yes, sir. . ) -

Q. The steamer Fastland at that time was taken from Chicago and
sent o Cleveland, was she not?—A. Yes, sir; T believe she was.

Q. Do you know how long she was in Cleveland ?—A. I think from
the spring of 1907 to the season of 1912; I would not make a positive
statement. - .

Q. The séason of 1912?7—A. Yes, sir. )

Q. She was brought back to Lake Michigan, then, in 1912¢—A.
In 1913. : : ‘

Q. 19132—A. Yes, sir. . e ) .

Q. Do you know who made the inspection?—aA. No, sir; excuse
me, I made a mistake there; 1914. o

Q. 19142—A, Yes, sir. o ) .

(. When she was brought back an application for inspection was

made?—A. Yes, sir. ]

Q. Do you know to whom the first application was inade, to what
hoard of inspectors?—A. I think the board at Grand Haven—my
recollection was by Capt. Ennis; I would not be positive. o

Q. Then, as a matter of fact, as far as you know after the vessel
was brought back from Cleveland the first inspection was made by
vou and Mr. Eckliff as the local inspectors at Grand Haven; is that
correct?—A. That is correct. ] )

Q. And you do not know who made the application for that inspec-
tion?—A. I do not; our records will show. .

Q. Were you acquainted with the owners of that vessel at the time
or the officers of the company that owned her?—A. Part of them.

Q. You knew who?—A. Part of them.

Q. Please give me the names of the gentlemen you knew who were
either owners of that stenmer or ofticers of the company who did
own her in 1914?—A. George T. Arnold.

Q. Who?—A. George T. Arnold. )

Q. George T. Arnold. Wha is Mr. Arnold?—A. Mr. Arnold is

13

- owner of the Arnold Transit Co. at Mackinac Island, Mich.

Q. Did the Mackinac Transit Co. at that time own the steamer
Eastland?—A. No,sir; I do not think they did. T think Mr. Arnold,
though, was president of the other company that owned it. )

Q. What company was that?—A. The St. Joseph & Chicago
Steamship Co. A _ )

Q. The St. Joseph & Chieago Steamship Co., headquarters in Chi-
eago?—A. St. Joe.

Q. St. Joe?—A. Yes, sir. -
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-condition.

" Q. What position did Mr. Arnold occupy in that company?—A,

-I believe he was president of the company.

Q. When did you first become acquainted with Mr. Arnold?—A,
T could not state that; it is a long time ago. ~

Q. And you have known him for a good many years?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. What have your relations been—intimate or just personall
acquainted #—A. Personally acquainted; I have never visited his
house in my life. i

Q. Have you cver had any business transactions of any sort with
him?—A. No, sir; outside of inspecting the boat.

Q. You do not recall, as I understand it, who made the application
for this first inspection of the Zastland in 1914%—A. I do not.

Q. The boat was brought to Grand Haven, was she %—A. To Ben-
ton Harbor. S ‘

Q. Benton Harbor?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the first inspection you and Mr. Eckliff made was at Ben- |
"ton Harbor 2—A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was the date of that inspection?—A. That was June 10,
- Q. June 102—A, 1914.

Q. Will you give me and the gentlemen here the details of what
you and Mr. Eckliff did when you made that inspection? I do not
want all your details; T want your general method of inspecting that
vessel.—A. The hydrostatic test to the boilers is made by both of us,
and each of us together, in conjunction, and the testing of the pumps,
fire pumps, and the hose is also made in conjunction. After the
hydrostatic test is put on the boilers and set, Mr. Eckliff then pro-
ceeds to inspect the condition of the boiler and the machinery, both
internally and externally of the boilers. After making the external
investigation the water 1s emptied from the boilers and he goes into
the boilers and makes an internal examination of the condition of
the boilers in regard to the stays, and so or.

Q. Now, irrespective of what Mr. Eckliff may have done in regard
to the boilers, what did you do in regard to the life savers, and so
on?—A. I thought you wanted each of us.

. Q. I will get that from him and save a little time.—A. After the
hydrostatic test to the boiders I then take up the hull and equipment.

Q. What did you find as the result of your examination of the
steamer Eastland on June 10, 1914, as to her general condition and as

s to the condition also of her life-saving equipment?—A. I found the

steamer in good condition, her hull and the equipment in good

Q. Did you or did vou not at that time know how many passengers
the steamer Eastland had been licensed to carry dnring the seasons
she was on Lake Erie?—A. T did not.

Q. You knew nothing.about it?—A. T did not.

Q. Did you and Capt. EEkIff, or Mr. Eckliff, or did you not at this

inspection on June 10, 1914, fix the number of passengers that the &

steamer Fastland should be allowed to carry *—A. We did.
Q. What was the number of passengers that you fixed as her
maximum allowance on that date?—A. Two thousand and forty-five.
Q. Two thousand and forty-five?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. What elements did you take into consideration in fixing that 4

number of passengers?—A. The number of life preservers and the
capacity of the boats and the rafts, S
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QN Did you or did you not take into considerationher deck space—
A, No, sir. - , ‘

Mr. O’'Hara. What is that answer?

The Wirxgss. No, sir. :

Mr. TaorMaN. Q. Then,as I understand it, you based your allow-
ance fixed on July 10, 1914, at 2,045 on the life-saving equipment on
board of that vessel af that time?

A. Yes, sir. -

Q. Was or was not that the proper method and the method applied
by the service in determining the capacity of a passenger-carrying
steamer ¢—A. That is the general practice, to limit the steamer to
the equipment that she has.

Q. Have you and Mr. Eckliff ever followed or adopted any other
method ?—A. Not in our inspections together we have not.

Q. At any time. Do you know whether or not it is the custom
of any of the local inspectors, in estimating the maximum number of
passengers that a steamer should be allowed to carry, to take into con-
sideration not only the life-saving equipment but also the deck
space*—A. That is the general practice, but I had already helped to
measure this steamer.

Q. Is there anywhere or is there not a rule or custom which takes
into consideration, in addition to the life-saving equipment, the meas-
urement of the deck space in fixing the maximum number of passen-
gers?—A. There is not any rule; there is a rule commonly used, not
arbitrarily.

Q. Now, what is that rule that is commonly used?—A. Tt is to
divide the entire number of square feet of deck surface by 6 or 7 or
8 or 9. ‘

. Q. Now, Mr.-Reid, in {ixing the number of passengers that that ves-
sel should carry on June 10, 1914, why did veu limit your calculation
to the life-saving equipment, and not also take into consideration this
rule of deck space?—A. Why, I was aware that the steamer had been
measured and was allowed 3,000 passe.gers, and that she had 88
staterooms at that time that had been removed: giving more deck
space, but her equipment at that time would allow her only to carry
2,045,

Q. Then, as a matter of fact, in reaching the maximum number of
people she should be allowed to carry June 10, vou toosk into consid-
eration the life-saving equipment and your previous knowledge of the
measurements of the steamer?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did or did not Mr. XcKkliff agree with you as to the maximum
number of people she should be allowed to carry at that inspection —
A. We agreed that the number that she had appliances to earry.

Q. Was there anv diffecrnce of judgment between vou and Mr.
Eckliff as to the propricty of allowing her to carry 2.045 people on
that dute 2—A. Not that I know of.

Q. You mean to convey by that that the fixing of the passenger
limit at 2,045 on June 10, 1914, was the joint action of My, Eekliff
and yourself as local inspectors at Grand ITaven?—AL Yes, sir,

Q3. Was or wasnot the fixing of the passenger limit on that date the
exercise of your best judgment and diseretion?—A. Tt was, and at
that time she was limited on account of her equipment.

22359—16-——-=8
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I8 YQ. Her life-saving equipment was limited about that time?—A,
esy sir. ‘ ;

Q. Mr. Reid, were any of the officers or owners of that vessel with
you and Mr. Eckliff when you made that inspection?—A. Why, to
the best of my recollection, Capt. Ennis.

Q. Captain who?—A. Capt. Ennis.

Q. Ennis?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. He was not on the vessel at that time, was he?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was this Mr. Arnold there?—A. No, sir.

Q. Was any other officer or officers of the St. Joseph & Chicago
Steamship Co., or whatever its name may be, there?—.J\. I think
there were, Mr. Hull and Mr. Steele and some other gentleman were
there quite frequently. :

Q. Mr. Reid, do you know Mr. Hull?—A. I do.

Q. How long have you known Mr. Hull ?—A. About two years.

Q. What has been the character of your aequaintance with him’—
A. Could I bring that in later on? .

Q. You do'not have to answer any questions vou do not want to,
Mr. Reid, of course—A. Why. the reason-I say that is T wish to make
a statement here when T have time and T want to bring that part in
on that statement. :

Q. Do you want to make that statenent in regard to Mr, Hull now
or later on?—A. I would make it now. ‘

© Q. All right. sir; I would be very glad to hear it—A. Not only m
regard to Mr. Hull but in regard to Mr. Erickson T shounld like to
make a statement. '

Q. T am coming to Mr. Erickson later—A. But T wonld like to
have you embrace these remarks as a pavt of the testimony.

Q. Go ahead; yes. sir—A. Mr. Erickson. in_ 1912, sailed the
steamer Waités for the Thompson Line as chief engineer. Noj that
was in 1913, in 1918, he sailed that steamer. and in 1914 Le was trans-
ferred to the steamer Sultana of the same line as chief engineer.

Q. That is Mr. Hull you are talking about?—A\. That is M.

Erickson.

Q. Mr. Erickson, yes.—A. In March, 1915, he received a letter from
the same company saying that he was transferred to the stewmer

Saxona as chief engineer and a contract was sent him to sign and’

return to the company; he was to.get for sailing this steamer %185
a month for the sailing season. his expenses up to the steamer and
while the steamer was being put in shape, and after the stenmer was
finished to. pay his expenses while laying out and pay his expenses
back home—that wus the sense of the contract. About this time a
vacancy occurred in the chief engineer's position of the steamer
Eagtland. Through the influence of his wife he was persuaded to
make an application as chief engineer on the steamer Fastland; he
did so, and he received a letter from Mr. Hull stating that he could
have the steamer at $150 a month for nine months.

Q. By the way, Mr. Erickson is your son-in-law, is he not?—
A. Yes, sirs T am touching that on this account and what has been
said.

Q. That is all right: we just want to get this right and give you a
fair chance to say it.—A. About the same time we received a letter
from Mr. Hull asking the Grand Tlaven Board about the character
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and qualifications of Mr. Erickson; we replied to that letter, and a
copy is on file, that Mr. Erickson was licensed as chief engineer of
all passenger steamers in the Great Lakes by the Grand Haven Board,
and, in our opinion, was qualified to fill the position—that is about
the text of the letter. No other word or communication or letter or
anything has passed between Mr. Hull and myself except this letter
T just told you about in regard to Mr. Erickson getting a position
there. : .

Q. Is that all you want to say?—A. No,sir.

Q. All right; go ahead.—A. Mr. Erickson replied to Mr. Hull,
thanking him for the courtesy he had extended to him and sayin
that he could not accept the boat on this cendition. About 2 wee
olapsed, and Mr. Hull then wrote Mr. Erickson again and asked
Mr. Erickson to submit a bid for what he would accept the Eastland
for as chief engineer. He replied to that letter, inclosing that con-
tract for the Thompson Line sent to him to sign for the Sacona, and
saying he would take the steamer Eestland on the same terms; that
is, his expenses must be pair there and back and his board paid while
fitting the steamer out and lying up; and Mr. Hull wrote him to
come to Michigan City and make out a contract. )

That is all the connection I had with Mr. Erickson getting the
position as chief engineer of the steamer Fastland. -

Now, to touch the relations that Mr. Hull and I had together. In
1915, in the early part of May, Mr. Hull, of the St. Joe & Chicago
Steamship Co., and manager of two steamships, the Eugene C. Hart
and the Eastlend, notified the Grand Haven office that the steamer
FEugene C. Ilart was rveady for inspection. She was newly painted,
and everything was all ready, and he wanted to put her into com-
mission. ~ Mr. Eckliff and I went to Benton Harbor and applied the
hydrostatic test to the boilers, and then T went to the hull and
inspected her internally and externally. I found such conditions on
the steamer Eugene €. Hart that I told Mr. Hull T could not give her
a certificate; that she had to go to the shipyards for repairs. He was
very much put out about this and said he ought to have been notified
about this before; I told him we would have been glad to come up in
the wintertime and give her the inspection at his own expense if.
he had wished it. He then requested Capt. McCarthy and myself—
of the Kugene . Ilart—to get a raft and a man and go around the
steamer and I would mark the defective planks and other things
that must be removed from the steamer. We did so, and T marked out
several planks, und then we went back aboard and I marked out part
of her stanchions in the hull, and I marked out some short beams
that had to be taken out of the steamer before she could be put into
commission. I gave him not a certificate but a permit_to proceed
from Benton Harbor to Port Manistee for repairs. Ife took the
steamer there, and she was there about two weeks repairing her, and
since that time Mr. Hull and I have merely recognized each other-as
we met, an that is about as far as our relations go.

Now, I would like to take up here another thing that 1 have heen
accused of, and that is that I am under control of the shipowners.

Mr. Tuurmax, T will come to that later if you will let sne come
to it.
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"A. T would like to give these facts, because they have got a tend
ency to reflect upon my character.
hMl(‘l Tuoryan. All right; if you have got it in your mind, go
.ahea
A. T would like to show just how I stand with the shipowners.
Mr. Tuormaxn. I had that in mind, but if you want to put it in
the shape of a statement go ahead.

Al T can not give you the date, but it was when the House of
David at Benton Harbor bought the steamer Minnie M. and brought
her to Benton Harbor. Mr. Eckliff and I went to Benton Harbor
to make an inspecticn of her at the request of Capt. Westcott. We
went to the steamer and spent three days on her, and the outcome
of this inspection was that we pxactlcallv ordered a new rebuild
of the steamer. The treasurer of the House of David was very much
put out, and hé wrcte a letter to the collector of customs at Grand
Haven, Mich., which T think is on file at the present time, denoune-
ing my character in the most severe terms; not enly that, but he
wrote to the department taking an appeal from our judgment ; and
Capt. Westcott. in due course of time, notified Mr. Eckliff and myself
to meet him at Benton Harbor, which we did. We carefully inspected
the boat the second time, and Capt. Westcott sustained our previous
inspection and judgment. They made all the repairs they could to
the steamer at Benton Harbor, and after that. they had gene as far
as they could there, they asked for a permit to take her to Manistee

to the shipyards; that was given to them, and they proceeded to -

Manistee and ce 1np]Ltod these mpans, taking upward of a ccuple
of menths. That shows my connectien with the House of David.
and also whether I am holding out my hand for eimoluments or not.
The next one I will call yvour attention to Is owned by Mr. Gus
Kretsinger. the Pere Marquette muanager, or owner of the Pere
Marquette line of stewmers. He had the stesmer Robert €. Wente,
_and we made an inspection of this steamer. and the repairs that we
ordered to the steamer Mr. Kretsinger took excepticn to. Tle wrote
to Capt. Westcott in regard to the gtoam(ll, and Capt. Westceott di-
rected me to meet him in Manistee. and we carefnlly went over the
. steamer a second time, and Capt. Westcott modified in a slight de-
gree some of the repairs T had ordered to be made.
I will next eall your attention to the ferry Sanie Marie, running
between Mackinac City and St. Tenatz, carrying passengers and
freight across the stream.  And we mspoctod that steamer. I do not
just recall the date, but the record will show. and the vepairs of that
steamer practically amounted to a rebuild. d'heyv ook exceptions to
ouy judgment and called on Capt. Westeott.  Capt. Westeott divected
me to meet bim af St Ignatz, and we carefully went over the sleamer
again. and in the eaptoin® judgment we gave her papers to be‘op-
erated not i a passenger steamer, but ox o freioht steamer carrying
i’roiwht across. the straits.
by G. C. Geiken. M. Geilen callesd for inspection of that <teamer,
and we wen: to Manistee. She was at Manistee at the thne, and after
the inspection [ found the condition of her hull to be snch that T
ordered her L e diy docked and repaived, which he did. e put her
on the dvy doclks and vepaived her. lmt 1w did not do all the :( pairs
that were ordered. We eame back to Manistee on onr way hacl from
% the north, aned he hailed us and came up to the hotel with s, and

The next 1s the stewwier Caroling, owned,
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wanted to know if we could give him a certificate for the Carolina.
We then told him that we would examine the condxtlon of the boat,
as she was docked, and we went down the next morning and made an-
other cmmmatlon of the boat, and ordered her placed in the dock
which he did, and when she came out the second time she was in
good condition. We inspected the little fishing steamer Frank. P.
Geilen for the Booth Fisheries Co. at Carlevoix and found her con-
dition to be such that we ordered practically a new rebuild, which they
wo'l 1d not give her, and she has not been in commission since.

¢ have ordered _repairs to at least four steamers in Sheboygan |
tlmt were so expensive they would practically put them out of busi-
ness, and they are there now and not in commission either.

We this spring ordered vepairs to the steamer Robert E. Johnson
and certain other equipment, and the owners employed a Mr. Lilly,
a lawyer of Grand Haven, to take the case for them and to fake an
appeal, and they were sustained on the appeal. o

Also since then we have ordered Mr. Morton, of the Graham Mo
ton Transportation Co.. to make additional equipment for the
steamer Puritan in the shape of a Jamp. IHe not being willing to
do that took it up with Capt. Westcott. and the matter Tras not been
gettled yet. That is a recent occurrence.

There are many other circumstances that I do not recall, but I give
you these for you to learn of how we work with the owners and
masters of steamers, and everything there is in good condition there
at that post, and I earnestly request that an inspection of each and
every steamer be made, a per: b()H&B examination be made of the steam-
ers 1n the Michigan distriet to fmu out the exact condition of each
one.

Mr. Tnurasax. Is that all, M. Reld ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, Mr. Reid, that is a very clear and comprehensive state-
ment, but lot us go back to this inspection for a moment on June 10,
1914.—A. Just wait a minute until I make a further statement.

Q. Yes—A. I wish to state to the gentlemen here that it is a very
hard matter for me to recollect all the details of an inspection for
this reason ; we inspect the fnllowmg large steamers for the Graham
Morton lmnspm tation Co.: We inspect the steamer Puritan and the
steamer Ilolland for the C hlcngo & South Haven Steamship Co.;
we inspect the steamers City of South Haven and Petoskey for the
Benton Transportatigh’ Co.; and we inspect the steamers Frank
Woods and Charles M¢Veagh. .

Q. Mr. Reid, in connection with any of these inspections, if I or
‘mv of the othw gentlemen ask any questions that you can not remem-
her the details about you are perfectly justified,. of course, in sayving
so.—A. Twant to show you that T haveto carry in my mind the equip-
ment of about 50 of thcw I: arge steamers; T am telling you just where
the Lhmg}: is situated. 1 don't think I am able to do it, but T am
here to tell you to the best of my knowlpdge

Q. All T am trying to get is all that occurred at that inspection.
with all its smmundm" ddmls, as far as you can give it to me; I do
not ask yvou to give me sumothm'r that you can not remember—A. I |
will say for vour information th: 1t before coming here, to u\fmah my’
memory 1 looked over the books on the steamer /2 Castland.

Q. Now, let’s get back here for a few minntes. Did vou have a
mm'wsnlion or any correspondence with My, Iull in regard to the
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_inspection of the Fustland that you were to make on June 10, 19141—
A. 1 could not recollect that; the file will show.

Q. Can you get that file for me?—A. It is in the office here at the
present time. : '

Mr. Sueryax. Capt. Westcott, will you have that file examined
and see if there are any letters in that file from Mr. Hull?

Capt. Westcorr. What year is that?

Mr. Tuurmax. 1914; to the local inspectors at Grand Haven, or
any from the local inspectors at Grand Haven to Mr. Hull,

r. Tonurman. Did you have any confidential relations of any
kind with Mr. Hull prior to June 10, 1914, or did vou not?—A. No,
sir; 1.did not. ' .

Q. Do I understand you correct that you knew him as a mere
casual acquaintance?—A. Sir?

Q. That you knew him as a mere casual acquaintance?—A. For
about two years; yes. )

Q. Had you ever inspected any other boats for him prior to that
time?—A. He was connected with the steamer Zugene €. HHart,
which we inspected. ,

Q. Mr. Reid, did you ever receive from Mr. Hull or any officer or
official of the St. Joe Co. or any other company owning hoats which
you inspected any letters, messages, or did you have any conversation
with any of them or did they attempt either improperly or otherwise
to influence your decision in the inspection of their vessels?%—A. No,
sir; and while you call my attention to it T would just like to touch
on a phase that I think of in connection with the steamer EFastland.

Q. Now, then, you do that specifically: was any attempt made by
anybody ?—A. No, sir; there was not. T

Q. Wait a minute. To improperly influence yvou or to influence
you or Mr. Eckliff in determining the number of passengers to be
allowed the steamer Fastland on June 10, 1914%—A. T will speak for
myself. There was no one that tried to influence me, and My, Eckliff
will be here and he may answer. '

Q. You speak for yourself?—A. Yes; sir. :

Q. Nobody made any such attempt as that?—A. No, sir.

Q. Mr. Hull did not?—A. No, sir.

* Q. Any other officer of the St. Joe Co.?—A. Nor any other man.

Q. No other person at all?—A. No, sir. Now can I touch that mat-
ter I wish to speak about?

Q. What?—A. Can I touch upen that matter that I wish to speak

about? _
"~ Q. Go ahead.—A. Tt is pertaining to my relations to Capt. Peder-
son, of the steamer Kustland. In 1914 she had sleeping quarters aft;
they have to have two exits, and one of those exits led into the saloon,
and on one of our checking-up trips we found that door closed and
locked, if you please. At the time we told Capt. Pederson that that
door must be absolutely kept open, and when we got back to the office
we wrote g letter and it is now in Capt. Westeott’s possession, a copy
of it is in his possession.

Mr. TnorMax. I want that letter, captain,

Mr. Rem (continuing). In which we took him to task sharply,
stating to him if we found such conditions existing again we would
summon him to Grand Haven to stand trial and show cavse why his
license should not be taken away from him.

“
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On another cceasion I was counting passengers on what they call
the peanut excursion—it is an excursion that is made after the boat
arrives from Chicago.

Q. That is another boat?—A. That is the Kastland; she arrives
from Chicago, puts off the Chicago crowd, immediately loads an-
other crowd and takes them out to the lake for two hours—generally
from 2 to 4—if she can get started. 1 was counting passengers on
the aft gangway; she was lying head to the creek, starboard side to
the dock. and T was facing the crowd as they came from the town
toward the steamer, so I could see the crowd, and at about this time
the C'ity of Benton farbor pulled into the pier, and the tug Lloyd M.
was all ready to fasten to the steamer Eastland and turn her around
so she could get into the lake; without any warning whatever as to
his intention. the stern line was thrown off behind me, the helm put
hard aport, and he rung up his engines to go ahead, which swung
the steamer into the lake, and if it had not been for the ticket
checker and myself some of the passengers would have went into
the water also. T had to go to the Graham Morton dock, and I
wallked. Tt is pretty near a/mile from that dock to the Graham
Morton dock, and when 1 was over on the bridge 1 still saw the
steamer Kastland holding the Beiton Harbor in the river, taking
his own time in turning around. When T got back into the river I
todk him sharply to task for letting go of his line and not notifying
his checkers and myself that he was going to do so. and he said it
was the orders of Mr. Hull to do it and he did; T told him if he ever
done a trick like that again we would take his license away from
him for good.

Mr. Trorman. I hand you a copy of a letter dated June 30, 1914,
signed-Charles C. Eclliff, Robert Reid, local inspectors, and addressed
to Capt. IMarry Pedersomn, steamer Fastland, St. Joseph, Mich., and
ask vou if that is the letter vou referred to a moment ago [passing
letter to witness]?

A. That is the letter.

Secretary Renviern (reading copy of letter above referred to) :

Capf. Harry PEDERSON, Juxe 30, 1914.
Str. Fastland, 8t. Joseph, Mich.

Drar Smr: At the reinspection of the steamer Festland by the assistant
inspectors it was found that the life preservers for the firemen, water tenders,
and coal passers were in a locker in the barroom, and the door to the bar-
room was locked. You wlill at once remove these life preservers from the
barroom and place the sane In the erew’s quarters where they belong.

We must nlso enll your attentlon to the fact that this door leading fto the
harroom must he left unlocked at all times, as It is one of the exits to the
crew's gquarters, and should we find this door locked in our next visit we will
summon you amnd your officers to show cause why your license should not bhe
suspeidedl or revoked for obstructing one of the exits of the crew's sleeping
quarters. IT It is necessary to protect the contents of your bar, vou should
keep a watchman there for that purpose, but this door leading from the crew’s
quarters as one of the exits must never be locked.

They will report that the lifeboats on this steamer have not been serubbed
and painted ; sald boats being very dirty. This you must atiend to at once.

They nalso report there are not notices where life preservers may be found.
These notlees you must prepare and have posted Immedintely.

Kimdly pive this matter your immediste attentlon as another examination
of your hont will he made next Saturday.

. Respectfully,
(Siened) Crranies Co FOKLIFF,
HorerT WEID,
Lacal Ingpeclors,
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Mr. THurMAN. Mr. Reid, one or two more questions about this in-
spection of June 10th. AsT understand you the number was fixed at
2,470; is thatézight?—JA. June 107

Q. Yes, or 2,270, was it *—A. No, 2,045,

Q. 2,045; I have got that wrong.—A. It is pretty hard for me to
remember which one of those.

Q. It was approximately 2,045 ; I think that was the figure you gave
me. Mr. Reid, the absclute responsibility for the fixing of the number
of passengers at 2,045 on June 10, 1914, to be allowed the steamer
Eastland rests entirely upon you and Mr. Eckliff; does it not?—A.
That is the way I take it to be; yes, sir.

Q. It was fixed in the exercise of the discretion of vou two gentle-
men, without any suggestions, without anv influence in any way,
shil)pe, or form?—A. As I have stated before, 1o ane broached the
subject.

. When was the next inspection of that vessel made, Capt.-

Reid A, The following year, June 7, 1915,

Q. June 7, 19152—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Upon whose application was that inspection made?—A. T could
not tell you, the files are here in the office and the records will shew.

Q. Who made that inspection —A. Myself and Mr. Eckliff.

Q. Was the application for it written or oral’—A. A written ap-
plication. ' _

Q. Can you give me that application ?—A. Yes, sir,

Q. 1 would like to see it right now if I muay have it.

" (Paper passed tp witness.)

Mr. Tioryax. Capt. Reid, I hand yvou an application for an in-
spection of the steamer Fastland, dated May 15, 1915, and signed by
Harry Pederson, master, and ask you if that is the application upen
which you and Mr. Tckliff made the inspection in June, 1915.—A. Tt
is; there are 1.y initials there on the corner.

Q. Will you please put this into the record? (Ileading:)

' . Bextox Haueor, Mrow,, Vay 15, 1915
UNITED STates Locan INSPECTORS.
Steamboat-Inspeciion Service,

. Port of Grand Haven.

GeENTLEMEN ; The undersigned applies to have the stewmer named Fastlond, of
1,981 gros=s tons, inspeacted under the inspection Iaws of e Unitedd States, to be
employed as o passenger and freight exeursion vessel on the following rond or
waters, to wit, the Great Lakes, bays, and rivers. The vessel will be fonnd Iying
at Benton IHarbor and in all respects ready for inspection.  The enrrent certiti-
cate of inspection expires June 10, 1915. I further state thal no previous appli-
catlon for inspection has heen made to any other board of local inspectors or
supervising inspectors,

(Signed) TEanry DEpERSON.
Masier.

Mr., Tuvraax. T will ask youn to also include in the record this:

. PPort o Graxp ITaves, Miew., May 17, 1915,
SNThe Master or Owner of the Steamer Eastland: :
Your application in writing to have this steamer inspected Tas hoen received,
Inspection will be made ot the hour of 2:30 p. . o'elock on Monday, the 25th
tay of Muy, 1015, ut Benton Harbor, Mich, Fo iysure inspection nc the time
named it witl be necessary to have the water il the hoiler registered to o
temperature not exceeding 70 degrees IMahrenheit @ to hve the Turnnees, fiues,
and connection swept elean, the grate bars taken ont, Al the necessury equip-
ments and the Marine documents now in force must be on hoard, exeept in the
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case of new steamers not yet documented, and the vessel, her boiler and
machinery, must be in every way ready for inspection. A failure in any of
these respeets, making a second trip of the inspectors necessary to complete
inspection will entail upon the owners of the steamer the actual and reasonable
traveling expenses Incurred by the inspectors in making such second trip,
this being in accordance with the direction promulgated under date of Feb-
ruary 18, 1897, which will be strictly ent sreed.

Respectfully,

: RoserT REID,

£HARLES C. ECKLIFF,
United States Local Inspeetors.

Mr. TrurMan. Mr. Reid, did you have any conversation with
any of the officers of the corporation owning this vessel or any of
the officers of the vessel itself other than those I have incorpotated in
the record in regard to that inspection to be made in June, 1914?—
A. Concerning the time it should be made? )

Q. No; not only asto the time when it should be made, but as to
the method of making it. I will put it in another way: Did Mr.
Hull, as an officer of the corporation, talk to you about making this
inspection?-—A. No, sir; the only communication we had was a
written communication. . )

). Did you have any conversation—I will come right back to it—
did you have any conversation with any of the officers of the corpora-
tion owning this vessel as to the method you shouid pursue in making
that examination or the conclusions you should reach?—A. No, sir;
none whatever.

Q. Did you have any such conversation with any of the officers of
the boat?—A. No, sir.

Q. Did you have any such conversation with anybody?—A. No,
sir.
Q). T understand that in conformity with this request for inspec-
tion and your letter acknowledging it that an ins ection was made.—
A. Yes, sir. C

(. You made an inspection of the hull of that vessel and her
life-saving equipment in conformance with yonr duties, did you?—-
A Yes. sir .

Q. Mr. Eckliff examined the boiler machinery, and =o forth?—
A, Yes, sir. : ) ‘

Q. Did you witness the hydrestatie test applied to the pumps?—
A. T did; that is part of myv duty. : ,

Q. At that time, Mr. Reid, or at the time of the application for
this inspection, the steamer Zastland was carrying 2,045 passengers,
was she not?—A. Not at that time. :

(). What was she carrying. then; what was ier maximum?—A\.
She was just having a new inspection at this time. '

(). Well, the year preceding—in 1914%--A, She carried 2,045.

Q. She carried 2.0457—A. Yes, sir. )

(). Now, there is no request in this application for inspection or,
rather, any statement of the number of passengers this vessel was
allowed to carry under previous inspection and there is no request
in this application for a refixing or a renaming of the number of
passengers, she should be allowed to earry.—A. No, siv: nothing
whatever.

Q. That i never sot—X. No. sl .

(). Now, at this inspection did you and Mr. EckBil or did yon not
fix the minimum nwmber of passengers the stewmer Zostlaonid should
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be~ gllowed t carry in 1915%—A. We fixed the number that she
" should carry at that timé according to her equipment.

, Q. How did the question of how. many passen'%ers this steilmé;;«

- should be allowed to carry. through the season o

up when they brought the steamer to Benton Harbor in 1914,

Q. How did it come up then? That was for the season of 1914,
wasn’t it?—A. That was what they would be allowed to carry if they

had the equipment for that season. - . o
" Q.. Who brought it. up at that time?—A. I don’t know.
Q. You do not recall’—A. No; sir. C

Q. Well, as a matter of fact; in 1914 the passenger carrying limi¢

‘was placed at 2,045¢9—A. Yes, sir.

Q. So we can eliminate the year 1914 ; we are.taiking now ahout the |

season of 1915.—A. All right.

Q. What limit did you and Mr. Eckliff place on this vessel at the
inspection in June, 1915, for the season 1915%—A. We placed the
limit according to her equipment at that inspection. Do you want
to know what 1t was? L . :

. Q. Yes—A. Or if it was increased.

Q. Now, wait a minute, L am coming to that. ¥
it at, the number, at 2,500 or was it less than that?
it for Xou ih & minute if you will give me time. 2,253. -

Q. At 2,2563%—A. 1 think, I would not say for sure; the records
will show. ' v

Q. That is'to the best of your recollection in June, 1915, you placed

the carrying capacity of this steamer at 2,253 people?—A. T believe .

s0j yes, sir. - - . , _ :
- Q. Who first brought up the question of the carrying capacity at

that time?—A. Tt was fixed by the equipment the steamer had on "

board.

Q. Who first suggested fixing it, whose duty is that, yours or Mr.
Ecklifi’s?—A, I make out the list after I ezamine the equipment
und that is submitted to him. ,

Q. Do I understand then that that is the custom, you as the hull
inspector—I am asking for information now—you as the hull in-
spector go over this vessel, the entire vessel, you take into considera-
tion her life-saving equipment, that is, her lifeboats, her life rafts,
and her life preservers, and everything in the shape of a life-saving
appliance —A. That all comes in my line of business.

a. That is in your line of business?—A, Yes, sir.

Q. Your duty, as I understand it?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. That data is collected ?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. And on the basis of that data you and 2 boiler inspector, consti-
tuting a board, determine the number of pastengers that that vessel
~ should be allowed to carry?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. The maximum number of people, is that correct?—A. In ac-

cordance with her equipment. .
Q. Was or was not that the procedure applied in June, 1915, when

you fixed the maximum capacity at 2,253%—A, That was the pro-
cedure.

Q. Yes, sir—A. Giving them as many people as they had equip-
ment for.

1915 first come -}
. up?—A. I believe the question, to the best of my recollection, came

July 2; the record will Sh:?{
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Q. Did you or did you not at that time take into consideration any
deck space on that vessel, or did you in your prior inspection take into
consideration your general knowledge of her measurements —A I
took the general knowledge, I did not repeat the measurements; in
fact, we never repeat them after Chicago makes them. N )

Q. Yot took no new measurements of the deck space?—A. No, sir.
1 thought she had more deck space and a less number of people at that
tlmeQ‘ Did you or did you not know at that time that under previous

' licenses the steamer Eastland had been allowed to carry a greater -

ber of passengers than 2,253 ?—A. I knew she had 3,000 in 1906.
nu& Now,gvhen §he carried 3,000 in 1906, shé was a somewhat differ-
ent vessel from what she was in 1915, was she not —A. Yes, sir. |

Q. Did or did not that fact have any influence in your board deter-
mining the capacity of 2,200 approximately instead of 3,0007—A.
Webased our judgment on those_ﬁgures. :

Q. On the figures?—A. Yes, sir; that would be safe.

. .

Q. Did, in your opinion, the change in this vessel necessitate a re-

. duction of the maximum number of passengers in should be allowed

to carry?—A. No, sir. .
Q. It did not?—A. No, sir. , §
- Q. Then why did you fix the number at 2,253 when you knew that

in previous years she had been allowed to carry 8,000%—A. I have

dy stated she did not have the equipment for 2,500. _
ah‘&x Xsn matter of fact, is it not true that this 2,25,3 was determined
by the life-saving equipment on board of her at that time?—A. That
iz what T have already stated; yes, sir. - )
Q. Now, Mr. Reid, in all the responsibility for the fixing of the

* pumber of passengers in June, 1914, of 2,253 rested whoily and solely

upon you and Mr. Eckliff, does it not$—A. 1915%
Q. Yes—A. Yes, sir. ) : e
Q. Now, Mr. Reid, at any time subsequent to June—I will change
that—Mr. Reid, was the passenger-carrying capacity of this vessek
changed or increased rather, subsequent to June, 1915, at this inspec-
tion you have made, and if so, when?- At the inspection of June,

* where you fixed the carrying capacity at 2,253, to put it in another

way—I1 am putting it in another way.—A. We amended that certifi-
ate afterwards. - .
caQ. That is what I am getting at.—A. That-was amended, I believe,

. July 2, 1915%—A.. T think so. )

%. 'V{Vh}zxt ‘was the carr ng capacity fixed at at that time3—A.
Two thousand five hundred. . . . )
Q. How did that matter of increasing the carrying capacity of this
vessel over your inspection certificate of June arise—how did it first
come to your ,attenlt)l(:m g——tﬁ&b?ltly, by notice that they put the addi-
tional equipmient aboard the boat. .

OQ. Vﬁmag do you mean by receiving nofice that th_eg egut additional

uipment on t¥w boat? Had you at any time noti ,thexp to put
ﬁditional equipment on that boat?—A. No, sir; I don’t think they
had, only this previous talk that they could have 2,500 if they could
cquip the steamer for that; nothing in the record to show.
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- Q. Did the inspection in June, when { by
the board at 2,253—was there any talk about fixing it 4t 2,5002—1 |
Not at that time; I do not think there was; I do not recollect. =~
.~ Q. When did you ever at any time have any talk with the officis
at 2,500?—A. T would not ‘gay for
sure, but my idea is that there was somgthing in regard to that pre.
vious-to that time; I am not certain of that. ' : ‘

- Q. Did at any time any of these officers discuss with you the add;.
lional life-saving equipment that would be required in order to obtain
a certificate for that vessel for 2,5002—A. I think T notified the cap-

’

~of this company as to fixing it

tain and the mate, Fisher.
Q. Did you do that upon you

upon request?—A. I can not recolledt.
Q. I hand you g letter dated July 2, 1915, addressed to C. C. Eck-
liff, Robert Reid, and signed b Harry Pederson, master, and ask you

if you ever received it ?—A. Yes,

L r. THurMaN. Yet me read this into the record, please.
’ B St. JoserH-Crircaco Steamsure Co.,

Capts. C. C. Eckuirr and RoBerT REiD,

United Steles Local Inspectors, Grand Hawven, Mich,
GERTLEMEN: As .per my phone to-day, we placed the following rafts on the

steamship Eastland:
Raft No. 34, plate No. 3304,
Raft No. 35, plate No. 3306.
Raft No. 36, plate No. 3305.
Raft No. —, plate No. 3307.

Length of each raft over all, 16 feet 8 inches; width of each i'aft over nll,x‘

¥

STEAMER EARTLAND.

our capacity ‘was fixed

r own volition, or did you do that

sir.

8t. Joseph, Mich., July 2, 1915..

G feet. Dilameter of cans, 1 foot 10 Inches. Number of cans to each raft, 2.°
Manufactured by David Kahnwieler's Sons, New York. - C

As per your letter of June 7, this will raise the Eastland’s passenger-carrying

capacity to 2570. " Your file V-636, 1

cate to Capt. Pedersen, steamship Eastland, 407 Rush Street, Chicago, special

delivery.
. Yours, very truly,
E. .

.

. Mr. Sapam. May I inquire right here when this letter is dated?
. Mr. Trurman. This letter is dated July 2; T am coming to the

- June 7 letter now.

Q. Mr. Reid, I am going to read you a letter that I find on your
file V-, dated June 7, 1915, addressed to local inspectors of steam
vessels, Grand Haven, Mich., signed by Harry Pedersen, master. 1
am going to read it to you so you may know what I am talking to you
about—wait a minute; let us go back to the 4th. I am going to
read first a letter written by you and Mr. Eckliff to Capt. Harry

Pedersen, dated J%ne 4, 1915,

Capt. HARRY PEDERSOXN,
. Steamer “ Eastland,” Si. Joseph, &

DeAr Sie: You will equip the steamer Fastland with one oil tank of 30 gallons
cap. or 2'tanks of 15 gal. cap. each. It is optional with you which you install,

" These tapks-are to be fitted with suitable hose or pipes for distributing storin

- ofl overboard, said tanks to be filled with storm oil, placed [n a suitable part of

" the vessel, and ready for useé at all
. immediately. - Kindly notify this office
use as required above,

You will alse install one mechanical deep-sea sounding apparatus. Many of
the steamers are installing a Dobbin McInnes deep-sea sounding apparatus.

A metal can large enough for the en

?

trust that you will mail the new certifi.

Harry DPipERsSEN, Mastor.

TeNE 4, 1055,

fich.

times. These tanks must be Installed
when tanks are installed and ready for

gineer to store his greasy rags in.

)
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The safetSr notices that were sent to yoix ’ttlf}be tramed. ope p;acfed; m'engine
room and one in pilot house. . .- - ¢ lcaks
Three stay bolts in the rear head, the after starboard boller that leaks

‘glightly to be hammered up, and the tube for diamond flue blower to be ex-

panded out and made tight or renewed.
. Iy, o
Respeth i /) CHARLES C. ECKLIFF,
) RoserT RED,
Local Inspectors.

i . Why was that letter sent; do you recall?—A. T think it was be-
cm%e thg’waound thos,e"defec,:ts in the steamer and want,ed’ them

d. - . ~
O When did you find those defects’—A. What is the date of the

letter? o ‘
Q. June 4—A. T think it was May 30; I would not say for sure.
Q. At the time of your inspection?—A. Yes, sir. ette
Q. Now, then, in respcnse to that I am going to read you a letter
dated June 7, 1915, to the local inspectors of steam vessels at G;‘and
ren, Mich.: ' _ .
Haven, St. JosEri-CRicAco SiEAMsHIP Co.,
GENERAL OFFICES,
St. Joseph, Mich., June ¥, 1915.
; N . . "y, 2 2] Mich. - s .
Lecal ingpectors of steam vesgels, Girand Haven,
GENTLEMEN : Yours of the 4th to hand and contents of instructions carefully
in regard to steamship Eagtland.
mtTel?elgl{ t.:gahks will be installed with full equipment on Wednesday, June 9,
and the order has been placed for deep-sea sounding apparatus and will be
n the Fastlend as soon as possible. :
plnlgg:llro instruction regarding after starboard Dboiler u_nsl the diamond flite
blower have been attended to and put i ﬁrst-clas_;s condltmnZ and tank or can
for greasy rags installed, and also vour safety notices put up in pilot house and
o e i ¢ > Thursday, June 10
rish necessary perniit or papers to move the boat on Thursday, :
]915“::11(1 same for allowing Eeastland to go on her regular Chicago run Satur-
morning, Juie 12, 1915, : . ]
‘la;}‘l:g(;ifqé-sﬁvixn;; equipments that the Fastland now has gh_'es the boat a capac-
ity of 2,258 persons, crew included, but have ordered four 25-people capacity life
rafts {ll‘ld shall expect you to give the boat her full cgtpacity pf 2,570 persons as )
soori as these rafts arve installed, of which I shall notify you in due time.
) I hereby‘send you a duplicate of order for deep-sea sounding apparatus,
sworn to before a motary public by me, and I also make affidavit as to the
veracity of contents of t‘hfisn]etter. '
3 tfully,
Yours, very respecttully HARRY PEDERSEN, Master.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this Tth day of June, 1915, e

-~
Cras. W. STRATTON. )
Notary Public, Berrien County, Mich.

My commission expires March 10, 1918.

. Was or was not that the ﬁrs@ time that t]gis question of increas-
ing the passenger-carrying capacity of the Fastland in accordance

" with the increase of life-saving equipment came up?—A. I think

the verbal conversation in regard to that was Qrevious to that.
Q. You had had verbal conversation with Capt. Pedersen?—A. I

think so. .
hgkzﬂ those conversations did you or did you not agree that if .
this additiona] life-saving equipment—or did you or did you not
agree—to put it another way—upon the additional life-saving equip-
ment that would be required in order to increase her capacity to
2,500%—A. I am quite positive that T informed him previous to that -
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some jti,(me, that ‘when' he .eQuipped ‘t‘he stéamer with the 're(‘lﬁimd
equipment she should carry 2,500. S

Q. Now was the equipment named in this letter of Capt. Pedersen ]
to you stating that the additional equipment was put on, was that

in conformity with what you told hinr=would be required in order to

‘increase her capacity or was it not?—A.. I could not say, but I think |

it is., .

- Q. As a matter of fact, Captain, were you or were you not justified
in increasing the number of passengers because of the additiona]
- life-saving eguipment put on that boat?-—A. We were.

Q. In accordance with this request did you or did you not, befors

_ the passenger-carrying capacity was increased, inspect this vessel to §

provided?—A. You mean thé four rafts? -

Q. Yes; the life-saving equipment upon which you subsequently
based your increase of passengers. In other words, did you examine

e boat to find out whether ornot that equipment was on before you
granted the increase? —A. We did. not. :
- .Q. You did not?—A. No, sir. A
Q. Did you grant the increase before the life-savin equipment was
- onf—A. No, sir; it was put on, according to his affidavit there. We
~ granted the additional equipment by that affidavit. :

Q. Then do I understand that you accepted the affidavit of Capt.
. Pedersen that the life-saving equipment had been put on but did not

see whether or not this additional life-saving.equignent had been

make an inspection of the vessel to see for yourself whether it had |

'l}eeln put on; is that right?—A. That is right, sir; but I inspected it
uly 4. '

Q. Was this additional life-saving equipment on then?—A. It was. |

Q. It was on then?—A. It was. :

Q. After you received this letter of June 7 from Capt. Pedersen,

what did you do?—A. I don’t know what you mean.

Q. What did you do in regard to complying with his request for
additional certificate, if any?%—A. June 7% :

Q. This letter T have just read to you, July 2, I guess it is, in

- which he mentioned an increase from 2,253 to 2,570.—A. We amended

the certificate of inspeetion. . Co

Q. You amended it on July 2, didn’t you, to get right at it?—A. To
the best of my recollection.

Q. You mailed the certificate to Pedersen?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is that a copy of the certificate vou sent him [handing paper
to witness]?—A. Yes, sir. :

Q. That is a copy, is it*—A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Trorman., Will you please, gentlemen, put this in the record?

4

CERTIFICATE AMENDING CERTIFICATE OF ISSPECTION BY CHANGING CHAR;\CTER‘OF
' YESSEL, ROUTE, EQUIPMENT, ETC.

DEPARTMENT OF C'OMMERCE,
STEAMBOAT-INSPECTION SERVICE,
OFFICE 0F UNITED STATES LOCAL IKSPECTORS,
Port of Grand Haven, Mich., July 2, 1915.
This certifies, That the following described amendments are hereby au-
- thorized in the certificate of inspection expiring on June 7, 1916, issued to the
steam vessel named Fastland classed as passenger, built at Port Huron, in

the State of Michigan, in the year 1903, and last inspected in the local district

P -
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of Michigan, in the State of Michigan on the 7th day of June, 1915, namely:
This steamer being equipped with boatage and raftage for seven hundred and
seventy-six (776) persons, and life preservers for twenty-five hundred and
seventy (2,570) persons, may carry from May 15 to October 15, both dates in-
clusive, 2,570 persons, viz, twenty-five hundred passengers and crew of seventy.

. o Cranres C. ECKLIFF,

RoserT REID, .

United Stateés Local Inspectors.

Mr: Tuorman. Mr. Secretary, will you please read the other letter
fnto the record ? _— ‘ S

The Secrerary. There is no letter of inclosure. It occurs to me
that Mr. Thurman having mentioned the letter which he asked me

.to read info the record, and that therefore the subject of that letter

having been mentioned, while it has no relation whatever to the mat-
ter, I will read it into the record that there may be no question in
anybody’s mind as to our unwillingness to have it offered in the
record ; it is as follows: '

« , Jury 13, 1915,
Capt. HARRY PETERSON )

Steamer Eastland, St. Joseph, Mich. X

Deae Sir: Jnclosed please find the latest Form 802, which you will please
have posted and the old ones removed. The lamp-room door requires slight fit-
ting, so that it will close tight and the latch or lock to be piaced in working
order. /

_ Respectfully, #
» ROBERT REID, .
CuarLEs C. ECKLIFF,
. Local Inspectors.

Mr. TuursanN. Mr. Reid, was there any other cause or reason for

- your increasing the carrying capacity of that vessel from 2,253 to

2,570, other than the reasons you have given? .

A. Taking into consideration her past performances, the people
she has carried, and what she had been certificated for. ‘

Q. Was any attempt made by anybody, person, or corporation to
i%;ﬂuqnce you properly or, improperly to grant that increase?—A.
No, sir. . , :

Q. Then, as I understand you to say, this increase was based
upon the application of the captain—was granted upon the appli-
cation of the captain and based upon the life-saving apparatus on
board her, oncluding the additional quantity put on, your previeus
knowledge of the deck space of that vessel and her past perform-
ances as to the carrying of passengers. Now is that a correct state-
ment of the reasons why you increased the.certificate?—A. It is a
very good one.

({ t is correct, is it, sir?—A. Yes, sir. . .

Q. Is there any reason you want to add to it?—A. I might add
to that, that this steamer was equipped with four 13 by 12 modern
Scotch boilers allowing agpressure of steam of 200 pounds to the
square inch; a boiler of tliis size so constructed will approximately

weigh 44 tons and with the water in it it would approximately weigh

65 to 70 tons. She had four such boilers. She had in the form
of her engines piping and pumps and auxiliary light plants, steam
pipes, shafts, wheels, the approximate weight would come to about
50 tons.

: The Secrerary. In addition to the boilers?
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;3 A. In addition to the boﬂefé.»-This being situated -below: the Diaiy

deck would have a tendency t¢ make the steamer more stable. .
- Mr. TuurMan. Mr. Reid, the fixing of the capacity, the carrying
capacity of these steamers at the various inspections that you' mads,
was fixed by you, was it not, in conformity with your duties as pre.
scribed by section 4450, I think it is—well, in conformity with the
United States statutes that places that duty in you and Mr. Eckliff
as the local board ¢ 8
A. Yes, sir; so considered to be. S
Q. Did you or did you not, in fixing this carrying capacity on
various occasions, and especially when you increased it to 2,
exercise what you considered to be your best judgment and disere.

=

.tion?—A. T did. :
Q. Then as a matter of fact if that diseretion was faulty or if g §
* mistake was made in it, you and Capt. Eckliff are responsible for
that mistake in judgment, are you not?—A. I should so take it. -
Q. What do you say now, Mr. Reid, as to whether or not you

think you were mistaken in your judgment?—A. I don’t think I
was. ’

Mr. TaurMan. I think that is all I want to ask him, Mr. Secre.

tary, I do not know how you gentlemen want to take that but
I think I have asked him all I want to. Do you want to ask him,

Mr. Sullivan? T
" Mr. SorLivan. Would the installation of two sea coeks. on this
boat lgn(}er her less stable? r "

A. Iy i!‘. :

Q. If she had two sea cocks on her instead of one for the filling
or draining of the balast tanks, would that improve her or not?—
A. T am not in a position to answer that; it would depend largely
on how her pipes were pumped up. 0

Q. The Secretary yesterday suggested that the installation of
more than one sea cock might add to the danger; what is your
opinion of that?—A. My experience has been that a great many
steamers carry three sea cocks. :

Q. Would 1t not be better%—A. Oh, not for the ballast tanks.

Q. Would it not be better for the steamer that carried a large

fitting of thefe various equipments?—A. I could not answer that.
Q. Why not?—A. Because I don’t know. )
Q. You don’t know. You say that Mrs. Erickson was the one

" number of p}}s&ngers to have two sea cocks rather than one, for the

- who communicated with Mr. Hull regarding the employment—or

urged Mr. Erickson to communicate with Mr. Hull regarding the
employment of her husband?—A. She was the one that influenced
him to change from the Saronic and make application for the
Eastland. ~ ' . '
. Q. What did she say, what reason did she give?—A. That that
boat plied between Chicago and St. Joe and that she could live in
St. Joe and be in daily communication with her husband; the season

of navigation on the Eastland is about 70 days, while his working .

year would be nine months if he took the ;S'anco/m'a; he would be
gone for the whole sailing season. , ‘

Q. The Sazxonia plied between what points?—A. Buffalo and Du-
Iuth and Chicago, anywhere they have ore to carry. It was based
on a reasoning on this line. : \

@ -
‘
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.Q: Did, she have any talk with any official on the boat regarding
the equipment of the ballast tanksf—A.. No, sir. o

QﬁAs to the speed’with which they may be filled or emptied #-£-
A. No, sir. - » I

Q. Did not that occur fo you as beinft-a matter‘of vital im-
portance?—A. It was in my judgment left to the boiler inspector
to take care of that part of it. ‘

Q. That is your associate?—A. Yes, sir. -

Q. You knew this boat listed frequently,
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didn’t yout—A. I have -

_ seen her list slightly, not dangerously at any time.

Q. Didn’t you know that she had a reputation-for listing more
than that of any other passenger boat?—A. I never knew that she
had a bad reputation for listing; no, sir.

Q. You first became acquainted with the Fastland in 19069—A.
Yes, sir. : , -

Q. Where were you employed then, in Chicago?—A. In Chicago.

Q. When she went to Lake Erie and did not come back here until
1914; is that right?—A. Yes, sir. 4 o

Q. Did you hear what kind of a record she made in Lake Eriet—
A. I did not. ‘ o ’ :

" Q. Did you learn anything that happened to her there!—A. No,

r' “
Q. Does not your department keep you informed, where a boat is
transferred in your district, as to anything that happened to that

“boat?—A.. Not that I know of.

Q. There are no rules requiring one district to send-ghe record of
2 boat to the other district?—A. No, sir.

. Q. Is that right?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Didn’t you inquire of Capt. Westcott or Capt. Larson anything
about this boat—A. No, sir. N o

Q. Why not?—A. Because I did not think it was necessary.

Q. With what officer of this Eastland Co. did you transact your
business?—A. In what respect? oo I

Q. Any business, official business.—A: Sometimes it is the captain-

‘and sometimes the manager or owner.

. Q. You transacted no business regarding this boat except with the -
two_you named?—A. Those would be the proper ones; I do not
recollect any other persons,

- Q. If you took up the question of insufficient ballast tanks and
equipment, you would have to take it up with your son-in-law,
wouldn’t you?—A. My what? ‘

Q. If you took up the question of insufficient ballast tanks on this *
boat it would lead you directly to your son-in-law, the chief engi-
neer, wouldn't it?*—A. I never knew they were inefficient.

. Th% Secrerary. Did you say inefficient or insufficient, Mr. Sul-
ivan ~

Mr. Surrivaw. Insufficient. ~ , .

The SecreTary. Did vou understand, insufficient

A. Either term would be the same answer.

By Mr. SvLrvan: .

Q. Ca&)t. Ennis, you say, and Mr. Hull were present when you
inspected the boat first, in 1914%—A. Not at all times, they were not
there; not at all times, they would come and go.- ' »

22359-1@»—-—9
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Q. Did Capt. Pedersen call on you personally regarding the'in.
- creasing of the caﬁncity of the boat this year?—A. He did not.
Q. Did he telephone to you?—A. No, sir. ‘ S

. Q. He comhmunicated only in writing ?—A. That is all. '
. Q. What talks did you have with your son-in-law about thatf—
- A< About what? - f ' : .
, Q. Increasing the capacity of the boat.—A. None whatever.

" Q. None whatever?—A. None whatever. : B

Q. How many. times during 1914 and 1915 did your board require

a test of the cfew as to their fitness—I do not know. whether you call
- it a test or drill?—A. It was required each week.
_.Q. The regulations required it each week?—A. Yes.

Q. Were you present at those drills each week ?—=-A. No, sir.

Q. Who was present representing your board ?—A. The board did

‘not have to be represented at those drills.
-~ Q. Does not have to be?—A. No, sir. ,

" Q. What record or report or proof do you get that the drills are |
held as required ?—A. The report sent in at the end of each month -

givin%the dates the drills are held on. , , :
-7 Q. Did you get such a report at the end of each month?—A. I
~ .could not say; the record would show. -

Q. You do not know whether you got them or not?—A. I could

not say. ;
Q. Since you have been made a member of the local board have you
been transferred at any time?—A. From Grand Haven, do you mean?
Q. Your first appointment as a member of the board was at Grand
.Haven; is that right?—A. Yes, sir. :
. You have never been transferred from there?—A. No, sir.
Q. You say the complaints that were made against you to your
immediate superior were two this year; is that right?—A. That is

~ correct.

| Q. You say you required repairs on two boats this year ¢—A. Re.
" quired repairs on all boats that needed repairs.

Q. You mentioned the steamer Joknson and the steamer Puritanf— .

"A. The Robert E. Johnson; yes, sir.
Q. Those are the two boats that you required to‘have repairs upon
before you would give them a certificate?—A. No; you misunder-
stood me; those two boats took an appeal. . . ,

Q. And previous to that this year there were six other boat owners
who took an appeal from your order?—A. Not this year; no, sir.

Q. I mean since you have been in Grand Haven; you mentioned
eight boats altogether.—A. There may have been more.

Q. What are the rules and regulations as to final authority being
vested in your board? .

Mr. TaoryanN. About what?

Mr. SuLLivan. About repairs. ,

The Wrrness. The owner or master of the steamer has the privilege
of taking an appeal from our decision. -

Q. Giver: that right by your rules or by the statutes?—A. I could
not say which; he has that right. :

Q. Where does the appeal go?—A. To Detroit from our district.

- Q. To Mr. Westcott ¢- o n 7 '

. Mr. TrorMAN. It goes to the supervising inspector of the district.

) - N ! N 4 . -r
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| . Mr, SULLIVA‘N.’ Has tge owner the right to 'appenl\fgf’e&very ‘case'to

 the supervising inspector ¢

A. Yes, sir. .

. Q. In what particular cases have the local board final jurisdiction?

. ‘Mr. TrurmAN. Mr. Sullivan, I do not want to conceal anything,

- but I do not think that is a fair proposition. This man is a local -

inspector; he is not a lawyer. All the information that you are
seeking to get from him can be found in the United States Statutes,
of which I have a ¢opy here and will be glad to furnish you and
with the entire steamboat-inspection list. ‘

Mr. SurLivaN. Do you mean to say, Mr. Thurman, that this man
does not know? S : , .
Mr. TuurMaN. I do not suppose that he does know generally, if
you call the steamboat inspectors alone, they are right here.
Mr. Surrivan. This man has the lives of thousands of people in
his hand?s, isn’t he familiar with the laws, can he not answer the

uestion .

_q Mr. TrurMAN. Certainly he is familiar with the laws, but how
would the safety of anybody in the United States, depend on this
man’s knowledge of the right of appeal to the supervising inspector

Mr. SourrivaN. If he does not know what the common practices
are, we would like to know it. ‘ :

" Mr. TaormMaN. He does, but the common practices are not the
‘United States statutes. ‘ ]

Mr. Surrivan. I want to know whether they are in the rules or in
the statutes. ~ , .

Mr. TrorMan. There is a way of finding it out, it seems to me,
you could ask for a copy of the statutes and a copy of the rules which
vz would be glad to furnish you.

Mr. SuLLivaN. You think that I ought not to ask this gentleman
what he knows about it? _

Mr. TrormaxN. I do not think jt is a fair propositi’on to question

- this man on his knowledge of the law.

‘Mr. Suruvay. Isit g fair progosition to ask him about the rulest

Mr. TuorMAN. I will admit that, yes. v

Mr. SoLuvan. Is there a rule then, Capt. Reid, giving you folks -
authority, from which your judgment can not be disturbedi In
other words, put it this way: If you make a ruling upon a certain
situation, can the objecting party go above you and have your rulings
set"hside and make a different ru ing ¥

Mr. Taurmax. Ruling in regard to what? ,

Mr. SuLtivan. For instance; the equipment of a boat.

Mr. Teurman. All right. S

Mr. SurrivaN. The necessity for equipment.

The Wirness. I believe that it is the owner’s or the master’s
privilege to take that appeal when he thinks that it is necessary.
You will excuse me, but I had an accident to my teeth, they fell out
“and broke and I have to hold my tongue down to talk.

Q. Suppose you ruled on a master’s request for increasing the

- carrying capacity, against the request and the boat owner was not
satisfied, what could he do?—A. I do not know what he would do.

Q. Under your rules and regulations what rights would he havef—
A. 1 should think that he had the same rights there that he would
have in any case. ) . ,
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Q. So that he would have a nght to ap;aegltfrom your declslon !
at is my un erstmw

in,
% And the supervising inspector would have the power to over. -

‘ regardmg any question of eqmpment?—A

rule your decision in the matter, would he?—A. If he found my de.
cision wron,

Q. And tﬁnt has been done in how many- instances since you have

E been in Grand Haven?

. THURMAN. Now, jmu are assuming that it has been”done, yon ’
~omi ht ask him if it has ever been done, e

aN. All right, T will put it that way.
: Mr THURMAN. Give him a chance,
- Mr. Surrivan. He is well protected.
‘Mr. TuurmaN. Thank you for the compliment.
The Wrrness. I forgot what the question was—I was listening to
the by lay between you.
auestlon read as follows:)

‘ And this has been done in how many lnstances since you have been in-Grand !

Haven?

A. What is it?

Q. (Question read as follows ) .

So that he would have a right to appeal from your declsion regarding any
question of equipment?—A. That is my understanding of it.

Q. And the supervising inspector would have the power to overrule yom'
decision in the matter, would he?

Mr. TeurMan, That was answered “yes.”

Q. (Question read as follows:)

H:ud this has been done in how miany instances since you have been in Grand

ven? .

Mr. TrurmMan. I do not think that is a fsur question. Ask him if
it has been done at all. *

Mr. Svrrivan. Has it been done?

A, Tt has.

Q. In how many instances?—A. T don’ recollect the number.

Q. Well, about how many?—-—A Four thnt I recollect of at the
present time.

Q. You say that Engmeer Erickson—

Mr. TeurMan. What was the result of those appeals; let us find
out now—go all the way through them.

Mr. SuLLivan. He as {s what was the result of those appeals?

A. Tam t?mg to think. You fellows are putting me through such
a hard ace 1 can not keep up with if.

vLLavaN. Don’t flatter us.

The Wrrness. We were sustained in one. The character of the
steamer changed in another one. The requirements slightly modified
in another case, and another one held-in abeyance up to the present
time.

Q. When Engineer Erickson heard from Mr. Hull regarding his
application for the position of Chief Engineer, the offer as to salary
was unsatisfactory, was it?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. And that o or Was——A. $150.

. Q. $150 per month?—A. Yes, sir.

" gettled it bet
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Q. He had been getting on the Saxonia $1855il month{, $185

Q. Then he took that matter up with Mr, Hull §—A. ‘ﬁl
ter? -
'Q. Regarding the questwn of salary, further {—A. ‘Why, they
themselves:
Q. Mr. Erickson and Mr. Hull?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. They got to%ther on it#—A. Yes, sir.

Mr. TrurMan. Did you have anythmg to do with it?
A. No, sir, |
Mr. TauRmMAN. Excude me for interrupting you; did you have

| anything to do with it?

The WirnEss. No, sir. -
Mr. THURMAN If you did, let us know.
Mr. Svrnivan. Did you know negotmtlons were going on reaard-

ing a better offer of salary?

he Wirness. It was not a better offer.
Q. $150 was the final offer?—A. You mean in regard to the

 Eastland?

Q. I mean the Eastland; did you know that they were negotiating
to mﬁrease the $150 proposulon?——A I know that it ‘was not ac-
cepte

Q. Did you know that he had made a counter proposition #—A. I

| know that Mr. Hull asked him to make one and that he made it.

Q. What tallt did you have with Mr. Erickson regarding that
pomt?—A I had no talk with him whatever.

Q./ You say you knew it; from whom did you learn it?—A. Why, -
I saw the letters. He lived in my house.

Q. Mr. Erickson and his wife lived with you?—A. Yes, sir.

Qi You were present at this discussion?—A. Present when I read
the letter.

Mr. TrormaN, What discussion? Did Mr. Hull come to your
house and discuss with Mr. Erickson the question of salary?

The Wirxess. He did not.

Q. Then, these discussions that Mr. Sullivan refers to were discus-

, sions between you and Mr. Erickson; is that the idea ?-—A. He wants

to know in a casual way whether Mr Erickson and I talked about his
business matters, I presume that is what he is after, and being my
daughter and son there, they might compose a letter and keep me
fdmiliar with what was fomo’ on, without me interfering.

Mr. Taurman. I understood that Mr. Sullivan’s question said:
that Mr. Hull was present. .

Mr. Surnivan. I did not intend that. You and Mr. Erickson and
your duu%hter and son were present when this matter was discussed,
were you

A. 1 would not say that; I do not recollect

Q. What proposition dld Mr. Erickson submit to Mr. Hull as to
salary #—A. That he would take the Fastland, as I understand it, on
the same salary as the Saxonia.

Q. Was that accepted by Mr. Hull finally ¥—A. It was.

Q. How long dlg these negotiations take regarding the raisin
of the salary ¥—A. I do not know how long it took. He was at wor
on this; about the 1st of April he went to Work on it; a couple of
weeks or such a matter. '
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Q. About two weeksi-—A. Might be a little longer and might bs
- less; ¥ do not know how long. - & little longer and might

Q. Tn reference to inspectors’ fees, does the Government charge § |

- _fee for making an inspection of these boats#—A. In certain cases and

- “conditions. - ' : v B

.Q. I suppose your annual i&spection you make before a boat starts'
out in the season?—A. The Government pays for that.

Q. No fee charged the owper?—A. None whatever.
-~ Q. In what cases does the owner pay a fee to the Government ?—
" A. If it is necessary to make a second trip:- . R
Q. A second trip to the port where the boat is located #—A. Yes,

sir. ' '
Q. What is the fee they charge them?*—A. The actual mileage and
hotel bills; whatever you, pay; a reasonable charge. :

Q. I am not clear on that. If required to make a second trip,

under what circumstances does that happen?—A. That the boat\

must. be ready for inspection in every respect when the inspectors
come for this first trip, you understand, and if it- was some fault of
the machinery or the boiler gives out, or something like that, or the
+stays won’t hold, the boiler can not be inspected ; they have to make
those repairs. The second trip, if it is necessary—the second trip, if
one is necessary, is paid by the owner. v

Q. That is the only case, is it, where the Government requires a fee
for the services of its inspector —A. The Government does not get
that; the inspector gets that. : _ ‘

Q. That is just for his expenses?—A. Yes, sir. ‘

- Q. From whom does he get it?—A. He gets it from the steamship
company. ’ )

Q. Direct from the steamship company ?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. Does he submit a bill to—— . N .

Mr TuurMman. Let us'go a little further. Wheryou get that
money that you are talking about, do you sabmit any receipt or ac-
count for that to the Goveggment? . '

A. We send a duplicate &% it to the Government, the same as what

we have on the files, the same as goes to the steamship company; it |
" is made out in triplicate—one to the Government, one to the files, and -

one to the steamboat company. A , )

Q. To what branch of the Government?—A. The Steamboat-

Inspection Bureau. : .
- Q. Where?—A. Washington, D. C.

Mr Surrivawn. That is all.

Mr. Taorman, Mr. Sabath, how long will you want Capt. Nelson?
It.is getting along toward adjourning for lunch, and if you can take
him now and be through with him before lunch it might be a good
~ thing; and Tet this other gentleman rest a little. T '

Mr. Sasarn. All right. co

Secretary Repriern. Is that satisfactory?

Mr. Sasatr. Yes; that is satisfactory. *

Secretary Repriern. You might put this in the record, that in the
absence of Lieut. Gov. O'Hara he kindly sent his father, Judge
Tgxomas O’Hara, with a letter of introduction, to represent him in his
absence. . :

Will it inconvenience you, Mr. Sabath, if for a moment I intro-
duce Col. Judson to identify o drawing?

LN
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. Sapata. No» R o
""’g%;rftg; ‘Reprrero.. Mr. Thurman, will it inconvenience you if I,
for 2 moment, introduce Col. Judson to identify a drawing? :

" Mr. TuorMaN. Noj that is all right. . .
‘Secretary ReprreLp. He chanced to be in the room, and it might be ,

well to put him on now. ,

- (The witness was temporarily excused.)

Lieut. Col. W. V. Jupson, called as a witness by the board, having

peen first duly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as follows:

Examination by Secretary _Ilgnnm(.lb: ad o the stenor
. Will vou give your full name and address to: the stenogra-
ph?r‘l—-k. 'Lieugl 'Colb.’ W. V. Judson, -Corps of Engineers, United
States Army. I am district United States engineer in Chicago, with -
in this building. C T e : ]
Oﬁi((i? %lol. .lIs;stdn, isg that your signature [handing letter to the wit-
ness] ?—A. Tt is. ‘

"+ Q.-And'is this a blue print ‘from the drawing to which it. rgfers

anding blue print to the witness]?—A. Yes, sir; it is.
[hSecret%ry REII))FIELD. T read for the record this letter:

Wan DEPARTMENRT, 7
: ‘ _ Uxtrep StATEs ENGINFER OFFICE,

. 5038 Federal Building, Chicagoe, IlL., July 29, 1915.

n. WrnriayM C. REDFIELD, . :
Ho Sceretary of Commercé, Hotel Blackstone, Chicago. .

My DEsrR Mr. SECRETARY: I inclose herewith blue print showing soundings
taken vesterday and to-day in the vieinity of the capsized steamer Eastland.
In each cnse the depth is at the position of the decimal point in the soundings
gs indicated on thefn;?p. .

,yery respectfully, . W. V. Jtmso;t,

: Fdeutenant Colonel, Corps of Engincers.

wvliB 1 lnclosure. :

Secretary ReprreLd. Why was this done? . )

A. You ¥equested that it be done. I probably should have done 1t
in any event. - )

Secretary ReprieLp. Any questions. .

Mr. Sasara. What does it show, Colonel?

A. Do you wish me to analyze the soundings there? i
Q. If you please, because I made that point there yesterday, in
view of conditions and testimony adduced here. T would like to
.know the depth of the river at that point.—A. Well, it shows that at -
the distance of 20 feet, for example, from the line of the wharf that
the depths, beginning at the stern of the vessel and running toward
the bow, are, from her stern to her midships, varying from 20.4 feet
to 24 feet. Amidships it is about 17} feet, and at her bow about 17.8

feet; that is. 20 feet from the bow. o .

General Unter. Col. Judsorn, may I ask on what line those sound-
ings aref .
m%. Those are taken on lines 30 ff,et ?part,t }fm(lindi{ngs taken every
5 feet. the lines running perpendicular from the dock.
. Q. How far out fx'dgmp the dock?—A. Well, they run out to the
vessel ; and beyond the vessel, again, the lines are not the same lines,
but other lines are taken in the water out there..
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- Mr. SaBatH. What is the Icwest measurement that you have ta]u:n

ahywhere through there? .. - ‘ o .

. A. In each case the first sounding on the line going out from the
dock is- taken immediately at that dock—that 1s, as close as fhe
plix‘xﬁn %)ole could be put down—and the least of those soundingy
is 10.7 feet. : L

" . Q. Would that be right at the dock?—A. Right at the dock; right
1n Juxtaposition to the dock. : ' : :
- Q.- What would be the measurement of depth about, we will say,

from 15 to 20 feet? That would be sbout the center of the boat !~
A: Well, at 20 feet—that is what I gave you first. - ‘ .
Q. What is that? The lowest would be 179—A. Tt is nothing less

‘than 174 feet. ' ' .

Q. That would be-about as near as any boat could possibly go?-;

. A. No, sir; those vessels bilge. She has quite a bilge; she is quite -

flat amidships. Her bilge would come retty close to the dock. -
Q. Well, how close, about?—A. Well, I should say, without re.
membering exactly the contour of the vessel but having it in mind

from having seen her there, I should say that it might come within'

2 or 3 feet of the dock; but it ‘rounded, you know, and it depends
upon what point of it you were speaking of. When you get down to
_ the full depth of the vessel you are probably 10 or 12 feet off,

. Q. That is what I meap.—A. Yes.

Q. The full depth of the vessel, or the center of the hull?—.

A. Yes; the full depth. -

. Q. That would be what?—A. I should say you would be from
10 to 15 feet out. ‘

- Secretary RevrreLo. What is the lowest depth at that point?
A. At 15 feet out?

. Q. Yes.—A. The lowest depth anywhere near amidships, and, in
fact, that is the lowest depth anywhere, 15 feet ont is 17.2.
" Secretary Reprrerp. Seventeen feet and two-tenths? |
A. Yes, seventeen feet and two-tenths. That is fifteen Feet out.
-Mr. Sasatu. Now, if it is permissible, I will usk you have you
seen the boat as it lies there now? :
- .A. YGS. .
Q. You liave seen.the way she is constructed ?—A. Yes.
Q. You have sounded the depth of the river. From the investi-
gation that you have rnade, Colonel, is it your opinion that the boat
, groundedvor that it was possible from the position that she was in
(4]

gronnd$—A. I think it is extremely unlikely, although possible,
* of course, .

Mr. Sasatr. That is all.
Secretary Reoriero. Judge O'Hara.

.. Judge O’Hama. Colonel, when, immediately before this, were
soundings taken at that point? -

- A. A year ago; well, something less than a year ago last August,
I think. s * .

YQ. And on that occasion, as on this, a blue print was taken?—A.

es. : :
8_ is igmt in eﬁg{?m&?——-‘&. Yesh k. Yo' T

..And you wi uce it, will you?—A. Yes; I gave a co
-of it to Mr. Redﬁeldl.) ' 7 8 B

Secretary Reorrero. Is that the one to which yo%refer t

" year; a little over a year.
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 Toe Wrrxess. Yes, - . oo 0 SR
 Secretary Reoriern. Then I will bring it. ot
. Judge O'Hara. Now, wlhat do you say at the present time the
depth of the river is at the stern of that boat? R o
A. Well, at the stern of the vessel the depth varies from 23 to 25

- feet. '

Q. Did you have personal charge of the soundings taken a day
or two ago?—A. No; I sent a competent man there.
* Q. Were you present, or did you have personal charge when the
scundings were taken a year ago?—A. No. . ,

Q. The person or persons who took the soundings then are present
here. are they?—A. They are not in the room. They are in my

rloy. ‘ v
cmé'l inid you ever in your experience have personal charge of an
operation of that kind?-—A. Oh, many times. In fact, I was present
and observed part of this done, but I wasn’t immediately directing
it. I gave the man who took it the directions as to what to do, and
‘he is a very competent man. o o
heé. Howylongphnvé you been in charge in Chicagot—A. About o

.

Q. You are familiar with the charactér of the bottom of this
riveri—A. Yes, L :

Q. What is reported to von now as being at the bottom, at the
place of this accident? What is the nature of it?-—A. What ma-
terial ? . : L

Q. Is it clay#—A. Tt is clay, overlaid with soft mud. .

Q. Now, then, having in mind and keeping in mind, and basing
your answer upon your own experience and your knowledge of this
river, its bottom, and the current, what do you say as to whether.
or not the depths amidship, fcrward, and aft are the same now as
immediately before the accident? In other words, when that vessel
went there that morning to moor or to tie up to the dock.—A. Well, I

. will sny what I rather expected to find. I expected to find that the

eight of the vessel, perhaps after she had turned over, had pushed
g\egmud in all ways:,rs)fx that it ‘might have been even shoaler on the
dock side of the vessel than it was before she turned over. - ]

Q. And even at some points, Colonel, owing to the current, may it
not have been deeper?—A. That is possible; that is possible.

Q. Yes. One further question. What do you say you find the
present deoth to be amidships? Pardon me for repeating that ques-
tion, but I have one thing in mind.—A. Seventeen feet and two-
tenths. - Thgt is, 15 feet from the dock. : . .

Q. Seventeen feet and two-tenths?—A. That is 15 feet from the

ock. - ,

¢ Q. And what waos theI be‘an!; of that vessel, 35 or 36 feet?—A.
Thirty-eight and a half, I think. : : )

Q. Thirty-cight and a half; something like that: Now, then, im-
mediately amidships, at the present time how much of that hull is
above the water line?—A. Immediately amidships—well, I should
eay that about half is above it immediately amidships. Her bow is
not on the bottom at all. Her stern is, and she is balanced on the.
after half of the boat, the other part being cantilevered out in the
water so that the line of the keel runs up at the bottom; does not
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" run up similarly; I mean the forward part of the boat is not on the
bottom. .- ) - ' '

~..Q. This perhaps might be hearsay, but this being in a measure in. -

formal—you made, naturally, some inquiry as to what that vessel
- was drawing that mominf t—A. Yes, ‘
Q. And you yourself, of coursedidn’t see it ¢—A. No.

- Q. You were not there?—A. No; I didn’t see it. . -

Q. What do you understand that vessel was drawing aft and for-

ward !—A. I understood she drew 11 feet forward and 153 feet aft,

Q. And do. g‘:m_understand that that was her draft about 7 in
the inorning,

No; I understand that that is her draft with her load of passengers,
~'but without: her ballast; without her water ballast. I only got that,
+ I will say, from another, and you can call the man who to. . me.

Mr. Workman, the insurance adjuster, told me he had made an in-

vestigation which satisfied him that those were about the depths
~ ghe drew. I have no other information than what he told us. ,

" Q. The press informs us that some persons for a period extending
- &rhaps 15 minutes discovered what in their judgment appeared to

© - be.an unusual list. This is my last question. Did it occur to any
of tlie onlookers, as yon understand it, to take notice as to what the
boat; was drawing shortly before she capsized 2—A. I haven’t heard
that anyone did that. ‘ :

Q. You have no information respecting that, hearsay or other-
wise?—A. No, - ’

Judge O’Hara. That is all. . -

Gen. Unrer. Col. Judson, have you abserygd about how far the
vessel is now lying from the dock? ~ She is on her side, and how far
is her bottom from the dock, Colonel? . - ‘ ‘

A(.1 Well, I should say it is about 40 feet, aft and 10 or 15 feet for-
ward. . .

‘Q. And she is not lying exactly parallel with the doclc?—A. No;
she is not lying exactly parallel with the doek. .
© Q. A difference of 40 feet and 152—A. Yes.

Q. And with her bow inclined to the dock?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, Colonel, have you a 10-foot line there from the dork?—
A..Yes. I have a 10-foct line from the dock; yes. I can read those
soundings 10 feet from the dock, beginning at the how of tlie vessel,

Q. I would be glad if you.would do that.—A. 15.7; 16.3; 16.8;
16.4; 16.3; 15.9; 16 feet; 15.2; 14.95 18.7; 20.7; 20.3; 21.3: 10.5: 214,
- Q. At what point right there, Colonel, does the 14.9 appear?—A.
The 14.9 appears a little bit after the midships.

Q. A little bit after the midships?—A. Yes. ®

Gen. Unrer. Thank you, sir.

Secretary’ Reorrerp. Col. Judson, is this o twin-screw vessel?

A. It is a twin-screw vessel; yes, sir.

Q. Do you know whether the propeller blades on the screws pro-
ject below the vessel’s hull?-—A. That, of course, would de pend some-
what upon her trim.

Q. Normal, I mean?—A. Normal. I couldn’t be sure in this case
whether that is the lowest point or not. She probably has a shoe
underneath there anyway.

fore the passengers commenced to board her?—A. -
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- Q. Do you know whether it is-or is not a fact-that the blades of

" the screw do prog')ect below the hull?—A. I am not sure in this case;
no. I think probably they do. : Lo : o

Q. Are you able to say, of 1y'omr own knowledge, whether that is

usual 2—A. Well, it is usual, although they often have a shoe under-

- peath, as yon might say—a shoe underneath that you might say was

art of the hull. .
¢ Iéecret;nry Reprrero. Capt. Westcott, have you nnf' plans of this
vessel or any other available information which would inform us on
that point? - . L
tl.)Cugt. Wesrcorr. No, sir. I communicated by t:lzlecii)hone with the
designer of the ship a day or two ago and he promised me to send all
the blue prints complete on that or the next day. L.

Secretary ReprieLp, I wish you would communicate again with
whomever can furnish the drawings of these vessels.

Capt. Wesrcorr. Well, I understood from an outside source that
he would be here to-day. I can call up again by telephone and get
him to do that. ,

Mr. Sasarn. In view of the fact that the vessel lays now on the
bottom, and has been there now since last Saturday, would it not
be possible that the depth of the water would not be as great to-day
as 1t was last Saturday near the dock on account of the pressure of
the boat forcing a great deal of the mud away? That on account of
the pressure of the boat n izrcut deal of the mud might have been
forced away from the vessel.

The Wirnesa. I think there are two influences at work. One would
be the weight of the vessel pushing the mud awny; the other would
be the current, which would be a little increased, but very little, al-
though, in there it might take a little of it off. I think it might
take a little of it off. I think, on the whole, I should expect to find
it pushed up, because so little of the cross section of the river is taken
up by the vessel that I would not think the current would be in-
creased enongh there to make any material change in the current,
although there would be a little. I think perhaps it is safe to sa
there wouldn’t be very much change, unless 1t were a change upward.

Q. Well, that would be my judgment.—A. I want to add this to
my testimony, if T may, and that 1s that this morning, when I came
by the scene of the Eastlond disaster, 1 noticed that the Department
of Justice, or some of its agents, had a diver there going over this
area between the dock line and the vessel, and ¥ told him I would
cooperate with him and send a man down, the same man that made
this survey, to locate exactly the depth on any spot that might be
found; that was not found when these soundings were taken, and
T will gay that the diver told me, or rather the man who was in
charge of the diver told me that he had picked up an old truck in
that area which had been placed upon the dock, that truck having
been. evidently an old abandoned one that some one had thrown
off a vessel to get rid of. -

Secretary Reoriewn. Did yuou see it, Col, Judson? )

The Wirness. I saw it yes. Ilooked at it tosee whether it had ang
marks on it, and it had none. T saw it and it doesn’t look as thoug
anything had touched it. And I unfortunately do not know what
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Q. And still you stated yesterday that it was a safe and well

* balanced boati-—A. I stated yesterday that I consider the Eastland,
" if she was properly ballasbe(i‘ —the water ballast taken care of—sls
was absolutely safe for 2,500 people. ]
Q. Is it usual for i rs, when they receive a request for m
increased capacity on one day, that the same day, without personal

that depends onthe circumstances. I have done it. I have probe
ssued an excursion permit for 500, and that is all the lifs

ection, they would go and grant the increase requested?—A.
bl

Kreservers she had. Perhaps I may have inspected two or thres.
undred more life preservers the next day and incressed the ex-

cursion permit, - :

Q. Well, we will say an application for a boat whose capacity
had been reduced for some reason from 3,000 to 2,000 and the boat
underwent certain changes, an application is made for 2,500 and it

is refused, and then a few weeks thereafter, within 4 few weeks

. another application is made with the statement that certain things
have been complied with and that the request for the 2,500 passen-
gers should be'granted ; do you think it is proper, without inspection,
to do so?—A. Why, perhaps the permit was refused for the simple
reason that these requirements had not been complied with. She
might not have had the extra boatage; she might not have had tha
extra life Frmrvera. That was the only question at issue.

Q. Well, shouldn’t first an inspector ascertain whether all these
provisions have been complied with, whether the life preservers and
whether the rafts and the lifeboats have been placed on the boat
before the maximum carrying capacityis geinted t—A. Why, there
is a blank form of affidavit to that effect. There used to be a blank
form and they could make an affidavit. She has got the rafts and
the boats and there is s cerfificate of inspection that goes with the
boats and rafts. . '

Q. Now, why is it, Captain, that you allow an excursion steameér
to carry a greater capacity than a steamer that is employed in
regular trips across the Lakes?—A. Oh, there are several reasons.

%l. Is one reason, Captain, because it is——A. Let me answer your
question, please.

Q. All right.—A. We have steamboats in our district that will
i))robably carry 4,000 passengers that run between Buffalo and

uluth. They have only stateroom accommodations to carry 500
and consequently they don’t need any more, because no man will
take any passagé on a ship for any length of time without he has a
statercoom. An excursion steamer is something that would go qut
for an lour or two or a half day or a day ﬂ]’li% you don’t requirx
stateroom ;. you don’t require the nccommodations.

Q. Well, isn’t it also due to the fact that it is expected that such

a

an excursion steamer would keep within 3 miles or 5 miles from |

shore and that it would be in n water that would not be deep
enough to submerge the entire boat?—A. No; that is the regulation
for bontage; 8 miles off the shore; it used to be 5 miles; it is reduced
to 3 miles. They only have to carry 10 per cent between May 15 and
October 15. Beyond the 3-mile limit they have got to carry 30
per cent from May 15 to October 15.

Q. Well, in view of the fact that this boat did travel farther than
8 to 5 miles away from the shore, was she entitled to be permitted to

e
P
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+ v the number of passengers that the local inspectors or thé
,%prz'ctt)rs granted then??—-—-A. You are speaking about this year, are
I%' Yes, i lated b
77Q. Yes, sir—A. Well, the number of passengers was regulaied
'th? boatage. She has to carry 30 per cent of beats and raits fqr a
the people on board. S les from th

Q. The mere fact that she would go farther than 5 miles from ¢ e
chore would not make any difference in her allowance, ould it?—
A. As to boatage? Thrée miles off the shore she is onl equired to

. carry 10 per cent.

? Yes.—A. And beyond the 8 miles she has got to carry 30 per
cex?t fﬁiere is also ar};other provision. Passenger boats equipped
with wireless can navigate 10 miles off the shore during the day time

ith 15 per cent of boatage. . :
w‘& ‘Yoll)l are acquainted with this rule of the department on page
1782—A. Yes, sir;if you will tell what it 1s; I know what it is.
Secretary Reprrero. This is the rules of January, 1914. 5
The Wrrxess. The rules of January, 1914 ,
Secretary Reorrerp. They are not the current rules, are they?
The Wirness. We have gu new rule now. : :
. Sanar. You have o
%I:e V\‘;‘ll':';ms. Yes. But what part of it is it you have reference tot

" Perhaps it was not changed.

Q. Well, I wanted to know whether the inspectors—Inspector
Reid—has complied with this rulef—A. I don’t know.

Q. In granting this boat the license to carry 2,500 passengers {—
A. That 1s up to his judgement; that is not mme. -

Mr. SuLiivan. What 1s that rule? Will you put it in the record ?

Secretary Reprierp. Let me have the book. .

The Wrrness. That is rule 3.

Gen. Unrer. What is the sectiont

A. General Rules and Regulations. ’

Gen. Unrer. What is the section of thg rule? i

Secretary ReorreLn. What is it, Judge Sabath, to which Jou refer?

Mr. Sapati. To this part here, “ Lake, bay, and sound.

The Wrrxess. Section 1, rule 3. ~

Secretary Repriero. 1 read from page 178 of the General Rules
and Regulations prescribed by the Board of Supervising Inspectors,
as amended at the board meeting of January, 1914, ond as further
amended by the executive committee of the Board of Supervising
Inspectors on June 23 and 24, 1914, THe edition of July 22, 1914.
From rule 8, section 1, at the bottom of page 178, paragra h headed:
« Lifeboats required on lake, bay, and sound steam vessels carrywng
passengers.” .

Lake, bay, nnd sound steamers carrylng passengers shall be equipped with
lifehonts of sufficlent capacity to accomnwxlate at one time all persons on board,
fneluding passengers and crew: Provided, hooever, That such steamers navi-
gating during the interval from the 13th dany of May to the 15th day of October,
in any one year, hoth dates inclusive, shall be required to be equipped with life-
hoats of only such capacity as will be sufficlent to accommodnte at one time at
leant 30 per cent of all persons on hoard, Including passengers and crew: Pro-
vided further, That auch stenmers navigating routes lying at all points within
a distance of 8 miles from land, or over waters whose depth is not suflicient
to entirely submerge the vessel In- case of disaster, shall, during the interval
from the 15th day of Mny to the 15th day of October, in any one year, both
dates Incluslve, be required to be equipped with lifeboats of only such capacity

L -
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as will be sufficlent to accommodate at one time at least 10 per cent of all .
sons on.board, including passengers and erew: Provided further, That
bay, and sound steamerg. carrying passengers and navigating the waters of g
lakes, bays, and sounds tributary to the Pacific coast, the Atlantic coast |
of the thirty-third parallel of north latitude, and the Gulf of Mexico shail by
equipped with -lifeboats of sufficient capacity to accommodate at one time g

least 30 per cent of all persons on board, including passengers and crew: Prs. ,

- vided, however, That such steamers navigating routes lying at a'i points within

a distance of 8 miles from land, or over waters whose depth s not sufficlent te
entirely subinerge the vessel in case of disaster, shall be required to be equipped
‘with lifeboats of only such capacity as will be sufficient to accommodate at ons
time at least 10 per cent of all persons on board, including passengers and craw,

4 Mr. ?ABATH. Mr. Secretary, that doesn’t apply to Lake Michigan,
ces it : ' '

Secretary Reprrecn. Ah, what comes does, Get the whole of it.
Mr. Sasata. All right. o : i

Secretary Reprierp (continuing reading) :

Three-fourths of the lifeboat copacity required on lake, bay, and sound
steamers may be in approved decked lifeboats, life rafts, or approved collapsiblg
lifeboats : Provided further, That such steamers equipped with wireless teleg.
raphy navigating in daylight only and whose routes are at all times within a
distance of 10 miles from land or over waters whose depth i3 not sufficient
to entirely submerge the vessel in case of disaster shall, during the interval
from the 15th day of May to the 15th day of QOctober in any one year, both
dates inclusive, be required to be equipped with lifeboats of only such capacity
a8 will be sufficlent to accormmodate at one time. at least 15 per cent of all
persons on board, including passengers and crew. - Three-fourths of the life-
boat capacity may be in approved life rafts or approved collapsible lifeboats.

Q. Capt. Nelson, is this the last edition of the rules?
- The Wirness. No; we just got a new edition the other day.
Q. The edition of 1915 is later?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you know whether this has been changed?—A. There is no’
- change. : U

Q. There is no change in that respect?—A. No. o
Q. Do you know whether the seaman’s act supersedes this clause?—
. A. As I understand, the seamon’s act does not go into effect until

November 14. o
- Q. And do you understand that when it does go into effect it
supersedes this clause?—A. When it does go into effect it supersedes
this clause. -

Secretary Reorierp. That is the exact foct.

Mr. SaBatr. And the new rule that went into effect this year, did
not that supersede this provision heref

A. Tt is the same; there is no change.

Q. There is no change made?—A. No change, as far as I can re-
member.

Q. Now, I am going to ask you one more question. An inspector
in charge, having the power and the right to grant to a vessel the
privilege of carrying a number of passengers, should he take into
consideration the measurement, the deck space, as well as the con-
struction of the vessel, in addition to the number of lifeboats and life
* preservers and rafts?—A. T have answered that question once before,

saying he should take everything into consideration, the stability
of the boat, the equipment, and the deck space.

Q. Now, if you would come across a captain who has demonstrated
his recklessness in your presence, and who was obliged to be in-
formed of shortcomings and negligence on hisg’/boat, would you grant

o

T

ACCIDENT. TO. THE GTEAMER FASTLAND. 148

‘him the full measure of passengers that the i;.\;v\Grﬂe'of‘ the'de-

partment would technically entitle him#—A. If I came across a cap-
tain that I saw was negligent it would be my duty to prefer charges
against him to the local inspectors and have him tried. :

Q. You have heard the statement of evidence of Inspector Reid

"here this morning, have yout—A. Part of it. I didn’t follow it all.

Q. You have heard what he stated about Capt. Pederson—the
reckless way in which he had handled the boat last year in Benton .
arbor? - ' i «
HMr. SuLuvan. St. Joe River, wasn’t it? ‘
The Wirness. I don’t remember that part of the testimony. I
guess I was in some other part of the building. o
Secretary Reprrerp. One moment, one moment. In justice to

_Capt. Pederson, whom I never saw and of whom I never heard, I

want to ask you, Judge Sabath, if the testimony did say “reckless
way ” in which he handled the boat? .

Mr. Sasati, Well, I formed my own conclusion from the evidence
that was given, and I will take it for granted that he must have been

- not only reckless but careless in doing what he did.

Secretary ReprFierp. What is it, Judge Sabath—-

" Mr. Sasata. And, furthermore, Mr. Secretary——

Secretary ReprieLp. Yes. '

Mr. Saata. I base my informaticn upon the evidence that T have
heard before the coroner’s jury here in the county. / )
. Secretary ReprreLp. I have not heard any of it, and have no desire
in the least to criticize, only it didn’t occur to me that Capt. Reid had

~said that, and I merely wanted to know whether you were stating, -

your conclusion or Cipt. Reid’s testimony.

coreless. ] -

" Secretary Reprrerp. That is all. s o
Mr, Sapata. But I take it for granted he must have been, other-

wise he could not have handled the ship as he did and as has beer

Mr. Sasatu. No; Capt. Reid did not say that he was recklessand :

gtated by Mr. Reid, or Inspector Reid, that he .didﬁtl}e way he did" .- '

handle it. - o ) o I
* The Wirness. Well, you are making two statements—one s_taie-
ment is you say Reid said so, and now you are saying that he didn’t
say £o. - : -
%{r. Sapata. I say that he didn’t use the word that he was care- -
less or reckless, but he did say that the way he handled the boat—
~ Mr. Suiuvan. Pardon me for making this sqﬁgestmn: Reid said
to Capt. Pederson, “If you do that again I will take your papers

away.” : i
MZ-. Trurman. Now, till another suggestion: Let us have all this
testimony and find out just exactly what Capt. Reid did say.
Secretary Reoriero. Was that yesterday afternoon or this morn-

ing?
%(r. Twaorman. This morning. : :
Mr. Sapati. I was under the impression that you heard the tes-
timony of Mr. Reid. I did not desire to misquote him. :
. Mr. Sutrivan. It was during the discussion on the matter at
Bentori Harbor. :

22350—16—10
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. Mr. TacemaN. As I understand, he got his report in the way of
some other boat in the river there—getting mixed up with it. '
Mr. Saeara. How long have you -been in actual service of the
G(izerélghentl?gw , e - .
. Since . v
Q. Aillld what have you been doing before that?—A. T had been
master of steamboats and master of sailing vessels. L
""Q. Ever since what year?—A. Oh, that is going back quite a
ways. 1 was master of one steamboat seven yoars and master of
another steamboat seven years—that is fourteen—and master of
{wo or three different boats at other times. I was master of a sail-
ing vessel, one, two, three, four, five, about five years—five seasons.
" Q. Well, you have a great deal of experience and knowledge of
conditions on the Lakes and our seas, have you not?—A. I have
ome. _
° Q. You have heard the evidence here, and you heard the reports
about this fated boat, the Eastland. You have seen her lying there

in the river2—A. No; I have not seen her. 1 have seen pictures, and

1 have read about it. I have not seen her. : )

Q. You have also heard the testimony or the evidence of Col
Judson as to the measurements, and also the soundings and the
number of feet of water the boat would draw. Now, what is your

_opinion?—A. You asked me that_yesterday, and T said it must be

something at the water bottom, that she wasn’t properly ballasted.

I said that yesterday, and I wilY state it again, that T have every.

confidence that if the steamer Eqstland was in the same condition
- that she was in_down in Clevlelalr)ld1 lthg't,dI will put 2,500 passengers
on her, provided she is properly ballasted. ‘

Q. I’IEW long Wouldl)it It)akey to trim her?—A. Why, that would
simply -be guesswork, and I refuse to make any statement about
.guessing anything. That would depend on different conditions—
the size of her pipes, and if she had been properly ballasted, she
should have been filled before the pagsengers got on her, that is the
time to put the water ballast in a shﬁ) .

"Q. Before you put passengers on her?—A. Before you put pas-
sengers in it. That is some part of the ship. .

Q. ' Well, I agree with you. And if the evidence shows that ‘she
~was pumped out at 6 o'clock in the morning, or within a few
minutes before they -commenced to load her, you think that that
was a grave mistake on the part of the captain?—A. Oh, T am not
here to judge anybody. I am telling you my opinion of an absolute
safe way as to how to handle that ship. ) \

Q. Well, was it a safe way to load her without her ballast?—
A. T have stated that the only proper way to load that ship would
be to have the water ballast on, at least some of the tanks filled,
- before you begin to take passengers. .

Mr. Saearm. That is all. . -

Mr. Taorman. That is all, Captain.
- (Witness excused.) K _ ,

Mr. Tuurman. We will adjourn until 2.30. ,
- (Thereupon an ‘adjournment was taken until 2.30 p. m. of the
same day, Friday, July 30, 1915.) .
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_ ;o Jury 80, 1915—2.30 ». M.
Parties met pursuant to adjournment. :
- Present: Same as before.

@

Capt. Nus B. Newson resumed the stand for further examination,
and testified further as follows:

Secretary Reprierp. Capt. Nelson is upon the stand, Judge Sabath
desires to ask him some questions, but I thought there was some other
persons present that (‘iesiréd to do so.

. A Vorce. Mr. Sullivan wishes to examine him, but he is out just
nOw. ,

Secretary Reprierp. Shall Judge Sabath proceed ¢

A Voice. Yes, sjr. ' -

Mr. SasaTh. It was not my intention to charge Mr. Reid that he
stated that the captain was reckless or careless: I only inferred from
Lis testimony that he was. Now, this is the statemient which Mr.

| Reid has made and on which 1 base my opinion. MNow, will you
- kindly read that please [passing excerpt of testimony of Mr. Reid

given this forenoon to the witness].
A. T do not know the circumstances connected with that. Perhaps

i somebody told the captain that everything was all right.

Q. But without anything else would you not yourself be of the

| opinion that this was a reckless act on the part of the captain?—A.

Perhaps somebody notified the captain that everything was all right
and he started up his engine and started out. ; .
Q. Isn’t the captain the master of his boat, and isn’t he held at all
times responsible for the boat ¥—A. Well, he can not be all over. He
hashzot to rely on some one to report to him that everything is all
right. - ' .
Q. Well, couldn’t he first ascertain from people that everything
is all right and be satisfied in his own mind before he gives such an
order as he gave in this instance I—A. Perhaps some of his own crew
notified him that everything was all right. I should want to ques- -
tion the captain and to know all the details of that date before I
passéd any judgment. ’

. Well, a few months before that it eame to your notice—suppose -
it did—that it was necessary to call the captain’s attention to the
fact that he must keep the doors opem—the doors that lead from
the saloon into another compnrtment where the life preservers are
gtored—in connection with this woulda't you then have a right to
mrmise that he was reckless?—A. Sometimes a captain issues orders
to n steward to see that everything is all right around the cabin, and
perhaps the steward did not follow out the captain’s instructions,
ind then when the inspector sees anything wrong he calls the cap-
lain’s nttention to it and reprimands the captain.

Q. Well, he is held responsible, though, to see that everything
should be carried out.—A. Why, the captain is; but he has got to
EIY on his subordinates to a certain extent. He can not be all over

e ship.

Q. I will again ask you, sir, whether it does not require more care
fo handle a ship that carries passengers than a ship that carries

freight only?—A. Which way?




&
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- Q. And especially when a shi depends upon water ballast.—A,

There are more details to look aiter on a passenger ship than there
/ are on g freight ship. ’ '

. Q. Well, the heavier the boat the easier it carries; is that n
true?—A. I do not get that question. o
. Q. What I mean is if there is ballast in the boat sufficient to its
measurement it rides easier and safer than if there is no ballast.—A,
‘It adds to the boat’s stability to have ballast. ‘ ,
Q. And where you would load 2,500 people on a boat, and the 2,500
ple are carried on the first and second and third decks, wouldn't

" 1t be necessary to see that there is some ballast in the boat?—A. Why, -

1 should say if I was master of a boat that expected a record crow
of passengers like that I would see that there was enough water
ballast, whether it was necessary to put in one compartment or two
compartments, before I began to take any passengers whatsoever.
Q. So there is greater care required on the part of the captain
who is the captain of a passenger boat than a freighter #—A. The de-
tails are more numerous, and I would call that greater care in a way,

Q. Well, I know; but greater efficiency is required from a c‘a})taz

who secured a license for a passenger boat than on a freighter
Well, I think any man who is able to be master of a freight ship is
able to be master of a passenger ship, as far as ability goes. Now,
£ number of things are required of a captain of a passenger boat
that are nof, required of a captain of a freight ship.

Q. Now, has this thing ever come up in your conferences at Wash- .
ington, whether more care would be necessary on these newer and

eater boats that are now being built than formerly, when boats

id not carry one-half the persons that they carry on the present
day?—A. It requires the greatest care of the master. The master of

" a little boat or a tug around here may run into a Xassenger boat and
be the cause of the loss of two or three thousand lives; the master

of a freight boat may ram into a passenger boat if there is care-

lessness. )

Q. So you are under the impression, then, that it is just as neces-
sary for experience and efficiency of the men and experience and
‘efficiency for a captain of a tug as there is for the captain of a great
big passenger steamerf—A. As to the navigation; but the details
are more numerous on the passenger ship than they are on a tug,.

Q. Well, if the details are more numerous, therefore it would re-.

(uire greater skill and greater ability, wouldn’t it?—A. Well, if he
has ability to navigate a small boat or to navigate a freignt boat,
he ought t6 be able to utilize his ability to take care of the conditions
that may arise.

Q. Under the present rule the captain who secures a license, if he '

can secure employment on a boat carrying 2,500 or 3,000 passengers,
he is promoted to be a captain of a boat ofthat kind, notwithstanding
that he was only the captain of s tugboat when he originally ob-
tained his permit or license!—A. Why, his tonnage may not be
large enougﬁeto allow him to go on a boat of that kind; his tonnaga
is limited. -

Q. That is what I am trying to find out. Is there any rule which
will grade the pilots?-—A. Yes, sir; a first-class pilot may be limited
to tonnage; a master may, be limited to tonnage.

- _gll you can about the di : f
~“pilots, and different kinds of captains’ licenses, so he will have the
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. Secretary REDFIELD. Cxi;ipt. Nelson, tell my friend Judge Sabath "
erent kinds of licenses, different kinds of

whole thing clear. . o
* The Wirness. We have a second-class pilot’s license, we have a
first-class pilot’s license, and we have a master, a first-class license
for a master, and no one can get a master’s license without he has
a first-class pilot’s license. He has got to be a first-class pilot and
have years’ experience as a first-class pilot before he gets a mas-
ter’s license. Then we have assistant engineer, first assistant, and
second assistant, and chief engineer.
" Mr. Sapata. Who examines these men who make. applications
for permits—made for a pilot or a captain or what? , »
A. The local inspectors, and after the local ihspectors refuse
them a license he has a right to appeal to the supervising inspector.
Q. Will you please inform me—someone made - this sta%fnent,
that this boat had been condemned at one time in or around the
city of Cleveland. That is your district, is it%—A. Yes, sir.
. Have you refused that boat a license?—A. No, sir. -
Q. Some one else in your section of the country?—A. I never
knew that boat to be condemned or being refused a license. If I
may be allowed to state it, I have heard the rumor that she was

'ﬁ‘ condemned because she did not come up to the speed specifications;

that is, the owners. would not accept her and throwed her back on
the builders because she did not come up to the speed specifications. .
I believe her speed was 22 miles an hour or something. Now, that
is just o rumor; her speed was to be 22 miles an hour.

. Q. Has the Government any special inspection or inspection of
newly built boats before the boat is licensed first, & general inspec-
tion on the part of the Government in ]y()ur department?-—A.
in some cases there is. Every boiler
struction of a boiler is tested by a (Eovemment inspector, and we
bave a record of that, and then we approved of the blue print before
they can build a boiler that is to be used in a steamboat, and all
valves and fittings have got to be stamped and marked.

Mr. Taerman. That has only been in effect two or three years;
that is a departmental regulation. Prior to that there was no such
regulation.

he Wrrness. And the last five or six years they are supposed
to furnish us with a blue print of the hull as well as the boiler.

Mr. Sasatir. If ¥ am not mistakén, yesterday you stated that
if the application had been made to you that you yourself would
have issued a permit for this boat to carry the number of passengers
that she was permitted to carry on this date, namely, 2,500%

The Wirness. I think you are mistaken about that. If you will

L y
ate that enters into the con-

_read the récord you will see T did not say that.

Q. Do you remember of making that statement?—A. I did issue a
certificate for 2,400 and a 100 of the crew, which made 2,500, while
she was at Cleveland. A 4

Q. What is the rule when an application is made for an increaset

" Is it necessary for the inspector to examine such improvements that

have been made upon the boat, or a statement from the captain, and

take it for granted that the improvements have been made?—A. It
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- ull depends; we could not acept a new raft or a new boat without we

‘made an examination of it I mean lifeboats now, understand me. *

"~ Q. Well, in this case here, a communication or request has been

. made on July 2 upon_the inspectors, and-a statement made’ thst
_certain improvements have been made, that four rafts have been
added, and that they have complied with some other regulations
and that therefore they are entitled to the full limit of 2,500. With-
out any investigation on the port of the inspectors a license is issued

2

- for the vessel to carry that number of passengers. Now, is that

usual? . .
" Secretary Reprrerp. Wait 2 moment, Judge Sgbath. Tell it all

- Don’t stop there; tell the rest. You do not 'state that it was on an |

affidavit, nor do you state that two days later it was followed by an
. examination. Tell it all. ) '
- Mr. SasatH. Well, the examination was later on. What I want
- to know is whether it is a rule or whether the rule permits of issuancs
of a license upon application accompanied-by an affidavit?
" The Wrrress. There are different conditions submitted. That
* might be Mr. Reid’s basis; it is not mine.

Q. Isn’t it your opinion that there should first be an examination
before a license for increasing the carrying list be granted?—A. I
won’t give:you my opinion; I will tell you what my practice used to
be; that I always examined the equipment before I increased the
pEI'fnit. &, @ R . . )

Q. You always did examine before you issued an excursion per-
, mit?—A. Yes, sirm

- Q. And isn’t that the safest condition?—A. ‘It was, in my opinion,
_the safest. + ©~ . - o

Mr. Sapata. That is all. '

The Wrrness. I wish to say that if it is only a question of 40 or
50 life presegyers, or something of that kind, and &1& captain mada
"an affidavit' that he had put 50 or 100 extra life preservers on it, I
- would take his affidavit for it and then increase the excursion permit.

Mr. SurLivan (assistant State’s attorney, Cnok County, I1l.). Capt
Nelson, you say you are supervising inspector?

" The Wrrness. Yes, sir.: .

Q. You were appointed when$-—A. 1912; January, 1912.

Q. And where?—A. At Cleveland. ' :

Q. Did I understand you to say when examined by the Secretary
. that there was considerable criticism,regardinfr the way in which the

‘Fastlond handled herself?—A. Some newspaper controversy.

Q. Newspaper controversy #—A. Yes, sir. :

Q. And_passengers themselves spoke to you about it, did you
say?—A. Yes, gie. = 7 .

Q. What was the nature of the criticism?—A. Why, I remember
one particular casé where a -fgentleman came up to my office and asked
me if the Kastland was safe. I said, “ Yes; what makeg you think
- she is not safe?” So, he says, “ She is leaking; she is full of water.”
And T says, “ How do you know?” “Well,” he says, “I made sev-
eral trips on that boat, and I saw a man shove down a*great bi
rod, and theie must have begn about that much water [indicating
on that boat.” And after I explained to that gentleman that that
was water on the water bottom he went away satisfied and apologized
very much. ~ ‘

* yesterday that she should have the very best system¢
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., Q Did you tell him the boat was a safe boat; .or, rather, when
you d_id tell him that were yowmcquainted with the crew,?-—-A. Yes,

Q. All of themi?—A. Oh, not all of them. There was a hundred
/

~ of the crew. I was acquainted with the officers.

-
Q. Just the officers¥—.1. Oh, I might be acquainted with some of
the wheelsmen and lockouts and so on. o :
" Q. The safety of g boat depends a great deal upon the unlicensed
men as well as the licensed men, does it not?—A. To a certain ex-
tent; yes, sir. o )
Q. So that the character of the licensed men is more important
because of the increased number of them?—A. Oh, not as im-
rtant. L . . X
pOQ. Not as important #—A. Not as important as the licensed men.
Q. They are about as importantt—A. Not about as much.
Q. Now, this criticism of the newspapers in Cleveland brought
forth some newspaper advertisenients, didn’t it, on the part of the

~ownerst—A. T believ they offered a reward of $1,000.

Q. Is that ad there o copy of the ad that appeared in the Cleve-
land papers some years ago |passing paper to witness]?—A. Why,
I did not know. it was $5,000. I thought it was only one. It has
been so long ago I have forgotten. ' .

Q. The owners offered $5,000 reward —A. Yes, sir; that is open
to all the scientific men; and no one took it up that I know of.

Q. And there was enough criticiam to warrant the companK offer- -
ing a reward of $5,000 to some one who could demonstrate that she
was not a safe boat; is that right?—A. Why, I believe that is the.
advertisement. - . : ‘

Q. Well, don’t you know what the ad sayst—A. The ad?

Q. Substantially that is the advertisement in question; didn’t it

. aftract your attention?—A. At the time; yes. .

Q). Now, at the time this advertisement wag printed there what
wag the carrying capacity of this boat!—A. What date was it?

Q. It appears to be the Cleveland Leader, on August 9, 1910.—
A. Two thousand two hundred. .

Q. Two thousand two hundred !—A. Yes, sir.

Q. No limitations on that?—A. Lake Erie; good until September.

Q. Wasg she permitted to cross Lake Erie, or simply go along the
coast¥—A. The records will show they could sail on any part of
Lake Erie. ‘ .

Q. Did she cross the Lake?—A. No, gir. ,
Q. Her run then was along the coast between Cleveland and Cedar
Point. And where is Cedar Pointt—A. About 55 miles from Cleve-

fand.’

Q. Which way -—A. West, and Sandusky Bay ; the official distance
is given s 52 miles, but it measures 55 miles.

Q. Where a boat such as this relies upon water ballast, did you
say that she ought to have the very best water-ballast system?—A. I

- di® not say that.

Q. You did not say that?—A. I did not say the very best; T said
ghe shonld have the water-ballast system.
Q. Where she relies upon a water-ballast system, didn’t you eay

/

\/
/
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- Mr. Trurma. Thefe might be  dispute between the owners <
anspectors as to what the best water systen. was. e
Lhe Wirxess. She probably had the best water system.

Mr. Supivan. She probably did. '

1&. Yes, sir.
Daes that fact prevent putting in a better one should one be

made?—A. Her system she had to utilize and it 1l ri /h

inqo.urydistrict. ‘ and 1t was all right whw

: ou say that a sufficient water-ballast system was ski

by some of tj’m’e inspectors?—A. I did not su?m. rossCppeliovd

Q. You did not say sof—A. No, sir. S

'h Q. What is your opinion as to,‘the cause of this nccident, we will

b%: s{g(llx. say 0 now {—A. I don’t think that it was properly wate
. And that she was not properly water ballasted—what do

mean by that?¥—A. Why, her tanks were not properly filled. 4

Q. Sup}igse the system was not one that would permit quick ﬂllina’

_of the tanks?—A. Why, I just said here some time ago that I wou

fill the tanks before I began to take in passengers; Igwould fill theiae

waQt(jr Atar&ks.

; nd now we are asspming a state of facts that actually ex-
* ited. AsMr. Peck, one of your witnesses, stated yesterday, he bel{ev:d

that wlggn the engineer was pumping to fill the starboard tank that

the water was in fact going into the port tank; if that be ao, then
what do you say about the kind of a system they havet—A. Why, I
would say the engmeer did not, use skill in doing it. . ,
.. Q- What would you say as fo the water-ballast system that made
it possible for a mistake of that kind to happen?—A. You can maks
a mistake on any kind of a system.

Q. Would you say that is as good a system as any other boat on
the lake has?—A. No; I would not say that.

Q. And in what respect does that differ from better systems—A.
- Why, I'don’t knpw her condition—of the water ballast up here.

Q. Well, assuming that it was the same general principle that pre-

valled while she was under you in C!eveﬁmd three years ago; she
was under you, wasn’t shet—A. Yes. Frem the very fact that we

never had any accident there T would say that the water system she

had there was all right to handle her.
Q. You were lucky in Cleveland and we were not here.

-~ Mr. Trurman. I do not call that fair and you can not call it fair
Mr. Sullivan. : ‘ '
~ Mr. Surrivan. It is not a fair answer to my question.

The Wrrness. Mr. Sullivan, state that question again and T will
answer it. =~ - '
Mr. Taurman. T ask you in all fairness to strike that from the

-record, in fairness to you and in fairness to the witness,

‘Mr. SurLivan. I think the witness should answer my questicns.

Mr. Taurman. He is trying his best, Mr. Sullivan, to do it, but if
2 man misunderstands you, you certainly can ask him a fair question
in & fair way without casting any insinuations ag you did there; it ia
not fair to you an, more than it is fair to him. '

r. SvrLvan. Did you sa{ in answer yesterday to a question of

the secretary that you thoug t the Government ought to take into
consideration the question of stabiliiy?
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- AT dide “ , . o L o
Q. What do you understend by the term “stability ” as discussed
hetween you and the Secretary yesterdayi—A. The stability of the

ip.

J},). Well, give us more detail on that~—A. Well, there are a num-
ber of ships built that do not have the necessary stability ; some of
them are skillful marine srchitectures, but the architects make a
mistake. We had a fiue passenger shiF, one of the finest passenger
ghips that ever was built, go down in Italy a few years ago—rolled
over when she was launched. That is o mistake of & marine archi-
tect. We have had n number of ships roll over.

I have been informed that the steamship E'mpirato, when she made

‘her trial trip, she got on the bottom and they did not pump her

ballast tanks out until they had all her lifeboats down. ;

Q. What steps dees the Government take to determine the stability
of boats that are permitted to run around the Lakes1—A. A general
observation of the boat. '

Q. Who dees the observing t—A. The local inspectors.

Q. Are they marine architectsi—A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know the captain and engineer of this boat?—A. At
this time?v ) ’

Q. Yes, sir—A. No, sir.

Q. Have you ever met them t—A. Not that I know of.

Q. Professionally or otherwise!—A. Not that I know of.

Q. Are the local inspectors ever transferred from one district to
another?—A. Why, the assistants are. :

Q. I mean the local inspectors!—A. No. In some cases they are.

Q. You mean cause must be shown, is that iti—A. No, sir; in my

* district just now I have inspectors from another district because the

Cleveland beard is not intact and I have got to have two local in-
‘tors to help me out and I have transferred the inspectors from
mdn down there. : E

Q. That is an emergency—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. I mean a8 a general proposition, is there any rule in your de-
partment whereby you transfer men from one post to another after
they have been there a certain time!—A. Yes, air. ‘

Q). What is that rule?—A. Why, I have one inspector now, & local
inspector of boilers; he was a chief engineer a number of years uy
in the Great Lakes; he took the civil-service examination and got his
first appointment away down in Indiana some place, down the river,
and on the first opportunity there was for a local ingpector at Toledo
or on the lake district he was naturally transferred back.

Q. You do not understand the question. 1 haven’t in mind filling
vacancier; I mean simply a general transfer of the men from pcst
ta post, not to fill vacancies and not for emergency purposes but for
the good of the service. .

qu TiurmMaN. Assuming that it would be for the good of the
Bervice.

Mr. Surrivan. Yes; assuming that it would be goed for the serv- .

ice; I will put it that way.

A. In 1807 there was an order that assistant inspectors were trans-
ferred from one district to another.

Q. I am not talking about assietant inspectors.—A. I never knew
the locals to be transferred.
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Q. So if they did their work ap are:ntl satisfa

. ; cto
dlsturﬁed, asarule?-—A. None thgt I kngw of ; no, si?., they are navg
e lli). Y attention has been called to the case of the steamer Balensis
saLing on the. Pacific coast in 1905, when President Roosevelt ap.
pointed a commission to find out about that matter, and that commjs-
gmn at that time reported and recommended that the local inapecto

e changed from time to time, that it would be for the good of L}:
service. Was that recommendation by President Roosevelt’s commit
tee ever put into force ?—A. Not that T know of. o v
thMr. TrurMaN. ‘Mr. Sullivan, let me ask you if that question is for

e purpose of inquiring as to why such a commission has not been
ap_potmted in this case? _You will find I am convinced since the ap-
pointment of that commission thet Congress itself has forbidden t}[
ap mément of su,%h (l:ommlmions in the future. *

r. SvLLIvaN. To be f i '

of the newemer ao b rank with you, I was told to ask

Secrgtary Reorrewn, It is forbidden by law.

Mr. Trurman. T thought it sounded like it, but I just wanted to

that Ly one

know.

Mr. SurLivan. That is all.

The Wirxess. Why, Mr. Sullivan, T wish
question again; I always like to answer
information; that is what T am here for,

%}:‘ SuLLIVAN, We'will talk that over a littfe later.

) e Wrrness, I might be able to answer it; I did not try to evade
l‘t'MI am to appear before the grand jury. ’ . o
o 0;. ‘}V)‘;LTEB L.?'mwmxﬂ (assistant corporation caunsel, city of Chi-
Cl%vei . tyozj‘ now why the steamer Laatland was trs,sferred from

) Il;n 0 Chicago?—A. Those transfers are some times made

Q. : o you know why it was transferred 7— A No, sir. .

T Elinglt a fact that the steamer Kastland at that time had been

055 50 far as financial returns to the owners were concerned, he

Euu&e of 5t? reputation of being unsweaworthy and unsafe and ‘w-,r(;‘i

]:re to ‘Chicago where the peopte did not ﬂ’nuw itl—A. I rluhrmf,

aow that. T have heard she did not make any money, and he did
. no&mnke‘az money in Cleveland. i s S

Anc the reason was that she had the rep ation among

eople that navigated steamers of being unsafe fiuiltl{: ?, -dt?ll:-mr{‘-u -i]::q

; olx; her financial loss in Cleveland was becnuse she was too :-nn-m‘i‘.‘l

2 boat to keep up; she was twin screws, that required an imme .

amount of men to operate and used a lof, of conl. e
Q. And people would not patronize it to her ca meity I—A. St
was well patronized in Clevel]nndf S U
i Q. S::nc;e] thls;; (tiaplalstr;)l)he has the cutas
on as to her stability *—A. T have stated here a numbe imes
and T will state again, that if the Kastlund was in ti1o’:]11:ur- r(-:fnztllirtl'” i
as she was in Cleveland and her water balinst w ‘ n
I would be willing to grant her a 2,400 passeng

w1(3h 1} ci;aar conscience,
- It has been said during the week by a naval archi
vteaael was improperly constructed—that is, that the Imltl{ﬁntzhi? gj: t,
. structed that it had no stability—and. furthermore that the ballast
!;nnl§s were not properly arranged in the vessel. Now the vessel was
in Cleveland in the same condition it was to-day, so far as that li;

you would state that
any questions or give any

trophe changed your opin-

as handled properly
erand 100 crew permit

~" ag evidenced by the
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concerned.—A, That does not make it so because a. naval architect
said s0. L :

Q. No; I am asking your opinion on that—A. Why, my opinion

%act that I issued permits to her a number of
yeirs, indicate ¥ -must have been satisfied that everything was all
right. I must stand on my record. :

(). Then you would say that you would license her to-morrow, if
she was raised to-day, to carry 2,400 passengers?—A. I say, under
the snmne condition she was in in Cleveland. I do not know what
changes were made at all; there may have been a number of changes
made in her; I am only speaking about the condition she was in
while in Cleveland. T do not know anything about her condition up

. here; I do not know anything about it.

Q. I am assuming that her water-ballast tank would be in perfect
order, perfect condition, as they were in Cleveland ¢—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that the same hull is the same as it was in Cleveland {—A.
Yes, sir.

Q,. And that the life-saving equipment, preservers, and boats and
all are within the law#—A. Within the law.

Q. Then you would sny what?—A. She is safe with 2,500; and I
am willing to go out in her on any day in any wind that ever i)lew. ’

Secretary Reorienn. I might just ask you a question, whether the
gtatement of the naval architect you speak of was accompanied by
drawings of the vesselt

Mr. Sterrens. This naval architect, as I understand it, in 1803 was
employed by the company owning it to make such an investigation
of the boat and recommend improvements, and they spent $3,500 on
his recommendations, and since that time he made observations,

Seeretary Renrienn. I ask because we are trying to procure some of
the drawings.

Mr. Tnurman. Did he state whether or not the allerations and
changes he recommended were made?

Mr. SterFens. 1 believe they were; he said thgt some were not;
but substantially all suggestions were made, but on aceount of some
expences they @id not make them all.

Mr. Trnurmaxn. Did he let you know whether or not these changes
were recommended to increase the stability of the boat? :

Mr. Sterrens. Well, T would not want to say yes or noj I de
not recall that. : )

Mr. Tuurman. They were probably made for that purpose, were
they not? ’ :

Mr. Sterrexns. I would not say yes or no as to thaf; I think partly
so and partly not so. .

Mr. Tuunmax. Then if these recommendations were carried out
of this naval architect and afterwards your naval architect says
she is unstable, is that the kind of naval architect to rely ont

Mr. Sterrens. He did not say they were all carried out. T think
they were probably carried out in part, but I think his recommenda-
tions as to the hull were not carried out.

Mr. James F. Bismop (public administrator of Cook County, I11.}.
It is not the duty of a Government inspector to inspect a boat each
time she puts into port?

A. No, sir.
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Q. When a boat changes her dock, her usnal dock to which she
ustally moors, it is not the duty of a Government inspector to
advise the shipowners or the ship captain as to the depth of the new
dock to which she is going?—A. That is something we haven’t any
‘supervision over at all.

Nothing to do with that!—A. We have nothing to do with

at.

Q. And would you say, Captain, where a ship was changing its
dock, that it should or should not know,and the owners thereof should
know, the depth of the water at the dock to which it was goingt—
A. Whly, I don’t suppose any ownera of a boat, a passenger ship,
would let her go alongmside of a dock unless everything was all right.

Q. Well, I am nsE?ng you would it not be their duty?—A. [
should think, to make a success of the business, they would do it.

Q. You said you considered this u safe boat provided the water

gir.

Q. Assuming that she was not water ballasted, wou]dA_vou con-
gider her then a safe seagoing vessel to carry 2,400 passengersi—A.
N(aair. You mean without water ballast?

Y

ea—A. Noj; I would not consider her safe without the water

ballast was properly handled. '

Q. You would consider that the highest degree of care would
require the water ballast to be in the ship before you started to
load passengers?—A. When I expected a record crowd like that
I.would want water in the ballast tank.

Q. The highest degree of care would require that{—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you ever hear any rumor to the effect that in her trial
trip, when she came from the dock of the builders, that she careened
badfy or listed badly?—A. Not that I remember of.

Q). And that there was a special request to let her run that trial

trip for the purpose of selling her agsint—A. I never heard any-
thing about it.

Mr. Busnor. All right.
{(Witness excused.)

Roperr Rein, recalled as a witness, having been first duly sworn,
testified as followa:

Secretary Reorrenp. You have heen sworn and are recalled at the
request of Judge Sabath and Judge O'Hara, who desire to ask you a
few more questions. ~ i

Mr. Sanati. You have stated that at two different times you were
compelled to call Capt. Pederson’s attention to matter wherein you
have threatened the last time if it shonld occur again that you would

revoke his license. Do you remember those two statements you have
made?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you remember any other occurrence on the part of the
captain where you were compelled to call his attention to the im-
proper handling of the boat—A. No, sir; I do not.

. When was this last occurrence—when did this occur where you
have called his attention to the fact that you will revoke his licenss
if you should find him doing an act of that kind againi-—A. I could
not give you the date.

=

ballast was handled properly. That is correct, 13 it not!—A. Yes, .

»
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Q. Was it this yenrg—A. No, slir;tit. was last year.
. Last yeart—A. Some time last year. .
%. T‘l‘xis Jliwt. permit or license you have issued here on July 2, is
REoke Tane filea!—A. Yes, air; they are
_ Are these your fileaf—A. Yes, 81T ; .
8_ T]l;?s l]:ttmy has been dated—this l::tbe; ermYPedeymn himself,
i boat, was dated July 2, was it not!—A. XYes, sir.

f“g.‘ Illll.qsil(:?w,s that it has been received on July 31—A. I see the
n it. . ‘
hmt.!i\.p’que stamps show that it has been received July 8.—A. I see
st it. . _
“u(l)‘? E'Illllulc: rz;tl.]annp shows that it has been received July 3. Is this o

copy of the certificate that yla?_haxre ;'smued_‘l——A. Yes, sir.
. That is dated on July 21—A. Yes, sir. .
8 Somth:: record would show that }:ou have actually isaued tl&e.
permit a day befdre you have actually received the l:equeaﬂ-uil- f
According to that it would appear that way, Mr. Sabath; but we ha

* a telephone conversation with Mr. Hull.

Q. So you did not wait until you had received this communicdtion
in issii is license!—A. No, sir.
in issuing this license ¥ F ; oo
Q. You have issued the same upcn the telephone communication

‘had with Mr. Pedersont—A. Mr. Hull, I anid.

Q. Or Mr. Hull?—A. Yv}.s]x, h.il'.h i

Mr. Buanop. Mr. Hull, who 1s he ) ) . )

Mr. Saratir. Hull is the manager and vice president of the com
pany owning this boat; is th';]t tn]:e;i -

A. Yes, sir; ag far ns my knowl>ige goes, 1t I .

Q. What is the rule if applications are made by the captn:p or
master of the boat, or are they m[};d(i byttl_\e ownersf—A. Sometimes
by the owners and sometimes by the captains. .

]y(l. Tan't this rather unusual—that a license be issued beforeut;hz
written application is received—or 15 it a common occurrence ﬁ:' :
people would call you up and say, We have put on 2 few more rafts;
give us permission to carry 300 or 200 or 200 or 300 more passen-
gers—A. Will you put that question again, please?

Q. Will you read it, pleaset

.| Question read by reporter as follows:] . )

an’ i unl——that o leense be lssued before the written _npp -
m:lnr;.\\l|='|hrl:w-.rnlll\::]~:‘! rﬁ:";:li': n m?nn?nn occurrence that people would call }nualég
and rny, We have put on a few more rafts; give us permission to carry
or 00 or 200 or 300 more passengers. 1

A. T had absolute confidence that the steamer had the rafts aboar

her when I issued that permission. ) o

Ip(r.),. 9o that was because you had confidence in Mr. Hull and in :us
atatement that vou did not wait for the written npplmutlr:{mlorh o;
the inspection to have issued the license; 13 that right?—A. T hav
stated before that I issued it on telephonic applications.

0. By Mr. Hulli—A. Yes, sir. .

(f),. {\fmd you have done so because y had the utmost confidence in
Mr. Hull?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have known Mr. Hull fery welli—A. Two years, about;
not so very well. .

Q. Well?, how long have you known Mr. Hull!—A. T zaid lh-on@

two years.
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Q. Two years?—A. Yes, sir. . '
Q. You have seen him frequently during those two years?—A,
- Well, I would be on his dock mostly every Sunday during the excur-
sion season.
Q. Has he made other requests upon you than this ane here by
pll)xoned?——A. No, sir; he notitied me by phone that he had the rafts
aboard. ) '

Q. Do _you recall any other requests that he has made of you?—.
A. No, sir; I do not.

Q. Do you know Mr. Davis?—A. Not very well; T would probably
know him if I saw him. ‘

Q. Do you know who I mean by Mr. Davis?—A. T think you
mean Davis of the company, do you not? _

Q. Yes—A. T would not say for certain whether I do or not.

Q. Have you 'had any business transaction with M. Davis?—
A. Not that T know of. :

Q. He represents Mr. Hull, docs he not?

Q. You do not know ?—A. No, sir.

- Q. When did you examine this boat the last time, og I will say
inspect it—A. chould not remember that. |
_ (5 Have you inspected it this year-#—A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Have you given the boat that inspection that is required by
- Jlaw?—A. Yes, sir. . ' :

Q. Did you have the same amount of confidence in Capt, Pederson
after the occurrence that you stated here that you had hefore?—
A. T had confidence: I never saw him commit an error after that,
and I watched him closely and he took proper care of the steamer.

Q. How many times were you obliged to call his attention to the
defects of the boat or to some things that should be remedied in the
last vear?—A. This year or last year?

Q. Last year or this year?—A. Twice, to mv knowledge.

Q. There is a communication on file here of May 8, 1005, Will you
have the kindness to let me see that, Mr. Secretary [Secretary Red-
field passes file to Mr. Sabath]? ’ :

Q. Look at this copy of the letter signed by you and Mr. EcldifT.
Who dictated this letter [passing letter to witness]?

Secretary Reprrerp. T will read it into the record if you wish it.

The Wirnesa, T think T dictated this letter.

Mr. Sasarir. I desire to embody this letter into the record. This ig

8 letter written by two inspectors to the captain of the boat.
Secretary Reprirrp, File No. V-521. ’

A. T could not say.

May 8, 1915,
Capt. PEDERSON,

Steamer “Faatland,” 8t. Joscph, Mich.

DEAr Sir: As per agreement with you, I hnve checked over the 1ife rafts of
the steamer Fagtland and, without actual mensiurement of the deck cnpoclty
of the rafts, would estimate that they will carry 403 persons, In nccordnnee with
the new regulations. )

Her lfeboat capaclty is 159 persons; the comblined cnpncity of the rafts and
boats will be 564 persons. Thls woulil give the stenmer Fas{land, from Moy 13
to October 15, n.garrying capacity of 1,880 persona, and na you wish to enrry
2,600 passengers, carrylng the same crew you hnd Inst year, would make a
total of 2,5670 pernons, conslating of passengers nnd crow.

The required boatage and raftage for this number would be 771 persona, Of
this amount 193 persona for the boats. This would take two- additlonal bonts,
elther two 18-person boats or one 16 and one 20 person boat, which would leave

rafts

4 . B
. . ﬂ .
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578 persons to be provided for by rafts. The estimated copacity ot~rgtts.' at
nt 405 persons, leaving 178 to be provided for. , nt

Tve would call your attention to the seventh page of the seamens act,‘lwthc
wlll be in force for this steawer the senson of 1916, and we would advise tha
in the new rafts you get that they would be in nccordance with the/ senmeins
bill. At the present time this steamer has about 10 rafts that have a carry 125
capacity exceeding 15 persons. In 1916 one-half of the number of rafts cm':l'l v
by any steamer carrying pussengers shall have a carrying capacity of exceed 1{%
156 persons.  You will ﬂndﬁthls“l;\ lv):ge last lir,xe of the first pardgraph on page

or the title of * Certified lifebont men.
un&'e tnspected for this steamer May 8, 2,108 life preservers. The stea{&er
would require 462 life premfrver% n;)t co;;r()itlng those required for the life-
s, which would be 2 for éach boat carried.

w?;qis impossible to give you the correct number ofvpemons that thfa Itresent
rafts will carry and would guggest thut if you wish to get the accurate Klllum;
per that you find the deck area of each raft and divide that by 4‘1 ll‘iﬁ
find the cublc capacity in cuble feet of the air space in the tanks, dkw ng
the cuble feet by 3 to get the capacity of the raft. If the raft has dec : ‘spng
for 10 persons and cubic air feet spuce for 8 persons, the raft would be al olwbe
put 8§ persons, but if she had deck spuce for 7 persons, the raft wouh. o
allowed but 8 persons; but i she hod deck space for T persens and cu ft
feet space for 7 persons, then in this case the carrying capacity of the ra

J 3 PPBONS. . . v .
“‘:‘Jl:;lpl:n‘gg lli};i. nnder the titie of " Clark life rafts,” next to the last puru'-;
groph s the following : ““There shall be allowe) for each person carried no
less than -8 cuble feet of afr space and o deck area of not less thqn 4 wguurt;
feel.  Thig applics to all Ife rafts of the Clark 'yll‘ﬂf, i. e, rafts H'lii\lelo
metal cang or cylinders inclosed in o wowlen frume" By caremll_\,‘z glur ;{;
ench raft as above you ean get the exact enrrylng cupacity of the Eastland's

Respectfully, CuaarLES G. ECKLIFF,
N Itourrr REID,
Local Inspectors.

Mr. SABATIL How did you come to write this letter to Pedera::on?
A. Well, sir, when I was up ins}')e{!tmg!, the steamer Kugene C'. Hart

" we made s visit to the steamer Kastland, as we had part of a day

.ft before train time, and we inspected the life preservers at that
i(ihrfr:u})?vlmt she had, and, as I have stated there, twenty-one hundred
and something—I don’t remember the figures—that was based on
our inspection, which began May 5. This was about May 8. \Vélen
we had this partial day on our hands we went on the Fastland to
inspect the life préservers that she had on hand at that time before
we began the annual inspection,” to make the annual inspection, to
facilitate getting through with it, and this general inspection was not
given untid May 25 or 24, the month she was inspected, but prevmug
to that we frequently inspected life preservers for steamers ahead o
their annual inspection in order to facilitate work. "

Q. What did yon mean “as per agreement with you”#—A. About
y carrying capacity. )

: H“Q. 1Y::‘:s; ﬁ'hull, wm%ythe agreement that you had with Pederson?;—
A. The agreement I had with Pederson was if tl"lerboat was pro&:rbj‘;
equipped with life preservers and rafts for 2,500, she wou
allowed that; I have no doubt that is what I meant. ) :

Q. And in this C(J!Hmlll:'llca.tli)n t;\(,v)o_u set f(})lrth th(; t;-hi::xgrf t,tohﬂcir;;
s to have to give you the right to issue a license 10

2?57}0 pamengerl;s; th)r’\t is 5o, 18n’t it!—A. We detail there to enak{lﬁ
him approximately to figure how many persons that his life rafts wi
carry, so he will have ample time to provide others.
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> Q.At the time that yon talked with him he had informed yog '
“. that he would like to secure a license to carry 2,500 passengers, did

... henot?-—A. I think that must, have been the idea.

‘

- : Q. This letter was in conformity or informing him what he would
have to comply with to grant them that license; is that right?—A,
Well, it was as I stated before—written for the purpose of givi

him a knowledge how to estimate approximately the carrying ca.

patcity and the present equipment so l})xe could provide the necessary

-+@xtras. - :

- Q. There was no actual measurement on your part of the rest of

- the lifeboats or anything else, was there?—A. We did not commencs

until May 25. This was a preliminary to the boat, as ¥ said before,™

_ to help get the inspection along when we got there. °
Q. What did Mr. Hull say to you on July 2, when he requested

you to send him that license for 2,500 passengers?—A. My best rec-
ollection of it was that he had put aboard the steamer £astland.in
Chicago the four additional rafts, the carrying capacity of 100
persons. i - !

Q. I medn why was there this haste; what did he say to you?—A.
"He did not explain that at all. X do not know the crowds generally
- would be so miuch greater than at other times. I suppose he was
getting ready for them. .

Q. Did he say anything about that, that he expected to carry a

Jarge number of passengers?—A. No, sir.

Q. Can you explain the haste in sending this permit?—A. Why,

. I ecanin a way. 8!11‘ territory covers from DBenton Iarbor down the

coast of Michigan, taking 1n South Haven and Kalamazoo and

. Holland and Grand Haven; Muskegon, Whitehall, Pentwater, Lud-

ington, Manistee; Frankport, Traverse City, the Snow Islands. St
Tgnace, Sheboygan ; and we can not remain in the office all the while.
‘We have to be out. We have not sufficient force to stay there. We
have to hustle our-work in order to get through, and we are practi-
cally on the go'all the while,

A Q&Mr: Reid, did any complaints reach you about the Fastland 1—

. No, sir. : '

Q. Last yearf—A. No, sir; I did not receive a complaint.

Q.- Any this year?—A. No, sir. :

Q. Who was with yon when you examined or inspected this boat

this year and gave her the annual inspection?—A. Mr. Eckliff was. |

the man that was with me. :

Q. How long did it take yon to inspect the boat?—A. We hegan
on May 24, I believe, about 3 o’clock in the afternoon.

Q. And when did you quit?—A. And we went on her the next
- day, and my recollection is one hoiler gave out. and we got through
the third day about 4 or 5. I would not say; I would not make gn
accurate statement ; but one boiler gave out, so we could not eomplete
the insvection, and we had to return home.

Q. What do you mean, one boiler gave out?—A. Broken stay
bolts. When the hydrostatic pressure was put on they let go thess
boats, and it had to be corrected. We returned home on May 30

- T would not make an accurate statement, but that is my best judg-
ment.  We returned to completa the inspection; I do not just recol-
lect when we got there. g ' ,

"

| engineer —.
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/3. Who was with you on this i ion, in addition to Mr. Eck-

liff, representing the company? ag it Mr. Hull, or was it the

A. &’hy, the engineer was there, and most all of the crew

was around the boat busy getting her ready; they were all busy
around there. I could not say who were there. )

Q. Did anyone call your attention to the trip that this boat made
on the St. Joe River or Benton Harbor, somewhere, when she was
in danger #—A. No, sir; but I , I think, what you mean, and
1 will try to explain it to the best cf my knowledge. In the winter-
time, when she 'was laid up there at Benton Harbor, in disconnecting -
the pipes the sea cocks are generally packed to ke:ﬁ) ‘the water from

tting into the sea cocks. In the sea cock of this steamer there

” ﬁippened to be a leak. It was not securely packed. It was a big
gea cock there. I do not know how deep it 1s, but it is quite a largeé

" one. That became partially pulled away; so pulled away, anyway,

that it froze and burst the sea cock, and she listed over badly at the -
dock on that account. I presume that is what you mean.

Mr. Tnormar. What time was that{

A. I do not know, air. :

The Secrerary. Was the vessel in service? .

A. No, sir; she was not. She was in winter quarters. - .

Mr. Sapatn. Didn’t she list very heavily last fall a few days
before her last tript ' !

A. Not that I know of ; I did not see her. o

Q. You did not receive any report of that?—A. No, sir; I did not.

Mr. Sapars, That ig all fwxsh to ask. :
" Mr. Surrivan. May I ask a couple of questions? N

Mr. Taueman. Oh, Mr. Sullivan, let us do it all at once, ,

Mr. SuLotvan. Did you ever recommend anybody to the Eastland
company for a position of any kind{

A. No, air.

Q. Did anybody for you——A. No, sir. ‘

Q. Recommend anybody to a position on any boat line?—A. If
I did?

Q. Yes.—A. No, sir; not that I know of. Wait & ininute; I will
correct ®hat statement. The late Capt. Doyle, on the Cerfey, at

Grand Haven. The officials of the company wanted & man to run =

" their boat—they had lost the previous captain; I have forgotten
what his name was—and they came to the office and wanted to know
if we could recommend a ghood, guitable man. Mr. Doyle being an
expert, we did recommend him. :

E’)f Why did their company come to you for a recommendation{—
A. Because their office is two blocks from ours. -

Q. Is that the only reason you can give?—A. That i the only
reason. iy

Q. Did you overhear a talk between your daughter and her hus-

band, I‘Iricison, in which he complained about being overworked on

this boat#—A. I never did. RN

Q. Or in which he complained about the machinery being in bad
condition ¥—A. I never did.

Q. Never heard him complain about that?—A. No, sir.

Q. About either of those conditiona¥-—A. No, sir; he never com-
plasined to me sbout that. :

| 22859—16—11
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Q. Did you overhear him make any talk of thJ& kind—A. I did
not; no, sir, . - . L T
Q. Did your daughter, eitherf—A. T would not gay for. that; ]
could not say what she heard. ’ o

'Q. Did you ever recommend the purchase of oil of any particular
concern?—A. No, sir; not to my knowledge.
. Q. Not to your knowledge ¢—A. Not to my knowledge. :

.

Q. If you ever recommended it, you would recollect it,,Wouldn?t;t :

. youl—A. T g¢hink I would; my memory is defective; it is not car-
rying perfectly; I will do the best I can for you. S
The Sgtrerary. Capt. Reid, am I correct in understanding that;
this season of 1915 you have made four visits to the Fastland? 1.
understand from your testimony, taken at various times; that you.
made a visit to the Eastland on the occasion of the 6th and 8th of,
May at the time when you testified? ' S
The Wriness. Yes, sir; those days I was there, I think, I could:
not give you the dates, but I was there early in May, the time we in-,
spected in June here. ‘ .

Q. Whatever the date was, am I right in understanding there
was such an occasion when you visited the vessel -—A. We inspected
every week for the lifeboats. : .

Q. On the second occasion, if I understand you rightly, is what
you call the annual inspection on or about the 25th of May f—A. The
24th, I think. . :

Q. The other occasion, if T am correctly informed, was on or
about the 7th of June; is that correct—A. Noj I think the 30th of
- May, if T am corregf. .
Q). There was one about the;30th?—A. When they come for the
- last boiler that was defective. ™ .

Q. That was a third«ime. Now, was there a fourth time on or-
- about the Tth of June?—A. I have no recollection of that.

Q. Then when wis the next time?—A, Whether I visited between

that and July 4, that X could not say.

Q. Did you visit her on July 4?—A. T did. T left Grand Haven
and went to St. Joe for that purpose. :

Q. Then am ,I‘co;zrect in assuming these four to be the fact, one
early 2 May, on or/about the 6th to the 8th; one late in May, on or
about the 24th or 25th?—A. The 24th and 25th were one visit.

Q. T understand;; I said one—~A. Excuse me.

Q. Please let me get this clear; I am trying to get the facts to-
gether in one pla&e, that is all. Am I correct in understanding that
these four visite Were made by you to the Lastland about the dates I
shall mention: One visit early in May, on or about May 6 or 8;
another, s second visit, late in May,at or about the 24th or 25th; an(_i'
a third one, on 'the 30th of May; and a fourth one on the 4th of

July #—A. I believe you are correct; yes, sir; I think you are,
~ Q. Now,did you have before you an affidavit concerning these four
additional rafts that were wanted, to the effect that the same had been
purchased #—A. I believe it came into the office July 3, to the best
of my recollection. C ’ ‘ v

The Secrerary. Mr. Thurman pointed out to me that it is already

" in the record, and I will let that pass.

Judge O’Hara. Capt. Reid, in each of several marine events of 4
© certain character the law very wisely provides for an inquiry or an

‘ i ' Pou)
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investigation. Such an investigation is now in -progress. That in-
quiry, under and by virtue of the statute, is conducted by the marine.
or steamboat inspectors primarily; the law is aimed at the master or:
some other officer of the vessel; the law, however, provides that it
may pertain, or apply to the inspectors themselves. In the case of
sucﬁ an inquiry naturally one of the very first things to determine or:
ascertain, if possikle, is what was the cause of the mishap—I will

- not call it an accident—we will call it a mishap. Now, then, it may

have been occasioned by the act of God, by an unavoidable accident,

-or it may have been occasioned, as it usually is, by the two things

specifically named in the statute, namely, incompetency or miscon-:
duct. Now, then, we all know, Mr. Secretary knows, and our old
shipmate, Capt. Van Patten, knows—with whom I sailed 40 years
ago—that this was not the act of God; it was not an unavoidable
accident. The newspapers have had something to say about white-

" washing in this case. 1 never had the pleasure of meeting the Secre-

tary of Commerce until this morning, and iay knowledge of men in:
oflicial life, and I have been very fortunate in that regard—I have
lmown many of thenr who have served in various capacities—my
knowledge of men who have held high positions is that the ordinary
man strives and labors to make a reputation for himself, and that:
reputation can not be mnde unless, ordinarily at least, he deserves it.
Upon my part there will be no attempt whatever to whitewash. I
believe there is no desire upon the part of any man behind this table

" to do any whitewashing. I was a shipmate, or rather a deckmate, of

yours 30 years ago; I served on the propeller Messinger and you were-
then on a propeller running to Saugatuck; about 85 years ago.
- A. The J. 8. Severance. . , . o

Q. Now, then, I say to you frankly, as I have already stated, that
this was not the act.of God ; that the man who would make that asser-:
tion would be a dunee. It was not an unavoidable accident. The
turning over or turning to one side of that vessel must proceed from_
either incompetency or misconduct; that is the purpose of this in--
quiry up to this time; unfortunately this morning we have made no -
progress whatever ; unfortunately we have not'gained a step in that
direction. Now, then, we are here for the purpose of determining,
and we are here, by the way, through the extreme courtesy of the’
Secretary, and, T take it, s:condarily through the courtesy of the
members from Milwaukee, Mr. Collins and €apt. Van Patten. Now,
then, my questions to vou will be very few; not a single question will
be aimed }or the purpose of attempting to degrade you or humiliate
you; and my fondness for you—I think I may employ that word,
and I do employ it intelligently and honestly—my fondness for you,
growing out of the reletions that existed between us away back in
the lnte seventies and early eighties, all this would forbid any miscon-
duct on my part; no:man behind this desk has a right to put a ques-
tion to you or to any other witness for the mere sake of displayin
his knowledge or his smartness or for hearing something nice said
about hjm in the newspapers; therefore bear in mind I want you to
be as fair with me as I will be with you.

Now, then, you must agree with me that this proceeds either from
misconduct or from incompetency. I have a decided opinion with
respect to the cause of that disaster. I am not at present, at least,
to give what I believe in that regard. But having in mind what.

@ . a,;
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the officer very kindly said bo-yoﬁ; the other day, that you were to "

say nothing to me—that yon were to give nothing in response to

any question put to you that in your judgment, or according to the-

~ advice of your counsel, if you have one—that would tend to preju-
* dice you in the future, be as fair with me as you possibll‘z,cm. Now,
11;%%, what is your age?—A. Born February, 1856; Ifebruary 18,

Q. Fifty-nine years of age. When did you ﬁrs; adopt the steam- -

boat life; in other words, when did you first commence to steam.
boat?—A. My recollection—Mr. O’Hara, I was passing upon the
- issuance of my license. ' :
Q. No; when did you first commence to sail#—A. To sailf

186% Yes—A. Not on a steamboatf I commenced first to sail in

Q. On s sailing vessel =—A. Yes, sir.
. Q. How long did you continue on sailing veaselsf—A. I con-
tinued until the latter part of the seventies or the early eighties; I
could not say which. -
- Q. What position did you attain or reach when you were on sail-

ing vessels?—A. I attained the position of mate, or what was termed
"as mate of a sailing vessel. a

Q. In what capacity did youn serve when you ﬁrst‘ engaged in the .

steamboat trade?—A. First as a mate or pilot, as it was termed.
' Q. Weren’t you purser in the first place; didn’t you act as purser
or clerk on a boat before you became a matef—A. Excuse me, Mr.
OHara; Iam s eakin%gf the license. o

Q. I care nothing about the license; I am trying to get at the
history of your life, so we will know how well qualified you were
to serve in the capacity——A. I did take the position 4o fulfill until
there could be something else—clerk on a little steamer.

Q. How long did you act as clerk?—A. I have no record on that.

Q. From the position of clerk to what place were you ap-

- pointed §—A. To pilot.

- Q. By pilot you mean master ¢—A. No, gir.
Q. First mate or second matef—A. First mate. -
. Q. How long did you act as first matei—A. Up to the season of

1882. ,

Q. %va to 18829—A. Yes, sir. ‘

Q. Were you then made master—A. T was. .
. Q. The name of the vessel 9—A. The J. P. Heath.

Q. You succeeded Capf. Ritten, did you, as master in that capa-
-city ¥—A. I did; ({les, gir :

How long did you continue to serve as master of the Heath,

aliax"oximately —A. About two years, I judge.

How many vessels after the Heath did you command?—A. T

¢ommanded the steamer Joseph C. Suit.
" Q. What was she, a steam barge?—A. Steam barge.
The Secrerary. What is-the name; how do you spell it?
The Wrrness. J. C. Suit; S-u-i-t, after Judge Suit, of Indiana.
Judge O'Hara. What was her gross tonnagef
The Wrrness. I do not recollect.
Q. What was she, a lumber carrierf—A. A lumber carrier.
Q. What other vessels did you command after that?—A. I com-
manded the lumber carrier 4. B. Calborn.
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Q. You wero then'angaged.in the Michigan City tradef—A. After
.O.Retd. " ' P

e A. B. Calborn, the . )
thQ. Running between here and Chicagof—A. Yes; sir. _

Q. I mean between Chicago and augatuck or South Huyen,
which%—A. Noj; between Chicago and Menominee and Manistee.

Q. The Reid, she carried lumber also?—A. Yes, sir. ; :

Q. What Ig‘vas the name of the last vessel you commanded !—A.

umner S. Peters. . .
§ Q. From the time you went behind the mast to the little Heath,
up to the time you got a certificate on the Lakes, did you each and
every year serve in ﬁm capacity of masteri—A. T did. ‘

Q. at year was it fvou/ quit the Lakes?—A. In June, 1906.

Q. And the occasion for leaving was the appointment to the place
you now fill—the official place?—A. Assistant inspector. _ .

Q. Where were you located then?—A. T was located at Milwaukee
and detailed to Chicago. ) , .

Q. How long did you serve as an assistant?—A. My recollection
to the spring—February of 1908.

Q. Now, then, I wish to be perfectly frank with you, Captain.

- Mﬁ' steamboat experience has been such that I attach no importance
‘wha

tever on that trifling little matter of acting upon the affidavit of & -
master; you had seen him, you had told him what to do, how many
rafts to supply, and in case of his living up to what you required him
to do, then you consented to give him a license to car 2,500 pas-
gengers; that is right, is it?—A. That was my action In the matter. -
cf. You had confidence in him and you believed the affidavit to
be true?—A. I had confidence. .

Q. I did not mean that I attached no importance to that, I do
attach considerable importance to many other things to which per-
haps others have not attached sufficient importance.—A. If you will
allow me to break the statement-

Q. Yes—A. I issue% the (:é‘it(;ficggﬂ on a telephone call that was

ollowed the next da an avit.
£ IQ You had everyymsy,san to believe that what you had requested
him to do-had been complied with?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. T would have done the same thing I think; so would any other
man under the same circumstances. :

Mr. Sasata. We will put you on the stand.

Judge O'Hara. I will make as good a witness as you any day an
a better one, I think, in Congress or out of Congress. v

Mr. Sasata. No doubt about thag. ' o g

Judge O’Hara. Where was that vessel at the time she was in-
specteﬁ on the Tth of June or—by the way, this inspection was not
on the 7th of June; the inspection actually was about the 30th of
May, the 29th or 30th of May, and your license was issued on the 6th
of June; that is right, isn’t 1t? ‘

The Wirness. Yes, siT. o _ 7

Q. When you inspected this vessel was it in the basin at Benton
Harbor?—A. It was up near the Government station there, or the
factory, you know where that is located( up there not quite to the
basin, but between Benton and_the Transit Co., and the first row of

. buildings there. I can not tell you the exact spot, about ‘halfway

between, somewhere along there. .
- Q. That was 1915, was 1@?—A. Yes,
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Q. You had inspected her on one previous occasion¥—A. 1914. 5
- We will touch upon that for a moment. Where was the veusdl

when you first inspected her, at Benton Harbor?—A. I believe it
Wag; yes, 8ir. -

The Secrerary. You do not mean this year?

Judge O’Hara. When he first inspected her in 1914. You had been
aboard that Eastland before that, had you not, before the time of the
inspection ? o

. The Wrrness. Yes, sir. ' '

"~ Q. Many times?—A. T could not state.
’C,%; Had you ever taken a ride on her?—A. I had taken two rides
“on her.

'Q. Across the lake?—A. One across the lake, I think the other
ne was with an excursion.

1(12. Where did you take that ride across the lake?—A. I could not
tell you. o :

Q. Did she have many passengers aboard?—A. I have no recol-
lection of the crowd ; probably 1,200 or 1,500, maybe less, I could not
- 8ay, I have no recollection.

Q. Were you acquninted with the master at the time you first took
your ride on the Fastland?—A. I was. :

Q: Did you inspect, unofficially, of course, the vessel at that
time?—Did he take you, as is customary for old shipmates, with
some degree of pride, to show you about the vessel?—A. I think
we made the ride acrods with him for the purpose of making e
reingpection ; I will have to refer to the files.

Q. At that time or any other did you ever examine what has been
called here the ballast tanks?—A. 1 have been in the ballast tanks
twice. :

Q. Now, as a matter of fact are they ballast tanks or are they put
" there for the purpose of trimming the vessel?—A. T should judge
. they would be ballast tanks.

. Is the old-fashioned trim barrel employed aboard vessels now-
adays?—A. Sand barrel you mean? L

Q. Yes.—A. There are one or two. : .
© Q. Any sand trim barrels on the Laestland?—A. None that I
know of. : ‘ :

Q. How is that vessel trimmed, as you understand it?—A. By
letting the water into the water bottom. I don’t know just the
system, through the sea cocks, or something like that.

Have you ever made an examination of those tanks?—A. I
“have been in twice. _
Q. Have you testified—I was not here yesterday—did you testify
as to their capacity —A. T did not.
© Q. What is the capacity? By the way, how many tanks are
there?—A. To my best recollection there is five: I may be mistaken.

Q. Five?—A. I think that is all. : -

Mr. SasatH. On a side? : )

The Wrrness. On a side.

- Judge O'Hara. Would that be 10 all told?
The Wrrness. My recollection is it is 10, . :
Q. What was the location of those tanks?—A. They began——
" Q. How far from the bow?—A. I could not state. ,
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Q. How near to. the bottom of the boat did those tanks or does

~‘my one of them extend on either‘ ‘de'igA.'They"go,to ~t}m,bptté.;;n

the boat. Co .
on. They go to the extreme bottom#-—A. Yes, sir.

" How high up on the sides are they carried{—A. M réqdﬂéc-
tio% is 40 inches, I think. I would not state for sure—that 1s my

-~ _yecollection.

. What is the depth of water at the point at which you first in-
sp?éted this vessel in 1914 in the Benton Harbor Canalf—A. I donot
know; I never sounded it. =~ . L

Q. How much water was the Fastland drawing on that occasion $—

‘A. T could not say.

~ Will your records show what she was drawing#—A. No, sir, :
' % Do ygyu know what the Eastland did draw at any time?—A. I
dOC;:OIn 1914 or 1915 or any other timef—A. I do not; she draws
different depths; about 14 feet, I should judge ; something sbout that;
ghe may draw more; I could not say. . v
Q. Did you ever serve aboard a boat that carried these so-called

“water tanks for ballast ‘purposesi—A. I have not.

Q. Have you ever done any reading upon that subject®—A. I have
not. : . . . .
Have vou ever had any instruction with respect to how these
tnﬁ%{s shoui(iy be manipulated or worked {—A. T have not; I acknowl- :
ved that alveady before. L
edtﬁdh;;owf the Se{:retary has just suggested to me that this is not -

within your scope. ) y ' :
The Secrerary. This particular scope. ~ o
Judge O’Hara. That comes within the scope or authority or em-
ployment of your associate, the inspector of hoilers, is that the idea?
A. T believe all pumps and such like come under his jurisdiction;
Sir. : , o L
yea&l understood you to say this morning that in the case of making
certain tests it becomes your duty at the time a test is being made by
your colleague, inspecting the boilers, it becomes your duty to verify,
ot only by your presence but by some positive action ‘on your
art?—A. We have to work jointly, as I have stated, to put the
Evdrostatic tests on th? boilers and test the fire pumps and hose.. I
hink I have covered that. o o
! Q. Well, now then, as a matter of fact, Capt. Reid, you do not
know anything about those water tanks, do you, other than the mere
fact that there were so-called water tanks aboard that boat for ballast
purposes?—A. I am not an expert; I do not know how they are
‘manipulated for doing so; I do not know. )
Q. Now, then, your colleague, or at this moment perhaps he is
your superior, from Cleveland, Capt. Nelson, testified very much
to my satisfaction this morning, because up to that time I had heard
in conrt and out of court, so to speak, that, low and behold, the stat-
ute made no provision whatever with respect to this knowledge by

"an inspector of matters ﬁertaining to the general construction of &
) .

‘boat. In other words, the policy seems to be, and I must confess
upon reading the te'sti’mony go far adduced in this case, that there
is reason to believe that inspectors have been acting upon that same
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policy and belief—what lawyers sometimes call fireside law—that

. an inspector has nothing whatever to do when called upon to da

- termine whether the vessel is entitled to carry 2,000 or 2,600 passs.
gers, or any other number; that all the inspector or inspectors i

" called upon to do is to determine the deck space and the life pre

. servers, look over the lifeboata and the life rafts and determine Lﬁm
capacity, and then, if there be a sufficient number of life preservers
and life rafts and there be sufficient deck space to enable the
issuance of that requested certificate, why, then it issues accord-
ingly. Now, then, Captain, all that is a mistake; you will agres
with Mr. N , of Cleveland, that it is the duty of an inspector to
inquire into the general construction of a boat, won’t yout—A. Why,
go into the construction as far as possible.

Q. The best way in the world right now, and sometimes the hest
way & case ibly can be determined and solved satisfactorily,
truthfully, nicely, fairly, and legitimately, is to get at it backward.
"We will now presume that this unfortunate vessel shall be rai:
as the man ‘from Detroit hopes to raise her. He will seal her; he
will then pump her out; he will put her back in the same shape she
was before she capsized ; then foﬁuwing that they will put on their
painters; they will put on their boiler makers; they will put that
ship, Capt. Reid, in just the same condition it was before it cap-
gized that morning. Now, then, sir, we have that vessel there: she
i8 just as good as new. By the way, that vessel was built only about
1903 or 1904; that is right, isn’t it?—A. 1903, is my recollection.

" Q. She is practically as good as the day she was built, isn't she?—
A. 1 think so.

Q. We have boats in other lines, you know, some of them 30 or 40
years old ¥—A. Yes, sir. , )

Q. Practically as good as when they came out there; as good as
she was when she came from the shipyard; you know her history,
and you know that on an unfortunate morning she capsized. Capt.
Reid, when trying to serve in the same capacity and called upon

once more to issue a license, would you issue a license in this casel—
A. T would. v -

Q. Sirt—A. T would.

Q. You would?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Would you issue that license without making some little study
with respect to the manner in which those water tanks shonld be
manipulated ¥—A. T would make such an inspection; sure.

Q. Capt. Reid, please to answer this question: You do not believe
that to have been the act of God, do you?—A. No, sir.

Q. You do not believe it to have been an unavoidable accident, do
you?—A. No, sir. '

Q. You know, do you mot, that that vessel tipped over there be-
cause of incompetency or misconduct, don't you, upon the part of
somebody —A. T would not say that; there was some cause for it.

Q. Some cause for it?—A. If I may be permitted to call your
attention to this steamer [handing picture to counsel].

Q. I don’t care about that; we are talking about this particular
boat. You say, with the knowledge you have now, that you again
'wo:ﬁg license that boat to run on the lakes, would youi—i. I
would.
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Q. But you would not do it without making a little more study
than you have made with res to the manipulation of these water
tanks—A. I said that already, that I would make s study.

Q. And, Captain, before licensing s man to run or navigate a ves-

‘el of that kind, whatever you may have done in the past, in the

future you surely will interrogate them a little bit with respect to
those water tanks, won't you; and whatever information you may
ather in the future you will impart to this navigator; and if you
giscover that he knows nothing whatever with to the manipu-
lation of those water tanks, you will do that, won't youi—A. I
ghould ; certainly. )

Q. What is your opinion as to whether or not there was any water
in those tanks that morning?—A. I have no opinion, no imowledge.

Q. As an old seaman, what do you say now—we will kmow in a
few days—if there was no water in those compartments or tanks
when she capsized, will there be water in them when she is raised;
in other words, are they water-tight!—A. They are water-tight;
there should be no water in there. . )

Q. Then you think there will be no water in theref—A. No, mr.

The Secrerary. I think there is a vent.

Judge O'Hama. What do you think the draft of that vessel was
when not loaded aft; what do you think it was?—A. 15 or 16 feet
aft. ’

_ And forward!—A. Might be 13 or 14; I do not know.

8. This vessel, by the way, carried no freight, did she?—A. Not
to my knowledge. ‘

Q. When you issued the permit to carry the 2,500 passengers %ou
were of the belief that she was not carrying any freight?— es,

gir. , )

Q. They had a little boat over there that was carrying the peaches
and other fruit that was shipped!—A. She was only used as an
excurgion steamer.

Q. Now, then, how much water have they at the dock at St. Joseph
and in the vicinity of the dock where the boat winds or turns
around1—A. I do not know. :

Q. You do not know?—A. No, sir. ) ) N

Q. Now, Capt. Reid, I think in the future you wnll! make it a point
to look those things up. I will ask you frankly, Don’t you think now
that you should have known a little something as to the de‘pt..h of
water at St. Joseph, also as to the depth of the water in Chicago
where this boat docked before allowing that boat to carry 2,500 pas- -
gengers?—A. I could not tell where that boat was gomng to be navi-

* pated ; she might be navigated in good water and then taken where

there was no water.

Q. As a matter of fact, Captain, now I ask you at the outset—
do not take it from my tone of voice, because I always speak earn-
estly ; don’t take it from my tone of voice that I am unkind ; I am not;
I still have the same regard for you that I had years ago, and I
would have bet the last dollar I could have borrowed that that boat.
would continue to run between here and the dock at St. .Iosept\, the
old Graham Dock, and the same dock at least in Chicago—don't you
know, as a matter of fact, that she was put on there for th’e express
purpose of keeping that dock alive; you know that, don’t youl—
A. Why, she was put on there—
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* Q. When the Graham & Morton people abandoned——
" The Secrerary. Let him answer.
« A. I believe she was put on there to make an extra boat to St. Joa

Q. And that she was put on there for the purpose and for the
-reason that the old A. H. Morrison dock, which had been used for
‘years and years and been known practically all over the United
"States, that old dock was abandoned; Graham & Morton abandoned
‘their dock at the canal and river, and that the widow of A. E. Girs-
‘ham and Mr. Hull, being her son-in-law, they were anxious they
should have a boat there, and that is the reason they got the Faat-
land; you know that, don’t yout? I will say, if.yon do not know it
"you are the only man on the east shore that don’t. You do not want
‘to go on record saying you do not know that?—A. T stated already
‘they put that boat on fof extra to St. Joe.

' (g' When you issued that license yon knew she was operating from

‘that dock 1n St. Joe?-—A. I thought she would be operated. «

" Q. You had an idea of whit she drew, what her draft was when
- she was not earrying any passengers?—A. Approximately.

Q. If you have a boat drawing about 17 feet aft, how much do you
gay forward—A. Why, I could not sav; maybe 13 or 14 feet; l)do
‘not know. '

Q. Abont 15 or 16 feet aff? —A. Something like that.

Q. And thﬂ.t a boat. dmwing 15 or 16 feet aft and about 13 feet
forward, and she carries nofreight; she has no ballast, water or
otherwise, pig iron, or lime—she has no ballast whatever, and we
‘will put abeard of her 2,500 people, what do vou sav. then, would
be the draft of that vessel aft and forward? —A. I should imagine
she would go down probably a foot; maybe more: T could not tell
you without making the experiment.

* Q. Tt has been estimated that perhaps 2,500 would weight about
170 or 180 tons. Do you think Q.Imt is about right?—A. The aver-

age weight of the human race, as I understand. is 142} pounds; I

‘do not know whether T am correct or not.

Q. Now, then, Captain, from vour experience as a navigator and
as master of a vessel, won’t you ngree with me in this, that there
is more occasion to’employ ballast, more occasion — I prefer to say
to trim the boat; there is more ocension to trim a boat when she
‘is receiving a load of passengers to go out of an inside harbor the
same as Chicago than there is out in the Inke, 1sn't there? T will
tell you why. What do you sav—there is more. isn't there?—A.
There should be an occasion to trim the boat.

Q. TIs not there more oceasion: I am speaking now—we will admit
that it is smooth outside, no sea,isn’t there more acension to trim
the boat inside the harbor with anywhere from 1.500 to 2500 pas-
sengers than there is after you get out on the lake? —A. There
should be because the water is shallow.

Q. The water has nothing to do with it in one sense: the people
will rush to one side or the other inside of the harbor and sav good-
‘by and look good-by at their friends. won't they. whereas when
they get out in the lake everything settlea down. Now, a very few
more questions. Now, honor bright, don't you think there is more
‘occasion, if you were on that pilot house, that pilot house or any
other, don’t you think you would have more occasion to employ
this water for ballast purposes or for trimming purposes than yvou

*
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* fter you got out in the lake?—A. I believe I answered that
:l?;lt?az alre{adygttl,mt I thought there would be more occasion to

i he dock, o : .
m& %otv, then, what communication was there between the engine
room and the pilot house on that shipt—A. The system of Chad-
boz!,{.nWhnt is that, speaking tubest—A. No; Chadbourn has-a face
like a clock with dialla on the right and one on the left and the sa{ne
notations on each; one to go ahead and the other is to go astern; a
different section on this half dial or semidial todndiéate how they
ghould go ahead or go astern. If you pull that lever over and stop -
at the full speed, it records in the engine room on the Chqdbourn
there, “ Full speed ahead,” and it 18 impossible for the engineer to
change that signal; it can only be changed from. the pilot hous&i;
He grabs the lever and brings it over which rings a gong bae
to the captain, which notifies him that he has received the mgnnl.h

Q. The captain naturally, on the pilot house, would be among the.
first to discover the listing#—A. He should be. .

(). If his eye is, perhaps, as good as that indicating gauge in the
engine room. How long does it take to indicate with the engmeer—m‘;
about as long as that [snapping fingers] I—A. With the Chadbourn

Q. T do not care how: whatever means they had in employment.
Was there a speaking tubel—A. There was a speaking tube aboard
Of(gelflow long do you think, now, assuming that there was watber
there and assuming that something was not ciogging it up, 8o as to
permit the vessel to water, how long do vou think 1t would take to
right that up in case u{ nr}llnrdiiury listi--A. Why, I conld not say.
’ amiliar with the system. —

! am 3?)‘:1 i;mow nothing about itf—A. Probably about two or three
or five minutes; I amlﬁl not say. .

(). What would you have done, heing rm't-he pilot houseo_f t;batgvy
vessel that morning, about the time you discovered the beginning
of the list, and what would you advise me or anyone else applying
for 2 master’s license to do under such circumstances?—A. Why, 1
should think the policy would be to stop the passengers going aboard
and ascertain what was the cause of the list and correct it. That
would he the feasible reason; not give her any more list, but ascer-
tain at the time why she was listing when she started to list.

(). Naturally you have been reading the papers the Jast few days
rather closely with respect to what may be said about this case?—A.
I have read the papers some. I have tried to avoid them.

Q. T have, because of my old associations and my desire to learn

- whether any of my friends perished or not. That prompted me to

read every item respecting it. However that may be, one of the
items 1 mr{:,d is this: That at the time of the completion of the La
Qalle Street tunnel, in order to protect it from the ravages of the

" keels—by the way, somebody testified that no hoat has a keel. 1 was

very much surprised to read that on the Lakes—by the way, that is
not true. Isn’t it a fact that some of our steamboats have keels on the
Takes?—A. T have seen them with keels on.

Q. Some one testified very gravely, I think yesterday, under oath—
some of those 600-footers, they are not steamboats— ‘

The Secreranry. Just boxes.

N
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. Judge O’Haga. Capt. Reid, it has been said by somebody—then

may be no truth in it; T don’t know whether there is or not—that
about the time of the completion of the La Salle Street tunnel, 4
* order to protect it from the scrapings of bottoms of vessels, keels oo
otherwise, a lot of clay was deposited on the roof of the tunnel. Do
you know anything about that ? «

A. T do not; nothing whatever.

Q. Did you hear the officers in charge of this district this morni
testify as to the Soundings mode yesterday as to the dock where thi

* boat capsized t-—A. I did not. I saw him testify, but I didn’t pay
any attention. I went into the anteroom there, or closet.
Did gou hear his testimony #—A. I did not.
Judge O’Hara. Is that blue print here, Mr. Secretary, that he
testified from1? '

.Secretary Revrierp. This is it. Now, that you remind me, I will
put in this one also. This is the standard tfyns- other was a special
one. :

Judge O'Ilara. Naturally you dre expert at this, Captain. Just
take that and you will see there are certain figures there that indi.
cate the different depths. .

Secretury Reoriern. This is the standard one, Judge (’Hara. Thia
i the special.

Judge O’Hara. The other was taken u year ago.

Secretary Reoriern. Yes. T didn’t know but you might want to

- compare them as you went along.

Judge O'Hara. What depth of water does that indicate at the
point, or approximately at tﬂm point, at which this vessels stern was
that morning?

A. In what position do you mean? :

Q. She was headed downstream, wasn’t she?—A. Upstream, to-
ward the lake, T should take it from this.

Q. Yes. I mean she was headed toward Lake Michigan.—A. Yes

Q. Going out?—A: T think so. I haven't seen her. I don't know,
only from reports. ‘

udge O’Hara. Capt. Van Patten, T wish to ask your assistance.’

I wish that you woeuld interrogate the witness. What I want—agd
you can do it more intelligently than I can—what [ want to know is
‘what he finds there as to the depth of the water now, and what was
there when this was taken about a year ago, and whether in his judg-
ment $here was sufficient water there for that vessel if these tanks
‘had bebn, loaded.

Mr. Van Parten. When was this taken?

Judge O’Hara. That wus taken about a year ago.

%/I?r Van Parren. And you want the corresponding one that he
had? '

Judge O’Hara. Yes. Before Capt. Van Patten puts a question to
you I want to ask you this: About the time you granted a license to
this vessel, about the 2d or 3d of July, to carry 2,500 passengers,
did you have any idea what the depth of water was in the city of
Chicafo at or about the dock where she was to moor?

A. I had no particular knowledge of the depth of the water in the
Chicago River, as I haven’t seen any charts of it whatever.

Mr. Vax Parren. Now what is it
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Judge O'Hara. Now, then, does he know what the draft of that
vemel was? I want to kmow whether he thinks there was enough
water at that dock. I wish to kmow now what the duty of that

_master was. Now, this man has had so much experience that he is

pow serving as an inspector. Now, how much water was there!
Is it hard for the master to determine how much water there is at
the dock or not? T asked for the production of that old record there

_this morning. What does that show a year ago?

Secretary Reorrexp. This shows the depth of water at what is
marked “amidships” at 17.8, 28.1, 25.5, 25.2, reckoned outward in
a line at right angles from the south shore of the river, at a point
marked “102” on the chart, and approximately amidships of the
place where the outline of the steamer is sketched upon the blue
print. That is what you mean?

Judge O'Hara. Yes. .

Mr. Van Parren. That water is about the same depth now as it
was then? ) .

Secretary RenrreLp. Ven;y little difference.

At the request of Judge O'Hara, and for the Eurpose of the record,
we introduce into the record at this point the chart of Chicago
River, IlL, showing soundings tsl®n August, 1914, which is marked
“Sheet number 1-273,” and bears the following indorsement : “ Offi-
cinl U. S. engineer’s office, Chicago, Illinois, ‘ Eastland.’ Outlined
from best obtainable information July 28, 1015, showing where she
lay before overturning on July 24, 1915, W. V. Judson, Lt. Col.
Engineer, U. S. A.” o ’

.ﬁniga O’Hara. Independent of the action taken by the State au-
thorities with respect-—so far as it pertnins to yourself—with respect
to thia disaster, nothing has been done to affect your standing as an
inspector? You have not been suspended, have you? .

A. I have not to my knowledge. _ ]

Q. And the inspector of boilers, who acted with you at the time
of the granting of the license, he has not been suspended, as you
understand it?—A. Not to my knowledge. . 4 )

Q. Now, then, any queries or investigations with respect to this
disaster, in so_far as those investigations shall be confined to the
scene of the disaster, would they come within your jurisdiction or
within the jurisdiction of the inspectors on this side of the lake?—
A. They wonld come within the jurisdiction of the inspectors on
this side of the lake. )

Q. You would have nothing whatever to do with that?—A. No,
Bir.

Q. Well, now, Captain, this is about my last question. I think that
I know a bit about steamboats. I was offered the secretaryship of
quite a big steamboat company at one time, although I have never
served in the capacity of master. I have a decided opinion as to
how this accident was occasioned and as to how it might have been
avoided. You have had much more experience than the man who is
interrogating you. I will now ask you if you feel at liberty to
express an opinion—or rather before asking for the opinion I will
psk you this: Have you an opinion as to what occasioned this
disaster? :
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"~ i/ . Secretary Reoriern. In view. of the fact that criminal proceedi
are instituted don’t you think it might be dangerous for him |
- answer that question;, 4 oo

Judge O'Hara. Let me think a moment. Well, now, wait. I think
that I am as fair as the ordinary man; in fact, I have been charged o
times, both on and off the bench, with Leing too fdir, especially as g
trial lawyer. Now, I a ﬁ)reciam the pertinency or force of what my
friend, Secretary ed&d says, but at the same time, when you,
_come to consider it, I don’t-think there is anything to it. Capt. Reid,
from what T knowr of you I'believe that you will feel down in vour
heart that you are just as innccent as a babe—don’t you—with respect.

" to this disaster? You #fill feel that you have performed your full
duty, don’t you?t o A '

A. 1 do. . ;

Q. And when you say that I believe you. Now, then, no guilt upon

: ly;::, and feeling that you have not been incompetent, that you have
n guilty of no misconduct, there is no danger in answering that
question of mine. Surely you must have an opinion as to how this
accident was brought about, haven't yout—A. I have an opinion.
Whether it is a correct one or not I couldn’t say.,

Q). Now, then, as I said at the outset, and I am going to close with
this, this inquiry is being held for the purpose of locating that blame,-
if possible. Now through you at this time we do not attempt to
locate the blame, but surely we hnve a right to expect of you as an
inspector to give an opinion as to the cause of that disaster. That is
what this inquiry is for. We want to uvoid those things in the future,
Now, then, sir, what do you think was the cause of that disaster?—
A. My opinion of the cause was the loading of the steamer cn the -
bottom. Whether it is correct or not I wouldn't say. That is only an
opinion. _ ' ' a

Q. That the boat was on the bottom?—A. That is my opinion; yes,

Q. Now, then, that being the case, don’t you think that the master

could have discovered that fact? Couldn't you have discovered the |

fact that you were dy the bottom had you been in the pilot house?—
A. Tsaid it was only hn opinion. T didn't state it asa fact.

Q. Well, if you were acting as master of that vessel that morning,
could you have discovered lﬁnt fuctt Dy the way, were any lines
thrown off t—A. I don’t know. o ‘

Q. You don’t know that? —A. No,sir.

Q. Now, then, if you were on the pilot house just before that hoat
capsized, in command of that ship, and you helieved that your vessel—
you knew, of course, that she was listing heavily, and that the cause
of it was that you were on.the bottom, what would you have donef
With that knowledge, possessed of that knowledge—here is a heavy
list, two or three thousand passengers aboard, and you believed that
you were resting on the bottom—what would you have donef—A. I
would ﬁCt the passengers ashore, I should think, as fast as possible
It is & hard situation to express an opinion upon. It is a most deli-
cate one. :

Judge O’Hara. That is all. ,

Secretary Reprrerp. Are there any further questions?

Mr. Saparu. How long have you known the captaint

A, Sir? :

Q. How long have you known the captain?—A. Capt. Pedersent
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0, Yes—A. Why, I should judge sbout two years, maybe longer.
I‘t%igh?- be three yi;rs.- Only in recent years.. I have hieard of the;

- captain, but had not the pleasure of meeting him before.
'c?](?),ml-fave ou conversed with him frequently—A. Why, every

¢ 10 T would meet him we would hold & little conversation® . . .
uné. Did you consider him & capable,and able mani-—A. I did. He
was 4 very %\00(1 man, a véry good navigator. He has the reputation
of being such. . - . ‘ . a

Mr: Sasatir. That isall. ~ -~ . S s
Mr. Poor. Mr. Reid, I would like to ask a question. - In issuing a
certificate of the inspection of the boat, would you get information

4

- from an{ other inspector—the inspector of hulls—as to the condi-

tion of these tanks or the hull 0f/a boat before issuing a permit for
a certain number of passenge -

Secretary Repriern, Mr.
the permit is issued jointly1 _

Mr: Poor. Well, that is what 1 wanted to find out.

Seeretary Reprrern. Yes; it is signed jointly by both.

Mr. Poor. In other wérds, the point was brought out, Mr. Secre-
tary, that Mr. Reid didn’t know much about ballast tanks.

(). Now, who does know, Mr. Reid I—A. Why, the condition Qf the
manipulation of the water bottom is generally in the engineer’s de-
partment. . .

Q). And who represented this department, Mr. Ecklifft—A. Mr.
Fekliff. And it consisted of a great'many valves and pipes leading
to different compartments that I couldn’t describe to you. They
have a system of getting the water and putting the water in different

1, pardon me. You understand that

- places, and I am not posted on that.

Q. In other words, you work jointly in issuing & permit ¢—A.
Yes, sir. . ‘

3’, So that you have the benefit of his knowledge all through t—A.
1 had to in the inspections of a steamer. We have to depend largely
upon each other’s work, not as a unit but each as a separate unit,
and brought together. £ ) ]

Q. Bach man is a specialist in his own work?—A. Yes; that is.
“the idea. ) v

Mr. Poor. That isall. ) o ‘

Secretary Repriern. The inquiry is adjourned to 9.30 in the morn-
ing at the same place. I

Mr. Trorman. And I want you, Mr. Eckliff, if you please, the
fiest thing. ‘ i .

(’I‘here%pon an adjournment was taken until the following day, .
July 31, 1915, at 9.30 o’clock a. m.) )

“

JoLy 31, 1915—0.80 A. M.
Parties met pursuant to adjournment, E
Present : Same as before, except that Lieut. Gov. Barrett O'Hara,

of Illinois, attended instead of Hon. Thomas (’Hara.

Secretary Repriero. It was the purpose of the local board to call
‘Mr. Fekliff this morning, but because.there are present two officers
of a vessel whose testimony is desirable, and who must sail this after-\
noon, we will hear them first. ! :
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~The session will continue-without, interruption until 2 o'clock, ‘and

" will then adjourn until Monday morning at-6.8 ' |
: ﬁrgtust. Frank A. Dom'rr,ulled 08 8 Witness by the board,,bemg

uly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as follows:
Examination: by Secretary Reprrern: : '
Q. Will you please give your full name, address, and age to the

‘stenogra%ler?——A. Frank A. Dority, 889 Hackett Avenue, Mil- -

waukee, Wis.; 50 years of age.
‘Captain, what is your present occupation?—A. Master of g -
steam vessel. ,

Q. Of what vessel ?—A. The City of South Haven at the present,
Q. Will you state briefly and: clearly what your experience has
e a8 ‘lis stfmm:}xll olr a?éaél officer gf vesse s?d—A, ¥ have been a master

or vessels for the las ea reignt and passenger steam vessels,

Q. And where?—A. Or{, th?’(}rehghﬂakea. P . : .

Anywhere else I—A. No, sir. :

Q. On'the Great Lakest—A. Yes, sir.

Q. State specifically the vessels that you have commanded and ..

where they operated.—A. My first command was for the Port Huron

& Duluth Steamship Co., steamer Oceola.

Q. A freight or I;assen eri—A. Freight. :

Q. Freight vessel?—A. Yes. My next command was the steamer -
Colorado, a freight vessel of the same line. Thé next for the Ann -
Arbor Car Fer
steamer plying from Marquette to Ludington,
Car Ferry Co., plying from Conneaut, Ohio, to Port Dover, Ontario;:.
next, for the Pere Mar%uetté Line Car Ferry, plying from '

to Ludington on the Car Ferry Line, and passenger boats plying

the same route; for the Goodrich Transgortation Co., tb% steamer
igan Steamship Co., 1908. -

Eastland, which was at that time the Mic
T was in command of her in.1903, 1904, 1905, and 1906,

You were on her 1903, 1804, 1905, and 19061-—A. 1903, 1904,
1905, and 1906; and from the steamer Eastland to the City of South
Haven, which I am still in charge of. ‘

Q. How long have you been on the City of South Haveni—A. I
think this is the eighth season. o

The eighth season?—A. Yes, sir. - .

Q. What license do you hold?—A. A first-class license for the
Great Lakes, Montreal, Duluth, and all around the Lakes.
. Q Iélow did you get it?—A. By appearing before the board of
inspectors.

. Where!—A. My first license was obtained in the city of Chi-

€ago.
6. _You say your first. s the one you now hold not your first?—A,

0, 81r. .
Q. What was the first#—A. Second class.

Q. Second class?—A. Second-class papers for second-class pilot.
Q. Second-class pilot?—A. Yes, sir. ;
Q.-What was the next examination you tooki—A. First officer’s

- examination.

Q. First officer’s examination; where did you take that?—A. In

Line, Frankfort, Mich.; next, the Pere Marquette -
M Mich.; the Chinango +

arquette
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‘Q: What was the next Bxamiﬁatio}n’ youvf*took?,—-A. A master’s -

P‘&’ Where did you take that?—A. In the city of Chicago. .
- Q. And what wag the next examination?-—A. That was the last
examination which I took. -

Q’.{ So, ]ii understand, you then have passed three exeminations?—
A. Yes, sir. " - B ’ ;

Q. In the city of Chicago?—A. Yes, sir. :

Q. Aud what was the date of the last one?-—A. The last renewal,
Mr. Sécretary ¢ ‘ : oo

Q. What is that?—A. The renewalf .

Q. The last examination, what was the date of the last examina-
tion#—A. Well now I just haven’t got the date, but I presume it
is 20 years or more ago, my last examination. ’ :

Q. Now, are these licenses renewed annually —A. Every five years
at the present time. :

Q. Every five years now —A. Yes; without an examination.

Q. Now, will you state in your own way, as fully as you can, your
experience of every kind with the steamer Eastland while you were

" her commanding officer, say how you came to obtain her command,

adding to that your opinion as to the result of your observation and
experience as to the sort of vessel she was, whether she was seaworthy
and safe or not. Now, will you read the question, please?

(Question read by the reporter, as follows:)

Now, will you state In your own way, as fully as you can, your experience
of every kind with the stenmer Eastland while you were her commanding officer,
say how you came to obtain her command, adding to that your opinion 88 to

the result of your observation and experience as to the sort of vessel she was,
whether she was seaworthy and safe or not,

. A. T was master for the Indiana & Goodrich Transportatien Co.

temporarily when the man that brought out the steamer Eastland
had a little bit of bad luck in a way, he was a man from a barge, and .

. had never had any experience in passenger boats, and was not a

suecess, Capt. John Peru was the man who brought her out when she
was new, that was some where about the 1st of July, 1903. I was -

‘ enquged to take charge of the steamer Eastland about the last of
“Ju

, I would not give the exact date, but the last of the month, and I
think I ran that season until Labor Day, which was about September

15 possibly or a little later, without any trouble of any kind. I went

cn her again the next year, in 1904, and started probably about June
15, I do not just remember the date exactly, but approximately June
15, and had no trouble with her whatever until some time in July,
I think about July 20, 1904; on account of the low water in South
Haven harbor we were a little afraid to put in her water ballast at -
South Haven on one occasion on account of the bar at the entrance
to the harbor, being unable to get over it, as we thought, and in
passing out of the entrance to the harbor without her water ballast
the boat ereened several times until such time as we got our ballast
properly distributed. We came along about our buBinese, we came to
Chicago T think about 85 or 45 minutes late on that trip on account
of this little difficulty. _

Now, you asked me I think one of the questions in this was whether
1T considered the Eastlond » seaworthy vessel. ,

22360—16—12 v
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."Q. The question covered your opinion.—A. That is the question;'
. Q. Just state what you wish.—A. The Eastland I considered ¥
~ seaworthy vessel under the conditions, with her water ballast tlias
~. she'had, I would consider her so, without it I would not consider her

- 'safe with more than perhaps a ti,xousand people on board of her. Ay

* that time we were carrying, I think, 3,300 people was her allowance

. that season if I remember right, 3,000 anyway, and it seems to me

3,300, I know we had 3,300 one season, and I think that was the

Mr. TaurmaN. Did you ever carry; Captain, her full load?
A, Yes, sir. , : -
Secretary ReorieLp. Do I understand you correctly, if not correct
it, -tliaét”your opinion was with her water ballast she was a safe
vessel? - g ‘
. A. With her water ballast properly distributed a perfectly safe
vessel at all timeés. ' :
Q. And without that she would not be safe for over a thousand
people, is that right?—A. That is to the best of my ability and
epinion. .~ - s «
Mr. TrormaN. Captain, will you tell me, for my own information
-8 well as everybody elses, what do you mean by the water ballast
being properly distributed? S
A. We used to always carry her water ballast in No. 3 tank, No.
~ 8 tank is just about in the center, and we figured that No. 3 tank
would hold. about half the water ballast in that steamer, somewhers
between 225 and 250 tons in that one tank, and that was the only flat
surface in the steamer; we carried that tank full; thet tank half full
was worse than if we did not have any water at all.
‘Secretary ReprieLp. Why was that? )
A. She would shift with the vessel. .
- Q. Now, you have raised a question here which, as T recall it, has
not come up in this hearing yet, and one whi¢h I think of very
‘great importance. T wish you would explain for the record whyt the
condition is of a vessel if her ballast tanks are partly filled. ]6 just..
as full as you care to.—A. The Eustlond was the only vessel ¥hat I

was ever on that had to carry water ballast; and the tanks partly

filled, if the vessel takes to listing the/water goes with the vessel and
. makes the condition worse than if there was no water in her at all,
in my estimation. ‘ .

Q. Why?—A. Because the water goes to the listed side of the ves-
sel; as the vessel lists down the water runs that way.

Mr, TrurmaN. And increases the weight on that side?

~A. On that side; yes. . .
- Secretary Reprierp. Do I understand von to say that the No. 3
tank held over 200 tons of water. : :

A. That is just an estimate. , _—

Q. What was the estimate?—A. 225 to 250 tons; that was the
largest tank on the steamer. " * , :
: - Now, am I right in understanding you to méan, then, that that
tank half full would have 120 to 125 tons of water in it?—A. Exactly.
.. Q. Now, what would be your judgment of the effect,if any, of the
shifting of that water; will the vessel list%—A. To give the vessel a

list; that vessel might be shifted off her equilibrium by the shifting .
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of the wheel or rudder, and water would, of course, go to the low

5“}3‘_’ Wiﬁh what ‘eﬁeci; 1—A. To put ‘her down that mlléh deep'er.on'

that side—whichever side the water ran to. - )

Q. What are the elements involved in such a shift of water, as you
understand it?-—A. Nothing more than to give the vessel a hst, 1f I
understand right. L \

Q. Can you say why?—A. Why# ]

Q. Yes—A. y, for the same reason if you had sand ballast
on that vessel and you rolled a barrel to one side it would rive her
8 list that way ; if you put your ballast on one side it would list over
that way, and If you put it on the othe rside it would list over the

er way. L . 1
Ot}(l). Doyyou understand there is any other element myolved?-f
A. No, sir. v

Q. Have you got an estimate of the total weight of water ballast
in the vessei’,?——-A. I have, but it is just an estimate; I never meas-

_ured very particularly ; about 500 tons, I should judge.

Q. You speak of letting out the ballast on one occasion to get over

" g bar?—A. At South Haven, -

. At South Haven?—A. Yes, sir. ‘
%., Howomuch would that' raise the vessel in the water?—A. I

. think the ballast we carried in the vessel at that time would raise
' fxelr about a foot; we used to figure this No. 3 tank would hold 225

1s and would put her down about & foot. . )
tOI(l;zS. a]%o I undegstand you to say that a turn or a shift of the wheel;

. 1 think that was your word?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Would cause the vessel to list?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why#—A. The current from the wheel bearing on the rudder
in that direction; it will do that on any steamer that I was ever on,
regardless of the condition of the ship or the hull or the ballast or

nything else. o
?ng). Ygu mean that your experience, if I understand you rlghtl_y—

ou mean that your experience shows that every vessel, in turning,
ists?—A. Yes, sir. :

- Q. Which way?—A. The opposite way from the way the rudder

is put. .
B . Now, will you go on with your statement of your experience and
judgmenti—A. Of the Eastlond? D .

Q. Yes—A. Well, as I remember, we had no further trouble with .
the vessel, except that one occasion that I have related, for the next
three years that I was master of the vessel. » ,

Q. Does that cover your entire experience?—A. Three years?

Q. Yes—A. Yes, sir. . . )

Q. What you have now spoken of covers your entire experience {—
A. Yes, sir. ’

Q. Am ¥ right in understanding the record to be that your only
occasion of difficulty was that when you had the water ballast out
crossing a bar at South Haven?—A. Yes, sir. - o
" Q. And that at that time you had how many on board?—A. I
don’t know the exact number, but I presume 3,000 people. )
- Q. Was it your habit to give directions concerning the ballast?—A.
The engineer and I always consulted each other regarding the ballast
and the other important features of operating the boat.
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Q. What were the means of communication between the pilot hougy
nu%o the engine room other than the marine telegraph ¥—A. Speaking

Q. There was g speaking tube?—A. Yes, sir.

" Q. Did you use it?—A. Yes, sir. - o .

Q. What were the means of communication from the bridge to
the engine room#—A. Well, that was the same—I mean by the
pilot house the bridge—they were the same. Now, if I remember
right, it is quite a while ago—it is about eight years ago since I was
in that vessel—but it seems to me.that she g% a telephone, as well
as a speaking tube. ‘I think she had.

Mr. TaurMaN. Captain, at the time that you had command of the

Eastland she was a passenger steamer and had staterooms, and so

forth, on her, didn’t she%—A. Part of the time; I think the second

or third year—the second year that I was on her—no, the third year
they removed the statersoms from the upper cabin.
‘ nw Had you seen the Fastland recently prior to the date of the dis-
aster?—A. T was aboard of her a year ago. )
Q. Was there any difference in her condition as to her structures
* then and at the time you had her?—A. Yeg, sir.

' 'Q. What was that change or difference?—A. The upper cabin

had been entirely removed from the smokestacks aft or a little. for-
ward of the smokestacks, except the roof.

Q. Then the condition of the vessel a year ago when you saw her

was materially changed %—A. Yes, sir. . ,
Q. From what she was when you had her%—A. Yes, sir; the state-
. rooms were also removed ffom the lower cabin, which they were not
when I was in command of her. . \
Q. At any time that you have seen her since that time have you
ever given her any particular examingtion?—A. No, sir.
Q. Would you, or would you not, be able to give an expression of
opinion as to her seaworthiness and stability under the condition in
which she was when you last saw her here a year ago, with those
changes you have spoken of%—A. I do not see why it should make
any material difference—the changes made since the time I was in
charge of her. .
* Q. Just what do you mean by that?—A. The staterooms being re-
moved, I do not see why it should make any difference. T think the
‘coriditions would be about the same. .

-Q. Under what condition, if any, would she have been, in your
opinion, seaworthy and stable?—A. Absolutely; with the water bal-
last and the load of people, as I have stated before. i

Q. Then, a8 far as the stability of the vessel goes, and her sea-

worthiness is'concerned, is it, or isit not, your opinion that no change -

was made therein, depending entirely on the manner in which the
water ballast was handled%—A. I don’t think so.

Q. Isthat correct?—A. Yes,sir. ~ ~ \
- Q. Nairowed down that means that, in your opinion, if the water

ballast was properly handled she would have been a seaworthy and’
stable boat, and if not she would not have been. TIs that correct!—

A. Exactly. i , .
. Mr.TrorMAN. That is all, Mr. Secretary, that I want.

181

Secretary Reprrewn. What do you mean, Captain, by saying in the
beginnin -.wom ‘your testimony that the first captain that vuozmmﬂ her
waTarwm%oa bave described—had some bad luck? - .
- A. Why, the captain was not accustomed to a twin-screw vesse

and in handling his vessel and manipulating her in the Chicago
River, about the second or third or fourth trip, he had been in a
short time only when he sunk a tug; ran into a tug in the river, and
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;-

“a lot of little minor things that did not amount to much. - No trouble

s:w%n,\:m&snumoso.;EnFo_.vnﬁoanﬁm,ongwawgn&aw%
S@. Do _you mean then that anything was or was not wrong with
the vessel itself?—A. No, sir; there was nothing wrong with the ves-
sel itself.

Q. Did your experience with the vessel cover periods when she had
to navigate in rough water%—A. Yes, sir. .

Secretary RevrieLp. Mr. Sullivan, do you want to ask the captain
any questions? ’ ;

w?.. SorLavan. Yes.

Q. Who owned the steamer, Captain, when you were running
her#—A. The Michigan Steamship Co. .

Q. Was that the same concern that owns her now?—A. Well,
the same men are interested, but it is now the Chicago & South Haven

-Steamship Co.

Q. Mr. Hull was then interested 1—A. No, sir; Mr. Hull was not _

interested. e : .

Q. Who was the managing owner, as they call it?%—A. At the time
I went 1% the boat, Mr. R. R. Blacker. ]

Q. He is now a stockholder i—A. No, sir; not in the Eastland; in
our line he i§; yes, sir. o

Q. Considerable rivalry between the Fastland and the South
Havenf—A. Yes, sir. C .

Q. There is now %—A. No, sir; not a bit. :

Q. What corporation owns the South Havenf—A. The Chicago &
South Haven Steamship Co. o

Q. What corporation owned—-the Eaestland was then owned, ag I
understand it, by the Michigan Steamship Co.%—A. Yes, sir. Par-
don me now. When I left her she had been sold at that time t6 the
Cleveland parties. s ‘

Q. You never ran her except on Lake Michigan?—A. On Lake
Michigan ; yes, sir. . .

Q. You understand the construction of the water-ballast system,
Captain?—A. Well, in a general way. ] T )

Q. Well, will you give us the best description you can, Captain,
of the water-ballast system—how the water 1i taken in; how it is let
out ; how it is transferred, if it is transferred, from port to starboard
and vice versaf—A. The steamer ig divided into fore and aft, a par-
tition in her water bottom, and on each side are five compartments,
1,2, 3. 4, and 5 on either side, starboard and port. .

Q. How many tanks in a]l%—A. Ten. Now, the 1 and 2 tanks
are small éanks; as you understand, the vessel is cut away pretty
sharp, and they are right in the bow, and yet get back to the No. 3
tank, as I said before, that holds, as we used to estimate it, about half

of the water ballast; one-half of this 500 tons of water goes in No.
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8 tank; the tank which we always kept full. The water comes iy
" ‘through ‘a sea cock to the tanks and we empty with a pump, whidh
could not be done; you could not pump out and take in at the sams
_SS@_M if I remember right, with the arrangement of the manifold
intakes. . )
© Mr. Suvrpivan. How large was the sea cock and where was it
located .

The WirNess. It was located on the port bulge, right abreast of
the engine, but the size I could not state. :

Q. How large? You say you could not state the size?—A. {
could not state the size, Mr. Sullivan. : -

Q. Now, if you wanted to transfer the water or if she started to
list and you had to shift the water, how long would it take you to
shift it%—A. We used to figure that it would take us a half hour to
fill this big tank, No. 8 tank; 30 minutes.

Q. And that No. 3 tank was divided, you say#—A. In the center.

Q. In the center?—A. Yes; to fill both sides would take 30 min-
" utes.

Q. Well, you practically, then, operated your water-ballast system
through the No. 3 tank?—A. Yes, sir; always.

Q. And did not use the others?—A. No, sir; excepting No. 4, to
trim her; we kept 3 filled and we trimmed her with No. 4, which
held probably 40 or 50 tons. '

Q. So for trimming purposes you had but one tank; that was No.
4?—A. Yes; No. 3 for ballast and No. 4 for trimming. .

Q. Now, then, if you wanted to frim the boat you would say to
take the water in No. 4%—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that capacity was what?—A. At an estimate, Mr. Sul-
livan, 40°or 50 tons.

- Q. Now, for instance, if the boat was listing to port you would

take the water out of No. 49—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Port?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. And put it in No. 4 starboard %—A. Yes, sir.

Q. How long would that process take?—A. Well, now, that is
something I could not tell definitely, but, to the best of my judgment,
perhaps 12 or 15 minutes. .

Q. And what kind of a system have you got on the boat you are
running now, the same thing?—A. We don’t have ballast tanks for
the South Haven. :

Q. How do you trim your vessel’—A. We don’t have a water
bottom in the South Haven, it is not necessary to earry any water in
her at all. ,

Q. How do you trim your vessel %—A. She has compartments fore
and aft. I can trim her fore and aft Dut not Iaterally. She is di-
vided into five compartments, five water-tight bulkheads the length
of the vessel, from the keel to the main deck, but no water bottom.

Q. You mean the collision compartment?—A. I mean the collision
compartments.

Secretary Reprierp. Your trimming compartments—do T under-

stand they are tanks which use water?

The Wirness. Pardon me.

Q. The trimming tanks that you speak of—they are tanks which
use water on the South Haven?—A. Well, I do notjust get that,
Secretary. v y

.
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Q. You speak of :&am nlﬁEﬂwﬁ,SsWn on the South Haven, did
you not#—A. No; I don’t think I did. e e
* Q. I thought you said there were forc and aft tanks?—A. Noj I
gaid we had fore and aft tanks used for trimming, but not neces-
@.Mérwe T want to get at is what, would you use in them for trim-
ming *—A. Water. . ‘ o R ,
Secretary: ReprieLp.- That is all.

rooe,

En.md&r::»z.é:iwm%oznoc_ics.__mao :.5( .aBammso% w@m ,er,a.
‘water-ballast system in the Eastland? o cE.

The Wirness. I think it was perfect if handled ﬂmwmr S

Q. It would require a pretty high degree of handling, .éo&m:we...m.w

it, to manage that boat?—A. Possibly it would. RIS

Q. Every man would have to be on the job all the time, wouldn's "
het—A. I would not say every man,.bécause I think, Mr. Sullivhn, .
you' can overdo 4 thing of that kind. I think it ought to be left in
the hands of one or.two officials, members of the crew. - . - ,

Q. Do you think that a system that requires 15 minutes to transfer
the trimming-tank water is a good. system in a passenger boat?—A.
That was the only passenger boat that I was ever on that had t6 have
water ballast. . P L e e
~Q. She had to have it becatise of her build; or why did she have
to have it?—A. Well, possibly it was on account of her build; T
would not say as to that. R L o

Q. How many chief engineers wis on. her when you were cap--
tain #—A. Two. R e

Q. Both still in the city ?—A. One of them is. ,

Q. What\s his name, please t—A. William L. Nack. R

Q. Do you know his addressi—A. T do not; but he is engineer of
the Uity of South Haven, the ship I am now on. :

Q. He is now running with youi{—A. Yes, sir. S V

Q. Who was the other chief engineer on her?—A. William Eels,
whose present, residence I do not know. ) .

(). Address in Chicago?—A. No, sir; I think he is in Pittsburgh.

Q. Working for whom?—A. He is working, I think, for the
Travelers’ Insurance Co. Parden me, there was a third man, 2
man was there in the hoat when I went in her, he brought her out—
Randall—he brought her out, he was in her the first year she came
out.

Q. Do you know his first name?!—A. T do not.

Q). Randall #—A.Yes, sir; Randall. )

Q. Still lives in Port Huron?—A. T think so; yes, sir. ]

(). Were you captain of this boat on the night referred to in the
Chicago Examiner article several years agot—A. Yes, sir. N
- Q. Now, how many times, in the years you were In commartd, did
you carry 3,300 passengers, how many trips, if you know t—A. Tam
not in a position to say, Mr. Sullivan. .

Q. What is your best judgment$—A. Oh, I presume a half dozen
times, T think the records will show that, I don’t know. .

Q. That is your best judgment now ?*—A. That is my best judg-
ment now, ' o ;

Q). Thirty-three hundred was her limit#—A. Yes, sir.

g

_ Q. She had her limit several times?—A.. Yes, sir.

&

e
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~. Q. What were the means of communication between the pilot hougy
e an};le the engine room other than the marine telegraph#—A. Speaking
tube. - . ' ' '

Q. There was g speaking tube?—A. Yes, sir.

" Q. Did you use it?—A. Yes, sir. - o '

Q. What were the means of communication from the bridge to
the engine room#—A. Well, that was the same—I mean by the
pilot house the bridge—they were the same. Now, if I remember
right, it is quite a while ago—it is about eight years ago since I was
in that vessel—but it seems to me that she h ({ a telephone, as well
as a speaking tube. ‘I think she had. ' g

- . Mr. Trorman. Captain, at the time that you had command of the
Eastland she was a passenger steamer and had staterooms, and so
forth, on her, didn’t she?-—A. Part of the time; I think the second
or third year—the second year that T was on her—no, the third year
they removed the statereoms from the upper cabin.

C (.{ Had you seen the Fastland recently prior to the date of the dis-
aster%—A. T was aboard of her a year ago.

" then and at the time you had her?—A. Yeg, sir.
¢ Q. What was that change or difference?—A. The upper cabin
had been entirely removed from the smokestacks aft or a little. for-
ward of the smokestacks, except the roof. :
Q. Then the condition of the vessel a year ago when you saw her
was materially changed %—A. Yes, sir. ' '
Q. From what she was when you had her?—A. Yes, sir; the state-
. rooms were also removed from the lower eabin, which they were not
when I was in command of her. '
Q. At any time that you have seen her since that time have you
ever given her any particular examindtion?—A. No, sir.
Q. Would you, or would you not, be able to give an expression of
opinion as to her seaworthiness and stability under the condition in
which she was when you last saw her here a year ago, with those
changes you have spoken of?%—A. I do not see why it should make
- any material difference—the changes made since the time I was in
charge of her. -

moved, I do not see why it should make any difference. I think the
coriditions would be about the same. o
" Under what condition, if any, would she have been, in your
. opinion, seaworthy and stable?—A. Absolutely; with the water bal-
last and the load of people, as I have stated before. ]

Q. Then, a5 far as the stability of the vessel goes, and her sea-

was made therein, depending entirely on the manner in which the
water ballast was handled #—A. I don’t think so.

. Q. Is that correct?—A. Yes, sir. :

A. Exactly. ) ‘
-, Mr. TrurMaN. That is all, Mr. Secretary, that I want.

Q. Was there any difference in her condition as to her structures

* Q. Just what do you mean by that?—A. The staterooms being re- ‘

worthiness is'concerned, is it, or is it not, your opinion that no change -

- Q. Nairowed down that means that, in your opinfon, if the water
ballast was properly handled she would have been a seaworthy and
stable boat, and if not she would not have been. Is that correct?—
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Secretary Reoriero. What do jou mean, Captain, by saying in the

beginning of your testimony that the first ca tain that brought her
but.—-—thgfyim have described—had some bad luck? - - S
- A. Why, the captain was not accustomed to a twin-screw_vessel,
and in handling his vessel and manipulating her in the Chicago
River, about the second or third or fourth trip, he had been in a
chort time only when he sunk a tug; ran into a tug in the river, and

“" a lot of little minor'things that did not amount to much. - No trouble

with the listing I do not think, or passengers, or anything of that -

Q. Do you mean then that anything was or was not wrong with
the vessel itself—A. No, sir; there was nothing wrong with the ves-

1 itself.

. Q. Did your experience with the vessel cover periods when she had
to navigate in rough water?—A. Yes, sir. ' .

Secretairy Reprierp: Mr. Sullivan, do you want to ask the captain
any questions? ) ,

r. SuLLivan. Yes. v

Q. Who owned the steamer, Captain, when you were running
her #—A. The Michigan Steamship Co. -

Q. Was that the same concern that owns her now#—A. Well,
the same men are interested, but it is now the Chicago & South Haven
Steamship Co. o . ,

Q. Mr. Hull was then interested #—A. No, sir; Mr. Hull was not
interested. PR o )

Q. Who was the managing owner, as they call it?—A. At the time
1 went in the boat, Mr. R. R. Blacker. . )

Q. He is now a stockholder?—A. No, sir; not in the Eastland; in
our line he i§; yes, sir. o

Q. Considerable rivalry between the Eastland and the South

" Haven?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. There is now #—A. No, sir; not a bit. , : .

Q. What corporation owns the South Haven?—A. The Chicago &
South Haven Steamship Co. L

Q. What corporation owned—the Fastlond was then owned, as I
understand it, by the Michigan Steamship Co.#—A. Yes, sir. Par-
don me now. When I left her she had been sold at that time to the
Cleveland parties. L ) '

Q. You never ran her except on Lake Michigan?—A. On Lake
Michigan; yes, sir. ~ .

Q. You understand the construction of the water-ballast system,
Captain?—A. Well, in a general way. ] c o )

Q. Well, will you give us the best description you can, Captain,
of the water-ballast system—how the water ii taken in; how it is let
out; how it is transferred, if it is transferred, from port to starboard
and vice versa?—A. The steamer is divided into fore and aft, a par-
tition in her water bottom, and on each side are five compartments,
1,2, 3,4, and 5 on either side, starboard and port. (

Q. How many tanks in all%—A. Ten. Now, the 1 and 2 tanks
are small éanks; as you understand, the vessel is cut away pretty
sharp, and thiey are right in the bow, and yet get back to the No. 3
tank, as I said before, that holds, as we used to estimate it, about half

of the water ballast; one-half of this 500 tons of water goes in No.
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" 8'tank; the tank which we always kept full. The water comes in
" through a sea cock to the tanks and we empty with a pump, whiech

~ could not be done; you could not pump out and take in at the sams

time, if ¥ 'remember right, with the arrangement of the manifold

intakes. o , K

- Mr. SvrLivax. How large was the sea cock and where was it
located - | ) '

The Wirness. It was located on the port bulge, right abreast of
the engine, but the size I could not state. :

Q. How large? You say you could not state the sizef—A. I
could not state the size, Mr. Sullivan. )

Q. Now, if you wanted, to transfer the water or if she started to
list and you had to shift the water, how long would it take you to
shift it?—A. We used to figure that it would take us a half hour to
fill this big tank, No. 8 tank; 30 minutes..

Q. And that No. 3 tank was divided, you say?—A. In the center,

Q. In the center?—A. Yes; to fill both sides would take 80 min-

" utes.

Q. Well, you practically, then, operated your water-ballast system
through the No. 3 tank?—A. Yes, sir; always.

Q. And did not use the others?—A. No, sir; excepting No. 4, to
trim her; we kept 3 filled and we trimmed her with No. 4, which
held probably 40 or 50 tons.

Q. So for trimming purposes you had but one tank; that was No.
4?—A. Yes; No. 3 for ballast and No. 4 for trimming. )

Q. Now, then, if you wanted to trim the boat you would say to
take the water in No. 4?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that capacity was what?—A. At an estimate, Mr. Sul-
livan, 46%r 50 tons.

- Q. Now, for instance, if the boat was listing to port you would
take the water out of No. 49-—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Port?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And put it in No. 4 starboard 2—A. Yes, sir.

Q. How long would that process take?—A. Well, now, that is
something I could not tell definitely, but, to the best of my judgment,
perhaps 12 or 15 minutes.

Q. And what kind of a system have you got on the boat you are

© running now, the same thing?—A. We don’t have ballast tanks for

the South Haven. ’

Q. How do you trim your vessel?—A. We don't have a water
bottom in the South Haven, it is not necessary to earry any water in
her at all.

Q. How do you trim your vessel?—A. She has compartments fore
and aft. I can trim her fore and aft but not laterally. She is di-
vided into five compartments, five water-tight bulkhends the length
of the vessel, from the keel to the main deck, but no water bottom.

Q. You mean the collision compartment?—A. T mean the collision
compartments.

Secretary Revrierp. Your trimming compartments—do T under-

stand they are tanks which use water? ‘

The Witness. Pardon me.

Q. The trimming tanks that you speak of—they are tanks which
use water on the South Haven?—A. Well, I do nottjust get that,
Secretary. ‘ ’
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. Q. You speak of using trimiming tanks on the South Haven, did
you not#—A. No; I don't think I did. = " .- o v e o oo
Q. 1 thought you said there were foro and aft tanks?—A. No; I
gaid we had fore and aft tanks used for trimming, but not neces-
garily. - ConT : R T
Q,yWhat' T want to get at is what. would you use in them for trim-
ming *—A. Water. - . - o .
Secretary: Revrienp. That is all. S e o,
Mr. Suvtrivan. What is your opinion as to the efficiency of the
water-ballast system in the Eastland? T
The Wirness. I think it was perfect if handled right.

ey

Q. It would require a pretty high degree of handling, '~w®liin%‘_ff

it, to manage that boat#—A. Possibly it would. '

Q. Every man would have to be on the job all the timé’,»vi;bn],dxi'/k S

he?—A. I'would not say every man,-biécause I think, Mr. ‘Sullivan, .

you' can overdo & thing of that kind. I think it ought'to be left in. -

the hands of one or.two officials, members of ‘the crew. - “

Q. Do you think that a system that requires 15 minutes to transfer
the trimming-tank water is a good system in a passenger boat?—A.
That was the only passenger boat that I was ever on that had to have
water ballast. . : A T
"Q. She had to have it becatise of her build; or wly did she have
to have it?%—A. Well, possibly it was on account of her build; I
would not say as to that. : o :

Q. How many chief engineers wis on her when you were cap- = *

tain#—A. Two. N

(). Both still in the city #—A. One of them is.

Q. What\is his name, please?—A. William L. Nack. RATEE

Q. Do you know his address?—A. T do not; bt he is engineer of
the City of South Haven, the ship I am now on. o

Q. He is now running with youf—A. Yes, sir. SR

Q. Who was the other chief engineer on her?—A. William Eels, -
whose present residence I do not know. ) o

Q. Address in Chicago?—A. No, sir; T think he is in Pittsburgh.

Q. Working for whom?—A. He is working, I think, for the
Travelers’ Insurance Co. Parden me, there was a third man, a
man was there in the boat when I went in her, he brought her out—
Randall—he brought her out, he was in her the first year she came
out.

Q. Do you know his first name?—A. I do not.

Q). Randall?—A.Yes, sir; Randall. . .

Q. Still lives in Port Huron!—A. T think so; yes, sir. )

(). Were you captain of this boat on the night referred to in fihe
Chicago Examiner article several years ago?—A. Yes, sir. )

Q. Now, how many times, in the years you were In commarid, did
you carry 3,300 passengers, how many trips, if you know ?—A. I am
not in a position to say, Mr. Sullivan. :

Q. What is your best judgment?—A. Oh, 1 presume a half dozen
times, T think the records will show that, I don’t know. )

Q. That is your best' judgment now?—A. That is my best judg-
ment now. ' L A

Q. Thirty-three hundred was her limit?—A. Yes, sir.
. Q. She had her limit several times?—A. Yes, sir.

.
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Q. Would the shifting of passengers on a boat like the E’aatm

“have a dangerous effect?—A. I don’t think so, not with 2,500 op
3,000'&;@10 there would not be much shifting. SRR Y
Q. Would the removal of the statercoms that you spoke of improve
the carrying capacity, improve the stability of the vessel?—A. In

my ju‘(llﬁnent, no. ,
an;av y were the staterooms removed, if you know—A. I don'
o .

: ‘Q-'W&S it done to incréase the carrying capacity of passengers?—
A. T could not say as to that. YIE capacity ol pesengers

Q. This capacity of 3,300, was that before she removed her st
rooms or afterwardst—A. ﬁefope, I think. - 1er state-

Q. She never had a capacity beyond 3,300, so far as you know 1—

A. So far as I know, no, sir.

Mr. Survivan, That is all, Mr. Secretary.

Mr. Wavrer Sterven (assistant corporation counsel, city of Chi.
~cago). Captain, isn’t it a fact that the reputation of the Kastlond
- was that she was a cranky boat during the period that you acted as
captain of hert—A.. I would say so; yes, sir.

. How did she get that reputation, Captain?—A. Well, I don't

really know. , L

Q. Isn’t it a fact that it was because——A. T can say to you
- gentlemen, that she was a cranky boat without her water ballast,

Q. During the time you operated her the water ballast was properly

- bandMéd, wasn’t it?—A. Well, I hope so. ¢

Q. Well, she gained that reputation during that period, didn't she
- Captain, of being cranky?—A. Right from the time she was
launched, I presume. R ’

Q. Isn'’t it a fact that she gained the reputation of being cranky

- because she listed frequently 2—A. I su ppose so.

Q. Now, do you know what was the reason for her listing as she
did#—A. No, sir; she was cranky.-

. Q. What was there about the boat that made her cranky? Was
it the construction of the hull, for example?—A. Well, I presuma
that had something to do with it. ) '

Q. Do you believe that the water tanks on the Zastland should
have been used for trimming purposes only?—A. T believe, gentle-
men, just as I have stated, and that was that the 3 tank was always
used for ballast and the 4 for trimming in my experience on baard
that steamer.

Q. Then, would you say that the captain or engincer who was
operating a vessel if he did not use any of the tanks for ballast. but
simply No. 4 of the tanks for trimming purposes, was not operating
the boat with the proper amonnt of safety ?—A. Well, from my point
of view, he would not, as I see it, under those conditions.

. Q- Yes; I am merely asking your opinion.—A. I would not ccn-
sider that they are under those conditions.

Q. Would you have considered thaf the Eastlund was a mare
stable boat if she had ballast such as the ity of South Haven hasi—
A. The South Hawen has no ballast.

8,. 8f atny ki;ndvat all?—A. Of any kind at all.

. Laptain, have you an opinion as to what caused the overturni
of the Eastlond?--A. No, SiII)‘; I have not, e
© Mr. Sterren. That is all T want to ask.
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. Secretary Reormro. Judge Sabath, - .. - o o0 0
. Mr. Sasati. Captain, you appear to be a very intel%i‘gent man, and
I think you are, from the answers you have made.. Will you p’lease
inform me whether a boat that has been constructed like this Fast-
land required more care than those ordinary boats?

A. I should say yes. Do you mean as to her stability ¢ :

Q. As to her stability and as to her handling entirely.—A. I should
gay yes. ,
{zy Should not that be taken into consideration by the inspectors
or by the board before allowing her any capacity —A. Well, gentle-
men, that is something that I can not pass on, ‘

Mr. Sviiivar. Do you mean, Captain, you do not want to pass
on it because you are working for these men?—A. Not that I do not
want to, but I could not answer a question of that kind. ,

Mr. Sasara. Captain, should the construction of a vessel be taken
into consideration before the allowance is made as to its carrying

“capacity ¢

~ A. As I understand it, according to the law, no—the space on the
gteamer. :

Q. Well, leaving the law that is now on the statute book alone—
eliminating that—what would you say; should there be such a law $-—
A. Well, gentlemen, I am in the habit of going according to the law
a8 we-have them at the present time; I don’t assume nothing—try
not to. | ‘

Q. Well, you as an experienced man, if you are asked for an
opinion by éungrem or by the board, what would your recommen-
dation be as to her allowance or as to the allowance of similar
hoats %—A. Why, I would not consider the Kastlend overloaded with
2,500 {;eople.

Q. You would not?—A. No, sir. ' ,

Q. Well, what do you mean when you say that the Eastland was
considered o eranky boat? What is understood by the term cranky
boat?—A. A cranky vessel is a vessel that lists easily. N

Q. And is hard to handle?—A. Not necessarily hard to handle.

Q. What I mean by hard to handle is that she would list, and by
her listing is liable to capsize easier than a boat that does not list#—
‘A. Without her ballast properly distributed. o

Q. Now, this boat di(i depend absolutely upon her water ballast,
did it not*—A. I would not say absolutely; as I have stated before,

that T considered her a more seaworthy vessel with any number of

passengers more than a thousand with water ballast than without:it;
m fact, we never crossed the lake without her water ballast if we had
more people than a thousand people on her. L :

Q. Always had you water ballast on her?—A. Always had our
water ballast on her. : '

Q). When would you fill her, after leaving the river #—A. No, sir;
fill her in the river. ; .

Q. Fill her in the river?—A: Yes, sir.

‘). Would you empty her every night?—A. Every night when the
passengers started to get off we started to pump her out, because
she had a little free board, and her plank would be almost straight
out, and we started pumping water as soon as the people started off,
to raise her up. :
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Q. And when would. you start to fill. hert—A. In the morning,
We most generally knew whether we would have a crowd or ‘not
according to the excursions we had billed, and whether there would
be a few or a lot of people. Of course, the weather had a good deal
to do with it; a nice sunshiny day would make a difference.

Q. Evidéence has been given in this matter that they started to
pump in the Fastland aﬁz)ut 17 minutes before she turned over.

ou said it takes 30 minutes to fill her; is that right !—A. Well, yes
and no; I said we used to figure it would take us 30 minutes to fil]
her No. 3 tank. o 3

Q. Well, if it took you 30 minutes to fill No. 3 how long would
it take you to fill all the tanks?—A. It would not take any longer,
because you could let her run into all of them at the same time.

Q.- And it would take 30 minutes to fill them?—A. We estimated
it took about 30 minutes to fill No. 3 tank. v

Q. When the pumps were working in perfect order?—A. You
don’t have to have the pumps to fill the tank.

Q. You just open the valves and let the water run int—A\. Just

open the valves and let the water run in.
Q. Was it possible to fill that No..3 tank in 17 minutes?—A. [
. could not say; we never did. : :

Q. In view of the fact, Captain, that this steamboat depended
upon water ballast and was allowed to carry 2,500 passengers, doesn't
it require a greater amount of care and skill and ability to handla
her than other vessels that did not depend on' water ballast—thnt is,
without any change—on every trip she makest—A. Well, she would
require a little more attention, possibly, but you are giving me the
wrong impression when you say handling the boat: you mean in
general, do you? ;

In general; yes.—A. Or taking her up and down the river.

Q. I do not mean in order to guide her course, but I mean to look
after her care and general condition.—A. Yes.

Q. That is the duty of a master—A. I would say yes.

Q. I' will again ask you the question, Captain, would vou think
if you would have the jurisdiction and the power to make allowances
and pass upon the number of passengers which are to be carried,
would you take into consideration how the boat is constructed. or
would you only depend upon her deck space and the numher of life
preservers the boat would carry—A. T would go according to law,
and that is all that is required. ' )

Q. Well, we will say that we have no law.—A. But we have law.

Q. But T am trying to see whether we should amend the luvw.— A,
That is a question which I could not angwer, not being placed in the
position; perhaps never will be.

Q. But I am placed in that position, and T would like your ad-
vice. I think lyou‘ are a very intelligent gentleman.—A. Well, that

" is a question I could not answer.
- Q. This boat Fastland is peculiarly constructed. Ts it or is it
not? I will change this. The great majority of the boats plying on
our Great Lakes are built differently?—A. I would S0y yes: on
different lines; that is, I mean on any boat that I was ever on.

Q. And it was due to her construction and her lines that she acted
as you said she did, and that was the reason she was considered a
cranky boat?—A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Did you at any time talk to the owners of this boat ‘after you
had handled her a few times that she was a cranky and dangerous .
boat?—A. I don’t remember especially. I knew the owners person-
ally, but I don’t remember of talking to them particularly about that
particular thing. ' : ) ‘ )

Q. Have you ever talked to any Government inspector about this
boat!—A. 1 presume I have; I can not recall any special occasion,

« Q. Were you ever asked about this boat, in view of the fact that
she was peculiarly constructed or was known as a crnaky boat{—A.
T can not cite any particular time when I was ever asked any ques-
tions about it. )

- Q. You never were asked by anyone whether she is'a safe boat on
the lake?—A. Oh, T presume I have been a thousand times, but I
cdn not recall any particular time. , :

Q. T mean by a Government inspector.—A. T can not recali any
particular time a question of that kind was asked me. o

Q. You were captain of this boat for three seasons®—A. Four.

Q. Four seasons?—A. Mostly four. )

Q. Were you the captain of the boat in 1904%-—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. Do youn remember an occurrence in Benton Harbor when a few -
people fell off that boat?—A. T never saw Benton Harbor while 1
was on the Egstland. '
© Q. Or——A. South Haven. P

Q. South Haven—A. Remember an occurrence of what kind?

Q. When a few people fell off the vessel, due to her listing.—A.
That never happened in mv experience on the steamer.

Q. Have you heard of that?—A. No, sir; I never heard that be-
fore; the four years I was there we never lost a life and no one
ever fell off the boat. ’ .

Q. How much water would that vessel draw, Captain?—A. I
should think perhaps 15 or 16 feet aft, with her water ballast and a
full complement. of passengers.

Secretary, Revrrern. Forward or aft?

Al Aft. o

Q. How much forward?—A. Pérhaps 9 or 10 feet.

Q. And this water ballast was used frequently for the purpose of
lowering the boat and again for raising her?—A. In Jowering the
boat.

0. And while raising the boat?—A. And raising the boat.

Mr. Sasaru. Well, the ballast wos not used to raise it; she was
removed so she would raice. )

A. Make it casier for the passenger to alight from the steamer.

Q. So it was to accommodate and make it easier for peoaple to get
on or get off%-—A. Yes, sir; to get off; easier for the peeople to get
off : not to get on. . :

Q). To get off '—A. Yes, sir. _ . ‘

Q. Well, couldn’t there have been a different plank constructed
so as to make it easier for the passengers to get off without lowering
the hoat?—A. Tt could be done, but it never was..

Q. That would not cost a great deal ?-_A. ‘Perhaps the owners of
the property would object to cutting their dock; there are reasons
for all those things. 4 :

Q. Do you know the rules and regulat’im!s qf the board of exam-
ining engineers or the board that has %nrmdm}mrnmthe inspection

L




. 188 ACCIDENT TO THE BTEAMER EABTLAND.

board—as to the inspection of vesselsi—A., Why, partiall , yes. We

‘have copies of those rules on all of our vessels, but I could not rey
:ll;em word for word; but in a general way I am conversant with
em. ‘
Mr. Survan. This draft figure you gave awhile ago, f -
] 2 go, fore and aff,
was that light or loaded ; the draft of the vessel i
A. Tt wa: loaded. ’ el e ‘
. Q. It was loaded *—A. Yes; that is loaded with a full complement

of passengers and water ballast. I might be out a few inches on that,

Mr. Sullivan, you know, but I think that is it, to the best of my

* ability. ‘ )
_Mr. Saparn.. Is it your opinion that the law and the rulea are suffi-
cient to safeguard the lives, if pro erly, of course, and honestly car-

ried out, fo safeguard the lives of all the peceple and
sels—tha inspection { R S, S

A. You mean our rules and regulations for the government of

" these things?
Q. Yes.—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Or is it your opinion that it is not necessary to enlarge upon
the regulations of inspection of boats to protect the livesi—A. [J p
. to the Gresex;t time it has not been. . ~
Q. Well, in view of this unfortunate occurrence would you say
now that there is sufficient or that any greater care 1s required or
18 necessary to mvestigate and examine hoats before their permit
or license is granted to them?—A. We at is a question I could

?}?t ﬁnsWer. I do not just get your part of that question I do not
ink.

. Q. What I mean, Captain, is this: Do you think, is it your opin-

ion, that the present laws and the present regulations are sufficient

if honestly carried out to give the inspector ample power and au-

ih((;rlty to pass upon the carrying capacity of a hoat{—A. Yes, sir;
0.

Q. You do not think that we need additional safeguards or regu-
lations or laws?—A. From my point of view, no. GraTe 8

Q. Well, don’t you'think that where a boat is specially constructed -

or peculiarlg constructed like this boat that in addition to her deck
space and the number of lifeboats and life preservers and rafts she

carries the constructions should be taken into consideration before .

the allowance is made as to her carrying capacity f—A. Well, I
considered that steamer a perfectly safe steamer with all the peniJ!e
that she was allowed to carry.

Q. But it does require more care and a greater amount of intelli-
ence to handle her than it does the steamer you are on now i—A.
WVell, more care; yes; I would say yes.

Q. Well in’ view of that fact wouldn't vou say it is a very dan-

gerous boat if recklessly handled, more dangerous than the ordi-

narily constructed boat?—A. Yes; if recklessly handled.

Q. Well, we will say if negligently handled.—A. Exactly; neg-

ligently handled.
Q. And shouldn’t that be taken into consideration before the

‘allowance is made bv the inspectoral—A. Well, that is a question
I can not answer, gentlemen.
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+'Q. ‘Captain, you' are not afraid of the board, are youl—A. Not
& bit; no, sir; 1 am not afraid of the board or anybody else, gentle-.
men; I have nothing to fear. : ‘

Q. I just want you to know that you do not have to be afraid

.of them.—A. T have nothing to be afraid of.

Q. You.do not have to be afraid of anyone.—A. I court investi-

- gation of my actions as a steamboat master wherever I have been

all my life.

Q. I think vou can handle any steamer. and I would be willing
to intrust my life to you st any time.—A. Thank you.” ~ )

Q. But I am not willing to trust it to some of the captainsg that
1 have seen handling boats carrying large num of passengers.
Captain, did you make applications for your vessel for carrying
capacity ; that is, do you make the application or the affidavit asking
that she be ingpected?—A. Yes, sir.

Q). You make that affidavit yourself?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And vou also request that the measurements be taken or the
allowance he made by the inspectorsi—A. We make an application

- for an inspection, and we are allowed, according to the equipment

we have, a certain number of people.
Q. And that application after inspectionfcarries with it also an
examination for the number of people that you can carry?-—A.

Yes, sir.

(). When do vou make this application—once a year?-——A. Once a
ar. - .
WQ. I mean what time in the year—about?—A. We usually .make
that abont June 1, inasmuch as we start about June 15. ;

Q). After you make the application, within a few days there is an
inspection1—A. An inspection; yes, sir. _

Q. And how soon thereafter do you receive your license?—A. As
a rule we get a permit until we get our regular license.

Q. A temporary permiti—A. Yes, sir. ! '

Q. How soon after the examination do you receive this pérmit?—

-A. The permit?

Q. Yes, sir—A. Oh, perhaps a week. .

Q). Have you ever received a temporary permit from the inspec-
tors before the boat was inspected1—A. Before the boat was
inspected ¢ A ’

. Yes—A. No, sir; I think not. ’ ,

Q. Have you ever made a request for an increased capacity where
the allowance was made!—A. 'We have. <

Q. You have?—A. Yes, sir.

Q). What do you do in a case of that kind ¥—A. We ask how much
additional equipment we have to put on in order to have our passen-
ger limit raised to a certain number., h '

Q. And after they inform you of what you must do, then if you
desire to increass the capacity you make these additional improve-
ments, do youl—A. Yes, sir. '

Q. What do you do, put in these improvements and notify the
board that you have complied?—A. We notify the hoard that we
have complied with their request.

Q. Do they then make another examination?—A. They usually dg.
Q. Well, you say usually; don't they always?—A. Occasionally
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we make an affidavit that we have n;mdé such and such additions te ,

v Vpure%zivi ment. _ el T ;
,Q.l o makes the affidavit, the captain?—A. The master of the
vessel. » :
+ Q. The master of the vessel#—A. Yes, sir, - R
- Q. And it is ui)on that affidavit that a permit or license is issued
for the additional number of passengers?--A. Yes, sir. * e
Q. Do you think that is good practicé?—A. From mny persona)

point of view; yes. ’ .

Q. Well, don’t you think for the protection of lifo—A. As s,

rule the inspectors, either at the time or a day or two afterwards,
will inspect the boat personally, but in order to save time it is an
accommodation—— U :
Q. To the shipowners?—A. To myself. : ~
Q. Well, it is not an accommodation to you. ! :
Secretary Reprrerp. Wait a moment,
record read. Read me the Jast part of the record. L '
(The last seversl questions were read by the reporter.)

udge Sabath. I want the.

Mr. Samars. I waut you to know, Mr. Secretary, that I do nof;:

desire to be unfair to the witness, '

Secretary Reprierp. 1 thought there was a clerical error.

Mr. Sapata. And I know I could not put words in the mouth of
this witness. .

Secretary Reprierp. Nobody knows you as well as 1 do, and T do
nolt1 thlélk of it fﬁr’ & moment,

, r. SaBath. But when you say for yourself—youn have no dire
benefit, whether the boat carries %;,wo 03, three or five hundred mor?zt
have you? - N '

A. Financially, no; my personal interest is as much, I think, as
anybody’s in the steamboat which I operate and in the owner, or my
interest in my company who owns my steamer.

Q. That is, of course, proper; I realize that. employed by a com-
pany, it is your duty as a man to do everything in your power in
tbelllr behalf; but, directly, there is no benefit to you?—A. Finan-

1211y, no. ’ .

Q. Do you think that. these temporary permits should be issued

. without an examination on the part of the inspectorst—A. I can not
see any reason why they shoul({) not. ’ :

o Q Well, wouldn’t it be safer, after application is made, even

- though accompanied by an affidavit, for the inspectors to first inspect

' these improvements before they would issue a license for an addi-

tional number of passengers?—A. For me, no; I can not answer for
anybody else. :

Q. Well, what if it should be that we shouﬁ(] have on our lakes some |

captains who are reckless or careless, or who do not examine, per-
haps, the application when it is made out, or leave it to some one
who is anxious to secure a few hundred more carrying capacity for
the vessel, then, in that case, don’t you think it would be safer for
the inspector to first inspect before they would rule on the applica-

tion?—A. Well, that is merely supposition; I could not reply to a:

2uestion of that kind. I am just answering these questions, Judge,
rom my own personal point of view. '

Q. Inview of what has transpired, have you, or could you;make any
recommendations about it—how the lives of people can be better pro-

\

)

‘T am trying to get here, if the regulations of the

" the lar%(‘a,st pamenger vessels; is that right?

&
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tected so a8 to prevent such an occhrrence as we have witnessed here
a week ago to-day %—A. I wish I could, but I can not. - - oo
' Q. Do you think s water-ballast vessel-—that dvel{)engls wholly upon
water ballast—is just as safe as other vessels?—~—A. No, sir. =
Q. They are not?—A. No, sir. - S '
Q. Well, then, should we not eliminate the construction of such
vessels #—A. Possibly that would be an improvement. .

Q. Should we not take that into consideration im making the
allowance for “carryini capacity on those that are already built, or
gimilarly constructed, like the £astland, and thosé vessels depending

| - on water ballast?—A. I do not know of any other vessel depending

on the water ballast out of the city of Chicago.

Q. Well, are there net some other vessals on our Great Lakes?—
A. Possibly; I am not thoroughly conversant with other vessels at
the present time, except in your city here of Chicago.

Q. Bit, if there are other vessels similarly constructed as the

" FEastland, do you think you could allow them as great a carrying

capacity ag you would the others that are differently constructed, if
the measurements would be the same?—A. I would consider it was
a saferproposition where the vessel did not have.to have ballast of
any kind in order to carry her complement of passengers.

Mr. SaaTa. That is all I wish to ask him: -

Mr. Suvruivan. There is ope question or two the captain suggested.
xovernment ‘are
the wisest in this regard, a pagsenﬁer-cm‘rying steamer, especially of
large capacity, should have probably the highest type of captain, and
under ‘the regulations as they exist now a man of ordinarily good
seamahshsip will get his license as.a master and without any further

_ restrictions, assuming it is of the proper tonnage, without any further

restrictions or examination, a boat owner can put him aboard one of

The Wirness. Yes, sir. o A
. Q. Do you think that is a wise re, Iﬁ‘h@{ that will permit this
rule? Im this case they happened to select a man who, in my opinior,

" is an excellent sailor, but his ability stops right there; he hasn’t the

ability to command men or think quickly or act quickly, and all that
sort of thing; what would you say as to a regulation of that kipd that
permits that situation?—A. Well, Mr. Sullivan, I never fhought
that matter out; that is a matter that woulddave to be considered in .*
order to give an intelligent answer. . o

Q. I do not want to give you any flattery, but in my opinion if a
man of your type had been on that hoat a week ago this morning -
that this accident would not have happened. Now, what could be
done to correct that situation?—A. Well, I could not say as to that-
at the present time. T

Mr. SuLwivan. That is all. o

Secretary Reprierp. What is the nature of the examination that
yon passed for a first master’s license; what does it take into ac-

- count ?

The Wirness. Experience and a good acquaintance with the cer-
tain localities where you ask for your licemse; the lighthouses and
reefs and courses. It was a verbal examination that I took at that
time. o . :
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f‘ e Q. 'Hoir long ‘ago .‘wagathit.?g—-}\.' ‘At that i;ime_ii»t was perhaps

years ago,.at a rough estimate. . . B »
- Q. Do you kndw the nature of the present examinationsf-—A, I
"~ know that it is a written examination now instead of.as it uced to be.
" .Q. Have you ever taken one?—A. No, sir. o o
Q. Have you ever been present when one was being taken and
-witnésséd it #—A. No, sit; I never have. :

Q. Can you testify from your own?knowledgg(‘,:onceming the na- -

ture of the present exargination ¢—A. No, sir.

Q. Or as to what it covers?—aA. No, sir; I can not.

Q. Do you or do you not know whether the, examination for s
first-class master’s license differs from that of a second-class master’s
license?—A. Yes, sir. ‘

Q. It does differ?—A. It did when I took my examination.

- Q. Do you mow whether it differs now?—A. I could not say; I
presume it does. :

. Q. What in your:judgment would be the source of the truth in that
- matter; where would you go to have the truth —A. Where would I
go to find the truth? i :

Q. About an examination; do you know ?—A. The board of local
inspectors. ‘

. In what shape would you find it there; do you know?—A. I |

presume they keep records of all those examinations.

Q. Do yecu know or do-you not know whether the actual record of
the examination is kept on file?—A. I presume it is; I have no knowl-
_‘edge about it. , :

6. Is there any other source, to your knowledge, from which the

Kutllqn concerning the examination can be better found than that!—

_A. No, sir.

- Q. If there is, say so—A. There is not.

Q. Is it your understanding of the truth that the record in detail '

of each examination is preserved %—A. I understand so; yes, sir.
Secretary Repriein. That is all.
Mr. SaBatu. Can I ask the captain two or three more questions,
Mr. Secretar{‘? o .
Secretary Reprierp. By all means.
- Mr. SaBara. How many engineers did you have under you in
your experience as a master—about?
- A, All told?
Q. About; yes; 20 or 30 or what?—A. 1 presume so; about that;
as many as 30 anyway.
Q. Have you found them to be all efficient and capable, or were
¥ou obliged to discharge some of them from time to time?%—A. Yes;
think I have been.

Q. When gou discharged an engineer for inefficiency or for some

other cause do you report that to the inspectors?-—A.
yes; but not always. o
Q. Well, for what causes do you report?=A. Oh, drunkenness,
incapability, insubordination, or something of that.sort.
Q. Do the rules of the department demand that?—A. I think
S0} yes, sir.
And frequently you discharge un engineer for causes that you

do not report to the departmenti—A. Well, Judge, you know in
the days— -

S0mMe cases,

. /
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Q. When you see what I mean, that is the practice of the differ-
it captains} what X am trying toget at-is the practice.—A. No; I

was just going to correct your question if you will allow me'to. -~

" Yes~—A. Nowadays the captain of a steamer has nof very
much to do with the engineer except to prefer charges against him at

- the general manager’s office. The engineers are put aboard most all

of our vessels by the superintendent or general manager, and in case
anything is wrong we prefer charges to. our general manager, and
if 'we can substantiate those charges, perhaps the engineer will be
dismissed. Otherwise the captain possibly—and there is very few
steamers now of the lar%er type where the captain hires the en-
gineers—they are put on by the manager. ‘

o

Q. So we are getting away gradually from the old law #—A. Yes,

gir. o
Q. That a captain was absolute master of his vessel and he en-

'gaﬁed all his assistants?%—A. Yes; you understand the captain is
st

in charge of his vessel, except in that particular case.
Q. Yes; I understand that if you-were engineer, that I might be

e ged by the owners or managers of such vessel, but that he is

subject to the orders of his captain.—A. Exactly. ‘ ,

Q. So it is not the captain that would make the report to_the
board of engineers as to the reason why such engineér would be
dismissed #—A. Yes; I think it is. I would consider it my place to

. do so. - e ‘ .
Q. And you believe that it should‘be done in each and every in-

stance where an engineer is dis for inefficiency, inability, or
recklessmess or drunkt:%ness or for any other cause that such report
be made to the board of engineers or inspectorsi—A. I certainly do.

Q. And do you think that s man of that kind should again be

ted a license when once dismissed ¥—A. No, sir; not for the time

E:fnng, at Jeast. . .

Q. And not until he hag demonstrated or conclusively proven that
he is in a position to give better service—A. Exacﬂ{: :

Q. A great deal depends upon the engineerf—A. Yes, sir; a great
deal.

Q. And great care should be exercised in engaging the engi-
neer¥—A. Yes, sir. L

Q. A man of years of experience should be engaged as the chief
engineer; isn’t that true?—A. Sometimes I have found that the most
competent engineers I have had have not had so vex('iy much experi-
ence. They have proven to be the best men. That does not always
work out. .

Q. Are you acquainted with this engineer on the steamer East-

land%—A. T am not; no, sir.

Q. Do you know Snow, the assistant engineer !—A. Slightly. I
think he was on our boat at one time; but I do not think I would

. know the man if I met him on the street.

Q. What kind of a crew did this Eastland have?—A. Sirf

Q. Were you familiar with the Fastland, the engineer, the assist-
ant, the first mate, and the second *—A. No, sir; none of them.

Q. It was a crew that was picked up here, there, and everyWwhere,
wasn’t it 9—A. I could not telgyou. scarcely knew any of the offi-
cers of the steamer. .

. 22359—16——138"
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Q Are you acquainted with the captfin?—A. Slightly; just .

! speaking acquaintance..
i SEQ. Hg q

ve you ever heard pe’oiﬂe comment upon his ability ag s

a
captain?—A. No, sir.

So you do not know much about it?~A. I do not knew Very

g

- much about him; now, that is a fact.
" Mr. Sapat, That is all. : -

* Mr. Poor. Capt. Dority, I understand you were master of tha . |

- Eastland for about four years?
A. Yes, sir.

" Q. Why did you leave the Eostland services?—A. She was sold.

Q. She was sold?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. To another company ¢—A. Yes, sir. .

Q.-Are you still with the company that you were with at that
time?#—A. Yes, sir. o ‘ - .

Q. How much would the filling of the tanks in the Fastland lower

. her in the water when she was loaded with 2,500 people?—A. As I
stated, I think a foot. 7 ,
© Q. A foot?—A. Yes, sir.” That is an approximate figure. I do
_not know just exactly, you know. P TR

Q. In other words, the water ballast would probably not affect the

load line of the vessel-over 1 foot regardless of the load?—A. I
i nOt- o PR 2 .
Q. About g foot?—A. Yes, gir. S

Q. What is that—about 17 tbns to the inch?—A. You understand

me that that is the water ballast that we carried ? :

Q. Yes—A. We carried about half of the capacity; possibly. We

never used the forward tanks; we never used 1 and 2; if at all, very -

_ -rarely. - ;
: ’Q.yIn other words, .all of the tanks required for her stability
would lower the vessel perhaps a foot?—A. I would say yes. ‘

Q. Are there sz vessels on the Liakes that have a combination of
solid and water ballast%—A. If so, I do not know of any.

Q. If the Eastland had half of her ballast in solid ballast and then
an afdjustabls ballast—flexible ballast in the form of water—weuld
it be a safer boat?—A. Well, I can not conceive of any safer ballast
than water, if it is properly handled. :

Q. Yes; but there is always a contingency of the proper handling.
Assuming that the water is subject to improper handling and that
the fixed ballast is not and that a solid ballast is not, would a boat
like the Eastland. be safer with half of its ballast requirement solid
and the other half flexible, as in the case of water ballast?—A, Well

from the viewpoint of incompetent handing of the ballast, T would ;

say yes.
- Q. That is what I wished to get at. You said a while ago it would
take about 30 minutes to fill the ballast tanks.—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is that quick enough to be able to fill tanks of that sort, when.

you get the load on the boat very rapidly before that, as fast as you
load that boat, say, in 15 minutes; is there a sufficient margin of
safety.in trimming the ship to rely upon intakes that will fill the
tanks in 30 minutes?—A. Well, I never could load the boat in 15
minutes. You could not put 2,500 people on a boat in 15 minutes, nor
could S)jou put them off in 15 minutes.

Q. You could not?—A. At least, I never could.
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. Q. With two.gangwaysi—A. We always used two exits in unload-

f an hour, at that. : ,
. You could get them on in 20 minutes?—A. No, sir; not get

. m% our passengers, but 2,500 people will take from 20 minutes to
haQ

" ‘them on; they are slower getting on than they are getting off, because

we are not allowed to use only one gangway in loading our boat. I

do not suppose you could load 2,500 people in less than a half hour; .

that is the best you could do. _
Q. You would feel that in using two gangplanks on the Eastland

that the intake to the ballast tanks will admit sufficient water to trim

the boat as fast as you can put the load of passengers on, loading to
capacity?—A. No, I do not say that; I aﬁree with you that the
faster you can handle that water the better, there is no question about
that; but, you understand, the Zastland is 12 years old, and 12 years
ago that was about the most modern wdy they had of handling water
ballast; you go aboard a steamer that was built a year ago; why, the
new freighters, they can handle the water ballast three times as fast—
yes, four times as fast as they could on the Eastland; but at the time
the Eastland was built, that was about the most modern way they

had of handling that ballast.

Q].[The_n,‘ under the improved method of handling water ballasts—
A. Yes, sir. - ‘ )
Q. Do you know whether the requirements are different to-day
with reference to handling water ballast than they were 10 years
ago?—A. I do not know as the requirements are any diffierent.

Q. Should they be different?—A. Well, there might be an im-

‘provement.

2 tank on board the Eastlandsa sort of a fin that divides the ballast
tanks?—A. A bulkhead; ye¢.

Q. And that that bulkhead has large cpenings in it that will per-
mit the passage of water from one side of the boat to the other;
is that a fact?¥—A. No, sir; not in her case,

Q. Do you know whether it is a solid bulkhead or not, as you re-
member No. 2, as between the starboard and the port side?—A. Yes,
girs it used to be if they have not changed it.

Q. Is there anycne here who can answer that as to the present
condition ? ,

Secretary Reorierp. I do not know. We have got the engineer of
the vessel waiting here, the former engineer.

Mr, Poor. If there were a connection between these two tanks,
ang t%e tanks were being filled, understand—follow me?

. es. B

Q. You would fill the tanks half full, would the water be in a posi-
tion where it could flow from one ténk into the other, and the crowd
of Eassengers on the upper deck of that vessel, if they should cause it
to list slightly, and shift its lower level so that the water could flow
from one tank into the other, say, from tl_ starboard tank into the
port, and the passengers were loaded on the port, would that tend to
cause the boat to tip over more rapidly #—A. Yes, sir.

Q. In other words, until the tanks were full they would be un-
stable in that particular?—A. Yes, sir. \

Mr. Poor. That is all.

Mr. Foure. May I ask a question, Mr. Seeretary?

Q. As I understand it, th:? is a division from fore and aft in No.
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Secretary Reprierp. Yes; go ahead. .
- Mr. Fouxke. Captain, if you were captain of the Eastlond and
- had received a certificate of inspection from the steamboat inspectors
on ﬁldy~2, would you feel that your boat had been properly in.
- spected on July 24, when this accident occurred, so far as the work.
- ing order of the boat was concerned ¢ ‘
_A. Will you read that question, please?
{Question read by reporter, as follows:)
o ‘Captain; if you were captain of the Eastland and had recelved a certificate of
- - iospection from the steamhoat inspecturs on July 2, would you feel that your

" boat had been properly inspected on July 24, when this accident occurred, gy
far as the working order of the boat was concerned? ’ )

A. T would. ‘

Q. Would you consider it your duty to see that these tanks were
properly filled before the boat left the dock?—A. I would. -

Q. That duty would rest upon you?—A. The engineer and myaelf; ;

Q. Does the captain of the boat on the Lakes have full authority
over his vessel in that respect?—A. Yes, sir. ,
- Q. Full control over his crew%—A. Yes, sir; he should have.

Mr. Fouke. That is all. -

- Mr. James F. Bssor (public administrator of Cook County).
Captain, if your boat had been inspected and there was some defect
-.+to the boat 1n which the inspector had not been advised and could
not be advised, then you would not consider that your boat was safa

to put to sea, would you? Or assume that. the inspectors did nof

detect a defect, and that you or the owners had knowledge of such a
defect with reference to the boat, yon would not consider that such

an inspection would relieve you of the liability, would you?—A. .

Well, now, as I understand you, if my steamer had been ins

and we had knowledge of any defect that the inspectors did not

know of?

Q. Yes.—A. You understand all licensed masters and officers on
board licensed vesseis are sworn to secret mothing from the board
of 1 ctors? - v

Q. Yes, sir—A. That is the only way I can answer that question.
What other peoplé may do I could not say, I am only giving it from
my own personal viewpoint, gentlemen.

Q. But the inspectors licensed would not know anything about it,
withheld from the inspectors, say, something concerning the con-
struction or the present condition of the boat, and a license was se-
eured, that would not give the master of the ship the right to pro-
eeed under the sole protection of the license, in other words the

~ master of the ship or the owners of the ship, if they have knowled
of the defects which are concealed from the inspector, would .
bound to exercise the highest degree of care in remedying these de-

fects before the ship put to sea, wouldn’t they %—A. They certainly.

would.

Secretary Reprrerp. Capt. Dority, were there baffle plates in the
Eastland? Do you know what I mean by that?—A. No, sir.

Q. What was the name you used for them, Mr. Gillette{

Mr. Giurerre. Swash plates.

Secretary Repriern. Or swash plates?

A. No, sir.

Mr. Corrins. They are plates put in; Frank, to keep the water
from splashing, '

@
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“Secretary Reprrerp. To keep it from flowing rapidly back and
fOl‘th. J’ . ) . ‘-“' . ) ’ . . .

The*"}}VxTNEss. I do not think there was any such thing in the
Eastland. : ~

Secretary Reprrerp. Are you or are you not familiar, Cagptain,
with the force in nature that is called momentum ¢ 4

A. Well, yes and no, both, , o

Q. You know there 1s such thing?—A., Yes, sir. — — -

Q. Do you know what it is?—A. I know what I have always -
considered it to be. . X i ~
Q. What do you consider it to be?——A. If the vessel is proceeding
up the Chicago River, after you stop her machinery, the engine, the

“momentum of the vessel will take her a certain distance.’

Q. Does the water have the same property in its motion?—A. I
think so. - : ‘

Q. In considering the movement of water in a tank did you or do
you not think the question of the momentum of the water in that tank
ghould be considered?—A. Do you mean taken in regard to the
listing of the ship, the equilibrium of the ship, or what .

Q. %n»any movement of water in a tank is the question of the
momentum-of the water to be considered ?—A. I do not just get the
drift of your question. : R

Q. Do you mean you do not understand my question?—A. I do
not uniderstand your question the way you put it.

Q. Suppose this book which I hold horizontally before me repre-
gents a tank half filled or partly filled with water, and suppose 1t is
inclined, as I now show you there, is or is not in“such a case the
momentum of the water to be considered ¢—A. Why, yes; absolutely

-and certainly. :

Q. And do you know or can you state how momentum arises,
what causes it%—A. In this particular instance that you cite?

Q. Yes; or any similar one!—A. Why, as I said before the shift
of your wheel, there are a hundred causes, perhaps a little roll of the -
sea or anything of that kind. ’

Q. You do not understand my question. If I strike a blow with
a hammer, what causes the blow; what are the factors in the blow?
Do you know$—A. Well— - , ‘

Q. I asked you if you knew?—A.-Why, it is the physical force
behind you.

Q. Is that all®—A. That causes the blow; in the first place it is
your mind.

Q. Now wait & minute, if I strike a blow with a hammer what
elements are in that blow? If you do not know, say so.—A. Well,

. I do not know.

Q. I am trying to find out.—A. I do not know.

Mr. Bisnor. When you sailed the boat there were no lives lost on
the boat?

A. No, sir.

Q. That was probably due to the high degree of efficiency which
you exercised as the master of the boat; in other words, you exer-
cised the highest degree of efficiency?—A. Well, I did the best I
could, gentlemen, and we lost no lives.

Q. It would not require a man of great experience to determine
the iéact that she was a cranky boat and somewhat treacherous?—

0’ m‘
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while you sailed it¥—A. No, sir. o 4

Q. Exercising the highest degree of efficiency required of you as
master ‘of the vessel, you would consider that it was your duty to
have the water ballast on board béfore you took on the full twenty.
five hundred passengers?—A. Yes; sir.

. Q. When the owners of the vessel order you to change your doc

. was it not the duty of the owner to know the draught at that place.
where that boat is to be docked#—A. Well, under certain conditions; -

CLyes. n : | ) ' .
e%. Is that so—that is, if they order you to do so?—A. Of course,
if they ordered me to a certain dock they ought to know whether

there 1s water enough there for my vessel or whether there is not.
Q. They should know, shouldn’t they ?—A. They should know.
'Q. And any owner or lessee of a vessel who orders you to change

from the dock where you have been usually docking right alon

should know whether or not there was sufficient, water there in whicg

to dock the vessel with the water ballast on board; that is true,
isn’t it?—A. I should think so. \\ -

- Mr. Bisnor. That is all. ; ’

' Gex. Uncer. Capt. Dority, you have stated that your loaded
draft was about 9 or 10 feet forward and 15 or 16 feet aft?

‘A. If my memory serves me right, General ;. yes.

Q. Yes; that is the record. ading your passengers over this
one gangway, distributing them as they come aboard the boat,
Captain, would that affect her trim, would she go down bodily or
would she go down aft a little bit better than she would go down

|

forward?—A. I would say that she would go down bodily.

Q. She would go down bodily?—A. The way that passengers
usually distribute themselves. nE

Q. Now, Captain, can you remember approximately the height
of that gangway when your ship was loaded; that is, the height
above the water line when the ship was loaded?—A. The free board?

Q. The free board of the gangway?—A. I remember; all of her
gangways were very close to the water line.

Q. What distance would you mean by that, Captain?—A. T would
say from 6 inches to a foot for the two after gangways.

Q. Six inches to a foot?—A. Yes, sir. . -

Q. Now, Captain, will you tell me if you remkmber the height
of the lower deadlights above the water’s edges?—A. I don’t re-
member. To the best of my recollection the deadlights were forward.
If I remember right, there were no deadlights aft. They were for-
ward of the boilers, I think. I don’t think the Eustland had any

- deadlights aft. I should think three or four feet—three possibly.

These deadlights that you refer to, Captain, are in the hull of the
vessel and not above the main deck. -

Q. Exactly so; I mean in the hull of the vessel below the main
deck?—A. Yes, sir. I

Q. Do you remember the size of them, Captain?—A. T think about
8 inches. o

Q. And were they generally operated by any one who wanted to
use them, whether to open or close them?—A. T presume they were.

Q. Captain, I have one question to ask and that will be aﬁ from
me at the present time. Suppose there was no law on the statute
/
/

' always consulted with regar
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' uppose there were no rules or regulations governing the in-
:g:ckt%’ogspgf steam vessels, if you were master _o% & vessel whose
capacity is 2,500 passengers, whose safe capacity was known to

ourself as the master of your vessel, in the absence of any law, in

the absence of any rules or reiulations, what would be your pro- .

dure in proceeding to sea with that with that load of pas-
:n;;rs, W(I))uld you t%zke it upon youmelf:stsl?}a responsibility of going
to sea with her if she had too many (gassengers in your estimation
or would you remain alongside of the dock?—A. Well, if in my esti-
mation she was overloaded I would remain alongside of the dock.

Gen. Unrer., That is all. . ‘

Secretary Reprrerp. Any further questions? - )

Mr. Corrins. I would like to ask you, Captain, who was in actual
charge of the ballast tanks when you sailed the Eastland; that is,
in regard to putting in the water, I do not mean the actual opera-
tion of putting the water in, but who had the say in regard to when

would go in? ‘ .
wgﬁer. Nack, the chief engineer of the vessel, was the man that I
: %ng the water ll)!allast. - "th . -
Q. Did he ever put any water in the ballast tank without your
ins%ruéﬁbns?mA. f)presume he has, but ‘'we had a thorough under-
ding about it. ,
Stig. lInfg}f(t;ii(')did not have anyy water in the tank would the speed of
the boat be imcreased $—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. How much?—A. I presume a half mile or so an hour. ‘

Q. On this occasion that you refer to, when the boat listed over -
at South Haven, how long dia she lay over?—/A. I think about a
half hour. : . « _

Q. About a half hour?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And what means did you take to straighten her up #—A. Water
ballast. , S

aQ. Did the tanks, when you sailed her, at all times respond to .
her?—A. Yes, sir. ‘ g : o

" Q. You said that you always kept the tanks full; that is, No.
8%—A. Yes, sir. o

Q. Would the filling of those additional tanks, Nos, 1, 2, 4, and 5,
would that add stubi%ity to the boat!—A. No, sir; the stern tank
did not have any effect on the stability of the boat, but 3, 4, and 5

ssibly would. i ’ . )
poQ. Ig your previous testimony you mentioned, I believe, ,leavu;g
this port several times with 3,300 persons aboard. What dock di

ou take them aboard from?—A. The north end of Rush Street

ridge. No, pardon me; Wells Street dock at that time, in 1904;

that 1s right across from the old Northwestern depot.

Q. At the time you sailed the Fastland did you take any special
precautions for the distribution of the passengers as they came
aboard %—A. No, sir; I might mention at that time the passengers
were allowed all over the vessel, everywhere,

Q. Are all of what we term crank boats good sea boats?—A. From
my observation, yes. ' .

Q. By good sea boats what do you mean? As a sailing man takes
it—A. Well, as an illustration, I think for the four years that I
ran her we never shifted our course on account of bad weather, and
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it is a common thing ; other ships always have to hold up and changs
their courses; that is other ships that I have been master-of.
Q. When go‘u were master of the Fastland did you take any pre-
- cautions with deck lights below the main deck?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. What precautions did you take?—A. The engineer and I gave
it our personal supervision. ’
Q. As to'what?—A. With a crowd of passengers on, to see that
the dead lights were always closed not only below the main deck but

on the main deck.
. Q. Did the Eastlind ever list to any great extent to put these dead
lights on the water level —A. No, sir. '

Q. When you had a full load of passengers and No. 3 tank full of

* water would she bear up amidships?—A. I could not say as to that;
I would estimate it perhaps 12 feet 6 inches or 13 feet.

Q. On receiving the increased number of passengers that you got
by the system and affidavit was it customary for the inspectors to
come aboard later and check up this equipment and examine itf—
A, Always.

Q. Have you as agent of the owners ever through any undue in-
fluence tried to have the inspectors increase your passenger allow-
ance?—A. No, sir. ’

Q. Did you eyer bear of any master doing it?—A. No, sir.

Mr. Vax Parren. Capt. Dority, are those trimming tanks that
you spoke about, what we call side tanks, above the decﬁ of the ship
or are they below? ‘

A. Below. ; ’

Q. You said you never had to keep off or keep by any cours
across the lake.—A. I don’t remember having to do that.

Q. And she was all right?—A. Yes, sir. '

Q. No roll to her? -A. No, sir.

Q. Like a schooner?—A. Yes, sir.

* Q. Were you ever in any other boat that you could do that with?— ‘

A. T do not think T was ever in as good a sea boat as the Eastland,
what sailors consider o sea vessel.

Q. Now, while you were in command of the Fastland did you
ever land at the dock west of the Clark Street Bridge and on the
gouth” side of the river?—A. Yes, sir—pardon me, no, sir; Clark
Street Bridge you said?

Q. Yes—A. No, sir.

Q. Are you familiar with most docks along the river down in the
down-town district of Chicago?—A. I think so.

Q. T think you are as well as I am, muybe better. A great many
of these docks are old, are they not?—A. Yes, sir.

_ Q. Ships navigating the river did not need over 15 feett—A. Yes,
sir.

Q. Is that right?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you know whether the docks years ago in this harbor wera
faced with short filling?—A. T understand that is the fact.
Q. Is dredging done close to these docks?—A. No, sir.
_Q. Do you know of any rock ledges in Chicago Harbor?—A. No,
sir. ,
Q. Do you remember of a rocky shoal in the harbor between 17
and 18 feet, the water on it—1I think this was about 15 years agoi—
A. The Chicago River? ,

1
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. Yes—A. T don’t recollect it. ) .

. About the harbor?—A. I don’t recollect it; no, sir.
. Never saw boats aground -—A. No, gir. - o

. Suppose there was a shoal there, Cagtam, would the direction
force of the wind have any effect on that shoal?—A. I think so.
. %‘on’t- ou know it%—A. Yes, sir; I know it. )
Q. Now, frthink, T am %fttin out of your latitude here; you did
not fumber barge very much, did you#—A. Never in my life.

Q. I wanted to knéw if you ever knew of a rocky shoal west of the
Thirty-fifth Street Bridge?—A. No, sir. i

Q. On the south fork of the river#—A. No, sir. o

Mr. Van Parren. I wanted to find out whether there was any rock
around there, that is all. ' ) o

Mr. Bissor. You always had your water ballast in, especially if it
was a day that was overcast? _ N
. A. That would not make any difference—a di:iv_ that was overcast.

Q. If it looked like a storm?—A. That woul not make any dif-
ference. o - -

Q. You did have your ballast on#—A. When we had over a thou-
gand people we figured on having the water ballast.

Q. I)Y’ou considered her a seaworthy boat when she had over a
thousand people on and had her water ballast oni—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You would not have been wiling to have considered her sea-
worthy and to have, taken your chances without .her water ballast on
with 2,500 people aboard, would you?—A. No, sir. . .

Lieut. Gov. O’Hara. Mr. Secretary, the evening before this board

OO0

2.0

an

o

“of inquilg coramenced its labors I addressed a letter to the distin-
ec

guished Secretary of Commerce, suggesting that there be named as
» member of the unofficial citizens' board of inquiry a representative
of that group of our citizens who toil, who are known as con-
gtituting the laboring class, and from which group came most of
the victims of the ﬁe lorable Kastland disaster. The Secretary
promptly acknowledgmf the receipt of my letter, thanked me for the
suggestion, and requested that I act as a member of the unofficial
board named by him and as especially representing the group men-
tioned in my letter. I suggested to the Secretary that it would be
better were he to name some one officially connected with the laboring.

* oroup. and in this connection I suggested the names of John Walker,
'g:'esi%ent of the State Federation of Labor; John Fitzpatrick, presi-

ent of the Chicago Federation of Labor; Simon O’Donnell; Con-
gressman_Buchanan; Clarence Darrow; and possibly one or two
others. The Secretary sulggested that T see him in person on the fol-
lowing morning, which I did, and he then urged me to accept the
appointment, as he did not believe it advisable for any member of the
citizens’ committee to be strongly allied or to have especial interest
in any one group of citizens, whether that group be a laboring or an
employing one. I accepted the appointment an gerved on the board
during the first:day of the inquiry. . )

The second day of the inquiry it was necessary for me, then acting
as governor of the State, to attend the ¢hmp of the State militia at
Camp Dunne near the city of Dixon, and in order that my absence
might not be misunderstood or misinterpreted, I named with the
consent of the Secretary a substitute who attended the full session
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of\thét day. I desire to continue as a member of the board of in-

uiry, but in justification of my position I respectfully suggest to ths =

retary that the meet;i.n%l of the board named by him be called for
Monday morning and at that meeting there be considered the advis-
bility of adopting a regular procedure, and also the advisability of
widening the scope of the inquiry to cover a complete, exhaustive,

and thorough investigation of the system of Federal steamboat

inspection during the last 15 years. I am not now in a position to

say that this board has any authority to conduct such an investiga- .,

tion, nor do I know that the Secretary of Commerce has authority
- to order such an investigation, but I do believe that the matter
ghould be discussed and considered by the members of the beard
named by the Secretary at a meeting to be called not later than next
Monday morning before the next witness is called in this inquiry. I
now sugge% that our citizens should refrain from criticizing this
board or the Secretary of Commerce until a decision has been
reached in this regard or until the inquiry has been completed.

- Until the disastrous Iroquois fire in Chicago, our citizens had not
been aroused to a public opinion demanding adequate fire protection.
That disaster started investigations with the result that there have
been few losses of life through theater fires since that time. The
investigation subsequent to-the Iroquois disaster resulted in a gen-
eral -change in theater construction. It is possible that the highest
.monument. to the memory of the lives of those who perished in the
Eastland will take the form of revised laws guggnstc&m by this board
of inquiry, if its scope be broadened and adopted by next Congress,
change and reform the system of Federal steamboat inspection.

- X desire to say in order that there may be no misunderstanding on

- ‘the part of any one¢, that this position taken by me is not in the-

.- slightest degree a reflection upon the Secretary of Commerce or upon
any member of his department down to the person holding the most
minor position, nor do I believe that an inquiry such as that sug-
ted by me, should be considered by any one as reflecting upon
, e gentleman named.. .
.- In conclysion, because of the cspecial reason of my appointment to
an unofficia] place on this board, I respectfully suggest that the
meeting of the board on Monday next, if called, also consider the
“advisability of calling as witnesses before the board of inquiry any
and all officials connected with organized seamen as well as any and
all officials connected with the organized employing interests on the
Lakes, as well as any and all other citizens who may have sugges-
tions and who may desire to be heard. In short, I suggest and I be-
lieve that I am speaking the sentiment of the Secretary of Com-
merce, as I am sure I am speaking the sentiment of Mr. Pool and
gflrhaps other members of the board, that this inq\eiry be not con-
ed to fixing any blame or responsibility for the Zwustland disaster
but be _enlar%ed to give every citizen an opportunity to make any
i:lg]'{gestlonst at may prove ol benefit to the steamboat service of the
akes. - .
Mr. TaurMan. Gov. O’Hara, I have just got the gist of the last
few remarks you have made and I gather from them that it amounts
to a request that this investigation, made under the statute and the
only authority under which it can possibly be made, and for the
purpose of investigating the conduct of the licensed officers of the

i
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Steamboat-Inspection Service and the licensed officers of that steamer
in connection with this disagter, be broadened: out to a general in-
gpection of the general conditions of the United States Steamboat-
Insp;action Service throughout the United States. Am Y correct on
that o ‘ :
Lieut. Gov. O’Hara. With the exception, Mr. Solicitor, that I

. would E'zFeak memliof steamshg) servicg on the Lakes.
Mr. Traurman. Lieutenant Go

vernor, I will say to you very
frankly, that what you ask in this investigation can not sir, under the
gtatute, be granted. We are here for the purpose of conducting an

" investigation, for the purpose set forth in the statute and limited to

the confines of that statute. I will, however, go farther with you and
gay sir, and I spy it with the authority and with the consent of the
honorable Secretary of Commerce, that if any head of any labor or-

nization, if any citizen of Chicago, if any citizen of the United
gntates has charges of any sort or description against any acts of any
of the officials of the Steamboat-Inspection Service, or against the
Steamboat-Inspection Service as a general service, if you or they will
present those charges to the Department of Commerce in proper

_ shape and proper form, we will afford you the fullest, the completest,

and the most thorough examination of that service from beginning to
end, from the Secretary of Commerce down to the lowest deputy
inspector that you may require. Tt can not be done, sir, at this hear-
ing, because we are limited hy the statute; but it can be done, a sepa-
rate investigation under the general autimrity of the Secretary of
Commerce, and we are very willing and very glad to give it to you
gir.

The Secrerary. I am in the most entire accord with. Lieut. Gov.
O’Harp. It wasmy purpose in coming here to stay as long and to do
as much as would disclose, in every crack and cranny of the Steam-
boat-Inspection Service the infinite and final truth. T am more than
ready and willing. now that that shall be done. It has always been
s0. No one who knows me can say with truth that there has ever
been the faintest suspicion of concealment anywhere; my life for
30 years, I reckon, as a public officer of the city and of the Nation,
should have protected me against the prejudgment of those whe
asked no questions, who accuse of wrong. I am advised by the legal
adviser, whom it is my duty under the law to follow, that there is no
power in law to extend this particular hearing beyond the scope that

the law provides; that to do so would be a breach of law and that

money spent in so doing must be individually and personally paid by
T have gone to the verge of stretching the law already in askin

hither the gentlemen who are here. Never before in the history, %
think, of this country, was it the case that an inquiry into any officer
of the Steamboat-Tnspection Service, was atten((lled by officers of the
State, of the city, and of the county, with the doors thrown wide
open to them all, and yet T know you gentlemen of the press in
Yarticul&r know what has been the result. I Eive to Gov. O’Hara,

give to you gentlemen, I give to the press of this city and of the
Nation, my personal assurance that if charges are presented by any
man, the humblést to the highest, they shall have, as they have always
had, the most searching public and complete inquiry, through such
length of time and at such cost of labor as is necrssary to satisfy
every man. No such charges have ever been presented; they have
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been asked for, but thus far they are w’antihg. But I have the rlgh‘ '
a

X 1 held publicly up to
scorn a8 a wrongdoer, until he has liad a chance to be heard f(y;r him.

to say that no man shall be accused, least o

self, and I refuse to condemn any man here, yonder or anywh

until he has had his day to be heard, and I ha,vay a right to asi o
the common honor of this great city, that if you must abuse me for
any personal or public reason, in God’s name spare the men whom it

is my duty to give a‘square deal to. Take not from them without

just cause; take from no man without just cause the merit and honor

. of a good name. If he has done wrong let us join in condemning

" him, but not until we know. Gov. O’Hara, say to anyone, to Ppresent

to me informally by mail at Washington, any request for an investi.

- gation, make its scope what Kou will, suggest the taking part therein
of whom you desire, and it shall be done. .

The hearing is adjourned until Monday morning at 10 o’clock,
and the meeting that Gov. O’Hara has requested will be held in, the
adjoining room at 9 o’clock on Monday morning, and all who have
taken part as questioners in-this inquiry are invited to be present.

Mr. Bismor.-As an official f this State, Mr. Secretary, and the
county, atbemptm% to preserve the interests of the survivors of the
deceased persons, I came to.this hearing, not expecting to participate

_or ask questions. I was.fully aware of the statute and the scape of
. this hearing under the Federal statute. Personally, I want to thank

the Secretary for the extremé courtesy shown me, and of the oppor-’

tunity to avail myself of dbtaining some information here which I
~ think will be valuable in the discharge of my- duties. '
. The Secmerarv. I thiik you very much. The hearing is ad-
journed. ) .

~ (The further heariﬁg is udjourhed't‘o 10 2. m' Monﬂdy, August .

g, 1915.)
o N
Cuicaeo, T, August 2, 1916—10 a. m.

Parties met pursuant to adjournmerit.
Present: Same as before.

©

sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as follows:
Examined by Secretary Reorrern:

Q. Give your full name and address to the stenographer, please.

Mr. TrorMan. You. have not been served with a subpena to ap-
pear before the Federal grand jury, have you? )

The Wirnrss. No, sir. '

A. William L. Nack, 789 Willow Street, Chicago.

Secretary ReorieLp. Mr. Nack, what is your occupation?

A. Chief engineer of the steamer City of South Haven.

Q. What is your age?—A. Forty-one years.

Q. Will you state your experience as an engineer from the time
you began that work?—A. I got my license in 1898, T think it was.

Mr. Corurns. A little louder, Mr. Nack, please.

Secretary ReprieLp. Yes; we want these gentlemen to hear vou.
The room I find a little hard to speak in mvse%f. )

A. The first four or five vears !I) was engineer on the smaller boats,
tug boats. After that for a number of vears I worked on small

Winriam L. Nacx, called as a witness by the board, being first duly

from

.

* ant engineer of a thousand tons, I ¢
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barges, such as board barges, lumber barges, etc. I have served in t,,
the passenger business for 12 years, passenger-boat busjness. :

- Q. Is that your experience’in brief?—A. In brief; yes, sir. ,
Q. On what passenger vessels have you served as engineer i—A. I
have been on the Goodrich boats Indiana, Georgia, Chicago; on the -

steamer Pere Marquette No. 5; on the Eastlend; and I am now

seven years on the steamer City of South Haven. '
Q. f—rlow"long did you serve on the Eastland?—A. Three years, -

‘three seasons. o e

Q. Three yearsf-—A. Three; yes. . .

Q. What license do you hold?—A. Chief engineer of ocean

| gteamers of all kinds.-

Q. What license did you have when O_Ii begant—A. First assist-
it was. .

Q. t was the nexti—A. %‘irst,a.ssistant of all tonnage; first
assistant engineer. . :
" Q. Then what?—A. Chief engineer of 1,000 tons, and another
examination that I failed to obtain a license for unlimited tonnage;
‘in another examination the following year for unlimited tonnage,
for chief engineer of lake steamers, lake steamers and sound steamers,
which I passed. I served on that license for five or six years, and
then I applied for license as chief engineer of ocean steamers and
was examined and got a license.

Q. So how many examinations have you passed altogether?—A.
Well, I have passed—Ilet me think a minute—six examinations.

Q. You have passed six examinations?—A. Yes, sir..

Q. In addition to the one which I understood you to say you did

not pass, and which you took again?—A. That is added to it; yes,
- gir : ’
Q. And you have held four different kinds of licenses?—A. Yes;

four different kinds.

Q. In giving your testimony respecting your experience with the
steamer E’laathnd I will ask on behalf og t{e board of inquiry that

‘you kindly keep in mind our desire to learn not only the facts which

exist fully and clearly, but also such facts as your experience shows
to exist as may guide the board in its purpose to offer suggestions
as to changes-in the law or practice which may prevent a recurrence
of this deplorable accident we are now considering. How did you
obtain your employment on the Eastlond, Mr. Nack?—A. When I

first went on the Eastland 1 was first assistant chief engineér. I

was hired by the chief engineer of the boat. B

Q. Who was he?—A. William P. Eels. :

Q. And how did you:become chief engineer?—A. Mr. Eels se-
cured a better position, and I was promoted into his position through
the management of the steamboat- line.

Q. How long had you been on the vessel at that time?—A. Two
seasons as assistant engineer.

Q. You ran her as chief engineer how long?—A. One season. >

Q. One season?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. During that time had you occasion—I mean during the three
years—had you occasion to note that the vessel listed%—A. Yes, sir;
one time. ‘

Q. I beg your pardon.—A. One particular day I did; she listed
on us,
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Q. When and where was that?—A. South Haven, Mich. ,
Q. What did you do at that time?—A. Well, the water was shal-
“low in South Haven, and we could not put in our water ballast in
the boat, and we waited until we got out in the lake where the
water was deep enough to allow us the required draft when the

" water was in, and we put the water in out in the lake; but the boat. .

careened before we got clear outside where it was deep. We filled

‘tl.leh:a:lks with ballast, and it straightened her up, and she went
ng ong. : '

Q. How much difference in her draft did filling the tanks malke ?%—

A, Filling the entire boat with water, it would make about 2 feet

of difference, I should say.

Q. How much did she draw full?—A. Between 15 and 16 feet.

Q. Do you know what load was on board the vessel at the time

she careened; and if so, what was it?%—A. She had a full load, and

we were allowed 3,000 people, I think. I do not remember whether
it ‘was three thousand or thirt{-three hundred; I could not say;
but we were loaded with a full load—to our capacity. .
* Q. How.long did it take you to straighten her up?—A. About a
half hour. : ‘ _— B :

Q. Please tell the board as clearly as you can what the system of

ballast was or how it was in your own way, and I want these gen-

tlemen all to hear. - -

Gen. UnLER. S@eak‘ wpf)vloud, please. o

The Wrrivess. ‘The Ballagt is admitted to the boat tanks through
a manifold, and it is let into the manifold from the sea through a

valve sufficiently la,r%e’ to supply the entire manifold and open all

the valves and fill all the tanks at once if necessary to be done.
© Gen. Unier. Now, Mr. Nack, I want you to explain fully what a
manifold is.

A. Well, a manifold is the recéiver with an attachment of a
number of valves or outlets and inlets. This receiver is supplied by
or through steam and water, whichever the manifold is used for.

Secretary Repriewp. In this case water? '

A. In this case water; yes. And from this manifold the different
outlets lead to different departments, to different tanks, or different
lines of pipe, wherever it happens to be, wherever needed, and for
this purpose, for each and every valve that leads away from the
manifold is a valve, and you shut it off or ogen it up, and in that
way we distribute the water from the manifold to é’iﬁerent tanks
in the boat. _

Q. How many tanks were there?—A. There were five in length,
but they were divided off in the middle, so that consequently there
were 10 imdividual tanks.
© - (. And how many separate inlets?—A. Ten separate inlets.
Q. And were there therefore 10 separate valves?—A. Ten sepa-
rate valves. - '

Q. The manifold connects with the water .outside the hull by a
‘sea cock?—A. Sea valves; yes, sir.

Q. Or sea valve?—A. Yes, sir. :

Q. And was opened from the outside?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. By turning the valve or revolving the valve?—A. Yes.
Q. Tn other words, it was a screw valve?—A. Yes, sir.
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:n order to fill the entire system of tanks, how many
va%esN ?1:(’1 lt% be operated?—A. If you wanted to fill the entire
stem all at the same time, you would have to operate 10 valves.
Q. Is that all?—A. Yes, sir. ) .

Q. Well, wouldn’t you have to open the sea cock also?—A. Oh,

well, that is, coming from the sea, yes; including that, it would
be:11. : : .

“Eleven, including that?—A. Yes, sir. .
g 8 N:W, how were %hese valves located #—A. Well, the manifold
was a square box and they were located in this manifold on the top
end of it so as to have quick admittance to them.

Do T understand you to mean that the 10 valves were on top
¢ manifold?—A. Yes, sir. ‘ )

Of(gl So placed that they were all near together?—A. Yes, sir; they
were witllzin 10 feet from one end of them to the other; I should
think about that; 10 or 12 feet was the most.

Q.~And in line with one another ?—A. Yes, sir. | A
- Q. Now, the pipes connecting these manifolds with each of the 10

" geparate tanks were necessarily-—were they or were they not, I will
say—of different lengths?—A. Yes, sir.

 What was their size?—A. I think they were 6-inch pipes.
8. How long’ was the longest one?—A. Well, the longest one
would have to go to the front of the boat, to No. 1 tank; that
would be about 150 feet long, I should jud

Q. And how short was the shortest one%—(i.-A. It was immediately

under the manifold and it would not have to be over 3 or 4 feet long;
be 6 feet. )
mlg. How did you handle that valve system when you used it?—A.
Well, the first thing, we would usually see to opening the sea coek and
admit the water to the manifold, then it was accessible to any
valve in that manifold, and then we would open whichever valve
we wanted to use—to whichever tank we wanted to use—we would
open that particular valve and let the water run through ‘that valve

and into the tank.

. Q. State what you did, as clearly as you can, when the vessel

_ careened that time as to filling the tanks, giving us the order in

which vou worked?—A. Well, we opened two tanks at the same
time. No. 5 and No. 4; No. 4 is immediately after the engine and
No. 5 is the next tank aft to the engine; we opened them four valves
and let the water run in. . . |

Q. When you say No. 4, you mean the pair of tanks which to-
gether make No. 4; is that right—A. Yes, sir. )

Q. And when you say No. 5, do I understand you to mean the pair
of tanks which together make No. 53—A. Yes, sir.

o NWQ Se am T right in su‘l)posing you to mean that when you opened
: No.

4 you opened the full width of the vessel?—A. Well, ves; we

did ; they are divided in half; starboard and. port. i}

Q. Excuse my interruption; do I understand you opened No. 4
first?—A. Yes, sir. " '

Q. Then No. 5?—A. Yes, sir. P

Q. Go on—A. Gradually, as the water ran in the flat tahks, the
boat straightened right up. o

Q. Did you fill more than these two?—A. No, sir; no ‘more than
these two; four, in fact.
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Q. Yes; two pairst—A. Yes, sir.

Q. But you say she straightened right up when these were filled{—

es, sir. .
Q. Did you fill any of the tankg<partly ?—A. No, sir.

Q. Why not?—A. Well, we might have to put the boat down by |

the stern to draw the most of the water aft; that is the reason we did
not. put any water anywhere else.
Q: Did you ever use the tanks partly filled?—A. Why, at differ-
ent times we did ; yes; when we didn’t have a full load of people on.
"~ Q. Understand me correctly. I do not mean did you ever use
" part of the tanks.—A. Yes; I understand what
Q. I mean did you ever use any tank half filled ?—A. Oh, yes; we
have used it half filled. ‘
Q. In rough water?—A. No, sir.
Q. When the vessel was listing?—A. No, sir. :
. Q. Why did you use the tanks half filled and under what circum-
stances?—A. Well, we had a system on that boat that we studied out,

and found that by filling a certain tank, which was No. 3 tank, right

under the boilers, that would be sufficient water to ballast that boat
up with any amount of people on her, and filled No. 8 tank full, so
she was not in a condition for the water to slush around in there
in case that she should roll; and now, after we got out, if she should
- have a little list one side or the other we would use No. 4 tank just

to straighten her up, and she would run that way continually. If

- the people shifted from one side to the other, we adjusted our tank; -

therefore we kept her perfectly straight all the time, using No. 3
tank as a ballast tank and No. 4 as a trimming tank.

Q. And No. 4 partly filled%—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why did you try to avoid the water slushing around, as you
have described it, in No. 3%—A. Well, the way we figured that, if
ym: had a tank half full it would be as bad as if you'didn’t have any
water.

Q. Why?—A. Because the water would go in the same direction

. ag the boat would list. .
. Q. What would that do?—A. ¥ would hold her down on that
" gide until you straightened her in some way to get her to go on the
other side.

Q. What is the effect of water in a tank partly filled running down

to one side? You spoke of it holding down that side; just what do
ou mean —A. Well, the water running to one side in the tank that
is mot filled will list the boat.

Q. Why?—A. There would not be anything to stop that boat
from going over or to stop the water from going over to the extreme
side of the ship. !

Q. And what effect would that have?—A. She would list.

Q. From what cause?—A. From the water not being properly -

distributed and nothing there to keep it from running.
Q. Isit the weight of water that causes that trouble?—A. Yes, sit.
1@. Anything else?—A. No, sir; I don't think there is anything
else. C
Q. How much water would be in No. 3 tank if she were partly
filled? I beg your pardon; I mean half filled.—A. Well, if she holds
about 250 tons of water full, it would be half of that.

ou mean. C
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Q. Well, ¥if with half of that, 125 tons, she listed and the water

. ran to one side, what in your judgment would follow ¥—A. She would

ist to that side.
hs&t And, again, why %—A. The weight of the water would be on one
side of it. )

Q. Anything else?—A. No,sir. .

Q. How far would that water have to go to get over to the side?—
A. Have to go about 20 feet, almost 20 feet, anyway. =

Q. Was there any other factor there other than the weight itself #-—
A. No, sir.' , ‘

Q. Do you know what drives a water wheel ?--A. Oh, yes. )

Q. What?—A. A water wheel is driven by water; the water 1s
what drives it. )

Q. Yes; I am not trying to catch you; what I want to get, if you -
know as an engineer, I want to get the elements that were present
here in this matter; I am not trying to entrap you at all. Of course,
the water wheel is driven by water; but what is it inethe water that
drives the wheel; is it the weight of the water?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And is it anything else?—A. Well, it is momentum and weight.

Q. Precisely. Now, in a tank half full of water, containing 125

‘tons, if it slushes around, as you have described it, is it or is 1t not

a fact that there is present weight as well as momentum $—A. Weight
and momentum ; yes, sir. .

Q. And is th;ymémentum a factor in force?—A. Yes, sir; abso-
lutely.

Q.yExactly; that is what I wanted to get at._ o

Gen. Unrer. What is the size of your main ballast Kingston on
the Eastlond? :

A. The main ballast tank? .

Q. No; the main ballast Kingston or sea cock.—A. I should judge
about 10 inches. ) .

Q. Ten inches?—A. I should judge that; yes, sir.

Q. And with a pipe of sufficient area to supply it*—A. To supply
the manifold. S :

Q. And what were the sizes of the valves on the manifold ¢—A.
Six inch. )

Q. Six-inch valves?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And what were they *—A. They were brass. )

Q. No; I mean the pipe—A. The pipes were steel pipes.

Q. How long would it take you, Mr. Nack, to fill No. 3?—A. Tt
takes close to half an hour to fill No. 3 tank; say, 25 minutes, along
there somewhere.

Q. And No. 4?—A. Well, No. £ would not take over 10 or 12
minutes. & ,

Q. Not over 10 or 12 minutes?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. I understood you to say that you used No. 3 for ballast and
No. 4——A. For trimming. o

Q. And 5 for trimming; is that correct?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. So that unless it was necessary to trim your vessel you would
not use anything but No. 8 tank. Am I correct in that?—A. That
is it.

Q. And the capacity of No. 3 tank was what?—A. Approxi--
mately, I figured it out, it was 250 tons—250 tons of water.

22350—16——14
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Q. And were the’Bgllast tanks emptied every night?—A. After
the people were uff. o
. Q. Exactly; that is Yhat I mean.—A. Well, we filled the tanks

every time—we filled them every mormng—before we left any pas-

' sengers on that boat at all.
' . That is what I want to get at. —A. We filled No. 3 tank, and
if we needed to trim her we used No. 4 as a trim tank.

Mr. AckersoN. Mr. Nack, was it customary for you to fill your
tanks in the morning before you took passengers wherever it wag
practicable to do so?

A. Yes, sir. :

Q. If you were alongside of a dock in which thexe was not suffi-
cient water to take both your tanks filled with water and your pas-
sengers aboard, what did you do?—A. T did not get thafr

Secretary Reorrero. Read the question.

{Question read by the reporter as follows:)

If you were ulongslde of & dock in which there was not sufficient water to
take both your tanks hlled with water and your passengers aboard, what did
you do?

A. Well, we have had that experlence, too; we found that the
first time that boat careened on us that was why, and we didn’t care
whether there was any water therée or not afterwards; we filled our
tanks anyway, and we pushed our boat with her power over the
bank; Wherever there was shallow water we loaded her right down
on the mud.

Q. Did you do that at Scuth Haven?—A. Yes, sir; we did it
after that, after we had that ﬁrat trouble.

Secretary Reprierp. When you say you did not care whether there
was water there or not, you mean sufficient_water to float the vessel?

« A, Yes, sir.

Q. You did not care whether there was sufficient water to float
the vessel or not?—A. Yes, sir.

Mr. AckersoN. Why did you let the water out at night?

A. We did not want to keep it in; it was not necessary; and we
would start removing the water as the people would be going off—
that- is, take the water out of the opposite side w hen they were
going off.

Q. It cost you coal to take that water out, didn’t it?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why did you take: it out at night and put it in in the morn-
~ ing?—A. Well, we didn’t want to operate that boat without ballast,

Q. Why take it out at all Q—-—A Well, sometimes it is not necessary
to ballast the boat.

Q. If you go alongside of a-dock in the afterncon and you are
"going to take passengers the next morning, why ahmxl(l you take the
water out at night?—A. Well, we made it a rule; there is not any
reason why we could not leave it in; we just made it a rule to pump
it out.

Secretary Reorierp, I understood you to say that the taking out
of the ballast listed the vessel perhaps 2 feet; is that it?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was it easier to land the passengers, or did it have any effect
upon landing the passengers?—A. Wcll from the captain’s view-
point it did; %o raise it would give the gangplank a straighter lead;

o
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she would not be so far down; that was nothing of my affairs, but I
pumped them tanks each mﬂht just because I wanted the water out

" of her after the people were “off.

Q. Did you do that on the captain’s orders?—A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Acxersox. Do you know whether the propeller on the East-
land is below the line of the keel ?

A. Well, the blades must be, I think.

'Q. The blades must.be?—A. T think they are; yes, sir.

Q. Did you have difficulty in going out of the Chlcugo Rlver if
you were on the bottom?—A. No, sir; not a bit. It was only possible
our propeller would strike the mud, but that would not harm it any;
we deve10£ed the same power on that propeller even if it was dragged
through this mud.

Q. What difference in the speed of the FKastland does it make
whether her ballast tanks are full or empty?%—A. Well, I never
found that out accurately, but thut made some difference.

Q. About how much ?—A. T could not tell you that anywhele near
a half mile or a mile; T could not get close enough to it; but you
know she went a little bit faster without her water than she did with
water.

Q. Possibly three-quarters of a mile or so?—A. Well, you can say

that

¥Vhat speed could you make between here and South Haven ?—
A. Well our average speed throughout the scason was about 20 miles
an hour.

Q. You were on the vessel when she suied between here and- South
Haven?—A. On the Zastland?

Q. Yes.—A. Yes.

Q. And what time would it leave here?—A. 9.30.

Q. 9.30%—A. Yes, sir :

Q What time Would you be back here?—A Well, I think it w as up
about 9.30 in the evening whern we got in; 12 hours,

Q. You did not make two trips a day 1A, No, sir; one trip.

Gen. Unrer. Mr, Nack, do you remember what the average revolu-
tions of your engines were?

A. When we were able to hold our steam at 200 pounds, which we
were allowed, it would turn about 140 or 145 revolntions a minute.

Q. About 14:0 or 145 revolutions a minute?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the diameter was “ Imt7—A 11 feet or 10 foet by 8.

Q. With how much pitch?

Q. And with that you say she would average practically 20 miles
an hour?—A. Yes, sir; if the turns made 140 or 145. Now, then,
that all depended upon whether our steam was always up or not; but
up through the season I remember one time we averaged close to 20
miles throughout the scason.

Q. ITow much coal would she eauv, Mr., Nack?
she wonld carry about 160 tons, I should judge.

Q. In wing or athwartship bunkers?—A. Athwart bunkers, and
wing bunkers, too.

Q Now, d:d you use the coal out of the three bunkers, Mr. Nack,
or did you use the wing bunkers first or the athwartship bunkers.—A.
We used the athwartship bunkers first.

Q. Cleared your athwartship bunkers first?—A. Yes; that wonld
take her acress the lake; we used the side bunkers mmmo" back, and

—X\. Well, now,
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that would just about stop her when we got back here, so it wag
never necessary to shovel the coal out of the bunkers. ’
A Qﬁ It was never necessary. for the coal passers to shovel the coalt—

. No, sir. :

Q. How much did the bunkers hold ?-—A. About 60 tons each.

Q. About 20 in the wing and about 40 in the athwartship bunk.
ers?—A. Yes, sir. - o :

Q. Did you ever.have occasion during your experience on the
Eagtland, to use either one of the wing bunkers to the exclusion of
the others?—A. No, sir; never. .

Q. Have you ever had occasion to notice what the use of a wing
bunker—what effect would that have on the ship? What I mean is,
either one of the wing bunkers you would use, you never had either
one or the other empty; you always used them both%—A. Yes, sir.

Q. So you have no knowledge of the effect of clearing one bunker,
what effect it would have on the ship?—A. Nobody ever does that;
when we coal her up she is about balanced on either side.

Q. Exactly.—A. And it is kept balanced by using the coal from

- one side and the other.

Q. I know that myself, but I had an object in asking you.

My. Nack. Suppose it were necessary or desirable to use one of
your wing bunkers and leave the other bunker intact, what effect i
listing would that have on her—just approximately ?—A. Well, she
would have considerable of a list; she would list a good deal, but I
could not approximately estimate how much.

Gen. Unrer. That js all.

Mr. Poor. I would like to ask Mr. Nack two or three questions.

I have to leave in a few moments, and there is two or three things I

would like to inquire about. :

Q. I understood you to say there were 10 valves from the mani.
fold to the tanks, and the sea valve from the water to the mani.
fold?—A: Yes, sir. )

. Q. What was the size of the sea valve?’—A. I think it was 10
inches.

Gen. Unrrr. He testified-it was 10 inches. _

Mr. Poor. What was the size of the other valves?

A. Six inches. . '

Q. Are they the same, without regard to the size of the tanks?—A.
Yes, sir. : ’

Q. In other words, they are just the same o%tjm- large No. 3 as on
the other tanks?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. Is that good practice?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you consider it good practice?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do I understand you that when No. 3 tank was half full. of
water that it was sufficient to carry. 3,000 passengers?—A. T never
said any such thing; I said we would have her full all the time, when
we carried a load of people.

Q. No. 3 had to be full all the time in order to carry the 8,000
passengers?—A. Yes, sir; we used it. - ’ “

. Q. In trimming the vessel, did you malke the trim of your own
initiative?—A. Well, it was necessary on that particular boat to get
together, the captain and the engineer, and figure out and decide
- upon a certain way of handling the people and do this trimming, so

{ ‘
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the captain would come down and we would talk it over, and we
finally decided that the No. 3 tank was the tank to fill and keep it
filled. .

Q. Well, supposing No. 3 tank was half full or empty, you were at
the dock and you saw that your boat began to list, would you of your
own initiative begin to fill No. 3 tank?—A. Yes.

Q. You would not wait—or would you wait for orders from the .
captain—A. I would not wait for any orders, because that was
established, how they are to handle that in case it had any kind of
a list. .

Q. That is an arrangement that is optional with the captain and
the engineer %—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. Ts that a good practice, Mr. Nack?—A. We made that arrange-
ment; we were on that boat together. I don’t know what other
people did ; some people might have a different ruling.

Q. You possibly made that arrangement because of the difficulty
you had had with the boat?—A. Yes, sir. , ‘

Q. You have been on other boats, Mr. Nack?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. Did you have the same understanding with the captains of
other boats with reference to trimming her when occasion seemed

- pecessary &—A. Well, on boats that I have been on that had ballast

tanks, they were not passenger boats, and it was practically then up
to the captain to give orders according to the ballast he wanted to

‘ carry.

Q. Would you as an engineer consider it necessary if you saw your
boat listing——A. On what kind of a boat? .

Q. On a water-ballast boat?—A. Passenger boat?

Q. Supposing you had no such arrangement with the captain?

Secretary Repriern. He asked you on a passenger boat.

Mr. Poown. Yes; and in a passenger boat; I am talking about pas-
senger service now altogether. :

A. All right; ask the question over again; I don’t know what you
want. . .

Q. T say, if you were on a passenger boat would you consider it
necessary to have an understanding with the captain before you
trimmed the ship in case of a bad list?—A. Well, 1f I saw the ship
listing I would not probably run up there and ask him; I would not
probably call him up on the tube, or anything; I would fill it up on
my own accord ; undoubtedly so. )

Q. That is the point I wanted to get clear. - On the other hand,
it is right probably for him to instruct you to fill the ballast tanks?—

‘A, Yes, sir; but I would understand the condition of the boat, and I
* would take that upon myself. ‘

Mr. Poor. That is all. I would like to be excused, Mr, Secretary,
if T may.

.Secretary Repriern. Certainly.

Q. Were there baffle plates on this boat ?—A. Yes, sir. _

Q. How were they constructed ?—A. On the Eastland I think they
were fastened to every frame, the deck beam, every tank top cover
fastened to every beam; they had holes dug through them so any
man could go through from one of these rooms, these slush plates,
he could get from one end of the tank to the other, but they had
slush plates on every frame.
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- - Q. How large were the openings in these platesi—A. Oh, I thi
they were about 16 inches in diameter. P ’ thmk
Mr. Ackerson. Did 1you ever have any trouble with the Kingston
valve or the sea valve clogging up in the river?
6. ﬂo, sir. :

- How would you clean it out in case it did clog up%—A. W
that is very easy to'do. If anything gets in frontgof I:,hat /sea-cg}ﬁllé
strainer you can open your valve and close it and the momentum or
the action of the water will shove that away from the strainer, the

natural action of the water shutting it off so quickly, stopping the

inlet, it will naturally float it away from there.

. Q. Are there any steam connections there to blow it out?—A. T
1s not necessary to have them on there.

. 7le glavedt}txsz gott }i;hem?—A. ’_{‘lhey haven’t them on the Kas-
and, they don’t use them on anything only wh i
ot Tt the s usa ¢ yihing only where they have ice to

Q. How did you determine whether your ballast tanks were full ‘

m case you were using them ?—A. Well our ballast tanks, as well as,
we will say, the whole length of the boat, and also on each side
starboard and port, had pipes on'it, we called them vent pipes, the
displacement of the air would come up through the vent pipes; now
when she was full of water there was no more air cominge out of
that pipe and eonsequently it must be full or there would be some

ax_li2 cog.ing out. : :
. Did you sound the tanks?—A. Oh, yes; we did that every ti
we filled them to know they were full. Ve ¢ Hh every time

Q. Somebody was detailed to sound these tanks?—A. Yes, sir:
th(g were reported to us every half hour. Y

During your entire voyage?—A. Yeg, sir; through the entire

voyage; atid we had a blackboard in the engine room where it wag
written on it how much water was in every tank; we always wrote
on it how much there was. ’ .

Q. Who did that?—A. The watchman, T think it was.

Q. Is he in the engineer’s department -—A. No, sir; in the master’s
department. '

Q. It was your practice when you sailed out of € ‘hicago on the

Eastland always to have the ballast tanks filled before the passengers

came aboard ?—A. Yes, sir,
8. gldtylou eﬁ'er attempt it otherwise?—A. Attempt what?
- 10 take the passengers aboard without yvour No. 2 ballast tanl
Bl oA NS g your No. 3 ballast tank

Q.-Have you any idea as to what the probable list of that vessel *

would be had you attempted that?—A., Attempted to go out with-
out it? ) -
Q. Attempted to load your passengers at the dack swithout ti
¢ A @ =el's at - SN 1t the
ballast tanks filled t—A. Well, T don’t know; T conld not state that,
what the probable list would be; I am not capable of saying that
anywhere near correctly. ST
¢ QI und:ritoodﬂ vou tfg'ied it once at Sonth Haven?—A. Oh ves;
i you want to take it from that viewpoint I conld tell vou th:
ub&}ltyhow long she listed. : e o e
- Yes; what would you say in your opinion was the amount that
vessel listed then%—A. Well, T can not come close enouch to ié by
~degrees, that is a sure thing. h :
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- Q. Noj; perhaps 15°%—A. I would not estimate it at all by a

degree. : : o
. It was a good list%—A. It was a fairly good list. :

Gen. UnLer. Ask him on the side of the ship how much list there
was. o

Mr. AcrersoN. You can ask him that.

The Wrrness. I can tell this; the boat listed far enough to take
water in the gangways anyway.

Mr. Ackerson. She did?

A. Yes; but we happened to have the gangways closed ; we always
closed them up before we put any people on to eliminate any possi-
bility of water coming in. :

Q. Now, when you tock passengers aboard at South Haven and
this vessel listed sufficiently” to put your gangways at the water’s
edge, what, in gour opinion, would have happened had the gangways
not been tight #—A. Well, the boat would have filled up with water;
the bogt would have filled up with water. :

Q. In your opinion, could anything have saved it?—A. Not after
it came in; not after she was listed far enough to get in the full side
of that gangway; you could not get near it.

Mr. Ackerson. I have nothing else. o

Gen. Unrer. That is all unless Mr. Collins may have something.

Mr. Corrins. I would like to ask, Mr. Nack, whether the arrange-
ment of your manifold was such that you could pump out of one
gide and fill on the other side at the same time? ,

A. No, sir.

Q. Each one was separate?—A. There was no dividing valve on
her -manifold whatever. ‘

Q. This time you spoke of—when she listed at South Haven—how
many people were on it; do you know?—A. As I said before, I do
not really remeniber; it did not come under the head of my depart-
ment, to know what people we are supposed to carry, or our load
that 1s being carried; but T know we had a full load; but I am not
sure at that time we were allowed 3,000 people—I think that we were,

but I would not state it definitely.

Q. Did she have a full load?—A. We had a full load; yes, sir.

Q. Now, in addition to your water ballast, did this h6at have any
tanks or fresh water for sanitary purposes?—A. Well, the first year
the boat ran she used one of the water-ballast tanks for fresh-water
tanks, but that was eliminated the following season by making some
tanks and putting in on top of the tank top a fresh-water tank: and
the tank which was originally a ballast tank and that was used for
fresh water that season then was used for a ballast tankithe same as
with any of the other tanks.

Q. How Iarge are these tanks?—A. They are not all the same size;
they are different sizes. Oh, you mean the fresh-water tynk?

(). The fresh-water tank you spoke of having put in.
are 6 inches in diameter and they must be 18 or 20 feet long, ah

are four of them; they must hiold in the neighborhood of 4,000 gallong™—

of water.
Q. Were these tanks full all the time while the boat was in port,
or what was the Pmcmce of handling them?—A. Tresh-water tanks?
Q. Yes.—A. Understand me, now, they are not ballast tanks.
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" Q. No; I understand they are fresh-water tanks.—A. We kept
- them pretty solid; we might run short of water and would not have
“~_any water for cooking purposes, etc., and we kept them pretty well
filled ; we would fill them all the way across—pump water info them, -

Q. What was your method of trimming this No. 4 tank that you
spoke of—you said you did your trimming with No. 4 tank; how did
you know when she was listing%—A. We had a pendulum in the
_ middle of the boat, in the engine room, and any time she would move

this pendulum would move with her and tell us just how much of a
list sﬁe had. . 3

Q. Yes—A. And if we had No. 3 tank full of water, wé~would
use No. 4 tank to trim if she listed over; I would run a little water in
starboard or port side. . : : _

Q. How would you operate the valve—would you take soundings
in vour No. 4 tank?—A. Yes; we took soundings right along.

. Did you have youi cover off*—A. I had the cover off of my
own manifold so I could sec how much water was in the tank from
the engine room, and besides that they sounded her every half hour.

Q. In using that water ballast was it your general practice leav-
ing %’licago to have the valve opén?—A. I don’t know just exactly
what you mean.

Q. 1 mean, for instance, you say you would have to open your sea
cock before you put any water into your tanks—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Then, if you wanted to shoot some water into No. 3 tank you
would open the valve to No. 3 tank?—A. Yes, sir.

"sea, cock and the tank or just close uF the tank valve and leave the
sea cock open?—A. Leave the sea cocl open; when T wanted to close

the tank valve I left the sea cock open.

Q. I mean when you were through filling.—A. Oh, then we would

- ¢lose the sea cock. ' .

Q. Close the sea cocks?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. With regard to this boat’s gangways and closing them, were
they in halves or quarters or all one piece, which was it?—A. I
really don’t know whether the passenger gangway was in four
quarters or halves; I think that they were in halves when I was on
there; but what would be the forward gangways were in quarters.

Q. Was this after gingway closed the most of the time while you
were running along on the lake?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Both top and bottom parts?—A. Yes, sir; upper holes and
chalks and everything was closed up at that time.

Q. What kind of an ash ejector has that boat got?—A. It is a
regular ash ejector, the type I could not state, any certain type of it.

Q. You shot it out with the pumps?—A. Shot it out with the dis-
placement of air and water, yes.

Q. How big a pipe was that?—A. Six inch.

Q. Where was it, outside?—A. Qutside, toward the side of the
pumps. :

Q. I mean about where, below the main deck?—A. Tt was below
the main deck. :

Q. Close to the water edge?—A. Well, with the boat loaded with

more than an inch,

Q. When you got through would you close the valve both to the .

people it was very close to the water edge; I don’t think it was any
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Q. Was there any means in the fireroom of closing up the ash gun
so in case she was running in?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. What means was there?—A. Well, every one of these ash guns
has a hopper where you throw the ashes in to displace them.

Q. Yes.—A. Now, that hopper has a cover on it, and it hasa faced
surface, with a gasket and clamp screws, and clamped down tight,
which males it water-tight.

Q. Any siphons going through the side or the outside shafts?— .
A. Yes, sir; there are some siphons going through the side. - 4
Q. Do you know if this boat had siphons in each compartment?—

A. I don’t know, but I think she did have.

Q. In every water bottom?—A. Oh, no; not in any of the water
bottoms. -

Q. That is what I mean.—A. Oh, I think there were si»hons in
different compartments, but not in the water tanks.

Q). None in the water tanks?—A. T think so, but I am not sure
about that. i '

Q. Were any of theydeadlights permanently sealed during the time
you were on that boat, any of the top deadlights?—A. ¥es, sir.
~ Q. They were peramently sealed?—A. Yes, sir; we sealed them

up and ﬁjammed up the threads on the bolts so-they could not take
them off.

Q. And left the glass in the deadlights?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was the object of sealing those.up—what was the occa-
sion of it?-—A. So there would not.be.a chance for anybody to open
them and leave them open and us not know anything agout it.

Q. Had you had any trouble with them at any time?—A. Yes;
they came very close to the water sometimes; and we closed them up
permanently to eliminate a possibility of one of them being left open.

Q. Now, in the event one of these was open or broken or anything
of that kind, and the water should flow in or over your gangways,
where would it flow to?—A. It would go on the main deck first and
then into the engine room and into the fireroom.

Q- Would,it'go into the main deck?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Didn’t you have any deadlights below your main deck?—A.
Yes, sir; there were some; I think 15 on each side. "

Q. Th'osb(:) are th(;:. ?}rlles I r}zlafer to. II(;TOW, in the event of the water
coming into any of those where would it go to?—A. Ri i
th?2 bolttomhof the boat. g Right dovn n

. In what you call your cargo?—A. Yes, sir.

Mr, Corrins. That ig all T w%nt. ’ \

Mr. Vax Parrex. Mr. Nack, did she have steel shutters for these
deadlights? .

A. Steel shutters?

Q. Yes—A. She did; glass and cast iron.

Mr. Vax Parren. That is all T want.

General Unrer. Did they have a blind light to protect the shutter?

8 %ei(si', sir.

2. Did they have a protecting shutter over the glass?—A. Now

T think they did; T would not state definitely, but Igthink they hﬁvg
a protecting shutter on the inside over the glass, iron—cast iron.

Q. You are not sure of that?—A. T am almost sure. but I would

___not say; it is some time ago since T have been thexe.
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. the-gangway’s lowest edge, is that right?
A. Lower than the bottom of the gangway?
Q. Yes.—A. Yes, sir. '
- Q. Angd if the gangway was under water then the air ports must
necessarily have been under water before the gangway %—A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Coruins. I would like to ask Mr. Nack, did you ever have
all her water-ballast tanks full? .
A. No, sir; it has never been necessary.
Q. You never filled them?%—A. No, sir; it has never been neces-
sary. :

. About what was the size of the largest amount of ballast you

‘ever had aboard#—A. While I wag chief engineer all we filled was
No. 3 tank; I figured that would be about 250 tons, maybe a littls
more, and if she listed any we weuld put water in No. 4, and keep
her straight so-she would not have too much list; that would prob-
ably take 15 or 20 ton altogether. 2 '

» (3 How long would it take to pump the tank out; you say it took
about 30 minutes to fill it; how long would it take to pump it out -
A. We wéuld pump it out about as fast as we could ﬁh it. '

Q. What kind of a pump did you have—A. We had a reciprocat-
in%duplex“pump.
Q

L]

. Duplex pump ?—A. Yes, sir., .
. Do you remember the size of it *—A. I think it was 18 by 24.
Q. That was about it?—A. That is, I don’t remember the exact
dimensions of it. '
i ny trouble with the valves coming
t—A. Yes, sir.
stems?-—A. Yes, sir; we found

the cause of that, too, you know. ™

Q. What was the cause ?—A. en the tank was very near pumped
out, you know, there is not much water coming through there to
steady this valve, and the vibration of displacement of air and water
comes tirough and hits these valves a8 it goes into the pump and it
causes them to shatter out, it will gradually wear them through, and
. we always made it our business to ook at these things as soon as they
- made a different sourd, and quite a few times we found them quite

wern, etc., and we took them cut.

Q. Now, in the event this valve should come off the stem at any
time, would it be possible to operate your valve system, providing
you (;vere operating that system?—A. The valve would remain
seated. : ’

Q. You would get water in any event?—A. Yes, sir; but you see

one valve come off, if it came off at any time and we wanted to use
" this manifold.we would take this top off the valve and put in a

iece of block, a 2 by 4 block, we had down there, and hold it there
_before we could pump or anything, but then we could do anything
we wanted to.

Q. T mean before you made an examination. Now, I have scen
lots of vessels with stem valves, where the valve comes off the stem,
-you open the valve and it will admit no steam. Of course, with that
steamer you have water, and the passage of the same through the
pipe would be the same, would it not?—A. Yes.

- Mr. AckersoN. There is a line of air ports that are also below

£
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Q. At any time did you ever have any difficulty with débris from
the river flowing through your sea cocks, little chips of wood and
dirt, and getting on your water pump?—A. Yes; we had a little
difficulty t%lere; it is not coming in from the sea cock at all, it is
coming in from the tank. When the boat was first built there was a

: Jot of wooden stuff used in these ballast tanks for drilling purposes,

arid when we pump this al! out sometimes a piece of 2 by 4 would
come right up through the valve, and then you could not close the
valve, and we would take the top off and take that out and put it
back on again, but that didn’t come through the sea cock. )

Mr. Ackerson. If you were instructed to make the maximum
speed with the vessel possible, would you have in mind to disregard
the use of the ballast tanks?

A. No. ,

Q. You would not?—A. Noj; never. ) '

Mr. O'Hara. Mr. Nack, what years were you connected with the
steamer Kastland? : ,

A. 1904, 1905, and 1906.

Q. 1904, 1905, and 19067—A. Yes, sir. _ -

Q. Had you ever before that been connected with a boat, a pas-
senger boat carrying water ballast?—A. T don’t remember. Let me
think. - I don’t think I had been, not a passenger boat carrying water
ballast before that. o ) -

Q. The system of water ballast is not usual. Is it usual in vessels
engaged in the passenger traffic?—A. Well, I do not know that; T
could not state whether it is or not. Now, the Colwmbus has got
water ballast; I don’t know why they don’t put it in more, or why
they do; I really do not know ; I could not tell that. o

Q. Would you give your opinion of water ballast as used in a
vessel engaged in the passenger traffic?—A. Well, T think if would
Le right to have the water ballast in any passenger vessel; 1 would
rother have the water ballast thaxn, oter ballast.

Lamm, %:@h that system of bal-

el ih the captain?—

S5, the filling

-

A. Yes, sir, .
Q. For what/@
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Q. Did the thought ever occur to you that the Government had -
any right to be informed as to facts that might be a menace to pas:
sengers?—A. Noj; it did not then. ' I did not qualify myself to be
capable of dictating to anybody in reference to the construction of g

SEg s!ug, because I am not a builder. .

- mand of the vessel?—A. Ask me that question again.
~ (Question read as follows:) o

Then, Mr. Nack, I understand ymjr position to be this, ﬂmﬁ you feel no re-

sponsibility, to anyone;ether than the captain in command of the vessel?

"A. The captain and the manager, I should judge.

Q. You feel no responsibility to bring to the attention of the
Government officials any defect in the vessel that you might have

£

reported to the captain without action being taken?—A. No. When

I go aboard a boat I go there to run that boat; I don’t make it a
study to find any fault with the boat, unless it is an old wooden
trap of some kind that you can find fault with. =
-+ -Q. Then, if you became convinced that a vessel of which you were
~ the chief'engineer had a serious defect imperiling the lives of pas-
mécem would not consider it your duty or g’ou would ngt bring
it to the attention of the Government inspectors?—A. T would bring
it to.the attention of the captain. ‘

Q: If the captain did not act after a reasonable period of time?—
A. He would act, undobutedly. ’

Q. But you would leave it te-the captain and not go any further %—
A. (No answer.) '

Q. Now, Mr. Nack, you said, if I understood you correctly, and
you will correct me if my understanding is wrong, that the Fas-
{and, several times during the period of your connection with her,
- struck the bottom of the harbor at South Haven?—A. She struck
it a number of times; yes, sir

Q. How you as chief engineer tell when a vessel strikes the
bottom ¥—A. Fhe best way I can tell is when the propeller strikes -
in the mud./ '

Q. When

; e roBeller strikes the mud what do you as chief en-
gineer dof/—A. Well, T do not do anything only to obey the signals
co! from the pilot house.

Q. %o you make a report to the captain?—A. Oh, yes, sir; he
knows that any way, he feels that himself.

Q. Is there any danger to the safety of a vessel by the vessel
striking the bottom of the harbor?—A. No; I don’: think there is,
" Noj; I do not think there is. g ‘

Q. Mr. Nack, you took an examination before receiving a license

as an engineer i—A. I do not know what you asked me; what is that?

YQ,. The Government requires you to undergo an examinationi—A.
es, gir,

Q. Before receiving a license as engingeer i—A. Yes, sir.

Q. How long ago did you take that examination?—A. Why, I
have had six examinations altogether, all told.

Q. Now, outside of taking the examination or of undertaking the
Governmental test, are you required to make any report to Govern-
ment officials?—A. Yes, sir.

Then, Mr. Nack, I understand your position to be this, that
you feel no responsibility to anyone other than the captain in .com-

‘of those rules and I do not know why it should

‘machinery or ballast of the boat that any man sees,
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Q. Or does your connection with the Government ceasef—A.
Yes, sir; anything that happens; anything that I think is not right,
I know is not, I must make a report to the Government inspecters
or lose my license. s

Q. That is your understanding of the law?—A. Of the law; yes,
m‘ " N

Q. Now, do you understand that if a boat lists badly for any
reason that you are also required to make that report to Govern-
ment inspectorsi—A. I hdve never heard anything to that effect.
You get the book of rules, and I never saw anﬁhmg in the book

necessary why I
should make a report on that. It never hapgened to me any way
ithat I had any serious trouble to that effect. But a.n{lthmg with the .

e must report, -
Q. You made the statement during this examination that you

,.;: thought no responsibility -to report any defect in the vessel to any

' one other than the captain. Do you now desire to amend that state-

found no defects.

' menti—A. I do not take an

-1 made reports to Goj

responsibility as far as the hull is
concerned ; any defect in the hull comes under the head of the cap-
tain’s department. ) o

Q. Any defect in the enginei—A. Oh, yes, sir; everything is re-

| ported, absolutely.

Q. ﬁeported to whom?—A. To the inspectors. S
- Q. How many times, Mr. Nack, during your connection with the
Eastland did you make a report to the Government inspectors i—A.
T was first assistant on that boat two years. I do not know whether
the chief engineer had to make any report; we never had an accident

‘on that boat; we never found any defects which would require us to
- report them. When I was chief engineer I did not have any occa-

sion to make any reports, for I had no trouble or no accidents and

gernment inspectors !—A.
aats, but not on that
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'}), : : No. 3 tank al?g)/}’s' be filled, you consulted with the captain Z—A. Yes,
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e
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- Q. After this conference with the captain a standing order was

-
¢

4%
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issued that tank No. & always to be filled =—A . Always to be filled.
. Was a report of that made to the Government inspector —A,

. Well, not that I have made any; I have not made any. I do not

‘writing or orally, that the Eastland was unsafe if tank No. 3 was
not filled ?—A. Did I ever write to——
Q. Yes—A. N, o; I never did.

“ -~ Q- Did you tell him orally !—A. Tell who?

a

Did you ever tell him by word of mouth?—A. N 0, sir; no, sir,
Q. Then the Government was left in entire ignorance of your con-

~~viction of the unsafety of the FEastland, if tank No. 3" was not

. , boat ‘ ‘ f A I L
-+ Q. T don’t wish to put you in a wrong light, Mr. Nack, or misun-

filled?—A. I never considered her unsafe. I never considered that
unsafe. il K
derstand you;.let us see whether I do understand you—A. You did
not ask me whether I considered the boat safe or not.

Q. I understood during 1317011r previous examination you stated that
you had consulted with the captain ang the captain and you had
decided it to be the part of wisdom a ays to keep tank No. 3
filled?—A. Yes, sir. I

Q. And that the Fastland could not safely carry, I think you
mentioned, 3,000 passengers if tank No. 3 were not filled —A. Why,
I would not never take any chance of that kind; I never tried to
without any water in it with 8,000 people on. At that time when that

boat careened I was first assistant engineer on the boat; I had been

in charge of them tanks, and when they were running them I used
to be the man that filled them.

Q. During the years that you were chief engineer on the Fast-
land, Mr. Nack, did any Government inspector ask you concerning
the water tanks?—A. Well, now, I do not know how I can answer

- that q'il‘estion; I was only chief engineer one year on that boat.

_ Q. The one year that you were chief engineer, Mr. Nack?—A.
Why, during that time I don’t remember whether they did; I could
‘not say; I could not state. It was a small thing for me to take care
of that ship, but of all the people she carried I don’t know. I did
not find any reason to consult anybody for information.

Q. Mr. Nack, how many times during the year that you were
chief engineer of the Fastland did you meet anyone connected with

g;e xél;{spectors’ service of the Fedbral Government?—A. Did I mest
p .

were down on the boat—I don’t remember—but they were counting
the people; if they were counting the people there or not, they were

down on the boat every Sunday and almost every day, I think.

Q. Inspecting the engines?—A. They were giving orders according
to their own laws, I think, etc.; cautioned us a num%er of times about
being very careful, ete.; that is'all I can remember. ' ,

Q. Did they ever question you?—A. I do not know; I do not

know whether I ever was questioned. I know I have been examined
almaoet aveary $imo wo lod ¢t bhand K

know. ( '
- Q. Did you ever, Mr. Nack, tell the Government inspector, in

. ago, I know.:

'Q. Yes; personally meet them.—A- If I am not mistaken, they -
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Q. Can_you recall now a single time during the year that you
We?e chief }:angineer on the Eastland that any Government inspector
made inquiries concerning the water tanks?—A. I can remember one
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* - time definitely where Mr. Peck was on the‘ boat and asked me about

the tanks. c S )

. Can you recollect any of that conversation?—A. No; I think
it %ag onlg77 a very short %ne. T think he said, “.MPE Nac}’{, have
ou got your tanks trimmed,” or “filled up?” I said, “ Yes.” That
1ys when I was chief, before that I don’t remember. He may have
been talking to the chief that I was workmg for.
Q. Did fﬁ' Peck ask you what your form of the water tanks

wag?—A. He was not familiar with the boat as much as I was.%

Q. Now, wait; let us not presume anything; did he ask you?—A.
I believe he asked me and I told him I had No. 3 tank filled. . v

Q. Did he, for instance, ask you if tank No. 8 was filled?—A. I
don’t remember whether he asked me that or not; it is a long time

Q. And you did not consider the examination at that time of very
much importance?—A. No, sir; I did not myself, personally.

Q. A.ngoyet there was an understanding between you and the c.?p-
tain that tank No. 8 was to be filled for the safety of the vesseli—
A. By experience in the study of the boat we finally decided upon
thg: You testified, Mr, Nack, that the water was pumped out of these
tanks ight?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Ia)'gc;l?ou ever tell tfle Government inspector of that custom —

. I never told him. '

AQI. Did any Government inspector ask you?—A. T tell you, I can
not answer those questions because it is too deegofor me; I do not
see why it should be necessary for me to ask anybody if I can pump
the water out of my boat, if T know it ought to be pumped out; if
I have to call in an inspector for that in the middle of the night, I

~ do not think it is necessary.

Let me remind you, Mr. Nack, that the Government, as I un-
de%and from your axy;sw’er to me, had the power to take away your
eng'neer’s license ifg Y(XI ngviled Yo report the defects!—A. Yes, sir.

. In the engine?—A. Yes, sir. _

Q. Or in angucllepartment, or any part of the machinery of the
vessel under your control ?—.A. Yes, sir.

Q.1 am simplguendeavormg to ascertain, Mr. Nack, whether you
performed your full duty.—A. I surely did. _

- Q. In not making a report, a_full report regaring the water
tanks?—A. I considered that my full duty, yes, sirj to handle that
water ballast as we saw fit and best for the convenience of every-

eople and all. ! . ‘
bO%J.r’ll))o %) understand, Mr. Nack, that during the time when you
were chief engineer, from your previous testimony, th.c_x\t» the vessel
listed very badly in the South Haven Harbor?—A. She did one
time—one time fo my knowledge—I was on the boat.

Q. What did you do at that time, on that occasion?—A. On that
particular occasion we filled the two aft tanks, tlmt was ourr- first
experience with that particular boat, we filled Nos. 4 and § and
straightened her up, I think it took about half an hour to straighten




osae

" you and gave you the order?—A

July?—A. T did not, no; I was not the chief engineer. .
Q. Who was the c’hief engineer at that time ?g-l—l‘lA. A man by the

e
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the captain; he came dowr to the engine room.
Q. The captain came down to theY engine room and consulted with
. Xes, sir. . '
What year was that?—A. I think it was 1904.
Q. Do you remember the date?—A. I don’t remember the date, I

Uonn Ttlllmt. 4 _ A
- Lhere were approximately how many passengers on the ves
sel?—A. T think she had 3,000 on or more, 11:10 notg know, I (fo‘;e:t
‘remember so much about her passenger-carrying capacity. .
ré«?ﬁirgél%zr lgﬁz lagl, %r under youé'1 un(;lerstandjng of the law, are you
. e that report t { i i i
Y ?-éAi, Yes, sir, port to the (overnment inspectors in writ.
. Subsequent to the 4th of July, 1904, did you make a report i
Se&le Government inspecto’rs of i;hl? ilsl’cident on the 4!51 (l;l;

name of William P. Eles.

Q. Is he now living, is he now living#—A. T have not hea,rd of him

- since that; I think he is living, I have not heard anything to the con-

. the Federal inspection system on Lake

trary. " I wigh to state to you that whenever I was chief engineer and

~had any accident, it was only when I made reports in writing, it only

happened once that is was necessary.

- Let me ask you, Mr. Nack, as the chief engineer of the vessel |
] _do with the steering or steering ap-’
- paratus®—A. With the steering apparatus, with the engine, he takes

did you have anything to do
care of the engine.

The Secrerary. There is a distinction there between the steerin ,

the engine, that is a part of the.
chief has to do with it, the rest of it——
The WrrnEess. Just the engine.
The Secrerary. Just the engine.

 Mr. O’Hara. Suppose if the steéring engine—that is what you‘ _

call it——

The Wirness, The steering engine——
. engineer of a vessel do?—A. If the steering engine is out
of commission he would have to report that to the inspector himself;
that would be my duty, because it is my engine and my department;

Q. Suppose the steering engine is out of jssi : :
' thetans %) g engi of commission, what does

o)

anything pertaining to the steam machinery would be my duty to

- report, which T would: do immediately.

What is your opinion, Mr. Nack, if you desire to state it, of

not qualified to make any criticism, because I do not consider myself
able to do so; I did not make any of the laws myself, and T dg not
feel justified in making any criticism or. making any suggestions
whatever. , s :

. Q. Have you any suggestion to offer this board concerning possible
improvements in the service?—A..I could not do it. I could not
do that. T have been held to strict discipline in my position as chief

engineer, and that was always a plenty for me; I have b
under the strict rules and djscipling, aam&7 t oot o b

N .ﬁog.'i’zu saﬁ “ we filled,” you mean it was filled under your direc.

 think it'was on July 4 to 9, one of those dates, 4 or 9, I am mixed

i

Michigan #—A. Well, T am_

.steering apparatus, that is all the [

it has always kept me busy -

. what may appear to hiln

{
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to follow the rules. I do not know why I should make any sug-
gestion; I could not. -

Q. Follow whose rules¥—A. The rules set down by the Govern-
ment officers on steamships. ¢

Q. May I ask, Mr. Nack, if in this system of discipline in which
you have been trained, it is regarded as offensive for a subordinate to
call the attention of anyone other than his immediate superior to .
i to be a vital defect in a vessel?—A. No;
I could not answer that question very well. .

Q. Let me put it this way: Have you been brought up to regard
it as a bad business to go over anybody’s head #—A. No; I have not
been brought up that way, not a bit; no.

Q. Suppose -your chief engineer—during the year that you were
chief engineer on the Eastland, suppose that the assistant had gone
over your head and gone over the head of the captain and personally
reported something to the owner, would you have considered it u
correct procedure?—A. No; I would not. .

Q. Would it have made you mad ¢—A. No; I don’t think it would,
if there was something I overlooked and did not see; it was his duty;
1think it was his duty to do that. - "

- Mr. O’Hara. T am much obliged, Mr. Nack; that is all.

Mr. Uncer. Mr, Nack, during your incumbency ¢f the position of
first assistant engineer of the Eastland and that of chief engineer on
the same ship, did anything ever happen to the boilers or the machin-
ery or to any part of that ship that in your estimation was sufficiently
grave to justify a report to the local inspectors? '

A. No, sir; no, sir. u\

Q. Suppose there had been; what would have been your pro-
cedure?—A. As chief engineer? ~ :
Q. Yes.—A. The first thing I would have done I would have writ-
ten a letter and sent it to the inspector and stated exactly what had .

happened and what defect I foiind in my machinery. ‘

Q. What is the length of the season of navigation for that steamer,
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‘Mr. Nack, the steamer Zastland?—A. Well, if we can judge that from

the date that school closes to Labor Day, that is usually about 6 or 8
weeks, 10 weeks, something like that—60 or 70 days.

Q. Duringthat time while you were chief engineer of the Eastland
how often were the Government inspectors aboard of your vessel to
reinspect her*—A. T am sure they did it every month; they were
down there every Sunday that I know of.

Q. And outside of that annual inspection about how many rein-
spections were given the vessel %—A. I could not say that definitely;
I think it was three or four, anyway. i .

Q. In addition to the annual inspection?—A. In addition to the
annual inspection. ‘

Q. Three or four inspections during the time that the ship oper-
ated ¢—A. Yes, sir. _

Q. In addition to the annual inspection?—A. Yes, sir. "y

Q. At that time and at the time that the insgecmrs were ahoard ;
of the vessel, if you had known of any defect, or if there was anything
about the structure or operation or navigation of the vessel that in
your opinion jeopardized the lives of the passengers or anyone of

22359—16——16
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o ﬂ’the'cre“”",;“woiﬂd you have told the inspectors about it?—A. Yes, sir; -

E - take them right to the scene and tell them. :

R Q. Would you also have written an official letter to the local m

- spectors?—A. Yes, sir. ;
Q. In the absence of any rule or regulation on that subject, would

»  you have felt it a duty to have done the same thing?—A. Yes, sir.
_Mr. Bisaor. Mr. Nack, I do not understand why it is the duty of
the Government inspector to board your ship in ‘sailing the Great
Lakes each time she touches port, to inquire of you whether or not

- your water ballast is on board.

'+ The Wrrness. I do not know—put that question to me again.
Q. As far as you know it is not the duty of an inspector to climb

aboard your ship each time that you get into port and to ask you if

your water ballast is on?—A. No, sir.
Q. Orif you havethem filled anci distributed properly —A. Yes,sir,
Q. You understand their duty is to make an anpual inspection —

A. Yes; sir; and reinspection. - '

' Q. And reinspection ?—A. Yes, sir.

..~ Q."In answer to Lieut. Gov. O’Hara’s question, you said’that yéu'

would consider this boat safe even though she struck the bottom and

. - rested on the bottom?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You meant by that, didn’t you, that provided she was properly
ballasted¢—A. Oh, yes, sir; she would have to be ballasted; yes, sir.

Q. You would consider it to be necessary for her to have the No. 3
tank full, at least if there were 2,400 or 2,500 people distributed about
the boat, if she'struck the bottom —A. I would have it full; yes, sir;
yes, sir, I would. _ '

Q. As careful a man as I think you to be, do you care to take the
chance' of her being a seaworthy boat unless you have water ballast
on board ¢—A. I would consider that.

Q. Before you:took any chances?—A. Yes, sir. '

Mr. SteFrEN. Do you operate the valves going into the tanks your-

_ + self, or would you order.some subordinate to do that?

The Wrrness. When I was chief engineer of that boat I did not
trust anybody with that ballast or the valves; I took care of those
_ every minute. -

Q. Would you consider it a breach of your duty to ask the oiler
to do it, for example 2—A. No, sir; I would not trust him.

. Q. Now, with reference to the position of these 10 valves, approxi-
mately how close together are they?—A. Some of them I should
judge about a foot to 18 inches apart.

Q. Is there any markings on them w
they run to?—A. Yes, sir; No. 4 starboard afid No. 4 port, etc.

C{. Do you think it is possible that you could make a mistake as

to the opening of a wrong valve; for example, suppose you wanted -

to fill the port tank, would it be pessible for you to turn the star-
board valve, on account of the location of those valves?—A. I should
answer that question like this: For a man that does not take any
interest in the thing, like a chief engineer, this man is liable to make
a mistake any time; that is the reason I done it myself; I would not
take any chances of anybody doing it. » ‘

Q. Ifé;daer existing conditions—for instance, the boat was listed
badly you became alarmed, under those conditions would it be
‘possible to turn the wrong valve?—A. T never would.

indicate which tank
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~ Q. Does it take a man of any skill or more than the average intel-

ligence to olgerate those valvesi—A. It does; not to the operation of
the valves, but the judgment and necessary ability to operate them
properly. A man could make a mistake in valves on the boat if he
was an excited man, and get into trouble, as well as he could a mani-
fold valve. o K ‘

Mr. SuLrLivan. Were you aboard this vessel on an occasion when it
was considered necessary to turn the hose on the passengers to drive
them to a certain side of the boat? | : :

A. No, sir; I never heard of it. o :

Q. Never heard of that incident occurring on the Eastland i—A.
No, sir; I never saw that, never heard of such a thing. )

Q. What degree of list on this boat would cause her to ship water
through the gangways or deadlights?—A. Well, as I stated. before,
I can not add to that question by degrees of listing; I could say this, .
that when the gan s go under then the water comes into the
gangway, of course. But what degree of listing that is T could not

- tell you. '

Q. You do not know what degree?—A., Could not say byﬂdeg'rees.
Q. You would not want to express an opinion?—A. No.
Mr. Grzrerre. Mr. Nack, there any plugs furnished for the aft

fire lead of that vessel when thetines were hauled in and you were

under way; were there any g}lugs'lyi‘ng alonside there that could be
used to fill up that fire lead?.
Mr. Usreer, Chocks. , ‘ : _
The Wrrness. We had doors, but they were always closed tight;
the scupper holes that went out to starboard, we had plugs for them.
The SecreTarY. What was the vessel’s freeboard with the ballast
tanks in? - .
A. With the ballast tanks filled amidships, I think she must have
been about 4 or 5 feet to the aft; right at the social-hall gangway I

_think it was about 3 feet: then it increased as it went up forward—it

was higher forward.

The Secrerary. Any further questions of Mr. Nack?

Mr. Vax Parren. Did I understand you to say that the bottom of
the gangway was 3 feet out of water, 3 feet above the water?

A. I went to look at that; it must be about 2 or 3 feet: I went to
look at that side of it. _

Q. Did she have more than one gangway for loading passen-
gers—A.. Yes, sir. '

Q. One eaeh side !—A. Yes;, sir; she had some more port that we
used to put them on board. ‘ :

Q. Was there any reason why they could not use the forward
gangway at all times for loading passengers?—A. Yes, sir; they
gguld use it all the time; we did use it all the time when I was on the

at.

Q. Was there a stairway from that gangway, immediately inside
the gangway ?—A. Yes, sir; forward. The reason we did not load

them aft is, we wanted to keep this gangway herself closed and

chocked while they.were loading; that is the reason we loaded her
forward always.

Mr. J. L. Ackerson. If the vessel were alongside the dock here,
for example, and there were 2,000 or 2,500 passengers on board and
the vessel started to take a list and your ballast tanks are empty,

=3
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~ ~what would you ‘,do? " Your ballast "tax;.k;

* 2,500 passengers on board; your vessel starts to take a list, takesy
‘slight list; what would you do? B s
~ The WrrnEss. It is almost too late to do anything; you are top

" late, in my estimation, to do anything.

Q. Would 'you attempt to do anything?—A. All I could do then
in a case. of that kind would be to tell them to get off the boat or
something like that. o [

- Q. You would not atempt to fill your tanks?—A. You 'could net
if she listed that far. , [

Q. As soon as you noticed the list?—A. I have never given her g

. chance to list an inch; my eye used to watch her like a cat. | ‘
Q. This is a supposititious question, and I was dede\’ring what
i:u would do under those circumstances, you yourself—A. I do not

ow as I could do much, but what would come to mind in a second;
T would do something; I would try to run the water in, but I do not

see how you can run water up hill. L .

Q. You would try to run water in?—A. You could try to, but you
would not get it in. '

Q. If you started running water in do you think it would help
you any —A. If you could get water to run in the proper tank or
the side—— , i ’ '

Q. You think it would help?—A. Oh, yes, sir; it would help to
straighten her right up. . :

Q. It would help if the tank were filled, but do you think it would
help if the tank were only, partly filled %—A. Any amount of water
in a list like that would help xight gvay—help to straighten her.

-Q.-You think it would ?—A s, sir; at the dock particularly,
‘because you have to watch and hold her any way.

Q. Dl you ever try it?—A. I have never been subjected to one of -

those conditions. .

Q. On the Eastland aft, under the counter, there is a line of air
ports, I think; is that right?—A. Line of air what? A

Q. Air ports? ’

Mr: Uncer. Dead lights. - . S

A. Yes, sir; I think there are some air lights; yes, sir; port lights.

Mr. Vax Parren. While you were on the vessel were there any
orders that those should be closed on the Eastland? Were yon
under orders to do that? . .

A. There were orders issued to that effect, and to overcome the
possibility of any of them ever being left open I know I went down
there, and I drove nuts on that cover tight, riveted the threads
through the ends, so that nobody could take them off unless they
broke them.off. , :

Q. You are on the South Haven now, are you?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. There is a line of air ports aft, about 2 feet from the water
line?—A. Yes, sir. . .

Q. Are orders given that they should always be closed %—A. No:;
on the City of South Haven hers are not as close to the water as the
Eastland’s are. v . :

Q. They are not more than 2 feet, I believe, on the South
Haven?—A. They are less than 2 feet. ‘

are empty and you have’
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Q. Are orders %iven that at times they should be closed t—A. On
the City of South Haven? v ‘
Q. Yes—A. I always look after them myself. Whenever we see

the water is rough we close them; when it is not rough we leave

them open. - . ) . :

-Q. You do?—A. Yes, sir; the City gf South Haven is a stiff boat;
it is not necessary. -

Q. You think 3&1; distance of 2 feet——A. She would not go down
to the port holes; she would not list that far. When it is rough we
close them up tight; when it is nice and quiet we get a little air
through them and open them up. )

The SECRETARY. You are excused. I thank you very much, indeed.

I will read as &’ portion of the record a communication received by

-day: '
me to-d v CorKELL UNIVERSITY,
Ithaca, N. Y., July 26, 1915.
DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, ,

: Washington, D. C.
tland disaster.
Ret}ggamum: Since reading the account of the catastrophte, I have made
diligent search among my records for certain data, but not finding & scrap, it
is evident that all were given to the party referred to, and at the time stated

low. .
bg'Probably 13 or 14 years ago a member of the Jenks Shipbuilding Ce., of Port
Huron, Mich,, came to me regarding the most suitable form for a twin-screw
vessel, capable of carrying 1,000 passengers and a number of tons—which I do
not remember—of fruit in baskets or crates at a speed of 20 or 21 miles per
hour. Some limitations of dimensions were, I believe, stated. I think the draft
was limited to 10 or 12 feet. _ )

¥ went into the matter and recommended a form which my éxperience led
me to believe would fulfill the &peed and draft conditions, and at the same
time would have a metacentric height (GM) of about 18 inches in fully laden
condition. He remained in Ithaca and drew out the form (lines) but no other
of the plans. The general arrangement or design of the construction or internal

- grrangements was a matter I took no interest in, as he consulted me on the form

only. If my memory serves me right, during the process of the work, he went
back to Port Huron at least twice, and on each occasion returned with some
proposed changes; the nature of these I do not recollect; but I do remember
that on the second occasion I objected to geing any further in the matter unless

. a finality was reached and a definite statement of the conditions made. As I

remember, he was huffy at my attitude, packed up the “lines" which he had -
drawn out, and leaving, said he could attend to the rest himself. I heard noth-
ing more from him, except when he wrote me regarding some detail of the
brackets supporting the outboard shafting. .
Under the circumstances I took no further interest in the matter, but under-

" stood that the firm went on with the design and construction ; noted an aecount-

of the launch, in a trade magazine, of a boat which I took to be the one we
had had under discussion; I never heard from them regarding as how she
performed as to speed or anything else. I have never seen the Fnaafland; in
fact have not been on the Great Lakes since, except a hurried trip to Cleve-
land five years ago. Nor do I know that the form I furnished was adopted in
her case; but I expect it was. ¢ ’

From what I have read, and more particularly from the p.iemr@s I have seen
in the newspapers, I am positive that the boat as she is to-day Is at least the
height of one deck greater in depth than that for which the form was selected
this together with the increase from 1,800 to 2,500 passengers, if I am correct,
would affect the metacentric height materially. s

If the Bastland was as dangerous as the catastrophe would seem to Indicate,
T am completely at a loss to understand why she did not turn turtle earlier in
her 12-years' life. I have read, however, in some accounts which are given
that shé had been completely remodeled ; if this is so, a possible reason for the
calamity may be furnished.
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"One bad feature which I notice in the press cuts, i3 the location of the

“range of stability,” an-all important point in vessels engaged in a service like

. the Eastland. Had I been consulted in this I woild have condemned. them, ag

well as other points which I have observed.

In your search for possible causes of the disaster, contributory or otherwise,

‘permit me to draw your attention to one. Iirone the accounts I have reag

that while the passengers were embarking the vesseh had a list, and some one

- gave orders to run water in the double bottom in ah endeavor to right her;

was an absolutely wrong thing to do, nothing being more prejudicial g

- stabllity than free water, reducing as it does the helglit of metacenter and the
- possibility of wiping out any positive stability the vessel may have had.

I have written this long dgtail because I think that all information bearing op

the possible causes of the calamity should be in your hands. I should be very -

glad if you could give me some reliable details as to dimensions and other
features—if possible, blue prints—so as to refresh my memory. on a great many
points which at this distant date, from the time I speak of, are very hazy and
g:;?ilsl might as a consequence be in a position to furnish you with more definite
ails, y .
- Yours, fathfully,

é

\

GEo. R, McDERMOTT.

. The SECRETARY. Also the following communication for the sake

of the record:

' TBEASURY DEPARTMENT,
OFFice oF THE CaLLECTOR, U, S. CUSTOMS SERVICE,
. — : . ) ‘Chicago, Ill., July 24, 1915,
The SECRETARY OF THE_ TREASURY, ’ Y 5
: : ; Washington, D. C. .
Sie: I wish to inform you of the unfortunate catastrophe that cccurred at
this port to-day at 7.35 a. m. to the excursion steamer Eastland. - .
The Western Electric Co. were giving their employees auyf annual excursion
to Michigan City, Ind., and they chartered four vessels for this purpose, ome
of which was the steamer Eastland. She commencéd to load at 6.30 this moin.

ing at her dock on the Chicago River under the supervision of Deputy Collector .

McCreary and two navigation inspectors under the Department of Comrmer
L. A. Lobdell and H. G. Oakley. The count was made jointly, and accordi?,é
to the count of the inspectors there were 2,500 people on beard, the number
permitted by her certificate of inspection. 'The tweo navigation inspectors,

, Lobdell and Qakley, counted at the same gangway, The count was absolutely
correct, and there can be no controversy on that point. ’

Inspector Lobdell remained on board the vessel all night in order that he
might be on duty early in the morning go as to see that no one came on board
without being counted. He remained on board to accompany the vessel to
Michigan City, Ind., in thig district, for the purpose .of counting the passengers
on the return trip, and was on board when she went down, and swam ashore,

Deputy Collector McCreary, as soon as the count showed that 2,500 passen- - |
- gers were on the boat, ordered the gangplank pulled in, which was done, not-

withstanding that there were several hundred people on the dock attempting

_ to go on board. W&en this was done the vessel threw off her lines and started
to pull from the dotk when she listed to port and continued to list gradually
until the port gangways were entirely submerged, and then she went over and
sank very quickly, throwing some passengers into the river and others going
down with the.boat, her starboard side being above water.

The loss of life is estimated at this time at between 500 '
T~ mostly women and children. ' - 500 and 1,000 tives

- “T-am greatly gratified to be able to report that the officers from this office
were present-and counted the passengers on board and did everything that was
required, so that the disaster was not. due to the ‘overcrowding of the vessel,
or to any negligence on the part of officers connected with thls office,
Respectfully,

Rivess McoNEILL,
- Coliector of .Customs.

7ports in the sides; they are at least one deck too low, thereby reducing the '
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isém-etary Reprrerp. Also report upon the steamer ‘Eaetiand:

{Burepu of Navigation. File 42837.1

- OFFICE OF SPECIAL AGENT, TREASURY DEPARTMENT,

. Chicago, Ill., October 30, 1906.

The SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY. ‘
sik: Having been assigned to'investigate the alleged overcrowding of certain

passenger steamers engaged in excursions at this port, I have the honor: to

rt: .

rel‘)“)Section 4464 of the Revised Statutes of the United States provides that
¢the inspectors shall state in every certificate of inspection granted to steamers
carrying passengers, other than ferryboats, the number of passengers of each
class that any such steamer has accommeodations for, and can carry with
prudence and safety.’ Section 4466 provides: ‘If any passenger steamer en-
gages in excursions the inspectors shall issue to such steamer a special permit
in writing for the occasion, in which shall be stated the additional number of
passengers that may be carried, and the number and kind of life-saving appli-
ances that shall be provided for the safety of such additional passengers; and
they shall also, in their discretion, limit the route and distance for such
excursion.’ o .

The certificate of inspection granted to the steamship Ecstland permits her

1 to carry 8.000 excursion passengers between this port and South Haven, Mich.

On August 5, 1906, said steamship had on board 2,530 passengers, that being
the greatest number carried at any one time during my investigation. A per-
sonal investigation shows that on this date said passengers, in many instances,

,were unable to find seats or move around with any reasonable degree of com-.

fort. The steamship company keeps at certain parts of said boat large quan-
tities of small seats, which in a great many cases passengers were unable to
obtain by reason of their inability to move from the position originally taken
and were compelled to stand during the entire journey, which occuples about
some four hours. i s
Inasmuch as the official steamboat inspectors have seen fit to grant said boat
a license to carry the aforesaid numbér of passengers, and at no time during
my investigation has that number of passengers been exceeded, I am not pre-
pared to say that the number of passengers allowed by said certificate is too
great for the safety of said passengers; but 1 am of the opinion that prudence
and a reasonable degree of comfort require that the number permitted to be
carried he reduced.
Respectfully,

.

Geo. E. FoULRES,
Special 4gent.
Secretary Reprierp. There is also a report here, a similar report of
the same tenor, of the steamship Columbus. That has no bearing on
this. Inspector Mansfield. : -

Ira B. MANSFiELD, called as a witness by the board, having been
first duly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as follows:

- Examination by Secretary REpFIELD:

Q. Have you been subpeenaed, Inspector Mansfield, to appear be-
fore the Fedaral grand jury%—A. Not yet; no, sir. :

Q. Will you state your name, address, and age to the stenographer,
pleace.—A. Ira B. Mansfield; 64 years of age; 529 Federal Build-
g and 726 Sheridan Road. ... ‘ R

%. What is your occupation, Mr. Mansfield {—A. Inspector of
hulls, Chicago. * A

Q. And will you state; beginning at your first employment, what
vour work has been.—A. As an inspector?

Q. Noj; before you were an inspector. Beginning from the be-
girlllning.«——A. Well, I began very young as a sailor, I guess they
call it. . , .
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- Q. You may state that, please.—A. About 1863 I began sailing on
- small vessels, sailing vessels, and continued in sailing small vessels
until about 1880. In the meantime I Was also master o%

Later on, in about 1880 or 1881, I became master of a steamer, and at
~different periods from that time on until I became a member of this
- board I was on steamers and schooners, mostly steamers.

Q. What licenses did you have before you entered the service #—A.,
rs license, Chicago, Duluth, and Buffalo. , ‘
Q. How. did you get that license?—A. I got it in 1876 in Cleve-
land, Ohio, through & verbal examination by Capt. Stannard.
L How many examinations did you-personally take?—A. I per-

. sonall% only took the one. T o '

Q. Took one?—A. No; I will correct that by saying that I took
&wo. The first was a first-class pilot’s examination, and given g
first-class pilot’s license, and later on took a master pilot’s license.

.. Q. And you were a first-class pilot and master when you entered
the Government service?—A. Yes, sir; and had been” for. years;
- since 1876, : C .
- Q. Did I understand that you were first appointed assistant in-
spector ¥—A. No, sir. - o -

Q. What*was your first position?—A. Local inspector.

Q. Local ‘inspector %—A. Local inspector of hulls. ,
Q. And how did you get that position?—A. By appointment.

Q. After an examination?—A. Yes, sir. I was appointed tem.

porarily before examined.

Q. By whom conducted ?—A. By whom?

Q. Yes—A. By the examiners in Chicago.

Q. What examiners?—A. Civil service.

Q. Civil-service examiners?—A. Oh, yes, sir.

Q. In other words, if I understand you correctly, it was a tem-
porary appointment?—A. For a two or three months’ period; yes,
sir. : :

Q. And then, having taken the civil-service examination, you re-
ceived a permanent appointment?—A.- Yes, sir. '

Q. When was that?—A. In 1903. o .

Q. And have you acted as local inspector ever sinée?—.4. Yes, sir.

- Q. In the same office?—A. Yes, sir. ' C ,
’ MO that you have been 12 years in the same post?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Noﬂv_, I wish you would state as clearly as you.can your ex-
perience, if- any, with the steamer Eastland. ‘hether you were
ever called upon to inspect her; and if so, when and what was done.
Tell us all you know .about the vessel—A. This board made the
first annual inspection of the steamer Eastland in 1904, “We granted
her, in 1903, the first excursion permit she received, at which time

we allowed her 2,800 people, as I remember. In 1904, 1905, and '

1906 we granted her her annual inspections, and at each time we
made a thorough investigation and inspection of the ship and all
her appurtenances, equipment, etc. - In 1904, 1905, and 1906 that was.
Gen. Unrer. Go right ahead and tell what you did, how many
peo hle a;)u gave her, and everything. '
e

rrNEss. Well, we allowed her at the first go-off 2.800 people,

if my memory serves me rightly, and later on she was increased to
3,000 people, and she ,,,cm’ri(}d%,OOO people during that year a great

tugs in Ohio,
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many times, as I remember it, from 2,800 to 3,000 people, var{ing at
different trips, but in a great many cases she had a full complement.

. I never have known of any trouble with the Eastlend, with the ex-

ception of one trip, in 1904, that they left the water out of her ballast
tanks to get over the bar in South Haven, and they could naturally
not put it in until she had .crossed the bar, and she had at that time
9270 passengers, by count of the tickets. There may have been a

- deadhead or two, but the actual count of tickets was 2,270. I counted

the tickets myself after she had kind of cut up this dido. ‘
Secretary Reprrern. Two thousand two hundered and seventy?
The WiTNess. Yes, sir; I counted the tickets in the purser’s office.

- And the matter at that time was because, as the master had been ad-

vised by us, that at no time should she allow, if my memory serves me,
606 people on the roof. And there were men put at each end of the
vessel to watch those gangways or stairways here, and they were in-
structed when they would get 600 people up there to close the shut-
ters down and refuse more  people to go up. But at this time it
seems that through some hook or crook they allowed approximately,
as near as I could °ung'e,\§£gOO people up there—I was aboard of the
vessel there myselg so I had an opportunity, a good opportunity, to
judge the people, and that is what I figured it—and she listed first
to port slightly, and later on she listed to starboard. I don’t know
at Just what degree, but I think she went to about a twenty angle,
and in fact I was a little bit scared or afraid myself; well, I didn’t
know ‘what the result might be: that she might go farther, but she
stopped at that point, and by getting her water into her hold immedi-
ately she straightened up and came across the lake without any fur-
ther trouble. That is the only time I saw any danger or any trouble
with the Eastland. C
Q. Were you on board of her that day?—A. Yes.
Q. Why were you there #—A. T was there because
the lake to look after the passengers going over. -
Q. Were you there to count the passengers coming back?—A. I
didn’t have to count them, because when I got there I found there was
an inspector of customs counting the passengers. An inspector of
the board was there, and was counting.
Q. Was it by the inspector of the board that you knew or counted

I had been ncrdss

* that she had 2,270?%—A. No, sir; by count of the figures after we got

outside ; count of the tickets. ' ]

Q. Now, how many times have you crossed the lake on the Fast-
landf—A. Well, I presume in those four years she was here, pos-
sibly eight or ten times, Mr. Secretary. ) ‘

Q. When you made an examination of her hull, what did you do
with regards the water tanks, ballast tanks%—A. Well, those usually

- are left more to the boiler inspector. He takes care of that part

down there, although T have been down there several times, but
never through the tanks, you see. But I have seen them and noticed
the arrangement of the tanks, but conldn’t describe them. vou see.
Téimt remains more partigularly with Mr. Peck, my partner in the
office. :
Q. You never have been into the tanks?—A. No, sir; I never nave
been into the tanks. I never thought it was necessary.to go in there.
Q. Was any complaint ever made to you by any one concerning

' the Eastland, and if so, what !—A. Ngver any complaint of her re-
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- garding the listing or that sort of thing, but they complained severa}

~ times about not having plenty of sitting room; that is, chairs, ete,
That was the only complaint about her, in regard to her.

., Q. How many passengers was it that you said you allowed her on

;ins(i)ectiop here?—A. Two thousand eight hundred the first Yyear,
31;001 think after that it was 3,000, and later on she was reduced to

sOW again, ’ '

Q. On what basis did you reckon 2,800%—A. On the deck space,
and by the tonnage she was allowed, boatage, by law, and we had
figured the deck space down and found that she had plenty of
room for that—plenty of room. : '

Q. Was that when the ship was new?—A. Yes, sir;  she came
out in 1908, you know. :

Q. Yes. Did you give any consideration to the stability of the
ship at that time?—A. Well, we considered, after we had seen this
eﬁisqde of the listing, that the ship required her ballast in her at
all fimes, and we so informed the captain and engineers; also Mr.
Blacker, the president of the company. ‘

Q. How did you inform them of that?—A. By letter.

Q. Have you a copy of that letter?—A. Yes, sir; I believe so, in -

my office.
Q. Will you produce a copy of that letter?—A. I will.
Secretary ReprieLp. Send to the office for it now, and get it.
Q. Can you tell the board how many times you have made a
ersonal examination of the Fastland?—A. Why, that would be a
ard matter. We made the regular annular inspections, and we
* also'made intermittent inspections, according to our laws and rules.
" Q. And how many?—A. Well, probably, we made the intermit-
tent inspections three or four times a year; about four, I think, in
addition to the annual inspection. :

Q. How many times altogether can you say you have examined
the Eastland?—A. Oh, with the annual inspections, I should say
15 to 18 times, at least, and many other visits to her, don’t you know,
when we would be near her and go aboard her and look her equip-
ment over. While not our duty in a way, it was our duty to keep in
touch with her all the time. )

- Q: Hayve any persons come to you verbally and asked you whether
the vessel was safe or not?—A. Not to my recollection, sir.

Q. And you have no written communications complaining that
the vessel was unsafe?—A. No, sir; I have none that I know o%.

Q. Did you not know-that the vessel was known to be a cranky
ship —A. Well, perhaps, yes; after I saw what she did by not being
provided with the ballast that she was built to have in her bottom—
water bottom.

Q. Did you or did you not. from your experience as a master of

vessels on the lake, think that the condition you then saw was one
which showed that the vessel was a dangerous vessel 2—A. No, sir.
~ Q. Did you or did you not think that the condition you then saw
showed that the vessel neéded special care in handling?%—A. Yes, sir.
Q. In what sense do you say that she needed special care?—A.
Keeping the ballast in her tanks. A -
Q. Do you consider that the Eastland was a safe vessel without
ballast in her tanks?—A. Perhaps not safe with the full complement

a
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£ 8,000 le, but properly handled and properly manipulated she
;ouid bep;zlxzf:’ctly sgfe to go anywhere in any kind of weather.

Q. When you say properly handled, do you include among the

proper handling the filling of her ballast tanksi—A. Yes, sir; more

* especially.

Q. I beg your pardoni—A. Most especially. - ,
Q. Most especially. Would you regard her as a safe vessel for

. 2,500 people without the tanks full ¢-—A. Well, I never saw her without

the water in her tanks, except the one time that I mentioned, and 1
don’t know how she would act without water in her tanks. ‘

Q. Were you not personally acquainted with§jher engineer and
officers?—A. Yes, sir. )

Q. Did you not confer with them as to their way of handling the
ship?—A. At the time of this listing affair we took it up with both
the captain and engineer and instructed them in the future to see
that the water was 1n her tanks at all times—all the time.

Q. All the time?—A. Yes, sir. . .

Q. Then, do I understand you that the action of the officers of the

vship, which has been testified to here, namelyil;aglptying the tanks

at night, was contrary to instructions that you given to them §—
A. If they emptied them. I never knew that they emptied them.

Q. Well, it has been testified here that they were emptied every
night. Now, if that was done, was it contrary to instruction youn
had given them?—A. No, sir; not according to our instructions that
she should keep the water at all times when she was carrying pas-
gengers.

. Your instructions?—A. But Jaying alone, or at night and per-
fectly light, she was perfectly safe without any water in her tanks
at all. :

Q. Now, did you mean, or dici you understand your orders to mea:
that she was to have her tanks full before she commenced to Joa:
passengers?—A. Yes, sir; a tank. No. 3 tank was a large tank
across the middle of her body, and with that tank full she was all
right to go anywhere and everywhere in all kinds of weather. The
other tanks, the smaller tanks, were forward and aft of this No. 8
tank, and it was for trimming her more than anything else that they
were used for.

Q. When did you last pass upon the Fastland and inspect her {—

A, That would be in the spring of 1906.

Q. Have you given her no examination since?!—A. Dry-dock ex-
aminations only. -

Q. When#—A. Last year, in 1914, and this year, in 1915, :

Q. When did you inspect her in dry dock #—A. At South Chicago

_this year and the North Daock last year.

Q. What was being done to her in the dry dock?—A. Repairing
wheels and shafts.

Q. Did the vessel have bilge keels?—A. No, sir.

Q. What did you do with her at the dock examination?—A. We
examined the ship’s hull outside all over, and found her without
blemish on the hull, but that the shafts were in bad shape, and also
the wheels. '

Secretary Reprrerp. Do you want to ask any questions [address-

, ing Mr. Ackerson] ¢

. Mr. Aceerson. I would like to.
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Q. If you should form an opinion intiihq examination of the Kast- -
land that the gangway ports were not sufficiently high from the

~ water, what would you do?—A. If I were to form an opinion} -
e es; if you came to that opinion upon an examination of the
vessel, what would you do?—A. I would say that they were low. .

Q. What$—A. They were low; they were too low. If they had

- hot been closed before she started to loading the passengers they

~~ & should be closed, the after gangway particularly.
A Q. Is that the only thing you would dot %Vould you make any

suggestions to anybody that those ports be closed, plated over, an
‘not to be used, and otKers cut elsewhere?—A. You I:Lre referril,lg to
the gangways now, are you? ’
Q. Yes; the gangwa.ﬂ.port.——A. The gangways are one thing »nd
the ports are another thing. The deadlines are under the port.
Q. The gangway port I was speaking about.—A. Yes; I would
suggest that the lower half be closed up, yes; for the aft gangway.
_ . You would suggest that it be plated there?—A. Well, for abso-
lute safety, perhaps; yes; in all kinds of weather. *
Q. To whom would: you suggest it?—A. To the owners, the cap-
tain, and owners and managers.

Q. Would He be compelled to do it?—A. I think he would, or

we would not allow her to proceed any further.

Q. You have that authority t—A. Yes.

Q. Has it ever been exercised %—A. I don’t think it has.

So far as you know, do the owners of vessels like the Eastland

have any stability calculations or information on file? Have you
‘ever seen any ¥—A. Not to my knowledge. ”

Q. Have you ever asked for any ?—A. No, sir.

Mr. Aceersox. That is all. .

Secretaﬁy epriELD. Have you any questions, Mr. O'Hara {

R
Mr. O’Hara. How long have you been in the Government. servi
The Wrrness: Since 1903, Y nt servicet

Q. Were you in the Government service in 19067—A. Yes, sir.

Q. In what capacity —A. Inspector; hull inspector.

Q. Did you inspect the steamer- Eastland during the year 1906%—
A. Yes, sir.

Q. As hull inspector, are you in position to give judgment as to
the carrying capacity of a vessel ?mz{). I think so.

Q. And in 1906 it was your judgment that the Eastland was
capable of carrying how meny passengers?—A. 1 think, if it was
in 1906—I don’t remember just—that at one time we allowed her
3,300 Xe(g)le, from her dock measurement and the equipment.

Q. And was it your judgment that that figure was correct?—
A.QY%, sir. .

. During the year 1906 were you acquainted with Geor 0.
Foulkes?—A. I don’t remember thg 'name(.l g

Q. During the year 1906 were you informed that a special agent
from the Treasury Department at” Washington had been sent to Chi-
cago to report on the Eastland?—A. Not as my memory serves me
NOW ; MO, SiT.

Q. Did you ever hear?—A. Had I ever heard that, you say?

Q. Had you ever heard that such an inspector was sent here from

Washington?—A. No, sir; not to my best knowledge and remem-
brance.

ACCIDENT TO THE STEAMER EASTLAND. 287

Q. During the year 1906 were you ever on the Fastland when she
was crowded —A. I can’t say that I was ever on her during that
yesr any special time that she had her complement of passengers
on board. I don’t remember that I did.

Q. Had you ever heard that during the year 1908 the Eastland was

~ carrying su insufficient number of chairs?—A. T think we had some

complaint; I don’t remember the year. It may have been in that
year, but i don’t remember that year; but we at once took that mat-
ter up with the master, and the general manager, as I remember it
now, I think orally, or by letter, I don’t just remember—I think by
letter. ) :

Q. If a vessel is licensed to carry 3,300 passengers or 3,000 pas-
gengers, and carries an insufficient number of chairs so that many of
the passengers are required to stand the entire trip, would you con-
gider the rating of 3,000 excessive. S

A. No, sir; not as to her carrying capacity, but for accommoda-
tions, yes. If she didn’t have the accommodations to seat those peo-
ple, why she was at fault—that is, the ship was not at fault, but the
management was at fault. ‘

Q. And that didn’t come under your jurisdiction?—A. I don’t
remember what there was on that, I am sure. It may have—

Q. Now here is what I am endeavoring to find out: If you had
any official responsibility for the care of these passengers after they
were once on the vessel t—A. If we had any?

Q. Yes, sir—A. I presume we had, but that seating apparatus,
whatever there may have been chairs and settees, they may have been
on her at this time when she went over, and on the next time when
she went over there would not be as many as on the previous trip.

Q. Now, what particular Government official or inspector had that
knowledget—A. Well, I presume that would be up to us. as in-
spectors.

Secretary Reprrerp. This letter here, Governor, will cover that
whole t.hinlg. ' ,

Mr. O’Hara. Permit me, Mr. Secretary, to make this statement,
then. There has been made a part of the record a copy of a letter
sent by George E. Foulkes to the Secretary of the Treasury, under
date of October 30, 1906. This letter officially reports to the Sec-
retary of the Treasury that on August 5, 1906, the steamer East-
land carried 2,530 passengers. That many of these passengers were
unable to find seats or to move around with any reasonable degree
of comfort. That they were unable, many of them, unable to move
from the position originally taken,- and were compelled to stand
during the entire journey. The concluding paragraph is practically
a recommendation that the licensed carrying capacity of the Fast-
land be reduced. .

The official files which I hgve before me here show that on the
3d day of November, 1906, this report was sent to the Commissioner
of Navigation of the Department of Commerce by F. H. Bowen,

.chief clerk, and that on the 6th day of November, 1906, it was referred

by T. B. Sanders, acting commissioner, to the Supervising Inspector
G};neral of Steam Vessels. I should like to have called, Mr. Secre-
tary, the gentleman to whom this was referred on the 6th day of
November, 1906, and to find out what action was taken on this report.
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- This report practically condemns the Eastland as a safe Vessel'or_‘;:ff
- convenient vessel to carry 2,580 passengers. I would suggest, Mr,

Secretary, that if it is possible for this board of inquiry, that the
then Secretary of the Treasury, to whom that report was made, be
~called in person. There we have evidence, Mr. Secretary, of a report
oing to one of the highest members of the Government in 1906, a
{xovernment report. :

- Secretary Reoriero, But I think, Gov. O’Hara, you put a weight
upon it which is hardly consistent withyits tenor. “I am not pre-
pared to say,” the report reads, “that the number of passengers

‘allowed by said certificate is too great for the safety of said pas-

- sengers.” However, the concluding part reads: “ But I am of the
opinion that prudence and a reasonable degree of comfort require
that the number permitted to be carried be reduced.” «

_Mr. O’Hara. Yes; the sentence above that: *Inasmuch as the

official steamboat inspectors have seen fit to grant said boat a
licénse —that is a very courteous suggestion or a very courteously
framed recommendation. .

Secretary ReprieLp. Well, it speaks for itself. I will ask that
Gen. Uhler be instructed to find from the files of the Treasury De-
partment or of the service the action, if any, taken by the Depart-
ment, of the Treasury pursuant to that letter.

Gen. Unrer. I will. - :

Mr. O’'Hara. Now, may I ask the witness?

Q. You were in the service in 1907?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. In what capacity #—A. As local inspector of hulls.

Q. The same capacity in which you served during the year 1906 ?—
A. Yes, sir.

Q. What communications, if any, did you receive from your su-
perior officers concerning the steamer Eastland?—A. Not anything
that I know of. :

Q. You received no communications?—A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. Had such a communication been sent you, would it now be in
the files of your office?—A. I think it would. For your informauon,

I will say that the steamer Eastland left Chicago in 1906, the fall
of 1906, and was not here at all in 1907. We had nothing at all to
do with it. We knew nothing of her.

Q. And not in your jurisdiction #—A. She passed to Grand Haven
and from Grand Haven to Cleveland that year.

Q. And you heard nothing of her that year?—A. Not to my
knowledge;mo, sir. =~ -

Q. Were any inquiries made of you by your fellow inspectors that
year *—A. No, sir.

Q. Did yoy receive any communications from Washington, from

the Department of Commerce or from thé Treasury Department,
during that year?—A. Not that I know of; 1907¢ )

Q. 1907.—A. Not that I know of.

Q. From November 6, 1906, until January 1, 1907, did you receive
any communications from Washington concerning the steamer Eags?-
land?—A. Not as I recollect. If we had any communication from
Washington it would be in our files. It would be a matter of record
in our files. .

Mr. O’Hara. Thank you, sir.

@

.
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Secretary Reprierp. I will read for the record the letter to which
the witness has testified, which was sent to the owners of the steam-
ship Eastland July 18, 1904.

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AXND Lmbn,
OFFICE OF LoCAL INSPECTORS, STEAMRBOAT-INSPECTION SERVICE,
Chicago, I, Ju;z/ 18, 1904.
Mr. R. A. BLACKER,
President 3Michigan Steamship Co., Chicago, IlL.

Siz: In view of the occurrence on the steamer FEasiland yesterday evening
jeaving South Haven, this board, one member of which made the trip on the
poat, has arrived at the conclusion that the cause of the boat's listing in the
way she did is that the water ballast was not properly confined. We have
arrived at this conclusion partly from our knowledge of such matters and partly
from conversation with the captain and engineer of the steamer. We feel
gbsolutely satisfied that if no more persons are carried on her upper deck
than our measurements permit her to carry, viz, 500 people, the approximate
weight of which number would not be over 37% tons, that it would be im-
possible to list the boat in the way that she was listed Sunday. night.

We think possibly the water, may leak from one side of the No. 3 compart-
ment to the other through a faulty partition. The bulkhead may have
leaks in it or may have openings left in it purposely to permit the water to
run from one side to the other. In either case, it should not ve. When water
is put into one side or the other of the compartments it should be contained
there and not permitted to run through from one side to the cher.

We recommend that water be admitted at one or the other side of this
compartment and the other side be opened up, the- manhole plates taken off,
and some one get inside and see if any water passed through the bulkhead.
We are satisfied that our conclusions in this matter are correct, because after
the water bottom had been properly filled last night the boat straightened up
and there was no more trouble from the ship listing on the way across.

This condition must absolutely be remedied at once.

We also know from actual observation that the steamer has not adequate

. geating capacity for the number of passengers allowed. We therefore suggest

that you have furnished at least 500 camp stools or other suitable means of
geating passengers.

The matter of the trouble last night has been brought to the attention of
this board for an official investigation by several of the persons who went
across on her, and we therefore feel that we are absolutely compelled to take
cognizance of the conditions,

We trust that this matter will recelve such earnest attention on the part
of the officers and owners of the Fasgiland that we shall not be compelled to
cut down the number of passengers allowed or cause her to discontinue her
service. We expect to recelve satisfactory assurance of your immediate atten-
tion to this matter or we feel that we shall be compelled to put the steamer
ou of commission until such time as changes have been made to render & recur-
rence of this listing impossible. ) .

Respectfully. .
Ira B. MAxsrFIELD,
Roy L. PEcg,
Local Inspectors.

Secretary Reorierp. T ask if that is a copy of your signature?

The Wrrness. Yes, sir.

Q. You wrote that letter?—A. Yes, sir.

Secretary Reprrerp. The letter is found on pages 388 and 389 of
letter book marked on back January 4, 1904-August 31, 1904,

To it T read the response: :

CHrcago, July 22, 1904,
Messrs, Iza B. Mansrierp and Roy L. PECE,
United States Steamboat Inspectors, Chicago, Ill.
GeNTLEMEN : Immediately upon receipt of your favor of the 18th I took up

with Capt. Dority and Engineer KEales the matter of the water ballast on
steamer Feastland, and it will have their careful attention. Ballast and bulk-
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head partitions were found water tight. In carrying out your suggestion

- have issued the following order:

- Capt. DoriTY, Steamer *Eastland.’”

“DeaR SIR: In future you will allow not to exceed 500 passengers on the
-upper deck of steamer Egsfland, including children. See that this order s
strictly enforced.

: “ Yours, truly,

“R. R. BLACKER,
“President and Generel Manager.”

I feel under great obligations to you for the inforination contained in your -

" letter and, in addition to carrying out your orders I shall at all times be

pleased to carry out any of your suggestions locking to the safety and comfort
of our passengers.
; Yours, truly,

R. R. BLACKER,
President end General Manager.

Secretary Revrierp. This is on the letterhead of the Michigan
Steamship Co. :

"Gov. O’Hara. What is the date, Mr. Secretary?

Secretary Reorierp. I will give you that, excuse me. July 22,
1904. Just four days-after the other letter.

Q. I hand you a paper and ask you if it is the certificate signed
by yourself and Peck as inspectors allowing the steamer Eastlond
375 regular and 2,925 excursion passengers, a total of 3,3007—A.
Yes, sir; that is my signature.

Q. That is your signature, is it?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And this is marked, I will say for the record, “ Canceled July
26, 1904,” and a new permit issued, the original date being June 24,
1904. So that this was in use one monthand two days?—A. Yes,sir.
- Q. Now, I ask you if this is the certificate entitled, “ Permit to
carry excursion party,” which allows the steamer Eastlond to carry

~a total of 2,800 persons?—A. Yes, sir. K

Q. And that is signed by you?—A. Yes, sir; and Mr. Peck.

Q. Any by Mr. Peck?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why was this change made?—A. Well, I can tell you in a little |

time, Mr. Secretary, why it was made.

Take your time.—A. The manager of the Eastland, the steam-
ship Fastland, and the manager, also, of the steamship the City
of South Hawen were very impulsive and, of course, doing a lot of

- advertising, and with the rest we noticed in the paper that they
were advertising that while they were allowed by the Government
inspectors - to carry a total of 3,300 people, still they said to the
public: “ We will never carry over 3,000 people.” We took it for
granted that if they were so liberal and didn’t care to carry that
many people we said we would arrange™it so you ecan not carry any

more people than 3,000 people. That was why the change was made -

at that time. :
- Q. Why did you understand that the steamboat people deliber-
ately advertised that they would carry 300 people less than they
were permitted to carry ?—A. Oh, a little matter of rivalry. I don't
‘know how else they would put it. Of course théy wanted to do a
littl6 boasting in the papers, through the papers.

.~ Q. They would make more money by carrying a full 3,300.
wouldn’t they?—A. T presume they would.
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“voluntarily igreeing to carry less than the officers lawfully al-
) :

lowed ¢—A. Never. o
Q. When this letter was received, which has been made a portion

of the record, stating that the tanks had been found water-tight, /
I

did you make an examination to see that they were-so tight?—A.
believe Mr.'Peck made that examination, it being in his departmenty’
in a way. o )

Q. Is};l’t it o fact, Mr. Mansfield, that you received a numbey of
written complaints to the effect that that vessel was overcrowded ’—
A. T think we did receive such complaints: overcrowded, but never
overloaded. That overcrowding came from the fact that we had up
here, now, a scarcity of seating apparatus—chairs and stools, etc.

Secretary Repriery. I find this letter, Mr. Mansfield, Qéted—-

DEPARTMENT 0 COMMERCE AND KABoR.
STEAMRBOAT-INSPECTION - SERVICE,
“'rmhin,(/toy’, August 2, 1904,
United States local inspectors, Chicago, I, S i

- GENTLEMEN : I beg to acknowledge receipt of youar \y/ry; complete report in
reply to letter of Mr., Edward C. Nichols in regard to/ steamer FEastlend, and
there seems to be only one thing the department would like you to explain
in regard to your suggestion in letter to 3Mr! Blacker, president Michigan
Steamship Co., of July 18— ,

That is the letter I have read to you. /

The Wrrness. Yes. /

Secretary Reprierp. And referring also to his reply [continuing
reading]—
recommending that some one get inside compartment No. 3 and see if any
water passes through bulkhead. Why this was not made a matter of your
own personal inspection instead of getting the report of the steamboat people?
Please explain this as soon as possible,

By direction of the Supervising Inspector General.

Respectfully,
W. F. Garcuern, Chief Clerk.

Secretary Revrierp. What was the explanation?

The Wirxness. I don't remember the wording of the letter exactly,
but I am quite sure that Mr. Peck made the investigation and in-
spection in the hold, and went into those tanks, and I think perhaps
you will find a reply to that letter in the copy book here somewhere.
I am not sure. ) - )

- Secretary Repriewp. T wish you would look for that and verify
that, Gen. Uhler. -

Q. Mr. Mansfield, when you were on the Eastland, when she was
running, or at any time when you were on board, did you ever ob-
serve how high the rear gangways were above the water?—A. Did
I ever observe? )

Q. Yes—A. In actual inches and feet I couldn’t say, but they
were very low. T think with her complement of people aboard of
her the after gangways would be probably inside of 12 inches from
the water, the bottom of the gangways; the lower half closed.

Q. When you were on board of her and she listed in South Haven
Harbor, did you go down to see whether the water came over that
or not?—A. Yes, sir; I did, personally.

22359—16——16

£y

v




- ont
. ——Q.“Why did you order them shut?—A. Because we were afraid’

i}

/
¢
i

242 ACCIDENT TO THE STEAMER EASTLAND,

Q. And did it come over?—A. No, sir, ",\b,ut I immediately ordered 1

‘the gangways all shut on that side, and they also shit the gangway,
Ee port side, which was the hi h side. gfyhey shut both ogf thge::].ys

she might list farther and get some water on the deck, and conse-
quent? in the hold. o

Q. If the water came into those gangways, was the construction
of that vessel such that it would flow into the hold %—A. It could
have flowed into the hold if it got into amidships of the vessel.

Q. Was there any combing or other structure that prevented i
going into the hold if it got into the vessel —A. There was about g,
6-inch combing, as I remember now, around the engine room.

Q. How near did it come to that gangway when you ordered it
closed?—A. I presume it was about 6 inches from the gangway, as
I remember. .

Q. About 6 inches?—A. About 6 inches. >

Q. Wasn’t it nearer than that?—A. I don’t think so. I don’t

~ think it got up to the gangway. o

Q. Now, as a matter of fact, did it or did it not come up on the
deck at that time—the water #—A. No, sir; not in my presence.

Q. Well, at what time was your presence had? Were you there
at the moment of listing, or were you there after it?—A. The mo-
ment of listing was the time I started down there.

Q. Yes; but how long did it take you to get down?—A.. Not more
than five minutes. Of course, there was some people on there; I

- had to get through the crowd; it was about five minutes.

Q. During those five- minutes had she recovered somewhat?—A.
I think so. I think she had.

Q. So that the water might have been higher before you got
there?—A. I think so; possibly. . .

Q. Anyway, you thought the situation one that required you to
close that gangway?—A. T did; yes, sir.

Q. Now, is that all you did on”that subject. on the subject of that

ow; and, in fact, on both sides of the boat.

Q. Did you in Writin% call the attention of the owners or the offi-
cers of the boat to the fa

gx‘ngway‘?;uA; “We elosed both gangways at that particular time, I

record to show that. '

Q. Did you do it?—A. I think we did it orally. f

Q. Do you know for sure?—A. Well, I am quite positive we talked
it all over with Mr. Blacker'and the general manager at that time,
who was Mr. Cochran, and the engineer and captain. . '

Q. Did you give any instructions in writing or orally to the effect
that that condition was one which would require those gangways to
be kept closed —A. I think we did. '

Q. Can you produce a copy of those instructions?—A. No, sir; I
can’t. I think it was all done orally, sir.

Q. Well, were those instructions obeyed, to your knowledge?—A.
To the best of my knowledge; yes.

Q. Well, how much knowledge have you of the matter?—A, Well,
knowledge of the fact that many times after that I was aboard the
ship and rode on her under all conditions.

ct that that gangway had on one occasion
been dangerously near the water?—A. I don’t think we have any

=
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Q. And did you persbnally examine that rear gangway to seel—

~ A, Yes, sir. -

Q. And did you always find it closed #—A. The lower half was
always closed when the people got aboard of her. - .
- Mr. AckersoN. In the letter of July 18, which was read, I believe
you stated that you believed the reason the vessel listed was because
the water was not properly confined. In your testimony a few mo-
ments ago I believe you stated she had no water ballast at that time.
Which is right%-—A. She had no water ballast when she left thé dock
at South Haven. This occurrence took place outside of the river,
just outside of the harbor, after she left the bar; over the bar. -
Q. And she had ballast in at that time?—A. At the time she
started to list? . i .
Q. Yes.—A. She had very little in at that time. Just started to
run it in. : o
Q. She didn’t start to list until they started to put the water in it;

| isthat it?—A. I think that is true,

Q. Is that your understanding of it#—A. Yes. I don’t know what
time they started to put water in it, but immediately after they left
the bar. )

Q. As soon as the ballast tanks were completely filled there was
naulist ?—A. Not a sign. ) :

Q. What?—A. No, sir. - ) ]

Q. Then the question of whether the center-line bulkhead was
tight or not would not make any difference after she was completely
filled %—A. Not after she was completely filled; clear across in the
holds; in the two tanks. ' )

Q. That is the way they are supposed to fill them, isn’t it?—A.
Yes, sir.

Secretary Reorierp, Did you go on shore that day at South Haven,
Mr. Mansfield ? . ; - )

The Wrrness. I presume I did. T can’t remember the detail of
that, Mr. Secretary.

Q.’ There was a {grood deal of rivalry with the Céty of South Haven,
wasn’t there?—A. Yes, sir. .

Q. The people used to come down to see the boats off, didn’t
they *—A. Thousands of them. -

. Crowds?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And do you happen to know personally whether there were a
good many people on the day that the listing occurred !—A. Not
particularly on that day. )

Q. I beg your pardon.—A. I don’t remember particularly on that
special day. They were attending on every ship that went there;
every ship. I was there on Sunday; on Sunday was the only day 1
ever went over there. '

Q. Now, as T understand it, you thought the movement of the
vessel on that occasion was sufficiently serious to justify you in imme-
diately having the aft gangways closed%—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And in giving instructions to keep them continuously closed
thereafter, did you not?—A. Yes, sir. )

Secretary Reprrerp. Well, did you or did you not know that the
condition which gave rise to that conclusion in your own mind was
seen by 2 large number of people?
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The Wriness. Aboard the ship? o
"~ Q. On board the ship and on shore.—A. They couldn’t help byt
~ +'see it, sir. .

Q. ’They couldn’s help but see. Did it occur to you that some
‘assurance was necessary to those people to-satisfy them of the safety
of the use of that vessel %—A. Why, naturally’ ves. . .

Q. Well, what did you do in that connectiori?—A. We assured
them by letter, I think, that the listing was caused from—the reason
~"that it was cansed—the lack of water ballast. ,

Q. And that is what you referred to in your letter-to the com-
pany ¢—A. Yes, sir. oo

Secretary ReprieLp. ‘Put in the record at this point, and as a por.
tion of the subject on which at the moment this witness is being
examined, letter received by me to-day:

S . Winsgon-Sarey, N. C., July 81, 1915,
WoLiasm C. REDFIELD, T : :
Secretary of Commerce, : )
. Chicago, I11. . : ] !
Dear Sir: I know not whether the information will be of use to you in your
investigation of the Fastland disaster, but I wish to give you the knowledge

that 11 years ago this summer, when the Bastland first began running between
South Haven, Mich,, aiid Chicago, I was living in South Haven. As there were

two competing companies at that {ime there was much rivalry and racing,

between the two steamships, Fastland and City of South Haven. The arrival
and departure of the two boats were attended by large crowds of people on the
piers at the entrance to the South. Haven Harbor. One day as the Eastland
was passing out of the harbor as she met the waves of the lake she listed so
badly that it created great excitement for a few minutes and everybody thought
the boat was going over. People, both on the boat and on the piers, screamed,
and some women fainted. When this event occurred my wife and I were stand-
ing on the pier.
never entirely cvercome so long as I resided there. Although the Michigan
Steamship Co. tried to have the people feel that the boat was safe, many
people refused to cross the lake on it, feeling that she was top heavy and liable
to capslze, . ‘ .

I know not who is responsible for the recent disaster; but 1t seems that its
original construction must have been incorrect.

Very respectfully,
Dr. P. 8. Stamnes,

.'Secretary Repriern. Do you know anything about the facts that |

he mentions thére?

The Wirxess. No, sir; I do not. I do know it is a fact that upon
the departure of either of those vessels on those occisions the bank
above the bridge, and it was a very high bank, and the piers were
generally thronged with people. It was very easy for this gentle-
man to have seen the occurrence from where he stood on the pier.
Q. Capt. Mansfield, you say you are inspector of hulls?—A. Yes,
Sir. . :
" Q. Did you ever give, or did you ever receive from your superiors
special instrictions to watch the Eastland with other and more par-

ticular care than was given to another vessel ?—A. Not to my knowl-

edge. »

6. Did you not know, as a matter of fact, that she was considered
by many people, whether rightly or wrongly, to be a ship that was
cranky or likely to list or to tilt? Did you not know that there was
that feeling?—A. Yes, sir. . ¥

Q. You did know that, didn’t you?—A. Yes, sir. '

The effect of this action on the part of the Eeastland was,

If this informatlon is of any - ‘
service to you in placing the blame, my object in writing it will be accomplished.
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Q. Did you or did you not feel that your personal experience of
that fact, together with the general-public belief that that was the
fact, charged you in any measure with a special responsibility with
regards to that vessel#—A. Yes, sir. o

Q. You did so feel*—A. Yes, sir. L

Q. What did you do in discharge of that responsibility ?—A. We
had the matter up personally with the master of the ship and the
engineer as well as the letter written to Mr. Blacker, which you have

read, and we were satisfied that if the ballast was kept in her bottcms -

as it should be there would never be a recurrence of that accident or
a similar accident or an excitement.

Q. Can you state specifically what you told the captain and
engineer on that occasion?—A. I don’t know as I can repeat the
conversation verbatim.

Q. No; but the substance—A. The substance of what we told them
was, “ Gentlemen, be careful of the water in this vessel; always keep
No. 8 tank full, all the time, and you will be perfectly all right.
Trim her if you want fo on that forward and aft tank, but No. 8
full all the time.” And we had reason to believe that when she had
¥:ssengers aboard of her that those instructions were carried out in

1 detail.

Q. To whom did you tell that?—A. The captain and engineer.

Q. Who were they ?—A. Capt. Frank Dority and William Eales,
the first year; in fact William Eales was there two years, I think.
Later on the gentleman who was before you, William Nack, was
appointed as chief engineer for several years—during the part of
the time that she was operating out of Chicago.

Q. Did you tell him that?—A. Yes, sir; and in fact Mr. Nack
was there and presént at the conversation that we had with the
original chief engineer.. ‘

Q. Did you ever give such instructions to the captain who had
charge of Ker when she came back from Cleveland?—A. No, sir.

Q. Why not?—A. Because she was in another territorgr.

Q. Do you mean by reason of her running to St. Joseph —A.. No,
sir; by reason of her having been inspected by the Grand Haven
board, and I have every reason to believe that everything that was
necessary to advise the captain was so done by the inspectors at
South Haven. :

Q. Then it didn’t occur to you as necessary to say to Capt. Peder-
sen what you had said to Capt. Dority #—A. No, sir. In fact, Capt.
Pedersen was a man who was very hard fo approach from my
standpoint, and not very liable to acquiesee to anything I might ask
lim to do or to say to him, unless he would be given to understand
that unless he did so action would be taken on his license. He is

- a peculiar man.

Q. Did you write him?—A. No, sir.

Q. Did you ever have any personal difference with Capt. Peder-
sen?—A. Not specially; no, sir.

Q. Why do you qualify it? Did you not have a personal differ-
ence with Capt. Pedersen?—A. T had, perhaps, some little differ-
ence with him on caring for the equipment of the ship.

Q. What was that?—A. With reference to her life preservers.

L3
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"~ Q. Tell it—A. My first visit-to this ship, after she came back
. here from Cleveland, I noticed that a great many of the life pre.
- servers, the belt straps were knotted in front, which is absolutely
" against- our instructions on any steamer that goes out: of this }éort, o
a

ond I advised him at that time—I only advised him; I said, “
tain, that is not according to our idea of life preservers, to have the
belt straps knotted. Keep them all free.” In case any accident
- should occur to her at any time—and not to her any more than te
-any other vessel—but in case of accident, they could be easily ad-
. justed to any person that mi%h_t want to use them; they wouldn't
. have to stop and untie the belt straps. And a little later on, on o
- visit-to her when she was in the drydock on the North Side here, I
‘" / boarded the ship during the making of the drydock inspection, and

found that the life preservers had not been cared for. And I very -

emphatically called the master up and said: “ Now you either go
ahead and take care of these life preservers as you %ave been in-
structed to do, or I will take action on your license.”. At a subse-
‘quent visit I found that they had all been cared for.
Q. Captain, on a ship on which you have had personal experience
_ of the kind you have described and of such a character that you
." thought fit or thought it your duty to caution the captain and the
engineer, after some years of absence it comes back to the city where
you are employed as an inspector, and the circumstances are such
. that she comes back under the immediate supervision of another
board than that of which you ‘are a member, do I understand you
correctly that you felt that under those circumstances it was incum-
bent on you, or a duty, to personally give similar instructions to the
new captain that you had given to the old one?—A. Well, we would
naturally think that peghaps if there was any especial instructions
to be given out to him that they would be given out by the other
board where she was inspected and being cared for in reinspections,

naturally. “Right here, if I am permitted to do so, I want to state a

little occurrence that took place with reference to this captain. After
- T had had this little difference with him on the life-preserver question

a gentleman who is in the employ of the Government was in this

building at that time, and saidf to me one morning, “I am going over
‘on"your pet steamer.” “Why do you call her my pet?” “ Why, be-
cause you are looking after her pretty closely.” And T said to him,
“T wish you would take up the matter and look after the life pre-
servers ”’—this was between the first and second visits that I quoted—
“and see if the life preservers have all had the knots removed from
the belts, and all that sort of thing, and also to see that there are
covers on the boats,” which I had suggested at the time of my first
visit, which never were put on her until this year. He said, “All
right.” And the matter of this gentleman being very friendly with
the manager, and also with the captain, it seems that the conversa-
tion was brought up to this effect, that™® The damned inspectors had
been down there,” meaning me, of course, “and advised them to do

and not to do certain things”—in the presence of the manager, and

this gentleman tells me, whom I can produce, in fact, that the mana-
ger said, “ It is damned funny that the fresh-water sailors are going
to tell us seagoing captains what we should do in regard to the safety
of the vessels and the equipment of the ship.” He same back and told
me that that was the conversation that he had there. \

e

-Q.-Who are the partiesi—A. A gentleman by the name of Meyer.
Q. Who is he?—A. He is in the city here. I don’t know where he
is now. I think he could be got—could be obtainable. That is in
substance, as I remember, the conversation. Perhaps not just in de-
tail, but that is in substance. ) . . ~ :

Secretary Repriewp. The board will adjourn to meet at 2 o’clock.
(Whereupon an adjournment was taken until 2 o’clock p. m. of the
same day, Monday, Aug. 2, 1915.) -
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S Lo Moxbpay, Aveust 2, 1915—2 p. 3.
The board -met pursuant to recess.
Present, same as before.

Ira B. Mansrrerp resumed the stand and testified as follows:
Examination by Secretary Reprrerp:
Q. Capt. Mansfield, I hand you letter purporting to be signed by

E. M. Sweeney, dated July 28, 1905. Did you receive that letter t—

A. 1 initialed 1it; yes, sir. , i L

Q. Does that letter contain a complaint against what is said to
be the crowding on the Eastland?—A. I should think it does;

es, sir, . :

4 (,i I hand you a letter dated June 26, 1905, purporting to be
signed by George Eddy Newcomb. Does that contain a complaint
as to conditions for handling passengers on the Eastland?—A. Yes,
girs I think it does. '

Q. Did that letter reach you?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. I hand you paper purporting to be copy-of letter from F. G.
Nelson, dated July 18, 1904. Did that letter reach you?—A. I think
it did; yes, sir. i, . B

Q. And does it contain a complaint about the overcrowding on

- the Fastland?—A.. I presume it does.

Q. I hand you letter purporting to be signed by George B. Frost,
dated July 26, 1905, ang ask you if that reached you and if it con-
tains a complaint regarding the overcrowding on the Eastland f—A.
Yes, sir.

Sécretary Repriep. And, Capt. Westeott; I hand you a telegram
and a letter, or papers purporting to be such, and ask if the teleg
was sent by you and if the letter bears your signature?

Capt. Wesrcort. The letter bears my signature; yes, sir. The
briefing on that letter appears to be the writing of the clerk that I
had at that time, and the telegram I suppose I sent, although it is
not my writing, of course. I suppose that is my telegram. The
briefing was done in the handwriting of the clerk I had at that time.

Secretary Reorrerp. What is your rule about reporting to the
supervising inspector complaints that reach you respecting over-
crowding? : ,

The V%ITNESS. We are presumed to report anything of that sort
that is presented by the inspector. We expect to do that.
ell, do you?—A. I think they do. I may be mistaken.

Q. Are you not sure?—A. Well, we are sure that we answer all
required correspondence, and if they should go to the supervising
inspector, they go; any reports. : N

) .

am -
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=N Q. You say if they should go to the supervising inspector, they
. goi—A. I mean by that that if they sheuld go to him, should be

referred to him, they go to him in reply in a letter form. -

Q. Did you send these complaints to the supervising inspector —

“A. I don’t remember about that now. v

Q. Do you know whether it is or is not the fact that you did not
send them to the supervising inspector %—A. No, sir; I .do not know,
laint about the overcrowding of vessels during the year 1904%—A,
here must have been some complaint abcut those letters that we

- received here. I presume they were all referred to the supervising

inspector. : -

-~ Mr. THorMaN. Capt. Mansfield Here is a letter dated July 26,
11905, Chicagoe, addressed to the United States ins ector of steam-
boats, Federal Building, signed by a gentleman by the name of
Georﬁe P. Frost, containing a general charge, or a charge of the over-
crowded condition of the steamer Eastland on Sunday evening, July
'23, 1905, on her return trip from South Haven. That-letter, in its
original form, is attached to a sheet of paper, on the back of which

- is written “ File number,” and then “ George P. Frost, complained of
overcrowding on the steamer Eastland.” Tell me, if you can, what
was done with that complaint? \ S

The Wrrness, I do not recall what was done; I do not remember
whether we reported to the supervising inspector or not.

Q. Isthere any way in which you.can fined out just what was done
in regard to that letter ?—A. 1 &Z) not know of any way, without you
have a reply to him in that letter book.

Q. Now, if anything was done at all with that letter, where would
it be found? If that letter was answered, if a letter was sent to
Mr. Frost in reply to that, or if your office here took notice of it, or

if it was sent to the supervising inspector, where in the records of

: four office would such procedure be filed?—A. It would be in the
~ letter-file. : ’ , .

Q. Do I understand, then, that if there is no reference to this
letter of Mr, Frost’s in that letter file that your office took no notice of
it, at all%—A. No, sir; I don’t remember now that the man appeared
to me—ever came to the office and talked this matter over with us

and dismissed it in a way, and we told him it would never oceur
again.

Q. If you got a letter like that, didn’t you even acknowledge the .

receipt of it?—A. Usually; yes, sir.
Q. Don'’t you always do it?—A. We aim to, yes, sir; it may have
I an’ oversight on our part at that time, perhaps.
© Q. If there was an answer sent to this letter, it would be found in
- this letter book?—A. Yes, sir; I Eresume 50.
Q. If not in that letter book, the supposition is that you did not
“answer it; that is correct, is it¥—A. I presume s0; I don’t remember
of the occurrence now, as to replying to that letter or not
Q. Now, let me ask you, Captain, on the receipt of a letter of that
sort, what is the usual procedure—what should be the usual pro-

cedure, or is the usual procedure, in your office?’—A. Should be to-

reply to the letter and refer the matter to the supervising inspector.

Q. That is what I am fetting at. Is a matter of that sort—a com-
plaint of that sort—one

i

Q. Do you or do you not know that there was a general com-.

or your office to attend to, or is it your duty
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" to send it to the supervising inspector? In other words, just what
. it the duty of the local inspectors upon receipt of a complaint gimi-

lar to the one received at your office from Mr. Frost?—A. I presume
it would be a report to the supervising inspector.

Q. Now, let us not presume, Captain. What would be the pro-
cedure?—A. That would be the procedure, or else, as I have already
said, the man may have 'een in and talked the matter over. We
talked the matter over with.hlm and satisfied him that it would
never occur again, or something of that sort. ' I do not say that is
the case, for I don’t remember. _ -

Q. When you have these conversations with these gentlemen who
file written complaints and follow them in person, do you ,make any
record at all of your conversations with them?—A. I don’t remem-
ber of making any. I will say, for your edification, previously, as
far back as 1904, 1905, and 1906, those things were not thought of as
they are thought of at present. Perhaps we may have been lax in
replying to some of those things and referring them to the proper
person. There are two of us in the office, and 1f it were a fact that
we considered it and some disposition of it was made between Mr.

. Peck and myself, the oversight could not be charged to us. It would

have to be charged to the board. ) N
Q. Then, as a matter of fact, Captain, you do not know from any
of the files you may have what was done with this complamt;ecewed

“from Mr. Frost?—A. No, sir.

Q. You have no way of tellingt—A. No, sir; I don’t remember.

Q. Is there any difference in the regulations now or the rules gov-
erning the handling of complaints as distinguished from the years
1904, 1905, and 1906?—A. Very decidedly; yes, sir. )

Q. In what respect?—A. We are more prompt in answering and
in inspections and everything else; very much.

Q. How do you handle complaints with regard to steamboats at
the present time, generally speaking?—A. We generally reply to-
them, and if it is something we can not reply to ourselves, something
above us, we refer it to the supervising inspector. :

Q. Suppose a letter similar to this.of Mr. Frost’s should come to
your office in regard to sorne other steamboat, what wguid be the pro-
cedure under the rules and regulations?—A. Refer it to the super-
vising inspector. P )

Q.ngﬁd you not acknowledge the receipt of it?—A. Yes, sir;
and refer it to the supervisor, the .proper party. )

Q. That, I understand you to say, is‘due to a change in your rules
and regulations?—A. A change in the rules and regulations after a
better understanding of what was required of the office, of the serv-
ice; an improvement all around.

é. Here is a letter dated July 18, 1904, addressed to the Hon.
William P. Nixon, director of customs, Chicago, 111, signed by F. G.
Nelson, being in regard to a complaint on the overcrowding of the
steamer Eastland, referred by the collector to the Steamboat-Inspec-
tion Service. Is there any way of telling what action was taken on
that complaint?—A. I think that was referred to the supervising
inspector, if I remember correctly. o )

. Ag a matter of fact, then, you have no distinct recollection of
any of these four complaints dated in the yvears 1904 and 1905, have

%
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you?—-—-A I can not recollect those things. I don’t remember what
, osll?on 'wastgnade of tllxiem. :
( any action was taken, to repeat aguin, it would be found i
:ﬁlsllgtetgli ook that the Secx,'etary nowa}%aa {-A. If we replied g;
e le

Q. Or if they were sent or forwarded to the supervising inspector.
tﬁgtkrecord would bo found in the letter book, would it nott A 1
ink go. : ’

The Secrerary. Pursuant to this line of questioning, I will read

i:ttt(; :l;;:)zic:ord a letter dated July 27, 1904, found on page 412 of the

Hon. C. H. Wescorr,
Supcrvising Imspector, Detroit, Mich.,

Sie: Referring to Department Circular No. 44, May 23, 1904, In relatlon to
the overcrowding of passenger steamers, we have to respectfully atate that
this board is In receipt of numerovs verbal complainta that the varlous
steamers running to points en the east shore of Lake Michigan (among others
St. Joseph and South Haven) and returning to this port In some Instances
overcrowded. - We are informed that this Is especlally true of the trip return-
ing to Chicago Sunday evening, when the people leaving Chlcago on Saturday
as well as the people leaving this port Sunday morning all attempt to return
Sunday Evening,

We have conferred with the Hon. William Penn Nixon, collector of customs
at this port in regard to counting passengers, and are working In harmony
with him in that respect. However, it hay been found Impossihle by not only
ourselves, but also by the deputies detalled by the collector of customs, to
accurately count the number of passengers leaving the steamer at this port
Sunday evening, for the reason that they leave the hoat by several EANEWuYys
and in addition, many jump from the upper deck to the dock. Inosmuch ng
we have no means of counting the passengers taking the steamers at the ports
on the east shore of Lake Michigan we thought hest to appralse you of the
facts in the matter. We are able to say that no steamer hns left the port of
Chicago overcrowded.

Very respectfully,

JUL\; 22, 1004.

Ira B. Maxsrrerd,
Itoy L. Prck,
Lacal Inspectors.

In resporse to that letter C. H. Westcott, the supervising in-
spector,. sent the following telegram, dated July 25, 1901 :

. Detrorr, Mrcir., July 23, 1904,
United States local steambout inspectors, Chicagn, I1.:

Letter received. You will request collector of eustoms at Chicago to have
deputies make round trip on passenger steamers leaving Chicngo Sunday morn-
ing, returning Sunday evening, that have been reported to you for returning
overloaded. Such is the practice with collector here you shonld Investigate
all such cases.

: C. H. WesTcoTT,
Supervising Inapectaor.

A letter of the same date addressed to you as local inspector at
Chicago: v S -
. Jury 23, 1904.
United States local inspectors, Chicago, I
GenTiEMER : This office is in receipt of your letter of the 224 instant, In
relation to the numerous verbal complaints that have been made to you that
passenger steamers running to ports on the east shore of Lake Bichigan are
returning to Chicago, in some instances, overerowded, and In reply would say,
as in telegram of this date, that in cases such as you refer, where yon have
any reason to belleve that a passenger steamer may be overcrowded, you
should go to the chief officer of customs and request that deputles be put on
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the steamer for the round trip, with instructions to count the passengers om
at each end of the route. There are just such cases here; for lnstance, from
Detroit to Port Huron and return, on Sundays and excursion days. Collector
Rich has deputies ge from Detroit to Port Huron and return, and where the
gteamer has its full complement they make no more stops, but come straight
through for Detroit. This sometimes occurs on the return boat Sunday even-
ing after the people have been going up to the flats and other summer resorts
all day, and all want to come back on the late boat. You should keep in close
touch with the collectors and make requisittions for men to assist whenever
needed. You should also thoroughly investigate such cases as may come to
your ohservation, or are reported verbally or otherwise.
teapectfully, )
" C. H. WESTCOTT,
Supervising Inspector.

Q. The present rule for counting passengers—the present work
of counting passengers is no longer in your hands, is it—A. No, sir.

Q. Do you understand in whose hands it is?—A. The inspector
of customs’ hands, handled by the deputy.

The Secrerary. It is already in the testimony “handled by the
pavigation inspectors.”

Capt. Mansfield, is this your signature [showing letter book to
witness] ¢

A. Yes, sir.

The Secrerary. I read a letter dated July 80, 1904, addressed to
the Hon. George Uhler, Supervising Inspector (ieneral, Washing-
ton, D. C.:

Jury 30, 1904,
Hon. Georar. VnLER,
Supcrvising Inspector General, Washington, D. C.

Sik: We have to respectfully acknowledge the receipt of letter of Mr.
Edward C. Nichols, of Chleago, 111, with reference to the conditions on the
gteamer Kaatlond while returnlng from South Haven, Mich., to Chicago, I,
on the night of July 17, by reference from your office for report.

Reply to the same has been delayed on account of press of husiness,

In reply, we would respectfully stnte that Capt. Ira B. Mansfield, local in-
gpector of hulls at this port, mode the round trip on the steamer Fastlond on
the duy numed, Sundny, July 17, from Chleago to South Haven and return,.
On the return trip, which s the trip mentloned by Mr. Nichols, Capt. Mans-
field boarded the stamer Just as she was lenving her doek in South Haven,
The day was very warm, and as the steamer 18 constructed entirely of steel,
it was uncomfortably warm In the eahing and on the lower deck. Therefore
the passengers atlempted to all get on the upper deck In order to get the
benefit of whntever hreeze there milght be; 8o many suceeeded in getting on
the upper deck that It was uneomfortubly filled.  In addition, the water  bot-
toms of the ateamer ln whieh s carrled the water ballast had been partly
emptied In order to allow the steamer to get alongslile her dock at South
Haven, as there Is not depth of water enouzh at the dock tigpre to permit a
sleamer of the Fastlond's normal draft to approach the dock. 7

Also, while the stenmer was lylng ot the dock, the water !rumﬂ}lm largest
water hottoms, which had been filled with clean water from tHemiddle of
Lake Michizan, had been used for sanltary purposes, cooking, ete., thus par-
tinlly emptying them, which further reduced the hallast, It Is the opinfon
of this board that the lsting which eccurred was due entlrely to the two.
features nbove mentloned, viz, n large number of people on the hurricane deck
and less than the normal amount of water hallast In the water bottoms. At
the time the listing occurred, Capt. Mansfield suggeated to the master of the
stenmer that he request a numhber of the passengers on the hurricane deck to
go below and thug lower the welght, which might have a tendency to remove
the trouble. This suggestion was at once acted upon, and the passengers were
sent below., Meanwhile the water hallast was bel. g put into the water bottoms,
and In a very short time the ship wns on an even keel and remained so during
the remainder of the trip to Chicago.
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While the vessel was in an uncomfortable position at the time of the listing,
at.no timé was it considered by either Capt. Mansfield or the officers of the
steamer that there was any danger. v

As soon as possible, Capt. Mansfield requested of the officers information ag
to the number of passengers aboard, and was permitted to count the tickets,
passes, etc, taken up at the gangway hefore leaving South Haven. After g
careful and accurate count he ig absolutely certain that there were 2149
passengers aboard on the trip, which number included those who had trans.
portation in the shape of tickets, passes, ete.

At the time of performing the annual inspection of this steamer at this port
on June 24 last, we measured the deck space allotted to DASSengers nm{
found that the vessel has over 30,000 square feet of actual deck apuace available
for passengers. We have twice exnmined the steamer in dry dock, and consider
the vessel of a good model and well built. Consldering hoth the model and sig-
bility of the vessel, as well as the deck space, we allowed a total of 3,300 pas-
. 8engers, as we considered that she was perfectly safe to carry that number of
. passengers, .
“In order to prevent a recurrence of such an affair 03 I8 the subjiect of Ay,
Nichols's letter, we wrote the following letter by BMr. R. R. Blacker, president
of the Michigan Steamship Co., owners of the steamer Kaeatland.

The Secrerary. Here follows the letter of Mr. Blacker, which
appears in the record on this same date.

n July 23 he received the following reply-—here follows the reply

of R. R. Blacker—which appears in the record of this date: ‘

Since the above correspondence with Mr. Blacker, we have recalled nnd
canceled the steamer’s excursion permit allowing a total of 3.300 passengers
and substituted one allowing a total of 2,300 passengers, We did this, not he-
cause we considered the steamer unsafe with 3,300 passenmers, but to nvold
any further complaints about the steamer’s being uncomfortably crowded,

In addition to the above precautions, there hag heen n apaee the full widith
of the steamer and 50 feet long on the upper deck ralled off with fron rall, o
no passengers are permitted to enter that inclosure at nny time, therehy making
it impossible for the upper deck to be overcrowdel.

The steamer Hastland is fully equipped with the required number of Knpoc
life preservers, and éach life preserver is stenciled with the stenmoer's nume, and
in addition bears the stamp of the United States asslstant fnepector nt New
York, who passed them. Mr. Nichols must be mistuken In hls statement In
regard to these life preservers, ag every one of the number eomprlcing he
equipment of this steamer has heen examined by this board, and wo are positive
that they are properly markaed.

Capt. Mansfield is positive that at no thme during the trip from South Huven
to Chicago were persons under the influence of lquor In evldence. Tt |4 nearly
a universal custom on the passenger steamers that this board has rldden upeon
or knows anything of, either at this port or others, to mnintaln a huffet sl
sell liquors on board while not at the dock or in harbor. We hiave never under-
stood that this is a matter under our jurisdiction, and have, therefore, never
taken cognizance of it.

Mr. Nichols, in his selectlon of newspaper comment on the occurrence of
the steamer Fastland’s listing, used the version of a newspaper of this elty
which bears a reputation for presenting every Item of news to its readers in
as sensational a manner as possible, and It hag heen alleged thnt when foets
are not available the Imagination of its writers Is sometimes drawn upon. Cer-
tainly it seems tq have been the ecase in this Instance, where a most unfavornhle
impression is given to the publie,

It is the oploion of this board that, in vlew of the steps nlready taken hy
the owners and officers of the above-named steanier, n recurrence of this llsting
referred to will be impossible. From the fact that the steamer hns, since the
date referred to, carried her share of the passengers traveling on the route
between, this port and South Haven, we believe thint the public confidence in the
steamer and her officers has not been shaken,

Mr. Nichols's letter, with newspaper clipping Inclosed, Is returned herewlth
as directed. 7 )

Very respectfully,

Ira B, MANSFIELD,
Ror 1. PecR,
Lacal Inspectora.
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The SECRE'Vll‘ARY.‘ This is another letter to the Hon. George Uhler,
Supervising Inspector General, Washington, D. C., dated August
9, 1904: ,

Hon. Georgr UHLER, )
Qupervising Inspector General, Washington, D. C.

Sm: We have to respectfully acknowledge the receipt this date of letter
from the honorable the Secretary of the Treasury, inclosing a copy of letter
from Mr. Frank G. Nelson, of Chicago, Ill., in reference to conditions on the ¢
gtenmer Fastland on Sunday, July 17, 1904, by reference from your office,
directing that a report on the same be made by this board.

Replying thereto we have to respectfully state that the steamer in guestion
was Ingpected by this board on June 24 last, and the deck. space assigned to
passenger use mensured by thls board, A total of over 80,000 square feet of
deck space on the steamer Faestland was assigned for passenger use; and
considering this, together with the model and stability of the vessel, we con-
gldered her perfectly safe for a total of 3,300 passengers, which number was
accordingly alicwed her, and which number she was allowed on the date men-
tloned. It is the opinion of this board that the steamer was not overcrowded
leaving Chicago on the morning of July 17, and it certainly was not over-
crowded on the return trip from South Haven, Of this latter assertion we are
positive, for the reason that Capt. Ira B. Mansfield, inspector of hullg at this
port, made the round trip on the sald steamer, and leaving South Havwen
counted the tickets, passes, ete., taken up at the gangway and counted a total
of 2,142, which represented the number of grown people ahoard the steamer,
or, in other words, the number of people for whom fare wuas charged, but
did not include chilidren in arms, . o

Leaving the harbor of South Iuaven the steamer listed, which was caused
by the combined fucts that the water ballust had been removed from, the water
bottoms of the vessel, In order to reduce the draft of the steamer to allow her
to get alongside of her dock, and also that on account of the day being very
warm and the stepmer bullt of steel throughout the passengers us they boarded
her proceeded to the hurricane deck to get any possible breeze. When the
stenmer left the dock there was a greater number of people on the hurricane
deck than it had been mensured for, and thus the welght was distributed
unevenly. o

The officers in a very short time had o number of the peoaple removed from
the hurricane deck to pesitions on the lower decks, and the water ballast
having heen pumped into the compartments designed for that purpose, the
vessel rlghted and proceeded on an even keel throughout the entire voyage to
Chieago. At no time was the muchinery or any part thereof disabled on that
date, :

Immedintely after the occurrence the subject wag taken up with the officers
of the Michignn Steamship Co., owners of the Fastieond, by this office, and
steps have been taken to prevent n recurrence of the circumstainece by reducing
the allowance of passengers on the hurrjeane deck and the distribution of them
on the vessel.

This board Is Informed that the steamer was built according to the specl-
fiecations of the Bureau Verltus, after the model of a steamer usxd on the

anglish Channel, aud It Is conslderel by us to be of excellent model and
design and seaworthy In every respect,

On the trip above numed Capt. Manstield I8 positive that there were numbers
of stools or eamp chnirs piled up in reach of anyone who deslred to uge them
that were not so used by the possengers nhoard.

Letter of the honorable the Secretury of the Treasury and eopy of /Mr, Nel-
gon’s letter returned herewith,

Very respectfully,

AveUsT 2, 1904

Tua B MaNsrFIELD,
Roy 1. I'eck,
Local Inspcctors,
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The Secrerary. A letter dated August 5, 1904, to the Hon. George

Uhler, Supervising Tnspector General, Washington, D. C.:
i . Avausrt 5, 1904.
Hon. Georce UHLER,
Supervising Inspector General, Washington, D. C.
. Sm: We have to respectfully acknowledge the‘receipt of letter from your
office under date of August 2, instant, in relation to reply made by thls office
to the letter of Mr. Edward C. Nichols in regard fo steamer Eeastland, number
in upper left-hand corner 8--5915, asking why the matter of examination of

the water bottoms of the sald steamer on July 16, ultimo, was not made a

matter of our own personal inspection instead of getting the report of the

steamboat people.

In reply thereto we would respectfully state that, while the deslrabllity of
making the inspection of the water bottoms on the said steamer a personal mat-
ter by this board was apparent, it did not appeal to us as belng absolutely
necessary, for the reason that we have the utmost confldence In the integrity of
the officers of the steamer Fastland, and know that they understand perfectly
thelr responsibiiity under section 4448, Revised Statutes of the Unlted States,

- The examination of the water bottoms was made by the asslstant englneer of
the steamer.

Furthermore, it was not possible for us to make a personal examination of
the water bottoms without holding the steamer at this port until after her salling
time, or else make the examination during the night after the arrival of the
vessel at 10.30 p. m. We would respectfully add, however, that alnce the occur-
rence we have had demonstrated to us personnlly on hoard the ship that these
water bottoms are tight, viz, on July 25, ultlmo, while the vessel was In dry
dock at this port a thorough examination was made of the hull and water
bottoms.

We wish to respectfully submit that to make proper Inspectlons of such mat-
ters as the one above referred to, together with dally visits to the 38 excurslon
and passenger steamers leaving and arriving at this port, In additlen to regular
office dutles, examinations of applicants for license, and Investigations, together
with annual and intermediate inspections, the force at this office 1a not large

erfjough. During the week In question, viz, July 17 to 23, Inclusive, five annual
inspections of steamers were made by this board, candidates for examinatlon for
license were present three days, the Investigation of alleged vlolation of the
pilot rules was held, and one intermediate ingpection of a passenger steamer
previous to granting an excursion permit was made. The office has been open
for business from 8 a. m. to from & to & p. m. dally.

The above explanation is offered not in a splrit of complalnt hut to present
to the department the strong deslrability of such changes In the laws na would
give a large and important city like Chicago, with Its growlng passenger busl-
ness, more adequate facilities for steamboat inspection.

. Very respectfully,

Ina B. MaxsriELD,
Roy 1. PECK,
Local Imapectora.

Q. Do vou recall that correspondence?—A. Very well, sir.

Q. How many men have you in your Chicago office? —A. Four in-
spectors. ,

Q. Four inspectors?—A. And one clerk.

Q. You mean four assistants?—A. No; two assistants.
Q. Two local inspectors, two assistants, and one clerk?—A. Yes,
sir.

Q. Have you asked the service to give vou a larger force?—A. T
think we have in times past; yes, sir.

Q. Do you know whether vou have or not?—A. No; I don't really
know, I could refer to the ecorrespondence on that, there is some cor-
respondence in that book somewhere that shows it.

. When did the steamer Fastlond come back here?—A. In the
spring of 1914.

-

-
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Q. Been here a little over a year then i—A. Yes, sir. . .
Q. During that time have you or your associates made any inspec-

* tion of her?—A. Not annual, only dry dock inspection.

Q. Have you been on board of her?—A., Yes, sir.

Q. Did you look at the after gangways?—A. Yes, sir; we looked
at the gangways, we looked the ship over generally in a way, the time
we have to do it in the morning you know, I do not know as we paid
especial attention to the gangways at this time, we are so famliar
with her in a way we know what is there. :

Q. Have you had any other disagreement with Capt. Pedersen
than that you mentioned ¢—A. No, sir. )

Q. If you have had only that one incident and if you made no
formal inspections, on what basis would you say that he is a hard
man to get along with?—A. Well, I meant ‘that he would ignore
gome things if he was permitted to, in the way of advice and instruc-
tions perhaps. ) :

Q. How do you know !—A. Because he proved it to me. .

Q. When?—A. He did not do what I asked him4o do in relation
to his life preservers until some time after, which he could have done
just as well as not at the time. :

Q). Is that the only incident?—A. The only one.

Q. Is that the point you base your statement on that he was a
hard man to get along with?—A. Perhaps T was a little harsh to
make that statement, that is the way I felt about it. There is no
personal difference between the captain and myself.

Q. Had you given him any instructions that he had failed to carry
out?—A. No; I think not.

Q. Have yon told all your connection with Capt. Pendersen of
evedy kind, Mr. Mansfield 7—A. T don’t recall anything else.

Q. Did you know him personally as a friend?—A. Well, I knew
him as a captain, not as a friend, I knew him as an acquaintance, a
captain, that is all, in the business. ‘

Q. Did he ever come up to the office to talk to you?—A. He was
in the office a great many times in the past.

Q. Within the past vear?—A. No, sir; T don’t think so, not the
past two or three years. perhaps; he comes up principally to talk
with the assistant inspector of hulls, Capt. Adkinson.

Q. For what reason?—A. Because some time past, a great many

-years ago he used to be a mate with Capt. Adkinson, later they sailed

gister ships. )

Q. Did you ever in any of those visits at your office speak to him
about the vessel and tell him what to do?—A. I do not know that
he has been in the office in the last two vears, possibly he has. 1
don’t remember at all,

Q. How many times have you been on the vessel in the last year?—
A. As T said previously we have made two dry-dock inspections of
her, either the local inspectors or the assistant inspector visited her
every Sunday during the time she was in service here.

Q. Here in Chicago?—A. Yes, sir.

(. He has visited her every Sunday?—A. Yes, sir. )

Q. As far as this season is concerned, up to the time of the acci-
dent?—A. Up to the present Writing. )

Q. What did you do when you visited her at that time?—A. We
looked over the equipment and went over the ship and saw that
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everything was in place, the fire apparatus and life-saving apps-
‘ratus, see that they were in their proper condition and proper placs,
and notice if there was anything wrong in anything. :

Q. What time of day did you go, Captain?—A. From o’clock in
the morning until evening time—10 o’clock.

Q. She left Sundays at 10 o’clock?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. When you go on board between those hours you go before the
passengers are on board?—A. Sometimes we are there, it depends
on where we start. C

Q. And when you go board when the passengers are not op
board, do you observe .wh(gt%er the ballast tanks are filled or notl-—
A. No, sir.

Q. Don’t look for it?—A. No, sir.

en she was under your jurisdiction, as I understand it, you
cautioned the chief engineer and captain never to start with her un-
less she had her ballast tanks filled, even when she was taking on
assengers; do I understand that in the past year you have been on
oard of her and have not noticed that matter at all?—A. Perhaps
my Eartner, Mr. Nicholas, has done that part of it; he takes care of
the ballast tanks and other things pertaining to the machinery; I
was paying little attention to that below the main deck; he may do
; every time he goes there; the assistant boiler inspector would do
that. ‘

Q. Did he take part with you in your formal cantion to the cap-
tain?%—A. Mr. Nicholas?

Q. Yes.—A. He was not on the ship at that time.

Q. He was not in the service?—A. He was an assistant ot that
time.

Q. You know it was the cnstom to empty those tanks at night,
don’t you?—A. Here? No, sir; I do not.

Q. You do not know that?—A. No, sir.

Mr. Fouke. I would like to ask the captain a few questions.

Q. Do you consider the requirements of the (lurart ment at pres- .

ent—what makes me ask this question is these letters written in
1904—do you consider that the rules and regulations of the depart-
ment now are as strict as they were in those days or stricter or not
as strict %—A. More strict; much more, decidedly so.

Q. They are more strict than they were then?—A. Yes, sir,

Q. What is the custom of your office when you receive a com-
plaint—you receive similar complaints to those that were written in
1904—what do you do?—A. I can only make the same reply that I
did in the other matter, that i1f it is something that mui{l be talen
care of here and it is not necessary to go to the supervising inspec-
tor, we would do it. Sometimes a man would come in after writing
a letter of cbmplaint to see us about the matter and we would arrange
with him and tell him it would net occur again—say it would not.
If it was necessary to go to the supervising inspector, it would go to
the supervising inspector.  °

Q. You gave each and everv complaint consideration?—A. T le-
lieve we did; we meant to.

Q. I know, but do you know of your own knowledge that that is
done?—A. Why, yes, sir: I know; I guess there is no question about
that. There might be a matter of complaint come in the office nnd

a
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I would be out and the other inspector is in charge and he would
take care of the thing. ) S

Q. That would be on file, if it would be taken up?—A. Yes, sin;
if it was necessary to reply, it would be on file. .

Q. Is that your custom¢—A. Yes, sir; our custom; yes, sir.

Lient. Gov. O’Hara. Capt. Mansfield, during July, 1904, I under-
gtand that you addressed a letter to the owner of the Eastland and
in‘that letter you warned the owner of the Fastland to provide more
chairs for the accommodation of the passengers on the vessel. Did
J understand the reading of that letter correctly
 The Wrrness. I believe I did; yes, sir. :

w Now, Captain, suppose you gave an instruction to an owner or
to any operator coming under your jurisdiction and that instruction
is not obeyed, what do you doi—A. Well, we stop the vessel or we
take action on the master of the vessel to prevent her leaving.

Q. Suppose, Captain, that you fail to take that action, or suppoge
that you fail to enforce the strict text of your instruction, are you -
negligent in your duty under your interpretation of the law#—A. I
do not know that that would be negligence—yes; ﬁmrha that might
be charged with negligence, but I do not know why it should.

Q. In other words, Captain, if you discover a flaw or a defect or &
carelessness or megligence on the part of the owner of the boat,
captain, or members of the crew and you warned them to correct
that carelessness or negligence for that defect and they refused to
comply with your warning or instruction, what is your further re-
sponsibility #—A. It is to take action on the ship or crew and stop
her.

Q. Are you presumed by law to take that further actioni—A.

Yes, sir; if she does not comply with the laws and rules.

- Q. Wen;™d_you give an 1nstruction and that instruction is dis-
obeyghl, and you neglect to punish the disobedience, you yourself
are fiegligent of the performance of your official dutyf—A. A per-
son might disobey and we not become cognizant of the fact, we might
not know if.

Q. After you have given an instruction what precautions do you
take to see that your instruction is obeyed¥—A. We usually follow
them up; if the instruction has been given in correspondence we
follow 1t up with correspondence. .

Q. Then, I understand that if the steamer FEastland had listed
badly during July, 1804, and you addressed a letter to the owner,
guggesting, among other things, that more chairs be allowed; now,
during the season of 1905, the following season, did you make any
effort to-learn if your instruction regarding the additional chairs
was being complied with?—A. We presume that the rules or request
for more chairs had been complied with. I do not know if we had
any complaint in 1905 ; perhaps we did. .

6. The law defining the duties of your position gives you just
exactly what range of presumption? In other words, Captain, let
me nsﬂ you, are you negligent in the performance of your oﬂ_icui
duty if you presume rather than ascertain the factai—A. No, sir; I
don’t think so. I will ask you a question. If the master or the man-
agement of a ship tells us he is abundantly supplied with ses
capacity or chairs, do you think that s steamboat inspector coul
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?il;aifxs; do you think we could do that and do business? We can nd
Q. Now, Captain, in the vear 1906 did you make any effort to learn

_if your instructions regarding the additional chairs were being com-

plied with?—A. I do-not know that there was ever any complaint
made to that effect. - :

re that you have recognized
er of the boat that more chairs must
be provided, that was your official instruction%—A. Yes, sir. =~
' 5 In 1906 did any inquiries or amy investigation to
ing fo?lo’wed t—A. No; but we had g
ported to us that it had been carried out—our in:
struction—by the captain and officers of the ship, which were or-
dered to do their duty. If there had been any complaint, we would
have known it. We had no complaint in the year 1906, I do not
know of any; there may have been, I do not recall it. )

Q. Then, Captain, if in the year 1906 there had heen any insuf-
ficiency of chairs you would have received possibly a complaint from
citizens?—A. Well, perhaps and perhaps not; perbaps we did receive
one.

- The Secrerary. Pardon me, I am very thankful to have all the
facts relating to the duties of the service brought out, but the inspec-
tion service ﬁas no more to do with the number of chairs on board a
vessel than it has with the color of the eyes of the captain. Fur-
thermore, the matter on this occasion’was not an instruction, it was

- simply a suggestion, and therefore it is only just and equitable to

say that they had had the courtesy to do something for the comfort
of passengers, but they are in no sense whatever accountable for the
furniture on board vessels, at least, I know of no such provision of
the law, and I would be very glad to have it appear if you know
or anybody knows of any clanse in the law under which there is
any authority over a vessel’s furniture; I know of none. 1 would
be very glad to have it developed.

Lieut. Gov. O’Hara. Perhaps I can develop it with some further
questions. :
" The Secrerary. Go ahead.

Lieut. Gov. O’Hara. I understand frcm your previous testimony

. that reference was made to reducing the allowance of passengers on

the hurricane deck and also as to the distribution of the passengers.
The Wirness. I think so.
Q. Was that a part of the official correspondence read here over
your signature?—A. T think that we allowed them, as my memory .

serves me, five or six hundred people up there; this is a long ways ™

back to remember those things in detail without having any idea.

Q. Let me be fair. Following the bad listing of the Eastland,
the only- action taken by the Federal insp‘&ction service had to do,
quoting the exact language of the correspondence, with the reduction
of the allowance on the Thurricane deck and the -distribution of the
passengers. Am I correct in that?—A. If we said it, perhaps-it mayp.
read that way. One thing, ther&was plenty of deck space on the

she was being allowed for, consequently we confined them and kept
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(.}I}Q. l’)Would you say that the placing of chairs would have anything
to do with the distribution of passengers?—A. No; I should not
think so very much; the placing of chairs is usually done by those
that want to use them; they are lccated usually by the crew on all
the decks; placed around where they are accessible to passerigers.

- Q. Did you ever receive an instruction from a superior officer in-
forming you tha part of %{mr'dut_y. i the inspéction serviceis to take
preqm;tmns against possible panic among . passengers?—A. Possible
anic? S v o

p Q. Yes—A. It would be the moral duty to take all the precautions
we could without instructions from the department at all. '

Q. Under your interpretation then of your duties you are pre-
gumed. to make some effort to prevent panic among the passengers {—
A. I don’t understand you. : S !

Q. Let me put it v this way: Have you, during your connection
with the service, received a letter from a superior officer bearing on
the subject of possible panicsi—A. Possibly, but I do not recall it.

Q. Would you say, Captain, that there would be a greater likeli-
hood of a panic on a boat were the passengers not given enough
chairs, as there would be on a vessel where each, passenger could
conveniently agd easily’ find a chair?—A. We do not consider a chair
a life-saving apparatus, neither do we count chairs. We will pre~
sume that we endeavor to make everybody as comfortable as we can,
but there is no stated rule for that.

Q. Your presumpticn in writing in the letter to the owner of the
Fastland after the bad list in 1004 was in what way; how did you
presume to mention the chairs?—A. To make them more comfortable,
the people who patronize the boat; that is all the idea we had.

- . That letter that you wrote to the owners of the Fastland after
the bad list in 1904, was that made public by the owners of the
Eastland at that time?—A. What letter—his reply to us—his reply
to our letter? o

Q. Your letter to the owner of the Eastland.—A. I do not think
s0; I don’t think he published it; I know we did not; it was there
for any respcnsible person to come in and see it; we did not publish
those things in the paper. B

Q. Do you know whether the owners of the Eastland informed
the people generally, either oraily or through the newspapers, that
after the bad listing the United States Inspection Service had gone
into the facts and had found that the listing was caused by an in-

sufficiency of chairs?—A. It was not.

- Q. And that that having been removed that the Eastland was now
snfe?—A. It was not caused by insufficiency of chairs; I could not
say that. I would not adumrit it. _

Q. Captain, if I understood correctly, you submitted an official re-
port in 1904 in which you used this language: “ The Eastland is per~
fectly safe in carrying 3,300 people.” Do you still hold to that be-
lief%—A. Does that letter read that? If it does it meansit.

Q. You still hold to that belief%—A. T certainly do. In her con-
ditit;n at that time, properly handled, she would carry 3,300 people’
safely. R




' space an

© §60  ACCIDENT TO TWE-STEAMBR FASTLAND,

Lot : . . :
.y, Q-.Now, L want yeu to tell me briefly sonmiething ¢f your edncation
- and experience that fits you fo judge of the car ing capacity of g
. gteamer like.the Eastlend?—A. That is a,préttylxq;r‘ “matter to do;
- ifis a.long experience.” I conld not gp into. my whole life and show.
the class of vessels I have been on; I can nof remember. -~ A
1. Q. I would like you to, to the extent of 5 or 10 minutes—A. I havp -
gone through that for the Secretary.
" Q. Would you mind doing it again?—A. I would not; but I can
not give you days and dates or the names of ships that I have been

on and the various grades. "

- Q. How old are you, Captaint—A. Sixty-four. : -
.. Q. -What was your first occupation?—-A. I think I was cook on a
scow first—my first initiation. ‘

“ Q. How old were you theni—A. Abont 12 years of age.

Q. And you have been on the lakes constantly from the age of 12
until the present time?—A., No, sir; I would not say that; two years
I was ashore. , : o
. Q. What did you do the two years you were ashore?—aA. Took
care of & coal concern in Canada with an Ohio firm.

Q. When did you enter the Government servicei-—A. 1903.

Q. Did you take any.examinationa¥—A.. I cartainly did.

- Q. What scope did that examination cover#—A. Everything they
asked me-—ship instructions and board of navigation, and all that

- sort of thing.

Q. Were there any questions asked at that fime, for instance, tend-
ing to test your %uahﬁcations for judging of the earrying capacity of a
passenger vessel i—A.. No, sir; not directly; no, sir. ‘

Q. Not at all. Do you recall the name of the man that conducted
that examination §—A. I do not. i \

" Q. Was any political pull used in securing your position?—A. I
was never in politics in my life; no more a political friend to one side
than the other. : . :

Q. N-w, then, Captain, in 1904, when you declared the Eastland
- perfectly safe and could carry 3,300 é)assengers, what mathematical
test did you apply—A. The law and the measurement of her deck
3' the equipment that the law required her to have.

Q. Now, would you mind telling this board exactly the test com-
plied with by you in reaching that judgmenti—A. Reaching what -
‘Judgment? - ; : -

Q. That. the vessel could carry 3,300 people safely?—A. Used
natural intelligence and experience in these cases and the deck space
required for that number of people, which would comply with the
law in carrying them, and the life-saving equipment, etc.: :

Q. Is there any mathematical test which may be applied?—A. I |
do not think so; I don’t know why it should. . .

Q. You wish the board to understand that it is entirely a matter
of judgment?—A. No, sir; I did not say so;.I said the deck space
was measured and she proved she had plenty of deck space for more
than 3,300 people. She only had the permit for 8,300 people for
about 30 days. ) , . . .
Q. I want to know what you understand by the proof; how do
you prove it up3—A. Measure her deck space and put it inte feet. -
Q. How do you do that?—A. Put it into feet. :

i}
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- ,Q];, The'gfwhat A, There is not any givén Sgure to abidé'by that
we know of. . oo oo aniL 0 TLY DTl Lol S e
Q. Guessworkf—A. No; n&gues’swork;;a'littl’e common sensé a8
to the stability of the ship and the conditicns of her construction,
and all that sort of thing. . = o B *

Q. And from that you arrive at the number of passengers that.

" that vessel can carry. Now, do you allow in your calculations that =

those passengers may be moving about so that all of them may be
on one deck at the same timef—A. No; I did not say that. .

Q. What do you do?%—A. Why, the total deck space is measured
she has four decks; we allow her very few on the roof; all the rest
are supposed to-be down below, and the deck space is all measured
up; the available deck space. That work was not done by myself; I
had a partner; Mr. Peck and myself made the measurement, and the
dimensions of the roof was had from his figures particularly.

Q. Captain, can you rgcall during the year 1906 and ecompetition
between rival boat ownérs of the South Haven-Chicago route—I
think you have already answered that question.—A. In 1906—no, I
do not think that question was put to me before—there was a rivalry
between two steamers, two lines, the City of South Haven and the
Eastland. ‘ ‘
Q. Public interest was running high{—A. I think so.

Q. Did you ever hear, Captain, at that time that members of theé
crew of the Eastlend were betting wages as to which boat would
reach South Haven first, the Eatsland or the South Havenf—A. I
never heard of it. I 4

Q. You never heard of it?¥—A. I never did. ) :

Q. If that statement should have been printed in a newspaper at
that time, would you dismiss the matter with the excuse that the

: - newspapers exaggerated those things?—A. No, sir; I would say I

never heard of it, never saw it, never heard of it before; I don't
think the stedmers raced across in the world. They tried to get
passengers, but there was no racing. C

Q. Did you in 1904, aiter the Zastland had listed badly, excuse &

report or account of that listing in one of the newspapers in a com~ |

munication above your signature, charﬁmg,it to the yellow pressi—
A. Well, I don’t remember; I believe there is something in the letter

you read here—the Secretary read a while dgo—1I do not know what e

was given; it appeared in some papers here or I would not have
written it. : ' S )
Q. Now, if a boeat lists badly do you think that a newspaper has .
any right to make comments concerning it —A. Certainly; they do -
it whether they have or not. =
Q. Do you think that any citizen has?—A. Why, I guess they have
a perfect right to question these things and look into the matter for
sthe cause of the listing, etc.; yes, sir.” - -
Q. And now, Captain, you dismisséd the listing of the Eastland in
1904 without much of an investigation, simply by writing a letter to
the——A. No; we did not. I did not sag that; the letter does not
admit it; end I do not admit it. - ;
Q. anat_ did you do?—A. Went up there and saw the evidence .
. right with my own eyes, in sight of miy own, it my own view; I wat’
there on the top. o A ' ' :

f
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_ Q. And you.did what else?—A. What else? - We reported to ous
o mmperiors. 0t oo oo SRR O

. Q. Reported to jdur supenorsg_A\Yes gir; on every occacii
. I remember now, but I do not remember all-,the éetails. y occacim,

) * Q. And what inquiry was made by your superiors?—A. Well, thQ

- evidence is there in the:letters that were written by our superiors t¢

“ - us; the replies are all there; the Secretary just read them to you,

- /Q. Outside of the interchange of two or three letters, nothing was
" done?—A. What do you,mean by nothing being done? There wag
something done all the time; every day I was here from the 5th of
May there was something done. - '
: Q. After the year 1905 did you reduce the carrying capacity -
A. Yes, sir; I said a while ago—well, we did it every—— ,
Q. As I understand the reason that yon reduced her carrying
capacity was because she was advertising that she was not carrying
s many people as the Government allowed her.—A. They said they
did not expect to carry 3,305. My tongue is a little thick; I can not
speak very plainly and properly, I assure you that; but the matter
of this yellow paper they are talking about—we did not refer to any
particular paper, whatever paper that appeared in, what came into
our minds at the time, we used that expression; I could not tell you
what paper it appeared in; I could not.dait. . . '
i Q. T do not know, Captain, that it has anything to do with thi
“inquiry, but don’t you think it is rather a bad policy in answer to
a complaint concerning the alleged overcrowding of a’vessel to make
comment of the disposition on the part of the press to exaggerate
matters?—A. Well, perhaps it was. I don’t remember whether Mr.
Peck or myself dictated the letter. v
1. Q. In view of the fact that the Eastland eight days ago—eight or
nine days ago—tipped over, do you still believe that the newspapers
in 1904 exaggerated ?—A. Well, I do not know as I care to answer
that specially; I do not know. Whatever we said or thought at that
_time is what we wrote, circumstances existing at that tinie permit-
ting us to say what we did. .- v
' (5 I desire to get your judgmeit on this point. Suppose, in 1904,
" when the Eastland listed badly, an inquiry similar to the one now
under way had been authorized by the proper officials, do you think
it possible that precautions would have been taken to have prevented
the tipping of the Eastland last Saturday, a week a%o t—A. Dol
think 'precautions should have been taken to prevent it? -
Q. Yes—A. Yes; sir; it never should have-occurred, there is nv
question about that in my mind; this accident never should have
occurred. :

. Q. Then, C’aptain, do youlbelievé that thei'e' was negligence on the -

part of some one in riot taking the listing of the Fastland in July,
1904, more seriously #—A. No ;gI do not think that there was anybody
that did not take it seriously; I know our department took that
seriously ; I kmow ourselves, as inspectors, and the.inspector general,
they all took cognizance of the fact. o -

_ 3: In 1906, I think you have answered this already, you heard of
-po agent of the Federal Government being sent from Washington
t(% conduct an independent’ investigation?—A. I do not remember
of any. o

mr‘ \ . @ P ) b B - . e S
Q. And under- eivil service before you can be removed from (f'/ob}tor
3

* the number of passengers a vessel safely coul A.
yes; it was all mathematical at that tlme—-measqre up and divide.,
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: ,Q.‘Buf since I have asked you the question last: you have not re-

~ freshed your memory sufficiently in that particular that you do re-

member of having heard of that investigation in any way, manner, or
formi—A. No; that was in 19062 . .~ S S
" Q. That was in 1906.—A. Well, we have had a good many things
come up you know since then; it may have occurred, but I do not
femember of it at all. )

" Q. Now, Captain, you are under civil service, are you?—A. Yes,

filed -—A. I understan

position it is necessary that charges
es, sir. . , e
y Q. Is that the rule?—A. T understand so; yes, sir. ,

Q. Have charges ever been filed against you?—A. Not that I
know of. ' : I
. Q. Have charges ever been intimated?—A, Complaints may have
been intimated and filed, but never any charges that I know of.

Q. Do you know, Captain, that, in view of the fact that the East-
land went over with 2,500 people on board, that a Government
official who declared that the vessel was perfectly safe in carrying
3,300 people, do you think rather he would be liable if brought be-
fore the civil-service trial board ¢—A. No, sir; I should not think
go; in justice, no. In 1904 that occurrence happened, you know.
That is a long while since then. There may have been many changes
in the ship and that sort of thing, in the ship between that time and
now. I do not know of any, although I have been on board her last
year and this year; I have not noticed any particular changes that
would make her any less or more sedworthy or safer than she was
at that time. ) o .

Q. Now, who is your immediate superior in the sérvice?—A. Who
is my immediate superior in the service? : .

Q. Yes, sir—A. Supervising Inspector Westcott.

" Q. And who is his immediate superior #—A.. Gen. Uhler, the In-

ector General. ) :

Q. And his immediate superior ?—A. The Secretary and then the
President. . . . L

Q. And your immediate inferior?—A. My immediate inferior?

Q. Yes—A. Why, my next inferior is the Assistant Hull Inspector
Atkinson. ' . } . o o
- Q. Now, during the period that you have been in the service have
many changes been made in the personnel of the service?—A. Not
very many. . ) ) ,
: d’ You are now under civil service?—A. Yes, sir. )
- Q. It is o matter of stepping one step higher#—A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And during your period of service there has been no new blood
in the service to renovate it?—A. To renovate it? :
- Q. Yes—A. Does it need renovating?
. Q.1 do not know; I am asking you that—A. I do not know;
there are younger men in the office than myself and they have come
in since that time, but not as local inspectors. .
* Q. And when you went into the service, Captain, let me under-
stand, there was no mathematical way of nrnvmg at a decision as to

carry I—A. Why,

%
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Q%}:fxaaé"muth'tegatigﬂt&—&~Yés,'sir. IR
-1t was & matter of measuring up and dividing?—A. Yes, sir,
o he O’Hém.#-.Mtr. Si‘eggtup‘y,‘tg believeigtllédt the iglspector gcﬁemr:l
service sent a letter in the year i letter.
that been read into the record yet?y » & cireufar Tefter.  Has
" Secretary Reorierp. X do not know ; he sent a good many.
Mr. O’Hara. That was the one, General, that you were kind

 énough to show me this morning.

.. Do you recall, Captain, receiving a letter in April or Ma
1912, a circular letter signed by Ggeorge A, Uhlerpon this nnglrt’tee:-f
this subject matter [passing letter to witness]? ' '

: gleAn (i’I‘NESS. I ﬂlink 50. .
Q. you recall, Captain, the following language: “ It is im

- gible to lav down any ironclad rule as to hgw m%llllygpﬂSSEngrS SI})](;TI
‘be allowed on a steamer, for some steamers, by reason of their con.
struction and stability, are able to carry more persons than other
steamers that many actually have more deck space.” That is what
ghe lettter says. Do you hold a contrary belief to this?—A. No; I

o not.

_ Q. And do you now desire to amend your previous statement—
that the number of passengers carried by a vescel is arrived at
through ‘a mathematical calculation strictly?—A. Yes; we do that
As T told you a moment ago, by measuring the deck space. She must

- hmve boatage as to comply with the law, to take care of a certain
number of people, and life preservers and all that sort of thing, but
it does not say you have to arrive at that in a certain way or that

7 compliance with the law you can get a certain number of people,
Dividing it up, sir, and figure it out; that will take care of it.

- Now, there is no rule that says what we shall divide by that T know
of. There may be a rule that is in use somewhere, but we haven't

any such rule on that; not from our superiors anyway.

Secretar Repriero. Did you read this letter into the record?

Mr. O'Hara. No, sir; I left that for your judgment. I do not
wish to presume any.

But two other guestions, Captain. You testified concerning a dis-
agreement with Capt. Pederson.

A. No; I did not. ‘

. . Q. The captain of the Fastland—A. Not a disagreement; no.

1 did not use that expression, s disagreement. I do not believe I did.
I would like to have you refer back to my testimony if I said a
disagreement. I said he did not comply with my request or my in-

_structions; but that is not a disagreement.

Q. Df I understand, Captain, that your testimony is that you in-
structed the captain of the Eastland to make some changes in the

placing of the light apparatus, and that Capt. Pederson refused to

. do so¥—A. No, sir; I did not say so.

Q. What did you say !—A. I said he did not immediately comply
with my request; he did not immediately comply with my request
because he had not changed it about a week after my request; then
he did do it. T did not say he refused to do it.

Q. Now, during that intervening week when the captain was not
eomiplying with your request, what effort did you make to compel
flie eaptain to comply —A. None; not anything. - o

Q. Did you file a protest against him?—A. No, sir.:
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Q. Did you try to take his license away from him?—A. No; sir.
. Q. Did you try to stop the runninf of the boat?—A. No, sir.

Q. Then suppose, Captain, that during that week the Eastland
had met with an accident and at that instant the condition of the
life apparatus had been defective because the captain had not com-
plied with your request; would you have been guilty of negligence?
A. T would not say so. ‘ , :

Q. In not compelling the captain immediately to comply with
our instructions?-—A. I would not think so, because the first notice
had taken of these things was Sunday morning within about an

hour of his leaving time; I would say about an hour, perhaps less;
it would not have been practical for him to have gone at that par-
ticular job at once, without the passengers all around there; we
left it to him, he being under oath as master; we left it to him to do
-that thing during the week, because he would not be carrying many
passengers anyway, and then the next Sunday I came around he
had cause to go into the dry dock, and it was at that time that I said
to him that he must do it; I told him to do it that day, at that time.
There was no feeling between Capt. Pedersen and myself.

Q. All right, Captain. Have you been in the habit of permitting
captains to disregard your instructionsf—A. No, sir; we have not.

Q. Have you been in the habit of permitting them to make such
changes as you order at their pleasure and convenience?—A. Well,
sometimes at their convenience, if it would be impossible for them
to do it at the time we were asking them to do it; that is, perhaps,
things of not very much importance, or did not amount to very
much ; some minor detail. I

Q. But life savers are important, are they not, Captain#—A. Oh,
yes; they are important, and they are cared for.

Q. Now, as a matter of fact, Captain, is that delay granted the
captain in meking such changes as you have described an accommo-
dation to the captain or the owner of the vessel?—A. T do not know
48 it would be to anyone’s advantage, particularly; in some cases

+it might be negligence on the part of the master, the one who is
ordered to do these things, but it may be that it being an unim-

- portant time or an inappropriate time to work some things out, they

can not leave everything to go on with some minor requirement we
may ask them to do; we do not ask them to do that; anything that is
of vital importance we stop the ship for.

Q. So it is your policy, Captain, to make things as easy as pos-
rible, to apply the law as genitly as possible with the owners of the
boats?—A. No, sir; oh, no.

Q. You do not want to do anything to injure the businéss, of
course?—A. We would not want to hold a boat up and make her
losé a trip berause of some little technicality; you would not want
us to do that if you owned a boat.

Q. For information, Captain, I want to get your viewpoint.
Suppose the steering apparatus of one of the largest passenger-car-
rying boats—steamers—carrying two or three or four thousand
passengers was broken so that the wheel could not be used, and it
should then become necessary to steer the boat by placing six men
on one side and six men on the other side at the wheel, guiding her;
before that vessel would leave port would it be necessary for her to
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have! the. permission of some Federdl Government inspector <A,

She never would leave the port with the Federal Government’s per.
mission. -

- Q. She never would#—A. She would not be allowed to leave by

, '-nn%'im](; that I know of. “

: ut suppose she did leave without first getting permissi
" the Government inspector, would you thinkg Ag pV%’ell, ifmllufrgg:
_~away from us before we got him somebody else would get him: if
< he got out of our jurisdiction we could not take action on her: if
he got away we could not get action to take his license away.

Q. Suppose he left your t})ort in that condition?—A, W}((all, if we
did not now it, that is diflerent. They might do that, but I don't
believe there is a master in this part of the country who would do it
I never heard of such a case. / ‘
" Q. You never heard of such a case?—A. No, sir.

Q. Now, would it be possible for o vessel to leave the city of Chi-

- cago carrying 3,000 people in that condition?—A. With s :
oago carrying 8,000 g;l ?p ondition —A \/’thh six men at

K 31 Yes, sir—A. I don’t think §0. I never heard of a case of that
. Q. You say it would not be possible?—A. No. sir: T do not s
it would not be possible. I say Ii)t; is not pmhahle: ' v

.Q. Now, would it be possible or probable for a vessel in such con-
dition carrying 3,000 passengers to reach another port, we will say
the port of St. Joseph?—A. Why, it depends on ‘Just what the con-
ditions are at that time. You say it takes six men on each side of

. the wheel. - T don’t know where they would put them on each side
of the wheel. They might have a cable or rope on each side and
have six men steer her course. That has been done thousands and
thousands of ‘times when that happened out in the lake, and they
could get her into St. Joe that way. But it is not practical to ask
o question of that kind, bécause they do not do o thing of that sort.
1f they could do it without our knowledge they might, but we never
23:!;1'1:)!11}, such case; and what we do not see we can not, of course,

Q. You never received such a complaint, C in?— Tha
noathzt [ hever rec omplaint, Captain?—A. No, sir;
- And you are very certain the Federal inspectors would not
permit that sort of thing if they knew ab 'L’p—w o, sir: no
?f thoy T ooas g y knew about itf!—A. No, sir; not
Mr. O’Hara. That is all, Captain. Thank you.
%&it:;g;ary REDI“TIELD, Any questions?

- Mr. Surrivan. Just a couple of questions, Captain. Did
‘hﬁ?el; oi lfhls incident that islslsgpposed to have hr}fppened nln gi?eflb?n[tl,
3 € the crew were compelled to turn the hos .

The Wrrness. On wha};)boat? P oo pengiest
- Q. 'OYn the Easltlland.———A‘. No, sir.
ou never heard of it?—A. I have heard that in conversati
around the room here, but it has proven not to be : i,
‘Wla) Sf)yg it 3o mob ,fact. proven not to be true by the captain,
- Q. I1d you ever hear anything about lack of harmony betw
the different departments of emplovees on the £astlandf— . Nosir
- Mr. Bisnor. 'What is that question$ : e o
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Mr. Svrrivan. A lack of harmony on the boat. You never heard
of a lack of harmony between the engine crew—— - Sty
. A. No, sir. o ' L
Q. And the crew of the master ¥—A. No, sir. - A e
Q. What degree of list would cause the ship to take in water
througfh thg gangways and deadlights on this ship?—A. What de-
ree of list ' v
g Q. Yes; on the port side on the Saturday morning in question ¥—
A. With her gangways down in the position she was in and the
deadlights open she would nct have to go very far, but I could not
tell you the degree to fetch these deadlights in water; it would not
be a very great degree. o
Q. Would 15° cause her to take water in at the deadlights and
gangway +—A. Well, 15 or 20, anyway, I would say.
Mr. Svrrivan, That is all. .
Mr. Bisnor. Captain, it is the duty, is it not, of the owner of a
vessel to select competent men—competent and efficient crews?
The Wirness. Well, we will presume yes, if he can obtain such

men.

3. Well, they can be obtained, can’t they ?—A. Yes, sir.

(). When o licensed officer presents his license to the Government
inspector, the Government inspector then assumes, or has the right
to assume, any knowledge to the contrary notwithstanding—that is,
unless he has contrary knowledge—that the owner has selected a

~ * competent man to handle the particular vessel; isn’t that true?—A:

Yes, sir; I think so.

- Q. The masters of ships and the various licensed officers scale in
the efficiency, the degree of efficiency, for their particular work as
men in ordinary walks of life scale in efficiency in their particular
work, do they not?—A. Well, T think so; yes, sir; there are good
and bad.

Q. In other wards, there are better and there are some that are
worse?—A. Yes, sir. ’

Q. You could conceive, could you not, Captain, a man who might
be able to slip through an examination for a licensed officer o% 8
koat—he can be lucky enough to get through; I do not mean any
advantage taken, as a dcctor might get through an examination of
the State board of health or a lawyer get through an examination
of the State board of bar examiners, anf% if the lawyer or doctor got
through and the lawyer was not a successful practitioner, or the
doctor was not, it would not necessarily condemn the system that
examined him, would it?—A. That is 2 long question for me to re-
tain and answer correctly. The only Way% can answer that, and
will answer it, is that nobody ever gets through or gets by our ex-
amination without giving us the goods, and it would have to be in
black and white, too. . \

Q. In other words, they have got to show you that they have had
a certain amount of experience?—A. Yes, sir; and answer a certain
amount of questions, so that we are satisfied they are qualified for
what they have asked for before we give them a license at all. .

" Q. The owners of the vessel hire the men on the vessel, do they
not ?—A. The owners? o

Q. Yes.—A. Usually; yes.

. Mr. Bisnop. That is all.

[
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- 9'8eeretary Reormees, Capt. Van Pattent - . - -
__ Mr. Vax Parren. Capt. Mansfield; I would like to ask you if thé
~ life-saving apparatus on the Eastland was out of order just beca
- the life preservers, belts, or straps were tied in a bow knot$ ;
"The Wrrness. No, sir. : .
Q. They were not out of order?—A.. No, sir.
* Mr. Vax PaTrEn. That is all.

untied, though.
- Mr. Van Parren. That is all T want.

Secretary Reprrern. Capt. Collins?

Mr. Corring, Nothing.

Secretary Reorrerp. Mr. Fouke?

Secretary Reprrenp. Mr. Pool ?

Mr. Poov. No, sir. .

Becretary Repriern. I wish to put into the record the whole of the
circular letter to which the lieutenant governor has referrad, and
from which he has quoted :

DepARTMENT oF CoMumEence anp Tanon,
STEAMBOAT-INBPECTION SERVICE,
Washington.

The Wirness. They do not comply with our idea of having then:

v

Unrrep STATES SUPERVISING AND Locar. INarECTORS,
fe Steamboat-Inapection Service:

As the season approaches when water travel will he at ita height, you are
directed to give particular and careful attention to the mntter of the Inspectlon
and equipment of all steamers under your Jurisdiction, especinlly those steamers
accommoduting a large complement of people.  You must see that all of the life-
saving apparatus, such as life preservers, lifehonts, aml life rafts, Is In first-
clasy condition, a conclusion that must be reached only by actual personal ex-
amination on the part of the local or saslstunt Inspectors.

Hose, pumps, fire extinguishers, etc., must he carefully examined by n loeal
or assistant inspector to determine that the fire-fighting apparatus is in good
condition and ready for immediate use. .

Another matter to which most careful conslideration must he glven, and one
that has had the attention of this bureau, Is that of passenger allowance on
excursion steamers. It Is impossible to Iny down any Iron-clad rule ns to
how many passengers shall be allowed on a steamer, for some ateamers, by reason
of thefr construction and stability are able to carry more persong than other
steamers that may actually have more deck space.  In arriving at the passenger
allowance, you should have in mind, not only the stabllity of the shlp, but also
the possibllity of panic In case of disaster. If the passenger allowance of ex-
cuision steamers invites any doubt whateve , do not hesitate to cut down such
allowance, for you are aware that you are responsible, and will be held re-
Bponsible, in the event of disaster to such hoats,

Geo. Usteen, D. N. H.

Secg‘etary Reprierp. You are excused, Captain.

(Witness excused.)

Crantes C. Eckrrrr, called as a witness on behalf of the board,

having been first duly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as
follows: -

-

Examination by Secretary Reprrern:

Q. Give your name, address, and occupation to the stenographer
and your age—A. Charles C. Eckliff, 419 Lafayete Street, Gran
Haven, Mich.

- Q. And your age?—A. My age, 57 years old.

=
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Q. Have you‘been served with a subpmna to attend hefore ‘the
Federal gre d~jury'lr-i~A, No, sir, = : . Lo

. Reoriew. Mr. Thurman, have you renewedfromtho
Fe%?rﬁt:hngtnct attorney any inﬁormuiion in the matteri G
Mr. Taurmax. I have received a statement from Mr. Clyne, stat-
ing that Mr. Eckliff is to be a witness before the grand ]uryllyxov‘v‘ in
!w‘g:gl:;atnry Reorrern, In that case, under Judge Landis’s order, we
i for the present.
m]]&lﬁ?.x';‘l;lsgnwn.ol feel pt.hat he is within the spirit if not within ¢he
f the order.
Ieté?;:r(:stary (i{n:w. We will excuse you for the present, Mr.
Eckliff. :
(Wjthess excused.)

miam Nicroras, called as a witness on behalf of the board,
having been first duly’ sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified ss fol-

Examination by Secretary Repriern: '
» Will you give your full name, address, and age to the stenog-
rapher.—A> William Nicholas, 4004 North Hermitage Avenue; 47
rs old.
jrellQ. Mr. Nicholas, have you received a subpena to appear before
the Federal grand jéurj:\ ’z‘—iA, No, sir. ’
You have not?—A. No, sir. L

%. Mr. Nicholas, what is your occupation?—A. Local inspector of
boilers. .

Q. And where?—A. Chicago, Ill.

Q. Now, will you state what your employment has been from the
time you begun work up to the time you entered the Federal sery-
ice?—A. I was a deck hand on a steamer.

Q. Will you speak up as loudly as possible so all the gentlemen
can hear?—A. T was a deck hand on the steamer E. H. Ketchum in
1894, and finished the season as a fireman; I fired about four months
in 1884, and I fired one season on the_ﬂ}ayhant that was in 1888;
and I went to tugging in the Chicago River and fired on various tugs
for the Dunham Line and C. O. D. Line.

Q. They can not hear you, speak up as loud as I do.—A. And I

ot a license as an engineer for 60 tons noncondensing steamer.

was assistant engineer on the tug Chicago, that was in 1890, I
think, and I was engineer on the steamer Luella Wellington in

'1893 and 1894. - Then I went as chief engineer of the steamer Jokn

W. Moore in 1895, and then I was in the Moore, 1 believe, three sea-
n
m(g.' I can not hear you—A. Chief engineer of the steamer Jokn
W. Moore for three seasons, and 1 went in the steamer Black Rock.
Q. If you can not give them all the names, just say steamers of
guch and such a character?—A. And the steamer Ravens Craig for
two seasons, and chief engineer of the steamer Indiana for two sea-
sons, and then I went with the Travelers’ Insurance Co. ag an in-
gpector in the liability department for a number of years, and then
went in the Government service in 1806.
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= Q. "What different licenses have you held #-—A. Special engineer
for 60 tons noncondensing; an engineer of 100 tons; a first assistang
of 1,250 tons; unlimited first assistant; chief for 1,500 tons, I he-
lieve, and then unlimited chief engineer. All of these changes wers
made due to examinations.
Q. Bixt—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Six different licenses?—A. Yes, sir.
' @Q. Meaning that you passed six examinations{—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And wﬁcre were those examinations taken?—A. All in Chiy
€ago. .

. And at the hands of the local inspectors here?—A. Yes, sir.

.. Q). When was the last one taken?—A. I guess about 1900; some-
where along there, I forget now. -

Q. Now, how did you enter the United States servicel—A, As g
result of a civil-service examination.
.. Q. Where did you take that civil-service examination?—A. In

Chicnﬁ).
Q. How did you pass?—A. I do not know just what I did pass
I never learned; I took two examinations.
You took two?—A. Yes, sir.

. Q. Did you fail on one?—A. No, sir; but the eligible list was only
good for a year; and at that time you took an examination every

ear. ‘ "
.y Q. So vou took two civil-service examinations before your ap-
pointment ?—A, Yes, sir.

Q. And you were first appointed assistant inspector, am I right ¥—
A. Yes, sir. C _

Q. And how long did you stay assistant inspector?—A. From
1906 to 1913. '
" Q. How did Iyoun‘ promotion come about?—A. My superior left
the service and I was promoted to his position.

Q. Did you take an examination on promotion?—A. No, sir.

Q. And you have been a local inspector of boilers since 1913; is
that right ¢—A. Yes,sir.

Q. Now, tell us what you know about the steamer Zastland of your
own knowledge, both before you entered the service and since you
about her of

)my own knowledge before I went into service; I think the first time

/
J

I ever was akoard of her was in 1906, and that would be for an exami-
nation on a Sunday perhaps, which would be just a quick looking
over of the equipment—that is, life rafts and life preservers, hose,
and so on—and then I did not see her again until 1914. She went
into dock, dry dock, and I examined her shafts at that time, and she
put in two new outlet shafts as a result of that examinntion.

Q. Did you require these shafts to be put in?—A. Yes, sir. And
this year she went in the dock again and we had one of those new
shafts repaired; and I have been aboard of her, oh, maybe, three
times or four times, I believe. '

* Q. Since when?—A. This vear. '

Q. This year?—A. Yes, sir; and perhaps a like number of times
last year.

" Q. Now, state the occasion for your visiting her this year, and say

what you did.—A. Of a Sunday morning, while making the rounds
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of the boats, I look over their equipment, ete.; just step aboard for a
few minutes and visit with the engineer and take a look around:the
different decks perhaps, go up on top, walk forward and aft on the
upper deck and down to the next deck, etc., and look over the hand

rops, the hose, and get just a general idea of the conditions—cover
the boat; that is it. I made a trip in her this year; made a trip
across to St. Joe and back. ,

Q. What did you do while you were on that trip ¥—A. Just visited
with the engineer most of the time. ,

- Q. Well, where did you go with him?¥—A. T did not go anywhere
with him over at the other side, just around the boat. .

Q. Yes; but whereabouts in the boat did you go?—A. Oh, down
in the boiler room, down in the engine rooms. ,

Q. Did you go below the gratingi—A. Yes.

Q. Down onto the floor of the shipf—A. Yes, sir. ¢
Q. Did you go into the boiler room—A. Yes; I went in the boiler
room. : ,

Q. Does the deseription you have given apply to all the visits you
made to the vessel when she was in ghicago this spring—is that the
kind of thing you did —A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you on each of those cccasions go down into the engine,
room?—A. No, sir.

Q. Or did you go into the boiler rcom on these occasions?—A. No,
sir,

Q. So that I am to understand that you have made four visits to
the vessel in which you have taken a general look through the
boat?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Glancing at her equipiment?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that in addition you have made one trip across the
lake?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Part of each time you spent in the engine room and in the
boiler room ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, is the vessel under your official care?—A. Well, just like
every other stenmer is that comes in here.

Q. Well, perhaps you do not understand me. Are you supposed
to make hoiﬂpr inspections of that vessel %—A. No, sir.

Q. Who ist—A. The inspectors who made the annual inspection,
in this case Grand Haven.

Q. In other words, am I right in supposing you to mean—do I
understand you correctly—that the vessel was officially under the
care of the Grand Haven inspectors, who made the annual inspec-
tiont—A. Yes, sir. '

Q. And who are, therefore, supposed to make the annual rein-
spection—the four annual reinspections?—A. No, sir; the three an-
nual reinspections.

Q. The three annual reinspections completing the four?—A. Yes,
gir.

Q. And then your work was additional to theirs, and voluntary
on your part?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You did not usually have anything to do with issuing, if I
understand you correctly, the license or giving her a passenger
allowance?—A. No, sir.

Q. Did you have anything to do with certificating the vessel in

- any way ¥—A. No, sir.
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Q. Now, why did you go there at all!—A. Because we do that e

a the passenger boats that come in here: we :
all —-‘-f&hlt l;l%ﬂﬂd:g ihat v ; we look thgm over tlm
‘ ow, how much had you been told about the vessel being-
- crank{—A. Well, I had alreadIy heard she was a crank boat egve:
. since I had heard of her, and I had heard about the time that she
~ had listed so badly at South Haven, but I was always under the im-
pression that she was a boat that required particular care.
Q. On whose part?—A. On the part of everybody connected with
her—that is, the operation of her by the master and his crowd, the
eer and his crowd, and the steward and his crowd.
Q- Why?—A. Because she was liable to. list at any time, and
bring any part of the ship down into the water if she was not
- properly cared for, and liable to\result in disaster.
) Did you ever see her list#—A. No.
Q. Well, now, why do you say-she was liable to bring some part
of the vessel down into the water? I do not quite understand whaet
, gg;l mean by some part of the vessel.—A. We(il, knowing she was s
boat that would list if she was not properly taken care o , there wag
always a chance for her to tip over enough to bring the dead lights
or gangways or something of that kind, the dead %ighta and gang-
wa{s_prmcxpa]ly, down below the water level and the water could
rush in and, perhaps, result in a disaster.
Q. You say there was always that chance?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, had you that especially in mind when you visited the A

boat Sundays?—A. I had it in my mind on the three occasions when
I spoke to the engineer. :

. What did you say to the engineer!—A. I asked if he was
having any trouble with her listing. He told me “No.” That he
was havmsﬁ no trouble whatever, that he had perfect control of her
and that she did not bother him in any way. '

Q. What engineer was that?—A. Eyrickson.

Q. Erickson?—A. Yes, sir. '
* Q. When was that?—A. This year.

Q. What month?—A. I think it was in July.

Q. July¥—A. Yes, sir. -

Q. Well, did you caution him at all?—A. Yes, sir; that is, T did
not caution him because he did not complain at all; I asked him if
he had any trouble at all, and he told me no; I questioned him about
her listing at any time out in the lake. My opinion was that she was
bad to list, and he said no; that he never had any trouble with her,
- and while I was mnkmg this trip she took a list at port, and the

dancers, I heard some of them complain about dancin up hill, and
I went to look for the engineer, and when I got down into the
engine room I failed to find him, but I saw one man down there.
I am not sure whether he was an engineer or one of the oilers, and
I says, “ What is the matter; can’t you get this list out of her?”
He said, “ We will have that out of her in a minute; we are fixin
it right now.” - I went looking for the engineer and did not ﬁng
him, but the list went out of her; he seemed to trim her then without
an tquouble. h

ow, what method did he use for trimming her downi—A.

Well I did not go into any of those detsils; just my general knowl-
edge of those conditions. , ; :
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Q. Well, what do you understand they did to trim her dewn as
jou recall it%-—A, I never,hadm(liy. ﬁparncular' understanding about
ow they handled that boat any different to any other boat; I did

not know there was any particular way. o

Q. What was the way they uséd, water or what?—A. Put water
in one side to tip them this way and in the other side to tip them
the other way. ‘ ) '

Q. You mean they used water ballast?--A. Yes, sir. .

Q. Now tell us from your knowledge about the ship, what the
water ballast system was, and how it was used§—A. Well, from
my own knowledge I do not know; only just what I have seen since
she turned over. , .

Q. Well, tell us what you have seen since she turned over. Is
what you have seen since she turned over such as to inform you
about the vessel¥—A. Just on the starboard side. N :

Q. Now what did you see?—A. I saw the ballast pump and the - -
manifold and the three valves, the three pipes leatfing from the
manifold. - : ‘ '

Q. Three pipes?—A. Yes, sir. : . A o V

Q. They would be one each for three tanks?—A. Yes, sir. -~

* Q. There were how many tanks on that side of the ship?—A.

Well, I know now;-that is, I have understood there were five tanks
on each side. e
Q. Do you mean to say when you say you saw three that the
others were covered with water?—A. Yes, sir. =~~~ = '
Q. Did you. gee the valves of the three you saw?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Were they opened or closed ¢—A. The No. 1, leading to No. 1
tank was closed, but No. 2 and No. 8 were open. i
Q. No. 2 and No. 3 are the single tanks, are they not?—A. Yes;

on the starboard side three is the big tank.

. And two is the next forward?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was the sea cock open?—A. Well the sea cock I could not see;
the sea cock is on the other side; }-just saw the ballast on the star-
board side. »

‘Q. Do I understand it that you can describe the system that theg
used? If so, do so.—A. There is a sea cock on the port side, whic
is a pipe leading from out to a manifold which extends all the way
across the ship. ,

Q. Athwartships?—A. Yes; straight across it; and it is connected

on the other side to the ballast pump, and from that manifold there

are pipes leading to the 10 tanks.

Q. This mani?old, you say, runs across the ship?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the 10 pipes start out from it, running forward and
aft?—A. Yes, sir. 5 o

Q. That makes how many valves?—A. It makes 10 valves on the
manifold, and the sea cock would be 11.

Q. Eleven valves?—A. Yes, sir. . ,

Q. What is the size of the valves?—A. T should judge that the
valves on the manifold are about—well, the pipes leading from it

~ are about 6-inch; I ain’t clear about that, but I should judge they are

about 6-inch. .

Q. Then, what is the process precisely by which the tanks are
filled ?-—A... The sea cock is opened and the various valves, as desired,
are opened to conduct water into the different tanks. = o

22350—16——18 ,
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s ‘Q. What is the relatior of the valves ‘on the manifold and ‘on-the

sea cocks as to the engine room ; how near are they #—A. They are ip
the engine room. N N S

Q. They are in the engine room?—A. Yes, sir; and, I think, righi

- forward of the engine. : : :
.Q. Then, do I.infer from what you have said that they are imme-
diately accessible?—A. Yes, sir. : '
Q. You have seen them there, have you?—A. Yes, sir. ‘

. Q. How long would it fake you to turn them on, go through the

- motion of opéning the valves?—A. T ought to be able to open all of
them in a minute, I should think, or very near it. o
Q. Then, do I infer correctly from you that they are all coarss
&fggﬁd —A. Yes; I did not see the thread, because the thread is down
Q. Harve you ever tried to open one of them?—A. No, sir. =
Q. How do you know they have a coarse thread %—A. Well, they
usually build them with a coarse thread, and it is just a case of four
or five turns and you have got these valves wide open.
They are wheel valves?—A. No, sir; it is just a stem sticks up,

‘and you drop down a box wrench. -

Q. They are va'lves which you turn with a box wrench?——A,f.v

Yes, sir. .
Q. Where is the wrench kept?—A. I don’ know.

Q. Suppose you lost that wrench?—A. Well, you could use a mon-

key wrench if you had to} it would be a little bit unhandy, but with
* @ monkey wrench you could probably stand up on the platform and
drop that wrench down and keep it going right around. ' :
Q. You mean it turns like a carpenter’s bit?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. A socket wrench?—A. Yes; socket wrench. .
Q. Not a box wrench?—A. No, sir. «
Q. Now, there were no handles on these valves?-~A. No, sir.
Q. Now, isn’t it a fact under that arrangement that if that wrench
were mislaid you might be inconvenienced for a time?—A. Yes; it
would be a little bit unhandy; I don’t know just how the arrangement

is in relation to the floor, but frequently these manifolds are down

a foot or two. A
. Q. Now, would you feel justified in telling the chief engineer that
he ought to put a wheel valve on there?—A. No, sir.

Q. Why not?—A. Oh, it is not really necessary; and if that wrench
should happen to be mislaid it could be handled with any monkey
wrench or any adjustable wrench—a monkey wrench or a Stilson

wrench, or anything like that. '

Q. Now, how long did it take to fill the big tank?—A. I don’t

know from my own knowledge. .
Q. Could you calculate it from knowing the area of the tank and
the size of the inlet?—A. Yes, sir. '
Q. What was the size of the sea cock?—A. T did not see the ses

cock; the sea cock is on the port side.

Q. Would it, in your judgment as an engineer, be of any advan-
tage if there were two sources of entry to the system from both sides
of the ship #—A. Yes, sir. : '

Q. Why?—A. You should also -have another ballast pump, a bal-
last pump and sea cock on each side, a dividing valve between, in
the center of the manifold; then you can trim each side separately.
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.. Q.. Did you ever recommend that#—A. No,sir. . =
Q. Why not?—A, Well, I pever inspected’it. = - - =
Q. You never have inspected the Eastland?—A. No, sir. -
- Q. And you &Q\ém,ake' a distinction between the visits you spoke
of having madé every Sunday and a definite inspection?—A. Yes,sir.
Q. Now, do you think, as & matter of fact, Capt. Nicholas, that if
you were the officer who made the inspection of that vessel that you
would recommend putting in of a duplicate system theref—A. No,
sirs I do not think I would. o R
" Q. Why not?—A. Well, she has been used for quite a number of
ears successfully, and no one seemed to complain about her; I never
ﬁeurd any engineer complain about his ability to trim her properly
when he wanted to. , .
Q. Well, wasn’t it up to you to do the complaining?—A. Well, I
never saw her list any, and never, knew, that, there was any danger.
Q. I thought you said 2 moment ago you were out on the lake
with her when she listed #—-A. Yes; but he took the list out of her
right away. L o : =
Q. Yes; but the system you have mentioned, as I understand it,
is one which you think would have made her more handy, isn’t that
so?—A. Yes; but I didn’t think it was necessary to install that kind

* of a system on that boat because when she was properly handled you
 could let in that water in either one of these tanks to tip her the

o.lier way, so she would answer to the water in three or four minutes,
Q. Well, how long did it take to fill No.-3 tank?—A. Well, that I
don’t. know, only what I have heard testified here.
Q. You have seen the tank?—A.. No, sir.
Q. You never saw the tank?—aA. No, sir. - ' ,
Q. Didn’t you inspect—oh, you never have inspected the vessel,
that is so.—A. No, sir. : :
Q. Would you hesitate to recommend the putting in of another

ballast pump-amd another sea cock for lack of authority to do so¥—

A. No, sir; not for latk of authority, but I never tried—I always
try never to recommend anything unless I think it is necessary.

Q. What distinction do you draw there, Capt. Nicholas, between
an improvement and a necessity i—A. Weil, it might make it easy,
that she would be easier, and that you could get the water in and
out of her quicker, but I thought it was not necessary; she was in
port every night; she was laid up every night; and you could have .
your tanks whichever way you wanted on the morning.

Q. Well, wasn’t the ballast more necessary lying at the dock than

it was out in the lake?—A. Well, I would not say as to that. I
would not be sure as to that. :
- Q. How does such a stenmer start from the dock; doesn’t she start
going in the gosition in which she lay, with the helm hard starboard
antdl the rudder t§ port?—A. Not the Eastland,; they would not
hardly dare start Her that way, because she is a twin screw and one
of those screws js-iable to hit the dock; you have to go along with
the dock quit€ n ways before you can get her over much.

Q. Xsn’t it o fact that when she was turned hard with the rudder
and running with the screws in reverse direction that she would

list?¥—A. I never saw her do that and never knew she would.
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S As much as that, you think?—A. 25°, -
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‘"i,iétiﬂgg\-—/Aa-. No; against hit 16;0f
- .~ Q. You mesn that when she swung out, if she swung out suddenly

her pmjeétin% si{ewY on-tie starboard side*wonld hit the dock as she

‘came around 5-SiT,

.. Q. Was it the fact or was it not. the fact that the Eastland had to
be handled tenderly?—A. Well, T never thought she had to be

handled any more tenderly than any other twin-screw boat. -

Q. Are there not a great many twin-screw boats up here?—A.
Yes; quite a few. e -

Q. Do they have to be handled ‘with the same degree of-——A,
Well, you have in mind the water ballast now? -

‘ es.—A. No; I don’t know of any of them that had to be
handled with the same care with regard to water ballast, with regard
to 5ett1ng her away from the dock, etc., like the Fastland. :

. Do you know whether the Fastland was brought into a section |

lﬁy herself as a vessel which had to be very tenderly handled ?—A.
ever considered her so.

" Q. "You knew she was a cranky ship?—A. Yes, sir.
i Q. Was she what they call Sometimes on the ocean a tender ship?—

A. Well, I don’t know just what is meant by that term; we don’t

use that here. -

Q. Well, a ship that was so cranky ;sh,a/w;as liable to go too far

sometimes suddenly ?—A. Well, I never-considered her in that class.

Q. Did you know that her after gangways were dangerously near

the water “—A. No; I don’t know as I ever did.’ )
Q. How many degrees of list would submerge them ?—A. Well, it

would not take—it would not take much of a list to bring the bottom

- of her "ﬂngways intothe water, because judging from her water iine
now it &uld no}lmve been over, I don’t think, 15 or 18 inches above
1:11((3Q w_aill:er._ L . f :

. 'How many degrées of list would submerge the garngway ?—A.

. ¥ guess 25° would bﬁlx‘xg' it protty close to it. g : 8 ‘ e

Q. How much?—A. 25 or 30°, C i

‘/ - Would you be sure it wasn’t less than that ?-—-A. 1 have not

.ler,,1 clear ini my mind just how much a degree would affect the deck

evel. ' '

" Q. Now, Mr. Nichols, su‘pposilig you kneW'to-day a ship dependent

upon her water ballast for-stability, that had the reputation of the

Eastiand for crankiness, that you had known to list as you saw her

when you were on board, and as you knew of happening at the -

. South Havep incident, with gangways as low down and related to
the water as those were, carrying 2,500 passengers under a license
from your service to-day; suppose you knew of those things, would
you or would you not feel iow that that ship ought to reveive special
and peculiar attention from you?—A. Yes, sir. -
Q. Well, what would you feel from it?—A. Well, T can see now
what can happen as the result of not giving her that special attention.
. Q. Well, now, do you or do you not feel now, looking into your
inind, that you ought to have felt it before?—A. Well, it would have
been a whole lot better if I did, but it is not in my line, you know.
¥ Q. iregggmze that—in justice to you—you are a machinery inspec-
or—A, Yes, : T ) .

.+ Q. Was running along the dock that wiy & precaiition against her
1st-hitting one;of ‘the screws agdinst the dock. -

Q. Yet.J want you to tell me frankly, and from the sense of de;

tachment that that gives you, whether in your. judgment the fﬁﬁ
is or is not clear now that the reputation of the vessel, the fact that
your associate and yourself have bath been on her when she showed
the tendency to list, the fact that as you probably knew that your
associate, that your associate had ordered the gangways closed on that

. -occasion, and kept closed;.the.fagt;, which you may not have known,

that the captain -and the ‘engineer had. been-warned to .be carefu}
abeut the water ballast. Under all those circumstances, does it no
seem o0 you now that a higher degree of care should have been given
to that ship?—A. Well, from my own standpoint I didn’t know, O
but if 1 ever.did know I had forgotten it, that that listing over there
was as serious as it was. I had forgotten about how far over she
went af that time. And when she started to run here again, about the
only thought that was in my mind about her was that she wds a
cranky boat. And when I went gboard her last year I talked to Mr.

- * Donaldson; that was then the engineer of her, and asked him sbout
—her listing, etc., and he said that he never had any trouble with her;

that he always could keep her in an upright position, and he foun:

" her the same as other boats; that he handled her all right. .- -

Q. When was this you said, Mr. Nichols?—A.. That was last yean
when Donsldson was running, and after talking to Erickson this
year, and having him tell me that he had no trouble with her list-
ing, that it never bothered himat all, I came to the conclusion that a
good deal of that listing talk was coming from the rival steamboat
companies, . . e e - .

. Q. Yet it was sufficiently in the air for you to make it a subject of
conversation with both of the chief engineers, was it not ¥—A. Yes. -

Q. Now, did you ever receive these instructions:

1t should be the spirit of your service that the presumptions exist against the
local inspectors and the supervising inspectors, that they are respounsible if an
accident takes place, and that the burden of proof is on them in each case to
show that everything had been done, not merely.in accordance with the rules
and customs of the service but which practical, sound judgment dictated to
foresee and prevent the accident. Every accident, therefore, puts the inspectord
of the district in which it occurred on explanation, recognizing, of course, that
in many, if not in most case®, the explanation will be ample, but also recogs
nizing that there will be fewer accidents if every inspector knows he must indi-
vidually account for the nature of his work in connection with the vessel.

Did gou ever hear those words?—A. Yes. I don’t.remember just
when that letter came in, but I have received lots of them just along
those lines. . - .

Q. Did you ever see that, and if so, what is it [handing letter to
the witness] ¥—A. Yes; a department circular._ o

Q. I beg your pardon.—A. A department circular. We receive a

" lot of them along those lines.

Q’ Now, are those instructions which were sent out to every local
inspector#—A. Yes, sir.

. And when?—A. In 1913, ) )

Q. Do you or do you not think, Mr. Nichols, that instrictions that
say: “ The burden of proof is on the inspector to show in each case
everything had been done, not merely in accordance with the rules
and custems of the service but which practical, sound judgment die-
tated to foresee and prevent the accident —that that was done in

‘connection with the Kastlandf—A. No; I don’t think everything
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. ~Q.‘ Then you do think that you should be able to.trim a cranky
¢hip quicker than one that is no{ cranky !—A. Yes.. Yes; you should
beableto. . . T T et
Q. Consequently, when you were examining the tanks and the sea
~ ¢ocks you would have in mind, or you should have in mind; the
rapidity with which that vessel’s tanks could be filled ¢—A. Yes, sir;

© ' was done that should hive been done. I think in view of her past
- history that we should have kept that after gangway'closed'ls’m%&’

.~ made them use the fore gangway. We ought to have kept the after
-~ gangway closed all the time’;-never used it; make them load angd
“ unload passengers forward, - S SR
Q. Did you ever urge that that should be done?—A. No. ™ =
Q. T ask you that with the further statement that I understand
this was not yur particular province. Did you ever hear anybody
urge that the clrcumstances and history of the case were such as to
%d for a care peculiar to this ship?—A. No. No; I am sure I never

'R

es. : /
Q. Under those -circumstances wouldn’t the element of time in
finding a wrench to turn those valves with be an important factor?
Wouldn’t it make a~difference whether an engineer could find a
wrench, or whether a wrench was right over the valve, or whether he
had to go to a tool box or bench somewhere to get a monkey wrench.
to turn those valves?—A. Yes, that would be a factor, but if he
was handling the ship right he ought not to have to be in such a
hurry. _ . : ) ‘ — '

Q. Yes, but it has been testified that it took 30 minutes to fill
these tanks—A.. Yes, that is to fill her and get her ready for loading:

Q. Well, they are not any good until they are full, as I under-
stand it? They are dangerous rather than otherwise?—A. Well,
th_ei never carried only the two tanks full, you know, the No. 3
tank—both sides of No. 3 tank. .~

Q. Yes, but they were empty at 6 o’clock on the morning of the

Q. And yet I understand you are thinking that the instructions
which -were sent out on the 18th of December, 1913, were such as
gzg-ld_ apply especially to 4 case of this kind, were they notf—A;
. Yes, sir. g : '
" ‘Secretary ReprreLp. Any questions, Mr. Shaw? :
. Mr A.lg Saaw. Is the term “cranky” or the word “ cranky?” g
- eommon term abott the vessels on the Great Lakes? :
‘ The Wirness. Yes, sir. - ' ; ' '
Q. In other words, there are out of the large number of vessels on
the Great Lakes a number that are termed cranky #—A. Oh, yes.
" Q. Cranky in differént ways?-<A. Yes. - ‘ '
Mr. Saaw. That was all.’ '
~ Mr. Poor. Mr. Redfield, I would like to ask him a couple of ques-
tions here. : : S '
1?Jecrelt)ary1}::11)1'11:1.1). Yes.
: Mr. Poor. In your position of inspector of boilers do you have
jurisdiction over the tanks—ballast tanks?—A. No; that ig part of
the hull, but I have jurisdiction over the pipes that lead to the tanks,
Q. You are not a hull inspector?—A. No. l
- Q. You inspect the mechanical devices on the boat?—A. Yes,
_ 8 ]'?Vll(} {o(lll'ev%r_ fo ml:o1 the Easﬁand tanks?—A. No.
. Q. at_day did you last see the valves on the Eastland?—A.
Last Saturday, I think it was. . i
- Q. That is, the tank valves?—A. Yes. That is, I just saw those
three upper ones. . o
Q. How soon after the vessel sank—tipped cver?—A. No; that
_ was just day before yesterday, you know. Last Saturday—not a
week ago gatl,lr(ll{;y. Hen
- YXou don’t know, then, whether the valves were opened or clo.
on the day that the vessel tipped over?—A. No. £ s
Q. You think, from your experience, it is important that cranky
ship, dependent on water ballast for her stability, should be con-
structed so she would trim more quickly than another ship?—A. Noj;
I should say it would be advisable to have her arranged so that she’
would not be any more cranky than you can help.
Q. Well, I guess you don’t get my point. Iyere is a ship whoso
after %angway was 10 or 12 inches above the water.—A, Yes, sir.
‘Q. That was known to be a badly listing ship.—A. Yes.
. Q. And wouldn’t it make any difference to you as to whether you
could trim that ship in 30 minutes or 16 minutes?—A., Yes,
Q. Well, that is the question I asked you.—A. Yes, yes; it would.

accident #—A., Yes. , : :

Mr. PooL. I think it was 0.30, Mr. Secretary. -~

Secretary Repriewp. They were empty before the accident took
place. They were not full when the accident took place.
- Mr. Poor. That is all. ‘
- Secretary Reorierp, You were not there, were you, at the time of—
the accident ? t

A. No. .

Mr. Poor. Do you know whether this boat was pulled away from
the dccek by a tug or not? Have you heard? ’

The Wirxess, I know that she was not.- I wasn’t there, but then X
was there within an hour, and I went aboard the tug and questioned
the tug crew.
Q. fVell, there was a tug standing by, wasn’t there?—A. Yes, sir,
the tu% had a line. ;

Q. The tug had a line out to the boat?—A. Yes, but he had not
straightened out to the boat at all.

Q. This boat does net leave the dock on her own power?—A. No.

Mr. Poor. That is all.

Myr. Swaw. I would like to ask another question, Mr. Redfield.

‘Secretary Reopjeco. Mr. Shaw.
" Mr. Smaw. What was the comparative general reputation of this
boat? By that I mean, did she have the reputation of being the
crankiest boat on the Lakes? Were there many other boats with
reputations about the same as hers? . , ,

he Wirxess. T don’t think she had the reputation of being espe-

cially cranky. It was a general, all-around bad reputation she seemed
to have—seemed to have. People would say that she had been con-
- demned "a number of times, and she was sent away from here because
they wouldn’t let her run here, and all those kind of things, and you
heard so many things about the boat that you knew did not come
from sailor people, that you knew that a lot of it was not reliable.

-
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“. Q. 'But, would' you say, then, that she had' a réputation of being
- the most; cranky boat on the Jaké¥—A.'No. S
+ Q. 'Was her reputation-exceptionally bad, that would single her
- out for your special attention?—A. No; I wouldn’t say that she

was, that her reputation was that way. There are a number of boats

that have the 'rell)utation of being cranky, that they have to be care.

ful with in handling cargoes, freight, etc.; they list badly.

. Mr. Fouxe. Were you familiar with the duties of a boat captain
and handling of a boat? :

- A. Well ges, I might say, with the most of his duties. :

Q. Woui you consider 1t was the duty of the captain in handling

_that boat to, see that those side Far‘}%‘ways were closed, knowing that
they were so close to the water! Would you consider that the cap-:
tain should see to that?—A. Yes. ' ’ :

- Q. Just the same as it would be the engineer’s duty to see that he
had enough water in the boilers?—A. Yes. '

" Q. I say that, regardless of whether an insgrector has asked him—
es

recommended tHat that be dohe. or not—A. 3,
" Q. You think that would be one of his duties?—A. Yes. :
Secretary Repriern. Any further questions? Mr. Sullivan, do you
care to ask this witness any questions? ' o
Mr. SuLLivan. No questions.
Secretary Reorierip. Mr. Gillette?
Mr. Guuierre. No.
Secretary Reprierp. If not, the witness is excused. We will ad-
journ, to meet at 9.30 a. m. to-morrow.
~ (Whereupon an adjournment was taken until the following day,
Tuesday, Aug. 3, 1915, at 9.30 o’clock a. m.)

o Cuxcaco, IlL., August 3, 19165—9.90 a. m.
Parties met pursuant to adjournment.
Present:. Same as before.

- Epwarp C. GirerTE, called as a witness on behalf of the hoard,
tflaving been first duly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as
ollows: -~

‘Examination by Secretary Reprrerp:

Q. Will you please give your full name and address to the stenog-

rapher?—A. Edward C. Gillette, Washington, D. C.
Q. What is your age, Mr. Gillette?—A. Forty-two.
struction, Lighthouse Service. .

' Q. Department of Commerce?—A. Department of Commerce;
es, sir.
¥ Q.. Will you please state, beginning at the time when you began to
work, what your various employments have been.—A, Well, I
started in as a young man—learned a trade. ;
! Q. What trade?—A. Machinist, and was employed by the B. F.,
Sturdevant Co. as an outside erecting engineer, in connection with
marine work principally, and assistant engineer in private electric
plants, and. then entered the Government service in the Navy De-
partment. :

Q. What is your occupation?—A. Superintendent of ndval con-
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-Q. Spesk up loud, so these gentlemen can hear you.—A. As special
mechanic in connection with the.construction of machinery for tor-
pedo boats, naval machinery, and. vessels and entered the Lighthouse
Service under competitive examination as superintendent of construe-
tion, and as superintendent of construction I have been in the service
ever since. “ - N

Q. When did you entei* the Lighthouse Service, Mr. Gillette?—A.

. 1908. :

Q. And have you been promoted in that service?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. State what your record therein has been in that respect.—A. I .
was superintendent of construction when I entered the service, end
from superintendent of construction was promoted fo inspector of
the second lighthouse district, with offices at Boston; was then pro-
moted to assistant engineer of the bureau, on duty at Washingtens '
was a@ain promoted from assistant engineer to superintendent of
naval construction, the position which I now hold. R

Q. How long were you connected with the Navy Department?—A. -
About three years and a half. - - C

Q. Will you state for the record the names of some of the principal
vessels that either in your private or public capacity you have worked
upon? Omit for the time those of your present service.—A. I was
on the 8¢. Louis and the St. Paul at Cramps. :

Q. You mean the trans-Atlantic liners of that name?—A. Yes,
sir. The steam yacht Josephine belonging to Mr. Widener. I can
not recall the names, but two or three of the Philadelphia & Reading
Railroad Co.’s tugs. The steam yacht Enterprise. Mr. Secretary,
there is a great many boats I can not recall the names of, various
boats, different types. o

Q. I simply want to get enough to establish the fact of your ac-
quaintance, whether broad or narrow, with naval matters—A. I was
also assistant inspector on the construction of the machinery of the
torpedo destroyers 7ruzton, Whipple, and Warden.

. Can you state on what private vessels you did work for B. F.
Sturdevant Co.¥—A. Yes, sir; I have named some, others whose
names I can not recall. :

Q. Then does your experience as a naval and practical engineer
cover both trans-Atlantic and coastwise vessels, as well as naval’
vessels¢—A. Yes, sir.- :

Q. That is the fact?—A. Yes, sir. :

Q. Now, will you state how many, vessels the Lighthouse Service
has in use?—A. At the present time there is a fleet of various light
vessels to the number of 113; 66 of thése are light vessels, and the
balance are tenders—47 tenders.

Q. Are any of those tenders sea-going vessels$—A. Yes, sir; nearly
all of them. \ i «

Q. Are any of those tenders upon the lakes?—A. There are seven
tenders on the lakes in the different districts.

- Q. Can you in a genera] way say where they are?—A. One of them
is located at Buffalo, two with headquarters at Milwaukee, one with
headquarters at Duluth, and three with headquarters at Detroit.

YQ. Are these vessels in constant service upon the Lakesi—A.

"eg, sir. : ' SRR
. Q. Throughout the season?—A. Yes, sir.
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es, sir.

Q. If so, of what nature?—A. 'We‘haVe on the boards at .Wasli-"

. ingto]n at the present time one tender in construction and two light
vessels. .
Q. Did you design the lighthouse tender Cedarf—A. Yes, sir.
Q. A vessels now under construction 2—A. Yes, sir. :
Q. For what special service is that vessel intended ?—A. For the
off-shore work of western Algska, northwestern Alaska. :
" Q. What are the characteristics of that work as regards require-
ments of steadiness upon the boat?—A. Stability and carryin
capacity; stability at all times due to the nature of the seas an
severe weather that is prevalent in those waters where she is to work,
Q. What is the nature of your work in so_far as it affects the
stability of the vessel?—A. Well, our work is particularly affected
by the question of stability inasmuch as our vessels are rigged with
hoisting gear for handling heavy buoys, anchors, and moorings that
are aitached to the buoys. ' : L
Q. State, if you can, what the size and weight of the large buoys
tIﬁis vessel 1s designed to handle is.—A. About 21,000 pounds without
“.. the moorings. «

‘Q. How large are they?—A. They measure about 50 feet over all

~ 50 to 60 feet.

Q. Now, in the operation of handling such a buoy, what is done?—
A. The vessel goes alongside of the buoy and makes fast with a line
and passes a beam over the side, and with bridle chains and tackles

v
,.

such as we use are made fast and the buoy hoisted out of the water

.and landed on top.

- Q. What connections would there be?—A. A number of chains.

Q. Light chains?—A. Inch and a half for that size buoy.

. ?1 ‘How much does it weigh to the yard7—A. T should say to the

athom.

- Q. To the fathom?—A. T think it runs about 175 pounds to the
fathom, as near as I can recall right now.

‘Q. How long are these chains?—A. They vary according to the
depth that the buoy is moored in.

Q.- Taking for example the buoy that is to be placed off of Cape St.
Elias, in Alaska.—A. Yes, sir. ,

YQ. Would this" vessel be expected to handle that buoy 1—A.
es, sir, A

Q. An in rough water?—A. Yes, sir.

- Q. What would be the length of chain attached to that buoy
A. I do not recall the depth of water there.

Q. What is the common practice in such n case?—A. Well, the
length of the ‘chain is about three times the depth of the water to
provide for the rise and fall of tide and the work on the buoy.

Q. Now, is it necessary oris it not to replace buoys of that size in
rough water?—A. Very often it is; yes, sir.

Q. Is it possible to wait until the water becomes smooth to replace
them?—A. Unless there is a very severe sea on we go out and handle
them. We have to handle them in very rough water.

- Q. Then, if T understand you correctly, the vessel of which you
are speaking—the United States lighthouse ship Cedar—is designed

. Q. Are you at the ’resex_lt time in char eiof constructing any ves..
sels.?——A.‘}l'(' , Wae p, Hme in charg ‘ £ any ves
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work at a long distance from land in very rough water, with the
fgng storms-in thg Pacific and to handle heavy weights over her sides 3
is that a correct statement ?—A. Yes, sir; that is correct. - o
- Q. And to handle these weights over her side, do I understand
you, without regard to anything except the severest temperatures -
A. We provide for thlem heeling by our calculations and weights and
bility on that vessel. o i .
stl N}(,)w, what do you use for ballast in that type of ship?—A. In
this particular ship I have designed a vessel with a double bottom
with a capacity for about 60,000 gallons of water, which is to be used
as a reserve boiler feed as well as ballast. : :
Q. What would be i:he weight of that water used as ballast?—A.
out 200 tons, roughly. . . e
Al&) Now, wh}; did%og choose water ballast for this vessel?—A. For
the reason that cargo space was at a premium for the size of vessel
that we had, and in order to increase the steaming radius of the vessel.
as much as possible we might use every ineh of space on the vessel,
and X therefore designed her with a double bottom to carry reserve
feed. water to give us valuable cargo space. This vessel—her cargo
space, by the way, was made sufficiently large to carry three of th&%_
buoys; that is, large-sized buoys, abreast in the hull, which we could

not have done if we had filled it up with separate tanks for water. .

Q. Did you take into account when designing this ship for this
gervice her stability *—A. Yes, sir. » '
- Q. Did you or did you not think that water ballast was a safe
ballast to use for stability%—-A. We thought it was safe, but the
vessel is safe without any ballast in her at all. oo

Q. What does your experience show to be a common practice in
designing vessels as to ballast, the kind of ballast used #¥—A. If we
design a vessel with ballast, of course it is important to make the
necessary calculations to have the vessel stable, ignoring ballast;

. but the weight of ballast, of course, is—well, for instance, a vessel

bas to be loaded heavily and then unload and pass back to her home
port without anything in her; it is necessary to have something to
draw her down in the water so the action of the wind and sea is
reduced ; that vessel will work better and her wheel is submerged
better with ballast. o > ,

Q. And what is the common practice as to the material used for
ballast?-—A. Water is more commonly used because it is easier to
handle; if you were to use pig iron, which was used in the old sniling
dnys, why, if a man needed to shift the ballast it is quite an expensive
as well as laborious operation to discharge and take on board ballast
in that form. .

. Is that a general practice?—A. Tt is very commonly used; I
thi?ik there are g lot of I';e&aels designed without any ballast of tl;ua{
haracter. ' )

‘ IB.MN?;V, is or is not water ballast used for the vessels designed for

Atlantic Ocean?—A. Yes,sir;itis. .
theQ. Agllcli :gor the Great Lakest—A. Yes, sir; as far as T know it is,
1 believe, on the freighters there. .

.. Q@ And for the Pacific Ocean!—A. Yes, sir.




>

; Snturdgr. . . :
Q. What did you see?—A. All I could see was the upper part of,
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Q. And is it the. fact, so far as your experience permits you té
judge, that the use of wat,er ballast is modern and scieng?ic pracl?;ce i
A. Ithink so; yes, sir. - t ' . -
. Q. Now, does water ballast require special care in its handling .~
A. Yes, sir; there is great danger in free water; the tanks must be
em&ty or filled. -

Q. Now, what, is that danger and how does it arise?—A. Well,
the energy that is set up in a body of water can be measured by the
distance through which it travels and multiplied by its weight; for

inSthnce, b tons of free water traveling 30 feet would be equivalent.

tle% foi)t-,tofns. .
. By 150 foot-tons do you mean the energy would be equa
the weight of a fall of 150 g’ons 1 foot—A. A%yout that; yes,qsir.l t
- Q. Did I understand you to say that a partially filled water-bal.
Iast tank was an element of dengerf—A. Tt is; certainly ; due to this
movement of the water, the free-water movement. :
Q. Then is it your experience that special care is required to be
tsed in connection with water ballast to have the tanks either full
or.empty¥—A. Yes, sir. Another provision we make in design is ta
fit swash plates in there to dampen the movement of that water or
break it up. -

Q. How are the water tanks in the vessel we have been- speaking

about filled? I refer to the Cedar-—A. They are filled by a large’

ballast pump through a manifold, and emptied the same way, and
they are also cross connected through -an additional pump, to the
fire and bilge pump, so that in case of the breaking down of the one
the fire and bilge ‘mmp can be used. Tt is also connected so the
water can be turned from any individual compartment and pumped

- into another without the necessity of pumping it overboard.

Q. Are yon familiar with the water-ballast system used on the
steamer Lastland?—A. Only what I have learned through the testi-
mony and what I saw, which was very small, on board the ship last

the manifold as it stuck out of the water in the engine room, and I
was.down on the cylinders of the main engine and with the aid of a
light that the assistant boiler inspector had there I could just see

‘the three valves to the manifold. -

Q. Is that system one such as youn have designed for the Cedarf—

-+ Ay No, sir; not exactly. We do not fill with the sea water, although
- we can do it if we want to without the use of the F“mp because the

by gravity if we

hea'c}: (;f t}l;e ta}lk is below thcla water line; we can fil
want to, but if we want to hurry the operati t
Onéan(viv;force. it. “ ’ ry P 101 'We can put a pump
- When you say you do not fill by sea water you mean d
ﬁlat.h%o}?gh atsea c(}ck?w—A. I mean directly byygmvity. g Gt
The system of a pump is used because it i i i
oy thati A e sir.p p ge 1t is quicker, did yon
Q. What difference, as regards safety would there be between the
:K_stgm of filling direct by gravity, as in the case of the Fastland, and
e system of filling by. pumps, as'you have described I—A. Well, in
a case of a vessel listing it might be necessary for the engineers to
take the water from ome compartment and. put it. into another, or
to quickly fill the compartment on the low side or the high side,
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which could not be done by gravity, that is it could be done, under-
gtand, but I mean at the same speed, the velocity of the water. . .
Q.. Was the system on the Eestland, in your judgment, a safe sys-
tem if it was carefully used ¥—A. Yes, sir; I think so. o
Q. What was the nature of the care required?—A. I do not know
as I understand your question in regard to that, Mr. Secretary. Do
you mean in the operation of the system ¢ o
Q. Yes; I should have said in the operation of the system; of
course, that is what I mean.—A. To see that all of the valves were in
working order, that the pipes were free, that the strainers were clear,
sounding pipes elear. In other words, the engineer should be fully
maizant of what he was doing. and, further, te get the water into
the compartment that he wanted. ' IR
Q. Would you or would you not say, from your experience as a
paval engineer and marine constructor, in connection with the oper- -
ating of the vessel, that it was sufe to load a normal load—whatever
it might be—upon the steumer Eastland with her tanks empty -or
artly filled when lying at the dock?—A. No, sir; I should have
lled the tanks full before I permitted a passenger te go aboard, if I
were engineer of that vessel, if there was any doubt about her sta-
bility or holding qualities. ‘ o =
- @. Can you say, from your knowledge of private marine practice,
what the cusfom of private vessel owners is as regards determining
the stgbility of the vessel?—A. In well-regulated shipyards it 1s
on practice to do that—make inclining experiments after the
vgssel is completed ; but in a great many other yards they do not do
it—yards at which we have had our vessels constructed—for instance,

inclining experiments on lighthouse tugs of the 7Tulip class, eight of
which were built by them in 1908. They made the inclining experi-
ments without solicitation. At other yards they never made any. -

Q. To what extent does the supervision of the naval architect
who designs a vessel cover this question of stability in vards where
the practice is not that of testing it by the inclining experiments, as
you have described i—A. Only by Freliminary calculations which
they malke in the design of the vessel, the form of the vessel, and so
on. After the weights are in and the centers of gravity fixed, and so
on, they can determine the stability of that vessel by calculation;
but they should be proven by actual experiments, in my estimation,
after the vessel is completed. '

Q. What are the so-called classification societies?—A. Classifica-
tion societies, such as the American Bureaun of Shipping, the Bureau
of Veritas, and Lloyds, are bodies composed of well-known people
in the naval architectural line, and they have formulated rules by
which the scantlings in the construction of vessels are governed.
The American Buréau of Shippings and Lloyds—well, I guess all of
them are so extensive—but more especially the American Bureau of
Shipping rules are used in determining the size of frames and all of
the structural parts tuat go to make the vessel. They have certain
fixed and laid-down rules which are printed in this book that they
publish and by which the naval architects work. :

Q. Does a vessel have to be constructed in accord with the specifi-
cations of one or the other of these classification societies in order to
obtain insurance—A. Yes, sir. : -

he New York Shipbuilding Co., of Camden, N. J., voluntarily made , /
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- ...Q. Now, what happens on the part of these classification societies-—<
" what is don¢ by them (Frior to the vessel getting its insurancef—A,
They must be ¢ xamined by the representative of that society.
Q. Who is that representative?—A. Well, they have regular in:
spectors connected with that bureau. . ‘ '
Q. Then would these men examine the vessel?—A. The plans are
snibmitted to them. Yes, of course, go over it and see the size of
the vessel, the scantlings, and so forth, and rivetings.
Q. Do they or do they not take in to account elements other than
the physical construction of the shipf—A. I don’t know whether they
. do in every case or not; in some cases they do, in my opinion, and in
others they do not; it is according to his knowledge of the inspection
of the vessel and the specifications on which they are written. .
- Q. Do they prescribe the limits of widths and steps within certain
_ limits of lengths?—A. Do you mean in regard to the scantlings of
the vessel? .
Q. No; the size of the hull.—A. Oh, the size of the hull?
-~ Q. Yes.—A. I do not think their rules cover that specifically;

" they donot tolich upon it.

Q. Are there any of the rules of the classification societies which
in terms or by natural inference cover the question of stability ¢—A,

I don’t think there is anything in the rules that cover the shape—the -

form of the vessel. The book that we use simply refers to the scant.
lings and the size of the vessel ; whether they have other rules or not
¥ 'don’t know ; I have not seen them. o

Q.. Well, the question of the stability of a ship has an important
bearing u})on it as an insurable risk, hasn’t it?—A. Well, it is my
opinion if the plans of a vessel were submitted and the American
Butéau of Shipping after inspection they pass upon the shape as
well as the structure in order to give classification, certainly if the
vessel is to be classed as Al, which is their highest classification, they
surely would not pass by the question of stability.

Q. But that stability question, as I understand, is passed upon by
them, is it not, from calculations derived from certain known stand-

ards of construction and not from actual trial of the vessel?—A,

Oh, yes, sir; that is, from calculations; calculations are always made
for stability of the vessel, and it must be in the design. o

Q. And are there other and separate calculations made bearing on
the ship and specifications and drawings as a result of these calcula-
tions bearing on it are made which have to do directly with the ques-
tion of stability?—A. Yes, sir. v

Q. Can you therefore say that apart from other elements of the
ship’s construction this question of stability is given special study
by them?—A. Yes, sir; it is.

Q. And is the result of that special study, known to the surveyor |

who comes for the classification society —A. Yes, sir; he should
. know them.

Q. Are you familiag with their practice as regards the determin-
ing of stability in the English merchant marine?—A. No, sir; I
am not. ,

Q. Can you say from what you saw when you visited the Eastland
what kind of a freeboard she had ?—A. In my estimation the free-
board was very. small; that. is, taking into consideration the gang-
~ ways, or the gangway ports, their height above the water. .

[
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© Q. ‘What was their height above the Wf’ftéfg;‘"‘A.-{I-QShomd ]u%g

ds near as I could see from the water line at the lower corner of

after one, was not more than 2 feet from the air ports in the hull
‘under the guard, and forward probably were not over 14 inches. I

had no rule but I judged that distance standing on the vessel’s side.
Q. Could you estimate, and did you estimate to what extent the
vessel must heel to submerge either the air ports or the after gang-

ways of which you have spoken?—A. Well, that would depend some-

what upon the trim of the vessel by the stern as to that angle, but it
appeared to me from what I could see in the position she lay that
not a very great angle would be required to bring them awash, bring
the bottom of the board awash. . :
Q. By that you mean bring the water up level with the bottom of
the port?—A. Yes, sir. R R
Q.- Are you familiar with the eastimated averagg weight of pas-
gengers#—A. How do you mean, weight per man? ‘ :
Q. Yes—A. I think it is taken on an average from 150 to 175
pounds. but I am not positive on that point. ' Q
Q. Would you say that weight is the average in the case of a crpyvd ,
which was largely composed of women ?—A. Well, I am not familiar
enough with that kind of things, and I do not know as my figures are

_ right on that. I am only attempting to state it.

~“Q. Assuming the weight of passengers at 160 pounds average of

them all, what would be the total weight of 2,500 passengers?—A.

ounds.
4 Q. How many tons?—A. That would be about 200 tons.

Q. About 200 tons?—A. Yes, sir; at 2,000 pounds.

Q. Is a load of 200 tons in your judgment, based upon your ex-

rience, escessive for a vessel which carried 250 tons of water
gllast in her central tank and additional water ballast in the other
tanks amounting to not less than 400 tons total, provided said tanks
are ‘properly filled?—A. No, sir; T do not think that is excessive
weight, provided it is not; no, sir, I do not think that is an ex-
cessive weight at all, not for a ship of that size. )

0. Ts it or is it not a proper deduction to be made, and in your
judgment as a marine engineer and constructor a safe deduction to
be made, that a vessel which has carried 3,300 passengers and on
repeated occasions 3,000 passengers may be safely allowed, without

+ About 33,000 pounds. Let me figure it up: Four hundred thousand

- material change in her construction, and if her ballast is properly

handled, to carry 2,500 passengers?—A. Why, if she safely carried
that number of passengers then she would surely do it again.

Q. What length of time would you consider necessary in the ves-
sels over which you have had either supervision or control to test
whether a vessel was safe or unsafe when properly h;andi'ed? When
1 say what length of time I mean what length of time In the serv-
jce—A. Why, you could find that out within a month’s time of
hard continuous service. ' ‘ )

Q. Mr. Gillette, you have under your charge in a general way,
wnder your supervision, something over 40 seagoing steamers {—A.
Yes, sir. o
Q. And 60 lightships?—A. Yes, sir. . o

%. Séﬁtteredga]l o?er the oceans, both the Atlantic and Pacific,
and in the Great Lakes and in the Gulf. Is there any one of these
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- vessels which has, after having one year’s use, thereafter shown her.

~ self to be otherwise in her characteriskics than sh : to be
that first yeari—a. No, sir. |0 e y“‘“’e“ tobs

ré you justified as & marine erec‘g‘ihg exigin_ee , and as having

supervision of a large fleet, covering both the Atlantic and Pacifie

Qceans, the Gulf, and the Lakes, in saying, therefore, that any. ve
~ would exhibit all her normal chalfactey;'isgzzs in use v;'ithin ﬁ‘v{a yesaf:lé
fhfter glllxetwa_sﬂll)uttu‘x;o serv_1§e§?-—-'-’A. Yeti{rgixl';_ %bsolutely; in less time
toan that without there wad® some material change in
or something of that kind, . o o change In her structure
. Secretary Reorrewp, Gov. O'Hara, =~ —— - -
. Mr. O’'Haga. Mr. Gillette, how many lightships have you in your
~+ jurisdiction? - S
The Wrrness. We have 66. L
Q. That includes lighthouse ships stationed at what ports on the

Great Lakes?—A. Let’s see. We have 11 on the Greay/Lakes, Why,

there is 1 at Buffalo, there is 1 at Bar ‘Point, thefe is 1 on Lale
Huron, 1 in Lake St. Clair, and 1 at Milwaukee, and 3 ip i
other end of Lake Michigal,l. N Vm Caedp the

.+ Q. Have you ever had any difficulty wi ightshi

| at gorts on the Great Lakes as regards st V?E-A. Ngever.
~ Q. When -was the lightship at Milwaulke® constructed—what
year?—A. She was constructed in—1 think it was about 1910, Yes;
1910 or 1911, T have just forgotten which. I was not in my present
position at that time.- . ) - .
Q. And do you know, Mr. Gillette,'s
at Milwaukee at the time of her cons
Of(;}llerY?' . h 0 - I (R

- Yes; who'O. K’ed the plans?—A. The superintendent of nav.

construction at that time. I‘think it (was Mr. %arington; ot o
{u];o you know if any difficuléy was ever experienced with that

lightship f—A. T believe they had some trouble with her at the dock

ho apprdﬁed of the lightshi
uction #—A. Who approve

there, due to a gale of wind, in conn\ection with the water ballast

in her. , . - . , ,
Q. Did the lightship at Milwaukee dn the occasion to which you

refer tip over or capsize?—A. She went|down, I believe, Tight at the

Q. Was she blown over?—A. That
familiar with all the facts in the case!
" Q. Do you recall what year?—A. T say I think it was in 1910
or 19115 1 am not sure. ' I was at Boston at that time as inspector.
Q. And under whose jurisdiction was the lightship at Milwaukee
at that time?—A. Under Mr. Warington’s, the superintendent of
naval constryction at that time; my predecessor. )
- Secretary Reoriero. He has since left the servige,
~ Mr. O'Hara. He has since left the service? }e
Secretary Reprierp. Yes, sir. a-—”/ "
- Mr. O'Hara. You expressed it as your belief that the lightship at
Milwaukee was carrying water ballast at that time?—A. I believe
there was something in connection with her water ballast; I am not-
familiar with that; that is not just now, because T have not seen the
‘plans, but from what I have heard there was some mistake in the

dock during a gale of wind one night. ,
l/ can not say. I am not

filling of the tanks; either they were partly filled or something of .

s stationed

gsted by the Navy Department themse
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the kind there; she did not have a regular water hallast, as T rem

ber it pows: oo Tl S ,.
Q. Mr. Gillette, you as an’expett have testified as to the efficient
of water ballast. ,Kt‘the"time’idu gave that testimony were you ?i
oii familiar with the working of the wateg ballast in the lightship'at

Tk

Milwankee¥—A. No, sir;+I have not seen"those plans and do not

They are ¢n file in my office. =~~~ * % -
" Q. Reference was made,hMr. Gillette, to a lightship for the coast
of Alaska?-—A. Noj a lighthouse tender: ‘ - v
- Q. A lighthouse tender I—A. Yes, sir. ‘ '
Q. What is the difference in construction as regards the ballast
between the lightship at Milwaukee and the tender for the coast of
Alaska ?—A. y, they are very different-shaped vessels. v
Q. As regards the ballast, Mr. Gillette?—A. As I say, I can not -
recall just the arrangement of the water ballast, whether she has
just got trimming tanks or not in the lightship; I can not recall
that condition; but in the vessel you are speaking of, the Cedar, she
has water ballast under her engines and hoilers, throughout the bot-

know the arrangement'of that; that is, T am not familiar with it now,

tom of the ship. '

Q. Would you say as an expert, Mr. Gillette, that the capsizing -
of the lightship at Milwaukee was because of defective water ballast,
and that would furnish reasonable grounds for doubting the effi-
cienﬁy of the water ballast on the tender for the coast of Alaska{—
A. No, sir; there is no comparison at all, because they are different-
ihaped ships. The bottom is entirely different, entirely different
orm. :

Q. How long, Mr. Gillette, had the lightship at Milwaukee been in

service when she tipped over?—A. She had never been in service;
she was in the builders’ hands. ‘

Q. Had she been accepted by the Government?—A. I can not
answer that question, but I think they had had a trial trip, an
official trial, but I am not positive on that point.

Q. Now, Mr. Gillette, when the Government undertakes the con-
struction of a vessel, by whom are the plans drawn? I am speaking
sow of the Navy Department.—A. Of the Navy Department{

. Q. By whom are the %}'ans drawn of a vessel to be used by the
Navy Department ¢—A. 1

ell, in my ex;l)erience the plans were pre-
ves, and a set of plans are

rnished to the successful bidder or bidders prior to the opening of
bids, and then the builders are required to make their own plans
from those others, making necessary corrections and changes as may
be necessary in the course of construction. Also, I believe the Navy
kept a corps of inspectors or draftsmen at the builders’ yard, also,

: for the purpose of going over this work.

Q. And is it presumed, Mr. Gillette, that when the plans of a vessel

" before construction have been submitted to the nava engineers and -
- approved by them that the vessel when constructed will be sea-

worthy? Is that the natural presumption?—A. Yes, sir; the calcu-
lations of the designer must surely show that. '

Q. Now, Mr. Gillette, can you inform the board, if you know, the
practice of the classification bureaus or societies referred to in this
regard? Upon what evidence does the classification society declare

22860—16—19 : : :
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. the vessel séaworthy$—A. 1 do not. kiiow. that T can answer, thyt
. Question, because in some, casés.the. cation societies have thew

9w inspectors gu tha work; but what procedures they -goéi, rough,

8.3 i 7

am not femiliar with that. .

Q. Ts it true that in some cases coming under your notice the classi.

fication societies have accepted the engineer’s drawings?—A. Well,
they would have to, I think, in order to pass on the construction of
the vessel in general, because their rulés require certain seantlings

and in order to approve the scantlings they must approve the draw.

ings entering the ship or the vessel first, so I would consider that in

order to give her a_classification certificate that the classification
society would naturally have to l%‘i'v_e consideration to the question of
- the shape of the ship as well as her structural members. .~ ;
. Q. Well, as a rule, Mr. Gillette, do these classification societies go

- any farther than a classification of the drawings of the ship that 15

material that goes into it, 1f ’!y;)_u require 1t.
Q. If you require it?%—A. Yes, sir.. 9

to be inspegted !—A. They make an inspection of the ship, of the

Q. By whom?—A. They have their inspectors that even go to the
‘mills, the same as we do, and make a physical test of the steel; every -
-piece of steel-is-marked by them after 1t is tested, so that we know

the physical properties of that material, , o
Q. And at what geriod in the vessel’s construction is she pro-
nounced seaworthy

y the classification society?—A. After she is
completed. - o ) :

Q. And launched ?-—A. Of course, it is passed on as the work pro-
gresses; they have an inspector right on the work all the time, the
same as we do. v

Q. Now, going back to the lightship at Milwaukee, Mr. Gillette,
suppose this lightship had been in the merchant-marine service,
would she have been pronounced by the classification society #—A.
Well, I can not say that; I don’t know whether they would or not.

‘They do not inspect our work, you know ; we have our own inspectors,”

Q. I think the question is a little unfair, Mr. Gillette. I ?&ér-
stand that you are only enlightening the board from your hearss
knowledge of the workings of thesé classification societies.—A. We
have, Mr. O’Hara, we have very little to. do with the classification
society except in this way, that we use their rules; our specifications
are all drawn for our vessels in this way: That should any variations
or any misunderstandings in the specifications come up the American
Bureau of Shipping Rules shall govern the construction. For in-
stance, if we forget in the specifications—it is omitted—the size of
a bar, of a hatch combing, a reverse bar, or something of that kind,
the question of stiffening a binding strap or bosom strap, or say
where strength is required, these rules—the classification rules—cover
all these points, and we say in our classification, these rules shall
Eovem in the construction of the vessel in the cognizance of the
ureau of Lighthouse Construction. That is, we can go strong on
that, if we consider their scantlings and so on are not strong enough
for our work, we consult the bureau, that is the reason we say in the
cognizance of the Bureau of Lighthouse Construction, so if we want
to demand of a builder a stronger type wo can do it; and in that
connection let me say it has been my purpose in our work, from my
experience in the Lighthouse Service, our vessels are subject toa great

- % / S
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46l worse vonditioris'thn the'seréliant marises ks, for' the tedstn
that we g6 out and do work wheii the other velels' will stay in be-
. hind the breakwatéri our''vessels go out and’do the’ worst kind of
+ work because we have got to look out for the safety of the merchant
- marine. Our buoys‘hava got to be kept in position, our lights have
got to be kept lighted, our lightships must be supplied with food and

oil and coal and water, and I have been on our tenders and gone out
myself personally when they said we would never come back, but
we had to do it; it was our duty for the safeguarding of the people,
go for that reason we go, what I say, two numbers higher than the
classification rules in the conmstruction of our vessels and the de-
terioration; that is a great factor at the present time in a vessel
where corrosion will eat up iron. ‘

Q. You mean deterioration is a large factor, Mr. Gillette. Is that
quite consistent with your previous statement that a vessel after five

‘years of service might continue to show the same, or some, or all of

er normal characteristicst—A. If she was properly cared for; yes,
sir. : : ‘
- Q. Then what factor does deterioration to which you have referred
enter %—A. There will be not a great deterioration in five years on a

- vessel if she is properly cared for.

Q. After five years, Mr. Gillette?—A. Well, after five years—we
have vessels in the service—we have got one vessel now that is 65 -
years 0ld—66 this year—and she is as good as any of them. -

Q. I was merely desiring to get from you, Mr. Gillette, some idea
of your conception of that factor of deterioration.—A. Well, that is
up to the personnel of the vessel; we have had-a sad experience in
this service/on that point recently, within the last three years.

Q. To what experience do you refer, Mr. Gillette?—A. Well, I

‘mean general experience, as I have had all the repair work on vessels;

we find'that deterioration goes on'if water is allowed to lay.on iron, a

‘cake of rust will start and unless that is scraped off and taken care of

and painted properly and the surface kept in good shape the first
thing you know you have got nothing there but a cake of rust; but
with proper care and keeping there is no reason why a vessel should
not last to a good old age. —

+ Q. To what inspection and at what intervals should a vessel be

subjected in order to prevent loss of stability through the working
of the factor of deterioration?—A. Why, I don’t think that has any-
thing to do with the stability at all; that is merely a question of
structural weakness; that would not have any effect upon stability.

Q. Mr. Gillette, you say that the old ships constructed for your
department undergo a test two points higher?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Than these vessels in the merchant marine?—A. I mean two
points higher; I mean two numbers higher, I should have said; that
1s what I meant; the classification society says they give for scant-
lings of the vessels on these tables numerals, and these numerals

. refer to different-size ships; the length by the breadth times the

half girth measurement gives you a certain numeral; it may be
50,000 or 60,000 or 5,000 or 6,000, according to the length of the ship;
and then you look in these rules, and you will find 5,000, and on up
to 60,000, whatever you are looking for, and you find right in that
line it tells you the size of the force, the size of the beams, the size
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ofthe reverss bars, ,the}s_i,zdbf-tl;e,» oulder stroke, the, size of the
- keel, the size of the, stem, ».all',ff,hipﬁ;l!tébﬁhwsi oﬁt’ with the mu!i;e ’

- berg; we. go two numbers higher than ths
ittle added strength; l:v?doh,t;hive"to doqi‘i',tt?,?

just for the sake of 3
ut we do it just for

little safeguard to ourselves and to add to our strength and not

jeopardize it. If you get a bar one-sixteenth of an inch thicker,

- that will last longer than one ome-sixteenth of an inch smaller
won'’t it? That is simply the condition that the Lighthouse S,e,:]gf:é

wants. S
. Q. Now, Mr. Gillette, is it a reasonable presumption that if the
 stability of the Eastland were determined by a class fication sfacieltm

that she went two points lower than the test applied to the Milway, .

kee Lighthouse boat which capsized, is that a reasonable presumnp.
tion?—A. No; I don’t think.you have %ot the point at all. pThe tvso
points means the kind of scantlings; I mean the structure of the
ship. Now, that vessel was probably carrying a class A certificate
for insurance, and the scantlings and materials in the Eastlond—
I do not know, I simply say that we go a little bit stronger or two

numbers higher in order to give a little added strength for our own

work, our specific work, because our vessels have to stand out st

?xelab:?ld take a drubbing when these other folks are in at shore and
Q. Let me put it this way: Is it a reasonable presumption t
the Milwaukee Lightship was submitted to a morcls) 'severeptest tl?ﬁaxt
- that applied to the steamer Eastland?—A. Oh, far more; I can not
- say that without question, because I know that all of that steel in

that vessel was inspected, and I know that every piece of that steel—
I think the records are in our office of exactly what the conditions
were throughout that vessel, because they require all these tests

to be made at the mills of all the material that we get and use in these

vessels, and we keep that record for future reference.
Q. Since 1910, Mr. Gillette, has the system of inspection or of
~ stability testing in your department been revised in any degree?—
A. T do not know that there is any great revision; we have from
time to time inclined our vessels, but we do it for our own safety.
For instance, in some particularly old vessels we have rébuilt them.
We have changed the wooden masts which they had orignally, and
_put steel masts on, consequently changed the center of avity, and
1z order to satisfy ourselves that the vessel was still stable we have
made inclining experiments for our own use. ’
. Q. Since 1910 has the department with which you are connected
eonducted any inquiry into the efficiency of water ballast?—A. No,
sir; I think not, because we have very few vessels that are fitted with
it, except trimming tanks forward and aft. We have about three
vessels, I think, that are fitted with water ballast. One of them was
in Alaska—the Lilac, It has been doing work which the Cedar is
to do; although she is a much smaller boat, she has traveled those
seas with water ballast in her, and has made a trip recently from
Sa& B‘ll;aDQECO t(l)l Honolulu. : ~
. ou have how many vessels did you say under vour jurisdic-
tion?#—A. About 113—66 light vessels a:;;d 47 genders. yourd ’
Q. And of that number how many carry water ballast?—A. Well,
do you mean the double-bottom water ballast or trimming tanks;
there is a difference between them? //

~
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Q. What is the difference—A. We use ballast for trimming,
 though you would not call'it ballast, eithei'; We slways have & trim-

ming tank forward of the ¢ollision bulkhead’ and ‘generally one aft,

- and all of our steel vessels are’ fitted-~nearly all of our steél vessels
are fitted with trimming tanks, but it is not, strictly‘épggking;‘ water

ballast. C )

- Q. Well, strictly speaking, how many of the 118 vessels carry
water ballast?—A. Including the Cedar, I think we have three, to
my knowledge, right now. , : ‘

Q. Is it the custom of the Navy Department, Mr. Gillette, to dis-
card all apparatus found to be inferior to a later invention?—A. I
could not answer that. I am mot familiar enough with their pro-
cedure at the present time to answer that. A :

Q. Why, Mr. Gillette, in your judgment, do not more vessels in

our department carry water ballast exclusively or strictly {—A.

ell, because the nature of the work does not require it. Our ves-
sels are not large. We do not carry a large amount of cargo. The
lighthouse tenders, of course, are {)runarily designed to supp%i light-
hotises and light vessels, and, while we carry coal to them and provi-
sions, yet the carrying capacity is not of such great importance as
it would be on a freight vessel.

Q. Did I understand you to say, Mr. Gillette, that one of the
things most persistentli sought in the construction of your vessels
is stability and seaworthiness!—A. Yes, sir; absolutely.

- Q. The vessels carrying water ballast, the two or three referred to,
were constructed what years, if you can recall?—4. I wish I had m
annual report here. The Léilac and the Columbine are the two
‘have reference to. One is in the New York district end the other in
Honolulu at the present time. These vessels are, I thing, in the
neighborhood of 17 or 18 years of age; I do not kmow but a little
more than that. -

Secretary RepFrerp. Wait a minute. I do not think the question
was fully answered. You did not tell him about all the vessels.

The Wirness. I said, including the Cedar, three that I can recall,
but the Cedar is not com}ﬁleted yet.

.Secretary Reprierp. That is what I wanted to get at. Two are 17
yvears old and one is now being constructed.

, Mr. O’Hara. Yes. How many vessels have been constructed since

1910 in your department?

The Wrrness. I do not know whether I can give the exact number,
but I think it is somewhere in the neighborhood of 9 or 10; I won't |
say this is accurate, understand; that is as near as I can recall, light
vessels and tenders. : ‘

Q. And of that number, rou%hly speaking, how many have been
constructed to carry water ballast?—A. Only the one, the Cedar;
that is the vessel just now under construction, and which is the
largest vessel, by the way, in the service or that has ever been in the

1 J/

gervice. /

Q. And that is to carry water ballast?—A. Yes, sir. By the way,
Mr. Secretary and Mr. O’Hara, I forgot one vessel, that is the
Armeria, she was double bottom. :

Q. Would you say, Mr. Gillette, that the capsizing of the light- -
ship at Milwaukee is at all responsible for the small use of the water
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~ ballast in vessels.in your department1—A. I.do not think it has fny. -

thing to do with the

ou would f—A. Yes, sir. S
_Then, Mr. Gillette, do you think that any ship should pass
muster as being safe if her safety depends upon the carrying of g

certain amount of water ballast?—A. Let me understand the ques-
- tion first. ,

Q. Read the question.
(Question read as follows:)

Then, Mr. Gillette, do you think that any ship should pass muster as belng
safe if her safety depends upon the carrying of a certain amount of watep

ballast? * ‘
The Wrrness. Jiist read that again, I did not quite catch it.
(Question read by reporter as ollows:) ‘

Then, Mr. Gillette, do you think that any ship should pass muster as being
safe if her safety depends upon the carrying of a certain amount of water

ballast? o

‘The Wrr~ess. Well, that is a hard question to answer. It would
depend upon calculations as to what the previous’ calculations were
and an idea of the water ballast, whether it was intended—there is a
question of whether it.was intended to be used actually as ballast or
not. There are some vessels designed that have to go into shoal water,
and they have got to pump out ali their ballast in order to get over the
shoal spots and then fill up again to keep the wheels under water.
It seems to me a question of designing on that. I can not answer
thﬁt question offhand; there are too many points that bear on that
subject.

Q. Will you, Mr. Secretary, read Mr. Gillette’s answer to the pre-
vious question and give him all the answer,

(Questions and answers read by reporter as follows:)

Q. Would you say, Mr. Gillette, that the capsizing of the lightship at Milwau-

kee is at all responsible for the small use of the water ballast in vessels in your
department?—A. I do" not think

‘question of stability is a calculation that is made, with or without water ballast,
and if T were designing a ship I would design her to be stable without water,

Q.- Then, Mr. Gillette, do you think that any ship should pass muster as being
safe if her safety depends upon_the carrying of a certain amount of water
ballast?—A. Let me understand the question first.

The Wrrness, When I say that I mean for our service, because
many times we have to work in shoal water where we could not use
water ballast, even if we wanted to; the vessel would be on the bot-
tom. As a matter of fact, our vessels are on the bottom half the time,
anyway. We have got to work on the edge of channels; we are doing
that all the time. We could rum, anyhow.
stand my answer to that question, but under those conditions, with
the heeling that we have, with the boom out to the side of the vessel,
. and the weight on her, we have got to have something for her to

stand up on her feet with; we have to have sométhing on her.

Q. V%s the lightship at Milwaukee constructed to be safe without
water ballast?—A. I do not know; I did not see its calculations,
Mr. Warington made those. ‘ ’

Q. Is the vessel now under construction to carrgr water ballast or
to be constructed to be safe without water ballast%—A. She is to be

o , mﬁa %.hip I wonld .desi% her.to be stable without water. .
o 'Q.

Maybe you do not under. -

I ! 0 question; the question of stability. is a-calpula
tion, that is made with or without water ballast; and if I were design-

\

it has anything to do with the question; the .

 the water in her.

| . any vessel depending for its stability upon bal
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safo herself; she s  square box; she is very simflar to your lake

freighters-here, *" -~ v

" Q. Then'the water ballast ‘has nothing whatever ‘to-do with' her

stability 9—A. Well, of course, that’ will'add ‘to it; when yon put

last in her that will sink her that much deeper in the water
:ﬁe:hl;ﬂéﬁlﬂ center of gravity, and she will be more gtable with

ert, as a naval engineer and constructor, you can
nog' tgtllttl?s&glo:r that the vessel now under construction is 98’3311.
lated to be safe without wa,t?r ballalit?—-—A. Yes; this particular
) is, just r particular work. :
(,eéarBls‘,; J%Slf :1?: glab e to inform the board whether that was as-
sumed to be the case with the lightship at Mllwaukw?—A.hVZEH,
these vessels are so entirely different, and the work for which they
are designed is so entirely different, it would hardly be any com-
parison at all. S ] i
vesesls in your department or in your jurisdicti
ar? 'ug::);{)l:an%;li{hout balla.sty?——A. think some of our a,tei'l ships,
some that were built away back; we have got some. Oh, zhey are
35 or 40 years old, some of the old wooden ships, where the con-
struction has been changed and they have been put m}t;o S}frvmfri as
lightships. We have put in some pig-iron ballast to make ¢ t%mt bg:x
right. Ag far as stability is concerned, no question about ilad’ b
cause some of these vessels were sailing vessels. They sailed the
seas with sails before they went in as lighthouse ships. sl
Q. Does the United States Naval Department accept any ﬁse
depending for its stability on ballast?—A. Well, oh, I do ino_i: ow
what the%avy’s practice is on that. I do not know what their prac-
tice is. v . e
artment?—A. Oh, in our department. Well,
I (% I&)lt ﬁ%!;vflerl)n my experience I have had no such conditions t&;
arise. The vessels that I have had charge of or the construction o

“ T have never had any question of that kind come up.

Q. You never have accepted the plans or aﬂgzgie?& .tig?e})ig%s Z
s a constructor or builder of vessels, you would not bui

a w%ssﬁng(’)ra any trade depending for its stability upon ballast QEAE.
I say that is a question o? design... It might be necessary mbdﬁ tst a_f
There is no objection to water ballast or any other kind of ba % i
you need it for certain specific reasons, any specific reason, asl %aré i
see, because I say sometimes it is necessary. There are vessels t af
are working light in shoal water. We have to have some means o
lightening them up to go out and in, you know. That isa ques%on
og design purely and simply, the problem you are up against. A ou
may be hampered by beam and by the length of the boat, dtie %o s or?,
twisting channels, you know, and depth of water. It is al td eb ‘i!eb"i
tion or proposition tha. is before you as to whether you need ballas
or not. ‘ . .

me understand, Mr. Gillette, you say it may be nec-
ess%i‘yNi(:xwi’thlgtconestruction of some vessels in order to permit them
to pass from shallow water into deeper water, and under that ?e-ces-
sity, I presume, or is it a reasonable presumption, when a ve&l?ie :s?m
the shallow water she releases or lets out some of the water ballast —
A. Yes, sir; maybe empty one tank or two tanks.
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Q. Then would you say that the vessel when'in shallow .
- under that necessity. would be_as stable as one carrying: mo(z)'e“ 'b:ﬂahé
in deeper water!—A. That' would depend on the load she carrieg
- and where she carries it too, that has some effect on it. - . -
. Q Who would determine that?—A. That is always. within the
- Jurisdiction of the master of the vessel, 'he has got charge of the
K:iselélgz rtglkes cami1 ﬁf her throughout her trip, he is responsible for
ho(lilpgzlsr ma:tl:':. while she is underway, at least that is the way we
- .As an expert, Mr. Gillette, would you mind givi i :
your opinion as to the maximum carr 1:1Yg c:ai[)za,cii;){:);1 oft;gn;htl'isls)gfli'g
the passenger traffic on the Great Laﬁas, taking into consideration
the possibility of storms such as we have on lt]‘:ﬁe Lakes, the possi.
.. bility of unwise distribution of the passengers, the possib’ility of the
shifting of what cargo may be carried in the hold of the vessel, do
you mind giving this board the benefit of your judgment as to the
naximum carrymng capacity under the most favorable circumstances
‘o any vessel on the Great Lakes?—A. How could I answer that
qu&stlgn mt_houlf I tknLeIw’ tgcnsize of the boat? ‘
- Any size boat, Mr., Gillette?—A. i
tha(r”fi?ag Sz boat, M A. T know, but you might have
. Take the Great Eastern—A. Tt would be a questio i
- beam of the boat and the shape of her. That isqa verynb(t)'ﬁ;:ﬁ]ﬁgg
tion to ask, I do not see how anybody could answer tha guestion.
Q. Then, as a naval engineer, Mr. Gillette, you wish the board to
understand that it is impracticable to fix the maximum number of
¢  DPassengers on any vessel regardless of her size?—A. No: I did not
. sayé thIatt'.; 1’1 I ls{md wpulddhave tg know the size of the vessel.
J. ink you misunderstood my questio: . Gi
tryng\to trap you.—A. I understiglg. e Glnet-te’ T am not
* . Q. Regardless of size can there be fixed by law a maximum num-

ber of persons to be carried on any vessel?—A. Oh, I think so; I -

think a rule could be—1I do not know about a rule. it is quite
lem, because weights vary so, we may have a bunch of pqélssengeggofn
there that will weigh 200 tons, and the same number of people may
comé on to-morrow that will only weigh 120 tons; it is such a varying
quantity it would be almost impossible to make any rule on that.
You might have a party of fat men one day and a party of lean men
the next, the same number of people on there just the same: they
might have their pockets loaded with bullets and lead and the
otlaers vlvm htii have t; hg(;x.t lunch % it is quite a problem. ’ o
; . We had a city ordinance, for i icti ight:
bu(iidigyz.——-A. 'Y, ordina » 1or mnstance, restricting the height of
. We have suggested in some cities laws restricting the
of cars that are to constitute one train. Would it begfetasibrll: n;l;;n,
for the National Congress—in your judgment as an expert’——foxz
the National Congress to' restrict the number of passengers to be
carried T(;r; any oneAvessel at one time? '
.. MI. LHURMAN, -Are you asking him as a nav
expert upon the owersyof Congr%ss? namel expuet or o ligd
Question read as follows:)

We have suggested in some cities laws restrictin
! g the pnumber of h
are to constitute one train,, Would it be feasible, say, for the Natluc:?l{ls (t!o?:
’ gress—in your judgment, as an expert—for the National Congress to restrict
- the numvber of passengers to be carried on any one vessel at one time?
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Mr. Taurmax. You are.asking for his opinion now, with all due
respect, for his opinion on the powers of Congress to enact laws. ..
fi?ut.'ﬁov. O'Hara, No; I am acking his advice, Mr. Solicitor,

. as an expert whether that would accomplish any good.
Mr. %)e {a

wUBRMAN, That question means the laws Congress could
enact. .

Lieut. Gov. O’Haga. Is it feasible?

Mr. Tauemaw. That is all right. ]

The Wrrness. That might be for consideration by pro?er author-
ities. I would not att&mlgt to answer that question myself. ,

Lieut. Gov. O’Hara. Do you think, Mr. Gillette, that such a law
might in any circumstances work for the safety of life or prevent an
accident \ ) ' -

The Wrrness, It might or might not.

Q. You have no positive opinion?—A. No, sir. o

Q. Mr. Gillette, are you familiar with the stability tests in the
merchant marine of any country other than this country?—A. No,
sir; I am not, except that genéral rules laid down, which have come
‘across the water for our use,laid down in text books by naval archi-
tects in England, which are practically the same as we ‘use here—
that is the only thing. T am not familiar with what they actually do.

Q. Mr. Gillette, did T understand you correctly when you said
that if o vessel safely carried a certain number of passengers once she
can do it again ?——g, I do not see why she can not under the same
conditions.

Q. Is the fact that a vessel on one occasion carried 3,000 passen-
gers sufficient proof that she is a seaworthy vessel and can carry
8,000 passengers on another occasionf-—A. If the working conditions
were identical and the weights of the people on there were the same, .
why I should say I would not see why she could not do it to-day as

~well as she could to-morrow.

Q. Is it a fact that a vessel on one occasion carried 3,000 passen-

gers a sufficient reason in your judgment as an expert for any in-
spector to grant that vessel permission to carry 3,000 passengers on:
any and ang?:casions or under any and all circumstencesi—A. Well,
that would be a question of judgment of the man that—
. Q. As an inspector to whom is submitted that proposition, would
you license on that evidence a vessel to carry 3,000 passengers?—A.
I think, if T had positive proof and had known that that vessel had
carried that number of passengers and her conditions were identical,
there had been no change in her structural conditions, I d6 not see
why I should not permit the same thing to occur again, if it had been
done once or twice or several times before safely.

Q. Would you take into account at all the possibility of a sudden
storm similar in violence to the storm that overturned the lightship
up in Milwaukee?—A. Nobody can figure against a thing like that;
the thing to do-is to stay home in a condition of that kind or make
for harbor if you can get there. .

Q. Do you believe that any inspector should grant a license to
any vessel to carry more passengers than that expert believes the
vessel safely can carry in time of a severe stormf—A. Well, that is
a matter of his judgment.

Q. If you were such inspector, what yould be your decision{—A.

. Well, I should want to know the conditions of the ship pretty well

before I made a decision.
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Well, we are generally pretty sure about that beforehand ; our caleu-
- lations—we check the calculations of the builders, you know. =
. Q. In your calculations, do you take into account the possibility
of a stormf—A. Well, we do to a certain extent, what is wind pres-
sure.and so on; yes, sir ;. but we can not provide for a violent gale such
as you referred to awhile ago, where I understand the wind was 85
- miles an hour. ' , ‘
Q. Mr. Gillette, did I correctly understand you to say that a vessel
will show during her first year or first five years of service all of her
normal characteristics$—A. Yes, sir. '
Q. Is it a reasonable presumption, therefore, that a listing of such
a nature as to cause many persons to believe the vessel in anger of
caPmmng should be re%arded as a normal characteristic of that ves-
selt—A. No; that would be an abnormal characteristic which should
be traced up to find out what caused it, if it had been proven that
she was.always steady before that.
Q. If a vessel during her first five years of service listed on one
or several occasions to such an extent as to gain the reputation of
being cranky, would you regard as a naval expert crankiness one of
her normal characteristicsi—A. A vessel may be cranky and still
not unstable.
Q. T don’t think you quite answered the question, Mr. Gillette.
(Question read as follows:)
If-a vessel during her, first five years of service listed on one or several ccca-
sions to such an extent as to gain the reputation of being cranky, would vou
regard as a naval expert crankiness on2 of her normal characteristles?
The Witness. If she onﬁr did that on one or two occasions over a
long period of time I should not consider that a normal characteristic,
I should call that an abnormal condition. '
Q. If, in a period after the vessel had been in service five vears,
she finally listed to such an extent as completely to turn over, would
Zou regard that as a final proof of a normal characteristic shown by

er previous listings during the first five years of her service?—A.
No; I should not consider that—I should not consider that as a
normsl characteristic—a vessel turning over.

- Lieut. Gov. O’'Hara. I am very much obliged, Mr. Gillette, for
your frank and enlightening testimony. Thank you, sir.

The Secrerary. Mr. Gillette, what kind of ballast is used in the
§resept Milwaukee light ship?—A. As I said before, Mr. Secretary,

can not recall the design of that vessel, because that was made prior
to my incumbency to my present position. Those drawings are on
file. Ihave not had occasion to refer to them, but it seems to me that
she has trimming tanks forward and aft. That vessel is now on sta-
tion for Milwaukee; she has been there ever since she was constructed.

Q. Do you know whether she has any other kind of ballast besides

:;ll:ettrimming tanks?—A. I think she has, but I won’t be sure on
at. T : T
Q. Is that the same vessel which sank?—A. Yes, siF,

- Q. What were the conditions, so far as you know, under which
she sank at the dock?—A. I do not know, sir; T only saw the news-

}Zap:r 1aiccounts; I was in Boston that time. T had no knowledge of
it at all. 5

Q. Do you accept for, youf’ department any vessel that you. believe

would have difficulty in weathering the'most severe stormf—A. B 8:
. Q
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A1id ean bé produced——A, Yes, sir. L
‘On-any inquiryt—A. Yes,sir.” 77 "0 oo
Q: To your knowledge, is a report—the details of that accident—
on file in your office?—A. I think they are; yes, sir. =~ ' .~ = °

Q. Would you, if you were called upon, produce both the draw-
ings and report ?—A. I think I could find those without any trouble,
gir.

The Secrerary. I will say to you, Mr. Gillette, for the record, that
if at any time either the drawings or report are called for, I should
be very glad to have them produced for the benefit of anybody who

ma, 1n%ire.

The Wrrness, Yes, sir. '

Q. Now, Mr. Gillette, your service lost a lightship some miles off
Buffalo, did it not?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Under what conditions?—A. I was not there present. Our
reports state that that vessel was lost during a gale that reached a
velocity of 85 miles an hour, a severe windstorm. ‘ T

Q. What is your judgment as to the cause of the accident?—
A. The heavy seas, I think, boarded her. She had a wooden house
and carried a single mast—with a little jury mast—but a single
lantern mast and E)l&ing door, which opened out to permit the lan-
tern to be hoisted. I think the water boarded that vessel, and four
of these doors which blew ashore afterwards, as we found the wreck-
age, and according to reports she filled right up like a tin can and
went down. There was nothing else for her to do. '

Q. Was she anchored ?—A. She was anchored ; yes, sir. )

Q. And how long a chaini—A. Well, T do not know how much
they paid out at the time, I think something like 150 to 160 fathoms
of chain. ~ :

Q. Did she have power?—A. Yes, sir. ! :

Q. What sort of power?—A. She had a/ 20-square condensing
engine, single cylinder size engine, steam boiler.

Q. Was the vessel found?—A. I believe the 'lake survey has lo-

Are her drawings on file in your office ?’—fA('.:XQ?é,gir;_ o .

“cated her.

Q. Has she been raised %—A. The work is {mder way at the present
time. j
Q. So you do not know from actual examination of the vessel

~ just what her exact condition is?—A. No, sir. -

Q. The doors were found?—A. Some of the doors and floating
wreckage was found, and I believe the diver has reported that the
whole top of the house is gone, part of the bulkheads, and so on.

Q. Mr. Gillette, if you were to design a vessel for carrying coal
or other heavy freight down a shallow river, and another vessel for
carrying freight on the Atlantic Ocean, and another vessel for fast

- ga'ssenger service; would you design them alike as regards the

ull?—A. No, sir. L

Q. Ts 1t or is it not a fact that vessels are and must be designed
for the particular service they have to do?—A. That is a fact;

es, Sir. .
Y (i Is that a universal fact?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is it a necessary fact?—A. Yes, sir. -

Q. Is it possible, therefore, to argue from a vessel of one type to a
vessel of another type as regards means used for stability 1—A. No.
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sir; the form of the vessel and the water plane; 1] those

are factors of the stability of the vessel; the shape and ‘}dl‘m.aﬁ’ec_t.s R

_Q-"You spoke of the Cedar being a square box.—A. Yes, sir. =
Q. Is it a fact that the Cedar is specially designed for seveis
~ service?—A. Yes, sir; it is. : Lo
Q. When I say severe service, is it to_your knowledge service of
exceptional severity >-—A. My understanding is that they have very
‘severe weather in the northwest of Alaska, and long, heavy seas and

eavy blows, and for that reason I made special effort to Yl);sign that
s & with due regard to strength, stability, and power,

ta

Q. Was it for that reason that after designing her so she would
be stable, you in addition put in water ballast?—A. Yes, sir; and to

nt from any available port#—A. About 800 miles, I think; yes,

~save the available space for cargo. :
Q. And is it not the fact, also, that in addition to her carrying

capscity she was designed as peculiarly suitable, because the nature

- of her work requires her in heavy Weatg '

fller. side?—A. Yes, sir; that was one of the important points in her
csign, - | it

- Q. Has the Cedar a projecting keel2—A. No, sir; she has a flat

plate keel, a keel plate, but she is stiffened longitudinally with a

center keelsomn. (
Q. Center within?—A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Fouke. Mr. Gillette, you spoke awhile ago of the high side -
or light side of a ship as it went over; ballast tanks, the construction

is so that one tank may be pumped into another. Do you know
whether the FEastlond’s tanks were arranged so that the tanks on

the port side could be pumped into the tanks on the light up side, -

and at the same time receive water on the starboard side from the
outside of the shi{)? . A ’

The Wrrness. I have not seen the drawings, but from the testimony
I understand there is no pump connection to these tanks, that they are
all filled by graviy from the manifold, by the sea cock, but they could
be emptied by a pump.

Q. Would it be possible to put enough passengers on one side of -

that ship to turn it over if the ballast tanks were full?—A. I could
not answer that question; I do not lmow anything about the ship,

personally ; T do not know what her calculations were as to stability;

1t would be very hard for me to tell.

Q. About how many tons of freight could a 2,000-ton boat carry
with safety?—A. That would depend on the size of the quarter.
Now our tender, the Cedar, she is designed for about 1,800 tons dis-
placement ; she will carry about 650 to 700 tons of cargo. Now, we
could let her down a Tittle more, because she has 5 feet freeboard.
¥tis a question of freeboard and displacement.

Q. Do you know how many tons of freight a design of the
Eastland would carry—would justify#—A. No; I would not know
what to say about that because I have not seen the boat at all; she
is upside down in the water, and I only saw one side of her. '

Q. Would you consider her safe to carry 400 tons, 2,000 tons dis-
placement?—A. Two thousand tons displacement? h

* Yas, sir; the proper ratio; y

. Is it a fact that that vessel must work many hundreds of miles

er to lift heavy weights over -

ACCIDENT TO- THE. STEAMER EASTLAND. 804

Q ‘That is what I heard testified here.—A. And carry how much,

_~3100t0n¥7~

Q. Yes—A. Oh, cho will carry that, but according fo whefe it is

. located ; put it at the mastheadi)she would not; down

W, yeq.
Q.. 1. mean with all reasonable care in placing the ffrei?ggt;-;—A. .
Q. On any of the decks she would carry 400 tons?—A. Yes, gr.
Q. Do you consider 2,500 passengers absolutely safe to carry on
thet boat with her ballast tanks full?—A. Why, the testimony said

__ that she carried 3,000 many times; I can not see why she could not

carry them again. I supposed that the ballast tanks wexg full at all
times when that load was on. L .
Q. When we speak of crankiness of a boat, does that expression

~._arise usually from the construction of the boat, or is it in the

“handling of the boatf!—A. Well, it may be due to her shape some-

{imes, and semetimes to the construction.

Q. When a boat tips over as the Fastland—I mean when it lists,

. gs it is said that the Eastland has listed—would you or would you

not consider that due to the handling of the boat with regard to the
_ballast tanks?—A. Yes, sir; if she carried a heavy load with her
tanks full and stood upright, and the tanks are emptied and she tips,
-I-should surely say it was a question of the handling of the vessel,

 undoubtedly.

Q. You think it would be the handling of the vessel?—A. That
is, the handling of the tanks.

Q. The handling of the tanks?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. If the stability of a ship ‘was determined by the use of her
ballast as a factor in her stability, would it be safe to use her with-
out water ballast?-—A. Well, that. would depend on the load you -
were going to put on her and where it was going to be put.

Q. Would it be safe{—A. It would all depend on the calcula-
tions; I would not know what the calculations were and the center-
of gravity and the metacenter height and so on to answer that
question. . / : "

Q. A ship like the Eastland that had water ballast and was car-
rying 2,500 passengers—I take it from the testimony I have heard
the Zastland was built for the use of its water ballast; that is what
it relief upon; would you consider it safe to go out of the harbor
with 2,500 passengers on it without the ballast tanks properly filled
before it left the harbor?—A. No, sir; I would not from what I
heard of the testimony.

Mr. Suaw. As a tachnical expert and student of building and
operation of boats, do you think that the absence of 250 passengers
‘from this boat on the morning of the accident would have prevented
the accident?

The Wrrness, Well, I can not say; it is a question of whether—
whore those people were; if they all grent up on the top deck or sud-
denly rushedp to the side, it might have helped it. Of course every -

ound you take off a boat would have some effect, but 250 passengers
? don’t believe would have made a t amount of diYerence.

Q. How many degrees would that boat have to list before the

gangway would be under water do you thinkf—A. That I could

not say accurately, because I would have to see the plans, take .
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. méasﬁ:eﬁenﬁﬁpf the exact'location of thewmr line. oi the  vessel —
, -gft&und:th%r oca.

and ; cation of the ports with respect to the water plane.

Q. Do you think it" would be’more thglz):c 20°¢—A. 1 wo%ld; -not
think so from what I saw of the vessel lying on her side;. it would
be the nearness of the port to the chop of the water; very close.

Q. Are you familiar with a large number of the ocea,n-goig;g |

steamships by reputation#—A. Yes,sir; I am pretty well acquain
~with lots of them' running out ofeitlal,ltic poxl-)ts. 7 . ana
- Q. Is the téerm “cranky” applied to a very considerable portion
of them?—A. I have known of some that are considered ‘cranky;
thog are not dangerous. . o '

o n.k§'s ‘lt a common term; by that I mean is 1-beat out of 100
FanKy,
is a variable ratio, I should say; I would not say that one out of
hundred ; it might be and might not be. The qugstion of crankiness
does not mean dangerous condition. A vessel may be cranky due
to her center of gravity being high, but she makes a good sea boat

oftentimes; she will roll easily and come back. ' ’

o

But a cranky boatis an unusual boat, is-it; are there a great = | -
many cranky boats?—<A. Yes, sir; some of theri are crankyg:la,nd

some are not; some are stiff ; they are the other way: they will th
you out of yoir-bed they are SOJ;tlff iy _ o

Q. Do you think the inspection service should siigle out ali boats
called cranky boats for special attention—A. That would be a hard
_thing to do, because I expect it would be based on personal opinions;
you mlght think a boat was cranky and I might not. '

Q. If there seemed to be a general impression that a certain boat
was a cranky boat and@enerally understood to be such, do you think
the inspection service hould pay particular attention to that boat?—
A. Well, I suppose probably the% naturally would if it was brought
to their attention and was of sufficient importance and they were of
;:llllgoo_rémlon that those opinions were correct if you probably looked

it. : :
. Q. In your estimation is a boat particularly dangerous because it
18 a cranky boat?—A. No, sir; there are lo.zs 'ang lots of cranky
boats, as they are termed, that are not dangerous. .
Q. You would not care to make an estimate of what percentage of

_ boats are called cranky?—A. No, sir; I could not do that, because

they are so widely different, the construction and everything, so many

‘of them. Lots of them, as I said before, is based on somebody’s
"personal opinion. ' ' :

Q. You would not say that 10 per cent of the boats are crank ?—:
A. Well, from hearsay evidence, from different captains I ave
heard remark about the cranky boats; I think possibly 5 or 10 per

cent; that is only a rough stab, though. There are lots of boats that -

are called cranky.

Mr. Corrins. The ship 95 stationed at Milwaukee. di .
capsize and roll over, I mean sink? watkes, did that boat

he Wrrawss. I do not know, sir; I only saw the newspaper ac-

counts of that; I was in Boston at the time; I understood it occurred -

In a heavy gale of wind; what the conditions were I do not know.
Q. Is she now rendering efficient service *-—A. Yes, sir,

Q. Subject to all the elements of the seaf—A., She has been on- -

her station now for three and a half or four years, I think, and she

r cent of the boats ?—iA. You could hardly figure; that

s
-

b0
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'has besix reported—we have had séveral reports of that vessel from

the master m\'which'.he“said that she wes‘a particularly easynd.mg

‘boab.-i

Q. Now, in taking water ballast out of a twin-screw steamer that
uires water ballast to make her stable, would the taking out of
ballast when she is in motion to go over a bar, with her twin pro-
pellers working, would the working of the propellers add any to her
stability I—A. They have a tendency to stiffen her up; yes, sir, to-
some extent. - = o ST S
Q. On the same principle aé"dgirv' a two-wheel bicycle, the
forward momentum would render her stable?%—A. Yes, sir. :
Q. Now, do you think that if the gangways and portholes of the
Eastland had been closed, no water had entered the ship, even if she
had listed very badly, that she ought to capsize?—A. From my

-observation Saturday down there, the high-side vessel that she was,

with all ports closed and water-tight, why, she would have gone over
in my opinion—she would have gone over a certain distance and laid

~ there, because, due to her high sides, if everything was water-tight
. and no-water entered her, the area of the water plane would increase.

~" Mr. Corrins. That is all T want, Mr. Gillette. - ; :
The Secrerary. Where was the so-called Milwaukee' lightship
when she sank? ' ) , ‘
The WiTness. At the dock of the Racine Tressick Shell Lake Boat
Co., of Muskegon, Mich. : C o
Q. Had she been put into service?—A. I am not positive; T Bq}é
Mr. O'Hara I thought that she had just about made her official trialy
I do not know that point. :
Mr. Fremive. Mr. Gillette, you spoke about vessels that were con-
structed for the purpose of being able to pass over shoals when they
would have heavy ballast tanks which they could discharge and

as the occasion might demand.” Now, do you believe that the inspec- _ .

tors ought to be informed of the construction of a vessel like that, so
they could, in determining her passenger allowance, take that into
consideration ? -

The Wirness. I should think that would be a question for the
designer and the builder to furnish that information to the owner.

Q. Do you think he ought to be compelled to furnish that informa-
tion to the inspector, so the inspector would know it in determining
the passenger allowance?—A. 1t would appear that way to me, be-
cause that is a question of design pure and simple.

“

Q. Would an inspector going on a vessel—could he reasonably be

held to find that out from the inspection of her hull, for example !—
A. No; he could not find that out without going to experiments to
find all the centers of gravity, and so on. '

Q. Now, take two vessels, one of that construction which was built
to go over shoals and another one of similar general build but one
which has the stability without reference to any ballast, would there
be any difference, in your opinion, as to the number of passengers
either one of those should be permitted to carry?—A. Weﬁ, I might
design a boat with water ballast with the same metacenter height as
one without. :

Q. Suppoese you designed two vesselsof equal deck area,sav,so far
as the deck area is concerned they would be of equfal size, but one

- would be a vessel constructed to pass over shoals and there would be
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- one which would travel in deep water all the time; should both those
- vessels be permitted to carry the same number of passengersf—A.
. That would depend on her shape and disglacement. =
. Q. The deck area ought not to be the etermining factor, then f—

A. Well, to some extent; yes, sir. . - = ‘
- Q. With reference to the manning of two such vessels, should the

. officers, the captain and engineer, be any more capablée in the one casg ©

than the other?—A. Yes, sir; for the handling of water ballast is
a very important condition; a man should be thoroughly versed in

it'and know how to handle it groperly; know that in a rolling sea it

would not do to go to work and shift the ballast.
Q. Then, is it your opinion, that the inspection service there ought

to have incorporated in their rules certain requirements in reference -

to examining engineers and captains in reference to their knowledge
and experience in handling ballast tanks$—A. Well, is not that cov-
ered by the rules now? They require 2 man to have experience; they
won’t give him a license until he does know. ,

Q. 1 mean experience spécifically in handling ships that rely upon

water ballast?-—A. I think that is covered by the questions in their

-. examinations that they give them now ; all those calenlations that they
give them are very stiff. I know the examinations for engineers is
very stiff ‘at the present time, and I should think probably that is
covered very nicely by their examination questions. :

Q. ',Woulg you say that a man who had had experience on vessels
that had stability without any water ballast, and an engineer who

had never operated on a vessel that did not have water ballast, that =

he ‘'would be able to get a certificate or his license rather because of
that experience; do you think that he ought to be permitted to get a
vessel that relies on water ballast without previously having been
" on a vessel of that kind%—A. Well, from my experience, the average
,engineer holds a chief’s license; they are a pfetty intelligent crowd of

men, and if they are capable of passing an examination for chief,
an unlimited license, I think they have a pretty good-idea how to
handle water ballast, that is my opinion from the engineers we have
got in our own service. -

7. Q. In réference to that.vessel Cedar,‘ Mr. Gillette, the ballast tanks

_ of that vessel, are thiey divided into compartmentsé—;’x. Yes, sir.’
- Q. Now, can you discharge from one‘tank and take in at the other
at the same time?—A. Yes, sir. - - ‘ o
Q. Do you believe that a ballast system that does not provide for
means of discharging and taking in water at the same time is a
" good one?—A. Well, that is another matter of design. The question

of cost enters into that, too.. It costs more money té put in pumps

and extra pipe for doin% that work than it does to fill by gravity,
and gravity is the simple

can get the water in sufficiently fast; that the areas are large enough,

" and the

ipes.

Q. WeI]).l, they have testified here that the steamer Eastland couid
not take in and discharge water at the same time. . Is it your opinion
-that that system was put in for the purpose of saving money with
the Sfystem?—A. It might have been, or 1t might have been deemed
sufficient for those small tanks. That is not a very large ship, and

‘with those small tanks, at the time that vessel was built, it was prob--

st way that you can do it, provided you-

ACCIDENT TO THE STEAMER EASTLAND. . 306
ably considered safe, inasmuch as the size of the boat would not wer-
rant an elaborate system like there is in these big trans-Atlantie
liners. :

Q. Is there any advantage in having two sea cocks on the vessel as

the intakes for these ballast tanks?—A. Well, there is on the Atlante

coast. You do not run in ice, but we have to contend with what is
known in naval parlance as “mint julep” ice, which is small par-
ticles of ice that.will clog up a strainer very quickly, and in that case,
of course, we have steam connections for blowing that out, but while
you are blowing that out it is nice to have another sea cock that you
can use, because you have got a chance to keep the clrculatmﬁ pump
going, 1f it is a main ejection valve, but up here on the Lakes you
don’t run in ice. And if the sea cock is properly submerged at all
times, I don’t know that it is an absolute necessity, although it is
more of an advantage. (

Q. There is just one other question. Is it your opinion that the
records of the inspection service in each district should show whether
or not each particular vessel is a water-ballast vessel, for the benefit
of the inspectors who are compelled to examine them #—A. T believe
that is of record, isn’t it, Mr. Secretary? It seems to me with the
ships of the United States, that is gotten out by the Bureau of
Navigation. It apgears to me that there is.

Q.g%’ell, what I asked before is, whether the inspectors would
have a record. Perhaps I didn’t make that clear. A record, so that
the inspectors would know whether a boat was built for the purpose
of passing over shoals? Would there be anything in the record to
apprise the inspectors of that fact?—A. I cen’t answer that question.
1 don’t know whether there would be.

Q. Isn't it your opinion that there ought to be some record which
the inspectors could rely upon to know just the construction of that
vessel before they go on to inspect her? .

Secretary Repriero, We have the drawings, you know.

Mr. Freming. The hull inspector? :

Secretary Repriero, Every vessel that is now built.

: The Wrrxess. They examine the vessel when they inspect her, and
they can surely tell the difference between one that has a doubla’
bottom and one that has not; they can do that, so undoubtedly the
record would be made out when they make their report; but as to the
exact procedure of that I don’t know.

Mr. Fremine. Would the mere fact that she had a water bottom
indicate that she was built for the purpose of passing over shoals{

A. Not necessarily. -

Mr. Fremang, That is all. - o

Secretary Reorierp, Mr. Gillette, are you acquainted with C. H.
Eckliff, United States inspector of boilers at Grand Haven, Mich.?

The WiTxess. Yes, sir. .

Q. Have you had occasion to be emploved with him, or has he been
employed under your supervision?—A. Yes, sir. I had charge of the
construction of the lighthouse tender Crocus at the works of the
Townes & Downey shipbuilding yard at Shooters Island, N. Y., in .
1903 and 1904, 1 thinﬁ it was, and Mr. Eckliff was then in the
Lighthouse Service as chief engineer of the tender Hayes. which has
since been sold by the department, and he was designated as engineer

22350—16——20
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ok thé’Orociw'=ana‘ came down there to assist me in conneetion with
- the work of .construction with reference to the machinery of the

-~ Q. Did he to your knowledge act as engineer of the Crocusf—A,
He did, sir. : '

ﬂli]seer only for a short time at New York, because I think he entered

o service before she actually went into commission in her district,

but r-durm’f the trials and the ,ru.nnin% of the vessel while she wag

{{mg at Tompkinsville and awaiting her trip to the Lakes he was

e engineer in full charge of the machinery department.
. Q. And is the Crocus now employed upon the Lakes?—A. Yes,
~ sir Q with headquarters at Buffalo. '

. I wish you would state for the record what your experience

was from personal contact with Mr. Eckliff in this work, whether
he was competent or whether he was incompetent; whether he was
~ hasty in his judgments or wise in them, and such other facts as ap-

ared to you from your actual personal knowledge of him?—A.

r. Eckliff was a very valuable assistant to me at New York, and
gartmularly so on account of his qualifications to look out for work.
I, of course, had charge of the entire vessel, both hull construction,
joiner work, plumbing, rigging, engines and boilers and piping, and

- everything under my supervision, and he was particularly con- -

scientious in his work at that time when he came there, because we
were in the throes of—the concern went into receivers’ hands, and
we had to take up people, pick up people that we could around there
to finish the ship, and we had a particular lot of trouble with the
finishing up of the main engines. I found a lot of defective work,
and Mr. Eckliff also found it in the cylinders; the rings were poorly

fitted, instead of being turned and properly fitted and scraped to fit,"

as they should be in a piston, they were simply rasped off with a

bastard file and thrown in there any old way, and' Mr. Eckliff and

I were close together;-and we worked, both on that and on the
boiler work, and he was very anxious to have everything right, and
.showed good judgment in connection with all the work there, and,
as I said before, he was of valuable assistance to me.

Q. HMow long did this mutual service last?—A. I think it was
almost 10 months; 9 or 10 months, if I remember right. He came
down and reported for duty, I think, in February—Janunary or
February—and was with me until the vessel was turned over, which
was along in the latter part of December of the same year.

Q. When you say “turned over” you don’t mean “upset,” do
you?—A. No, sir; that is the term we use—turned over from the
contractors to the owners. ‘

Q. Has the vessel been in service since?—A. Yes, sir; she has been
in continual service since that time. ’

Q. Were her engines satisfactory?—A. Yes, sir; after we got
over that trouble. :

Q. Mr. Gillette, would you be willing to assist at my direction,
or under my instructions to do so, any vessel owner who desired to
have the stability of his vessel determined in this locality ?—A.
Yes, sir. ,

Secretary Reprerp. I will make the statement for the record that
Mr. Gillette is at the service of nny vessel owner who desires to

Q. And where was the Crocus used?—A. Well, he didn’t act as en-
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o z
conduct. any inclining experiments or. other ;t{lﬂies for the pur

of determining the stability of the vessel, without any expense w
ever to the owners for conducting that work, and in liké manner
Naval Constructor Ackerson is also at the service of anybody who
may desire his assistance for a similar purpose. Both gentlemen
having been brought here at my request with this in view.

Any further %estions, gentlemen? Any questions, Gen. Uhlert

Gen. Untrer. No. ,, i

Secretary Reprrerp. The board will adjourn to meet to-morrow
morning at this place at 9.30 o’clock.

(Thereupon an adjournment was taken until the following day,
Wednesday, August 4, 1915, at 9.30 o’clock a. m.) : :

4 Crircaco, Iir., August 4, 1915—9.50 a. m.
Parties met pursuant to adjournment. / -
‘Present: Same as before. :

James L. AéKERSON, called as a witness on behalf of the hoard,
having been first duly sworn by Secretary Redfield, testified as

" {ollows:

Examined by Secretary RepFreLp:

Q. Will you kindly give your full name, address, and ‘age to the
stenographerf—A. James Lee Ackerson, Navy Department, Wash-
ington, D. C., age 34. v

Q. Mr. Ackerson, what is your profes§ion%—A. Naval constructor.

Q. How long have you been a naval constructor ?—A. Since 1903—

12 years. ‘ :
A(ﬂ. Are you a graduate of the Naval Academy at Annapolis?—
es, Sir. :

Q. Will you state for the record what vessels you have dealt with
as constructor or in the course of your professional work—the prin-
cipal vessels, I should say%—A. Well, I have been astociated in the
design and building of thie battleships Oklahoma, Nevada, Pennsyl-
vania, Arizona, California, Idaho, Mississippi; also with the de-

_stroyers Nos. 37 to 68,

Q. Inclusive?—A. Inclusive, and with certain other auxiliary ves-
sels that have been built or designed in the past five years.

Q. I understand you to mean you have had to do with profes-
sionally the designing and construction in one form or anether with
31 destroyers?—A. At least; yes, sir.

Q. Are you familiar with the use of water-ballast vesselsf—A,
Yes, sir. L ‘

Q. Will you state as fully and frankly as you can what the best
marine practice is; speaking from your own experience, o far as the
Navy is concerned, or from any knowledge you may personally have
regarding the merchant marine, state whether the use of water bal-
last is common or not, for the purposes for which it is used : whether
or not it is a condition widely known among marine engineers both
in the Navy and merchant-marine service; whether it involves any
special dangers or privides special safeguards: whether it required

unusual skill or such as any naval or merchant chief engineer should
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- properly be expected to hive; and in brief state your krowledge upon
- thrg'Ps";xbjéct‘ for fthe*inforrﬁai:ion of the board as fully and %vith%ut

resérve as possible—A. So far as the Navy is concerned water
- ballast is limited, I think, to colliers and certain auxiliary vessels,
. and it is used when the vessels are returning in a light condition.

For example, we have recently built two colliers for the Panama
Canal, the Achilles and another; these vessels normally would not
carry water except reserve feed water in their double bottom; they
can carry it at all times, but they normally would not, because of
‘the load of 12,500 tons of coal, they have all the stability in the
world, all that any vessel would want or could use. When they dis-
‘charge that 12,50C tons of coal, the vessels immediately become very
light; her draft is not enough to submerge her propellers, for ex-
ample, and in order to overcome that they let water in the water
ballast tanks to take the place of the coal that has come out; it does
not go into the same place where the coal is, but it answers the same
~ purpose, and for that use the water ballast is common in that class
of vessels.

Whether it is common in the passenger service,I am not pre-

ared to state. I doubt if it is common to use it in the manner
in which it was used on the Fastland; I doubt it very much.

In naval vessels proper it is not necessary to use it, because we
are able ¥0 get our weight low enough in the vessel to make it en-
tirely unnecessary; as a matter of fact, in the design of a war vessel
your object is to get the weight and the important parts of -the
machinery as low as possible below the water line so that they
can be protected. We can not let the cylinders of an engine stick
up above the deck—in passenger vessels they stick away up—and
in so doing we change the center of graxity in the ship—what you
would attempt to do in passenger vessels by using water ballast.

As to the safety of water ballast, I do?ob think it is generally
understood what the effect-of water in a/tank is. If you have a
tank in the bottom of a.-ship filled with water, and it is absolutely
filled, no air space, and the water can not move, it is exactly the
same as if you put‘sand or iron in there equal to that weight of
water and it is exactly the same thing; or. if you opened that par-
ticular compartment to the sea, you could just as well knock a hole 1
foot ‘in diameter in the bottom of the ship and let the water in
in that way as in any other provided it is filled.

If the compartment is not filled and the water is free to move
the water acts as a pendulum and not only changes the center of
E;avity by the water shiftingg but it also changes what is commonly

own as the “metacenter” of the ship. The metar point is the

oint high nE and the center of gravity is the point low down.
e

he distance between those two points is what determines the ability
of a vessel to come to the upright once it is listed. If you push

the center of gravity up or if vou push the metacenter up the’

effect is the same, and if you reduce the distance between those two
points you reduce what is termed the “initial stability.” Now, free
water will do that.

Q. You mean the free movement of water in tanks?—2A. Yes, sir;
if the tank is not filled. If the tank is absolutely full it will make

no difference with the metacenter, but will lower the center of .

gravity which, on the contrarys increases the stability, So there is
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a big diffetence in having the tank gbsolutely full of water and leay-
ing a 8 inch on top of her. So far a. lowering the metacenter is

-concerned, it makes no difference whether the water is 3 inches or

3 feet deep provided it is free to move. .
Q. Suppose 8 tank were half filled which, when filled, would pro-
vide sufficient ballast, what then, would be the condition as to se-
curity, in your jud ¢
is. You could onlge:ay that it would
reduce that stability, whatever it might have [
is, you can tell that specifically if you have all the informaticn and
the lines of the vessel and the data from inclining experiments, you
could tell, but as an abstract question you could only say it would
reduce the initial stability. : )
Q. And by that reduction do I understand contribute so far to the
instability of the ship —A. Yes. ) .
Q. So that a vessel with tanks partly filled is as compared with

a vessel whose tanks are fully filled in a condition of greater relative:
_ instability ¢—A. Much greater; yes. Now, that instability might

not be the difference between safety and nonsafety, of course, de-
pending upon what the condition of original stability was, but it
would be g vastly unsafer position. ‘ . :

Q. Are you able to state from your own knowledge whether the
large trans-Atlantic and coastwise steamers use water ballast!—A.
Not of my own knowledge I could not state. Some large passenger
vessels I know use what are called antircaming tanks, which are
large flat tanks in which the water is free to move; they know that,
and they are designed with that in view, and they krniow exactly what
will happen when that mcves; they put it in there to stop rolling,

- but it must be carefully designed and handled by one who has inti-

mate knowledge of the effect of freely moving water. It is never
done haphazard. ' o

Q. Is a vessel that is, so to speak, a cranky vessel, necessarily a
dangerous vessel?—A. It depends on what you mean by cranky.
What you might say is a cranky vessel I might say entirely opposite.
I suppose that people around here use the term cranky to mean a
vessel that rolls easily. That is not the term that is usually applied
toit. A cranky ship, in my opinion, at any rate, is a ship whicﬁ rolls
very rapidly. There is a big difference, and the chip with a high
metacentric height like a monitor has got a very high metacentric
center. She will roll like this [indicating].

Q. With a jerky motion?—A. Yes, sir; the tendency of the vessel
to turn is so great that with the least displace she will do this [indi-
cating]. and if she gets to going she will whip. This is what I
understand to be a cranky vessel. But I believe the words * cranky
vessel,” as applied to the Fastland, referred to the opposite: that is
a vessel that would roll considerably or roll slowly: that would mean
a vessel with a low metacentric height. You can not say a vessel is
safe because it has a high metacentric height or can you say it is
unsafe because it has a low one. Many vessels are designed with
particular refererce to their metacentric height. I can not illustrate
that by saying that our earlier destroyers built in the last two vears
have a development from the preceding types. We built a boat with
weights down low, we having that in mind all the time. getting them

ent-—A. You can not tell unless you know |
-. whather 1nitial stability

n originally—that

B
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.~ down lower than we really needed them, and we found when these
- vessels went into service they were very uncomfortable, perfectly
stable, but they were uncomfortable to the people who went in thém,
So in the last ones we have purposely given them a lower centimetric
height, knowing when they go into service they will roll more easily,
and be more comfortable to‘the people who use them. As a matter
- of fact, their safety is identical, or perhaps & little better. :
. Q. So that the mere fact of rolling, taken by itself alone, or so to
speak, the sea rolling is not an indication of the vessel’s safety or
otherwise.—A. Not by itself; no. You can make a metacentric
height what you choose almost, within reasonable limits, and give
the same ultimate safety to.the vessel.

Q. If, then, by the word “cranky ” is meant the tendency to list

or roll readily, 1s it a correct statement to say that such a vessel is
therefore dangerous?—A. No, sir; not having in mind’ that one
characteristic 1tself, " .
. Q. And taking that same characteristic by itself again, is it or
is it not the fact that vessels which exhibit this tendency to: list or
roll easily are sometimes safe vessels?%—A. I do not believe I under-
stand that. ’ ‘ \

Q. Read the question, please. .

{Question read by the reporter as follows:)

Q. And taking that-same characteristic by itself again, is it or Is it not the
fact that vessels which exhibit this tendency to list or rol} easily are sometimes

safe vessels? o
A, Often safe vessels. o Y

‘Q. Often safe vessels?—A.i*Yes, sir; as a- matter of fact, T don’t
know whether I am allowed to answer more than your question.

. Q. Yes, go ahead.—A. As a matter of fact in the design of ocean
hners account is taken of the fact that if a vessel has a high
~centimetric height it will be very uncomfortable to the passengers,
and they can not get anybody to go on it, so they male a safe vessel,
they give her a low centimetric height, which is termed the low
initial stability so they will make the passengers more comfortable;
they do not sacrifice any safety for it at all.

Q. In other words, to put it in common language, these ocean
vessels carrying passengers are, in short, deliberately designed to roll
easily.—A. They are deliberately designed to have a lower meta-
centric height, a metacentric height that is lower than one they
coult] easily give her; they could easily design a vessel with a higher
_ metacentric height if they wanted to, but they do not want to.

Q. Does or does not that involve the ship’s rolling more easil Z-——-ﬂ

A. Yes; the ship will roll more easily with a low metacentric height,
1t will take longer to roll.

Q. Isitor is it not the fact that as the vessel rolls she may sometimes
then immerse a greater area of her surface and thereby lend greater
resistance to-overturning?—A. Oh, she does, but as a matter of fact
on most vessels the angle at which the vessel has the greatest tendency
to return to the upright is in the neighborhood of 30° to 40°; in
other words, if a vessel heels over to 40° it has a greater tendency to
return to the upright than at any gther angle; it mncreases up to that
pointl, and then decreases to 70° or 80° or 90°, depending upon the
-vessel. - : :

ACCIDENT TO THE STEAMEE EASTLAND. 31t

..Q. How far in your knowledge and experience does a, vessel like a
torpedo-boat destroyer roll from the perpendicular? State in de:

ees—A. Oh, we have records to indicate that they have rolled at
east 45°,.and it is reported as much as 65°, though any report of a
65° list would probably be inaccurate, not purposely, but because it
is impossible to estimate it. You get on the side of a wave and you

" might think you are rolling over 90°; as a matter of fact it may

be only 65°, but we do know they roll and have rolled in cases up to
45° ,

Q. And when you say that you mean 45° on one side of the
center -—A. Yes, sir. '

Q. Making a total arc or roll of 90°.—A.. Yes, sir.

Q. Any of these vessels ever overset?—A. Never, in our Navy.

Q. And do you regard them as perfectly safe when they roll to
that extent #—A. Yes, sir; but there is a difference in a vessel rollin
that way in a sea water and a vessel that rolls that way because o
weight applied to ‘her. :

Q. I understand. Have you examined the water-ballast system of
the Eastlond, and are you familiar with it?—A. I am familiar with
it so far as the testimony has brought it out. I understand, I think,
what the distance was, though not of my own personal observation.

Q. Have you heard it described here?—A. Yes, sir. ;

Q. As consisting of boxes in the bottom of the ship?—A. I have
heard it, I have read all the testimony in regard to it. .

Q. Is it or is it not your judgment as a naval constructor that

‘the water-ballast system of the Eastland, used with such ordinary

care as a chief engineer normally gives machinery and apparatus,
provided a safe vessel?—A. I do not know what care a chief engi-
neer would give to that. I can only say that if that vessel, in my
opinion, that if her ballast tanks were absolutely filled, and if her
ports were closed, as they should be, that she could safely take pas-
sengers from here to St. Joe and back. She has done that. of course,
and I think she would be safe to that extent.

Q. How long, Mr. Ackerson, is it necessary in your judgment to
determine in use whether a vessel used in accordance with her design
is safe or unsafe, when used in accordance with her design?—A.
Why, in my opinion the best way of determining whether a vessel is
safe or unsafe is to make inelining experiments on her and carry
the calculations to an end; then you can tell at a glance. That is
not any estimate; it is proved there. You are sure of your results;
you can tell that a vessel under certain conditions will do certain
things. Having that to satisfy yourself from then that a vessel is
safe it will take a few weeks to determine whether there are any
weaknesses, because it is only weaknesses that will make a vessel un-
safe if your caleulations and inclining experiments indivate that she
is safe. But without those figures T do not believe wnybody could say
whether a vessel is safe or unsafe,

Q. Do you mean ever?—A. I would not want to say that with any
ussurance. I have been trained to see so much more from these cal-
culations than you could possibly tell from an observation of the
vessel ; you are working in the dark in one case and in the other case
it is absolute light.

Q. Does the fact that a vessel rolls easily create of itself a presump-

tion she is unsafe’—A. In the minds of the passengers perhaps, but
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tloés'hoﬁ necessarily to one who is versed in q’uéstidns-’ aﬂ'é;stin the
. safety of the vessel. - - o o EEHOnS pTeng the.

Q.. I mean‘in fact——A. Oh,in fact, no. / /_ ‘ L o
Q. How high above the water are the after gangway ports upon

-~ the n}fﬁtland, do you kmow {—A. Why,/I have estimated it in my
- mind as being about 4 feet, but it is/Very hard to tell, because youn
%:n ‘not tell where the water line of the vessel was; you have to esti-
mate that, but it looked to be about 4 feet, and that corresponds with
/,»smae stimony I believe that was given here.

Can you say how many, degrees of list would submerge those

after gangways?—A. I sho}ﬂd say that it would be in the neighbor-

hood . of 30°.

Q. Can you say whether the conditions you observed were such as -

to require an unusual degree of care in keeping those gangways
closed or not?—A. Yes; I should say that it would be very hard to
keep them closed tight, very hard. ; ‘

Q. Do you mean that we should infer from your answer that an
unusual degree of care on the part of the officers of the ship was
necessary to do it?—A. I mean rather that the design of them itself
is not good; I think with the design as it exists I do not believe with
any reasonable care you-could make them what is termed a water-
tight opening.

Q. Should they in your judgment be kept closed all the time?—A.
In my judgment, yes. ‘ '

Q. Would it in your judgment or would it not be safe to take a
conisiderable load of passengers upon the EFastland with her water
tanks either empty or partly filled *—A. It would be unsafe, I think.

Q. Speaking from your experience as a naval constructor, would
the listing which you have described in the testimony as occurring
on that vessgl be a normal result on her when loaded and without her
tanks filled —A. I should say that it was a very possible result and
influenced only by how many more passengers went on one side than

on the other. I should say that, with 2,500 passengers on that vessel, ’
that you might easily have a sufficient number on one side in excess
~of those on the other side to produce a heeling of 20 to 30 degrees.

, Q. You mean with the tanks empty?—A. You stated, that, I be-
1eve. '

. Q. That was in your mind in answering the question?—A. Yes,
81r; .

Q. Do I understand you correctly, that if a load of that number
were on board the vessel with the tanks empty, such a condition
might or might nct, in your judgment, produce a list sufficient to
submerge the aftergangways?—A. Well, in the absence of the ability
to make any accurate calculations on that, I should say an estimate
leads me to believe that that would be the case—that it would be
perfectly possible to do it.

Q. Was the water-ballast system, as you have heard it described.
by former engineers of the vessel under oath, such, in your judgment,

as to require an unusual degree of mechanical skill for its opera-
tion?—A. Not as described here. On the contrary, it was very
simple. ‘

Q. Am I correct in understanding youn to mean that what it re-
quired was rather attention than skilli—A. Well, T think it re-
quired attention to see, first, that the water ballast was in; first, to

i /

/
/
/

.gqc”innxr; T0 THE STEAMER EASTLAND. 818

see that the ballast.was in, and, second, a degree of care and skill and
intelligence on the part of the captain, officers, and crew not to have
the tanks half filled ; but, once understanding that the tanks must be
filled, I think it would require no.particular skill on the part of any-
body to see that that was done. .He would have onln]yisto open the
tanks and stick a sounding rod in to see that the tanks were filled.
Then he might forget it. : L

Q. .Woultf you regard is as reasonable or unreasonable that the ves-

_sel, with her tanks filled, had repeatedly carried 8,000 passengers, that,

with her tanks filled, she might carry 2,500 —A. Well, you could only
say that, having ir mind the question of probability and chances, in the
absence of any stability data of the vessel, but knowing that the ves-
sel had for 10 years carried 2,500 passengers, and apparently in all
safety, when the vessel was properly handled, I think the chances
are very much in favor of the vessel being able to do it again. There
is nothing to indicate that she was unsafe when in a proper loaded
condition; but, if you had stability data it might show the opposite
to be true; I do not know. _

Q. Have you examined, to-day, or conducted experiments upon the
steamer Christopher Columbus?—A. Yes, sir; at least, I superin-
tended it; I saw it done. o ’ :

Q. What was it that you-did %—A. We made an inclining experi-
ment on the vessel to determine her metagentric height, and will work
out_the stability data for that vessel at all inclines, and so on.

Q. Are the calculations not yet completed?—A. Incomplete at
present. .

Q. Have you seen anything in the result of that experiment upon
that vessel to lead you to think that she is unsafe?—A. Oh, no; on
the contrary, it leads me to believe she is perfectly safe, subject to
verification when the calculations are worked out, of course.

Q. Do you know of your own knowledge, Mr. Ackerson, whether
it is customary on the Lakes to conduct inclining experiments on
either passenger or freight vessels?—A. Of my own personal experi-

.ence, 1 could not say. It is my understanding, from those who are

familiar with such matters and from the information of some em-
ployed in the service, that it is not customary to do it; but to my
own knowledge I do not know, : ‘

Q. Can you say what is the custom with merchant vessels in the
same work on the Atlantic coast?—A. I should say that all of the
large shipbuilding concerns on the-Atlantic coast would perform

- that; and I think that the larger shipowners on the Atlantic coast °

require that unless, perhaps, they have constructed a duplicate vessel

, upon which it has been done.

Q. Do you know the custom on the Pacific const?—A., No, sir.
Secretary ReprierLp. Any questions, Mr. Foulkes? ‘

Mr. Fourges. I think of none. -

Secretary ReorieLp. Capt. Van Patten, some questions?

Capt. Vax Parten. No.

Secretary Reorierp. Capt. Colling, anv questions?

Capt. CoLLins. No. :

Secretary Reprierp. Any questions?

Mr. SterreN. Are yvou familiar with the tyvpe of men who act as
licensed engineers on the Lake passenger vessels?

A. No, sir.




' senger vessels are familiar with the effect of partially i
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erate pas-.

.

VQ..,Do you know whether or not men who gengrally 0{;

~ tanks upon the stability of boats?—A. I do not know; I would not
- know whether they are familiar with that or not. _ =
Q. Do you know' whether. the inspectors know anything about the

effect of partially filled tanks?—A: I have no personal acquaintance

f}%:t:r with the inspectors, engineers, or captains operating Lake

Q. ..Now, it has been testified by some one that the Eastland had no
stability without the proper handling of her water-ballast tanks.
Just what would that mean?—A. Well, it would mean that with no

- water in the tanks her metacentric height would be zero; in other

words, her center of gravity would be as high above the keel of the
vessel as the point termed the metacenter, or the point from which

the metacentric height or initial stability is measured. It would

" mean this: That, take the vessel absolutely light, with no passengers
on board and no water in the tanks, her center of gravity would be
a certain distance above the keel. If you put 2,500 passengers on
there and do not do anything else to the vessel, the passengers would

be so distributed that, collectively, their center of gravity would be

higher than the original center of gravity would be; but that would
apply to the center of gravity of the boat, and the passengers would
make the center of gravity higher than before the passengers went
aboard. Now, if they pulled that up so high that the center of grav-
ity coincided with the metacenter, there would be no initial stability,
and, in theory, if you dropped a 5-pound weight on one side of the
- vessel it would start to heel. ' ,
. Q. Tlien T understood you to saX if the tanks were partially filled
-1t would decrease the stability.—A. If they were partially filled it
would pull the metacenter down. . .
Q. Below zero?—A. No, sir; from where it was.
Q. I understood you to say if she had no stability her metacenter
- would be zero?—A. If she has no stability? "
Q. Yes—A. Yes. s

- Q. Then if her stability is lessened by the fact these tanks are

partially filled——A. Then she would have a negative metacentric
iaeig}lllt, which would mean she would push over with the slightest
ouch. :

Q. Then would you say that the Eastland had no stability with-
out her tanks filled? Then partially filled she was less safe than if
she had no water in her at all%—A. I woyld say that if your assump-
tion that she has no stability at any time with her tanfks empty?

Q. Yes—A. If that is true, if you partially filled her tanks she
has less than no stability ; she has a negative stability,

Q. If a vessel lists easily, has that anything to do with cranki-

~ ness?—A. As T have explained here a little while ago, the term.

‘crankiness is one by which there are as many different opinions as
there are people, and unless you term what you mean by crankiness,
I do not know. , , ‘

Q. I do not know myself; I have heard it used here, and T assumed
it obtained that reputation because she frequently listed.—A. If you
take that as the definition, yes.

Q. T assume that is what it means. Do you believe that the De-
partment of Commerce ought to require that all passenger-carrying

ling water.
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vessels should be subject to inclining experiments?—A. Oh, I could
not express an opinion on that without a study of the conditions.
There are so many things enterin% into it I could not say. S

Q. I mean as affecting the safety of the vessel!—A. I have no
opinion on that. "I should do it, though. | L
Q. Would the fact that a vessel operated for 11 years, carrying
assengers without accident, raise a presumption that she had sta-
gility #—A. Yes; that would certainly raise the presumption that
she was safe, in the absence of any other information, of course.

Q. Do you think an inspector would be justified in relying on

" that presumption of stability in fixing the passenger allowance?—A.

Why, in my opinion I should say yes, in the absence of any other
information than what you have given., :

Q. But it is not conclusive of the fact of stability ?—A. No; not
at all. : ’

Q. Other elements should enter into it?—A. The question of a
ship’s having stability, gentlemen, is a fact that can be——

. Determined —A. Calculated and determined; but in the ab-
sence of these calenlations or determination, I would -say it was
probability and chance. . )

Q. If the question of stability can be determined, don’t you think
that for the protection of people who travel on lake vessels it ought
to be determined ?—A. I think unquestionably it should be. 4

Q. Before fixing——A. But by whom that should be determined
is another question. .

Q. But the stability ought to be a fixed fact?—A. I think it ought
to be determined and certified to by some one, some place.

Q. Do you think that a vessel that relies upon water ballast for
stability ought to be licensed as a passenger-carrying vessel 7—A,
That would depend altogether upon its characteristics without the
water, in my opinion. ‘

Q. Well, would you say that a vessel that was unstable or is not
stable without water ballast is an unsafe vessel without the bal-
last %—A. In my opinion, yes.

Q. Then wouldn’t it be a fact that the safety of the vessel would
depend upon the operation of the water ballast?—A. It wonld in the

\  case you cite; in that case I do not believe she should be licensed to

Carry passengers. :
. Mr. Sterren. That is all. '
Secretary Reorrern. Mr, Ackerson, is stability a fixed term?
The WrrxEess. No, sir; it is not.
Q. That is a relative term, is it not?—A. Yes, sir; it takes into

" consideration several things. When you speak of a vessel being stable

or unstable it is pretty hard to state what you mean unless you are
familiar with all the circumstances.

Q. Is there or is there not,a wide range of stabilitvi—A. Oh, ves.

Q. Within which range a vessel may still be safe?—A. Yes; in
general the determination of stability of the vessel and the final
answer go into the sha}ye and the curve that she has: how much curve
she has; the ability of that vessel to return to the upright. and its
range as indicated by the point at which that ability becomes zero.
You can lock at the curve and tell how good or how bad it is.

Q. So speaking in the popular language, in the case of the de-

"stroyers of which you spoke, you deliberately reduced the degree of
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ill working within the limits of safety?—A. Oh, yes. We re-
duced the initial stability, which is the stability of the vessel to re:
gurn to the upright if she were to get a slight inclination ; that does

S s,:ﬁllxility,fdr', the u,rpdss iﬁfm?naking them roll more easily, while

not effect the incline to which she may ultimately go, but the maxi.

mum riding loom, but only the initial roll, and that is what makes
one sea sick. '
Q. Is net this whole question of relative stability a problem in
ph si(i%?——A. Yes; sure. - ,
equiring for its determination accurate knowledge and use

" of'the laws of physics?—A. Yes, sir.

Secretary Reprierp. Any further questions, Mr. Thurman?
Mr. Taorman. No, sie. ~° ‘
Secretary Reprierd. Gentlemen?
Capt. Van Parren. No, sir. .
Capt. Corrins. No. ,
Secretary Repriewp. Is or is not stability, as you have described it,
‘synonymous with strength? ‘
. The WirnEss. Has nothing to do with it.

Q. Stability and strength are two entirely separate things?—A.

Entirely so; one has nothing te do with the other.

Q. And do I understand you correctly that vessels with a wide
range of initial stability may all of them be perfectly safe vessels?-—
A. Yes; and no one shall say which of the two or three is the safer,
VQ. And none can say which of the two or three is the safer—A,
180, SIT. i P

Q. That is what you said?—A. Yes, sir. N b

Secretary Reprierp. Any further questions?.
Mr. SteFreN. May 1 just ask one question?
Secretary Beprierp. Certainly; go right ahead.

Mr. SterFFra. Are you familiar with vessels that are constructed

to navigate deep waters and also shallow waters and are purposely
brilt with ballast to raise and lower the vessel by taking in and dis-
charging water%—A. T do not know of any such vessels, )

Q. Could you tell if you saw the plans of the Eastland and had an
opportunity to examine them, could you form an opinion as an ex-
pert that she was constructed for that purpose?—A. T could not tell
what was in the mind of the man who examined her, but if the
Eastland were raised, and we had the plans of her, or if we did not
have the plans and had the time and force necessary to measure her

and measure the lines you could form a calculation and experiment -

which would very quickly tell you all about her safety and stability.
- Q. If you had an opportunity to examine her after she is raised
ceuld you give an opinion that would in your opinion be reliable as
to her stability and safety?—A. After making that experiment; of

© course. .

Secretary Reoriero. Mr. Ackerson, from what you have seen of
the vessel and what vou have heard testified to under oath are you
able to express an opinion whether or not upon the morning of July
-24 ‘the accident would have appened had the port gangways been
closed?—A. T could not give an opinion on that becanse there are
other openings in the ship that might have had the same effect that
the gangways would have had. '
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Q. Under the conditions in the preceding question can you give
an%pinion as to whether the laccident'}wouk%‘ have k_xapﬁene‘&had the
port gangways been closed and 2" other openings in the side‘of the
ship, the port side of the ship, been closed *—A. Noj; I could not give
an opinion on that becanse whatever moment there was, whatever
weight there was on that vessel to turn it over, if it was greater than -
the maximum of the vessel to return to the upright, she would ﬁo B
over anyway, regardless of those openings being closed. - If, on the

" other hand, that moment were sufficient to heal the vessel to 20° and

when she reached 20° some openings reached the water she would
go over anyway. In the one case it might be possible to put her over
if the openings were closed, in the other it might be possible to put
her over only 1n case some of the openings were open. .

Q. Under the conditions stated in the two preceding questions can
you say whether, in your opinion, the accident as it has been de-
scribed would have happened if the water-ballast tanks of tfe ship
had been full and all openings to the water on the port side of the
vessel closed %—A. In my opinign she would not have gone over.

. Secretary Reoriern. Any further questions? :

Capt. Corans. I have got one question I would like to ask.

Q. Will you define for the record what is meant by the term
“stability *¢—A. The stability of a vessel is generally meant and
understood to mean the property thut that vessel has to return to the
upright position when 1t is listed ffom the upright in unrestricted

- rolling ; that is necessary; that is if a vessel goes out in the open sea

and the waves sturt her to rolling, and she rolls over, for-example
to 40°, that vessel has a tendency to return to the upright measured

" usually in terms of moment. Now that ability, that tendency to re-

turn is.the stability of the vessel in that condition.
Capt. Corrins. That is all, Mr. Secretary.
Secretary Reprrerp. That is all; thank you. You are excused.
{Witness excused.) ,

Winnisyw P, Erers, called as a witness by the board. having been

first duly sworn by Secretary Redfield. testified as follows:
Exumined by Secretarv Revripnn: - ,

Q. Will vou kindly give to the stenographer vour full name, ad-
dress, and age?—N\. William P. Eels, 415417 Walnut Street. hila-
delphia: 49. -

Q. What is vour occupation. My, Eels?—A. T am supervizing in-
gpector for the Travelers’ Insurance Co.. Philadelphia.

Q. What is it?—A. Supervising inspector. Travelers” Insurance’
Co.. Philadelphia distriet. T have charge of the work in sin States
in the eastern section of the country.

Q. What is the nature of vour work, Mr. Eels?—A\. Perhaps 40
per cent steam boiler and other vegsel insurance and inspection: 60
per cent manufacturing. construction work, mining. and other lines
of industry. '

Q. Are you a steam engineer by profession?—X. T am.

Q. Will you please state for the record vouir experience since You
began to work, not going into too many details/--\. Well. [ =orved

five vears as an apprentice in a general machine shop snd fouiry.
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- . Q Where was thati—A. In Alpina, Mich., where, marine work -

was done largely, repairs to vessels themselves and motive power of
vessels and paper-mill and sawmill machinery,” At the end of five

~ years I sta sailing. I started firing on the Lakes. During the
- summer seasons I sailed on the Lakes and in the fall I went to sea.

I fired for—that is, I fired, was water tender, donkey man, etc., and -,

oiler until the fall of 1892, when I got a license, marine license here /
- 'in Chicago, assistant ineer’s license. My first ship as second
_ engineer was the R. H. Owen. She was a sailing vessel and freight
'~ . boat. I was assistant engineer on her in 1893 and 1894, From her
I went as second engineer on the Ann Arbor No. 1, a wooden vessel,
carrying cars across Lake Michigan, from Frankfort to Kewaunes/
and Manitowoe. I stayed in her until the opening of the navigatiog
season in the spring, and when that opened 1 went as second enginger
on the Thomas Davidson. The next year I went as chief engipeer
. tothe steamer Jim Sheriffs. 1 was chief engineer on her until, well,
- it was about five years, I have forgotten which year now. /From
" the Sheriffs 1 went as chief engineer in the City of London gnd was
chief engineer for her for a season, until about the close of naviga-
tion, when I went as chief engineer on the steamer /ndigna on the
Goodrich Line; I was chief engineer of her for perhaps 20 months
or something afong there, when I went as chief engineer'to the East-
land. 1 was chief engineer to the Fastland in 1904 and 1905. In
November, 1905, after the close of the passenger season, I went with
the Travelers’ Insurance Co., and am with them yet. '

Q. How many examinations have you taken for various classes - §

of licenses as engineer 2—A. I should say 15. .
Q. From how many. different local boards of inspectorsi—A. -
Marine boards? - '

Q. Yes; steamboat inspection boards I mean—A. Well, alway:

- }
s in
Chicago, but I have. forgotten whether the board changed durin
my different examinations for marine licenses. When I said 15
referred to stationary, technical, and several other examinations. -
- Q. So you have held both stationary and marine licenses?—A. Yes,
sir; I have enough licenses to trim up a Christmas tree. I say that
for this reason: In mg present work, in the work of inspecting
boilers in the six or eight different States, say in the States of Penn-
sylvania and Massachusetts, they have their own boiler law, so has
ndiana, and the city of Detroit has its own law, and having charge
of all the boiler inspection work, why, ¥ have qualified to pass on
_the reports as they come to me,
Q. {)Inder the laws of each State?!—A. And they are multiplying
all the time. We hope to establish a uniform boiler code this year
in the American Sqciety. . ; s
. Q. Now, Mr. Eels, I ought not to go further, by the way, without’
thanking you for coming so far.—A. That is all right.
"~ Q. Let me ask you if you were the engineer on the Fastland at
the time when on leaving South Haven she listed ?—A. I was chief
engineer. : .

. Now, will you tell us in your own way and as fully as you can
just what occurred and what you did a.ng why I—A. %Ve ad the
postal clerks from Chicago on that day, if I remember correctly, it
was on a Saturday, we took a full load going over; if I remember
- correctly again many of them stayed over for Sunday and we canie

" . know, she went over starboard a

th part of a foad. ‘We were lying st the doek in South
ttlllxeppnmgers got sboard perhaps a little after & I ‘the
; ide, b ‘tide was to the
oon, they were all on the dock side, her port
. We limbered up the engines and we got a bell to go ahead,
hink; we could usually spring her off the dock with our engines
n South Haven. As soon as we started the wheels com-
menced to drag on the bottom, I think the po wheel hit the bottom
first. It listed her to por% al.l little bit. Whett};le: _ {fl:::;x hdm: :
i istribution of the passengers or what 1
dhange in the gl fittl /the starboard wheel dragged
on the bottom ; I noticed that the listig was perhaps becoming more

ited. We were getting undér more steam all the time, our
g;gyggv;as increasing g gha by the time we Fot out to the
piers We were running 12 or 14 miles an hour. All this time her

striking on the bottom, hitting logs and everything like
5&?15 g:(:oozf 1:m % folt her/wheels quit that then I immediately

tment and then we come acrpss the lake first rate.
wl&?%ﬂf there any mare listing after your compartments were
filled?—A. Not HE bilg: aslstiﬁ' l::f*ﬁ church.

. Now, Mr. Ee ease
du?ing yv(:f:: experienog us chief ghgineer of that vessel, to so behave
that you did then or since regard the condition which you then saw
and ?c'new as a dangerous condition?—A. I did not consider it a
bit dangerous; her, particularly in bad
weather.
than I did a half or 75 per cent cargo.

Q. Why?—A. Because the cargo was

I felt extremely secure on

go placed and distributed

they did net all move to either side.
weight of grain or iron or angg
chuck full.

It was just like a cargo of
e eferred the Fastland

Q. And I esselwas:
safer in your ’ eYas
/ empty or pa s,
/- "Q. For th t1—
Ao
1d:

Q. Now, w hlyou
filled her tank ong

did it take?—A

Q. Yes; wle a Aspsoo:i
as we got clear d .
never IIegflt Ehe thro! b rather; I
think my assi e
sea cocknaand %pen all § compartments,

ting the forward buT : '
exae.p YO%I say both sea cocks =% Focks. No; one sea oock:
‘To the best of my recollection, there was only one sea cock on her;

you ever saw her or kmew her,
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filled up with water; that isy-ﬁlled 11 the water compartments, every -

1 felt more secure on her-with a full cargo, up to capacity,

N\

i boat or we had a rainstorm or something -
that every -time we met a boat or A dgﬁ




-

820 | wcmlm 0 THE mmnn mmo
" but that is 10

. ‘ ears ago, and’ my memory may have dimmed a little
. bit; there my%e‘ two, but wha‘tever'tliereymay?be, there was one good
e a.m&le one anywey., - - R e Sy
Q. What was the nature of the valve that admitted the water

. from the manifold to the tanksi—A. They were all window valves
- with threaded raising stems, to the best of my memory. -

: Vd?% v .
Q. t tool did you use for opening them?—A. A wrench; a
<rank wrench. I think I had it made. : '

o taneously #—A. It was.

 incident in South Haven

;v;lanter trims full before thqt. After that we always had No. 8 chock

. You are speaking now of the times you were lying at the dock,

No. 8 port and starboard. .If we were going to lay u i&thef fall
- -or go into dry dock or something; if it was for the diver tb tip her
stern %p, we woiild ; but we wasted no steam pumping out No. 3.
Q. For that reason you kept No. 8 tank in and out of port?—A.
Yes, sir; the valves open and the sea cock open most of the time.
_When the valves were open and the sea cock open were the
<conditions or were they not such that the valve of the tank took care
:]f itself #—A. They would fill up automatically up to the level of
e sea. '

Q. And that meant up to the top of the tank, did it?—A. Yes, sir;

of the tanks; perhaps 8 feet. Those were small pipes. .

Q. Let me understand you clearly. To secure the position of cer-
tainty in filling the tanks all that you had to do, if I understand you
rightly, was to leave your valves standing opén {—A. We opened the
valves and opened the sea cock, and the water compartments No: 3
port and starboard filled. '

Q. In order to keep them, do I understand you, in order to keep

valves and the manifolds standing open ¢—A. Oh, yes, sir; kept them
full all the time. v -

Q. That would always keep them full, would it?—A. Certainly;
they would keep full. i » : : '

‘T want you to answer my, questions exactly.—A. Pardon me.
. Q. Am 1 'right in understanding that no attention or manipula-
-tion of any kind was necessary to keep thoge tanks full if and as
Vicrmg a}s; :he, manifold valve and the sea cock stood wide open?—A.
ot a bit. '

Q. So that if attention were given to that operation and it were
pr:E:rly done and left standing in that condition, the filling of the
tanks and the keepin%lof_ them full required no further attention
- whatever —A. Not a bit; not a bit. : o
Q. During the time you were chief engineer of the vesssl you

ported on the west side of the lake in the Chicago River, did yov
~not?¥—A. Yes, sir. :

"

Q. With a wheel?—A. No; there were no wheels on the rhanifoki’ﬂ o

Q. Was the sea cock of sufficient capacity to fill all the tanks simul. -

Q. Was it or was it not your practice to keep the water ballla,stjf
tanks full when loading })assengers?—A. You mean prior to that

Q. Before and after, both.—A. Before that we never carried her -

- are you, or'all times?—A. We never wasted the steam to pump out

the sounding pipes and vent pipes, about 8 or 10 feet above the top .,

. them full all that was necessary was to leave the sea cock of the -
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. By . - . - R .. ’ “"f,'
Q. Did you find it necziss%ry to empty the tanks in order to make
k in the river— L T T e
t.lh%fo]%o gloii l‘znow of any necessity arising from your experience ‘1)1!;
the vessel for emptying the tanks in the river in order to make t
dock or to load {)assengers?-—A. You are referring to No. 3 tanks or
tank ‘ o
th%l(.m(l)ﬁfe 311-1 bi)th or all—A. Tt was never necessary to empty h?i.i g
port or starboard. We very frequently did the No. 2; and if we
gnything in No. 4—well, very frequently we pumped that gut.A .
Q. What was the difference between Nos. 2 and 8 and 4¥—A. No.

‘9 were the second forward and the second aft of the collision bulk-

-hand
. No. 3 followed, and No. 4 followed. I would say off ‘
’?If:g the ?‘To‘ 3 was perl’mps almost or equal the capacity of ?fos. 2 and
4 combined. The height was uniform all the way through; of course.
the dimensions longitudinally and transversely were dlﬁererg,. tond
Q. You said, if I recall correctly, that you esteemed the Eastlana

a safe vessel 2—A. Yes, sir.

-, Under what conditéoréss if %ﬁy, did you esteem her to be safef— -
ionally so in bad weather. o
A'Ql?%zgst.lyoggr E;Ifgwler; based upon the tanks being filled or partly

“ glled or unfilled, or upon any condition in the management of the

g i i i rial whether
in?—A. With normal cargo or no cargo 1t was immateria

zl};;ptanks were filled or not. I brought her up _from Port Hft;rau

without a pound of water in her, we pounded a southwest sea irom

the shank to South Haven, and she was ss steady astcould be.

 Without .o load?—A. No passengers; that is, from the ship
ya?d Xglﬂﬁer second year. Once in a while we made an extra trip.
We oo across the lake usually from the west short here without gas—
sengzrs, perhaps only 200, due to bad weather, or something then,
they stayed over there, and some Saturdays we made a specxsal tglp, .
that is, we came back Saturday night in order to be-here Sunday
morning, and she would come over flying whether there was any
weather or no weather ; she was very comfortable. -
" Q. When carrying a full load do you or do you nqﬁﬁﬁ 13 ; ir
safety was based upon:the water-ballast tauks being fille -~
When carrying a full load? Well, with 8,300 people on her she
behaved very creditably with only No. 8 full. A s s

Q. No. 3, I understand, was the largest of all?—A.: Yes, sir. .

Q. I understoed you to say, if T am correct, that it contained as
much ballast as 2 and{& pxt t,i;geth.er.——A. Roughly on an estimate.

: imately %—A. Yes, sir. )

8 ﬁgg rs?:u ableyto sav. therefore, from your experience ondt‘hg
vessel, in personally handling ballast tanks or having them 1151n e
u'nder’ your direction, that V;rvigl a load in excess of 3,000 passenggrs

id behave well*—A. Well, yes, sir. . e
Sha(.h%(})o;, Mr. Eels, is it o fact that you would have beendmll}nb,
from what you saw of her behavior with such a load un erf )cl)m;
management, to have tnkenhyour own fé\;mﬂy on board of tha

ip?—A. They traveled with me many a time. .

Shl(g. Tl%ey hav% traveled with you?—A. Yes, sir; many a time. i

Q. You used the phrase, a few moments ago, ¢ limbered up.” Am
I correct in understanding that that means starting the engines
slowly to get them heated up 9—A. That is the shop parlanca.

22850—16—21
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Q I undex:stand it perfectly, but I want to get, 1t in the record. —A

- It is another technical term, an academic ter
Q. You said something about not having Ueft the throttle until
%er to the throttle which controlled the ad-

- mission of steam to the engine cylinders!—A. Yes, su' two; one to
~ each engine.,
Q. You did not refer to’ anythmg in connectmn with the water

ballast"—-A No, sir.
* Q. You ysed the phrase “full load” and h‘ne since, the ﬁgures
%330071—A. Yes, sIr.
' Q. What do you mean by full loadQ—A Until that incident, to
. the best of my recollection, we were allowed 3,300, and we frequentlv
carried up to capacity. The Eastland became a very popular boat
at that time on account of the speed, and I had in mind when I re-
ferred to the 3,300, before that—that is the first season before July 17.

Q. Was it ever ‘necessary or did you as a matter of fact unload
. the ‘ballast. tanks in ord91 to. make speedQ—A I have pumped. her
out aft very,frequently..

Q. When you say aft, just what' do vou mean ?— A I mean I h‘ne
No. 4 or something aft of No. 8. ~

Q. And that was for the purpose of" raising the bow in the
" water ?—A. Noj; that was just the reverse—for raising her stem—lt
had that tendency

Q. I beg your pardon, that was a mistake of mine. Dic l she drag

by the stern at high speed?—A. She did. Her ballast was her two -
" bustles aft-—the lower you kept them the more stable she w as; the

higher you kept them the more it increased her speed.

Q. Did her propeller blades project beneath her hull?—A. Not

normally when she was on an even keel: If she was heeled over, for
example, in a sea down aft, heeled over, she being a twin-screw shgp

the propeller blades, if they were on opposn:e centers, there would be

one blade below the lével of the ship. -

Q. You often broke a blade for that reason 2—A. T think I put on
28 new blades on her in 6ne year, the year 1904.

Q. These were detachable blades?——A Yes, sir.

Q. Put on by bolts*—A. Yes,sir. We broke them in South H aven

as a rule. Once in a while we threw one outside, but I always at-
tributed it to having hit some submerged obstacle in' South Haven.
Q. Can you say whether, and if so how much, it increased her

. speed to-empty her aft tanks?—A. It would speed her up a mlle and

a half an hour; a little better or more than a mile.

Q. Did yowunder-those circumstances always leave No. 3 tank
full?—A. After July 17, 1904, her tanks were never empty. “Ne. 3
om the port and starboard we never emptied in the passenger season,

- except we had to dock-her each season and T loosened up her strut

twice. We docked her once in Miller’s dry dock, once in Chicago,
and on each occasion, of course, we pumped out No. 3 port and star-
board.

Q. Mr. Eels, based upon your experience in other vessels and upon
the Eastland herself, and upon the results of the operation of that
vessel while under your care and that of the captain who commanded
her, when you were chief engmeglr",')ftpon your knowledge and-ex-

pemenee of steam engineering, and in general, is 1t or is it mot your-
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‘ opmlon that the accident of July 24 was an avoidable one?—A. It

was avoidable unless some external cause or condztmn ‘of which I
have no knowledge accelerated or assisted.

Q. Why%—A. Because if she was deep enough af‘t she could not
list. The whole question of keepmg the Fastland trimmed was to
keep her down aft.

Qf Now, that questwn was “Why ?” The next question is
«How? "—A. By having No. 8 port and starboard filled, by havi
her tank top dry, and, if necessary, having something in No. 4 an
the lazarettao.

Q. Based upon your experience with the vessel and your ku&wledgé |

- of steam engineering, both before and after your experience with

her, was or was not the presence of 2,500 passengers a factor in
causing the vessel to cszpswe A, Yes, sir.

ﬁow far, in your judgment, did it or did it not affect the mat-
fer ?——A I was not present and I do not know just what the external
conditions were. I know that 2,500 people, mostly on one side or
the other, would cause her to list slightly unless she was properly
trimmed. Just where the people were pliced at the time she started

* to careen I do not know; I was not there. If there were double that

pumber on her, she w ould not have careened ; I know that, because
they would have been distributed over her like a load of iron ore or
coal.

Mr. Taoraax, That is assuming all the time, Mr. Eels, that her
ballast tanks were properly filled. Do I understand you correctly?

The Wrrness., Until July 17, when she gave us a taste of her per-
formance in South Haven. we did not pay much attention to the
water compartments, and we carried, I think, up to capacity before
that time. We did at that time.

Q. I am talking about the opinion that you have expressed as to
this accident on July 24. You expressed an opinion as to the number
of passengers on. the vessel at the accident of July 24. Was that
based upon the estimation that the ballast tanks were filled or un-
filled?—A. I don’t understand.

Q. To put it another way, if the ballast tanks were filled in the
way you have described them to have been filled, would the presence
of 2.500 people on hoard that vessel have caused her to capsize as she
did?—A. No, sir.

Q. What “ould vou say in case hér ballast tanks were empty or
only partially- filled7—A. Now, I wonld prefer the tanks empty to
only partially filled, if I was responsible for her—that is, No. 3 port
and starboard, I mean.

Mr. COLLI\Q Mr. Eels, after the time the boat listed at South
Haven in 1904 and you decided to keep her No. 8 tanks full at all
times, did the Faefland ever list danger ousl} during vour time aboard
the Shlp _ ,

The WirxEss. Oh, no. -

Q. After you_ had, decided to keep them full?—A. Never to give:
us any concern in this respect. After we cut out her hurricane deck
for passengers—that reduced them, I think, to 500—the inspectors
did—TI think at the end-of that season we voluntarily elimimated the
upper deck entirely. Prior to July 17, 1904, we carried 50 per cent
or over up on the hurricane deck. There was nothing transpired
after that date that gave me the least concern.
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~Why, on consultation with Capt. Dority and myself; we were in very
close cooperation all the timein handling-her. ¢

tank?

" Q. Any of the tanks aboard that lpq')at?:"—A. Oh, yes, sir; very

 frequently. oo : .
"~ Q. In your previous testimony you said that the Eastland was a
very popular boat at that time.—A. She was.
. After she had made this list did that affect her popularity in

' :gﬁﬁy ?—A. It did perhaps for two days; after that it increased it:

_carried our largest load after the 17th of July, that is up to
capacity; her capacity was reduced, but she was generally filled bet-
ter after that than she was before, . w
"~ Q. We will assume that No. 3 tanks were not chock full, only
partially filled, what would be the effect in the event that she took a
‘list%—A. It would increase the list. o '

Q. For what reason?—A. Because the center of gravity would
shift the bulkhead—if she listed: to starboard and she careened, say
_to 221 per cent, the water in the port bullkkhead would have gone over
to the longitudinal bulkhead—the water in the starboard compart-
ment would run—you would change the ballast trim amidships to
the starboard. . ' ‘ .
" Q. The’ weight would be on the starboard #—A. Yes, sir; instead
of an.equal depth. '

- Q. Why was it neceésda;y;to keep the vessel down aft, in order to -
. prevent——A. Because that is where her bearings were, she had

nothing forward. . ' : -

Q. What do you mean by bearings?—A. Her bustle; we call it her
bustle. Of course, I am not a naval architect, but as an operating
engineer it was apparent to me in a week: .
© Q. I want you .to state that; I understand what you mean thor-
oughly, but I want this for the record.—A.. I see. :

Mr. Corrins. Those are all the questions I want to ask, Mr. Sec-

- retary. : ' '

Mr. SterrEN: Why did you leave the service of the Fastlond?

The Wirness. To better my position and make more money.

" Q. How soon after July 17, 1904, was that?—A. A year and a

half; that is a season and. a half; the seasons were short.

Q. How many gallons dces No. 3 tank hold that you kept gon-
stantly filled after July 17?—A. Of course, you can not expegh me

_ to answer that correctly now after 10 years, but I would assume that,
putting it in tons, 250 tons; I would say 250 tons.

Q. How many inches would that submerge the vessel or tend to
lower her in the water as against when she was not filled ¢—A. Well,
it would put her down forward a very little, maybe 6 or 8 inches,
' and put her down aft perhaps 15 or 18 inches. As a matter of fact
my work was inside the ship, not outside. : :

Q. Now, assume it did not put her down 18 inches; assume it put
her down 10 inches, didn’t you find difficulty after you were filling
. No. 3 tarfks in going in the river in Grand Haven?—A. Yes, sir; we

kept breaking our wheels right along, but I did not regard that.

"

. . -/

Q. On ‘whose authority did you fill or pwlimp out the tanks?—A, |

‘Q. Did you ever assume it on your own responsibility AL Which h
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. « . . . 13 . . ' . © he

_ Didn't you have any difficulty in breaking the blades in t
ri\%rw?]—)—fﬁ “;e kept brealgng the blades aEl the time; 1 thmk 1 broke
98 that year. You mean in South Havent o

. Yes—A. Yes, sir. )

8. Why did you on July 17 keepdNo. 3 filled?—A. Because the in-
in Chicago ordered it filled.. : ,

ng.t OlliényOLt.chz%nge your opinion after July 17 as to the g,afetybaf/
that vessel 2—A. Well, it naturally perhap}s influenced it a little, but
hen it did not cause me any fear or apprehension. )
th(al. lDic; you regard the hgndling of these ballast tanks as a dehcatg
proposition ?—A. Not at all; every, oiler and every boiler tender an
every assistant engineer was as familiar with'that as Iam. .

Q. You did not consider that it needed any particular handling
of these tanks to malke her safe?—A. Not anything more than to have
No. 8 filled. o . . -

. Would you permit the oiler to turn on these?—A. Under my
digction I al‘fvays? told himfto; I don’t supposé I put my hand on a
h a dozen times myself. ’ o |
»w ré?cht you did regagd it as an absolute necessity to keep No. 3
filled ?—A. After we were ordered to do so by the ms%ecmrs ;ers, sir.

Q. Did you personally look aftv that every day?—A. Yes, sirj

7 t on her outside. )
! 18? ei"nggo%%t lemow why they removed the Eastl and from Chicago
to Cleveland, do you?—A. No; when I went down to Pennsylvania
#rom Chicagd'that time I lost track of the marine interests up heﬁre‘;
entively. 1 understand, though, it was on account of some financial
j 1 failure or something.
]o%{.ey{_r;%osraya after the July 17 incident her passenger patronage - .
increased after a few days?—A. Yes, sir; the next day we loaded 1n
’Ché,.ca%vo'l':mt was the carryiﬁg-capacj'ty allowance made to the Eastland

.. /after that season—A. The first made was twenty-five.

17.19042—A. The remainder of the season!
%. %{f}t;e z‘hixggilov;ing season.—A« Well, it was reduced severai hun-
dred; I have forgotten—somewhere between twenty-five, ?nd tulentg-
eight hundred. As a matter of fséc&, atxlllmrlélecee[ngmeer is not always
ili arrying capaci he vessel, o
far&?%?;ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘s wgy slgle ‘vas re%;;f;ed?—@. Because we ehmlr_mt-::d
her hurricane deck for passenger servics, which leaves ay ailable space
IS, ;
foal_mjslsgtlgs:hin was she reduced after July 1'4\‘7-!—.-\. IfI remetg}»ef;
correctly, on the 18th of July we laid at the dock here: bnlt 1‘ thin
we were, by restricting the number of passemgers on the hurricane
deck, we were reduced right along, jmmediately af f:c['.‘ el
.Q. Then your statement that the capacity was increase 1{ “I 0 'i
erroneous in that you don't know the carrying capacity i—a:a. & sal
ing capacity. )
hez&?a{: zi}?ﬁ’dc;gz ha}'\y’e been increased if your carrying :1]]0\\-ar}ceﬁ;\-n§
decreased =—A. Before the 17th of July, about the only time we le
her was on such an occasison as # postal clerks’ society or somcfd}mig
of that sort; during the week we had some scant crowds : a{{te;l July
17 it was invariably light, but better-during the entire week than 1t

was before.
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' deck raised the stability of the boat?—A. Y

C -4

3 -

QD1dé’ou ever‘anh.at‘tﬁe ) hica  as
| - Did you > people of Chicago felt that i
,any,un‘sque}ves%s»el ?——A. Why,‘ I do 1ot know whetl%er they ?elé#i ::i :

- not. .
.. Q: Did you ever hear of it?—A competi
’ Msély 'ﬁf ihgné aggravated it. . Wﬁhad competitors down: here.
., & That did 'not influence your crowds anv?—A. It ; i
i i}lvell)ls mbxéi, passengers.e your c%o“ ds an)‘ ‘—A. It influenced it;
r. TooL.: Captain, were yvou aboarc J W »
re%‘!ice(%‘frem 3,(1;0 S Sere ?} ou aboard the Zastland when she was
e Wirxess. I can not recall whether T + as i
the (N TIN! ler 1 was or not. I was in her
! gas%% (Sef'?s?n:f 19Q4 and 1905. If it w as during thosg, two years,
. Q. Was this boat ever loaded or ever brought to thh ;
QW t ever lo o thé docl :
‘accident, happened while you were chief erglgineer ?‘e—(}{).c %ﬁﬁf 5}113
this accident happen? T have not been down vet. :
AQNO-n the south side of the river, between Clark and LaSalle.—
- Noj her dock was just above the Wells Street Bridge '
Q. You never docked there?—A. No, sir, , -
So you do not know of Your own knowledge whether that boat

could dock at that point with her No. 3tanks filled?—A. No; I have

no kll(_)WIedge of there at all, even at that ti . it
be entirely difforent now. Thet oo 10 ;ea?smaeéo.()f course, it might

Q. You eliminated the hurricane deck. Eliminating the hurricane

.service, keeping the pasengers off of the hurri ¢ :
Yes—A. Tt improx'gd it wonderfully. ietne deck? . - E
¥r. SterFeN. Did you know Engineer Nack? ’
.The Wrrness. He was second assistant with me in 1904 and 1905

on the Fastland. He was first assistant with me on the Indiang the

preceding year, the year before.

Q. He testified here the other day in response tokmy questioning

that he regarded the handling of the ballast tanks g very important

matter, and that he left that in nobody’s hands but himself; that he.

manipulated these valves himself, and would not

: ar not allow anyb
i}){)t atoal){ou ’If}llmtlkhthat was a ff;ol§sh’ precaution on h?s %a?‘?g;elze
thaiﬁ%gres.t o iitt. s o?x e‘dﬁ, that his divect attention was on it; he had
. <. Tou do not think it is a delicate proposition —A. Deli '
important? You asked me delicate; just nl())w you said impe:)lll-gggi.or

Q. Probably we are playing on words.—A. When you asked me"

ab&ut It)ipliqate I replied to you whether it togk a technical man.
- Did it take extreme precaution in operating these valves, in

directing how vt b . :
precauti%n ?0“ much water should go into the tanks?=—A. Ex’treme

Q. Yes—A. No: every oiler and every assistant engineer on the

lake does just like—just as naturs +di i
steém ﬁ'es:elt%itlll ~}}llerj compar'tmentsl. s any ordinary eREmegr on a

. . Hle testified here that‘this particular vessel, the £ tlan
her safety depended absglutely upon the operal;ioﬂof atﬁlzgzl%agi{ast
xlll;ld, it has been intimated that was the cause of her going over, that
the tanks were not properly handled. Do you digagrge ‘with the
?ﬁ)ln}?n that the tanks were the Important and only factor éhat made
e Eastland a safe vessel, the oneration of the tanks?-_A. They

B ’ / 3 i

ey
N\

e

. compartments were relatively unimportant.

ou mean for passenger

A
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could contribute to the accident if they were not operated intelli-
gently. Ag long as No. 8 port and starboard was filled the other
tanks were simply otheér compartments. There were no tanks on
her; there were no ballast tanks on the Fastland at allj the other

Q. Prior to July 17, did you have any trouble with herj—A. Not
a bit; that is the reason we had trouble July 17; after July 17 why
we kept on our toes. paid particular attention to it. -

Mr. Corurxs. Did vou know at the time this boat listed at South
Haven on July 17, 1904, if she put her gangways and lower dead
lines under water? ' } )

The WrrxEess. Yes. sir. | o

Q. She did?—A. Yes. sir. £

<. Q. Did she take any water aboard the ship?—A.: Yes. Sir.

Q. Through the gangways?—A. Through the dead lines. Our
room got quite wet, my room was on the starboard side right aft of

\ the engine. I got the Water in there.

Q. Did you see the water come in personally?—A. No; I was in .
the engine room, I saw my books and bed and one thing and an-
other. '

Q. What did the Eagtland draw when she was light and no water
in her?—A. You mean with the boilers filled in service?

Q. Oh, yes.—A. I can not answer that with any accuracy.

Q. Do you know what she drew when she had No. 3 tank filled ?—
A. And no passengers?

Q. Yes—A. I think it was something around 13.8.

Q. Forward or aft%—A. Aft, I think it was something around
there, it is so many years ago of course I can not tell.

Mr. Corurxs. That is all.

Secretary Repriern! The witness is excused. - The meeting of the
board is adjourned until 2.30 p. m. this afternoon at this place. The
tiembers of the board of inquiry wiil meet in executive session-im
the adjoining room immediately. _ :

(Whereupon an adjournment was taken to 2.30 o'clock p. m.,
August 4, 1915.) ‘

WepxEspAY, Aveuvst 4, 1915—2.30 p. M.

The board met pursuant to recess.
Present, same as before. : ‘
Secretary Reprierp. Owing to the fact that Gen. Uhler will ap-
ear before the State grand jury this afternoon we will take an ad-
journment until 9.30 o’clock to-morrow morning.
(Thereupon an.adjournment was taken until the following day,
Thursday. August 5. 1915, at 9.30 o’clock a. m.)

.Curcaco, I, August 2, 1915—3 a. m.
At a conference called by Secretary Redfield, to be held in the
chambers of the hearing room, 603 Federal Building. the follawing
remarks were made: :
Secretary Revriern. Mr. Sullivan, the first’ question we might take
up, informally. is what we wish to.do at this conference as to admit-
ting the press. Mr. Maloney, of the city press, came in this morning




A

,‘32&/ . ACCIDENT 'TO THE STEAMER EASTLAND,

rd ACCIDENT TO_ THE STEAMER EASTLAND, 329

and asked me ;what our- wishes were. T told hi | : s
and ask . s were. I told him i

_‘f‘?: thgflftprhesgr_me, but it would rest with us all t(I)n goﬁéf«if::e\giitgew
3 ,MMght hamper anyone from speaking with the frankness hr

'esn'eds What 1s your view? s ) }gsﬁ ®

- Mr. PAN. ink i ' i speaki
vffrankly.UFLI‘A\ I think it would hamper some peopler i speag'mg‘\\

Secretary. Reorierp. Do ink i
, | DFIELD, vou think it
to make it unwise to bring them in? o
) %%r. %ULL[VAN. I think so.
~ *Mr. Reorrenp. Wh you st
' 'G%‘f OHomap ™ " at would you say

: r. O'Hara. I would s‘ly' ur e ‘

i . L say, your honop#inasmuch as ¢

gaﬁlaelxln ;lst \0 %xig’ i};o‘s‘fglel (zilttltlll(de_ﬁrsd any#iing would b; smi}'ls(ien}:)elfsf‘elgélds
and 1 make e ‘e any i
that is, not to exclude the P!lwtess.!e ,tt' Ot* fo have any secret hea;‘lng;

. Secretary REeprIELD, V
‘ ‘MlﬁrSuélivan? Ce Vou{d
- Mr. Svruvan, Tt is immedterial to me.
Mr. Poor. I believe J&ving iust the ren )
A L, JAaving just the representati cit;
~ %);'easzv—ethtalllt gives néwz"to all the press——th'ft migh%: g'ee 5920%6 i((i:gy
~togi em the bénefit of the conference, but all on the samsg '

the seat which you and your father have ordinarily occupied, and
he did =0, and from that it arises that we quite neglected the members

- of the board in the way in which we carried on our questions. ‘I felt
later that I should have explained that to you when you came in
so that you should know that what took place was not intentiona
but was accidental. And if you feel now that any apology in needed,
Governor, here it is. _— : «

Mr. O’Hara. Oh, noj; not at all, Mr. Secretary.

Secretary Repriern. What would you like to bring before this
meeting? ' - ‘

Mr. O’Hara. The suggestion, Mr. Secretary, that you were kind
enough to make on Saturday, that if possible the scope of the inquiry
be broadened to include an investigation that would make it possible
tor this board to recommend such changes in the service or such
changes in the now existing laws as will make it impossible, or as
near impossible as will permit, the repetiton of a similar disaster.

- _ In other words, Mr. Secretary, in putting it in plain language there
is a féeling in Chicago among our people that travel on the Lakes
is not safe.” That feeling has been going on for years.. Unques-
‘tionably much of that feeling is builc upon this inférmation; some

- of it at any rate; and I feel, Mr. Secretary, if it were possible for

the scope of this inquiry to be broadened to permit us to go into

every angle of the situation, to call before this board inspectors and
others—in other words, to go into the service for the last 15 years and
to call representatives of the organized employers, to call citizens
generally, and to conduct a thorough investigation, I feel very cer-
tain in my own mind, Mr. Secretary, that that will: meet with the
~ approval of the people and serve to remove this fear, and that the '

Secretary of Commerce would be widely and popularly praised by\ -

our people, even though it were necessary, Mr. Secretary, for you,\,

somewhat of vour own volition, to go beyond the strict interpreta-
tion of the law under which this present hearing is being held.

Secretary Reprierp. In order to bring that up fully let me say
that I am in most entire accord with your views, and have intended
‘that your suggestion be carried out—have.intended that from the
beginning—it is merely the question of legal form and procedure
that concerns me.

We have not the right, as executive officers to extend by our acts
the scope of any law; our right is only to do that which is expressly
authorizeeﬁ by law, and which we may be advised by the Department
of Justiceis the legitimate inference from that law.

Speaking for the moment of present inquiry, I have already
stretched it into an unprecedented form. There has never been one
before that has not been conducted by the local board of inspectors,
.. as the law says, and I will call vour attention to the fact that we are
' personally here at this inquiry.

Now, 1 think it will be possible to cover that much that you have
.suggested in the course of this inquiry, and after the suggestion
which you made to me I had intended to say to you this morning,
to do it in calling the first witness, that I shall be very glad, and Mr.
Thurman would, and all of us would. to have you address your in-
quiry toward matters which would develop weaknesses in the law
_or weaknesses in practice under the present law which might be cor-

ould hmnzl;),ser" them enough )

) ,_/r" . . .
\b(L{Lﬁ admitting the press,

& think that s 2 very splendid suggesti ‘ S

” : on. :

/ A\Ym%%zh },Zh.a‘i do you say, Mr. 'I‘.h}ﬁ‘%nan ?n . o
,anhffl‘n. Sora%lnwll.lg it all the publicity we possibly can,

- #2ULLWAN. If that is your view, then I w3 ' .

7 Tx : view, then I will adopt your view.

. HURMAN. All right, Mr./’,,_Sulhvan;}batfi’s mine,yand vei";

*7

gly. : :
P Secre : i L3 v L T N s/ ’ ;
F 4o Sect;x;ysgr;?gmn, l\f/Ir. Steifgns;ﬁx:e were discussing the propriety
; ¢ or of ¢ ress being present at this conferénce,

Mr. Maloney, .of the ci i ‘ i
wishgs, éind T toldvl‘lim, Iydir()irisgt,; ;{sng;re,‘ and\ §sked i that was our
T. STEFFENS. Without knowing ju.st what' ri '
, e A . B 5 & ma ar )
i{}?i(s“;) ;13 there is any objection. I do not krfow if i{ i; léieie;lI t((i)ohnlog
SécretZr!;rp Iggn irlthISI%r 1.§1n0}f; admitted, ' : g e
i ; FIELD. Well, the suggestion has bee,
0111;13171 I1‘)1'ess who gives news to all t;hebpaper.s9 ~sh0u1de§: argiln%tgimt Dtdh .
E man’s point of view seems to be that they should all be in. N, .
tﬁmt 1fhe vxia“é of all of you on the matter. oo Tow,
) T. Yoor. I'do not know but-what it would be  admi
. . I3 ° - e b a
t}llle pa(llpezs and preclude. the possibility of havingetitgrst(i)da(tilrlmt "
S, SE‘Q T,gmy partls_![_hty or any ‘preference ' nt we
o MroTaorsan, T am very str incli ink
o therX e o ; 31 %7’ istt}iol?sgly {nclllled to think that we should -
- T- ACKERSON. I think we- should let them j | ' |
1 ‘ n. .
L%etcg;elt&xryﬂl{mlwmw, The press representatives will be admitted
P n::: itc’;figtdeirsr::?)%’rttgsat (iln Satll;rday morning there was perh‘(ips'
» nsciou: Y shown by me, to my friend, the I
%ngtc; 7 or here, and other members of the boa¥d here irtlhgrll lggf)?zazl g
petter :;g(;om.modate my friend Mr. Sullivan. 'We met quite prom ‘tlo
in Poolerwrxx:ggﬁoi;;nt(llm e{ﬁ s‘??detlhmg had detained you, Governor, I:mg
Ar. as not » and 1 was anxious that Mr. Sullj
! ave gn opportunity to examine the witnesses, T inﬁl;'itqel:illi‘i’ﬁ? ,tsi)h(t)'llll}rg

[y
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. rected so that we might reach '
stated, and present, so far as it j i '
that v e g% o worilss, it is possible the cause of
th]l\sl in: ué}rly in 'tlllat direction.
oW, that will hardly be far enough because ‘v
:) %xzzure t;) go ffxr enough in this inquiry lest, to %ecizl:l-lrildi%?rgllg
oficers who have charge of the payment of the expense of this

» this thin
to go as far as we reasonably can iglf

Inquiry would say, “ You have gone beyond the law,” and hold up"

~ the expense, and that they have the right to do, as vou know. Thér%

- Was a second step, which I am anxious to hav 7 ;

, , tgk rehﬂg\ve the public mind here, and it 'w?*a;a%:rdt(;ﬁlet Yesson T T
- asked xIr., Gillette to come here, and T have asked th
: fihe_. Navy'to detail My. Ackerson. It occurs to 3
18 ;ilx;ei;lmiz?th by flhe public and by the steamboat owners to have somne
:'ﬁu;de prolxgrfl) t111;1731 Oezf (illllft:iuie oflthe,bteamboat-lnspection Service, and
¥s of s essels as are in servi vi Sur.
the local public from the highest possible. sg;f.g;‘g;v tg:aat oty oo
speak,bof tthle vessels that remain '

men about this as yet, but it ; : ire t i
st o el & g’ny'b o?itv 1t“1}s; my hope and my desire that you will
T@ither see or conduct under yo

me that it may be

their stability, and whatever can be¢
t; e done, I do not k i

S:egylt?lfigtg pf(()):s 5)(;2 gggﬁle{)neex(li to deci«(iie,Ii)ut I earnes:;ll(;rw(ieg}ilx?: 1:‘1‘1:11%

veryt a one, an kn t ¢
desires that you, Mr. Gillette and ’Mr.'Ackérs%vr‘;, ts}lllﬁll%ngt::;ﬁpggg
stability of their ships. Ih i Hhag e Of showing the

lq\ . tCKERSON. Yg; i ope You will do that. ,
- vecretary-Reprierp. That was the second tep.

Now the third. tep, and the lar no; th

Noy i 1€ large one—no; the fourth step is the .
large’ one—the thi step is_this: I. have 'a’lready? \s‘rittsetrel‘pt:)S 51111:

ould reco y :
appeared, that the Stéa:nboatﬁlgspecrg}g;fnédérf}i'ggl ¥ aat bad already

to survey vessels as to their stabilit
Y ; a ¥ and other

foxéi they go into service at all and make_a re 03;* thereon, that that
?tu ority, now lacklng? and the force now lac king with which t l:11
it, §eemez§l to be something that should be supplied. 0w
o ;1(;2? dhi) That we should pyobably recommend that an appeal be
gassengir aslrl ;?v(; 11122; wh;\ch 1S ]notbnow the case, from the fixing of

. ' ices on ‘vessels, but under pro £ '
prevent their annoyance, the questi “bo maieed befy guards to
authority tha froy pce, the q on can-be raised before g hioher

ority th ) pectors as to whether the allowance
sufficient or insufficient. Te i : I 7 the fawy Piae 18
| thiie oot ox in. 'be'onel.l Thel.'e 13 NOW. o a;)peal by the law; I think-
: outsiﬁe%mgmm Pardon me, Mr. Secretary. Does that ‘mean that ‘m
Qutsider, i)r example, could question {fhe capacity of a vesse‘l?
o carrx‘;liﬁ g,ti%mﬁl ;);;tsxdgrl,dhke Mr. Q]ander,rglaim'ing that vessels
Compiaising oo 1 y could go ‘befq/re‘the proper body with that

Secretary Repriero. There should 1
 some limitation should be pl?;cse dogi’)(}) xi)eit:%me spch arrangement, but

”

ecessary points be-

just the very point that you so well

reason I have

e Secretary of,

red in their minds on the /question of

be given authority

v
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Mr. TeurMaN. You have to have & limit somewhere, because if

‘not you would have a hundred cranks from all over the country with
- a grievance against this steamship company or the other presenting

complaints. You can not open it indiscriminately. ,

Secretary Reprrerd. I would not want to put it in the hands of an
engineer discharged for cause or a captain in the same position, or a
crank. Put it in the hands of an individual merely would not, I
think, prove satisfactory, because those having individual complaints
would have the power to arrest the property of a company upon the
claim that their vessel was not-properly safeguarded. I think we
should have to let Congress pass upon that, however, and that will
be determined after a hearing before a committee. L

Mr. O’Hara. Would you suggest this, suggest a board consisting
of five members, one elected by the sailors, one by the employees on
the lake, the other by the employers, and the other two be selected
possibly one direct by the President of the United States, and the
other to be named in such manner as would represent the citizenship
at large. : '

WSecFetary Reoriewp. I will tell you #hat I would say, Gov. O'Hara,
that I would thankfully receive any arrangement Congress might
‘make. Now that is all I can say. That is a matter for Congress.

Mr, Tuvrmax, What is this, on a general investigation?

* Seeretary ReprieLn. No: this is a matter of the personnel of the
boatd, the body to whom the appeal on passenger allowances could
be made. ; ‘ :

Mr. Tuoraax. Oh, well, if you are going to appeal that way vou
might as well wipe out our inspection service, if you are going to have: -
your appeal by outsiders, you might as well wipe ost vour present
Steamboat-Inspection Service.

Mr. O’Hara. The Secretary is making a suggestiontMr. Solicitor,
which, in our judgment, will appeal very strongly to our people.
It is the Secretary’s suggestion. :

Mr. Taonyax. I did not mean to say it was your suggestion: but
on first flash I would not agree with it, even with the Secretary.

Secretary Reprierp. I do feel very strongly, and it is not a new
feeling, the matter will be found in my annal report for the vear
1918, a paragraph there which I think I showed vou in my room,
the whole question is discussed at length. I am simply prepared -
to say there should be some appeal which wonld provide additional
safeguards against these things, but I thirk that appeal should be
limited so as not to permit some trouble maker to appeal these things.
That is all I am prepared to say, because that is a matter lving with
Congress; if they deal with that matter and call me before them
and ask for suggestions on that ground I should answer them, of
course, but I do not know now what I should answer.

" Mr. Poor. I should say, Mr. Secretary, that for the purpose of
this executive session that things we are all agreed upon are things
that oeight to be passed. If we are all agreed up to that point. that
there shoiild be an appeal or that there might be an appeal, that that
_is a pretty good place to stop. : _

Secretary Reprien. That must necessarily rest with Congress.

Mr. Svnuavan. Why wouldn’t it be a good thing to leave the initi-
ative to be taken, for instance, by the municipality, and let it be the
objector, if you are to have an c¢bjector.
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-+ Mr, TaorMaN. As Mr. Pool suggests, everybody agrees this law
- should be amended so there is an appeal.. Isn’t it time to stopt
We, can not accomplish anything by discussing it. ’
Secretary Reprierp. Yes; because theve is nothing we can do about
- it here, and there’ will probably be another hearing in which this
" matter ' may very well be discussed. S
-A Bysranper. The details will have to be settled later.
Secretary Revrrerp. Yes; it will fall in the hands of cur good
friend Judge Alexander in Congress; and there is no-more capable
man in America on that subject. .

ther inquiry into the whole thing, this accident inclusive, in-case it

ice, dealing with it in gll its forms, and all over the country; I would
not be content to.be restricted to the lengths myself, because while

that I would desire, in fact suggest, the selection of members of the

staff of the Navy of the United States, gentlemen representing the

merchant marine, on its technical and scientific side, such as Mr.

Gillette occupies; men representing the interests of labor, men rep-

resenting owners, and probably others representing the citizenship of

the country at large without any interest to act with the department
- officers; and I told him I would welcome that. .

It has been our custom and it is now, and I should be glad to have
that inquiry commenced as early in the fall as practical, and thaf
perhaps it was a mistake to give the impression, if it was given, that
that would be dependent upon whether somebody brought formal
charges againsé anybody or not. I am mnot sure that the impression
was given, but I certainly would be sorry to have that impression
remain. But everything of that kind must-have a beginning, and
a written request from you, Gov. O’Hara, or from anybody, of
sufficient weight and public stand..g to give it any attention at all
would be immediately met with the official statement that that in-
quiry would be held it would probably last, as these things go, a
number of weeks. ‘

Mr. O’'Hara. Then, let me understand, Mr. Secretary, in order, if
that inquiry be undertaken or be ordered, it would first be necessary

for some one or some group of citizens to make a formal request for
& hearing?

Secretary Repriern, Send a letter.

Mr. O'Hara. Send a letter to you, Mr. Secretary?

Secretary Reprierp. Yes; I will undertake to say that within suffi-

- cient time for me to dictate a response and get it typewritten they
will have a written statement from me saying they will have an

inquiry from me in the fall. '

* Mr. O’Hara. Then, it is your recommendation that such a request
shall be made? ‘

Secretary Reorierp. I earnestly hope you will make it.
. Mr. O'Hara. I asked that question, Mr. Secretary, so that no one

could say that the request for an inquiry was made without your
consent or your approval. ’

Secretary Reprierp. It has my earnest approval.
At-the same time I do not think we ought to lose sight of this
. present inquiry. There is a little ground, to come back now, I think

Now, fourthly. I have told the President T would welcome a fur-

is not sufficiently covered in this present inquiry, into the whole serv- -

we are at the job we might as well do it thoroughly; and I told him - |
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‘we ought to learn oll that we can in this present inquiry without

i ] ink tlemen here

i far as to get outside of thelaw. It ink you gen b
g:énl%;o Eg, s;‘nostg;af you at liast, andtyo% sg);::cx{m: rﬁh::rgnggtégg;
. . Mr. Secretary,l am not a ia y 58y,
bu%% thior?l: it is a fine prof’ess,,xon, and I want to sty you have clﬁag;
fied the atmosphere ve much, and I think your suggestions are fine.

Secrétary Reprierp. Now, does that cover your %’uggestions, Gov.

" ’'Hara?

Hara j ion: Isi i ‘stretch-
’ . Yes; just one question: Is it possible, by any str
i Mg.f(-grour authori’t;' or any interpretation of it for you, so ahs E'Z
lgni%e :mmediate relief, to create a board of appeals such as you ha
suggested be authorized by law? :

Secretary Rnumgrxin. t1\_10; I thlgnl: SISli%tl.l 1 act?

o hgt 1S 2 congr 3 . )
gilalgr;l;;{xgrk lllé;;émn; Congressmnal gction will be necessary; the

- giatute is perfectly clear, and furthermore it is reinforced by at least

) the solici-
£ the Attorney General and two or three by .
gg:sopl'i‘llll?lgw places theyrespo}fl&blh(tiy rord(_leﬁsrixéu:lvglugld t?ﬁte%iit
. ces upon the local board. hinl
%e(?ug,e;n?lnf‘zﬁglk it gvould intereg% y(‘zul,l Biir. Sullnlfial;;, ;% ugeté }f}:; ir:
ates of Congress. I need hardly tell lawyers LE® J° s ¢ h(
: the intent of Congress. ave
commonly referred to as indicating ngres have
t the debates at that time W ;
not looked at them in this case, bu ¢ i thme wou
i s ion. show that the object of that law was to .
;x}ltx}r:grﬁgug%x;e the men were snﬁ)posed to‘l{)?i bgsghgé)?gegl emtlliie ;;;
nt n
formed as to the conditions, and that you wi s the ¢ 7

: that what we are going throug
of the present law. Now, 1 suppose oing through
i . that is, I presume, that the faster
is the result of an evolution; tlgéx s L presume, & e fuster tra’

i o , p since that la
fic, I think the congested traffic, has g incp that a7 T
i ticular locality, and that now the ¢ ns }
ggx?:e s;i s:irzugai?gnp;{mich Congress did not have before it at that time.
Tlﬁzlsﬁ}gggg?ni’ou will find another thing, Governor, 1}{'1 01&1
will take the laws on the Steamboat—Ipspecthnu?ervclzesaezolxp;?i ﬁcaﬁy
v Ol ol . ;
a number of provisions and sections in particuia c pecificall

idi als: for instance, a master may be Susj y
providin for appea!s; . he has a right to appeal to the super-
the board of local inspectors; he has a Iig to appen! o the uper

ising i tor of that district; if he is still overruled he
z:;m:% tl;xlsg,e ct(? further appeal to Gen. Uhler, the Supervising In-
spector General. ) .
_ Under peculiar conditions. ‘
%in-%{?ulgiAn.‘nYes ;pghere are a number of appeals specifically

i in these sections. ) ) ' )

Pva;ge%}fg:elil; noe mention of an appegl at ?H in thx: sgcn(r)}?hﬁo?g
] i nssengers.

i the fixing of the number of P g ‘
Pfogéglggecggzally W'lthi;gl the discretion and power of the local in-
. actors You will find that, if you will just take a_casual "run
?:ﬁe u h. the inspection laws, you will ﬁr}d that that cond‘vtton exists.

i(%rg()"HARA Now, Mr. Solicitor, 1 thl{lk tl'\IghSegretmt'y § :‘»mqtg;l:er;t;

. e situati hly. e Secretary’s sugges-
has covered the situation very thoroughl; he Secrettry e T am
- ti ther board of inquiry, with a broadened scope, Wi,
gg)xg,ofnggf the approval of our people, especially that class I am
re}ézsf;tgpyghmnmm. Now, may I say something to you?
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- Mr. O’'Hara. Certainly, Mr. Secretary.

- Secretary Reorrero, This is absolutel}; personal; When I go to

interested. They* come because th

friend; becaues they want to see hin?.lr Ifo
a representative of labor, that I would n
your hands than to have you search into

which I have managed, or have to do with the
: e m ;
gr:-};anif::(li :zfm )(r)ou vtvl(l)uld do tﬁat; you will be glggaagi?(rln in:;v’il} :ootull)g
ITY. ng the men who are associated with me to-dav in n.

own work—I hope I have brought that letterhead wj I wonds
if Idid. Idid. The organization which besrs e L wonder
has dlso with it these men: Hugh FW yhe, organiaer o o Rrooent
Federation of Lase Men: Il {f ‘_ra;).mg, organizer of the American
- urer United Brothe;-hood of0 réa(rjll)ta}rln’teﬁr‘;ank Py, o of s

< Indianapolis, Ind.; John Golden and Joiners of America,
g JO. geenral d .
Wonkoyof e, T v, e, ed T

willing to have you ask Mr. Sam
! 2 vel Gompers what h.
:fgxllguierl flo}v%?llﬂﬁ: eﬁogtstlt)f ol_'iglgnized- labor to impiolgéoiv:ss g(fnré?j
X periectly willing to take his an ;- he k
I take,that off of that letter and jus 2w it to some of
, Just ask you to show it to s {
your people and ask thern, then, this question: Woule like m
as lsll. friend and asgoci_ate for yea,rs pas‘il}———and I thi%‘f{ %hteh; %gi}éebrene‘;l’
Willing assoclates; they did not have to be—to some of the strongest

men in the labor movement, and as the personal friend of the Secre-

tary of Labor, would they like me to use my influence with these men

to try to harm them without givin, i i
tot ‘ 21ving them a single opportunit 3
a \ﬁ)?k f?ﬁ zlll‘imi&el:ess ? Ytou just z:lsk them tlmtg queSt];nn, W illlyyf)c:l 2‘21 Y
2 . DL Secretary, and also persona, I think th
has beeh a lack of understandin b sides” s s e
1 g on both sides. It has never be:
my conception that the Secretary of Com : I hostile
oy concepti 7 merce was at all hostile
towa h{a Interests of labor, but that he has not been fully under-
Secretar Reoriecn. T think that is true,
%I'Ir. Oi! : ,Ang (continuing).” By our citizens,
_Now, Mr. Secretary, I see that your 3 our j
m%lt,thovers e situa};ion. that your ]udgment, you zood judg-
ut 1 want to suggest this, that our people w i |
‘ ' N ] g ple would like g g
li;gl_t;ui) (l)):xe'(slm(ﬁ’ bafetyl—lillfotrmﬁllly and unofficially Cl”l":l[et't}tfl?;nftelzgg
e—a_ bo: . appeals that the inspector in granting the carrvin,
capacity and license to the various vessels ) Wt with Hes
¢ v may consult w J
I(I‘I(?rtr?]lrlx(gi’c gIIPl- »?vecretatjy,t I \\i)ou]dd suggest this: ’IYhtltIE;:i' H;‘c]:zl':.q r\i{4 gg
Jommer OW appomt a board of appeals, of his own authomite
consisting of such men, we will savy, : ) S OF e aority,
181§ o v ! say, as the mavors of the cities
l());::&ﬂg:f, g}l);:aellang,i Buffa}g,dMllwau,kee, and Dgtr:‘();tf) u11élltﬁ(1’flntt;m;1((:)¥§
: ) als be consulted, unofficially and informally. nnrm
by the inspectors before granting thesealif‘;er?snég. nformally, a mosally
ﬁacretary Revrierp. You are going outside of the Jaw
Sel(-:.r;l;;{fmﬁAN. You %(Luld not do that, Governor. h
EDFIELD. That would be absolutely ;
Mr. O’Hara. It could not be done. Ptely dliegal.

ot ask any greater honor gt
the records of the factorieg
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Mr. TaorMaN. Now, wouldn’t it be entirely impractical? Sup-
pose an official elected by the city of Cleveland—what does he knew
about the stability of boats? If I were elected mayor of Cleveland,
I might be entirely competent to be mayor of Cleveland but I might
not be competent to entertain an appeal from a board of men gn the
stability of a vessel. How could I possibly tell wehther they were.
right or wrong? I would probably be inclined, as you would be
inclined, to sit in, and after it was over with would not know any-
thing about it. I think we would make ourselves ridicu'ous to try to
do anything of the kind, even if we could. '

Secretary Reprierb. Now, we will do anything that we have the
power to do, because I think the public mind has naturally re-
ceived a terrible shock, from which it is proper it should have as-
surance. We will have these two gentlemen here, and, Gen. Uhler,
I want you, please, to afford Mr. Gillette and Naval Constructor
Ackerson the assistance of your staff and vour officers and records
in any way you can, and aid immediately in any experiment or other
work which may be done under their direction to determine the
stability of any of the vessels. :

Gen. UniLer. They have but to express the desire, and we will give
them the whole force. They are at vour disposal, Captain. =~ _

Secretary Revrrenn. Now, I ask vou, Gen. Uhler, and this is just

" a question; would it be possible for you to appoint an executive

committee of the Board of Supervising Inspectors, of, say, five,
taking a man from the coast, I mean from the Atlantic, and a man
from the Pacific, and a man from the Gulf, and have them come
here and, with Nelson and Westcott, review this whole lake situa-
tion as an executive committee, and advise, through you, as to what
should be done both as to safeguarding conditions and as to meeting
the public mind? :

Gen, Unwer, The executive committee, Mr. Secretary, is already

‘provided for by law. The law distincetly and absolutely states-that

that executive committee shall be called by you, and that it shall
consist of the supervising inspector general and any two supervising
inspectors, That law was made, Mr. Secretary, the law was en-
acted for the purpose of meeting situations that might come up
between the annual meetings of the board of supervising inspectors.
A few years ago there was no relief to be had of any kind except
at the annual meetings of the board, which were in January and
extending over into March. An amendment was made to the law, I
think, in 1906, providing that the Secretary may call an executive
committee to pass upon certain things, and to make rules and
vegulations and also to pass upon the approval or, at least, to give
their approval or rejection to any life-saving apparatus that might
be submitted to them?y in fact, the executive cormmittee had the same
power as the full board. ‘and their acts had to be appraved by the
Secretary, just the same as the board.
_ Secretary Reprierp. Just a moment. If you were ill, who would
act in your place on the executive committee?
. Gen. Unrer. The acting supervising inspector general.
" Secretary Reprierp. And who might he be?

Gen. Unrer. Mr. Hoover.

Secretary Repriern. And in his absence?

!
A
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- 'g:'cnx:ePHLEﬁ' Anybodix'4 thohmight be acting. ‘

L ary Repriero. Mr. Thurman, you might advise me in ‘thi
~resp$t/f Is*there or js there not power }1’mdezf fhe law, in y‘om}?lf(%;
ment, for me to appoint and request the supervising inspector sen.
eral to appoint a committee of supervising inspectors from outside of
:,lﬁls‘ dlstll'{xct, from another district, to proceed to this district and
th :‘17 fc;r‘;a e a survey of the cqndltlons and report to the head of the

- My Trnormax, I am inclined to think tha

Secretary Reprrern, Very well. I will. byou could.

Gen. Unrer.-1 want to explain that the provisions and conditions
of the law often make a man express himself in a way that he ma
be misunderstood. There is no man on the face of God’s green eartﬁ
to-day who courts a-wider, more detailed, more extensive investiga.
tion of the !Steamboat-Inspection Service than I do. I have stated
that; 1 have expressed it time and again to you, sir. ‘

Eecret[s]gry ReprieLp. Often. S

Gen. Unrer. And, too, I think perhaps the quicker this thi

~ done the better it would be for ‘evgrybogy con(garned. %;ivtllinéo‘zﬁg
like to have a committee of 5, 10, 15, or 20; T don’t care ,w'hat .,wth;
extent of the committee is; I don’t care what its make-up; I don’t
care what its personnel is; let them go to work just as soon as it is
possible and conclude' something. - I+ would welcome an extensive
mvestigation. I court it; I always have, and T do now, and as I
have stated, and I want t6 say to you, Gov. O’Hara, that the inex-
orable provisions of the law makes s man express himself so he
might be misunderstood, but I want it understood that I am posi-
tlvgly azld emlghatlcally Inot against an investigation.

ecretary ReprieLp. I want to sa '
alwr}zltlys ci)ull‘lted DMIRLD. L W y for Gen. Uhler that he has

en I shall probably give you, Gen. Uhler, instructions
as I'can get a typewriter, to have a special committee of supeiiii?gg'

- T]?ectors formed, consisting of ‘an inspector from the Pacific coast
I C Coas

one from the Atlantic coast, an inspector from
to meet with the inspector from ,Clevelagd and the i:fggeggx{fago%sgj
troit, to constitute a committee to review the conditions upon the
lakes as regards passenger vessels in particular, general conditions
in the lake and in particular those respecting passenger vessels and
gaSSenger allowances, and to report through you to me what they
nd; and understand that their report will be published in full
and I shall ask you to give them entire freedom and sco e to make
their inquiries as searching and thorough as they possibly can.
Sh(l)\'i[lxl'al’o%n. IsI there any reason why the inspector from Milwaulkee
sh Lak;ul)ﬂ izﬁri’gz(:i the man from Detroit? The Milwaukee man is
Secretary ReprieLp, There is none at Milwaukee.
Gen. UnLer. You might call the full board. You have that

' authority under the law.

\_Secretary RepreLp, Yes, I know. Then I will put it this way:

To give a clear and full opportunity to make that inqui I
do g u at v
practically stop the service, which T go not wish to dé?qlﬂf y‘?nl}z{

:ﬁglﬂﬁﬁ of five .rep?rt to the full board to be called to consider

* mittee an. official from the
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- Mr. O’Hara. Mr. Secretary, I am speaking somewhat from igno-
rance now, but would it be possible to add to that inspection com-
\ nited States Naval Department{

Secretary Reprierp. Well, I can not do that.

Mr. O’'Haga. I say I am speaking from ignorance, Mr. Secretary.’

Secretary Reprmerp. I can not do that, but I will say to you now,
this committee of inspectors, which you will understand is purely
intraservice, we will instruct them to consult with the officers of
the labor organizations on the lake, and hear what they have to say;
not in any sense that this takes the place of the other mattef, but 1
want the service to see what it can do within itself. This is entirely
separate from the other matter and has no relation to it.

. TuuriMan. This is simply a thing,-as I understand it, which
‘can_be done immediately, and is in line with your suggestion.

Mr. Fouxe. I would like to su to Gov. O’Hara, if he does
not know that, the fact that Naval Constructor Ackerson and Mr.
Gillette are here and looking over the boat which they are requested
to look over, to make suggestions in regard to the safety of the boats
on the lake. '

Mr. O’Hara. I think the steps are now being taken to attain the
ends we desire. :

Secretary ReprreLp. Is there anythin% further, gentlemen, to be
brought before us now in this conference

Xno response.
d thereupon the executive conference of the committee. was
adjourned.)

. REPORT OF THE BOARD OF INQUIRY TO THE SECRETARY or
COMMEROCE.

Hon. Wirrzau C. REDFIELD,
Secretary of Commerce:

In obedience to the order of the Federal Court of the Northern District of
Jliinois, Kastern Divialon, dated July 81, 1915, that no witnesses subpeenaed to
appear before the Federal grand jury be examined in any other proceedings
relating to the Hastland disaster, and in view of the fact that some of sald wit-
nesses are necessary before thls investigation is concluded, adjournment is taken
until after the Federal grand jury has submitted its report.

Not having completed our Investigation we are not prepared at this time to
express an opinlon as to who s to blame, nor what agencles contributed to the
capsizing of the steamer FEastland. .

From the evidence thus far submltted, however, we are prepared to make
certain suggestions designed to further safeguard marine travel. Therefore
we earnestly urge that you transmit to the President and to the Congress of the
United States‘the following preliminary recommendation for changes In exlst-
ing laws governing the lnspection of steam merchant vessels, and urge that
ample force and sufficlent funds be provided for a techmical and sclentific in-
spectlon In addition to the present practical methods employed.

1. Provide that there shall be created in the Department of Comimerce g
hoard of competent naval architects whose duty it shall be to pass, prior to
thelr construction, upon the plans and specifications of all steam merchant
vessels over 100 tons burden,

2. No steam merchant vesasel of over 100 tons burden shall be certificated for -

gervice until its plans and specifications shall have been approved by the above-
named board, nor until its safety, seaworthiness, and stabillty shall have been
demonstrated to the satisfaction of sald board.

3. Provide methods whereby any and all findings of the boards of local in-
-apectors may be appealed. o .

22850—16—22
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. 4 ';vaide thai’:‘.xwhenev;er'ﬂm passenger-cy : ;
. -chant vessel is incregsed by any boapd otm?ilﬂgpgm

y

b
.
B
i
|

be ;ppmved in writing by the supervising inspector of the district.

ing stability, seaworthiness, and safety of a; steam merchant vessel must have

.the approval of the above-constituted hoard o
: ‘ . 1 of naval architects,. - »
dlIE'texl:ding the enactment of this legislation, we suggest ltlhe ttosl'lowlnk be imme.
ately incorporated in the rules and regulations of your department :

+ -1, Increases in passenger-carrying permits must ‘be issued by inspectors only i

aft nspee ecord
be:zga%efonal inspection of l:be‘vessel, of which i tion a written r shall
- All inspectors are ordered to require owners of vessels
] . S h
;1;1;: rg?s)lolz.\e?)iogx:)% gug:?:ln tl?c!xﬁake * inclining tests ” on su:l(n &sufs:;g,b lixlxixtlye:ltl:g
“Respectfully submitted, - P oo by the Department of Gommerce,
(Otﬁginl memberg: William A. Collins, Frank W, Van I?:tnlgl?%?xffed
Ptates local board of inspectors. . Oivilian members; Marvin B
' ool, Harry A. Wheeler, Barratt O’'Hara, Philip B. Fouke.) )
_ CmicAco, ILL., August 5, 1915, o

LETTER ¥ROM THE SECRETARY OF CoMMERC : ‘ "
FI : E, TRANSMITTING COPY OF THE P,
. LIMINARY REPORT bF THE s
L STOAMDOAT T ooRT OF THE V?gulm OF SUPERVISING INSPECTORS OF THE
. : ’ DEPARTMENT oF CoMMERCE,
’ u?“;.l? gx,r" THE SECRETARY,
[ : ashing Decomber 18, 1915
My DeAp Mg, SPEAKER: Among the ste, ' g
S : ps taken by the D .
.merce Immediately after the Eastland, disaster to dibermingp;fft;znﬁgta(gygﬁa
was needed to improve the Steamboat-Inspection Service upon the Great Lakes,

* was the appointment of g special committee of supervising inspectors—one from

the Pacific coast, one from the Atlantic coast, and
d the third f; e
coog(ier{lte with the two supervising inspectoré on the Great If:l?]est]ilg gt?xldtyixfg
ccg:u n: ‘:)er:ls 1ltnﬁtt}lt‘1’l s:::];;eNthere. be;l‘m: committee immediately began work and
ovember. At that time the seamen’ y
nnild. it became necessary to return the inspectors to their se'vesrallav(gistt(:‘(;gta?ﬁect
eanwhile they had devoted six weeks of earnest study to the matter, At

Iny request the secretary of the committee submitted a report of the work done

3

up. to the adjournment of this special committee. Th
; 3 e reco
gegsegrmgh%egovaﬂ; zhow t;u:; p:,lo:l to the opening of thgdgwggl(tgeota &g.:
‘ Opy ol the testimony taken by the board of §
the Bastlond case, together with my own rt bk
report to the Pres
thgns%gllll:lxlntce ma}ie by the boa:d lof inguiry at its adjoﬁmmef:df ity e
_ oL my purpose to inform the public as full poasib
conditfon relating to theﬂtepmboat-!napectlgn Se:xx'vlcle,l Iy::w han&eymeggw
:ibo the preliminary report of the committea of supervising inspectors deserlbgg
ve. May I venture respectfully fo_polnt out that it deals with matters that

- affect not only that committee of tix. House of Representatives which has the

Steamboat-Inspection Service under it care, but also d

L sy ea

lz:;gtaetx;&f.y tgg:ulﬂctl:ncgo of tm working force. This is o misbjgcl:egig :ia};hbgg
ore the Committee on Appropri

may be placed béfore tam aiee, ppropriations, and I venture to hope it

I venture respectfully to reaffirm what has been already stated in my annual

the inspections.” The law. limits the hours of em

? ployment: for labor in Govern-
ment institutions to 8 hours dafly, It i bl
m\ist l?m;g :ivorll;jtwlce ou lou?:ys that.s a fact that the Inspectors of our service

stould do injustice to the public and to Congress If. I emphas

in the clearest way the fact that not ‘only should there be g;d lgfz;edlate al:g
considerable addition to the force of the Steamboat-Inspection Service in the
respects named, if it is to do its work in accordance with the law, but that the

\
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Board of naval architects suggested in the statement of the board of inquiry (to-
provide for whick a bill hes beent: dlready introduced into Congress) s also
required, if the service is to safeguard lfe ag it ghounld. R
. The people of the country trust themselves and their property on our vessels,
confiding in the theroughnesa of the inspections made. | The service desires and
intends that those inspeétions shall be all that the people expect. They can not
be so uniess a greater force is provided for the work and until sufficlent means
are given for doing the work. - ) .
It is my duty te point out the faects with frankness and courtesy, ag I em
pow trying to do, and having so done I must leave the responsibility with those
who have the power to provide the only means by which the work, can be prop-
erly done and whom I do net doubt appreciate thet responsibility fully.

“-  Yours, very truly,

. Winiay C. REDFIELD,
‘ : ‘ : i ‘Becretary.
. The SpmAxER oF THE HoOUSE OF REPRESERTATIVES,

: : Washingtion. _
. : ¥ .
PRELIMINARY REPORT, COMMITTEE OF SUPERVISING INSPECTORS, STEAMBOAT-
INSPECTION SERVICE. -

DersrTMENT OF COMMERCE,
STEAMBOAT-INSPECTION SERVICE, o
- OFFICEyOF SUPERVISING INSPECTOR, FIFTH DISTRICT,-
Boston, Mass., December 3, 1915.

The SECRETARY oF COMMENCE, X
Washirgion, D. C.:

Pursuant to imstructions contained in your communication of August 18,
1615, directing me to meet with the supervising inspectors of the first, eighth,
pinth, and tenth districts in the office of the supervising inspector of the ninth
district, Cleveland, Ohio, on September 10, 1915, there to organize for the pue-
“pose of studying conditions on the Great Lakes, -with special and immediate
reference to passenger service thereon, I have the honor to report that the
commiftee met at the time and place designated. ,

Your committee immediately proceeded to organize by the selection of the

. supervising inspector of the fifth district as chairman and the supervising in-
spector of the.tenth district as secretary, and the method of procedure for &
most comprehensive study of the conditions, as outlined by you, was carefully
discussed. The following outline was adopted: .

1. That the committee visit each local office on the Great Lakes,

(e) Interrogate the local inspectors as to conditions in their respective dis-
tricts. . - :

(b) Ascertain their method of inspection and knowledge of the law and gen-
eral rules and regulations.

2. Inspect all passenger vessels at the ports visited to determine as to their
seaworthiness, stability, and efficiency of ingpection.

3. Examine into complaints or rumors that any vessel is unsafe, unseaworthy,

. or unstable. o

In so far as it was possible to do so, the procedure was adhered to, though
the committee was in a measure handicapped due to the fact that most of the
passenger vessels, particularly those of the excursion type, had been placed out
of commission for the season; in many instances the eguipment had been re-

moved and crews dismissed. No attempt was therefore made to subject these
vessels to stability tests. However, certain recommendations on this important

. subject were considered and are submitted later in this report. .

LOCAL OFFICES.

. In each of the local offices visited the files of the passenger veasels were ex-
amined and found to be properly executed in accordance with the instructions
of the bureau. The field officers and clerks were observed In the performance
of their duties, . . _

From the very beginning it was realized that the inspection foree on the
Great Lakes was inadequate to handle the volume of business it was called
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" ‘upon to perform and do so in an efficient manner. At many-of the ports visited
. it was found that inspectors were compelled-to travel long distances to make
“inspections,; requiring much "time- because of unsatisfactory transportation
facilities, and it is not infrequent that inspectors must work 18 hours a day
-+ . during the season of navigation to accomplish the inspections. While the serw
.. fce 1abors-under such difficuities the best results will not be obtained.
".The standard of inspection has materially improved in the past 10 years,
‘which, together with the increase in the size and tonnage of vessels inspécted;
. - has added much to the work of the inspectors. It may truthfully be said that
" the inspection work has outgrown the force, and unless thereis an increase inm
the number of inspecters on the Great Lakes the service can not be improved.
" The same condition is true with regard to salaries of inspectors and clerks.
Salaries have so advanced in the mercantile field that the service is not in a
position to attract the best men from other lines of employment.

I am firmly of the opinion that more assistant inspectors and clerks, with in-
creased sglaries, should be detailed at the following ports: Buffalo, N. Y.; Os-
wego, N.'Y,; Chicago, Ill.; Grand Haven, Mich.; Milwaukee, Wis.; Detroit,
Mich. ; Toledo, Ohio ; Port Huron, Mich. ; Duluth, Minn. ; Marquette, Mich.

. gor to-do-so would havev.gaé(h%n cgmml 8 te; of time v shoald ’ ;;,f’l,
.work of g o
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There are, however, & number of wooden. vessels that wx:gﬁy 2 the spectts
e s have 1 ‘Cmefgloz‘xeagmhtionvﬁfdhtgemade of these wooden:
Whﬂel Othgi?el}?lv?irgogockat{nd “v'vhen repairs and alternations are ?:&;xg:ggfé
%Ve;s:nso:enslon demands, inspeetors shggld carefully bore the vesse:
ndness of the timbers. s : '
th?fnﬁt:: i%f ;:\‘g z%‘;bt as to the stability of any.vessel or anz' irurfx:;;rsm?;tu ::
essel is not stable, local inspectors should personally make a trip .
M se of observing the action of the vessel in operation.’ cited can be accepted
POS king in & general way, {f the passenger steamers Vis e e
peg‘tundo.rd by which to ‘judge of the condition of all p;é.hsseng:t ¢ vessels oy -
th a(}rmt Lakes, and it would appear that such is the caseic,h tgge s
b onsidered s;xfe and seaworthy for the trade in whi e% e
bﬁx cowere bullt and eguipped in accordance with law and the miﬁments ula-
'5 %‘; of this service, and in many instances exceed these r;xn;o e they
tl;)ls reason they should very properly be permitted to opera e a8 :
rémain seaworthy and stable. .

INTERROGATING INSPECTORS.

At each of the ports visited, except Grand Haven, the inspectors were ex-
amined at length-as to their knowledge of the law and general rules and regula-
tions, condition of vessels in their distri¢t, method of inspection and certifica-

. tion of vessels, with regard to officers: and crews and number of passengers
allowed to be carried.

The inpectors appeared to be conversant with the rules and familiar with their
duties. In some Iinstances it appeared that the minimum number of licensed
officers designated in certificates of inspection was not the number actually car-
ried on board the vessels. This condition was made the subject of much dis-
cussion, with a view of determining whether or not the number specified in cer-
tificates of inspection by the local inspectors was sufficient for the safe naviga-

7 tion of the vessels. No conclusion, however, had been arrived at up to the time
the committee adjourned. ) :

It developed in the course of our investigation that inspectors experience

- considerable difficulty in cénducting investigations of accidents and trials of
1icensed officers in accordance with section 4450, United States Revised Statutes.
The general rules and regulations require that the local inspectors of the dis-
trict' in which an accident occurs shall make the investigation, and in a great
many cases on the Great Lakes it was pointed out that vessels never touch af

) the ports where the investigation or trial is being held, which necessitated the
4 © forwarding of interrogatories to the ports where vessels operate from, and the
delay caused thereby, owing to frequent changes In crews, prevented satisfactory
results. It is therefore recommended that on the Great Lakes reports of acci-
dents shall be forwarded to the local inspectors at the port of first arrival,
which board shall conduct the investigation and take the necessary action.

IRVESTIGATING COMPLAINTS.
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recommendation embodled in this report. / ,

LISTENING TO COMPLAINTS.

f pet e was 8ccord

desired to come before the committee wag &

‘iml!il ge{hsg:u;thhe public press in each of the cities visited% In &\:oc;rﬁg?tg
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essels. ) o
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ippeared before the committee regarding tllxel utnde;;-e:gmtﬁitigg egt tgag v o
t i w
s to the number of engineers. His comp at nr ot e s
equired by the loca
clent number: of licensed engineers was no by e o earried on ok
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. laint was in a large measure with relation to freight vesselsé et
gg‘gl%e evident that to study the coudlth;ns on tflr(;lgété(t) r;es:glrsk vg;lu u ik
mmittee and less satisial PASSENE
!w)’g:gl;g :vtz)%lgogtﬁimgt?gms decided that no recommendations should be.’
made with regard to freight vessels, . .

) METHOD OF INSPECTION. .

The vessels visited appeared to have been properly inspected and in full com-
pliance with the law. The efficlency of inspections appeared to depend upon the
force available and the circumstances under which the inspections were made:.
On vessels which were inspected at the home ports of inspectors it appeared that
greater attention had been given to the details of inspection. Instances were

- noted where:the committee believed impn‘;vements could be made, and they were
called to the attention of the inspectors and the owners of vessels, :

. Particular attention was paid to bulkheads and the method employed to close
bulkhead doors, and also to the cleanliness of cargo and other compartments.
These details require the constant and careful atfention of inspectors, especially
the cleanliness of compartments, for the reason that it is .often overlooked anad
at the same time means so much in the safety of the vessel from fire,

!

| INSPECTION OF PASSBENGER'VESSELS.

STAYF OF NAVAL ARCHITECTS.

The committee wa Ltxagr(eed that the construction of the vessels was the most
important matter to consider, and special attention was directed to this feature
of its work. It did ngt, therefore, go into the minute study of the equipment,
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e © - EXISTING VESSELS.
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ATV S : mggumc'rwu
T pubdivision,

/ 1 am of the gpinion that the time has arrived when earnest effort should
/be made to prepare regulations for the subdivision of passenger vessels to

/'conform to the highest practicable standards. Bulkheads should, where prac-
/ ticable, be“extended to the highest continuous deck in the vessel's hull

/  Whepe-1t 18 pot practicable to extend bulkheads to the highest continuous '

deek the subdivision should be-such as to prevent the flooding of adjoining
‘compartments due to the vessel's trim after dumage, and the bulkheads should
be of sufficient strength fo. withstand a pressure of water to which they may
be subjected in the event of damage. e : ’

Passenger vessels should, for a given length, be subdivided to remain afioat
after damage with any single compartment open to the sea; above that length
. they should be subdivided to remain afioat with at least two adjacent compait-
ments open to the sea. The initial stability of a vessel should be such that the
vessel will not capsize in the above damaged condition.

Boiler casing.

A steel trunk should be carried ffom the under side of the deck next above
the fireroom, in the way of uptake and funnels, to the uppermost continuous
deck. In addition to serving as a safeguard against fire, this trunk should he
so constructed as to permit of the hot gases of the fireroom having free access
to the atmosphere. Iron or steel should be used in 8o far as it is practicable in

‘ . the firercom, and all woodwork approaching within 2 feet of the boilers should

be covered with noncombustible material. y .
In making the above recommendations, consideration is given to your instruc-
tions that the changes should be in the rules and regulations of the Steamboat-

' ~ Inspection Service’ and in the absence of further legislation by Congress.

I have therefore avoided making recommendations that were not based upon
the authority of the present statutes and at the same time have made this
report as short and concise as possible pending further discussion.

. : EvGeENE E. O’DONNELL,
United States Supervising Inspector, Fifth District, chairmun of Committce of
Supervising Inapectora appoinied to study condilions on the Great Lakes.

(Through the Supervising Inspector General Steamboat-Inspection Service.)

- LETTER FROM THE SECRETARY OF COMMERCE TO CHAIRMAN ALEX- w
©  ANDER IN NEFKRENCE TO PRELIMINARY REPORT.

DEePARTMENT OF COMMERCE,
OFFICE OF THE SECBETARY,
Washington, January 12, 1916.

My Dear Jupce ALExanDER: I note from House Document 504 that sawme has
been referred to the commlittee of which you are chairman, and therefore I am
confident the important subject therein treated will receive very thoughtful
core. I hardly know how far one important committee of Congress can under-
tuke to influence another, but I would respectfully point out that the question
of enlarging the force of steamboat inspectors and providing a clerical staff
sufficient to do its work must necessarily be provided for by the Committee on

. Appropriations. In my annual report and in this Document 504, and in o
further statement sent to thé Speaker of the House on January 10 showing
. actual conditions at the port of Buffalo, I have tried to deal with the subject of
safeguarding life by means of the Steamboat-Inspection Service with the frank-
ness that the emergency existing in that service requires.

May I now again ask your attention to the paragraphs on page 2 of Docu-
ment 504 and ask you to take them at par. I greatly dread lest the coming of
some sad accident involving loss of life may bring a storm of unjust wrarth
down upon the heads of an insufficient and overworked force. Must we alwuys
{earn at the cost of human life? Can not we foresee? Now and here, with &
full sense of my responsibility as the officer charged with the execution of the
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. work amt spenklng to you Tiot. merely as a friend buf as chairman of that g
committee of jur National Legislature, I affivm thaf the work of lnspecting o
steam vessels so as to provide proper safeguards for life can not be done as {

should be done with the present force available; that the said force is at times

‘seriously overworked, and that accldents are in to happen of a serfo

. 'mature unless C'ongress which has alone the power to provlde men and fun

. 'will take early and sufficlent steps in the matt AN €

" Yours, very truly, 1N
Wn.t.mu C. ReprizLn,
: Seoretan

3

" Hon. J. W. Amemn, '
‘ Chairman Oommittce on Merchant Marine and Fisheries,
Houla ‘of Regr aﬂm, WmMngton, D. €.

o/
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